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PREFACE 
1236191 

HIS volume of the History of Salem relates to the be¬ 

ginning of the fisheries and commerce of the town, 

of salt and glass making, education, construction of 

highways and bridges, taverns, fortifications, mills, 

establishment of the Cape Ann Side and Salem Village parishes 

and the towns of Wenham, Manchester, Marblehead and Bev¬ 

erly, the persecution of the Quakers and the general development 

of the town. 

In this volume appear the existing pictures of the earliest 

dwelling houses^ 

The photogravure frontispiece is a portrait of Capt. George 

Corwin, the wealthiest and most prominent of the merchants of 

his time. It was painted about two hundred and fifty years ago, 

but the name of the artist is unknown. Captain Corwin was 

commander of the troop of horse, and as a part of his costume, 

shown in the portrait, is the scarf he wore at the head of his 

troopers. The portrait, neckcloth and silver-headed cane are 

in the possession of the Essex Institute. In 1798, the painting 

was possessed by his great-grandson Samuel Curwin, and, in 

1802, by Dr. William Bentley. It was then in an injured con¬ 

dition, —the extreme parts being separated, but the face was 

untouched. Doctor Bentley had purchased it of the family, in 

the spring of the year last named, for half a guinea. The Italian 

artist, Michele Felice Corne, from Naples, was in Salem at that 

1 
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time, teaching art and painting, and he repaired it as much as he 

could without changing the original. 

Sidney Perley. 

Salem, Mass., May 4, 1926. 
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HISTORY OF SALEM 

CHAPTER I. 

SALT MAKING. 

U 

MONG the passengers who came to America on the 
ship Mayflower in 1620 were three children of one 
family. Why they came without their parents is un¬ 
known. These were Richard, Ellen and Jasper More. 
Richard was twelve years of age; Jasper was called 

a a child,” and died the first winter; and Ellen was called 
little girl.” Richard came with the family of William Brewster, 
Jasper with the family of John Carver and Ellen with the family 
of Edward Winslow. The heads of all these families became 
governors of Plymouth Colony and, with William Bradford, weie 
the leading men in that colony. Richard More1 became a mariner 
and settled in Salem, where he was received an inhabitant Jan. I, 
1637-8. At the same time he was granted by the town of Salem 
half an acre of land “on (Darb) the neck.” Captain More freighted 
along the coast from here to the West Indies and between England 
and this country. He lived where the Salem Hospital formerly 
stood on Charter Street, and had his wharf where the Lydia E. 
Pinkham Memorial now stands, in the rear of his house. His 

family burial place was 
at the northeasterly 
corner of the first addi- 

* tion (marked A on the 
plan in volume I, page 

Richard More1 married, first, Christian-, who died March 18, 1676, 
at the age of sixty; married, second, Jane-, who died Oct. 8 (5?)> T686, 
aged fifty-five; he died in 1696; children, baptized in Salem: 1. Samuel.^ 
baptized March 6, 1642; 2. Thomas,2 baptized March 6, 1642; 3. Caleb 
baptized March 31, 1644; died Jan. 4, 1674-5, aged “thirty-four; 4 Joshua,^ 
baptized May 3, 1646; 5- Richard/ baptized Jan. 2, 1647-8 g 6. Susanna, 
baptized May 12, 1650; married Samuel Dutch; 7. Christian," baptized 
Sept. 5, 1652; married Joshua Conant. 

I 
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183) to the Charter Street burying ground;1 and, Jan. 22, 1678-9, 
the selectmen allowed him to fence in “his wife’s and son Caleb’s 

graves about fourten foot in length & about 
ten fott in breadth." He died in 1696, and his 
remains lie with theirs. His is the only 
marked grave of the passengers of the May¬ 
flower on its initial voyage in 1620. 

Jan. 1, 1637-8, the inhabitants of Marble¬ 
head were taxed eight pounds of the rate of 
one hundred and twenty pounds of Salem, as 
follows (the number before each name prob¬ 
ably has reference to the number of acres of 
land possessed by them there) : 140 Moses 

Maverick; 150 Wrn Stephens; 40 Archibald Tomson; 20 Wm 
Charles; 20 John Heart; 50 John Peach; 10 John Lyon; 20 
Anthony Thatcher; 30 John 
Goite fl 20 Richard Seeres ;2 10 
Richard Greeneway; 20 John 
Gatchell; 20 Samuel Gatchell ;3 
15 John Bennett;4 15 Wakefield;5 10 Erasmus James; 30 
Thomas Gray; 50 John Deuerux; 30 Nicholas Meriott; 10 

Samuel More;2 married Sarah-; child: 1. Samuel,3 born Nov. 15, 
1673; died Nov. 24, 1673. Richard More2; master mariner; married 
Sarah -; lived in Salem: 1. -,3 baptized Dec. —, 1674; 2. Thomas,3 
baptized June 1, 1679; 3. Christian,3 baptized Aug. —, 1681; 4. Sarah,3 
baptized Jan. —, 1683-4; 5. Caleb,3 baptized April 15, 1688. 

pohn Goyte (Coit) lived in Dorchester in 1635; removed to Marble¬ 
head, then to Gloucester in 1646 and about 1651 to New London, Conn., 
where he died Aug. 29, 1659. His wife was named Mary. Children : 1. 
John; lived in Gloucester; married Mary Stephens of Gloucester May 21, 
1652; died there in the winter of 1661-2; she survived him; 2. Joseph, 
baptized in Salem July 30, 1643; 3- Mary, baptized in Salem July 30, 1643; 
4. Mary (Martha?), baptized in Salem March 17, 1644-5. There were 
other children. 

“Richard Sears was a trader; lived in Plymouth in 1630, and removed 
to Marblehead; married Dorothy-; died in 1676; children: 1. Knyvett, 
born in 1635; 2. Paul, born in 1637; 3. Silas, born in 1639. (Perhaps he 
had a daughter Deborah, who married Zechariah Paddock in 1639.) 

‘Samuel Gatchell, brother to John Gatchell; husbandman; of Hampton 
in 1644 and of Salisbury in 1648; married Dorcas -; living in 1670; 
she died June 12, 1685; children: 1. Susanna; married Joseph Norton 
March 10, 1662; 2. Samuel, born about 1636; mariner; lived in Marble¬ 
head in 1679; married Bethiah-before 1669; 3. Joseph; living in 1677; 
4. Priscilla, born Feb. 26, 1649; married Solomon Ramsford. 

'John Bennett lived in Marblehead, and removed to New London; mar¬ 
ried Margaret--; died in the spring of 1663; she survived him; child: 
1. Mary, baptized in Salem Sept. 2, 1638; married Elias White. 

5John Wakefield probably removed to Plymouth in 1639. and to Wells 
in 1656; probably married Elizabeth, widow of Edmund Littlefield. 

William Wakefield, who married Rebecca Littlefield in Salem March 
13, 1698-9, may have been of this family. 
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Abraham Whitehaire; 5 George Vicary;1 5 John Russell;2 5 
Nicholas Listin; 5 Philip Beare. 

There were many persons admitted inhabitants of the town 
in 1638, and much land was granted to them. Jan. 1, 1637-8, the 
town granted to John Gedney eighty acres of land, six acres of it 
being meadow, “lying near to Mr. Gardner.” 

Jan. 15, 1637-8, Francis Felmingham was granted by the 
town two hundred acres of land “about the great pond or out 
that way.” This tract was located northerly of the main street, 
in Wenham, from the meeting house to the Hamilton line. 

Jan. 29, 1637-8, the town granted to Richard Thurston a 
ten-acre lot. Richard Bartholomew3 was received an inhabitant 
and granted ten acres of land. Five acres of land was granted to 
widow Greene. Mr. Bacheller and Robert Moulton, jr., desired 
accommodation of land for a farm for each. There was granted 
to Edmond Marshall, Richard Rootes, Richard Norman, Joseph 
Pope, Mrs. Felton, William 
Robinson,4 James Standish 
and George Harris twenty 
acres a piece that was Mr. 
Thorndike’s; and also to 
John Tomkins five acres of land lying by his other five acres. 
Mr. Stilman requested enlargement for himself and accommoda¬ 
tion for his son. John Webster, a baker, was received as an in¬ 
habitant and granted five acres of land. William Hathorne was 
granted a ten-acre lot near the mill. Mr. Garford and William 
Lord were granted fifty acres each; Mr. Emery forty acres near 
Mackerel Cove; and Nicholas Woodbury a ten-acre lot. Joseph 
Hull was received as an inhabitant and granted two hundred 
acres of land. Robert Morgaine was granted twenty-five acres of 
land, Thomas Lothrop fifty, Humphrey Woodbury forty and 
Thomas Browning sixty. 

George Vickery married Rebecca Phippeny (daughter of David) ; and 
removed to Hull alias Nantucket, Suffolk County, Massachusetts, where 
they were living in 1650 and 1672. 

2John Russell lived in Marblehead in 1641; and had a wife in 1643. 
3Richard Bartholomew was apparently a merchant and unmarried, and 

died, probably on a voyage to London, in the early spring of 1646, leaving 
his brothers Henry, William, Thomas and Abraham and sister Sara. His 
mother was then living. 

4William Robinson1 lived in that part of Salem which is now Peabody; 
tailor; married Isabelle-; she died first; and he died in the summer 
of 1678; children: 1. Joseph2; eldest son; married; lived in Barbadoes 
in 1677; no children; 2. Anna,2 baptized Dec. 3, 1637; 3. Samuel; baptized 
Dec. 26, 1639; 4. John2; 5. Mary,2 baptized March 12, 1642-3; probably 
married John Gooss June 18, 1665; 6. Timothy; baptized April 28, 1644; 
7. Martha,2 born Feb. 2, 1645-6; died Feb.Ib45-b; 8. Sarah2; married 
-Newbury before 1677; 9. Hester,2 baptized May 28, 1654. 
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Feb. 24, 1637-8, Lieutenant Davenport delivered up his farm 
to the town, and was promised one in another place.. Michael 
Lambert1 was granted half an acre in Winter Harbor, if he shall 
inhabit there, which he did not do. Richard Adams had his five 
acres of land changed to some land at the mill. He was also 
granted some land to set a house on near Lieutenant Davenport s; 
and Mr. Fiske one hundred and fifty acres of land for a farm. 
There was granted to Mr. Stileman twenty acres of land near 
the meadow which Mr. Weston and he had; to Mr. Stileman’s 
son thirty acres near his father; to Mr. Bacheller sixty acres for 
a farm; and to Robert Moulton, jr., forty acres for a farm. 

At the general court at Newton, March 12, 1637-8, John 
Endecott and John Winthrop, jr., and deputies Richard Adams, 
John Woodbury and Edmond Batter were present. May 2, 1638, 
it was ordered that the several towns should bear the charges of 
their magistrates’ and deputies’ diet and lodging. The deputies 
who subsequently represented Salem in the general court during 
the colonial period were as follows: Jacob Barney, 1638, 1647, 
1653; Henry Bartholomew, 1645, 1646, 1649-1652, 1654, 1658, 
1660, 1662, 1663, 1667, 1669, 1671-1674, 1676, 1684; Edmond 
Batter, 1642, 1643, 1655, 1661, 1663-1665, 1668, 1670, 1671, 1675, 
1677, 1678, 1682, 1685; Townsend Bishop, 1640; William 
Browne, 1654, 1659, 1666, 1675, 1677, 1680; George Corwin, 
1666, 1667, 1669, 1670, 1672, 1674, 1676; John Corwin, 1679; 
Emanuel Downing, 1639-1641, 1644, 1648; Samuel Gardner, 

Samuel Robinson2; tailor; (wife Jane in 1660?); married Martha 
Haukins Aug. 15, 1664; died in the autumn of 1723; children: 1. Samuel/ 
born Dec. 19, 1665; 2. Thomas,3 born July 6, 1667. 3. Mary,3 born Oct. —, 
1669; died Aug. —, 1670; 4. William,3 born July 29, 1671; 5. Job,3 born 
Nov. —, 1672; died Jan. —, 1672-3; 6. Martha,3 born Jan. 20, 1673-4; 
married, first, William Beans; second, Samuel Pope; 7. Mary3; probably 
married James Siinonds; 8. Elizabeth3; probably married Joseph Prince; 
9. Susanna3; probably married John Chubb July 14, 1701; 10. Abel,3 born 
Jan. 14, 1689. John Robinson2; tailor; married Sarah Mason Oct. 16, 
1665; she was living in 1708, and he in 1727; children: 1. Elias,3 born 
Jan. 25, 1666-7; 2. John,3 born Nov. 25, 1668; 3. Joseph,3 born Sept. 27, 
1670; 4. Sara,3 born Feb. 18, 1672-3. Timothy Robinson2; married Mary 
Kitchen Feb. 20, 1665; died in the spring of 1668; she married, secondly, 
Thomas Hanson June 3, 1669; child: 1. Timothy,3 born March 15, 1667-8. 

Samuel Robinson3; carter or carman; married Mary -- in or be¬ 
fore 1680; died in the autumn of 1699; she married, secondly, John Blevin 
July 29, 1701, and removed to Swanzey before 1716; children: 1. Nathaniel,4 
born July 3, 1688; 2. Whittemore,4 born Jan. 18, 1689-90; 3. Samuel4; 
living in 1699; 4. William,4 born Nov. 26. 1698; lived in Swanzey in 1716. 
Abel Robinson3; married Elizabeth Callum (published Jan. 12, 1710-1) ; 
children: 1. Abel,4 born Oct. 22, 1712; 2. Samuel,4 born Jan. 25, 1714-5. 

Abel Robinson4; lived in Salem, cordwainer, in 1738; married Annie 
Standley (published Dec. 3, 1735) ; children: 1. Anne,6 baptized June 19, 
1737; 2. Elizabeth,6 baptized June 18, 1738. 

4Michael Lambert probably removed to Lynn before 1648. 
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1681, 1682; Bartholomew Gedney, 1678; John Hathorne, 1683; 
William Hathorne, 1639-1646, 1648-1652, 1654, 1656-1661; 
Thomas Lothrop, 1647, 1653, 1664; Jeffry Massey, 1639; John 
Porter, 1668; John Price, 1679; Walter Price, 1665; John 
Putnam, 1677, 1680, 1686; John Ruck, 1685; William Trask, 
1639; and john Woodbury, 1639. 

March 12, 1637-8, the general court ordered that thereafter 
“every town shall present a man to be allowed to sell wine and 
strong water made in the country and no other strong water is to 
be sold.” Mr. Gott was the one appointed to sell wine and strong 
water in Salem. John Blackleach, John Holgrave and William 
Pester had previously sold wine here. 

At the same court, it was ordered “that all great cattle shall 
be herded, and they that plant are to secure their corn in the day¬ 
time ; but if the cattle do hurt corn in the night, the owners of 
the cattle shall make good the damages.” 

At this court, Hugh Peter and William Hauthorne were 
appointed members of a commission to revise and compile the 
laws which applied to and were in force in the colony. The 
literary part of the work was performed by Rev. Nathaniel Ward 
of Ipswich. It was called the “Body of Liberties,” and was 
adopted by the general court Dec. 10, 1641. Mr. Ward graduated 
at Emmanuel College, Cambridge, in 1603 ; and at first practised 
law for several years, and then adopted theology. He preached 
in a parish in Hertfordshire for about ten years, and was un¬ 
ceremoniously silenced. He then emigrated to Massachusetts. 

The first roads were only foot paths or paths for horseback 
riding*. When the earth was bare, carts with two wheels soon 
began to be used, and when snow was upon the ground sleds took 
their place. Roads were not constructed for some years. Neither 
were they repaired. The first record of the town of this nature 
was the order, Feb. 15, 1635-6, “that whosoever hath or shall cut 
any trees and leave [them] in the paths about the town to the 
disturbance of carts, cattle or passengers” should remove them 
within fifteen days. .March 3, 1637-8, the town voted that high¬ 
ways should be mended by the citizens, under order of Thomas 
Gardner, Richard Brackenbury and John Balch, as overseers. 
Aug. 19, 1639, the town first chose surveyors for the mending of 
highways, Thomas Gardner and Jarvais Garford being elected. 
Feb. 26, 1643-4, Roger Conant and John Balch were chosen by 
the town to mend the highway between Wenham and “the 
head of the river.” June 13, 1644, the town ordered that Mr. 
Downing and Mr. Batter shall be surveyors of the highway to¬ 
wards the mill and the farms “that ways,” and Goodman Scruggs 
and Mr. Conant of the highways “towards Wenham and that 
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ways.” Surveyors of highways are not again mentioned until 
1658.1 They were usually appointed by the selectmen, and fre¬ 

quently called overseers. 
Jan. 13, 1644-5, the “seven men” ordered that owners of land 

and houses next the water side should maintain a good way for 
horse and man of at least eight feet in width, and be liable for 

such ways as are defective. 

1 April 26, 1658, for Cape Ann Side, were chosen William Dixe and 
James Patch; for the town, John Neale and William Flint; to Strong- 
water brook and at Thomas James’ and Mr. Gardner’s and for the bridges 
about the Governor’s farm, Jacob Barney and Thomas Putnam. Nov. 21, 
1658, John Patch was chosen for Cape Ann Side, in the place of his brother. 

March 14, 1659-60, from the bridge to the Neck, Thomas Hale and 
Philip Cromwell; for Cape Ann Side and to Farmer Porter’s, Henry 
Herrick, sr., and John Lovett, $r.; and for the county highways between 
the bridge and Crane River, etc., John Porter and Thomas Putnam. 

Jan. 8, 1660-1, between Frost-fish River and Horse bridge, “as you 
go to Ipswich,” John Porter and Jacob Barney. April 22, 1661, on Cape 
Ann Side, Thomas Lawthrope and Roger Haskall. 

Dec. 23, 1662, for the town to the foot of the hill beyond the bridge, 
William Flint and John Neale; for Cape Ann Side and Bass River, William 
Dodge, sr., John Dodge (Richard’s son) ; from Cape Ann Side to the bridge 
at the town, John Porter and Jacob Barney, sr.; and from Nicholas Phelps’ 
to Thomas Goldthwaite’s and thence by the pond by the way to Lynn, Thomas 
Flint and John Southwick. 

Nov. 18, 1664, from the bridge at the end of the town to the lines of 
the towns of Lynn, Ipswich, Andover and Topsfield, Nathaniel Felton and 
Samuel Eborne. 

March 6. 1666, for Cape Ann Side, Edward Bishop and William Dodge, 
jr.; beyond Strongwater brook, Richard Leech and Anthony Buckston; and 
“this side of Strongwater brook,” John Neale and John Pickering. 

March 12, 1666-7, “from the town to the bridge,” Edward Flint and 
Thomas Robbins; “beyond the bridge,” Samuel Aburne and Josiah South¬ 
wick; and for Cape Ann Side, Benjamin Balch and Lot Conant. 

March 20. 1667-8, from the bridge to the lower part of the town, 
William Brown, jr., and John Pickering; “beyond the bridge” to Benjamin 
Scarlet’s, William Traske and Samuel Gascoine; “for the farms beyond 
Ben. Scarlet’s,” Thomas Putnam, Robert Prince and John Porter; and for 
Cape Ann Side, William Rayment and John Patch. 

July 21, 1669. Nathaniel Putnam, Joshua Rea and Joseph Huchenson 
were appointed as overseers to mend all country and county highways, 
beginning at Rum bridge near Benjamin Scarlet’s and so to John Procter’s 
and any and everywhere about the farms; and from the bridge or causeway 
at the town’s end and so downwards in all parts of the town “till you come 
to Mordechaie Crevet’s,” Henry Bartholmew and Eliezer Hauthorne, 

March 18, 1669-70, between the causeway and Winter Island, Edward 
Flint and Anthony Ashby; and from the causeway or bridge to the farms 
and to John Procter’s and other ways, Anthony Buxton and Jacob Barney, jr. 

April 4, 1671, between Strongwater brook and Winter Island, William 
Flint, John Neal, Joseph Phippen, sr., and John Massey; and from Strong¬ 
water brook up to the farms and all other ways, John Southwick and 
Eleazer Giles. 

Nov. 13, 1672, William Flint, Joshua Buffum and Josiah Southwick, 
“Espetially the Grt bridge at the Townes End and strong Watter brooke.” 
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March 3, 1637-8, Edward Calcott1 desired to become an in¬ 
habitant and to have a ten-acre lot. There was granted to Jeffry 
Massey and *Richard Brackenbury fifty acres of land adjoining 
the land formerly granted, in consideration that they had fifty 
acres of rocks granted to them formerly, which was useless. 

In the Salem quarterly court, March 27, 1638, there were 
present as magistrates Colonel Endecott, John Humphrey, Cap- 

Jan. 20, 1673-4, between Thomas Cromwell’s corner and the town 
bridge, Captain Price, John Ruck and Edward Flint; and between Thomas 
Cromwed’s to the lower end of the town, Mr. Grafton and Mr. Prince. 

March 18, 1676-7, Nehemiah Willoughby and Joshua Buffum were 
chosen surveyors of highways. 

March 13, 1678-9, from the bridge to the lower end of the town, 
Timothy Lindall and Edward Grove; and above the bridge, Caleb Buffum 
and Daniel Southwick. 

Dec 5, 1679, from the bridge to Lynn or Reading bounds, Eleazer 
Giles; from Gardner’s brook to Mr. Endecott’s plain, Nathaniel Felton; and 
at the Village, Nathaniel Putnam, Thomas Putnam and Sergeant Fuller. 

March 15, 1679-80, from the bridge to the lower end of the town, 
Timothy Lindoll, Edward Grove and Thomas Maule; and from the bridge 
above or without the town, Joseph Boyce, jr., and John Bleven. 

March 21, 1680-1, from the bridge to the point, Lt. John Pickering and 
Edward Grove; for above or without the bridge, John Trask and Isaac 
Cook. 

March 20, 1681-2, from the bridge to the point of rocks, John Cromwell 
and James Poland; and above or without the bridge, Samuel Gaskin and 
Joseph Boyce. 

March 19. 1682-3, from the bridge to the point of rocks and the cut, 
Samuel Wakefield, Caleb Buffum, Mr. Phipeny, sr., and John Ingerson, sr.; 
and without the bridge, Isaac Cooke, Samuel Gaskin, William Osborne and 
Joseph Boyce, jr. 

March 11, 1683-4, from the bridge to the point of rocks and the cut, 
Robert Kitchen, Samuel Shattcck. jr., John Grafton, Gilbert Taply; and 
without the bridge, Joshua Buffum and Daniel Southwick. 

March 17, 1684-5, from the west end of the bridge and so down to 
Winter Island, Ens. John Marston, Stephen Sewall, Thomas Ives and Mr. 
Babedge; and from the bridge to the Butts brook and so to Benjamin 
Scarlett’s, and for the farms, Lt. Israel Porter, Serg. John Leach, Thomas 
Flint, sr., William Sibly, Jonathan Putnam and Daniel Rea. 

March 8, 1685-6, from the west end of the bridge and so to Winter 
Island, Joseph Phipen, sr., Jonathan Eager, Robert Ketchen and Deliverance 
Parkman; and from the bridge to the Butts brook and so to Benjamin 
Scarlett’s and for all the farmes, Joshua Ray, jr., John Flint, Nathaniel 
Ingersoll, Edward Putnam. Joseph Pope and Zachariah Goodale. 

April 11, 1687, from the bridge to the Butts brook and so to Benjamin 
Scarlett’s, Eleazer Giles and William Osborne; and from the west end of 
the bridge and so down to Winter Island, Benjamin Marston, Mannasseh 
Marston, John Rogers and William Curtice, sr. 

July 30, 1688, Benjamin Marston, Mannasseh Marston, John Rogers 
and William Curtice, sr. 

March 25, 1689. within the bridge, Lt. John Pickering and Henry 
Bartholmew, jr.; and from the bridge within Ipswich road, Isaac Cook, 
William Osborne and Samuel Gardner. 

Tdward Calcott probably removed to Hampton soon afterward. 
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tain Turner, William Hathorne, Edward Howe and Roger Conant. 
In this court, from Salem, during the colonial period were John 
Endecott, who sat constantly until his removal to Boston in 1655; 
John Humphrey, 1638-1641 ; William Hathorne, 1638-1647, 1649, 
1651, 1652, 1657-1679; Roger Conant, 1638, 1639; John Win- 
throp, jr., 1638, 1639; John Winthrop, 1639; Emanuel Downing, 
1639-1644, 1649; William Browne, 1678-1683; Bartholmew 
Gedney, 1680-1683; John Hathorne, 1684, 1685. 

At this court, on that date, Abram Whiteire was sentenced 
to sit in the stocks one hour for misdemeanors. Richard Lambert 
was fined ten shillings and ordered to sit in the stocks on two 
public days for drunkenness, and Robert Morgan was fined one 
pound and Edward Hall, servant to Mr. Friend, was fined ten 
shillings, each for “being overseen in drink.” Other kinds or 
degrees of drunkenness at this period were tippling, common 
tippling, drinking, much in drink, excessive drinking, suspicion 
of drunkenness, distempered with drink, disguised with drink, 
overtaken with drink, overcome with drink and second drunk. It 
must have been interesting as well as difficult to determine the 
grades of the offence. 

The Salem jurymen at this session were John Woodbury, 
foreman, Lawrence Leech, Peter Palfrey, Jeffry Massy, Richard 
Davenport, Thomas Venner and George Norton.1 The trial jury, 

Hhe Salem jurymen in this court during the remainder of the colonial 
period were as follows: John Alderman, 1639-1641, 1647, 1649; William 
Allen, 1638, 1642; Daniel Andrews, 1676, 1681, 1684; Samuel Archer, 1645, 
1647; Anthony Ashby, 1663, 1664, 1670; John Balch, 1638, 1647; Jacob 
Barney, 1638-1640, 1646, 1652, 1654, 1658, 1660, 1662, 1664, r667; Henry 
Bartholomew, 1640, 1641, 1644-1646, 1659, 1661, 1668; John Batchelder, 
1683; Joseph Batchelder, 1639; Edmund Batter, 1638-1640, 1649, 1651, 1654, 
1666, 1669; Nathaniel Beadle, 1672-1675, 1678, 1684; Samuel Beadle, 1673; 
Henry Birdsall, 1639; Richard Bishop, 1644, 1647, 1648, 1651, 1653, 1656, 
1662, 1664; Townsend Bishop, 1643; John Blackleech, 1643; William 
Bowditch, 1679, 1681; Joseph Boyce, 1659; Richard Brackenbury, 1639, 
1640, 1649; Edward Bridges, 1676; James Browne, 1665, 1670, 1672; John 
Browne, 1653, 1657, 1659, 1667, 1673; Jonathan Browne, 1666; William 
Browne, 1652, 1665, 1667; John Bulfinch, 1643; John Buttolls, 1665; Ezekiel 
Cheever, 1681; William Clark, 1639; John Clifford, 1671, 1673; Abraham 
Cole, 1672; Lot Conant, 1666; Roger Conant, 1642, 1644-1646, 1653, 1654, 
1657; Isaac Cooke, 1675 ; Samuel Corning, 1654, 1659, 1661, 1662, 1664; 
John Corwin, 1666; David Corwithen, 1651, 1654, 1658; Richard Croade, 
1679; Philip Cromwell, 1663, 1672, 1676; William Curtice, 1672; Richard 
Davenport, 1638-1642; William Dixy, 1647, 1649, 1651, 1653, 1655, 1656, 
1664, 1666; John Dodge, 1672; William Dodge, 1647, 1653, 1656, 1657, 
1661-1663, 1667; Samuel Eborne, 1663; Thomas Edwards, 1644, 1645; 
Zerubbabel Endecott, 1665; Philip English, 1682, 1685; Daniel Epps, 1678; 
Benjamin Felton, 1659, 1660; Nathaniel Felton, 1649, 1655, 1664, 1666, 1668, 
1669, 1671, 1675, 1683; Edmond (Edward) Feveryear, 1681, 1683; Edward 
Flint, 1675, 1677, 1680, 1682; Thomas Flint, 1682; William Flint, 1656, 
1659, 1668; John Fuller, 1679, 1684; George Gardner, 1647, 1648, 1654, 
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both civil and criminal, consisted of twelve men, and no super- 

1658, 1662, 1665, 1667, 1671; John Gardner, 1660, 1661, 1663, 1668, 1672; 
Joseph Gardner, 1661, 1662, 1666, 1667, 1670; Samuel Gardner, 1657, 1660, 
1661, 1664, 1667, 1669, 1672, 1673, 1678-1680; Thomas Gardner, 1639, 1640, 
1642, 1647-1650, 1652-1655, 1657, 1658, 1670, 1673, 1678, 1681; Garvas 
Garford, 1639, 1642, 1643, 1646; Bartholmew Gedney, 1672, 1675; Eleazer 
Gedney, 1670; John Gedney, 1639-1641, 1665, 1667, 1668; Benjamin Gerrish, 
1679, 1684; Eleazer Giles, 1675, 1678; William Goult, 1657; John Grafton, 
1673, 1676, 1680, 1683; Joseph Grafton, 1667, 1676, 1682; Edward Grove, 
1676, 1678; Thomas Hale, 1657, 1658, 1660; John Hardy, 1644, 1647, 1650; 
Joseph Hardy, 1653, 1673, 1679; Roger Haskell, 1655, 1662, 1664; Eleazer 
Hathorne, 1666, 1668, 1673, 1674, 1676, 1678; John Hathorne, 1648, 1674; 
Henry Herrick, 1648, 1649, 1653, 1659; John Higginson, 1673, 1674; 
William Hirst, 1678, 1683, 1684; John Holgrave, 1639, 1653; Richard 
Hollingworth, 1673; William Hollingworth, 1667; Obadiah Holme, 1642, 
1644, 1645; Joseph Holton, 1670; John Horne (Orne), 1654, 1685; Joseph 
Hutchenson, 1663, 1679, 1683; John Ingersoll, 1669, 1684; Nathaniel In- 
gerson, 1680; John Jackson, 1645; Thomas Jeggles, 1670, 1673; Ephraim 
Kempton, 1683; John King, 1669; John Kitchen, 1644-1646, 1651, 1655, 
1661; Robert Kitchen, 1680, 1682; William Lake, 1669; Francis Lawes, 
1644; John Leach, 1679, 1681; Lawrence Leach, 1638-1640, 1642; Richard 
Leach, 1654, 1661, 1672; Robert Lemon, 1657; Timothy Lindall, 1678, 1680, 
1684; William Lord, 1640, 1642, 1643, 1645, 1649; Thomas Lothrop, 1640, 
1641, 1643, 1644, 1646, 1652, 1655, 1657, 1663, 1665, 1668; Nicholas Manning, 
1666, 1674; Benjamin Marston, 1681; John Marston, 1678, 1680; Manasseh 
Marston, 1671, 1674, 1678, 1681; Elias Mason, 1660, 1669, 1671, 1675; 
Jeffrey Massey, 1638-1642, 1645, 1647, 1649-1653, 1655, 1659-1661; Roger 
Maury, 1642; John Millord, 1657; Richard Moore, 1653, 1658, 1662, 1664, 
1670; James Moulton, 1642; Robert Moulton, 1639-1641, 1644, 1647; 
Jeremiah Neale, 1676, 1677, 1684; John Neale, 1654, 1665, 1669; John 
Norman, 1674, 1677, 1682, 1684; George Norton, 1638-1640, 1659; Francis 
Nurse, 1674, 1675, 1677-1679, 1683; Thomas Oliver, 1664; William Osborne, 
1642; Peter Palfrey, 1638, 1640-1642, 1644-1646, 1648-1650; Deliverance 
Parkman, 1682, 1685; David Phippen, 1681; Joseph Phippen, 1667, 1668, 
1683; Samuel Phippen, 1683; John Pickering, 1661, 1664, 1671, 1678, 1681, 
1684; Benjamin Pickman, 1682, 1685; Nathaniel Pickman, 1658, 1661; 
Samuel Pickman (Pitman), 1663, 1671, 1673; Joseph Pope, 1647, 1648, 1654, 
1655; Israel Porter, 1674, 1677; John Porter, 1646, 1652, 1654, 1664, 1669; 
Nathaniel Porter, 1642; John Price, 1674; Walter Price, 1649, 1653, 1656- 
1658; Richard Prince, 1644, 1645, 1650, 1653, 1654, 1664, 1668, 1672; 
Richard Pritharch, 1682; John Procter, 1673; John Putnam, 1655, 1657, 
1659, 1661, 1665, 1669, 1674, 1676, 1678, 1682-1684; Jonathan Putnam, 1683; 
Nathaniel Putnam, 1652, 1655, 1658, 1664, 1668, 1670, 1671, 1673, 1677; 
Thomas Putnam, 1651, 1654, 1660, 1662, 1666, 1668, 1679, 1683; Daniel Ray, 
1642, 1649; Joshua Ray, 1666; John Rayment, 1657, 1661, 1662, 1664, 1666; 
Richard Rayment, 1638, 1642; William Rayment, 1667; Esdras Reade, 1638, 
1642; Charles Redford, 1684; Thomas Robbins, 1660, 1665; John Robin¬ 
son, 1649, 1651; Thomas Rootes, 1659; George Ropes, 1663; John Ruck, 
1654, 1661, 1663, 1672, 1678; John Sanders, 1639, 1679; Thomas 
Scruggs, 1642; Stephen Sewall, 1684; Michael Shaflin, 1642, 1654, 10^0; 
Samuel Shattock, 1654, 1684; John Sibley, 1639; Francis Skerry, 1653, 
1654, 1656, 1665, 1680; Henry Skerry, 1658, 1659,_ 1663, 1673; Thomas 
Spooner, 1644, 1653; James Standish, 1641, 1642; Elias. Stilman, 1638, 1640* 
1649, 1651-1653; William Sweatland, 1684; John Swinerton, 1652; John 
Trask, 1677; Habakkuk Turner, 1680; John Turner, 1676; James Under¬ 
wood, 1652, 1660; Thomas Venner, 1638-1640, 1643; Hilliard Veren, 1650, 
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numeraries. Each session of the court was for both civil and 
criminal business. The grand jury1 consisted of about thirteen 

1653, 1655, 1672, 1675, 1679; Philip Verrin, 1638, 1644; Jonathan Walcutt, 
1685; Joshua Ward, 1679; Simon Willard, 1683; George Williams, 1639, 
1647, 1650, 1653; Isaac Williams, 1660, 1666; John Williams, 1667, 1670, 
1674, 1676, 1680; Samuel Williams, 1671, 1680; Nehemiah Willoughby, 
1676, 1684; Peter Wolfe, 1639; Humphrey Woodbury, 1657, 1659, 1665; 
John Woodbury, 1638-1641; William Woodbury, 1649; Edward Woollan, 
1673, 1677. 

xThe grand jurymen from Salem from 1642 until Sir Edmund Andros 
suspended the operation of the colonial charter, in 1686, were as follows: 
Samuel Aborn (Eborne), 1656, 1660, 1661, 1667, 1669, 1673, 1674, 1680, 
1681, 1683, 1684; John Alderman, 1643, 1644, 1648, 1649; Daniel Andrews, 
1672; Thomas Antrum, 1643, 1659 ; Anthony Ashby, 1665; Christopher 
Babbidge, 1666, 1670, 1675, 1676, 1678, 1679, 1681-1684; John Balch, 1642- 
1644; Jacob Barney, 1642-1644, 1649-1652, 1655, 1670; Henry Bartholmew, 
1642-1644, 1647, 1665; Edmond Batter, 1642, 1648-1655, 1658, 1659; Richard 
Bishop, 1649, 1650, 1653, 1654, 1659; John Blackleech, 1642; Joseph Boyce, 
1655; Richard Brackenbury, 1656; William Browne, 1649, 1650, 1653, 1654; 
Anthony Buxton, 1662, 1663, 1666, 1677, 1680, 1681 ; Roger Conant, 1643, 
1644, 1647, 1649-1652, 1655; Samuel Corning, 1657, 1667; John Corwin, 
1672; William Dixy, 1645, 1659, 1661, 1668, 1669; John Dodge, 1664, 1665; 
William Dodge. 1645, 1658, 1659, 1666; Wi'liam Dounton, 1682, 1683; 
Thomas Edwards, 1645; Benjamin Felton, 1666; Nathaniel Felton, 1660, 
1661, 1676, 1679, 1680, 1683, 1684; Edward Flint. 1673, 1674, 1676; William 
Flint, 1662, 1663; Robert Fuller, 1680-1685; Thomas Fuller, 1673, 1674, 
1676, 1679, 1680, 1682, 1683; George Gardner, 1655; Thomas Gardner, 
1642-1644, 1671, 1672; Gervas Garford, 1642, 1644, 1647; Bartholmew 
Gedney, 1665; Eleazer Gedney. 1675, 1676; John Gedney, 1644, 1647; 
Thomas Goldthwaite, 1661; Edward Grove, 1672; John Hardy, 1642; 
Joseph Hardy, 1682, 1683; Henry Herrick, 1650-1655, 1660-166-1, 1667; 
John Holgrave, 1654, 1655; John Holmes, 1680, 1681; Joseph Houlton, 
1684, 1685; Edward Humber, 1665; Joseph Hutchinson, 1661, 1668, 1669, 
1674, 1675; John Ingersoll, 1673, 1674; Thomas Jeggles, 1683, 1684; George 
Keazer, 1668, 1670, 1677, 1679, 1680, 1684, 1685; Allen Keniston, 1644, 1647; 
William King, 1648, 1649; John Kitchen, 16/17, 1653, 1654, 1658; Francis 
Lawes, 1649, 1650, 1661, 1664; Lawrence Leach, 1642, 1645; John Loomis, 
1681, 1682; William Lord, 1642, 1644, 1647; Thomas Lothrop, 1642, 1644, 
1647, 1651, 1652; Manasseh Marston, 1682; Jeffrey Massey, 1642-164.4, 
1652-1656, 1663, 1667; Moses Maverick, 1642, 1645 ; Jeremiah Meachum, 
1677, 1679, 1680; Richard More, 1673, 1674; Jeremiah Neale, 1678, 1679; 
John Neale, 1648, 1649, 1660-1663, 1667; George Norton, 1657; Francis 
Nurse, 1671, 1672; Peter Palfrey, 1642, 1647; John Patch, 1663; Joseph 
Phippen, 1672, 1683-1685; John Pickering, 1668, 1669; Nathaniel Pickman 
(Pitman), 1671, 1672; John Porter, 1647, 16^9-1652, 1656, 1658, 1659, 1666; 
Walter Price, 1645, 1647, 1650-1653, 1659, 1663, 1668, 1669, 1672; Richard 
Prince, 1645, 1648, 1649, 1651, 1652; John Putnam, 1663, 1671, 1672; 
Nathaniel Putnam, 1653, 1654, 1659, 1661, 1665, 1674, 1675, 1681, 1682; 
Thomas Putnam, 1648, 1649. 1652, 1653, 1655, 1658, 1659, 1672, 1679, 1680; 
Daniel Ray, 1645; Joshua Ray (Rea), 1664, 1674, 1675, 1680, 1681, 1683; 
John Rayment. 1653, 1654, 1668, 1669; Esdras Reade, 16-13; Charles Red- 
ford, 1684; Thomas Rix. 1664, 1676, 1679, 1680; Josiah Rootes, 1665; 
Thomas Rootes, 1655, 1662-1664, 1669, 1674-1676, 1678; John Ruck, 1657, 
1673-1676, 1680, 1681, 1683, 1684; Thomas Scruggs, 1647; Francis Skerry, 
1659, 1661, 1663, 1667, 1670, 1673, 1674, 1676, 1678, 1679, 1682, 1683; Henry 
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or fifteen men. Juries of inquest were composed of twelve men 
who lived near the scene of the occurrence to be investigated, and 
were informally requested to serve by the constable. 

At a town meeting, March 31, 1638, Mr. Fiske desired en¬ 
largement of his farm; and there was granted to John Stratton 
one hundred acres of land for a farm,1 and to Elias Stillman an 
addition of sixteen acres adjoining to his thirty acres. It was 
then agreed that Mr. Elathorne should have the marsh ground 
lying before the gunsmith’s house or lot, and also the meadow 
or marsh along to the little brook betwixt the two hills, in con¬ 
sideration of his many employments for the town and country so 
long as he is continued in such affairs or the like. 

On the twenty-third of the next month, at the meeting of the 
whole town, there was granted to William Hathorne all the salt 
marsh lying along the South River on the west side from the 
house of Richard Waters to the little brook called the Frost fish 
brook, which ran from between the two hills, being about three 
or four acres. There was also n 

granted to Samuel Corning2 one iW— 
rcre of ground next to Mr. Flaw- ' 
thorne, and a five-acre lot on the Forest River side in exchange 
of it. There was granted to John Pease five acres of land next to 
Samuel Coming’s near the water mill. It was ordered that Mr. 
Johnson’s meadow at Brooksby and the lieutenant’s meadow there 
be laid out within ten days. There was then granted to Samuel 
Smith3 two hundred acres of land, being fifty more than his 

Skerry, 1655, 1660, 1661, 1664; Thomas Spooner, 1643, 1649-1652, 1654, 
r655, 1659; Elias Stilman, 1642; Job Swinerton, 1652, 1653, 1675-1677; 
James Symonds, 1677. 1681, 1682; John Symonds, 1657; John Thorndike, 
1653, 1654; William Trask, 1669, 1674, 1675, 1681, 1682; Thomas Trusler, 
1628, 1649; Mark Vermais, 1643; Philip Verrin, 1642, 1628; Thomas 
Watson, 1656; Henry West, 1678, 1679. 1681-1684; Resolved White, 1676; 
Thomas Wickes, 1654, 1655; Isaac Williams, 1671, 1672; Edward Woolland, 
1671, 1672; Humphrey Woodbury, 1666; John Woodbury, 1642-1644, 1647; 
Widiarn Woodbury, 1643, 1644, 1627. 

Whis was laid out in Salem Village near the lands of Mr. Hawthorne 
and Lieutenant Divenport. and Mr. Stratton mortgaged it to Valentine Hill 
of Boston.—Lcchford’s Note Book, page 126. 

2Spmuel Corning (Corney, Cornish) was born about 1616; planter and 
husbandman; married Elizabeth-, who died Aug. 18, 1688, aged about 
eighty-five; he died soon afterward; children: 1. Remember, baptized 
M y 3, 1620; 2. Samuel, baptized March 14, 1641; lived in Beverly; mar¬ 
ried Hannah Batcheller; died May 11, 1714, aged seventy-three; she died, 
his widow, Feb 17, 1717-8; 3. Elizabeth, baptized June.4, 1643. 

3Samuel Smith1 was one of the very first settlers in Enon, which be¬ 
came Wenham; married Sarah -; died in the autumn of 1642; she 
married, secondly, Daniel Rumball; children: 1. Thomas''; 2. Marie'; liv¬ 
ing in 1642; 3. Sarah2; married Hon. William Browne. 

Thomas Smith2; living in 1642; children: 1. Benjamin,3 baptized 
Feb. 17, 1636-7; 2. Nathaniel,3 baptized March 24, 1639-40. 
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former grant of one hundred acres, which was annulled. It was 
agreed that Wil¬ 
liam Allyn should 
have an acre of salt 
marsh at or near 
the end of his lot. 
There was granted to George Emery half an acre of marsh over 
against Mr. Endecott’s farm. This lot was probably in the 
North field and adjoining Waters River. 

The spring of 1638 was so cold that the seed corn rotted in 
the ground, and planting had to be repeated, in some instances 
twice; but the weather became warmer and the crop was 
saved. 

The first day of June was a typical June day, with bright 
sunshine and a gentle west wind. In the middle of the afternoon, 
while the men were in the field, and the women in the house, 
acute ears noticed a low and distant murmuring sound from the 
west, which became clearer and nearer, until it resembled the 
rumble of thunder. Not a cloud was seen. It became louder 
until it resembled the rattle of many carriages fast driven on 
pavements. Labor ceased, as the people questioned as to what 
it was, and the earth began to tremble beneath their feet. They 
threw down their tools and reeled as though intoxicated. The 
people indoors heard the sound and felt the tremble of the earth, 
and the houses shook until it seemed they must collapse. Im¬ 
perfectly built, of rough and uneven stones, on the outside of the 
house, almost perpendicular and without mortar, except for point¬ 
ing, chimneys readily yielded to the shaking they received and 
the tops of many of them fell off, striking on the house or ground. 
Pewter platters and dishes, standing upon shelves, knocked 
together and fell. The first shock continued about four minutes. 
The people resumed their labor. Half an hour later, the 
trembling was again heard and the earth quaked. This quickly 
passed, being milder than the first. The islands were shaken 
violently and the vessels in the harbor and those sailing along the 
coast were affected as if a series of tidal waves had passed 
under them. 

The people of that time must have been more affected by such 
an experience than those of to-day, though earthquakes are 
always disquieting. The people of that period must have had 
many doubts and fears, as they were not only superstitious, but 
this was an almost unknown region, which only lately had been 
believed to be filled with terrors. This was the greatest earth¬ 
quake of that century, and an epoch in the history of the 
people. 
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At a court of assistants, held at Cambridge June 5, 1638, 
John Bennet and Philip Deare (Beare?) were referred to Salem 
court for their drunkenness; and Francis Weston’s wife was 
censured to be set two hours in the bilboes at Cambridge and 
Salem, upon a lecture day. 

From the beginning of the settlement of the colony the crime 
of adultery was punishable with death, but the law was allowed 
to fall into disuse. At the general court, 'June 6, 1637, John 
Hathaway and Robert Allen were both indicted and, September 7, 
found guilty of adultery with Margaret, wife of Edward Seale of 
Marblehead. She was also found guilty. Seale was a beastly 
drunkard, and was sentenced, at the same court, to be set in the 
bilboes and be severely whipped. The next succeeding ]VIarch 
12th, all three were sentenced to be severely whipped and banished, 
never to return upon pain of death. At the latter court, the 
original law was confirmed. In his Journal,1 Winthrop wrote of 
this incident as follows: “1638: 1 : 30. Edward Seale of Marble¬ 
head twenty pounds for his wife’s appearance when she shall be 
called for after her delivery.” Hathaway and the Seales never 
came back, but a Robert Allen appears in Salem in 1642, and 
subsequently in Manchester, but it hardly seems reasonable that 
he was identical with the Marblehead man of that name, as the 
life of the Manchester man was so different from that of the 
Robert Allen who was of Marblehead in 1637. 

June 25, 1638, William Wood was granted half an acre of 
land near Strongwater brook or mill [end] brook, and also ten 
acres. Thomas Reed was granted half ^n acre of land lving- bv 
his other lot. 

On the eastern side of South River, opposite Castle Hill, 
there was formerly a long and narrow strip of salt marsh called 
the deacons’ marsh” for nearly two centuries. This constituted 

the two acres of marsh given to John Horne until the town should 
further dispose of it, and two acres given to Charles Gott upon 
the same condition (and also one acre “more, if there be any in 
the town’s hands when other men are provided for”). Messrs. 
Horne and Gott were the deacons of the church in Salem. 

The town also ordered that Richard Adams, widow Smith, 
Samuel Cornish and Joseph Grafton’s mother-in-law, all of whom 
were forgotten in the division, should each have half an acre 
apiece of marsh land. One acre of marsh was granted to Mr. 
Clark, one acre to Moses Maverick, three-fourths of an acre to 
Jeffry Easty, three-fourths to John Hart, and to Mr. Gafford 
and John Stone their proportions of marsh meadow if they con¬ 
tinued in Salem. There was g'ranted to Roger Maury a strip of 

’Winthrop’s Journal, Boston, 1825, volume II, page 349. 
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two and a half acres of meadow and one and a half acres of 
upland lying between the farms of Robert Moulton and John 
Gedney. This was located near the present West Peabody rail¬ 
road junction station. 

SALT MAKING 

The Company in England sent salt to Salem by Endecott in 
1628 ; and men skilled in making salt were promised to be provided 
for the colony. The settlers were allowed to make salt for their 
own use, but not for transportation or sale. The next year, the 
Company sent five weigh of salt in the Whelp and ten in the 
Talbot; but this probably was principally for preserving fish. 

The colonists at Jamestown, Va., began to send salt to the 
Puritan settlers in the Massachusetts Bay Colony in 1633. This 
was salt made by solar evaporation of the water of the ocean, 
which was run into large shallow pans several inches in depth, 
and remained there till it was evaporated, leaving a layer of salt 
in the pan. Salt made in this way was coarser than that produced 
by boiling sea water. 

In the spring of 1638, Governor Winthrop’s son John1 con¬ 
templated making this kind of salt in Salem. He was born at 
Groton, Suffolk County, England, Feb. 12, 1605-6, and was 
educated at Trinity College, in Dublin. He studied law at the 
Inner Temple, in London; but soon abandoned it. He then 
entered the naval service, under the Duke of Buckingham, in the 
unsuccessful expedition for the relief of the French Protestants 
at Rochelle in 1627. After a tour of the continent, he returned 
to London, and in 1631 emigrated to New England. Two years 
later, he was one of the grantees of Agawam, now Ipswich. 

June 25, 1638, the town of Salem granted to him “liberty to 
set a salt house upon Ryall’s side with wood for his occasions 
about the same house, and common for two cows to pasture in.” 
Mr. Winthrop immediately erected a house on the northerly side 

\John Winthrop married, first, his cousin Martha Fones, who died in 
1634 or 1635, and, second, Elizabeth, daughter of Edward Reade of Wick- 
ford, Essexshire, England, step-daughter of Hugh Peter ; children, by the 
second wife: 1. Elizabeth; married, first, Rev. Antipas Newman of 
Wenham in 1658; he died Oct. 15, 1672; and she married, secondly, 
Zerubbabel Endecott; 2. Lucy; married Edward Palmer of New London, 
Conn.; 3. Margaret; married John Corwin of Salem; 4. Martha; married 
Richard Wharton of Boston; 5. Anne; married John Richards of Boston; 
6. John, born in Ipswich March 14, 1638; served in the army of General 
Monk in Scotland and elsewhere until the Restoration; then returned to 
New England and figured in the Indian wars; was major-general in the 
expedition to Canada in 1690; governor of Connecticut from 1698 to 1707; 
and died in Boston Nov. 27, 1707; 7. Waitstill, born in Boston Feb. 27, 
1642; soldier in the Indian wars; major-general; judge of the superior 
court and chief justice of Massachusetts. 
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of Bass River at its junction with Danvers River, in which he 
hired a family to live, and also lived there himself with his family 
“some considerable time and carried on the design of making 

salt,’’1 that year and the 
next. The house was built 
by Nathaniel Pickman.2 
Robert Hebard,3 then about 

twenty-three _ years old, lived with Mr. Winthrop at the salt 
house.4 William Bennett, then ^ 
about thirty-four years old, did car- ^Dlf'VJLU 
pentry work there at times for him *~~u*"*u 

The town granted to Mr. Winthrop, Aug. 19, 1639, “a little 
neck of land adjoining to the salt house built by the said Mr. 
Winthrop containing about sixteen acres or thereabouts, more or 
less, lying between a cove which is on the north side of his said 
house and a little brook lying to the west of the said house.” This 
point of land is the first one on the right in the view of Danvers 
River on page 81, volume I. 

The following is a copy of a letter written here to his father: 

Tee papers in Records and Files of the Quarterly Courts of Essex 
County, volume VI, pages 244 and 248. 

Nathaniel PickmAn1 (Pitman) was born about 1616; house car¬ 
penter; lived on the eastern side of Central Street in the middle of what 
is now Charter Street; married Tabitha, widow of Andrew Dike; she 
died Sept 10, 1668; he died in the autumn of 1684; children: 1. Hannah2- 
married John Sanders Nov. 5, 1661; 2. Tabitha2; married Edward Fever- 
year Aug.. 30, 1664; 3. Mary; married Robert Hodges June 22, 1665; 
4. Nathaniel, born about 1648; 5. Bethiah2; married, first, John Silsby 
heb. 15, 1673; second, Alexander Cole in 168-. 

Nath^niel^ Pickman2; married Parina - before 1673; died in or 
r r-u children : 1. Tabitha,3 born Nov. 4, 1670; married John Baker 

o± Charlestown March 9, 1695-6; 2. Elizabeth,3 born Dec. 25, 1673; of 
oston, unmarried, in 1698; 3. Nathaniel,3 born April 13, 1676 ; mariner in 

1098; 4- Joseph ; living m 1698; 5. Benjamin3; living in 1698; 6. Isannah3; 

1V*a u- in-i31^^’ • P Hannah3; living in 1698; 8. Mary3; living in 1698; 
9- Abigail3; living in 1698. 

, B°bert Hibbard (Hibbert) ; born about 1615; bricklayer; lived in 
the Beverly part of Salem on the south side of Colon Street, about halfway 
between Cabot and Heather streets; called John Luff “father” in 1667; 
married Joan -; Bridget Luff (Love) (probably John’s mother), aged 
eignty-tour, was living in their family in 1671; he died in Beverly May 7, 
1084; she was living, his widow, in 1693; children: 1. Mary, born Nov. 27, 

4i ’ 2- born Jan. 24, 1642-3; married Ruth Waldern Nov. 16, 1679; 

rTo.1’ r°rij •ep1L 2d’ ,i644; died Dec. 8, 1644; 4. Joseph, baptized May 
7, 48, hved in Beverly; married Abigail Graves Oct. 20, 1670; died 

ay 14, 1701, 5. Robert, baptized May 7, 1648; lived in Wenham; married 
kCr Hannah; living in 1671; 7. Joanna, baptized March 9, 

tA" ’ yhzabeth, baptized May 1, 1653; 9. Abigail, baptized May 6, 
1 M’ lriarned Thomas Blashfield of Beverly March 28, 1676; 10. Samuel, 

ap izecl June 20, 1658; husbandman; lived in Beverly in 1690; married 
MarL?ondof Hayerhill Nov. 16, 1679; had children. 

Lues of Ipswich Quarterly Court Records, volume 26, leaf 48. 
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Sir — These calling in this night intending to goe towards Boston 
tomorrow, I am bold to present my humble duty & my wives to your 
selfe & my brother, desiring to lett you understand y1 we are in good 
health (blessed be God) wth the rest of our friends here, & at my 
uncle Downings. Heer is noe news to write you of. Joseph Grafton 
was on friday sevennight at Pascataway, having made his voyage 
hence thither and back againe in 3 daies, but there was noe ship come 
then to the Isle of Sholes. Just now are come to me y* came from 
Quinipiack certifying y* Mr. Goose was arrived there: Before he 

came thence he saw my brother Steven there well; the merchants then 
were about to hire Mr. Goose his ship for England, but this party 
coming out of the bay, I suppose it is not news to you. Last weeke one 
having laded his canoe wth wood coming where the sea was a little 
ruffe, she filled presently wth water, but not sinking right downe he 
was succoured by another boate & so saved. Goodman Giles of this 
towne came to me this day & told me he had order for Sergeant 
Watson by your order to pay me 10 bushels of corne, but hauing no 
notice thereof from you, I doubted it might be some mistake. Thus 
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craving your praiers & blessing I comend you to the Almighty & rest 
Your obedient son 

John Winthrop. 

Myselfe & wife salute our brothers & friends wth you.1 

On the opposite page is reproduced a rough map, made 
by Daniel Epes, the schoolmaster, March 28, 1677,2 showing the 
boundaries of this land and the location of the salt house. 

About 1645, Mr. Winthrop removed to what is now New 
London, Conn., and devoted himself to the interests of the 
Connecticut colonies, being elected in 1651, the first governor of 
the united colonies. He held the office seventeen years. He was 
highly educated, accomplished, upright, generous and efficient, 
and was elected a member of the Royal Society, in England, as a 
tribute to his scientific attainments. He died in Boston, while 
there temporarily, April 3, 1676, and was buried by the side of 
his father in King’s Chapel churchyard. 

The salt house was probably gone before 1670, and Mr. 
Winthrop gave the land to his daughter Mrs. Elizabeth Newman, 
wife of Rev. Antipas Newman of Wenham and, later, wife of 
Zerubbabel Endecott of Salem. 

This neck of land was known for a century as Salthouse 
neck or point, later as Salt’us point and now as Salter’s point. 

1Winthrop’s Letters (1867 edition), volume II, page 264. 
Tiles of the Ipswich Quarterly Court, volume 26, leaf 44. 

1 



CHAPTER II. 

THE GAME PRESERVE. 

MONG the adventurers who belonged to the Massa¬ 
chusetts Bay Company in England in 1629 was 
Emanuel Downing, whose wife was Lucy, sister of 
Gov. John Winthrop, and daughter of Adam Win- 
throp, Lord of the manor of Groton, in Suffolkshire, 

and his wife Anna. Lucy Winthrop was baptized Jan. 27, 1601. 
Mr. Downing was a barrister of the Inner Temple; and in 1633 
and later he appeared before the Privy Council in London in 
behalf of the Colony. He lived, in 1626, “at the Sign of the 
Bishop,” 011 Fleet Street, London. In 1637, he concluded to 
remove to New England, and wrote the following letter to Mr. 
Winthrop:— 

To the Honourable his verie loving brother John Winthrop, Governor 
of the Massachusetts in New England, 
Good Brother: 
. . . Its noe small comfort to me that I haue hope ere long to 

enioy your Companie. I purpose God willinge to sett forth hence in 
the begynning of Aprill at furthest and to take your sonne hence with 
me. 

I follow your councell in coming to the bay before I resolue where 
to pitche. I pray helpe me to hire or buy some house (so as I may 
sell yl againe if I shall remove) in some plantacion about the Bay. 
Thus for present I take leave and rest leaving you and your affayres 
to yc blessed protection of ye Almighty. 

Your assured and loving brother, 

Em. Downinge. 
21 9ber 1637. 

Mr. Downing was licensed to pass from England beyond the 
seas March 13, 1637-8, and sailed immediately; and upon his 
arrival probably went directly to Governor Winthrop’s house in 

18 
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Boston. In June, he settled in Salem, and within a month there¬ 
after purchased of Robert Cole the three hundred acres of land, 
lying- in what is now Peabody, at Proctor’s Crossing, which had 
been granted to him by the town Dec. 28, 1635.1. Mr. Downing 

erected a house 
upon it, and called 
this country seat 
“Groton,” after the 
name of the Eng¬ 
lish home of his 

wife. They lived upon this place. It was not far from Governor 
Endecott’s orchard farm and a highway ran from one to the 
other. 

July 16, 1638, the town granted to Mr. Downing one hundred 
acres of land adjoining to Mr. Cole’s farm which he had pur¬ 
chased, lying on the southwest side of said farm, next Roger 
Maury’s farm; but, Oct. 17, 1638, this grant was reversed, and 
instead the town granted to him one hundred acres on the north 
side of and adjoining the farm bought of Cole, whereby the 
farm might be commodious to him. Four hundred acres of land, 
eighty acres being meadow, was also granted to him July 6th, 
which tract lay adjoining to Humphrey Bishop’s farm north¬ 
westerly. 

When Mr. Downing was in England in the summer of 1645, 
on Sunday, April 6th, while Mrs. Downing and her family 
were at meeting in the town, the chimney of the house caught fire, 
and the house was wholly consumed, the house and bedding, 
apparel and the household furniture and furnishings being worth, 
Governor Winthrop wrote, two hundred pounds. Upon his return 
from England, Mr. Downing apparently bought the house and 
land on Essex Street, where he afterwards lived. He and his 
family let the farm to various tenants as long as it was owned by 
the Downings. 

From about 1646 to 1648,2 William Flint3 was the tenant. 
He appeared in Salem early 

in the summer of 1642, and \ *f)d * ^ 
became the tenant of Mr. Wld?”'f** 
Downing, and probably con¬ 

gee volume I, pages 303 and 340. 
2See Records and Files of the Essex County Quarterly Courts, volume 

I) page 213; and Essex Registry of Deeds, book 15, leaf 5. 
AVilliam Flint1 is stated by Mr. Shattuck, in his History of Concord, 

N. H., to have been a son of Thomas Flint, who came from Matlock, 
Derbyshire, England, and whose uncle was William Wood, author of New 
Englands Prospect. Thomas Flint was one of the early settlers of Concord, 
Mass., a magistrate and many years a deputy to the general court, and, says 
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tinned there until 1653, when he purchased the house and land of 
Thomas James on the northeasterly corner of Flint and Broad 
streets. In the winter of 1655-6, Mr. Flint lived in the house of 

Captain Hawthorne. 

the same author, spent thousands of pounds sterling for the benefit of the 
colony. William Flint had a brother Thomas, who came to Salem soon 
after'himself. William Flint was born about 1603, married, but left his 
wife in England, as his mother would not allow her to come to America 
with him. In 1644, he married Alice Williams, by whom he had children. 
He had brought one or two children with him when he came to America. 
He died April 2, 1673; and she died Oct. 5, 1700. Children: 1. Alice, 
born about 1636; married, first, Henry Bullock; and, second, John Picker¬ 
ing; 2. Edward* born about 1638; 3. Elizabeth,2 born about 1640; married 
John Woodis; 4. Margaret,2 born about 1642; married - Goodwin; 
5. Thomas/ born about 1644; 6. Hannah,2 born about 1647; married Joshua 

Ward. 
Ens. Edward Flint2; yeoman; married Elizabeth Hart Oct. 20, 1659; 

died in the summer of 1711; she survived him; children: 1. John,3 born 
March 26, 1660; 2. William,3 born Aug. 12, 1661; 3. Thomas,3 born Feb. 1, 
1662-3; 4. Hannah3; married Robert Orange of Boston; 5. David3; 
6. Deborah3; married Thomas Lee of Boston; 7. Joseph3; 8. Elizabeth3; 
married Joseph Deane; 9. Benjamin,3 born about 1679; yeoman; died, 
unmarried, Dec. 28, 1732; 10. Sarah3; married Jacob Willard; 11. Abigail3; 
married, first, Edward Holloway June 9, 1704; and, second, Benjamin 
Gerrish. Quartermaster Thomas Flint2; yeoman; married Elizabeth 
Johnson Aug. 12, 1678; died in 1719; she survived him; children: 1. Ruth3, 
born May 11, 1679; married David Flint; 2. Timothy,3 born Sept. 30, 1680^ 
died before 1732; 3. John,3 born June 21, 1684; died young; 4. Joseph,3 

born Aug. 1, 1687; 5. Elizabeth,3 baptized Oct. —, 1689; married Peter 
King of Marblehead; 6. Abigail,3 born Aug. 8, 1692; living in 1732; 7. 
Mary,3 baptized Sept. —, 1694; living in 1732; 8. Rebecca,3 baptized Jan. 
29, 1698; married John White of Gloucester Sept. 23, 1720; 9. Sarah,3 
baptized Feb. 2, 1700-1; married William Grafton Sept. 23, 1720. 

David Flint3; flesher and fellmonger; married Ruth Flint Jan. 4, 
1699; died in 1736; children: 1. Ruth,4 baptized Aug. 2, 1702; died in 
infancy; 2. Ruth,4 baptized May 28, 1704; married Thomas Metcalf of 
Gloucester Oct. 31, 1728; 3. Huldah,4 baptized Oct. 27, 1706; married John 
Holman of Marblehead Nov. 13, 1724; 4. Hannah,4 born about 1708; mar¬ 
ried Thomas Cruff of Marblehead Oct. 4, 1722; 5. William,4 baptized Dec. 
7. 1712; 6. John* baptized Dec. 7, 1712; 7. David,4 baptized March 27, 
1715; yeoman, fisherman and truckman; lived in Marblehead; married 
Hannah Holman Dec. 12, 1734; and had several children. Joseph Flint3; 

married Experience Darby June 22, 1698; she died Jan. 1, 1714-5; children: 
1. Joseph,4 born April 7, 1699; probably died before 1714; 2. Jonathan,4 
born Jan. 3, 1701-2; probably died before 1714; 3. Mary4, born April 4, 
1703; married Samuel Wainwright of Ipswich Jan. 27, 1724-5; 4. Edward,4 
born about 1705; shopkeeper; lived in Haverhill; married, first, Lydia 
Peaslee of Haverhill Nov. 22, 1733; she died Nov. 4, 1740; second, Martha 
Emerson of Portsmouth, N. H., before 1745; she died Sept. 8, 1745; 
married, third, Abiah Roberts Nov. 3, 1747; had children. Joseph Flint3; 

cordwainer and husbandman; married Mary Johnson of Boston Aug. 9, 
1709; died in the summer of 1752; she survived him; children: 1. Joseph* 
baptized July 15, 1716; 2. Mercy,4 baptized July 15, 1716; married John 
Marston; 3. Elizabeth,4 baptized July 14, 1717; married Edward 
Britton. 
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Mr. Flint’s son Thomas Flint hired it from 1649 to 1653. 
In 1656, Mrs. Downing leased the farm to George Norton of 
Salem, carpenter, for ten years from March 1, 1655-6, the rent 
to be eighteen pounds a year, and to be paid in Indian corn, wheat, 
barley, pork, cheese and cattle. The lessee agreed not to cut 
lumber for sale, and to build upon the farm a strong and sufficient 
house in every way like that of Mr. Treadwell of Ipswich, except 
that the chimneys should be catted instead of being wholly made 
of brick. Mr. Norton was to leave the house tenantable at the 
end of the term, “extraordinary casualty hereby only excepted,” 
in consideration of which he was to have the use of the farm rent 
free for one year.1 Mr. Norton assigned the lease to Roger 
Preston2 of Ipswich March 14, 1658-9, and Mr. Preston removed 

William Flint4; brickmaker; married Lydia Hayward (Howard) 
July 25, 1735; was living in 1739i child: 1. John5; living in 1736. John 

Flint4; married Jane Salisbury Jan. 2, 1734-5; died in 1735; she survived 
him; child: 1. John,5 born Nov. 30, 1735. Joseph Flint4; husbandman; 
married Hannah Stone July 28, 1738; died Dec. —, 1745; she survived him; 
child: 1. Mary5; living, unmarried, in 1752. 

John Flint5; married Susannah Webb Sept. 29, 1756; died before 
1767; she was his widow in 1815; children: 1. John,6 born Jan. 1, 1757; 

2. Susannah,6 born in 1759; married Josiah Parsons of Newmarket, N. H.; 
3. Jonathan6; died at sea; 4. Joseph6; died at sea. 

John Flint6; shoemaker; married Margaret Cheever; drowned Dec. 
28, 1813; children: 1. Abigail7; married Timothy Harraden; 2. Jonathan,7 
born Aug. 12, 1788; lived in New York; mariner; died at sea, on board 
brig Theresa, from Puerto Cabello, Nov. 27, 1825, unmarried; 3. Joseph,7 
born in 1790; tinman; died Oct. 28, 1817; 4. Susannah7; 5. Mary7; 6. 
Sally'; 7. Priscilla.7 

4Records and Files of the Essex County Quarterly Courts, volume III, 
page 286. 

“Roger Preston1 was a husbandman and lived in Ipswich as early as 
1657 and until the spring of 1660, when he removed to Salem, where he 
afterwards lived; married Martha-, who was born about 1622; he died 
in the winter of 1665-6; she married, secondly, Nicholas Holt of Andover 
May 21, 1666; Mr. Holt died before 1703; she died, his widow, in Andover 
March 21, 1702-3; children (also, perhaps, Mary, who married Nathaniel 
Ingerson, and Elizabeth, who married William Henfield) : 1. Thomas/ born 
about 1643; 2. Samuel,2 born about 1651; lived in Andover; married 
Susanna Gutterson May 27, 1672, in Andover; she died Dec. 29, 1710; he 
died July 10, 1738; had children; 3. Jacob,2 born about 1653; lost at sea, 
in a ketch, on a fishing trip to the Eastward in the summer of 1679, being 
cast away and never heard from. 

Thomas Preston2; married Rebecca Nurse April 15, 1669; died in 
1697; children: 1. Rebecca,3 born May 12, 1670; married Ezekiel Upton 
of Reading in 1692; 2. Mary,3 born Feb. 15, 1671-2; married Peter Cloyce 
of Framingham Dec. 13, 1693; 3 John,3 born Nov. 20, 1673; 4. Martha,3 
born Oct. 21,4676; married David Judd Dec. 7, 1705; 5. Elizabeth,3 born 
about 1677; died Nov. 21, 1693; 6. Thomas3; 7. David3; lived in Windham, 
Conn.; married Elizabeth Martin of Ipswich Aug. 2, 1726; died before 
T734; 8. Jonathan3; of Salem, husbandman, in 1711; married Elizabeth 
Voden Aug. 10, 1714. 
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to the farm one year later. When he secured this lease, in the 
winter of 1658-9, he was living on the farm of William Cogswell, 

in Ipswich, of which he then had a 
lease. On the Downing farm, he _ 
conducted an ordinary and sold (l' CJ 
strong liquors “for the entertain¬ 
ment of strangers.” He died in the winter of 1665-6. Upon the 
expiration of the lease, a new lessee took possession. This was 

John Proctor, also of Ipswich, 
son of John Proctor,1 and was 
born about 1632. As the house 
was situated upon the high road 
between Boston and Ipswich 

many travelers passed that way and houses being far apart he 

John Preston3; husbandman; married, first, Elizabeth -; second, 
Mrs. Mary Rea Dec. 28, 1736; he died July 6, 1744; she survived him; 
children: 1. Moses4 born July 6, 1715; 2. John,4 born Sept. 4, 1717; 3. 
Philip,4 born March 6, 1719-20; served in the expedition against Louisburg, 
Cape Breton, in 1745; was brought home sick, and died April 14, 1748, 
unmarried. Thomas Preston3; lived in Reading in 1711, of Salem in 
1716, 1723 and 1735; husbandman; married Anna Leach June —, 1708; he 
died in the winter of 1741-2; she died, his widow, in 1753; children, bap¬ 
tized in Salem Village: 1. Thomas,4 baptized Sept. 25, 1709; weaver and 
husbandman; lived in Salem in 1742; living in 1747; married Rebecca 
Gross of Marblehead Dec. 9, 1731; 2. Rebecca,4 baptized April 20, 1712; 
married William Trevy of Marblehead (published Aug. 28, 1730) ; 3. Anna,4 
baptized Oct. 31, 1714; of Salem in 1741-2; living in 1749; 4. Mary4; of 

Salem in 1742. 
Moses Preston4; married Mary Leach of Beverly (published Nov. 7, 

1736); lived in Salem in 1736; died in or before 1744; children: 1. Moses6; 
died in or before 1749; oldest son; 2. Joseph5; living in 1749; 3. Elizabeth5; 
living in 1749; 4. John5; living in 1749; youngest son. Lt. John Preston4; 

yeoman; married Hannah Putnam July 12, 1744; she died March 28, 1771; 
he died June 14, 1771; lived in the Danvers part of Salem; children: 1. 
Elizabeth,5 born May 9, 1745; married Ebenezer Nichols; 2. John,5 born 
Sept. 8, 1746; living in 1774; 3. Philip,5 born Oct. 30, 1748; died May 29, 
1749; 4- Joshua,5 born March 22, 1751; died May 11, 1751; 5. David,5 born 
March 20, 1752; died Jan. 16, 1774; 6. Hannah,5 born Aug. 8, 1754; married 
Amos Tapley; 7. Levi,6 born Oct. 21, 1756; 8. Moses,6 born April 20, 1758; 
died Feb. 26, 1824; 9. Aaron,J born March 24, 1760; died April 9, 1760; 
10. Daniel,6 born June 11, 1761; died July 1, 1762. 

Bohn Proctor1 was born about 1595; married Martha -; sailed 
from London, England, in 1635, in the ship Susan and Ellen, with his wife 
Martha, aged twenty-eight, and children, John, aged three, and Mary, aged 
one; lived in Ipswich; died in the autumn of 1672; she survived him; 
children: 1. John,2 born about 1632; 2. Mary2; 3. Martha2; 4. Abigail,2 
born about 1639; 5- Sarah2; 6. Joseph2; 7. Hannah2; 8. Benjamin.2 

John Proctor ; husbandman; removed to Salem in 1666; married, 
first, Martha she died in Ipswich June 13, 1659; married, second, 
Elizabeth Thorndike Dec. , 1662; she died Aug. 30, 1672; married, third, 
Elizabeth Bassett of Lynn April 1, 1674; he was executed as a wizard 
Aug. 19, 1692; she survived him, and married, secondly, Daniel Richards of 
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also found that requests for refreshments were frequent. In 

Lynn (published Sept. 22, 1699); children: 1. John3; died Oct. —, 1658; 
2. Martha3; died Oct. 14, 1658; 3. Mary,3 born Jan. 1, 1657-8; died Feb.—, 
1657-8; 4. Benjamin/ born June 10, 1659; 5- Elizabeth,3 born about 1663; 
married Thomas Very; 6. Martha,3 born April 1, 1665; died May 10, 1665; 
7. Martha,3 born June 4, 1666; living in 1682; 8. Mary,3 born Oct. 20, 1667; 
died Feb. 15, 1667-8; 9. John,3 born Oct. 28, 1668; 10. Mary,3 born Jan. 30, 
1669-70; 11. Thorndike/ born July 15, 1672; 12. William,3 born Feb. 6, 
1674-5; living in 1695; 13. Sarah,3 born Jan. 28, 1676; married Edward 
Munnion of Lynn Oct. 23, 1700; 14. Samuel,3 born Jan. 11, 1685-6; living 
in 1695; 15. Elisha,3 born April 28, 1687; died Nov. 11, 1688; 16. Abigail,3 
born Jan. 27, 1689; living in 1695; 17. John/ born Jan. 27, 1692-3. Joseph 

Proctor2; lived in Ipswich; married, second, Sarah, widow of Richard 
Ingersoll; children: 1. Joseph,3 born Feb. 25, 1677; 2. Jacob,3 born Jan. 25, 
1679 (?) ; 3. Daniel,3 born Jan. 30, 1679; 4. Martha,3 born Dec. 10, 1681; 
5. Mary,3 born July 28, 1683; 6. Abigail,3 born April 13, 1685; 7. Francis/ 
born Jan. 8, 1686; 8. Jonathan,3 born April 15, 1693. 

Benjamin Proctor3; married Mary Whittredge Dec. 18, 1694; died 
in the spring of 1717; she died, his widow, Nov. 5, 1748; children: 1. Mary,4 
born Oct. 12, 1695; married Robert Wilson March 6, 1717-8; 2. Priscilla,4 
born Dec. 11, 1699; married Jonathan Foster; 3. Sarah,4 born Jan. 2, 
1702-3; married Ebenezer Southwick; 4. John,4 born in 1705. Thorndike 

Proctor3; yeoman; lived in the Danvers part of Salem; married, first, 
widow Hannah Endecott Dec. 15, 1697; she died Aug. 9, 1737; he married, 
second, Mrs. Sarah Allen of Marblehead (published March 31, 1739) ; he 
died in the early spring of 1758; children: 1. Nathan,4 born Oct. 18, 1698; 
2. Thorndike4 born June 2, 1700; 3. Ebenezer,4 born Aug. 16, 1702; 4. 
Jonathan,4 born Aug. 2, 1705; 5. Benjamin.4 John Proctor3; yeoman; 
lived in the Peabody part of Salem; married Mary-; died in 1745; she 
married, secondly, Daniel Marble (published July 2, 1748); children: 1. 
Abigail4; married Samuel Goldthwait; 2. Rachel4; married, first, Jonathan 
Mackmallon; second, Nathaniel Massey; 3. Mary4; married Abraham 
Pierce Aug. 22, 1744; 4. Hannah4; married John Balcam of Mansfield, 
Conn, (published April 20,* 1745) ; 5. Elizabeth4; unmarried in 1750, in Salem; 
6. John4; yeoman; married Mary Collier of Marblehead (published Nov. 6, 
1736) ; died in the summer of 1747; she survived him. Francis Proctor3; 

lived in Marblehead until about 1717, when he removed to Salem; married 
Keziah Darling (published Dec. 27, 1712) ; died in the autumn of 1732; she 
returned to Marblehead, where she was living in 1744; children: 1. John,4 
born Sept. 12, 1715; fisherman; married Mary Goldthwait (published Nov. 
3, 1738) ; died in the expedition to Cape Breton in 1745, without issue; 
2. Martha,4 baptized Oct. 12, 1718; married Jonathan Burroughs July 3, 
1742; 3. Francis,4 baptized Nov. 12, 1721; lived in Marblehead; married 
Sarah -; had children; 4. Robert,4 baptized July 19, 1724; 5. Hannah,4 
baptized Oct. 16, 1726; living in 1744; 6. Sarah,4 baptized July 2, 1732. 

John Proctor4; lived in the Danvers part of Salem; married Lydia 
Waters Dec. 14, 1727; she died Aug. 4, 1769; he died in Danvers in 1774; 
children: 1. John,5 born Sept. 14, 1728; lived in Danvers; married Mary 
Epps Nov. 6, 1751; died in 1771; 2. Lydia,5 born March 31, 1730; published 
to Jonathan Flint of Reading Aug. 1, 1751; 3. Benjamin,5 born Jan. 28, 
1731; lived in Danvers; married Keziah Littlefield of Wells (published 
June 23, 1758); died Feb. 24, 1799; she died, his widow, March 5, 1811; 
had children; 4. Mary,5 born Dec. 3, 1733; married Joseph Pickering; 
5. Sarah,5 born Aug. 21, 1736; married John Goold of Gloucester July 16, 
1761; 6. Sylvester,5 born Oct. 26, 1738; lived in Danvers; married, first, 
Abigail Gale Jan. 18, 1763; she died Oct. 20, 1771; married, second, 
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November, after he had removed to the farm, he petitioned the 

Mehitable Porter Oct. 22, 1772; he died in Danvers March 21, 1790; she 
died there June 6, 1814; had children; 7. Prudence,5 born Nov. 21, 1740; 
married James Buffington Feb. 14, 1765; 8. Joseph,5 born Aug. 31, 1743 j. 
married Elizabeth Epes (published Jan. 29, 1768) ; died in 1804; 9- Daniel, 
born May 14, 1746; died in Danvers Oct. 21, 1766. Nathan Proctor ; 
liVed in the Danvers part of Salem; yeoman; married Mary Reed May 14, 
1723; they died in October, 1775; children: 1. Stephen,5 born March 22, 
1724; lived in Danvers; married Elizabeth Newhall of Lynn Jan. 3,^1760; 
died Sept. 13, 1807; she died Jan. 28, 1819; had children; 2. Jacob,5 born 
Feb. 12, 1726; died Nov. 16, 1728; 3. Mary,5 born Dec. 21, 1728; married 
Peter Cross Oct. 24, 1754; 4- Hannah,5 born Oct.'22, 1730; married Abel 
Waters; 5. Ruth,5 born Jan. 21, 1732; married John Marble (published May 
6, 1758) ; 6. Nathan,5 born Nov. 25, 1735; lived in Danvers; married 
Abigail Waters Oct. 22, 1761; had children; 7. Jacob,5 born Oct. 12, 1737; 
8. Sarah,5 born April 11, 1741. Thorndike Proctor4; blacksmith; married 
Abigail Wilson April 5, 1721; died July 17, 1774; she died Dec. 11, 1784; 
children: 1. Hannah,5 born Nov. 9, 1723; died May 6, 1727; 2. Thorndike,5 
born Nov. 26, 1725; married Lydia Shillaber (published Nov. 19, 1749) 5 
living in 1774; 3. Abigail,5 born Aug. 27, 1727; married George Daland 
Oct. 5, 1744; 4. Hannah,5 born Sept. 3, 1729; married Matthew Mansfield 
June 1 a, 1750; 5. Elizabeth5; married Robert Shillaber of Danvers Nov. 
30, 1758; 6. Robert5; 7. Lydia5; married Benjamin Symonds; 8. Mary5; 
married Robert Foster Feb. 27. 1766; 9. Sarah5; married Charles Worthen 
Dec. 15, 1768; 10. Ebenezer? born about 1741. Ebenezer Proctor4; cord- 
wainer; married Mary Houlton Dec. 1, 1725; child: 1. Sarah,5 baptized 
April 19, 1730. Jonathan Proctor4; married Desire Jacobs March 18, 
!735-6; died March 10, 1750-1; children: 1. Desire,5 baptized April 17^ 
1737; 2. Jonathan,5 baptized Feb. 25, 1738-9; living in 1755. 3. Thorndike, 
baptized March 29, 1741; 4. Hannah,5 baptized May 15, 1743; married 
Timothy Felton; 5. Sarah,5 baptized Sept. 8, 1745; living in 1755; 6. Eliz¬ 
abeth,5 born Feb. 13, 1750-1; living in 1755. Benjamin Proctor4; married 
-; she was his widow in 1755; child: 1. Sarah5; married - 
Merritt before 1755. 

Robert Proctor5 ; blacksmith and yeoman; married, first, Hannah 
Goodhue(?); she died May 20, 1766; married, second, Hannah Favour 
(published Oct. 23, 1774) ; he died Feb. —, 1803; she died, his widow, 
Dec. 10, 1828; children: 1. Thorndike,6 born about 1758; master mariner; 
died, unmarried, in the winter of 1791-2; 2. Robert,G born Dec. 23, 1760; 
3. Martha,6 born in 1763; 4. -6 (son), born about 1772; died July —, 
1794; 5- Benjamin,6 born Oct. 24, 1775; 6. -6 (son), born about 1781; 
died Aug.—, 1795. Ebenezer Proctor5; blacksmith; married Martha Gott 
of Danvers March 29, 1769; died June 15, 1804; she died Aug. 9, 1824; 
children: 1. Eben,6 baptized June 10, 1781; 2. Daniel,6 born in 1772; 
mariner; died at Havanna July —, 1802; 3. Polly,6 baptized June 10, 1781; 
married Nathan Luther of Newport, R. I., Nov. 12, 1797; 4. Abigail,6 bap¬ 
tized June 10, 1781; living in 1799; 5- Deborah,6 born Sept. 4, 1785 (?); 
died in the summer of 1804; 7. Eben,6 baptized Feb. 1, 1784. Thorndike 
Proctor5; married Mary -; died in the autumn of 1775; children: 1. 
Abigail,6 born about 1756; married Zadock Buffington about August, 1776; 
2. William!' born in 1760; 3. Thorndike? born in 1763. 

Robert Proctor6 ; blacksmith and shopkeeper; married Lydia Kilbern 
Nov. 13, 1808; died Dec. 4, 1841; child: 1. Martha Ann,7 baptized Aug. 
23, 1811; married David Nichols April 5, 1835. William Proctor6; mer¬ 
chant and cordwainer; married Elizabeth Masury Nov. 8, 1783; she died 
May —, 1793; he died Feb. 23, 1803; children: 1. Elizabeth,7 born about 





C
O

Y
 

P
O

N
D

. 



THE GAME PRESERVE 25 

selectmen for a license to entertain travelers, stating* that “I live 
at Mr. Downing’s farm which is in the common roadway, which 
occasioneth several travelers to call in for some refreshment as 
they pass along and finding it like to be very chargable in case I 
should continue to accomodate such upon free cost, do therefore 
earnestly request you that you would be pleased to grant me 
liberty to set up a house of entertainment to sell beer, cider, 
liquors,” etc.; and the Salem court licensed him to keep a house 
of public entertainment and to sell strong waters only to strang¬ 
ers. The license was continued for many years. John Proctor 
remained on the farm until the Witchcraft delusion swept him 
into its net and he lost his life with other victims upon the 
tree, Aug. 19, 1692. After his death, his son Benjamin carried 
on the farm until its title passed from the Downing family, by its 
conveyance by Charles Downing of London, England, esquire, 
son of Sir George and grandson of Emanuel Downing, to Thorn¬ 
dike Proctor Sept. 13, 1700.1 

An interesting matter, which savors of English custom, is 
the granting of a private game preserve in Salem in 1638. Em¬ 
manuel Downing had brought from England, at great expense, ‘‘all 
things fitting for taking wild fowl by way of duck coy.” In July, 
1638, he was granted five hundred acres of land by the town of 
Salem. When the general court assembled, September 6th,2 
“being desirous to encourage . . . such designs as tend to 
public good, do give him full liberty to place the same duck coy 

1784; 2. Mary,7 born about 1788; 3. William/ born about 1791. Thorndike 

Proctor6; goldsmith; married Elizabeth Hathorne April 4, 1788; died 
Sept. 9, 1790; she died Dec. 15, 1834; child: 1. Thorndike/ baptized July 
19, 1789. 

William Proctor7; merchant; removed to Brooklyn, N. Y., in 1827; 
married Sarah G. Holman April 11, 1813; children: 1. Mary Elizabeth,8 
born Sept. 19, 1813; died March 29, 1815; 2. William Henry,8 born Nov. 
26, 1814; died Feb. 10, 1829; 3. Charles Edward,8 born Oct. 18, 1815; died 
on the coast of Africa Feb. 13, 1842; 4. Francis Pierce,8 born Dec. 29, 1816; 
5- Joseph Holman,8 born May 4, 1818; 6. Mary Elizabeth,8 born March 26, 
1819; died Sept. 5, 1819; 7. Caroline Elizabeth,8 born March 15, 1820; 
8. Sarah Holman,8 born Aug. 29, 1821; died Sept. 21, 1821; 9. Horace 
Masury,8 born Aug. 6, 1822; died Sept. 27, 1822; 10. George Frederick,8 
born Nov. 10, 1824; died April 20, 1825; 11. Sarah Ellen,8 born Feb. 3, 
1828; 12. Augusta Pierce,8 born Feb. 6, 1831. Thorndike Proctor7; mer¬ 
chant; married Elizabeth M. Rust July 3, 1814; died Jan. 9, 1834; she 
survived him; children: 1. Thorndike,8 baptized March 3, 1816; living in 
1836; 2. John Henry,8 born about 1817; mariner; died off Cape Horn Jan. 
23, 1849; 3- Elizabeth Hathorne,8 born in 1819; died Dec. 3, 1821; 4. 
Charles Frederick,8 born about 1821 ; living in 1836; 5. Elizabeth Hathorne,8 
born in 1824. 

7Essex Registry of Deeds, book 15, leaves 5 and 6; book 17, leaf 7. 
2Mr. Endecott and deputies John Winthrop, jr., Thomas Flint, William 

Hathorne, John Woodberry and Jacob Barney were present. 
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in some convenient place within the bounds of Salem, as the 
town and he can agree, and that it shall not be lawful for any 
person to shoot in any gun within half a mile of the pond where 
such duck coy shall be placed, nor shall use any other means for 
disturbance of the fowl there,” except with permission of Mr. 
Downing, and punished in the discretion of the court. The order 
extended to all other places where any duck decoy should be 

placed by like license from the court. 

Although the court said that this order applied to other 
decoys, no similar rights were granted to any other person. Mr. 
Downing apparently did not consult the town of Salem nor re¬ 
quest it to grant to him a pond and land for this purpose. There 
was a tract of about fifty acres of land that he deemed to be 
adapted to his purpose, but it was a part of the grant to John 
Humphrey, on Forest River. It contained two ponds, now known 
as Coy ponds, and a hill, now called Legg’s hill, which overlooked 
the ponds. Mr. Flumphrey conveyed to Mr. Downing, on the 
same day, the grant of the right to maintain this shooting ground, 
“the two ponds and so much high ground about the ponds as is 
needful to keep the duck coy private from the disturbance of 
plowmen, herdsmen or others passing by that way which he may 
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enclose so as he take above fifty acres of upland round about 
the same.”1 

This exclusive privilege was enjoyed by Mr. Downing only 
a few years, as he finally returned to England in 1652, and died 
there about 1657, having granted this tract of land to his grand¬ 
son Solomon Stoddard of Boston, “fellow of the College of 
Cambridge.” After possessing the land for ten years, Mr. 
Stoddard conveyed it to Moses Maverick and Richard Rowland* 
both of Marblehead, May 1, 1667.2 

Mr. Downing was propounded for an assistant, and Governor 
Winthrop, his brother-in-law, wrote in his Journal, May 22, 1639, 
that he knew him “to be a very able man, etc. and one who had 
done many good offices for the country for these ten years, yet 
the people would not choose him.” 

DOWNING HOUSE. 

The mansion house3 of Mr. Downing, on Essex Street, was 
large, two stories in height and many gabled, having a “great” 
room, “great” entry, “great” stairs and “great” chamber. There 
was also a leanto. There were two chimney stacks. It had two 
columns of leaded sash and diamond-shaped panes on either side 
of the front door. There were great lanterns for lighting the 
ample grounds in front, by the use of candles, on festive and 
other occasions, being entered from each floor through doors. 
Undoubtedly it was the finest house then built in the Colony. 
There is some evidence that it had belonged to and was probably 
occupied by Rev. Hugh Peter, before his departure to England. 

ffissex Registry of Deeds, book 1, leaf 1. 
"Essex Registry of Deeds, book 3, leaf 26. 
The picture of this house is from a photographic copy of a water color, 

made in 1819, which is now in the possession of the Essex Institute. 
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Mr. Downing went to England in 1642, 1644 and finally in 
1652 ; and Aug. 8, 1656, with the consent of her husband, Mrs. 
Downing conveyed the messuage to Joseph Gardner who had 
married their daughter Ann, as her dowry and marriage portion.1 
Captain Gardner lived here until his tragic death, at the hands of 
the Indians, in King Philip’s War, Dec. 19, 1675. He willed all 
his estate to his wife, who survived him, and married, secondly, 
Gov. Simon Bradstreet, who then lived in Boston, June 6, 1676. 
Governor Bradstreet removed to Salem and lived in this house 
until his death, March 27, 1697, at the age of ninety-four. His 
remains lie in his tomb in the Charter Street burial ground. His 
wife survived him, and continued to live here until April 19, 1713, 
when she died, having devised the estate to her sister's grand¬ 
children,— daughters of Col. John Wainwright of Ipswich. They 
were Elizabeth, wife of Addington Davenport, esquire, Anne, 
wife of Adam Winthrop, esquire, and Lucy, wife of Paul Dudley, 
all of Boston. About two months later these ladies leased the 
estate to Elisha Odlin, and he conducted a tavern in the old manse, 
naming it the “Sign of the Globe." In December, 1715, Benjamin 
Ropes of Salem succeeded Mr. Odlin as landlord of the tavern, 
and Nov. 1, 1716, Mr. Ropes purchased the estate of the three 
owners for three hundred and twenty pounds.2 Much of the land 
of the original homestead had from time to time been sold, and 
thus the premises had been much reduced in extent. Mr. Ropes 
died in the autumn of 1717; and his widow Ann married John 
Green. Mrs. Green continued the tavern business in this house 
for two years, and then it was conducted by her husband until 
1726, when her son Benjamin Ropes had become of age. At his 
mother's request Benjamin became the innkeeper at the Globe 
Tavern, the business being conducted in the easterly end of the 
old mansion. Benjamin died Sept. 26, 1732, at the age of thirty- 
one. Three of the heirs of the deceased Benjamin Ropes con¬ 
veyed their interests, one-fifth each, to Miles Ward, jr., of Salem, 
joiner, as follows: Thomas Ropes of Salem, mariner, July 27, 
x734 J3 Joseph Lamberth of Salem, tailor, and wife Lydia, 
daughter of the deceased, March 22, 1738 ;4 and George Ropes of 
Marblehead, cooper, June 26, 1739.5 Mr. Ward conveyed the 
three-fifths interest to Nathaniel Ingersoll of Salem, mariner, 
Jidy 3, 1741Benjamin Ropes, the son of the deceased Benjamin, 

'Essex Registry of Deeds, book 1, leaf 31. 
‘Essex Registry of Deeds, book 31, leaf 95. 
'Essex Registry of Deeds, book 66, leaf 254. 
"Essex Registry of Deeds, book 77, leaf 256. 
“Essex Registry of Deeds, book 78, leaf 44. 
“Essex Registry of Deeds, book 83, leaf 208. 
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died leaving a son named Benjamin, who died soon after and his 
mother, Hannah Ropes inherited his double share (two-fifths) of 
the house and land. Captain Ingersoll and Mrs. Ropes took down 
the ancient house in 1753. 

Mr. Downing married Lucy Winthrop April 10, 1622. Their 
oldest child was George, who was born in 1624, and came to 
Salem with his parents in the spring of 1638, at the age of four¬ 
teen. He entered Harvard College and ranked second in the 
first class. He returned to England; lived in Gamlangay, Cam¬ 
bridgeshire; married Frances Howard; and was knighted and 
made a baronet by Charles II, July 1, 1661, for his good conduct 
in Holland. He died in 1684. Downing Street, the financial 
center of London, was named for him; and his grandson of the 
same name established by will, in 1800, Downing College, at 
Cambridge, England, on a more liberal foundation than any other 
college at that distinguished educational center. Other children, 
than George and Ann, were James, who was the son of Mr. 
Downing by his first wife, - Ware, and came with Governor 
Winthrop in the Arbella, in 1630; Mary, who came to New 
England in May, 1633, with Governor Coddington in the Mary 
and Jane, and married Anthony Stoddard of Boston; Susan, who 
came with Mary; Lucy; Dorcas, who was baptized in Salem 
Feb. 7, 1640-1 ; and John, who was baptized in Salem March 1, 
1640-1; merchant; lived at Nevis; and probably died in Boston 
April 29, 1694. 



CHAPTER III. 

THE GLASS WORKS. 

T the Salem court, June 26, 1638, there were present 
Colonel Endecott, William Hathorne, Roger Conant 
and two magistrates from Lynn. Marmeduke Barton, 
servant of Francis Weston, was sentenced to be 
whipped and have a lock put upon one of his feet for 

running away from his master and filing off his lock. After 
Weston’s removal, Barton became servant of Dea. John Horne. 
In the local court, Sept. 29, 1640, he was ordered to be severely 
whipped for running away and pilfering. He acknowledged that 
he went into two houses on the Lord’s day and took half a cheese 
and a piece of cake out of Goodman Gouldsmith’s and ate it, and 
also took a knife and a little milk. -The other house was near the 
Great Cove, where he took nothing. His master asked the court 
for mercy for his servant. In the same court, Jan. 25, 1641-2, 
Barton was fined for receiving stolen silver, and was also ordered 
to be whipped the next day, being lecture day. The following 
June, the general court condemned him to slavery till the further 
order of the court, and also ordered him to be branded. 

July 16, 1638, at a town meeting, Thomas Edwards, having 
six in his family, desired an acre of salt marsh as others had. 
John Friend requested a grant of two hundred acres of land. 
William Pester demanded a ten-acre lot and a farm; also, the 
exchange of Parmiter’s ten-acre lot which he had purchased of 
him. William Gault1 was received as an inhabitant and granted 

William Gault, born about 1608, lived on the south side of Charter 
Street, next easterly of the cemetery, in the house later owned and occupied 
by Dr. Francis Gahtman; came from Yarmouth, Norfolkshire, England; 
cordwainer; embarked May 11, 1637, in the Mary Ann, being unmarried; 
married Mary -; died April 1, 1659; she married, secondly, Richard 
Bishop July 22, 1660; children: 1. Rebecca, born about 1641; married John 
Bly Nov. II, 1663; 2. Deborah, born about 1645; married Edward Winter 
Nov. 17, 1669; 3. Sarah, born about 1647; married Henry Colborne Dec. 

30 



THE GLASS WORKS 31 

ten acres of planting ground. William Lord was granted about 
one and a half acres of upland lying next to his marsh lot, pro¬ 
vided he should pay to the town five shillings an acre for it. 
Daniel Baxter propounded himself to be an inhabitant. John 
Harbert desired further accommodation, William Fisk, a ten-acre 
lot, and Robert Page,1 some sixty acres of land near the old 
planters. 

On the same day (July 16, 1638), the seven men granted to 
William Pester2 a ten-acre lot of land and a farm of one hundred 
and fifty acres, upon the condition that within a year he should 
improve it. He apparently satisfied the requirement and received 
title to the land. William Trask owned it a few years later, and 
conveyed it to Robert Prince Dec. 20, 1655. Mr. Prince3 built 

—,1:665. Mehitable Gault, who married Gov. John Easton of Rhode Island 
heb.^4, 1661, was probably another daughter. 

Robert born about 1604, came from Ormsby, near Yarmouth, 
Norfqlkshire, England, in 1637, with his wife Lucy and three children, 
b.rancJs> Margaret-and Susanna; removed to Hampton; representative; 
died Sept. 22, 1679; children: 1. Francis; living in 1679; 2. Margaret; 
married William Moulton; 3. Susanna; died before 1679; 4. Thomas, 
baptized in Salem Sept. 1, 1639; had children; 5. Rebecca, baptized in 
Salem Sept. 1, 1639; married John Smith; 6. Mary; married Samuel 
bogg; 7. Hannahmarried Henry Dow. 

2In 1640, William Pester wrote to his “uncle Will”1 Pester Esqr at 
Barnard Castle my Lord Chamberlaynes house in Thames streete, London.” 

Robert Prince1 appears as a servant, with Bethiah and Lydia, probably 
his sisters, in the tavern of John Gedney in 1651. They were there in 1654. 
Rebecca Prince, perhaps another sister, married John Putnam and settled 
in Salem Village in 1652. She was called “step daughter” by Mr. Gedney. 
Robert Prince2 married Sarah Warren of Watertown April 5, 1662; died 
June 4, 1674; she married, secondly, Alexander Osborne, an Irishman; she 
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upon it the house which lately stood on Spring Street and known 

was accused of witchcraft, and died in the jail in Boston in May, 1692; 
children: 1. James,2 born Jan. 19, 1664-5; died Sept. —-,1666; 2. James,* 
born about Aug. 15, 1668; 3. Elizabeth,2 born Feb. 19, 1669-70; 4- 

James Prince2; farmer; lived on his father s homestead, mar 
Sarah (Rea), widow of Jacob Phillips; died early m 1724; children: !. 
Charity,3 born June 10, 1693; married Solomon Trow March 20, 1722, 
2. Sarah,3 born Jan. 3, 1695-6; married Thomas Reddin Sept. 26 1717, 

3. Rebecca,3 baptized Dec. n, 1698; married Robert Glanfield Dec. 25, 1727, 
4. James,3 baptized Jan. 12, 1700-1; 5- David3 baptized Jan. 31, 1.702-3, 
6. Jonathan3 baptized July 20, 1707. Joseph Prince ; married Elizabeth 
Robinson Jan. 3, 1698-9; children: 1. Robert, born Dec. 29, 1700, 2. Joseph, 
born May 30, 1702; died at the age of six weeks; 3. Timothy, born Oct. —, 
1703; died young; 4- Elizabeth,3 baptized July 29, 1795, died young, 5* 
Solomon,3 baptized March 30, 1707; cordwainer; lived in Salem; 6 Susan¬ 
na,3 baptized July 3, 1709; 7- Abel,3 baptized April 8,1711; 8. Martha 
baptized June n, 1713; 9- Elizabeth,3 baptized March 18, 1715-6; married 
John Nichols of Middleton Oct. 2, 1739; 10. William, baptized Sept. 8, 
1717; married Mary Holland of Pomfret (published Sept. 1, 1744) , 
Samuel,3 baptized June 7, 1719; 12. Timothy 3 baptized Aug. 12, 1722. 

James Prince3; yeoman; married Hannah Putnam Dec. 2, 1730; died 
in 1755; she died June 19, 1798; lived on his father s homestead, and was 
the first treasurer of Danvers; children: 1. James,4 born Sept. 15, 1730 
lived in Danvers; married Elizabeth Preston Sept. 18, 1755; died July 24, 
1796; she died Dec. 18, 1822; had children; 2. Huldah, born beb. 9, I733_4> 
married Timothy Prince; 3. David,4 born Nov. 27, 1738; cordwainer; lived 
in Danvers; died Jan. 28, 1796; 4- John,4 born Jan. 26, 1743-4; died^April 
18, 1744; 5. John,4 born Nov. 20, 1745; living in 1800; 6. Amos, born 
Feb. 7, 1747-8; lived in Danvers; had children. David Prince3; married 
Phebe Fuller Dec. 3, 1724; removed to Sutton about 1729, and died there; 
children: 1. David,4 born Oct. 23, 1725; 2. Sarah,4 born April 28, 1727; 
3. Stephen,4 born Oct. 4, 1730; 4. John,4 born Nov. 27, 1733- Dr. Jonathan 

Prince3; lived on the southern end of Hawthorne Hill, at the head of 
Ingersoll Street in Danvers; married, first, Abigail Rogers of Billerica; 
second, Mary Porter; he died in May, 1753; his widow Mary died in 1782; 
children: 1. Abigail4; 2. Jonathan,4 born Jan. 21, 1734; lived in Danvers; 
physician; married Lydia Holton June 6, 1754! died at Salem Dec. 11, 
1759; she died in Danvers May n, 1761; no children; 3. Daniel,4 born 
Sept. 12, 1735; married, first, Elizabeth Rea March 15, 1763; second,^ Anne 
Felton; probably removed to Bow, N. H.; had children; 4. Nathan,4 born 
June 21, 1738; died Nov. 23, 1759; 5. Ezra,4 born Nov. 29, 1741; cooper; 
lived in Danvers; married Emme Goodale of Danvers March 1, 1770; died 
about September, 1771; no issue; 6. Mary,4 born May 27, 1744; died April 
26, 1766; 7. Asa,4 born Feb. 22, 1747; captain; was at Lexington, Bunker 
Hill and Lake George, and fought gallantly; lived in Danvers; married 
Elizabeth Nichols June 15, 1769; had children; 8. Sarah,4 born July 13, 
1749; 9. Ruth,4 born July 28, 1751; married Daniel Bigsbe of Topsfield 
May 2, 1776. Robert Prince3; married Mary Fowls (published March 5, 
1728-9) ; probably removed to Connecticut about 1747; children: 1. Joseph,4 
hantizpd Tnlv to T720! 2 Fhenezer.4 hantized Tnlv o T7T2: 2. Marv.4 

tized March 13, 1742-3. Abel Prince3; married Hannah Eaton July 31, 
1735; was dead in 1741; children: 1. Elizabeth,4 baptized June 8, 1740; 
2. Anna,4 baptized June 8, 1740; 3. Hannah,4 baptized Aug. 16, 1741- 
Timothy Prince3; lived in Danvers till 1760, and removed to Pomfret, 
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THE OSBORNE HOUSE. 

as the ancient Osborne house. He died June 4, 1674, having 
devised the house and land to his two minor sons, James and 
Joseph, subject to his widow Sarah’s improvement of the estate 

during their minority. She 
si * married, secondly, Alexan- 

JO'X/- iir* der Osborne, an Irishman, 
and vainly attempted to 
hold the property after the 

boys arrived at maturity. The action of Mrs. Osborne, who was 
influenced to do so by her husband, caused resentment among the 
neighbors. Her husband died and she became bedridden and an 
easy prey to the accusing girls in the witchcraft incriminations. 
She died in the jail in Boston, awaiting trial, May 10, 1692, having 
been in that prison more than two months. In the division of the 
real estate, in 1696, this house and the easterly portion of the 
grant was assigned to the son James, who lived here and died in 
1724, having devised it to his sons, James and David. They 
divided it, and the house and land under and around it was 

Conn.; married, first, Mary Putnam Nov. 8, 1744; she died Dec. 17, 1754 5 
married, second, Huldah Prince Oct. 15, 1755; they were living at Pomfret 
in 1778; children: 1. Samuel,4 born Nov. 9, 1745; 2. Phebe,4 born Dec. 9, 
1748; died May 23, 1750; 3. Betty,4 born Dec. 17, 1751; 4. Timothy,4 born 
Nov. 3> 1756; 5- Hannah,4 born Oct. 3, 1760; 6. Abel.4 
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released to James, who lived here and died, in 1775, having 
devised it to his sons David and John. David died in 1797, having 
devised his half part to his brother, who conveyed the place to 
Nathan Peirce of Salem Jan. 6, 1800.1 He died in 1812, having 
devised it to his son George Peirce of Salem, merchant, who died 
in 1822, having devised it to his wife Elizabeth, who died in 1826, 
and the property descended to her young children who, by their 
guardian, conveyed it to Stephen Phillips of Salem, merchant, 
July 7, 1826.2 Through several mesne conveyances it came to 
George Nichols, jr., of Salem, tanner, in 1853. He removed to 
the farm, and became a farmer; but, however, conveyed it to 
Stephen Driver of Salem, shoe manufacturer, the next year.3 To 
this time, the house had had the customary overhanging second 
story in front, and Mr. Driver, without changing the rooms, built 
out the first story even with the second, except for a short distance 
about five inches of the overhang was left at the western end. 
Mr. Driver died in 1868; and the widow and heirs conveyed the 
estate to George M. Underwood of Pawtucket, R. I., April 28, 
1869.4 Mr. Underwood removed to Danvers, and, Feb. 7, 1872, 
conveyed the place to Jacob E. Spring of Brownfield, Me.5 In 
1891, it became the property of St. John’s Normal College, which 
sold the house, in 1915, to Daniel Cahill, who removed it to the 
northeasterly side of Maple Street, some twenty rods northwest¬ 
erly from the railroad bridge, where it now stands. 

At the session of the general court, Sept. 6, 1638, Capt. John 
Underhill, commander of the militia in Boston, being “committed 
for abusing the court, by his gross and palpable dissimulation and 
equivocation, or mental reservation, in his petition, and after 
saying his failing was only in the manner,” was banished and 
ordered to go out of the jurisdiction within fourteen days, and 
not to return. He was ordered to take passage in the ship of 

# o 1 foi England. Two years later, Oct. 8, 1640, 
Captain Underhill came into the court, under safe conduct, and 
openly and humbly acknowledged and bewailed his offences 

against God and this commonwealth, as he had formerly done the 
like to the church of Boston, who have thereupon received him 
again into the church, this court, also, being charitably and well 
persuaded of the truth of his repentance, are willing to forgive 
his foimei offences, so far as may concern every of our private 
interests, and are freely reconciled to him in Christian love,” 

'Essex Registry of Deeds, book 166, leaf 133. 
Tssex Registry of Deeds, book 242, leaf 36. 
"Essex Registry of Deeds, book 503, leaf 169. 
'Essex Registry of Deeds, book 771, leaf 184. 
Essex Registry of Deeds, book 847, leaf 91. 
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suspended his sentence of banishment till the end of the next 
court of elections that they might have further proof of his 
repentance. On that date (June 2, [641), his sentence of banish¬ 
ment was repealed. 

At the general court, Sept. 6, 1638, Moses Maverick was 
given permission to sell “a tun of wine at Marble Head, and not 
to exceed this year.” 

At the same court, it was declared that every inhabitant iri 
each town is liable to contribute to all charges, both in church and 
commonwealth, whereof he doth or may receive benefit, according 
to his ability, and if he does not do so voluntarily he may be 
assessed therefor. 

In the first volume,1 it is mentioned that, by order of thd 
general court, Sept. 3, 1634, a market was established in Salem, 
to be held every Wednesday. Apparently, this market, because 
of its frequency, failed to produce desired results, as families 
probably only purchased supplies sufficient for the ensuing week. 
Thus sales would be comparatively small, and there was no in¬ 
ducement for merchants to bring merchandise from a distance 
and sell a small quantity each week. After four years’ experience 
with the market, the English system of fairs was instituted. 

brom the time of King John, fairs had been held in England, 
as well as other European countries, usually semi-annually, at 
which people procured their supplies for a half-year. These fairs " 
were markets infrequently held and purchases were on a much 
larger scale. Animals, supplies, goods and merchandise were - 
brought from distant places in great variety and quantity. A 
fair was the sole emporium of domestic commerce, and was on 
a scale proportionate to the number and needs of purchasers. 

Not only were there pens for domestic animals, filled with <- 
respective kinds, but booths and stands for the sale of articles of 
food, apparel, dress materials, wares and other merchandise. 

There were many means of amusement, such as exhibitions 
of trained animals, magicians, gamesters and acrobats to draw 
from the visitors what small coin they might have with them. 
There were also various shows, performers on tight ropes, lot- « 
teries, stage plays and dancing. Refreshments were beer and 
gingerbread. To the confusion and excitement were added 
sti ange sights and a medley of noises. Trumpets called attention 
to certain performers, fiddles marked the place of the dancing and 
hawkers cried their goods. Flying flags and banners with the 
bright clothing of the people made the occasion very attractive.2 ' 

xPage 278. 

E a tract published in 1641, is a description of a Bartholomew fair, 1 
and Brand’s Popular Antiquities, page 556, quotes a portion of it. 
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Not only were there sales of corporal things, but labor was 
offered for sale at these fairs. At the places set apart for this 
purpose stood the carter with his whip, the cowherd with a lock 
of cowhair in his hat, the shepherd with his crook, laborers and 
mechanics each with an implement of his labor. They stood there 

from an early hour in the morning.1 
In England, at the time of the settlement of Salem, no fair 

could be held without a grant from the sovereign power; and 
officers were appointed to cause peace to be maintained and to 
examine the quality of goods exposed for sale, with power to 
confiscate those that were unfit for use. Sales at fails were free 
from taxes. This was the complete substitute for modern free 

trade. 
The general court, Sept. 6, 1638, authorized fairs at Salem, 

Watertown and Dorchester. The fair at Salem was ordered to 
be held twice each year; on the last Wednesday in May and 
September. The spring fair was appointed on election day, which 
was almost a holiday. Those days were usually selected for fairs 
as the people were then freer to give it their time and attention. 
The fairs were similar to those of England, to which the people 
here had been accustomed when living in the homeland. 

In England, as well as in New England, the attendance at 
fairs diminished as the towns increased in number, and the dis¬ 
tance between them lessened and better roads and other means of 
communication enabled goods to be brought in more freely and 
easily. Commerce by water also assisted in this. In Northumber¬ 
land, at least, fairs were the chief centers of country traffic as 
late as the sixteenth century. English fairs had greatly declined 
by the middle of the eighteenth century. 

In Salem, the growth of commerce and local production by 
which most of the needs of the people were supplied, caused the 
change from fairs into more modern systems of markets and 
stores. 

In New England, the word fair has completely lost its old- 
world meaning, and is now almost exclusively applied to in¬ 
dustrial and agricultural exhibitions, the latter being generally 
county fairs. 

Election week continued to be observed as a holiday season, 
elections were held (until 1831), also, and generally trainings. 

'Such a market as this is thus referred to in the New Testament: A 
householder “went out early in the morning to hire laborers . . . And 
he went out about the third hour and saw others standing in the market¬ 
place. . . And about the eleventh hour he went out, and found others 
standing idle, and saith unto them, Why stand ye here all the day idle? 
They say unto him, Because no man hath hired us.”—Matt. 20 : 1-7. 
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Places of amusement were at Fort Pickering, on Winter Island 
or Juniper point, at Castle Hill, at Bell Tavern, in what is now’ 
Peabody, and at Danvers Square. At these centres refreshments 
were sold, coppers were pitched and props thrown, and jumping 
and wrestling entertained the crowd. There were also the negro 
fiddler and dancing. 

Owners of slaves almost universally gave them the privileges 
of election week in Salem and its vicinity at least, and it, too, 
became their annual holiday season. Fun was rampant from Mon¬ 
day morning till Saturday night, being at its height on Wednesday, 
election day, when they, too, elected a governor to be the director 
of the holiday week the next year. Election cake is still made in 
some old-fashioned families, but the gingerbread of the ancient 
days has long ago disappeared from refreshment booths. 

Sept. 6, 1638, the general court ordered “intimation to be 
given to the elders of each church of the desire of the Court to 
keep the last Thursday of the eighth month a day of thanksgiving 
for the safe coming of so many ships this year, and the seasonable 
weather in the spring, and now to ripen the harvest.” 

At the same time, the general court ordered that excom¬ 
municated persons, appearing in other assemblies and boldly 
speaking lightly of the ordinances and their censure, should be 
fined and imprisoned, and after six months probation, be banished, 
if they continued in so doing. This law remained in force only a 
year, however. 

At the Salem court, Sept. 25, 1638, William Poole, a servant 
of Col. John Endecott, was sentenced for running away from his 
master to do twelve months further service for him. He was 
before the same court, March 30, 1641, for stealing stockings 
from Thomas Rood (Root?) and taking away a canoe belonging 
to Mr. Emery, and was ordered to return the stockings, and be 
whipped for lying. In the Salem town meeting, March 1, 1655-6, 
his request to become an inhabitant was refused; and his name 
disappeared from the local records. 

At a town meeting, Oct. 29, 1638, appeared George Curwyn,1 
a young man of twenty-nine years, who had come to Salem with 

r j George Corwin1 ; merchant; married, first, Elizabeth, daughter 
°GAQ°^n ■Ge,Tetd and widow of John White, in 1636; she died Sept. 15, 
K)OS; married, second, Elizabeth, daughter of Gov. Edward Winslow of 
■Plymouth and widow of Robert Brooks, Sept. 22, 1669; he died Jan. 3, 
1 05, she was his widow in 1696; children: 1. Abigail,2 born Aug. 1, 1637; 
led young; 2. John,2 born July 25, 1638; 3. Jonathan/ born Nov. 14, 1640; 

4- Hannah, born in 1642; died young; 5. Abigail,2 baptized Nov. 30, 1643; 
marned, first, Eleazer Hathorne; second, James Russell; 6. Hannah,2 
aptized Jan. 4,.1645-6; married William Browne; 7. Elizabeth,2 baptized 

Juy 2, 1648; died before 1685; 8. Penelope,2 born Aug. 7, 1670; married 
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his wife and two children. He was born in Workington, Cumber- 

Josiah Wolcott Feb. ig, 1684-5; died Nov. 28, 1690; 9. Susanna.2 born Dec. 
10, 1672; married Edward Lyde of Boston Nov. 29, 1694; died before lyoi, 
10. George,2 born in 1674; died before 1684. , 

Capt John Corwin2; merchant; married Margaret, daughter of John 
Winthrop, jr„ May 1665; died July 12, 1683; she removed to Boston 
in 1693, and died Sept. 28, 1697; children: 1. George, born Feb. 20, 16 -7 ^ 
2. Elizabeth,3 born April 28, 1668; of Boston, unmarried, in 1709; 3- Nucy, 
born May 11, 1670; married, first. John Elliston Sept. 24, 1696; was his 
widow in 1709; married, second, Thomas Guinn March 20, 1710; and was 
his widow in 1733; 4- Hannah,3 born April 4, 1672; married Rev. Peter 
Thacher Oct. 14, 1708; 5- Samuel,3 born Oct. 12, 1674; 6. Mary, baptized 
Sept. —1676; married Thomas Smith of Boston May 9, Cm > 7- Mar¬ 
garet3; married Abiel Walley of Boston June 27, 1710. Hon. Jonathan 

- Corwin2; merchant; one of the judges of the witchcraft court, court of 
common pleas, probate court and superior court; married Elizabeth 
(Sheafe), widow of Robert Gibbs of Boston March 20, 1675-6; died July 
25, 1718; she died Aug. 29, 1718; children: 1. Elizabeth,3 born May 5, 1678; 
married James Lindall; 2. Margaret,3 born April 15, 1679; died Nov. 5, 
1679; 3. Sarah,3 born Aug. 12, 1680; died Dec. 19, 1689; 4. Jonathan, born 
Oct. 2/1681; died Aug. 12, 1682; 5. George,3 born May 21, 1683; 6. John, 
born July 9, 1684; died Sept. 10, 1684; 7. Margaret,3 born Nov. 30, 1685; 
died Feb. 23, 1685-6; 8. Anna,3 born Aug. 1, 1687; 9. Jonathan,3 born Sept. 
15, 1689; died Dec. 25, 1689; 10. Harbert,3 born Dec. 15, 1690; died Feb. 
10, 1690-1. 

Capt. George Corwin3 ; merchant; sheriff, who executed the witches; 
married, first, Susanna Gedney April 23, 1688; second, Lydia Gedney before 

• 1693; died in 1696; she died, his widow, Dec. 23, 1700; child: 1. Bar¬ 
tholomew,4 born June 21, 1693; lived in Westerly, R. I.; married Esther 
Burt; died in 1747; had children. Rev. George Corwin; H. C., 1791; 
pastor of First Church; married Mehitabel Parkman July 27, 1711; died 
Nov. 23, 1717; she died Nov. 13, 1718; children: 1. Jonathan,4 born May 
26, 1713; died Nov. 6, 1718; 2. Samuel,4 born Dec. 17, 1715; H. C., 1735; 

■esquire; married, first, Sarah -; second, Abigail Russell of Charles¬ 
town May 27, 1750; she died March 31, 1793; he died April 10, 1802; 3. 
George4 born Dec. 4, 1717. 

George Curwen4; merchant; married Sarah Pickman March 18, 1738; 
died April 10, 1802; she died Jan. 5, 1810, aged ninety-one; children: 1. 
George,5 born June 4, 1739; drowned at sea Jan. —, 1761; 2. Mehitable,5 
born Jan. 23, 1741; married Richard Ward Nov. 8, 1764; had son Samuel 
Curwen Ward,0 born June 29, 1769, who had a son Samuel Curwen Ward,7 
born Nov. 26, 1795, who had his name changed to Samuel Curwen, at the 
request of his great-uncle Samuel Corwin (see below) ; 3. Sarah,6 born 
Jan. —, 1742-3; died, unmarried, Feb. 26, 1773, at the age of thirty 
years. 

Samuel Curwen [Ward]1; married Priscilla Barr March 22, 1818; 
died near Bellona Arsenal, Va., July 3, 1831; she died Nov. 27, 1863; 
children: 1. James Barr,8 born Dec. 20, 1818; 2. Samuel Ropes? born Dec. 
28. 1820; 3. George Rea,8 born July 4, 1823; died, unmarried, March 17, 
1900. 

James Barr Curwen8; married, first, Rebecca Hovey Endicott Feb. 3, 

1848; she died Aug. 11, 1883; married, second, Mary Shepard Osgood; 
she died Aug. 24, 1885; he died March 23, 1894; children: 1. Samuel En¬ 
dicott,9 born Nov. 8, 1848; died July 6, 1849; 2. Caroline Endicott,8 born 
Jan. 7, 1852; married James Henry Davis of North Andover Nov. 17, 1875; 

7 3- James Endicott,9 born Jan. 14, 1856; died March 19, 1857; 4. George 
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land County, England, Dec. io, 1610. This new comer was a 
man of education and property and 
became a merchant. He wore a seal 
ring which was cut with the following 
coat of arms. He requested of his 
townsmen accommodation, that is, a 
grant of land. For a similar purpose, 
Robert Bufifum1 also appeared at the 
meeting. He was of about the same age 
as Mr. Corwin. He lived at the west¬ 
erly corner of Essex and Boston 
streets, and many of his descendants 
were zealous Quakers. At the same 
town meeting, Richard Dodge was ad¬ 
mitted an inhabitant, and desired to be 
accommodated with land. He was brother of William Dodge in 

Endicott,9 born March 8, 1861; lived in Andover; married Helen Haven 
Dana Oct. 18, 1882; died in 1896; she died June —, 1918. Capt. Samuel 

Ropes Curwen3 ; shipmaster; married his cousin Mary Smith Holman 
May 15, 1846; died Nov. 11, 1870; she died May 9, 1902; children: 1. 
Henry,' born Sept. 9, 1847, in Wenham; merchant; lived in Salem; died, 
unmarried, July 13, 1872; 2. Samuel Holman,9 born Aug. 5, 1849, in Salem; 
3. Caroline Rea,9 born Sept. 16, 1851, in Salem; died Jan. 6, 1852; 4. 
Charles Frederickborn July 18, 1853, in Salem; 5. Betsey Holman,9 born 
June 2, 1856; lives in Salem, unmarried. 

Samuel Holman Curwen9; jeweler; married Abbie C. Merrill Nov. 
4, 1874; died July 22, 1895; she died, his widow, Dec. 31, 1911; children: 
1. James Henry,10 born Oct. 29, 1875; is in the navy; 2. Ernest Worcester,10 
born April 23, 1877; 3- Richard Brown,10 born Feb. 17, 1891. Charles 

Frederick Curwen9; founder; married Ada L. Perkins May 19, 1880; 
died Dec 29, 1909; children: 1. -10 (son), stillborn Oct. 24, 1886; 2. 
George Barr,10 born June 30, 1888; graduated at Columbia College; married 
Helen Marguerite Deppler of Asbury, N. J., Sept. 8, 1915; died Feb. 1, 
1918; no children. 

Ernest Worcester Curwen10; married Cecelia Biron of Revere July 
24, 1901; children: 1. Helen,11 born May 8, 1902; 2. Dorothy,11 born Feb. 
T7, 1905; died Aug. 20, 1905. Richard Brown Curwen;10 married Helen 
Mary Frohock Sept. 19, 1920; child: 1. Robert Worcester,11 born June 13, 
1921. 

Robert Buffum1 may have come from Yorkshire; farmer; married 
Tamazin -; died Aug. 6, 1669; the stone which formerly indicated 
his burialplace is in Harmony Grove Cemetery and marked “R. B.”; she 
died, his widow, in May or June, 1688; children: 1. Sarah2; married 
William Bean; 2. Joshua2 born April 22, 1635; 3. Deborah2; married 
Robert Wilson; 4. Margaret2; married John Smith; 5. Lydia,2 born Feb. 
19, 1644; married, first, John Hill Aug. 26, 1664; second, George Locker; 
6. Mary,2 born about 1648; married Jeremiah Neal; 7. Caleb,2 born Sept. 
29, 1650. 

Joshua Buffum2; builder of vessels; married Damaris Pope in or 
before 1663; died in 1705; children: 1. Mary,3 born Nov. 27, 1663; 2. 
Damaris,3 born Sept. 30, 1671; married John Ruck; 3. Joshua,3 born May 
10, 1681; 4. Samuel,3 born Aug. 21, 1683; removed to Newport, R. I., be- 
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Salem and of Michael Dodge in England. His house was not 

fore 1708; cooper; married Amy (or Anne) -. Caleb Buffum ; 
husbandman; married Hannah Pope March 26, 1672; lived m Salem in 
1715; children: 1. Caleb/ born May 14, 1673 i 2- Robert, born Dec. 1, 
1675; 3. Tamasin3; married Lawrence Southwick; 4. Hannah ; married 
John Osborne; 5. Benjamin3; 6. Jonathan.3 

Joshua Buffum3; yeoman; married, first,--; second, Hannah, 

widow of Eleazer Pope; died in the winter of 1761-2; children: 1. Joshua ; 
2. Elizabeth,4 born Nov. 6, 1703; married —— Britton; 3. Mary, born 
July 8, 1723; married Stephen Pope; 4. Lydia,4 born Oct. 10, 1726'. mar¬ 
ried Enos Pope; 5. Damaris4; died, unmarried, about 1781; 6. Abigail ; 
married - Reed. Caleb Buffum3; married Mary -; died before 
1730; children: 1. Mary,4 born July 5, I7°5; married Thomas Nichols; 
2. Caleb,4 born June 22, 1710; removed to Newport, R. I.; 3. Joshua, born 
Oct. 15, 1713; 4. Hannah,4 born about 1716; 5- Samuel,4 born in 1721. 
Robert Buffum3; blacksmith; married, first, Elizabeth Farrar of Lynn 
May 13, 1700; she died June 23, 1702; married, second, Sarah Blaney of 
Lynn Dec. 20, 1703; married, third, Susannah-; he died about August, 
1746; she probably died about 1775 ^ children: 1. Hannah,4 born Aug. 9, 
1701; died June 28, 1702; 2. Sarah,4 born Oct. 4, 1704; died Nov. 22, 1704; 
3. Sarah4; published to Daniel Needham Oct. 7> 1727> m Marblehead; 4. 
James4; hatter; probably never married; died in Salem about 1766; 
5. Robert,4 born June 12, 1709; 6. Josephj born Feb. 23, 1711-2; 7. Eliz¬ 
abeth,4 born Dec. 4, 1713; died Nov. 26, 1714; 8. Elizabeth,4 born in 1717-8; 
married Ebenezer Pope. Benjamin Buffum3; blacksmith; married Eliz¬ 
abeth Buxton; removed to Smithfield, R. I., in 1739; children: 1. Eliz¬ 
abeth,4 born June 26, 1709; 2. Hannah,4 boi'n Sept. 1, 1711; 3. Esther,4 
born Sept. 16, 1714; 4. Joseph,4 born Sept. 20, 1717; married Margaret 
Osborn March 29, 1737; removed to Rhode Island; 5. Lydia,4 born May 
26, 1722; 6. Benjamin,4 born March 15, 1725-6; 7. Rachel,4 born Dec. 24, 
1727. Jonathan Buffum3; married, first, Mercy -; second, Mary 
-; died about 1729; his widow married John Southwick; children: 1. 
Jonathan,4 born Dec. 8, 1713; died Dec. 8, 1713; 2. Mercy4; 3. Deborah,4 
born Feb. 1, 1716-7; 4. Jonathan* born Sept. 16, 1719; 5. Mary4; living 
in 1729; 6. Mehitable4; unmarried in 1749. 

Joshua Buffum4; fisherman and mariner; married, first,-; 

second, Rachel (Bassett), widow of William Bean March 2, 1766; died 
about 1768; children: 1. Jane5; married Amos Mason of Swanzey; 2. 
Joshua,6 born about 1752; mariner; 3. Abigail,6 born about 1755; married 
Benjamin Svmonds; 4. Samuel.5 Joshua Buffum4; cordwainer; married 
Sarah Lester Dec. 8, 1743; removed to Berwick, Me.; child: 1. Samuel,6 
born June —, 1744. Samuel Buffum4; glazier; married Lucretia Derby; 
lived in Berwick, Me., until 1744, when he returned to Salem; died before 
1782; she died in Ju—, 1815; children: 1. Lucretia,5 born Oct. 31, 1750; 
married Zachariah Collins of Lynn, where she died Nov. 25, 1801; 2. Lydia,5 
born Oct. —, 1762; married Jedediah Johnson Nov. 4, 1781. Joseph 

Buffum4; blacksmith; children: 1. Robert5; tailor; married Rachel - 
before 1773; 2. Isaac,5 born about 1737; 3. Elizabeth5; married Daniel 
Southwick; 4. Joseph,5 born before 1749; blacksmith; married Jane -; 
died before 1786; she married, second, Joseph Wadleigh of Kensington, 
N. H.; 5. Eunice,6 born before 1749; 6. Susannah,5 born after 1749. 
Jonathan Buffum4; trader; married Sarah-; died in 1793; she died 
Oct. 30, 1815; children: 1. Mercy,6 born July 2, 1747; 2. Jonathan,5 born 
Oct. 15, 1753; 3- Caleb,6 born July 16, 1759; yeoman; died, unmarried, 
June 25, 1847; 4- Peace,5 born Nov. 10, 1764; died, unmarried, Dec. 30, 
1850. 
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large, being two stories in height, and having a parlor. It stood 

Samuel Buffum5; sailmaker; married Nancy Lane; died May 23, 
1818; child: 1. Joshua,6 born March —, 1814; died in Lynn Nov. 24, 1867. 
Samuel Buffum5; sailmaker; married Anne Stowe of St. John New¬ 
foundland, June 26, 1771; died May 23, 1818; she died April 17, 1828; 
children: 1. Ann,6 born Feb. 7, 1773; 2. Nancy6; married - Osborn; 
3. Sarah Lester, born in 1784; died, unmarried, Nov. 12, 1866; 4. John6- 
probably died between 1818 and 18257 5. Samuel6; 6. William S'.8, born 
about 1786; 7. Henry6; probably died between 1818 and 1825. Isaac 

Buffum ; married Eunice -; died March 10, 1830, aged ninety-three; 
children: 1. Ezekiel,6 born about 1772; yeoman; married Sarah - in 
1837; died Aug. 9, 1843; 2. Sarah,6 born about 1774; died, unmarried, 
March 22, 1846. Jonathan Buffum6; tailor and yeoman; married Anne 
Purington of Lynn April 28, 1778; died March 31, 1835; she died Feb. 5, 
1842; children: 1. Mercy,6 born April 5, 1779; married John Alley Dec. 
23, 1800; died Oct. 29, 1862; 2. William6 born March 12, 1782; 3. Edward6 
born Dec. 29, 1784; 4- Israel,6 born Feb. 16, 1787; cordwainer; lived in 
Lynn; married Ruth Oliver Dec. 19, 1800; she died Aug. 3, 1866; he died 
m Lynn April 9, 1874; had children; 5. Anna,6 born Nov. 29, 1789; married 
William Frye of Danvers Oct. 21, 1813; 6. Jonathan,6 born Oct. 9, 1793; 
shoe-manufacturer in 1836 and painter in 1850; lived in Lynn; married 
Hannah Breed of Lynn May 15, 1816; she was his wife in 1843; he died 
in Lynn March 17, 1880. 

Samuel Buffum6; sailmaker; died before 1828; child: 1. Joshua,7 
born about 1814; of Salem, mariner, in 1828; died in Lynn in 1867. 
William S. Buffum6; tailor; married Frances K. Milod March 14, 1810; 
died Nov. 8, 1826; she died in Andover, his widow, Sept. 16, 1869; child: 
1. Emily F. M.7; married Samuel Raymond of Boston and Andover. 
William Buffum6; trader, tanner and farmer; lived in Troy in 1835; 
married Mary Chase of Swanzey Sept. 5, 1809; she died Dec. 8, 1846; he 
died Jan. 20, 1855; children: 1. Jonathan Chase,7 born Feb. 23, 1811; 
married Phebe L. Chase May 30, 1836; 2. Sarah Slade,7 born Nov. 22. 1812; 
married Alfred A. Raymond of Boston Sept. 19, 1841; 3. Mary Chase,7 
born Feb. 11, 1815; married Joseph M. Fuller of Lynn Feb. 16, 1842; 4. 
Caleb, born Oct. 22, 1816; 5 Peace,7 born Oct. 22, 1818; married Joseph 
A. Wood Oct. 2, 1849; lived in Watertown, Wis.; 6. William Penn,7 born 
July 28, 1821; married Martha J. Tibbetts Nov. 6, 1853; died Nov. 11, 
1878; she died Feb. 11, 1904; had a child; 7. Israel C.7, born April 25, 
1823; housewright; died in Ipswich, unmarried, May 21, 1855; 8. Robert,7 
born July 7, 1828. Edward Buffum6; chaise and harness maker; removed 
to Lynn about 1826; married Sybil Chase of Swansey; she died July 24, 
x°52; he died April 28, 1862; children: 1. Edward Slade? born Aug. 20, 
t8t8; 8. Martha Slade,7 born June 22, 1820; married Thomas J. Gifford; 
3. David Chase,7 born Nov. 7, 1822; probably died before 1862; 4. George,7 
born March 8, 1825; carpenter; lived in Salem in 1862; 5. Anna Maria,7 
born Oct. 23, 1828; married Aaron Augustus Kehew; 6. Lydia,7 born Dec. 
3, !o3i; died Oct. 2, 1832; 7. Lucy Ellen,7 born Aug. 21, 1833; unmarried 
in 1862. 

Caleb Buffum7; cordwainer and grocer; married Mary Eliza Barr 
p3’ i839I died  ; she died, his widow, Dec. 15, 1905; children: 1. 

Caleb Henry,8 born May 31, 1839; 2. Charles Mason? born Jan. 17, 1841; 
3- Mary Eliza,8 born Jan. 20, 1843; died, unmarried, Feb. 8, 1916; 4. James 

oor’ k?rn Fek' 9> i846; died Jan. 1, 1847; 5- Emma Ropes,8 born May 7, 
1048; died Oct. 27, 1853; 6. Maria,8 born Nov. 20, 1850; 7. Hannah Maria,8 
born in 1851; married James Frank Hill Oct. 17, 1872; 8. Franklin B.8, 
born June 20, 1853; 9. Alice,8 born July 31, 1856; lived in Salem; 10. 
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on the south side of Dodge Street, in what is now Beverly, about 
a quarter of a mile easterly of Alewive brook. He died in 1671,1 
having in his will devised the house and land around it to his 
sons Edward and Joseph. Feb. 15, 1708-9, Edward released his 
half of the estate to his brother Joseph.2 Joseph Dodge died 
Aug. 10, 1716; and the title descended to his son Dr. Joseph 
Dodge of Beverly. The house was burned just before May 29, 
1736.3 At the same meeting, Mark Vermais4 and widow Alice 

Grace.8 born Oct. 10, 1858; married Joseph T. Ingalls of Lynn Nov. 27, 
1879. Robert Buffum7; married Elizabeth -; child: 1. Annie,8 born 
Jan. 27, 1862. Edward Slade Buffum7; lived in Chelsea in 1862; married 
Ellen C. -; child: 1. Albert,8 born May 20, 1850, in Salem. 

Charles Mason Buffum8; hardware dealer; married Maria Adelia 
Perley of Danvers Nov. 26, 1868; died May 20, 1885; child: 1. Laura 
Peirce,9 born May 25, 1873; school teacher; married, first, Albert Vitty; 
second, George Harvey of East Weare, N. H. 

7Richard Dodge1 married Edith -; died June 15, 1671, leaving an 
estate of the value of seventeen hundred and sixty-four pounds; she died, 
his widow. Jan. 27, 1677-8, aged seventy-five; children: 1. John,2 born about 
1635; 2. Mary2; married Zachariah Herrick; 3. Sarah,2 born about 1641 
(baptized July 3, 1641) ; married-; 4. Richard,2 born about 1642 
(baptized July 3, 1644) ; lived in Wenham; married Mary Eaton Feb. 23, 
1667-8; died April 13, 1705; she died Nov. 2, 1716; had children; 5. 
Samuel2; married Mary--; she died Aug. 6, 1717; had children; 6. Ed¬ 
ward2; lived in Beverly; married Mary Haskell April —, 1673; had 
children; 7. Joseph,2 born about 1651; lived in Beverly; married Sarah 
Eaton Feb. 21, 1671; died in Beverly Aug. 10, 1716, at the age of sixty- 
five. 

John Dodge2; lived in Beverly; married Sarah -; died Jan. 14, 
1722-3; children: 1. Deliverance,3 born March 15, 1660-1; 2. John.3 born 
April 15, 1662; lived in Wenham; married Ruth —; 3. Josiah,3 born June 
4, 1665; lived in Beverly; married Sarah -; died Jan. 19, 1714; 4. 
Sarah,3 born Jan. 13, 1667; 5. Ebenezer,3 born Aug. 1, 1670; 6. Mary,3 born 
Aug. 15, 1672; 7. Deborah,3 baptized Dec. 6, 1674; died July 8, 1675; 
8. Andrew,3 baptized Oct. 29, 1676. 

2Essex Registry of Deeds, book 21, leaf 80. 
3See Essex Registry of Deeds, book 72, leaf 105. 
Mark Vermais was perhaps son of Mrs. Alice Vermais. She was 

admitted to the Salem church in 1639. He was engaged to be married to 
Katherine- in 1640, but she forsook him and married Nicholas Pacy of 
Lowestoft, Suffolkshire, England, merchant. Mrs. Vermais had a daughter 
Abigail, who was admitted to the church in Salem in 1640, and married, 
first, Robert Bethune of Boston; second, Edward Hutchinson; and, prob¬ 
ably a son Benjamin, who belonged to the Salem church, and married 
Mercy, eldest daughter of Gov. William Bradford of Plymouth in 1648, 
and removed to Boston and thence to Plymouth. The Vermais family re¬ 
mained in Salem only a few years. Mrs. Vermais conveyed the title to 
some land in the Northfield in 1655, but had previously removed from the 
town. She died Feb. 9, 1656. There is a small hill in Danvers, lying south¬ 
westerly from the junction of Andover Street and Pope’s lane, which 
perpetuates the name, though spelled differently. In 1666, it was called 
Shermaid’s hill; in 1699, Scarcemaid’s hill; in 1701, Scaremaid’s hill; and 
in 1703, Fairmaid’s hill. The family name was sometimes written 
Fearmayes. 
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Vermais desired accommodation of land at Salem; Robert Penn 
was admitted an inhabitant; Joshua Verin and Thomas Truslar 
desired a ten-acre lot each; and Henry Cooke1 desired to be an 

1Henry Cook1; slaughterer; married Judith Birdsale June —, 1639; 
died Dec. 25, 1661; she died, his widow, Sept. 11, 1689; children: 1. Isaac? 
born April 3, 1640; 2. Samuel," born Sept. 30, 1641; of Salem in 1673; 
3. Judith,2 born Sept. 15, 1643; married John Pudney; 4. Rachel,2 born 
Sept. 25, 1645; married Elisha Kebee; 5. John? born Sept. 6, 1647; 6. Mary2 
(twin), born Sept. 15, 1650; married Robert Moulton; 7. Martha2 (twin), 
born Sept. 15, 1650; living in 1667; 8. Henry? born Dec. 30, 1652; 9. Eliz¬ 
abeth,2 born Sept. —, 1654; died Sept. —, 1654; 10. Hannah,2 born Sept. —, 
1658; married Daniel Canady. 

Isaac Cook2; husbandman; married Elizabeth Buxton May 3, 1664; 
died in the autumn of 1692; she was his widow in 1713; children: 1. Eliz¬ 
abeth,3 born Sept. 23, 1665; married - Wilson about 1685; 2. Isaac,3 
born Jan. 9, 1666; died April 6, 1671; 3. Mary,3 born Nov. 12, 1668; living 
in 1692; 4. Abigail,3, born April 12, 1670; living in 1692; 5. Hannah,3 born 
Oct. 15, 1671; married William King June 4, 1695; 6. John,3 born Dec. 23, 
1673; probably died young; 7. Isaac,3 born Sept. 3, 1674; died Oct. 8, 1679; 
8. Rachel,3 born Feb. 20, 1675-6; died Oct. 15, 1679; 9. Ebenezer,3 born 
Dec. 24, 1677; died Oct. 20, 1679; 10. Samuel,3 born Oct. 1, 1679; n. 
Henry*; 12. Sarah3; living in 1692; 13. Lydia3; under eighteen in 1692. 
John Cook2; blacksmith; married Mary Buxton Dec. 28, 1671; died in 
the summer of 1716; she survived him; children: 1. Mary,3 born Nov. 11, 
1672 ; died Aug. 23, 1691; 2. John? born Aug. 20, 1674; 3. Elizabeth,3 born 
April 7, 1676; married John Chapman; 4. Samuel,3 born Nov. 3, 1678; 
died Oct. 11, 1679; 5. Joseph? born March 9, 1680; 6. Hannah,3 born Sept. 
9, 1684; _ married Thomas Purchase; 7. Lydia,3 born March 1, 1687; un¬ 
married in 1716; 8 .Isaac? born April 16, 1689; 9. Ebenezer? born Aug. 24, 
1691. Henry Cook2; husbandman; removed to Wallingford, Conn., about 
1680; married Mary Hale “last of September, 1678;” child: 1. Mary,3 
born July 15, 1678. 

Samuel Cook°; husbandman; married Mary Small Jan. 21, 1702-3; 
died in the spring of 1718; she survived him; children: 1. Isaac? born in 
170-; 2. Charles? born in 170-; 3. Mary,4 baptized April 18, 1708; pub¬ 
lished to Jasper Needham Nov. 30, 1731; 4. Samuel? baptized Dec. 10, 1710; 
5- Daniel,4 baptized Sept. 23, 1716. Henry Cook3; married Rachel Dyer 
April n, 1722; died in the summer of 1743; she survived him; children: 
1. Sarah,4 born about 1732; married Thomas Whittredge of Beverly June 
I0> T753; 2- Rachel4; of Danvers, unmarried, in 1755; 3. Mary4; of Dan¬ 
vers, unmarried, in 1755- John Coo-k3; mariner; married Hannah Dean 
June 11, 1701; died in the autumn of 1721; she died in 1745; children: 
1. John,4 born April —, 170-; died young; 2. Samuel? born in 170-; 3. 
Joseph? born April 1, 170-; 4. Benjamin? born in 170-; 5. Mary4; married 
Joseph Glover;. 6. Elizabeth4; married Joseph Henderson; 7. Hannah4; 
married Nathaniel Archer; 8. George,4 born March 5, 1719; died between 
1731 and 1745- Joseph Cook3; blacksmith; married Margaret Cox Aug. 
14, 1706; they were living in Salem in 1718; children: 1. Joseph? born 
April 17, 1707; 2. James? born March 22, 1709-10; 3. William? born Jan. 
14. i7n-2;4. Margaret,4 born Aug. 20, 1714; married Edward Diamond 
Dec. 7, 1733. Isaac Cook3; blacksmith and fisherman; married Martha 
Anniball Oct. 17, 1717; died in the early summer of 1754; she was his 
widow in 1757; children: 1. Robert? baptized May 17, 1719; 2. Isaac? 
baptized July 31, 1720; 3. Jonathan? baptized Sept. 2, 1722. Ebenezer 
Cook ; married Margaret Webb Oct. 22, 1718; she married, secondly, John 
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inhabitant. Mr. Cooke was a butcher; and lived on Washington 

Darling of Mendon in 1749; children: 1. Ebenezer,4 born Aug. 25, 1719; 
2. John,4 born April 20, 1721; 3. Daniel,4 born Oct. 12, 1722; cordwainer; 

lived in Salem in 1749, and in Mendon in 1765 and 1779; yeoman in I779j 
married Abigail -; she was of Mendon, his widow, in 1803; 4* Samuel, 
born July 12, 1724; 5. Jonathan,4 born May 23, 1727; died young; 6. Ben¬ 

jamin,4 born July 12, 1729; 7. Jonathan,4 born Sept. 19, 1731. 
Isaac Cook4; cordwainer, shoemaker and shoreman; lived in the 

Danvers part of Salem; married Elizabeth Waters Jan. 17, 1726-7; died 
in the winter of 1752-3; she lived in Danvers, his widow, in 1757; children: 
1. Hannah,5 born about 1728; married Samuel Darby Dec. —, 17531. 2. 
Abigail,5 born about 1737; married Daniel Felton Dec. 12, 1765; 3. Lydia,® 
born about 1740; married Daniel Reed of Danvers Nov. 19, 1765* Charles 
Cook4; blacksmith; married Hannah -; died in the autumn of 17591 
she was his widow in 1751; children: 1. Charles5; aged under fourteen in 
1751; 2. Hannah5; married Ebenezer Pike of Woburn (published March 
29, 1777). Samuel Cook4; lived in Peabody part of Salem; married 
Elizabeth Douglass July 28, 1735; children: 1. Henry,5 baptized April 22, 
1739; lived in Danvers; mariner; married Sarah Mansfield Nov. 12, 1761; 
died in the summer of 1771; she died in Danvers March 11, 1810; had 
children; 2. Thomas,5 baptized April 22, 1739; 3. Mercy,5 baptized July 27, 
1740; 4. Samuel,5 baptized Feb. 28, 1741-2; killed at the battle of Lexington 
April 19, 1775; 5. Desire,5 baptized April 1, 1744; married John Reed Jan. 
18, 1774; 6. Elizabeth,5 baptized in 1745; married Jonathan Tarbell. 
Samuel Cook4; fisherman and cordwainer; married, first, Abigail Hender¬ 
son Oct. 22, 1730; she died about 1748; he married, second, Abial Burton 
Aug. 22, 1751; they were living in Salem in 1771; children: 1. Abigail,® 
baptized Sept. 18, 1737; married George West April 28, 1751; 2. Samuel,® 
born in 1731; married Elizabeth Symonds Dec. 8, 1754; died Dec. 21, 1813; 
had a daughter; 3. Margaret,5 baptized Sept. 18, 1737; married William 
Gray March 16, 1760; 4. Mary,5 baptized May 7, 1738; married Samuel 
Symonds Aug. 10, 1760; 5. John,5 baptized July 19, 1741. Joseph Cook4; 
fisherman; married Eunice Pope Nov. 11, 1728; they were living July 18, 
1769, and his will was proved Feb. 6, 1770; children: 1. Eunice,5 born Sept. 
6, 1729; married George Beckford; 2. Hannah,5 born June 19, 1732; mar¬ 
ried Benjamin Deland Sept. 20, 1752; 3. John,5 born July 22, 1735; married 
Susannah Burton (Buxton?) Dec. 1, 1762; 4. Joseph,5 baptized Dec. 18, 
1737; died young; 5. Abigail,5 baptized June 22, 1740; 6. Joseph,5 baptized 
Sept. 5, 1742; victualer in 1775; married Susannah Cook Oct. 1, 1768. 
Benjamin Cook4; fisherman and mariner; married Elizabeth Phippen 
Dec. 24, 1730; she was living in 1766, and he in 1799; children: 1. Benjamin,® 
baptized April 11, 1736; 2. Elizabeth,5 baptized April 11, 1736; married 
Jonathan Buxton of Danvers June 27, 1757; 3. John,5 baptized March 27, 
1737; 4- Susannah,4 baptized Sept. 30, 1739; married John Tarrant May 6, 
1757; 5- George,® baptized May 23, 1742; 6. Hannah,5 baptized April 17, 
1748; married - Cain. Joseph Cook4; fisherman; married Rachel 
Britton April 18, 1734; living in 1750; children: 1. Joseph5 (twin), bap¬ 
tized Aug. 13, 1738; 2. William5 (twin), baptized Aug. 13, 1738; probably 
married Damaris Marston June 18, 1774; 3. Mary,5 baptized Sept. 21, 1740; 
4. Edward,5 baptized Aug. 15, 1742. James Cook4; fisherman, mariner and 
shoreman; married Rachel Phippen Sept. 18, 1732; both were living in 
1768; she died before 1782; children: 1. James,5 baptized Feb. 9, 1734-5; 
2. Margaret,5 baptized Anril 11, 1736; died young; 3. Rachel,5 baptized 

Sept. 17, 1738; married Nathan Offat Sept. 6, 1764; 4- Margaret,® baptized 
Oct. 19, 1740; died young; 5. Ebenezer5 baptized Oct. 17, 1742; 6. Hannah,® 
baptized Jan. n, 1746-7; married Edward Cox Oct. 17, 1769; 7. Joseph5 
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Street, on the southeasterly corner of the site of the Masonic 

baptized March n, 1748-9; 8. Benjamin,5 baptized Sept. 1, 1751; 9. Mar¬ 
garet,5 baptized April 21, 1754. William Cook4; shipwright; married 
Lydia Frost Nov. 17, 1737; lived in Salem in 1754; was dead in 1765; she 
was his widow in 1770; children: 1. Mary5; married Benjamin Clffton 
April 16, 1767; 2. Margaret5; married Joseph Hovey of Boston May 20, 
1766. Robert Cook4; cordwainer; married widow Margaret Dimond June 
17, 1743; they lived in Salem in 1768; children: 1. Martha,5 baptized April 
8, 1744; married John Morong; 2. Robert,5 baptized April 12, 1747; 3. 
Susannah,5 baptized April 8, 1753 ; married William Luscomb; 4. Elizabeth 5 
baptized Aug. 24, 1755; married John Daniels April 1, 1780. Isaac Cook4’; 
manner, laborer and yeoman; married Sarah Masury July 9, 1747; he was 
living in 1783; she died, his widow, before Dec. 22, 1801; children: 1. 
Isaac,3 baptized April 30, 1749; died in the fall of 1751; 2. Sarah,5 baptized 
Feb. 24, 1750-1; lived in Danvers; married Joseph Foster; 3. Stephen,5 
baptized Oct. 8, 1752; married Mary Carriage of Marblehead July 4, 1776; 
4. Benjamin,0 baptized Nov. 28, 1754; married Elizabeth (Webb), widow 
of Joshua Beckford (published March 28, 1778) ; 5. Martha,5 baptized June 
IT> )758. Capt. Jonathan Cook4; mariner and shoreman; married 
Mehitable Grant Dec. 26, 1745; they were living in 1780; children: 1. 
Jonathan,5 born Dec. 27, 1746; died young; 2. Mehitable,5 baptized Aug. 
20, 1749; married Benjamin Blyth; 3. Jonathan,5 baptized June 16, 1751; 
died young ; 4. Mary,5 baptized May 20, 1753; died Dec. 1. 1756; 5. Jona¬ 
than, baptized Sept. 18, 1757; shoreman; married Love Herron Sept. 18, 
1781; died in 1804; she died, his widow, Feb. 6, 1818; 6. Mary,5 baptized 
before 1761; 7. Orchard,5 baptized March 27, 1763. 

Benjamin Cook0; married Sarah Cook (daughter of Samuel) Nov. 8, 
1764; child: 1. George,6 baptized Oct. 22, 1769. Capt. John Cook5; fisher¬ 
man and mariner; married Margaret Webb Sept. 23, 1760; drowned at 
sea in the spring of 1787; she married, secondly, Isaac Mansfield of New¬ 
bury July 19, 1801; children: 1. George6; mariner; living in 1805; 2. 
.Samuel,6 born about 1784; living in 1805; 3. Anna,6 born about 1786; living 
in 1805. Ebenezer Cook5; fisherman; married Hannah Downing Dec. 10, 
1767; they were living in 1782; children: 1. Hannah,6 baptized Nov. 12, 
1769; 2. Lucy,6 baptized April 21, 1771; married Jacob Martin July 10, 
1785; 3- Elizabeth,6 baptized Sept. 12, 1773; married William Carlton; 
4- Richard, baptized April 5, 1778. Joseph Cook0; mariner; married Lydia 
Peel July^.26, 1772; was dead in 1810; she was living in' 1825; children: 
1. Joseph, baptized April 27, 1776; 2. James,6 baptized April 27, 1776; 3. 
Lydia, baptized Jan. 17, 1779; died, unmarried, July 27, 1823; 4. Ebenezer,6 
baptized Aug. 25, 1782. Benjamin Cook5; married Anne Clough (pub¬ 
lished Sept. 17, 1774).; children: 1. Benjamin,6 baptized June 30, 1776; 
mariner; married Lydia Chapman July 25, 1801; they were living in 1811. 
Robert Cook5; fisherman and mariner; married Elizabeth Luscomb Sept. 
•*5* !775; died between 1806 and 1821; she died before Feb. 20, 1821; chil¬ 
dren: 1. Elizabeth,6 baptized Dec. 29, 1776; married Samuel Barnard May 
30, 1799; 2. Robert,G baptized March 29, 1778; 3. Benjamin,6 baptized 

’ I^0’ died before 1806; 4. Benjamin,6 baptized April —, 1782; 
died before 1806; 5. -6; died Feb. —, 1784; 6. John Morong/ baptized 
Nov. , 1785; 7. Martha6; married Leonard Barnard Oct. 13, 1805. 

Joseph Cook6; mariner; married Catherine Brown Sept. 10, 1797; 
died m 1814; she survived him; children: 1. Joseph,7 born about 1800; 
yeoman; lived in Reading in 1828; 2. Mary T.7, born about 1802; married 
.den Kittredge; 3. George Trask,1 born about 1804; cordwainer; lived 
m Reading in 1828; 4. Sally7; married George Smith; 5. James,7 born 
about 1809; living in 1828; 6. Catharine,7 born about 1811; living in 1828. 
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Temple. He bought the house and land of Edmond Thompson 
Jan. 17, 1645 l1 and died there in 1665. His widow, Judith Cooke, 
conveyed the property to Walter Trice Jan. 13, 1663 ,2 and he 
gave it to his son Theodore Price. The latter died in 1672 ; and 
the administrator of his estate conveyed the house, barn and land 
to Hilliard Veren July 9, 1672.3 Mr. Veren lived here until he 
conveyed the estate to Ezekiel Cheever March 4, 1677-8.4 
Ezekiel Cheever’s brother Thomas Cheever of Malden conveyed 
the same to Rev. Nicholas Noyes April 14, 1684*° The latter 
lived here during the witchcraft period, and died in 1717- The 
administrator of his estate conveyed the property to Rev. Samuel 
Fisk, his successor in the ministry, July 18, 1718 ;6 and Mr. Fisk 
conveyed it to Benjamin Pickman Dec. 15, 1762.7 Mr. Pickman 
took the old house down in 1764. 

Governor Winthrop came to Salem, by water, about Nov. 1, 
1638, having had a boisterous trip. He wrote to his wife on the 
eighth the following letter:— 

To my Dear Wife, Mrs. winthrop at Boston 
My Deare,— I prayse God we came safe to Salem, thoughe we 

had very stormy windes. We found all well. I doubt I shall not re- 

turne before the 2: daye next weeke, & then my broth: P: will come 

wth me. The Lo: blesse thee & all or familye, & send us a happy 

meetinge. I kisse thee & rest 
thy faithfull husband, 

J: W: 
Salem: 9l,or: 8: 1638.8 

He was entertained at Salem with all the respect the people 
could show him, and on his return to Boston on the twelfth, six 
of the chief military officers, with carbines, were sent to guard 
him. 

Robert Cook6; painter; married Hannah Gowan Feb. 2, 1800; died in 
July, 1815; she survived him; children: 1. Mary Ann,7 born about 1805; 
married Hazleton Page of Hampstead, N. H., Nov. 13, 1835; 2. Robert,7 
born about 1807; lived in Salem in 1834; 3. -7; died before Oct. 20, 
t8t5; 4. Benjamin7 born June or July, 1815; probably died young. John 

Morong Cook6; painter; married, first, Sally Brown March 30, 1809; and 
second, Susan Herron Sept. 6, 1818; his wife Susan died May 26, 1822; 
he died March 31, 1826; children: 1. William,7 born about 1813; living in 
1831; 2. Sally B.7, born in 1819; married Daniel S. Lawrence June 4, 
1846. 

7Essex Registry of Deeds, book 8, leaf 70. 
“Essex Registry of Deeds, book 2, leaf 76. 
3Essex Registry of Deeds, book 3, leaf 156. 
4Essex Registry of Deeds, book 4, leaf 190. 
5Essex Registry of Deeds, book 6, leaf 123. 
6Essex Registry of Deeds, book 33, leaf 222. 
7Essex Registry of Deeds, book 112, leaf 115. 
8Winthrop’s Letters, page 231 (1867 edition). 
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At a meeting, Nov. 12, 1638, the town granted to Mr. Hugh 
Peter, “our present pastor,” a farm of upland, containing two 
hundred acres, lying near the head of Frost Fish River, and 
twenty acres of fresh marsh next to Mr. EndeCott’s ten acres in 
the great marsh neai Mr. Sharp s farm. It was also agreed that 
Marke Vermais, Robert Penny, Joshua Verine, Thomas Trusler, 
Richard^ Dodge, Robert Adams,1 Henry Bayley and William 
Nichols should each have a ten-acre lot. Mr. Adams was a 
tailor, from Devonshire, England, and thirty-seven years old. 
He came to Salem from Ipswich and lived at what is now num¬ 
bered ninety Washington Street, opposite the city hall. Mr. 
Nichols was a husbandman, about thirty-nine years of age and 
probably lived near the pound, on the easterly side of what Is now 
known as North Central Street, just above Gardner Street, in 
Peabody. 

The town of Salem, having formerly granted several portions 
of land at Marblehead, laid the lots out Nov. 14, 1638, as follows: 
To Mr. Walton on the main, eight acres; Moses Mavericke at 
the same place, ten acres; John Coitt on the Neck, three acres; 
W ill Keene and Nick Liston on John Peach’s neck, three acres, 
and more to them on the Great Neck, five acres; Rich. Sears, 
four acres where he had planted formerly; John Wakefield, four 
acres on the Neck; John Gachell and Samuel Gachell, six acres 
on the Neck; Tho Sams,4 three acres on the Neck; Johm Lyon, 
our aci es near his house; the widow Blancher, six acres on the 

Robert Adams, born in 1601, came to Ipswich in 1635; removed from 
gto Newbury in 1640; married, first, Eleanor -; and, second, q 1 /r^i \ J • 1 r tt 1 1cuj nisi, rbieanor ; a,nd% second, 
oarah (Glover), widow of Henry Short of Newbury Feb. 6, 1678; died 

ct. 42, 1682; she died Oct. 24, 1697; children: 1. John (eldest son); 
married Woodman; 2. Joanna, born in 1634; married Launcelot r -- ’ “• w.u ill nidi lieu ixiunceioi 
O anger Jan. 4, 1654; removed to Suffield, Conn.; 3. Abraham, born in 
^alem in 1639; lived in Newbury; husbandman; married Mary Pettingell 
i\ov. 10, 1670; she died m Newbury Sept. 19, 1705; he died there June 14, 
1/14; had children; 4. Robert; 5. Elizabeth; 6. Mary; 7. Isaac; 8. Jacob, 
born Apnl 23 164979. Hannah, born June 25, 1650; 10. Jacob, born April 

3’. 1 54, cordwamer; removed to Suffield, Conn., about 1686; represen- 
ve m 1711-1714 and 1717, and died at the general court in Boston in 

November, 1717; had children. 

1 .. William Nichols was born in 1599, and removed to a house he had 
Duilt within the limits of Topsfield, which became a part of Middleton upon 
the incorporation of the latter town in 1728. He died in the winter of 1695-6, 
a le age of ninety-six, being known as “old Nichols;” his wife Mary 
survived him; children: 1. John, born in 1640; married Lydia-; lived 
on his fathers homestead in Topsfield; died in 1700; had children; 
iyjFL’ Tarried Thomas Cave of Topsfield; 3. Hannah 
Wilkins May —, 1667. 

William Kieney lived in Marblehead as late as 1645. 
named John Colever in 1643. 

Thomas Sams lived in Marblehead as late as 1646. 

7 

married Thomas 

He had a servant 
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Neck- Ralph Warrin, two acres on the Neck; George Ching,1 
three acres on the Neck ; Philip Beare, three acres near the widow 
Tomson’s; John Bennet, four acres upon John Peach’s neck; and 

Rosamond James,2 four acres upon the main. 
At a meeting, Nov. 26, 1638, the town granted to Robert 

Wheaden ten acres of land; to Richard Stackhouse3 ten acres; 
anc] ^-o-a gardner, ten acres. John Cook desired five 
acres to be added to twenty acres formerly granted to him. There 
were granted to Lt. Davenport (which the town desired him to 
seek out, as before) two hundred acres of upland and twenty 
acres of meadow, lying on the east side of the great meadow 
where Mr. Endecott hath his ten acres of meadow. Ten acres 
were granted to Mr. Veryn, if there is any not already granted 
to others out of the land which was formerly Mr. Thorndike’s; 
also, the hay that grows upon a slope of ground near to the pond 
which Mr. Clarke hath the half of, and it is about two acres of 
meadow, until the land be disposed of to some other man; to 
Samuel Archer one neck of land lying out against the sea near 
Jeffry Creeke Island, containing about twenty acres, and eight 
acres of meadow in Kettle Island Cove; to Henry Harwood4 a 
ten-acre lot and a half-acre lot, which were formerly granted to 
Michael Lambert near Winter Island; to John Holgrave one 
hundred acres of land next to Mr. Peter’s farm, and ten acres of 
meadow lying in the great meadow, he resigning up the land 
granted to him in Marble neck; to John Leech a ten-acre lot on 
the great north neck; and to William and Richard Dodge eighty 
acres of land lying on the easterly end of the farms of Mr. Conant, 
John Woodbury and John Balch, whereof twelve acres are 
meadow. 

George Chin died in Marblehead in the winter of 1653-4; his wife 
Elizabeth survived him. 

^Erasmus James? 
3Richard Stackhouse lived in Salem as late as 1678 and in Beverly as 

late as 1693; married Susanna -, who was born about 1617; children: 
1. Jonathan, baptized May 14, 1648; 2. Hannah, born about 1647; married 
- Harris before 1677; 3. Abigail, baptized May 14, 1648; 4. Ruth, 
baptized July 8, 1649; married Roger Haskins; 5. Samuel, baptized Feb. 
13, 1652-3; 6. Mary, baptized June 25, 1654. 

A Sarah Stackhouse was baptized in Salem July 17, 1670. 
4Henry Harwood (Harod, Harrod, Hayward, Haywood and Herod) is 

said to. have come to America with Gov. John Winthrop in 1630, and lived 
at first in Boston. He came to Salem in 1638, and had his house at the 
foot of Beckett street, being a shoemaker. He married Elizabeth-, who 
was probably a widow, as she had a daughter Elizabeth, wife of Mathew 
Nixon. Mr. Harwood called Jane, wife of Richard Flinder, “kinswoman”; 
and Mr. Flinder called him “uncle.” Mr. Harwood died in February, 1663-4; 
and she died, his widow, in 1670. Child: 1. John, baptized in Boston in 
1632; married Em-July 11, 1659; children, John and Jonathan, died 
last week of April, 1662. 
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At a quarterly court, in Boston, Dec. 4, 1638, John Holgrave 
was found guilty of contempt of court, for drawing wine against 
an order of the court and for causing his daughter to deliver a 
paper to a juryman out of court, adjudging him “to have broken 
the rule of hospitality & the peace;” “Richard Greaves & Peter 
Bussaker, for quarrelling and fighting, are refered to the Court 
at Salem”; and Richard Hollingsworth, for prophaning the 
Sabbath in traveling, was censured to be set in the stocks upon a 
lecture day, at Salem.” 

Thomas Oliver,1 a calender, came from Norwich, England, 
in 1637, and lived in a small house which stood on the southern 
corner of Washington and Church streets. His wife Mary, who 
was then thirty-five years old, came with him. She was a strong 
Puritan, and before coming to America had suffered for refusing 
to bow at the name of Jesus, during the exercises of the Estab¬ 
lished Church, though she was conformable to all other orders. 
They were poor, and had made few acquaintances. Apparently, 
she had not become a member of the church in Salem, but attended 
its services, and in 1638, at the celebration of the sacrament of 
the Lord’s Supper, without giving public satisfaction to the 
church of her faith and without covenanting or professing to 
“walk with them according to the rule of the gospel,” she stood 
and asked for the privilege of partaking of it. She remained 
standing, and when denied her request, she plead her right until 
Governor Endecott threatened to send the constable to put her 
out. She was arrested for disturbing the church, and brought 
to the court in Boston. In her examination, Dec. 4, 1638, she 
gave such peremptory answers that she was sent to the prison 
until she procured sureties for her good behavior. After about 
three or four days spent in prison, she submitted herself to 
Governor Winthrop, and acknowledged that she was in fault in 
disturbing the church. Upon her husband giving a bond for her 
good behavior, she was discharged from confinement. Winthrop 
afterward learned that she still held to her former opinions, 
which he deemed very dangerous, as, first, “The church is the 
heads of the people, both magistrates and ministers, met together, 
and that these have power to ordain ministers, &c.”; second, 
“That all who dwell in the same town and will profess their faith 
in Christ Jesus ought to be received to the sacraments there; and 
that she was persuaded, that, if Paul were at Salem, he would 
call the inhabitants there Taints’ ”; and, third, “That excom¬ 
munication is no other but when Christians withdraw private 
communion from one that hath offended.” Mrs. Oliver appar¬ 
ently held that every one who believed in the Savior was a member 

Tee volume I, page 443. 
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of the body of Christ, as stated in the Bible, and that it was 
unnecessary, in order to partake of the elements of the Lord s 
Supper, that one should be a formal member of an organized 
church; also, that the law of the Sabbath was not now binding 
upon any one as a religious institution. It is remarkable that 
any one in those times should have worked out ideas of their 
own concerning the real constituency of the church. 

She was not always choice in her language, and was probably 
unlettered; but she had strength of character and great force. 
Governor Winthrop wrote, in his Journal, Dec. 13, 1638, that “for 
ability of speech and appearance of zeal and devotion she was 
far before Mrs. Hutchinson, and so the fitter instrument to have 
done hurt.” 

Sept. 24, 1639, Mrs. Oliver was sentenced to prison at Boston 
indefinitely for her speeches at the arrival of some new comers. 
She was ordered to be taken by constables of Salem and Lynn to 
the prison in Boston and answer at the next court there. 

Governor Winthrop also states that when she was whipped 
she “stood without tying, and bare her punishment with a mas¬ 
culine spirit, glorying in her suffering. But after (when she 
came to consider the reproach, which would stick by her, &c.) 
she was much dejected by it.” 

For saying that all ministers in the country were blood-thirsty 
men, the Salem court ordered her, July 1, 1646, to be tied to the 
whipping post with a slit stick on her tongue. Robert Cotty, who 
heard her make this statement, told her that she spoke blasphemy; 
and she replied that her blood was too thin for them to draw 
out. 

March 2, 1647-8, the Salem court fined her for working on 
the Sabbath in the time of church services, and for abusing Cap¬ 
tain Hathorne, uttering mutinous speeches. She also denied “the 
morality of the Sabbath.” The witnesses against her were John 
Robinson and John Bayllis. She was also ordered to sit in the 
stocks one hour, if the weather be moderate; also for saying, 
“You in New England are thieves and robbers.” Robert Gutch 
testified that she came into his house in such gladness of spirit 
that he could not understand it, and said to some persons who 
were there, and were not church members, “Lift up your heads, 
your redemption draweth nigh.” She was advised to remember 
what she was punished for, and she said that she came out of that 
with a scarf and a ring; upon which Gutch asked her if she 
remembered this passage: “That there were some whose necks 
had ii on sinews and brows of brass. 1 She replied bv saying that 

Because I knew that thou art obstinate, and thy neck an iron sinew, 
and thy brow brass.”—Isaiah 48 : 4. 
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she “did hope to live to tear his flesh in pieces and all such as he.” 
Henry Cook heard her say it. She was also bound to good 
behavior, and, refusing to give bond, was ordered to be sent to 
Boston goal. 

John Robinson, who had testified against her, seized her in a 
violent manner and put her in the stocks. She immediately 
brought suit against him for false imprisonment, and recovered 
ten shillings damages. 

In the Ipswich court, Nov. 13, 1649, Mrs. Oliver was fined 
for stealing two goats. In the Salem court, Dec. 27, 1649, she 
was presented for speaking against the governor, saying that he 
was unjust, corrupt and a wretch, and that he made her pay for 
stealing two goats when “there was no proof of it.” She was 
convicted, and sentenced to be whipped not more than twenty 
strokes next lecture day at Salem if the weather be moderate. 

Criminations clustered around her. She accused Robert 
Adams of taking her ladder. She complained to the court in 
Salem that Henry Cooke had a pick axe of her’s; and the court 
ordered him to pay her four shillings for it. George Ropes 
stated that she had kept away a spade of his, and the court 
ordered her to pay him five shillings for it. 

Mr. Oliver left his family and returned to England, and, 
Nov. 15, 1648, she was ordered to go to him. The last time she 
appears is in the Salem court Feb. 29, 1649-50, when she and her 
children were to remove out of the jurisdiction. Mr. Oliver 
returned to Salem in 1652, and lived here until his death, in 1679. 

The saddest scene of all in the quarterly court in Boston, 
Dec. 4, 1638, was the conviction and sentence to death of Dorothy, 
wife of John Talby, of Salem, whose domestic troubles have 
already been mentioned. Mr. and Mrs. Talby were members of 
the church, and their daughter Difficulty was baptized on Christ¬ 
mas day, 1636. Mrs. Talby was esteemed for godliness, etc., but 
after the birth of the child she became melancholy and possessed 
of delusions. She sometimes tried to kill herself and her husband 
by refusing to eat “meat” and not permitting them to eat it, 
saying it had been so revealed to her. He complained to the 
Salem court, June 27, 1637, that she frequently laid hands on him 
to the danger of his life. She manifested contempt for the 
authority of the court, who ordered her to be chained to a post, 
being allowed only to “come to the place of God’s worship,” until 
she repented. The church was very patient with her, and after 
various admonitions, which were unavailing, they “cast” her out 
of the church. Whereupon she became worse, and, September 

. 25th following, she was ordered to be whipped for misdemeanors 
against her husband. For a time, she behaved herself more 
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dutifully to her husband, etc.; but this continued only a few 
weeks. Her mind again became more clouded, and delusions 
controlled her. She believed that God revealed to her the neces¬ 
sity of taking the life of her baby, in order to save the child from 
future misery. Her acquaintances and even Governor Winthrop 
himself believed that she was possessed by Satan and by the 
delusions he caused her to believe were from God, she was led to 
take the child’s life, by breaking its neck. She made no secret of 
the murder, and when apprehended confessed the deed. In the 
court, on this day, upon her arraignment, she, however, stood 
mute a good while,— until the governor told her that if she did 
not plead she would be pressed to death. She then confessed the 
truth of the indictment. She was duly sentenced. When she was 
to receive judgment, she would neither uncover her face nor 
stand, but as she was forced. She gave no testimony of her 
repentance, neither at the time of her sentence nor at her ex¬ 
ecution, by hanging, in Boston, two days later. She desired to 
be beheaded, as that method would be less painful and less 
shameful. Hugh Peter, her late pastor, and Rev. Mr. Wilson of 
Boston went with her to the place of execution, but could do no 
good. Mr. Peter gave an exhortation to the people to take heed 
of revelations, etc., and of despising the ordinances of excom¬ 
munication as she had done; and when he addressed her, 
denouncing her crime, she turned her back and would have gone 
away had she not been forcibly detained. After the rope had 
been placed about her neck and her face covered with a cloth, she 
pulled the latter off and put it between the rope and her neck. 
She was then cast off, and, after a swing or two, she caught at 
the ladder. 

ATr. 1 alby1 was himself subsequently excommunicated from 
the Salem church “for much pride and unnaturalness to his wife.” 
Perhaps Mr. Peter, after his second marriage, had received light 
on Airs. I alby’s mental condition,— that it was one which de¬ 
manded more reasonable and humane treatment. 

On the thirteenth of the month, a general fast was kept upon 
the motion of the elders to the governor and council. The chief 
occasion was the great extent of sickness, “pox and fevers,” 
tlnough the country, the apparent decay of religion, the general 
declining of professors to the world, etc. 

John Talhy died in the winter of 1644-5, leaving children : Anne, living 
m 1645; John, eldest son, living in Salem as late as 1657, an idle man, of 
\vhose support the town took charge; and Stephen, who, in 1657, commanded 
the ketch Adventure, which sailed between Boston and London. In volume 
I, page 362, it is stated that Mr. I alby was living in Salem in 1654; but this 
statement has reference to his son John, and not to his father who had 
died nine years before. 
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THE GLASS WORKS. 

A leading- member of the Plymouth Company wrote to his 
friends in England to “Bring paper and linseed oil for your 
windows,” and Mr. Higginson wrote from Salem, in 1629, to 
“Bring glass for your windows.” 

A glass house was erected in Salem in 1638. It was located 
in that part of the town which is now Peabody on the southerly 
side of Aborn Street, the original highway to Boston; and Abbott 
Street now runs by the glass house field. The product of these 
glass works consisted of bottles and coarse articles of inferior 
glass; and probably window glass. 

One of the leading glass makers was Ananias Conkclin,1 who 
was granted by the town, June 25, 1638, the ten acres of land 
which had been granted to Augustine Killam and by him ex¬ 
changed with the town for another lot. Mr. Concline built a 
house, and the town granted to him an acre of land near it Aug. 
19, 1639; and, April 4, 1640, twenty poles of land for a yard 
before his door. He established the business of glass making here, 
and erected a building for that purpose before the end of the 
year 1638. 

Mr. Conclin was joined by Obadiah Holmes2 (Hullme) to 
whom the town granted, Jan. 27, 1638-9, one acre of land for a 
house lot near the glass house and ten acres more. He was 
granted a quarter of an acre more near his garden May 2, 1642; 
and, Sept. 22, 1645, there was added to his grant about a dozen 
square rods, which he sold to Philemon Dickinson. 

These glass makers were joined by Lawrence Southwick,3 
who had half an acre of land here before April 17, 1639, when 

Ananias Conclin probably married Susan -■; removed to Southold, 
L. I., in 1650, and to East Hampton, L. I., about 1653; died in 1657; 
children: 1. Jeremiah, born in 1635; married Mary Gardiner; she married, 
second, Robert Starr of Salem Dec. 30, 1669; had children; 2. Benjamin; 
married Hannah Mulford; 3. Lewis, baptized in Salem April 30, 1643; died 
at Amagansette, L. I., Oct. 2, 1716; ancestor of Hon. Roscoe Conklin of 
^ew2 y°r^i 4- Hester; livingin 1657, being under eighteen years of age. 

Mr. Holmes’ wife Catherine was admitted to the church in Salem in 

l6393 

. Lawrence Southwick,1 tradition says, originated in Lancashire, mar¬ 
ried Cassandra-y they were admitted to the church in Salem April 24, 
1639; they were banished, as Quakers, from the Colony in 1659, and went 
by water to Shelter Island, L. I., where they died in the summer of 1660; 
children: 1. John? born in 1620; 2. Mary,2 born in 1630; married Henry 
lrasky 3 Josiah,2 born in 1632; 4. Provided,2 born in 1635; died in 1640; 
S Damel, born in 1637; 6. Provided,2 born Dec. —, 1641; married Samuel 
Gaskill. 

John_ Southwick2; husbandman; married, first, Sarah, widow of 
Samuel Tidd in 1642; second, Anne, widow of Thomas Flint; she died in 
the summer of 1668; third, Sarah Burnett Feb. 3, 1668-9; died Oct. 25, 
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the town granted to him half an acre adjoining thereto. In the 

1672; she married, second, Thomas Cooper; children: 1. Sarah, horn 
June 16, 1644; married Thomas Buffington; 2. Mary,3 born Oct. 10, 1646; 
married Thomas Burt Nov. 18, 1672; 3* Samuel, born Feb. 19, 1658-9, 
4. John* born Jan. —, 166-; 5- Isaac,3 born Nov. —, 1669; died Feb. —, 
1669-70; 6. Isaac,3 born Jan. 27, 1670-1; lived in Reading; married Anna 
--; had children; 7. Sarah,3 born Aug. 15, 1672. Josiah South wick; 
yeoman; married Mary Boyce Dec. 13, 1653; died in 1692; she was his 
widow in 1694; children: 1. Deborah,3 born Jan. 13, 1655-6; married 
Thresher; 2. Josiah? born Jan. 27, 1657-9; 3- Joseph,3 born April —, 1662; 
married Ann -; both living in Salem in 1694; 4. Mary,3 born Nov. —, 
1664; unmarried in 1694; 5- Cassandra,3 born Nov. —, 1667; married 
Jacob Mott of Portsmouth, R. I.; 6. Deliverance,3 born April 9, 1669; 
7. Jonathan,3 born Oct. 16, 1670; 8. Ruth,3 born Feb. 21, 1674-5; unmarried 
in 1694; 9. Hopestill,3 born Aug. 30, 1678; 10. Solomon,3 born Jan. 9, 
1683-4; removed to Rhode Island before 1711; married in 1712; had 
children. Daniel Southwick2; yeoman; married Esther Boyce Feb. 23, 

1663-4; she was living in 1718; he died in the winter of 1718-9; children: 
1. Lawrence * born in 1664; 2. Esther,3 born June 26, 1665; married James 
Buxton; 3. Elizabeth,3 born June 26, 1668; married John Wilkins; 4. 
Daniel,3 born March 25, 1671; 5. Eleanor,3 born June 25, 1674; married 
Samuel Osborn; 6. Mercy,3 born in 1676; married John Osborn; 7. Hannah,3 
born Aug. 7, 1677; married Thomas Buffington. 

Samuel Southwick3; husbandman; married Mary Ross of Ipswich 
June 24, 1686; died in the winter of 1709-10; she was his widow in 1711; 
children: 1. Samuel,4 born Jan. 30, 1688-9; died before 1709; 2. Ebenezer* 
born Nov. 9, 1690; 3. Hannah,4 born Feb. 24, 1691-2; living in 1711; 4. 
Jonathan* born about 1694; 5. Benjamin,4 born in 1696; settled in New 
Salem, where he lived in 1743; married Abigail Burt in 1722; 6. David,4 
born in 1701; lived in Williamstown; married Thankful Grig; died in 
179-; 7. Mercy,4 born in 1698; living in 1728; 8. Mary,4 born in 1700; 
married Henry Hutchins in 1736; 9. Elizabeth,4 born in 1702; living in 
1728; 10. Provided,10 born in 1704; married John Carroll. John South¬ 

wick3; blacksmith and husbandman; married Hannah Follett Dec. 23, 1687; 
she was living in 1742; he died in the autumn of 1743; children: 1. John,4 
born Dec. 13, 1688; died young; 2. Joseph,4 born Jan. 1, 1690-1; died Oct. 
1, 1691; 3. Sarah,4 born Feb. 9, 1693-4; probably married Thomas Hutchins 
Jan. 7, 1719-20; 4. John* born May —, 1695; 5. Abraham* born in 1696; 
6. Hannah,4 born July 27, 1698; probably married Ebenezer Shaw March 
17, 1720-1; 7. Benjamin* born Jan. 22, 1701-2; 8. Isaac,* born Sept. 23, 
1704. Josiah Southwick3; husbandman; removed to Northampton, N. J., 
about 1702; married Ruth Symonds; children: 1. Josiah,4 born about 1686; 
lived in Northampton in 1759; 2. James,4 born about 1689; yeoman; lived 
in Northampton in 1759; 3. Ruth,4 born about 1692; married William 
Cranmer of Northampton in 1716. Lawrence Southwick3; husbandman; 
married Tamson Buffum Aug. 24, T704; died in the winter of 1718-9; she 
survived him; children: 1. Daniel* born in 1705; 2. Josiah,4 born in 1707; 
tailor; married Mary Cass of Hampton March 20, 1735-6; 3. Caleb* born 
in 1709; 4. Lawrence,4 born Jan. 11, 1711; cordwai'ner and shoemaker; 
lived in Dighton; married, first, Hannah Shove of Dighton May 8, 1739; 
second. Patience Handy; died in Uxbridge in 1795; had twenty children; 
5. Esther,4 born in 171-; married Ephraim Silsbee of Lynn Nov. 9, 1738; 
6. David,4 born in 1714; lived in Dudley and New Salem; married Hannah 
-; had children; 7. Joseph,4 born in 1716. Daniel Southwick3; 

husbandman; married Jane —— in 1696; died in 1732-3; she was living 
in 1738; children: 1. Jonathan* born in 1697; 2. Elizabeth,4 born in 1702; 
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spring of 1639, these three constituted the glassmakers here. 

married Jonathan Buxton; 3. Hannah,4 born in 1704; married a Girdler or 
Poller in 1724; 4. John/ born May —, 1709; 5. Daniel,4 born in 1721; 
cordwainer dnd husbandman; settled in Smithfield, R. I.; married Ruth 
Mussey of Smithfield Feb. 8, 1742; she died Jan. 16, 1790; he died March 
3, 1804; had children. 

Ebenezer Southwick4; yeoman; married, first, Sarah Proctor April 
9, 1724; second, Mary Whitman Oct. 18, 1727; she was living in 1771; he 
died in the spring of 1777; children: 1. Sarah,5 born May 24, 1728; mar¬ 
ried Joseph Stacey in 1749; 2. Mary,5 born Dec. 22, 1729; married - 
Upton; 3. Ebenezer,4 born Jan. 23, 1734-5; yeoman; lived in Danvers in 
1783; married Susanna (Orr) Foster of North Yarmouth in 1758; she 
died Aug. 9, 1811; he died Jan. 8, 1820; had children; 4. Lois,5 born March 
3, 1735-6; unmarried in 1771; 5. Hannah,5 born in 1738; married - 
Lefavor; 6. Lydia,5 born in 1740; died before 1771. Jonathan South¬ 

wick4; removed to South Williamstown in 1735; married Elizabeth Dowty 
Sept. 17, 1727; children: 1. Jesse,5 born in 1728; lived in South Williams¬ 
town; married Copia Wright in 1760; 2. Ichabod,5 born in 1730; settled 
in South Williamstown; 3. Mary,5 born in 1732; 4. Rebecca,5 born in 1734; 
5. Samuel,5 born in 1736; 6. Lemuel,5 born in 1738; 7. Jonathan,5 born in 
1740; 8. Elizabeth,5 born Aug. 9, 1741. John Southwick4; husbandman; 
lived in the Danvers part of Salem; married Mary Trask Jan. 8, 1710-1; 
she died before 1767; he died in 1771; children: 1. John,5 born in 1710; 
2. William,5 born in 1715; yeoman; lived in Danvers; married Sarah 
Chapman July 12, 1753; died before 1767; 3. Mary,5 born in 1717; married 
Ebenezer King Dec. 25, 1735; 4. Hannah,5 born in 1719; married Zachariah 
King; 5. Elizabeth,5 born in 1721; married Robert Wilson; 6. Joseph 
born in 1723; 7. George,5 born about 1736; lived in Danvers; married 
widow Sarah (Shatswell) Platts of Rowley Dec. 18, 1760; she was living 
in 1803; he died in 1808; had children. Abraham Southwick4; brick¬ 
layer; married Sarah-; they were living in 1754; he died before 1769; 
children: 1. Isaac,5 baptized April 26, 1730; died before 1754; 2. Abraham,5 
baptized April 26, 1730; laborer; married Mary Aborn Dec. 28, 1755; 
drowned in a well March 8, 1775; 3. Sarah,5 baptized April 26, 1730; 
married Nathaniel Clark of Wells Oct. 24, 1751; 4. Joseph,5 baptized July 
18, 1731; died before 1754; 5. Margaret,6 baptized Oct. 6, 1734; married 
Amos Newhall of Lynn Dec. 7, 1750. Benjamin Southwick4; husband¬ 
man; lived in Reading, Salem and Danvers; married Sarah Southwick of 
Reading in 1720; children: 1. Isaac,5 born in 1720; published to Mary 
Felton Oct. 12, 1741; 2. Benjamin,5 born in 1722; lived in Mendon, Black- 
stone and Dudley; married Miriam Benson; had a child; 3. Sarah,5 born 
in 1724; 4. Mercy,5 born in 1730. Isaac Southwick4; husbandman; lived 
in the Danvers part of Salem; married Esther Clark of Wells (published 
June 5, 1731) ; died in the spring of 1780; she was his widow in 1782; 
children: 1. Isaac,5 born in 1732; yeoman; lived in Danvers, Mass., and 
Amherst, N. H.; married Elizabeth Dresser; both living in 1782; had 
children; '2. Nathaniel,5 born in 1734; 3. Esther,5 baptized June 15, 1740; 
5- Susanna,5 born in 1740; married - Jaffrey; 6. Benjamin,5 born in 
1742; living in 1774; 7. John,5 baptized May 6, 1744. Daniel Southwick4; 

tanner and currier; removed to Mendon in 1742; was a Quaker preacher; 
married Ruth Shove of Dighton Feb. 8, 1730; died Nov. 19, 1776; children: 
1. Lawrence,5 born Jan. 11, 1731; tanner; lived in Uxbridge, Mass., and 
Clinton, N. Y.; married, first, Dorcas Brown in 1753; she died Dec. 17, 
J757I second, Hannah Southwick Sept. 6, 1759; she died in 1809; he died 
in 1810; had children; 2. Edward,5 born March 15, 1734; married Elizabeth 
Southwick June 1, 1769; 3. Lydia,5 born Dec. 22, 1735; married Amos 
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Sept. 14, 1640, the town received John Conclin as an inhabitant 
and granted to him five and a half acres of land near the glass 

Osborn; 4. Daniel,5 born Oct. 18, 1737; married Mary Mabbett; 5. Eleanor,5 
born Feb. 2, 1739; married Daniel Read of Smithfield July 1, 1762; 6. 
Josiah,5 born July 17, 1742; killed while wrestling; 7- Elizabeth, born 
Sept. 4, 1744; 8. George,5 born Dec. 14, 17471 9- Theophilus,5 born Nov. 
29, 1750. Caleb Southwick4; blacksmith; living in 1742; married Ruth 
Gould of Charlestown (published April 8, 1732) ! child : 1. TamsonJ born 
in 1736; married Daniel Aldrich May 1, 1759- Joseph Southwick ; tan¬ 
ner and currier; lived in the Peabody part of Salem; married Bethiah 
Killam of Bellingham May 31, 1739; died June 1, 1790 she died April 8, 

1803; children: 1. Bethiah;' born Oct. 2, 1741; married, first, Jonathan 
Dem; second, Joshua Pope; 2. Anna,5 born Dec. 30, I743J married 
Jeremiah Hacker; 3. Joseph,5 born Sept. 3, 1746; died Nov. 19, 1773; 
4. Esther,5 born Oct. 24, 1748; married James Torrey of Falmouth Nov. 
15, 1770; 5- Tamson,5 born Oct. 28, 1750; married William Frye; 6. Josiah,6 
born Sept. 14, 1752; 7. Cassandra,5 born March n, 1755; 8. Edward,5 born 
March 1, 1757; 9. Caleb,5 born April 3, 1763. Jonathan Southwick4; 

husbandman; married, first, Hannah Osborn May 21, 1735; she died in 
1775; married, second, Elizabeth (Buffum), widow of Daniel Comstock 
June 28, 1786; children: 1. Jonathan5; married Judith Mussey Nov. 1, 
1759; 2. Enoch5; died young; 3. Zacheus,5 born in 1740; died young; 4. 
Hannah,5 born in 1742; married Lawrence Southwick; 5. John,5 born Sept. 
6, 1744; married Chloe Bartlett; she died April 25, 1817; he died Jan. 31. 
1831; 6. Elizabeth,5 born in 1746; married Edward Southwick; 7. Esther,5 
born in 1748; married James Buxton; 8. George,5 born Feb. 8, 1750; mar¬ 
ried Lydia Sargent Feb. 15, 1774; died Oct. 12, 1825, at North Collins, 
N. Y.; 9. Jacob,5 born June 4, 1751; married Sarah Fowler June 4, 1778; 
10. Enoch,5 born in 1754; 11. Mercy,5 born in 1757; 12. Zacheus,6 born 
Sept. 5, 1760. John Southwick4; shopkeeper and husbandman; lived in 
the Danvers part of Salem; married Mary, widow of Jonathan Buffum 
J?n. 28, 1730-1; died Oct. 1, 1784; she died May 12, 1790; children: 1. 
Mehitable,5 born Aug. 19, 1725; married - Varney Oct. 6, 1758; 2. 
Zaccheus,5 born April 14, 1732; 3. Hannah,5 born Aug. 22, 1734; married 
Daniel Purington Oct. 28, 1756; 4. Daniel,5 born Aug. 10, 1736; married 
Elizabeth Buffum Nov. 17, 1763; 5. Elizabeth,5 born Feb. 8, 1738; married 
Jonathan Buxton; 6. Josiah/ born July 17, 1742. 

John Southwick5; yeoman; lived in Danvers; married Elizabeth 
Wilson in 1743; died about Feb. 1, 1785; she was his widow in 1795; 
children: 1. John6; 2. George,6 born in 1750; married Hephzibah Burrell 
July 9, 1769; killed in the battle of Lexington April 19, 1775; had children; 
3. Mary,6 baptized June 6, 1762; 4. Prudence,6 baptized May 25, 1766. 
Joseph Southwick’; potter and yeoman; lived in Danvers; married 
Mary Wilson Sept. 13, 1743; died in 1786; children: 1. Mary,6 born in 
1744; 2. Susan,® born in 1746; died Sept. 22, 1791; 3. Hannah,6 born Nov. 
16, 1756; 4. Elizabeth,6 born Aug. 21, 1759; 5. Ruth,6 baptized March 11, 
1764- Josiah Southwick5; tanner; lived in Danvers; married Elizabeth 
Southwick of Danvers April 28, 1767; he was dead in 1812; she died Feb. 
15. 1818; children (first and last born in Salem) : 1. John,0 born March 9, 
1768; 2. Daniel,6 born March 12, 1769; died Jan. 30, 1770; 3. Phebe,6 born 
March 1, 1770; married William Cobb of Portland Dec. 27, 1791; 4. 
Hannah,6 born Nov. 9, 1771; married Abijah Purington; 5. Daniel,6 born 
Dec. 31, 1773; died at Portland July 27, 1799; 6. Elizabeth,6 born Aug. 10, 
1775; (lied Aug. 28, 1777; 7. Cassandra,6 born July 10, 1777; died Aug. 13, 
T777i 8. Elizabeth,6 born Dec. 5, 1778; married Ebenezer Allen; 9. Cassan¬ 
dra,6 born March 2, 1781; married Stephen Nichols. 
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house. John Conclin1 was from Nottinghamshire, England, and 
was a glassmaker, being associated with Ananias Conclin 'here 
from this time. 

The glass business apparently never flourished here. To 
encourage it, the general court voted, Dec. io, 1641, “that if the 
town of Salem lend the glass men thirty pounds, they should be 
allowed it again out of their next rate, and the glass men to repay 
it again, if the work succeed, when they are able.” 

Apparently, Messrs Holmes and Southwick had dropped out 
of the business about 1642. They may have been the undertakers 
of the glass works, who engaged the Conclins to make the 
glass. 

In 1642, upon the request of the town, the Colony loaned to 
Ananias Conclyne and other poor people” eight pounds, which 

the town, Feb. 27, 1642-3, promised at the next Indian corn 
harvest, to repay. 

Oct. 1, 1645, 6ie Conklins sent the following petition2 to 
the general court, praying that they might be relieved from their 
engagement to the undertakers of the glass works:— 

The right worp11 the Governo-, Deput Governor, & Affiftants, 
together wth Deputies; the humble petition of John Conklin & Ananias 
Conkcloyne 

Sheweth, 
That yr Petitioners have beene imployed Divers yeares about 

the glaffe worke, & the vndertakers now this three yeares neglected 
the fame, fo that yor petitioners are not able to fubfift, & fhalbe recef- 
fitated either wholely to leave it of, or to remove elfe where, for better 
accomodation of them felvs; wherefore theire humble request first 

John Southwick6; school master; lived in Salem; married Rebecca 
Alley of Lynn Oct. 19, 1796; died May 24, 1833; she died, his widow, 
Jan. 21, 1837; children: 1. James Alley,7 born March 28, 1799; died June 
2A t820; 2. -7 (son), born Dec. 22, 1801; died Dec. 22, 1801; 3. John 
A/Ly, born Oct. 25, 1802; 4. Lois Alley,7 born Oct. 30, 1804; married John 
Mansfield Ives; 5. Josiah Erastus,7 born Sept. 24, 1806; died at sea, un¬ 
married, on board ship Francis Sept. 1, 1835; 6. Rebecca H.7, born Nov. 
20, 1810; died April 24, 1812. 

John Alley Southwick1; cashier of the Mercantile Bank; married 
Elizabeth. Kinsman Oct. 17, 1826; died Aug. 18, 1831; she died Dec. 2, 
1831; children: 1. Mary Ann,8 born March 24, 1828; living in 1838; 2. 
Eliza Kinsman,8 born Sept. 30, 1829; living in 1838. 

JJohn Conclin married Elizabeth Allsaebrook Jan. 24, 1625-6, in Not¬ 
tinghamshire, England; removed to Southold, L. I., in 1650, and to Hunting- 
ton, L. I., about 1660; died Feb. 23, 1684; children: 1. John, born in 
Nottinghamshire about 1630; captain; representative; lived in Hashamo- 
mack; married Sarah (Horton), widow of William Salmon Dec. 2, 1657; 
TM April 6, 1694; had children; 2. Timothy; settled in Huntington about 
1662; had children; 3. Jacob, baptized Jan. 18, 1649-50; lived in Hashamo- 
mack; 4. Elizabeth, baptized Jan. 18, 1649-50; married -Wood. 

Massachusetts Archives, volume 59, page 21. 
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is vnto this Honoured Court, that they might be freed from theire 

ingagment vnto the former vndertakers & left free to joyne w,h fuch as 
will carry on the worke effectually, except the former-vndertakers will 

forthwth doe the fame, that So the worke wch they conceiue to be a 

publick good vfe for the Countrie may not fall to the ground. 

Upon this petition, the general court “conceive it very ex¬ 
pedient (in regard of the public interest) to grant the petition, 
provided that if any of the parties interested shall (upon timely 
notice) show cause” at the next general court. 

The glass house continued to stand as late as 1670, but the 
business was probably not revived. This tract of land was called 
“the glass house field” as late as 1735. Holmes left town in 1645, 
and the Conclins removed to Southold, L. I., in 1650. Mr. South- 
wick remained, being a yeoman. Even now much vitrified slag 
from the glass furnace is upon and in the soil near the wall which 
ran across the premises, as shown in the illustration, the photo¬ 
graph for which was taken about twenty-five years ago. Abbott 
Street is shown in the foreground. The glass house was situated 
above the wall; and in the low land was a pond. 

The house of Ananias Conclin was owned by Henry Rennalds 
as early as 1664, and apparently it was gone before 1689. The 
house of Obadiah Holmes was probably gone before 1702. The 
house of Lawrence Southwick stood on Main Street, opposite 
Washington Street. It was taken down in 1862. The house of 
John Conclin apparently came into the possession of Josiah South¬ 
wick before 1688. He died, possessed of it, in 1693, and it 
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descended to his son Solomon Southwick, who had removed to 
Rhode Island before Nov. 22, 1711, when he conveyed the house 
and land to Joseph Boyce.1 Twelve days later, Mr. Boyce con¬ 
veyed the land, but excepted “ye bricks of ye dwelling house.” 
This indicates that the house had been destroyed by fire or other¬ 
wise at that time. 

1Essex Registry of Deeds, book 24, leaf in. 



CHAPTER IV. 

ENLARGING THE MEETING HOUSE. 

T the quarterly court, in Salem, on Christmas day, 1638, 
a number of civil cases and some criminal matters 
were heard. Richard Graves and Peter Busgutt, a 
smith, were indicted for breach of the peace, and 
Graves was ordered to sit one hour in the stocks for 

beating Busgutt in his own house; Mathew Reade, servant to 
Mr. Charles Gott, was ordered to be severely whipped for drunk¬ 
enness on the Lord’s day, pilfering from his master, etc.; and 
Jane, wife of Joshua Verrin, was presented for absence from 
religious worship. Mr. Peter requested time to confer with 
her again. 

At a town meeting, held two days later, Matthew Prior1 was 
admitted an inhabitant and six acres of land was granted to him; 
Edward Ingram2 was granted six acres; Henry Cooke six acres; 
John Pickering’s man six acres; and John Hardy forty acres of 
upland and six acres of meadow next to the eastward of the land 
granted to William and Richard Dodge. 

Jan. 21, following, the town granted to Mathew Waller 
twenty acres of land in addition to his ten; Thomas Read twenty 
acres; Thomas Truslar one hundred acres; Abraham Temple 
five acres in addition to his five acres; John Robinson3 ten acres 
of planting ground; Nicholas Pacy a ten-acre lot; and to John 
Abbey five acres. At the same time, John Blackleech was granted 
fifty acres as an addition to his grant of three hundred acres,4 as 
fifty acres of his said former grant was rocky ground, and there- 

1 Matthew Prior removed to Long Island, and was of Brookhaven in 
1665. His daughter Sarah married, first, John Gould of Newport, and, 
second, Gov. Walter Clark. 

2Edward Ingram (Ingeram, Ingerum, Ingraham) came from London, 
in the Blessing, in 1635, at the age of eighteen. He was in Salem in 1640. 

8John Robinson died in 1653. 
4At Beverly Farms. 
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fore he had “an insufficient amount of ground to maintain a plow/’ 
the additional fifty acres being that which had been granted to 
Mr. Gott upon the plain, and was adjoining said three-hundred- 
acre grant. 

Edward Giles sold to Edward EEarnett1 about eight acres of 
land, and to end a dispute as to the acreage, being claimed to be 
four acres too little, the town granted to the purchaser six acres 
adjoining to John Borne’s ten-acre lot, Jan. 27, 1638-9. 

_ On the same day, Joseph Younge2 was admitted an in¬ 
habitant ; Sargeant Dixy requested the grant of some hay ground 
about Jefifry’s creek; and Edward Ingram was granted five or 
six acres of land at the ten-acre lots at the Great Cove. 

Feb. 4, 1638-9, the town granted thirty acres of land at the 
head of Bass River to William King; five acres each to Daniel 
Baxter3 and Henry Cook, twenty-five acres of land, lying between 
the lands of William Bennett and Samuel Archer, at Jeffry’s 
Creek, to Robert Allyn; a ten-acre lot lying between Mr. Down¬ 
ing s farm and Mr. Endecott’s, and a farm of two hundred acres, 
to Mr. Keniston; a ten-acre lot (formerly of Mr. Gardner, John 
Barber and Richard Bishop, which they resigned to the town) 
to George Ingersoll; eighty acres of land, next to the land of 
Mr. Fisk and Mr. Smith; thirty acres of land, near the farm of 
James Smith, to Samuel Eborne ; a ten-acre lot to Thomas James ; 
a ten-acre lot near Mr. Downing’s farm to Joseph Younge; five 
acres of land to Thomas Fryar;4 some land to George Curwen ; 
fifty acres of land to widow Vermais; and one hundred acres to 
John Friend. On this date, Henry Bayly requested a little nook 
of land next Mr. Conant’s house at Cat Cove, and was granted, 
eleven days later, about three quarters of an acre at Burley’s cove. 
Henry Swan requested “some accomodation for his settling 
together with admittance into the plantation,” and, a week later, 
was granted a ten-acre lot near the pond by Mr. Blackleech’s 
farm. 

Tdward Harnett was a tailor; had wife Priscilla; and removed from 
Salem in 1658. Edward Harnett, jr., probably their son, a tailor, removed 
from Salem in 1658; married Eunice, daughter of Jonathan Porter of 
Huntington, L. I., and had two children baptized in Salem: 1. Jonathan, 
Nov. 17, 1650; 2. Eunice, Sept. 3, 1654. 

/Joseph Young was a mariner and married and lived in Salem as late 
as 16^9. 

“Daniel Baxter was a seaman, and ‘'propounded” himself to become an 
inhabitant at a town meeting, July 16, 1638; was in Salem as late as 1653; 
wife Elizabeth; children: 1. Elizabeth, born Sept. —, 1644; probably 
married John Rogers Oct. 29, 1674; 2. Susanna, born Sept. —, 1646; mar¬ 
ried Isaac Hyde July 12, 1665; 3. Rebecca, born Jan. —, 1648-9; 4. Priscilla, 
b°rn^ June —, 1652; married Benjamin Wilkins June 3, 1677. 

4Thomas Fryer was a fisherman, and removed to Gloucester before 1642. 
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A week later (eleventh), the town granted to Lieutenant 
Davenport two acres of meadow, lying on the west side of Butt 
brook, not far from the place that the way goeth over to Lynn; 
to John Boren thirty acres of land; and to Thomas Payne forty 

acres. 
A week later (eighteenth), John Best1 was admitted an in¬ 

habitant and he requested accommodation of land; William 
Davis2 was admitted an inhabitant and granted ten acres of 
planting ground near Mr. Downing’s farm. The town granted 
to Ensign Reed a hill adjoining to his farm with the brook, the 
trees to be for the maintenance of the fence from the mill to the 
river that parts Mr. Endecott’s farm and the ten-acre lots. 

A week later (twenty-fifth), Esdras Read3 was received as 
an inhabitant, and the town granted 
to Edmond Marshall three acres of 
"round near the ten-acre lot of An- 
o 

anias Concline. 
The next day (twenty-sixth), at a general town meeting, it 

was agreed that dry cattle should be “put out to the farms round 
about and that none shall go with the milch cows in the common, 
this year" ; that every man “provide for their own calves this 
year" ; that the seven men provide and agree for the keeping of 
the milch kine; who are to be paid by the owners of the cattle. 

At this meeting, Mr. Hathorne, John Woodbury and Jeffry 
Massy were chosen deputies; Mr. Bishop was granted one hun¬ 
dred and fifty acres of land, forty of which were to be meadow; 
Henry Bartholmew was granted fifty acres, five of which were 
to be meadow; and William Cantlebury4 was received as in¬ 
habitant and granted a ten-acre lot. 

ENLARGING THE MEETING HOUSE. 

In 1638, the meeting house became insufficient to accom¬ 
modate within it the number of people who attended the 
religious services, and the last day of that year the town “Agreed 
that there should forthwith an addition to the meeting house be 
builded and that there should be a rate made and levied for the 

John Best was a currier; came in the Hercules in 1635, from Sand- 
Wlchi having lived in the parish of St. George, in the City of Canterbury. 

W llham Davis probably removed to Boston; and died in 1655. 

removedTn cm* JlvTd.in Jhe Wenham part of Salem; commissioner; 

abou«%£ PoTad-ah, 'born'Lu't'Lf “1 Bethiah* bor" 

T ,A,lll?m Cant.U*ury was, a yeoman; married Beatrice --• died June 

chMrt- ? TV ■ SKC°"dly: Francjs Plum«- Newbury Nov. 29, .665; 
?fi', •, '• P<*ecc;b b°™ about 1636; married Benjamin Woodrow tn 
.6^ John; living in ,663; 3. Ruth; married Thomas Small March 15, 
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payment thereof, the seven men to see it effected and to pay for 
it.” It was decided to enlarge the meeting house, by lengthening 
it twenty-five feet. The galleries were continued from the old 
part of the building, and new stairs led to them. In the new part 
was built a chimney, with a base twelve feet long, the top ex¬ 
tending four feet above the top of the building, and catted, that 
is, several small timbers, standing upon the top of the chimney 
met together at the upper end, probably for creating a draft 
through the interstices thus made. The back of it was made of 
brick or stone. The fireplace, which was constructed in the base 
of the chimney must have been about ten and a half feet in 
length, as the bier stood in it, at least in the season when a fire 
was not needed. This provision for the heating of the meeting 
house was very extraordinary, and shows that comfort was to be 
secured, if, possible, unlike most if not all the congregations of 
those times. The addition was lighted by two windows of glass 
on each side and two on the end. The new part was covered with 
one and one-half inch plank, with one inch board upon that to 
meet close, and underpinned. The walls were daubed. The 
cost of the addition was sixty-three pounds; and the builder was 
John Pickering. The following is a copy of the agreement with 
him for its construction :—1 

The agreenT betweene the towne & John Pickeringe the 4th day 
of the 12th moneth 1638. 

ffirft hee is to build a meeting howfe of 25 foote longe, the breadth 
of the old buildinge wth a gallerie anfwerable to the former; One 
Catted Chimney of 12 foote longe & 4 foote in height aboue the top 
of the buildinge. The back whereof is to be of brick or ftone. This 
building is to haue fix fufficient windowes. 2 on each fide & 2 at the 
end. & a pre of ftaires to afcend the galleries futeable to the former. 
This building is to be couered wth inch & halfe planck & inch board 
vpon. that to meete clofe: And all this to be fufficientlie finifhed wth 
daubinge & glasse & vnderpinninge wth ftone or brick wUl cariadge & 
all things neceffary by the laid John Pickeringe: In confideration 
whereof The laid John Pickering is to haue 63lb in money to be paid 
at 3 paymts. The firft payment 2ilb at the beginninge of the worke. 
The 2d payrn* 2ilb when the frame is reared. The 3d pavnfi is 2lb wch 
is to be paid at the finifhing of it. And it is agreed That if it be found 
by indifferent men that the faid John Pickeringe hath deferued 3Ib 
more Then the towne is to pay it him If it be found the faid John 
hath deferued 3lb leffe hee is to abate it: And the faid John Pickeringe 

1Of the first payment under this contract, twenty pounds was borrowed 
of John Humphrey and six pounds was paid by Thomas Gardner. July 8, 
*639, four pounds and five shillings, besides the first two payments, was 
paid. When the remainder was paid the records do not disclose. 

# A fac similie reproduction of this contract is in Essex Institute His¬ 
torical Collections, volume 27, at page 183. 
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dortli Couennt to finifh it by the I5<h <>ay of the 4 
enfuinsre the date hereof. - . . 
In witnes whereof both pties haue subfcribed heerevntc 

th moneth next 

/hereof both pties haue subfcribed heerevnto. 
Jo: Endecott 

Jo WOODBERY 

John Pickering Will Will Hathorne 

Lawrence Leach 

Roger Con ant. 

The town agreed with Nathaniel Porter, Nov. 12, 1638, to 
sweep the meeting house and ring the bell for fifty shillings per 
annum. Mr. Porter had the care of the meeting house in 1639; 
and John Horne also had it for a part of the year. Together they 
were paid six pounds and five shillings that year. Henry Birdsail 

uroc cpYfnn hpcnnninPr was the sexton beginning 
[, 1644, at the same 

paid to Nathaniel 
r, namely, three 

r_.Js and fifteen shillings. 
For ringing the bell for funerals he had three pence. Before 
164^, Edward Burcham became the sexton at the same pay. In 
1651, Benjamin Felton was chosen to succeed him at the same 
salary. Thomas Oliver was chosen in 1655-6, and the town 
voted that the bellringer should dig graves, his pay to be twelve 
pence for digging each grave. He resigned his position in 1661 ; 
and Henry West was engaged. The town then voted to pay five 
pounds for the service thereafter, with the addition of the shilling 
for digging graves, except from the middle of December to the 
middle of February, he should have what he should agree to with 
the interested parties, or they could get whom they could to per¬ 
form that service. West was there as late as 1667; the select¬ 
men chose Thomas Maule April 18, 1672, and his salary was 
fixed at six pounds. 

After being in use more than a score of years, the old bell 
was removed, and a new one was bought for eighteen pounds, in 
1657, and it was raised and hung at an expense of five pounds. 

’Henry Birdsail was made a freeman May 2, 1638; lived in Salem in 
1639 and 1649; and died in 1651. 



CHAPTER V. 

DEPARTURE OF HUGH PETER. 

PRIL 15, 1639, Francis Bushnell1 was admitted into 
the town as an inhabitant; John Bachelor and 
Thomas Weeks2 were admitted as inhabitants and 
they requested accommodation in land; Joseph Ked- 
gerer (Ketcherill) desired accommodation; Mr. 

Aherton wished accommodation near his son-in-law at Marble¬ 
head; Mr. Walton desired a grant of three acres of land at 
Marblehead to build upon; John Abby was granted five acres 
near Mr. Throgmorton’s3 hoghouse; Robert Baker was granted 
ten acres westward of Mr. Throgmorton’s hoghouse; and Mr. 
Fisk and Mr. Fogg were granted for this year the grass of 
the salt marsh at the side of the old planters’ fields. 

Two days later, the town granted to Fawrence Southwick 
half an acre of ground adjoining his other half acre, and Obadiah 
Hulme a spot of ground to build upon. At the same time, the 
seven men agreed with Austen Calum and William Browne to 
keep the goats this season for thirty-two pounds. Augustine 
Calem was goat keeper in 1640, also. “The goates are to be 
driven out an hower after the sun is up & brought in to the pen 
neere the pownd an hower afore sun settinge.” The pound was 

"Francis Bushnell was born in 1609, being brother of John Bushnell, 
who were sons of Francis (who died in 1646) and Rebecca Bushnell; car¬ 
penter; removed to Guilford, Conn., and thence to Norwalk, Conn.; married 
Mary -; died Dec. 4, 1681; children: I. Elizabeth; married William 
Johnson in 1651; 2. Sarah; married Joseph Ingram of Saybrook; 3. John, 
born in 1632; died in 1686; 4. -; married Jonathan Smith of Glaston¬ 
bury, Conn.; 5. Samuel; 6. Hannah; 7. Martha. 

"Thomas Weeks (Wickes), turner, was in Charlestown in 1636; wife 
Alice; children: 1. Bethiah, baptized Feb. 27, 1641-2; married John Archer; 
2. Hannah, baptized Jan. 5, 1644-5; married John Pickman Aug. 27, 1667. 

3John Throckmorton had a daughter Patience who married John 
Coggeshall Dec. —, 1655, and had a son John, who was of Providence, R. I. 
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about where the western gateway to Washington Square is, 
having been removed from town House Square to this site, where 

it existed as late as 1663. 
At the session of the general court, March 13, 1638-9, 

among those present were John Endecott and John Winthrop, 
jr. , and deputies, William Hauthorne, John Woodbury and 
Jeffery Massey. At this court, John Endecott and John Win¬ 
throp, jr., were ordered to administer the oath of freedom to 
Emanuel Downing at Salem. 

At the same court, the committee to settle the bounds be¬ 
tween Salem and Lynn, one of whom was John Woodbury, re¬ 
ported, and it was “ordered, that the bounds betwixt Salem and 
Linn shall begin at the cliffe by the sea where the water runs, 
as the way lyeth from Linn to Marble Head, and run upon a 
straight line to the long pond, by the ould path that goeth to 
Linn, at the south end thereof next to Linn, and the whole pond 
to be in Salem bounds; and from that pond to run upon a 
straight line to the iland in Mr. Humfreys pond, and from that 
hand to run upon a straight line to 6 great pine trees marked, 
called by those 6 men that layd out the bounds, the 6 Mens 
Bounds; and from those trees to run upon a straight line unto 
another little pine tree marked, by the side of a little hill beyond 
the trees, to run upon the same line, so farr as our bounds shall 
reach, into the countrey.” 

This is presumed to be the present line between Salem and 
Swampscott and Lynn and between Peabody and Lynn and 
L\nnbdd. Whcie the line was soon became a question, esoeci- 
ally as it cut into the territory of Salem, after grants of End 
bad been made, between Lynn Street, now in Peabody, and 
Ipswich River, and trouble about those grants arose. However, 
Parch 22 1657-8 the selectmen requested John Gardner’ 
William I-lint and Henry Skerry to perambulate the line from 
t ie sea to the great pond by the road towards Lvnn; and 
1 horn as Putnam Joseph Pope and John Putnam from'the pond 
to the seven men s bounds and so on, with Lynn men, April 15th 

r-7\lru?’ th£ selectmen appointed Major Hathorne, Mr. 
in wm, Wiliam I'lint and John Pickering to run the line from 

the sea to the long pond, and Thomas Putnam, Thomas Flint 
Nathaniel Putnam and Henry Bartholmew from the pond to the 
sc \ on mens bounds. Jan. 18, 1663, the selectmen appointed 

aptain Curwen, Lieutenant Putnam, William Flint and Henry 
Bartholmew to meet with some men from Lynn and perfect the 
bounds between the two towns from the sea to the pond bv 1 e 
way to Lynn. May 16, 1666, the selectmen appointed Henry 

*ai lolmew, Samuel Gardner and William Flint to meet with 
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SEVEN MEN’S BOUNDS. 

Lynn men the next second day of the next week to run the line 
and settle the bounds; but the line was not determined at that 
time, and the same committee, together with Capt. George Cor¬ 
win, was ordered, by the selectmen, Dec. 19, 1667, to meet with 
Lynn men before the first of March and settle the line. April 19, 
1669, ^le selectmen appointed John Corwine, John Pickering, 
Bartholmew Gedney, Henry Bartholmew, William Flint and 
Samuel Gardner “to meat our neibours of Lyne to goe in pembu- 
lacon in the bounds betweene them and us as also to setle the 
bounds or what concerneth the setlinge of the bounds there wh 
have been or at present is in diference.” April 24, 1673, by 
appointment of the selectmen the line which had been settled was 
perambulated by Lynn men and Bartholomew Gedney, John 
Pickering, Jonathan Corwin, Hilliard Verin, jr., John Price and 
Thomas Gardner. In their return , the line is described as 
running from the middle of Mr. Blano’s house to the noted 
spring and so to the tree at the farther end of the long pond, 
and they state that they renewed the bounds every twenty rods 
by adding to the heaps of stones which had been formerly made. 
The rest of the line, from this pond to Ipswich River, was still 
unsettled April 10, 1675, when the selectmen appointed Captain 
Curwine, Samuel Gardner, Captain Gardner, Lieutenant Put¬ 
nam and Philip Cromwell “to settle the line between us and 
Lynn from the country highway at ye upper end of ye Great pond 
from the bound tree there upon a direct line to a tree in the 
middle of the island in Mr. Humphry’s Pond and from thence to 
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the seven men’s bounds and so to the Great River.’ To run 
this line, the expense at the ordinary of Arthur Hewes was 
fifteen shillings and five pence. 

The final agreement, which fixed the line permanently de¬ 
scribed this northwesterly part of it as running from “the upper 
End of the longe ponde, to the iland in Mr. Humphrey’s ponde 
and from thence to the seven men’s bounds; and from the seven 
men’s bounds to a pine tree marked with six marks upon a Hill 
Northerlye from the said bounds and from thence to a small 
White Oake by the Side of Ipswich Riuer; about three or four 
score pole above the Saw mill against John Phelps his house the 
particuler bounds between the abovesaid head bounds are about 
twentye pole distant Each from other and are either a parcell of 
stones and a stake in the middle of them, or stones layde upon a 
Rock, or a stake driven downe and the Earth digged up aboute 
it.” This was done April 18, 1679, and the committee for Salem 
consisted of Samuel Gardner, sr., John Price, Bartholmew Ged- 
ney, John Higginson, John Pickering and John Hathorne. 

The general court appointed April 4th as a day of “humilia¬ 
tion, to seek the face of God, and reconciliation with him by our 
Lord Jesus Christ, in all the churches. Novelties, oppression, 
athism, excess, superfluity, idleness, contempt of authority, and 
troubles in other parts to be remembered.” 

I *y order of the same court, no town should send thereafter 
more than two deputies thereto; and that Salem should have two 
ban els of gunpowder for the supply of the militia here, and each 
tow n must see that there is a good supply of powder on 
hand. 

(( . ^ a ttmn meeting, May 15, 1639, John Pickering requested 
a farm at the south end of the long pond going to Lynn”; and 

was granted “fifty acres of land beyond the West pond lying 

MXt l°- R,m bounds\ A.ug- 8, 1639. At the meeting held 
j - ‘5’ !llomas Smith was granted eighty acres of land: 
Lawrence Leach’s two sons seventy acres of land, of which 
seven acres were to be meadow, they relinquishing their former 
grants ot twenty and thirty acres; Thomas Gardner a bank of 
upland near Strongwater brook, to his marsh, paying five shill- 
iiigs per acre as Goodman Lord had it; and William Hathorne 
aho 11 three acres of rocky ground, lying by his marsh for five 

of limcl ' ^ Rnight also desired accommodation 

At the general court, May 22, 1639, there were nreser 

Trask arnGviIlian' j°hn WinthroP> J''., and deputies Williar 

'siuied ”i,"e£,n .““Sr” 'r0'" S‘lem' <» 
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At the same courts retailers of wine were ordered not to 
allow it to be drank upon the premises; and Mr. Peter was de¬ 
sired to write to Holland for five hundred pounds worth of 
saltpetre and forty pounds worth of match. 

June 6, 1639, the general court appointed Emmanuel Down¬ 
ing and William Hauthorne of Salem to assist the magistrates 
in the Salem court; and it was ordered that one of the deputies 
in each town should post a note on the meeting house door, for 
creditors of the colony to demand their debts" of the constable 
within six weeks thereafter. Mr. Hugh Peters was granted five 
hundred acres of land, John Endecott, Escp, three hundred acres, 
Mr. William Hauthorne two hundred acres and Capt. William 
Trask two hundred acres, in regard of much service, and to Lt. 
Richard Davenport one hundred acres. Mr. Endecott, Mr. 
Downing and Mr. Hauthorne were ordered “to dispose of the 
house which Mr. Peters bought as they can, and return the 
money for the college.” 

There was “a very great drouth all over the country, both 
east and west, there being but little or no rain” from April 26 to 
June 10, 1639, so that corn began to wither, and the people 
feared that the crop would be entirely lost. The general court 
conferred with the elders, and agreed upon June 16th as “a day 
of humiliation in all our churches for the want of rain, and help 
of brethren in distress.” The very day after the fast was 
appointed there was a good shower, and within a week after the 
day of the fast was past, there was so much rain the corn revived 
and gave hope of a plentiful harvest. 

Governor Winthrop was in Salem June 25, 1639, when he and 
Col. John Endecott, Lt.-col. John Winthrop, jr., and John Hum¬ 
phrey, Esq., assisted by Mr. William Hathorne and two from 
Lynn presided over the quarterly court. It was a busy jury 
session. There were ten civil cases and a number of criminal and 
other matters. Hope, an Indian living with Hugh Peter, was 
sentenced to be whipped for running away and being drunk. 
The general court, July 30, 1640, censured her for running away 
and other misdemeanors, and ordered her to be whipped in 
Boston and at Marblehead. 

July 25, 1639, the town granted to Thomas Pickton1 a 
ten-acre lot; to Na¬ 
thaniel Pitman about 
twenty acres, lying next 
to widow Dix’s land on 

yvx 

Whomas Pickton (Picden, Pigden) ; planter; lived on Cape Ann Side, 
which was incorporated as Beverly in 1667; married Ann - as early as 
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the south side of Forest River; and to William Hathorne fifty 
acres of plowed land near or adjoining to his farm. At this 

meeting of the town, Henry \ 
Silsbury1, Mr. Sharp’s man, 
George Dill2, Samuel Edson3, CS / ^ 
Thomas Davenish1, Nicholas 

Patch, John Lovett5, Ed¬ 
mond Patch6 and John 
White7 were received as 
inhabitants; and George 

Dill and Samuel Edson were each granted a half acre house lot, 
Thomas Davenish ten acres of planting ground, Nicholas Patch 

1641; died in the autumn of 1677; she died, his widow, Dec. 25, 1863, aged 

about eighty-four. . . T • <„o • A 
‘Henry Silsby lived in Ipswich in 1647, and in Lynn in lo^o, married, 

first, Dorothy -; she died Sept. 27, 1676; married, second, Grace 
Easton Nov. 18, 1680; he died in 1700; children: 1. Henry; 2. John; 
3. Ephraim; 4. Samuel; 5- Hannah; married Thomas Laighton; 6. , 
married- Marsh; 7. -; married - Collins. 

2George Dill was fined forty shillings for “drunkenes, & to stand att 
the meeting hous doar next Lecture day, wth a Clefte stick upon his ^Tong, 
& a papfer] vpon his hatt subscribed for gross prmeditated Lyinge.” He 
was of Watertown in 1671. 

3Samuel Edson was living in Salem in 1655; removed to Bridgewater; 
deacon; representative; married Susanna -; died July 9, 1692, aged 
eighty; she died Feb. 20, 1699-1700; children: 1. Samuel; married Susanna 
Byram; 2. Joseph; 3. Josiah; 4. Susanna; married Rev. James Keith; 
5. Elizabeth; married Richard Phillips of Weymouth; 6. Mary; married 
Nicholas Byram in 1676; 7. Sarah; married John Dean of Taunton Nov. 7, 
1663; 8. Bethiah; married Ezra Dean Dec. 17, 1678. 

‘Thomas Davenish was living in Salem in 1643. He had baptized in 
Salem daughters Mary, July 13, 1641, and Bethiah, Nov. 30, 1643. 

5John Lovett,1 born about 1610; servant of Daniel Rea; cooper; 
lived at Mackerel Cove in 1641; wife Mary; died Nov. 5, 1686; children: 
1. John? born about 1637; 2. Joseph,2 baptized Sept. 8, 1650; lived in Bev¬ 
erly; married Elizabeth Solart of Wenham; had children; 3. Mary,2 bap¬ 
tized Sept. 8, 1650; 4. Simon,2 baptized Sept. 8, 1650; 5. Bethiah,2 baptized 
June 13, 1652; 6. Abigail, baptized March —, 1655; died May 27, 1659. 

John Lovett"; husbandman; lived in Beverly; married Bethiah 
Rootes; died Sept. 10, 1727, aged ninety-one; children: 1. Simon,3 born 
about 1659; lived in Beverly; married Agnes Swetland Oct. 10, 1682; died 
Feb. 2, 1744; had children; 2. John,3 born about 1665; lived in Beverly; 
married Mary Pride March 5, 1694-5; died April —, 1750; had children; 
3. Susanna,3 baptized May 31, 1668; 4. Josiah,3 baptized April 25, 1669; 
5. 1 homas,3 born Sept. 25, 1671; 6. Samuel,3 baptized April 25, 1675; 
7. Benjamin,3 born in 1678; 8. Bethiah,3 baptized June 4, 1682. 

' Edmond Patch, brother of Nicholas Patch, lived in the Wenham part 
of Salem, and removed to Ipswich about 1660; husbandman; died in 
Ipswich Nov. 10, 1680; child: 1. Abraham, baptized in Salem Aug. 5, 1649; 
mat i n d Eunice hraile March 13, 1670; died in 16741 had children. 

in the 
Cove, 
small 
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forty acres of land near Mackerel Cove and John White sixty 
acres near Mr. Smith’s farm. 

A memorandum of the general court, made Sept. 6, T638, 
reads “To remember to barke the second month for the tanning 
of diverse hides to come.” This is the earliest reference to tan¬ 
ning here; and in observance of the note, as soon as the sap 
began to run in April and May certain kinds of trees were fe'led 
and stripped of their bark for this purpose. Oct. 7, 1640, the 
general court ordered that hides and skins of animals, whether 
secured by casualty or slaughter, should be preserved and dried, 
and tanned and dressed. Thomas Eaborne1 was a tanner in 1641, 
and may have been the first tanner in the town. He was living 
in Salem, and was called an aged man in 1642. He died in the 
spring of 1643. Philemon Dickinson2, a tanner, appeared in 
Salem Feb. 11, 1638-9, and requested some land. He was 
granted twenty acres. July 25th following, the town granted to 
him four pole of land near Richard Hutchinson’s house, for the 
purpose of making tan pits therein and “to dresse goates skines 
& hides.” He was only to use this land for his trade. The site 
of this tannery was probably on Beaver brook, near Whipple’s 
bridge, on Maple Street, in Danvers, as Richard Hutchinson’s 
house stood in the middle of Maple Street about two hundred 
feet westerly of the bridge, and near the junction of Vineyard and 
Maple streets. 

Aug. 8, 1639, the town granted to William Fisk one hundred 
acres of upland and ten acres of meadow; and eleven days later 
to Ananias Concline one acre of land near his dwelling house; 

house on the westerly side of Standley Street; died in November, 1673; 
children: 1. John2; 2. Thomas2 born in 1638. 

John Patch2; lived in Beverly; married Elizabeth Brackenbury; died 
in 1694; she died, his widow, Jan. 15, 1715-6, aged eighty-four; children: 
1. John,3 baptized Dec. 1, 1667; 2. Richard,3 baptized Dec. 1, 1667; yeoman; 
lived in Beverly; married Maria Goldsmith Feb. 8, 1672-3; had children; 
3. Elizabeth,3 baptized Dec. 1, 1667; married Jonathan Boiles Nov. 15, 1674; 
4. Nicholas,3 baptized July 12, 1668; 5. Sarah,3 baptized July 12, 1668; 
6. Benjamin.3 baptized Sept. 4, 1670. Serg. Thomas Patch2; lived in 
Beverly and Wenham; married Mary Lovett; died Feb. 19, 1721-2; she 
died Sept. 26, 1723; children: 1. Sarah,3 born Dec. 8, 1666; 2. William,8 
baptized July 19, 1668; 3. Thomas,3 baptized July 19, 1668; 4. Mary,3 born 
Feb. 3, 1669-70; 5. Thomas,3 born July 19, 1674; 6. James,3 born March 31, 
1678; 7. Stephen,3 born April 12, 1680. 

Galena Quarterly Court Records, volume I, page 34. 
2Philemon Dickinson came with Benjamin Cooper of Brampton, Suffolk- 

shire, England, as a servant, having embarked May 10, 1637, in the Mary 
Ann of Yarmouth; married Mary Payne; removed to Southold, L. I., 
about 1650; died in 1672, probably in New York; children: 1. Mary, bap¬ 
tized March 20, 1642-3; 2. Thomas, baptized March 10, 1644-5 5 3- Elizabeth, 
baptized- 12, 1646; 4. Peter, baptized July 9, 1648. 
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to Edmond Giles eight poles of ground, lying in the common 
over against his ten-acre lot, “to build him a howse there,”; and 
to Mr. Peters the marsh lying over against his now dwelling 
house, “on the other side of the water/’ containing an acre and 
a half1. 

In the general court, held at Boston, Sept. 3, 1639, John 
Kempe, for immoral practices with three young girls, was cen¬ 
sured to be severely whipped at Roxbury and Salem and com¬ 
mitted as a slave to Lieutenant Davenport. On the ninth, the 
court passed an order prohibiting the drinking of healths, as it 
was a useless ceremony and productive of drunkenness, quarrels 
and bloodshed. Wearing of lace and similar superfluities having 
become excessive, nourishing pride and exhausting estates, was 
prohibited, and no person could thereafter sell or buy the same, 
no tailor could put them in or on garments, nor any one could 
engage in making them, except for transportation. Neither 
could garments be made with short sleeves, unless they should be 
worn with linen or some equivalent to cover the arms from the 
sleeves to the wrists. Neither could immoderately g'reat sleeves 
be made, as also great breeches, knots of ribbon, "broad shoulder 
bands, rails, silk laces, double ruffs, cuffs, etc. The court de¬ 
clared its wish to proceed against church members for breaches 
of these orders until the churches had a chance to correct the 
abuses among themselves. 

At this sitting of the court, the system of publication of the 
banns or notices of intended marriages was originated by an 
onlei that they should be published three times at the time of 
some public lecture or town meeting, in each town where the 
paities live, and in the towns where no lectures are, the notice 
<>t such intention was ordered to be in writing and put upon 
a post, set up by such town, standing in public view and 
used lor such purposes only, and remain there, so as to be easily 
read, for fourteen days. So the act of “posting” notices appar- 
ently arose from the fact that they must be put upon a post 
sptaalK erected for the purpose. It was also ordered that the 
ewdctice and decisions of the courts should be in writing- ‘‘to be 
kept to posterity.” Also, records of wills, administrations and 
inventories, all houses and lands, and the days of marriage birth 
ami death of every person within the colony.' These ordePs of the 
co ony were all made for the benefit of posterity • and hey b - 

T1, f ',TreaS,,’S 7 aV|,reciablt as tlle generations have passed 

ha/e ^accumidaterf N " gre-at mass of documents^ 
1 accumulated under such beneficent provisions. The tliou- 

2A large portion of this lot of marsh 
is now included in Dodge Street. 
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sands of ancient wills, deeds and inventories are preserved with 
great care. The evidence used in the courts was written, and 
thousands of original depositions of inestimable value, which 
principally show the times and environment under which the 
early settlers lived, are on file in the office of the clerk of courts. 
The ultra democratic idea is manifest in the order that the 
birth, marriage and death of every person within the colony shall 
be recorded. Rich and poor, learned and ignorant, regardless of 
race or quality, were made equal under such laws. 

On the same day, the court granted to Emmanuel Downing 
six hundred acres of land; and “The house at Salem which was 
belonging to the country is left to Salem for £100.” 

On the same day, in the general court, Marmaduke Peirce 
was accused of suspicion of murder; but the proof not being 
clear, the matter was referred to the next court of assistants, 
Dec. 3, 1639, when the jury, being in doubt as to the cause of the 
death of the deceased, found the defendant not guilty, and he 
was released. Winthrop called him Marmaduke Perry of Salem, 
and said that he was arraigned for the death of his apprentice. 
Pie said that the “boy was ill disposed, and his master gave him 
unreasonable correction, and used him ill in his diet.” The boy 
received a bruise on his head, which upon dissection after his 
death appeared to be a fracture of the skull. The boy had said 
that his master had given him the wound with his meat yard 
and a broom staff, and to another that his hurt came with the 
fall of a bough from a tree. 

Sept. 16, 1639, the town received as an inhabitant John 
Mousar, who desired the grant of some land to plant, and also 
received as an inhabitant Mathew Nixon1, who was a fisherman 
and about twenty-three years of age. 

At the general court, Nov. 5, 1639, it was ordered that all 
persons who were disarmed, remaining amongst us, carrying 
themselves peacefully, shall have their arms restored to 
them.2 

At this time, there was a scarcity of fit places of entertain¬ 
ment of people upon occasion of great assemblies and on the 
arrival of ships with passengers, and the general court ordered, 
Nov. 5, 1639, that at such times any person may entertain and 
lodge and board such people. It was also ordered that each 

1Matthew Nixon lived in what is now Webb Street, on the north side 
of Allen Street; and married Elizabeth, 
daughter of Henry Harwood’s wife Eliz¬ 
abeth, in or before 1640. She died in or 
before 1671; and he was living in 1680. 

Tee volume I, page 447. 
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town should have liberty to choose a fit man to sell wine, subject 
to license from the general court; and also those persons who 
conduct common ordinaries or inns should provide stables and hay 
for horses and enclosures for pasturing.1 

At this court, all main highways were ordered to be re¬ 
located forthwith by men from adjoining towns, where they may 
be most convenient, notwithstanding any mans propriety, or any 
corn ground, so as it occasion not the pulling down of any man’s 
house, or laying open any garden, or orchard; and in common 
grounds, or where the soil is wet or mirey, they should lay out 
the ways wider, as six, eight, or ten rods, or more, in common 
grounds. 

At the same court, it was further ordered that each town 
should appoint or provide a house to which lost goods, whose 
owner is unknown, should be brought, and the person appointed 
to receive them was ordered to deliver a note of them to the 
marshall, who should cause them to be proclaimed in Boston, that 
the owner may claim them. In Salem, Ralph Fogg was appointed. 

Nov. 18, 1639, the town received Richard Prince2 as an in¬ 
habitant ; a grant of five 
acres of land to plant - /? (A • 
was requested by Rob- ( 
ert. Fuller; Mr. Fiske — O 
desired an addition of fifty acres to his farm; widow King 
accommodation of land; and Thomas Weeks, a grant of a ten- 
<u 1 c lot heie or twenty acres at the village; John Shiple}^ was 
granted “wood for firing and fencing in the highway that shalbe 
layd out adjoyning to his 20 acre lott”; and Mathew Nicks, fish¬ 
erman, was granted five acres of land “by the hogstyes in the 

See page 184 for the Ship Tavern pasture. 
-Dea. Richard Prince1; born about 1614; tailor; lived at 13 Daniels 

Streety married Mary-; died July 1675; children: 1. John,2 bap- H d Fe A Z7 aiea juiy—1075; children: 1. John,2 bap- 

Sem fn i^’ T died’ ur,marned- before 1675; 2. Joseph,2 baptized 
YoPril 26 l6&dled N?Ti T: 1677; Probably unmarried; 3. Mary,2 baptized 
itKi “ pfi8’ /™krn5d ?\eFheij Damej1; 4. Samuel/ baptized Mav t8, 

Rlchard> baptized March 18, 1655; 6. Jonathan,2 baptized March 

Sffi SJunaeT4,^ .b°2th £y» bapfized 

jmstanw *, is .k;sd r;' - 

nil Hmnn Le„, of fcSkfS 'i,€d ” 
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forrest next to Ezekiell Knights ten acre Lott.” At this meet¬ 
ing, was the first appearance of Robert Fuller.1 

Nov. 20, 1639, the town granted to Richard Bishop about an 

acre and a half of land by his other five acres, adjoining Austin 

Killam’s lot; widow Moore requested the grant of a farm and 

Richard Moore half-an-acre on the Neck; James Standish was 

granted forty acres of land near Jeffry Creeke; John Pickworth 

was granted three or four acres of meadow to the land formerly 

granted to him; Charles Glover2 was granted an acre of ground 

for a house lot near Mr. Ruck’s, provided the ways are left broad 

and also provided that he resign up his houselot to the town; 

Thomas Buxton and William Broock were admitted as inhabi¬ 

tants; John Batcheler was granted twenty acres of ground near 

that which was formerly granted to Mr. Bishop (“Truslar”) ; 

and Joshua Holgrave was granted forty acres. 

Thursday, Nov. 28, 1639, was observed as Thanksgiving- 

Day, ‘'through the churches,” according to the appointment of 
the general court. 

Dec. 3, 1639, the general court fined the town of Salem for 

not keeping constant watch during the preceding summer, ten 
shillings. 

Dec. 9, 1639, the town granted to Henry Bartholmew one 

hundred acres of land, of which ten acres should be meadow ; to 

James Molton eighty acres, of which eight acres were to be 

meadow; and to Lawrence Leach ten acres of meadow. William 

Geare3 requested to become an inhabitant and be granted accom- 

Dea. Richard Prince3; mariner and cordwainer; married Mary West 
Nov. 12, 1702; she died about 1750; he died about 1753; children: 1. Sarah,4 
baptized Jan. 2, 1703-4; married John Mascoll; 2. Joseph,4 baptized Sept. 2, 
1705; married (?) Hannah Silsbee (published June 29, 1729) ; 3. Richard,4 
baptized April 11, 1708; joiner; married widow Sarah Glover Feb. 3, 
1750-1; 4. John,4 baptized Feb. 24, 1711-2; blacksmith; lived in Marble¬ 
head (?); married Hannah Frost Jan. 23, 1734-5; 5- Elizabeth,4 baptized 
Dec. 2, 1716; unmarried in 1753. 

Tobert Fuller, bricklayer, removed to Rehoboth about 1650, and re¬ 
turned about 1678; married, first, Sarah-, who was buried at Rehoboth 
Oct. 14, 1676; married, second, Margaret, widow of Christopher Waller 
about 1678; she died in January, 1700; he died May 10, 1706. Mr. Fuller 
had sons Jonathan and Benjamin. 

2Charles Glover arrived at Boston Sept. 16, 1632; having come on the 
Lion; shipwright; removed to Gloucester about 1646; married, first, 
Elizabeth -; she died March 6, 1647-8; married, second, widow Esther 
Saunders Feb. 12, 1649-50; children: 1. Elizabeth, baptized May 13, 1640; 
2. Mary, baptized April 24, 1642. 

3William Geare lived in the Wenham part of Salem; married Tryphena 
——; died Oct. 17, 1672; she lived in Wenham, his widow, in 1676; 
children: 1. Ephraim; died Oct. 15, 1658 (?); 2. Samuel, baptized March 
14, 1641; 3. Mary, baptized May 14, 1643; 4. John, baptized June 23, 1644; 
and probably Deborah and Tryphena. 
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modation of land; and Joseph Boys1 made requests for similar 

accommodations. 
Two days later, at a general town meeting, there was a 

voluntary town contribution toward the maintenance of the 

ministry, to be paid quarterly, of which the deacons had charge. 

The town also granted to John Mowser four acres of land near 

the old cowhouses at the head of South River. 

Dec. 23, 1639, Robert Gutch2 was received by the town as an 

inhabitant, although he was granted land here Jan. 1, 1637-8. 

'Joseph Boyce,1 born about 1609, lived in that part of Salem which is 
now Peabody; tanner; Quaker; married Ellenor -; died in the winter 
of 1694-5; children: 1. Mary2; married Josiah Southwick; 2. Esther,2 
baptized Feb. 21, 1640-1; married Daniel Southwick; 3. Elizabeth,2 bap¬ 
tized March 6, 1641-2; married - Hanson; 4. Joseph,2 baptized March 
31, 1644-5; 5. Benjamin,2 baptized May 16, 1647; probably died before 1684. 

Joseph Boyce2; tanner; lived on his father’s homestead; married Sarah 
Meachum Feb. 4, 1667-8; died between 1709 and 1722; she survived him; 
children: 1. Sarah;' born Dec. 4, 1668; 2. Joseph/ born about 1672; 3. 
Benjamin3; 4. Jonathan3; 5. David3; 6. Esther3; married Ezekiel Gold- 
thwaite. 

Joseph Boyce3; tanner and miller; lived on his father’s homestead; 
married Rebecca (Trask), widow of Samuel Potter about 1695; died in 
1723; she married, third, Benjamin Very; children: 1. Mary,4 born Feb. 
T5, 1695-6; 2. Rebecca,4 born March 31, 1697; probably died young; 3. 
Joseph, born Dec. 29, 1699; tanner, sadler, mariner and innholder; removed 
to Bakemans Precinct, Dutchess County, N. Y., about 1754; married 
C ontent Lindsey ; 4. Abigail4; married John Richards ; 5. John4; 6. Samuel,4 
born about 1713; lived in Danvers; laborer; married Eunice Goodale Oct. 
15, t740; 7. Nicholas,4 born about 1714; living in 1730. Benjamin Boyce3; 

luller and cordwainer; removed to Mendon in 1725; married, first, Mary 
Allen of Lynn Oct. 20, 1699; she died; married, second, Susanna - be¬ 
fore 1709; .she was Ins wife in 1725; children: 1. Mary,4 born April 10, 
i/Or; married Nathan Gaskill; 2. Isaac,4 born Oct. 15, 1704; 3. Sarah,4 
born Jan. 10. 1705-6. Jonathan Boyce3; yeoman and stone cutter; lived 
m the Danvers part of Salem; married, first, Patience Gaskill May 28, 
1/08; second Abigad —— before 1723; she was his wife in 1758; he died 
m i/67; children: 1 Ebenezer ; yeoman and millstone maker; lived in 
Danvers; married Rebecca-; died in 1784; had children ; 2. Jonathan4; 
mrriTT1 >7ed m Danvers; died in 1803; had children; 3. Patience*; 
[V:' ; Samuel Osborne; 4. Lydia; married - Dwoifiell. David 

Danvers narLnf^P 'VC< Pj" unt'' I735’ when I,e removed to the 
mT) keroTl LSr wkm,arr'P’ Pst> Anna Alley (published March 29, 
' ,u 'i . ’ S ;lh n:'nd?ey). Widow of - Smith (published Jan. 29, 

I n >. ht T‘s "s w,f<: 1,1 1756; he lived in Danvers in 1761- child- 
.Hid husbandman; lived in Lynn and removed to Salem in 171s ■ 

hiPwife fn‘i;™.6 (Da,and)* wW°W of Rob-‘ Neal SeptNoTTyZ; she^li 

1727(8 •' chUdrerf-' Gobi/™' "T"" : marr'ed Elizabeth Osborne Jan. 18, 

married MaVnowanit LTd^'’ . ‘-o ' 2 Lur ‘".'754: probably 

unmanJed;1 in" 17544’ 3' EU'zabeth‘>' «r:' lived’‘in^iitfifi^' r‘T 

sister'^ came ™ 
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He lived on the easterly side of Central Street, near Essex 

Street. The town also granted to Richard Ingersoll twenty 

acres in the great meadow; to John Fairfield1 eighty acres of 

land for a farm, of which ten acres were meadow; to Richard 

Prince thirty acres of land, of which four acres were to be 

meadow, to Richard Leech four acres of land, lying next to 

John Leech’s ten-acre lot; to Robert Adams three and a quarter 

acres near to John Cooke; to William Barbar2 two acres to 

plant in, probably in Marblehead; to Abraham Whiteare two 

acres of land to plant in and a quarter of an acre for a houselot, 

probably in Marblehead; to John Fisk, as an addition to his 

former grant, thirty acres of ground, of which four acres were 

to be meadow, to Joseph Batchelor and I homas Browning 

twenty acres of land near his former grant and two acres of 

meadow, to John Endecott tne swamp that runneth on the line 

of his farm, next to Goodman Chickerings and of the other 

side to the land, that is laid out in small lots, sometime Mr. 

Batter’s; to William Geere twenty acres of land; to Allyn Con- 

vers3 forty acres of land, four of which were meadow; to John 

Woodbury, John Balch and Mr. Conant five acres of meadow 

each.; to Lawrence Leech fifteen acres more of meadow; and to 

William Stephens thirty acres of land on the forest side, if he 

stay at Marblehead, and fifty acres in Salem if he should remove 

thither. Mr. Stephens did not afterward live in the town of 

Salem, but, m 1642, removed to Gloucester, where he remained 

during the remainder of his life. He was a famous ship builder 

on. both sides of the Atlantic, being widely known for his honesty, 
skill and faithfulness. 

as his sclent, removed to the East, beyond Casco, about 1657; married 
Lydia Holgrave ( ?) ; children : 1. John, baptized Oct. 3, 1641; 2. Patience, 
baptized May 28, 1643; 3- Lydia, baptized April 6, 1645; 4- Magdalen, bap¬ 
tized Jan 7, 1646-7; 5. Elizabeth, baptized Nov. 19, 1648; 6. Deborah, 
baptized May 16, 1652; 7. Sara, baptized June 4, 1654. 

John Fairfield was of Charlestown in 1638; married Elizabeth -; 
died m 1647; she married, second, Peter Palfrey; had “nephew” Mathew 
Edwards; children: 1. Walter, born in 1633; lived -in Wenham; wife 

i'll J she Tied Dec' H10; he died July 20, 1723, aged ninety-one; had 
cuklren 2. John, baptized June 28, 1641; lived in Ipswich; married Sarah 
Ueare March 26, 1666; died in 1672; she married, secondly, Daniel Killam 
/xpr-il 13, 1673; had children; 3. Benjamin, born about 1646; died Sept. 
14, 1668. 

William Barber lived in Marblehead and had a wife in 1652. 

,. a Con vers married Elizabeth-; removed to Woburn in 1643; 
died April 19, 1679; she died three days later; children: 1. Zachary, born 

ct 11, 1642; 2. Elizabeth, born March 7, 1645; 3. Sarah, born July 11, 
JM7 5 4- Joseph, born May 31, 1649; 5. Mary, born Sept. 26, 1651; 6. 
ineophilus, born Sept. 21, 1652; 7. Samuel, born Sept. 22, 1653; 8- Mary, 
born Nov. 26, 1655; 9. Hannah, born March 13, 1660. 
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Charles Turner1 and John Marston2 were in Salem as 

early as 1639. 
At the quarterly court in 

Salem, Dec. 31, 1639, Abram 
Whiteire and John Legg (both of ocr 

Marblehead) were bound for the good behavior of their wives; 
and Robert Scott was bound to good behavior. There were two 
civil cases against Micha Iver for slander, one for calling George 
Dill “drunken slave, and that he would mark him for an old 
rogue,” and for saying that Thomas Tuck was drunk. Thomas 
Sams was sentenced to sit in the stocks one hour for speaking to 
the maid servant of Emmanuel Downing “without her master’s 
or mistress’ consent,” for coming unseasonably on Lord’s day 

Teb. 1, 1641-2, in the local court, for scurrilous speeches and tippling, 
Charles Turner was fined, ordered to be whipped and to stand in the meeting 
house with a paper on his head written “a false accuser.” The town granted 
to him, March 27, 1643, a small piece of ground “over against Tuck’s,” for 
him to set a house on. He died before December 27th following, leaving 
his widow Rachel. 

"John Marston1 came from Ormsby, Norfolkshire, England, says 
Savage, and was born in 1615; carpenter; wife Alice, 1641-1673; he died 
Dec. 19, 1681; children: 1. /0/m,2 born Aug. 29, 1641; 2. Ephraim,2 born 
Oct. 30, 1643; living in 1677; 3. Manassch,2 baptized Sept. 7, 1645; 4. 
Sarah,2 baptized March 19, 1648-9; married Samuel Pickworth Nov. 3, 
1667; 5. Benjamin,2 baptized March 9, 1651-2; 6. Hannah,2 baptized April 
17, 1653; probably died young; 7. Thomas,2 baptized Feb. 11, 1654-5; died 
young; 8. Elizabeth,2 baptized Aug. 30, 1657; died young; 9. Abigail,2 born 
Feb. 19, 1658-9; living in 1682; 10. Mary,2 born March 23, 1661; died 
young. 

Dea. John Marston"; house carpenter; married, first, Mary Chichester 
Sept. 5, 1664; she died May 25, 1686; he married, second, Mary Turner 
Sept. 15, 1686; they were both living in 1725; children: 1. John,8 born 
July 26, 1666; died Aug. —,1666; 2. John? born Sept. 2, 1667; 3. Mary,8 
born Jan. 14, 1669-70; married Stephen Daniel Jan. 1, 1692-3; 4. James,3 
born Nov. 28, 1672; 5. Sarah,3 born Oct. 8, 1675; 6. Manasseh,3 born Dec. 
25, 1677; married Mary Henfield April 10, 1701; she was his wife in 1722, 
after he “was conveyed to Pennsylvania”; 7. Ruth,3 baptized March 14, 
ib97; probably married Benjamin Phippen Nov. 1, 1715. Capt. Manasseh 
Marston ; anchor smith and master mariner: married Merrv Pearce Ano- 
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and in nights, and for being “contracted” without the consent of 

her master or mistress. Thomas Tuck and Micha Ivers1 were to 

stand at the meeting house door with papers upon their hats 

inscribed “for lying,” and without cleft sticks on their tongues. 

“If any of the town shall know any person that shall live out 

of a particular calling shall inform the grandjury that they may 
proceed against them.5,2 

DEPARTURE OF HUGH PETER 

As soon as Rev. Hugh Peter reached New England, he 

went from place to place to infuse interest in the fisheries and 

raised a considerable sum of money here. He wrote to England 

to raise as much more. Winthrop called him ua man of a very 
public spirit & singular activity for all occasions.” 

May i(h6, in a sermon Mr. Peter preached at Boston he 
requested the church to take order for the employment of 

people especially women and children, in the winter time; for he 

John Marston ; married Susanna --; and she was his widow 
m 1725; children: 1. Sarah4; married Daniel Cheever Dec. 6, 1722- 

2 Margaret ; married John Chapel July 18, 1726, in Marblehead’. 
UOL. UrNjAMm Marston ; judge; married, first, Mehitable Gibbs, 
daughter of Rev. Henry Gibbs of Watertown; she died Aug. 21 1727 aged 
twenty-one; married, second, Elizabeth Winslow of Marshfield Nov % 
1729; he died at Manchester May 22, 1754; and his widow, “Madam 
Marston, died Sept. 20, 1761; children: 1. Benjamin,4 born Sept. 22, 1730; 

probably married Sarah Swett in Marblehead Nov. 13, 1755; 2. Elizabeth,4 
born March 4, 1731-2; married William Watson of Plymouth Sept 22 
17563- Patience, born Jan. 2, 1733-4 5 married Elhanah Watson of Ply¬ 
mouth Nov. 7,. 1754, in Manchester; .4. Sarah,4 born March 19, 1735; 5. 

Penelope, baptized July 1, 1739! died young; 6. John,4 baptized in Marble¬ 
head May 29,^1740; died April 25, 1761; 7- Penelope,4 baptized Aug. 1, 
1742,. 8. Lucy, baptized in Marblehead Sept. 9, 17441 died young; 9. Lucy,4 
born in Manchester Feb. 4, 1748; 10. Winslow,4 born Oct. 3, 1749, in Man¬ 
chester; died Sept. 6, 1755. John Marston3; married Mary (Mercy) Flint 
beb. 1, 1727-8; they were living in 1747; children: 1. John,4 baptized Aug. 
15, 1742; married Miriam-; died in Marblehead Feb. 8, 1821; she 
died there April 24, 1821; 2. Benjamin,4 baptized Aug. 15, 1742; 3. Joseph,4 
baptized Aug. 15, 1742; 4. Zachariah,4 baptized Aug. 15, 1742; married 
Elizabeth Henderson May 23, 1754; 5. Thomas,4 baptized Nov. 22, 1747; 
married Elizabeth Luscomb June 18, 1764; 6. Jeffs,4 baptized Nov. 22, 
J747- 

JEFFS (Jephah) Marston4; married Sarah Blaney July 20, 1769, in 
Marblehead; she died there, his widow, Sept. 30, 1821; children: 1. Mercy,5 
baptized Feb. 4, 1770; in Marblehead; died young; 2. Mercy,5 baptized Oct. 
T3, I77J, in Marblehead; 3. Sarah,5 baptized Dec. 5, 1773; 4. Jeffs,5 bap- 
tized Dec. 10, 1775; 5. -,5 baptized Dec. 7, 1777; 6. Bethiah,5 baptized 

AUgiTv5- ,17^0’ *n ^akm; 7- Ruth,5 baptized. Aug. 13, 1782, in Marblehead. 
kLckci Ivers placed, as security, his lot in the cove near Mr. Holgrave’s, 

by Dixies, also one-half of an acre of land upon the Neck toward Winter 
Llarbor that he bought of George Dill. 

2Salem quarterly court records (Waste book), Jan. 1, 1639. 
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feared that idleness would be the ruin both of church and com- 

monwealth.' , . , 
Airs Peter died in 1637; and lie married, secondly, Mrs. De¬ 

liverance Sheffield in 1639. He was somewhat troubled m his 

courtship of Airs. Sheffield, being doubtful of her desire for 

the marriage to take place. He was not and had not been well 

for a lone time, and this probably caused him to become pessi¬ 

mistic He wrote, in 1636: "God’s hand hath bin and is upon 

mee more and more in the weakness of my body, which declynes 

davly”; and, in 1638, "My head is not well, nor any part at 

present for I cannot get sleepe. Mr. Endecott wrote from 

Salem to Governor \\ inthrop that Air. Peters illness onely 

detayned mee for he hath bene very ill. But I hope the worst is 

past though hee be as sick in his thoughts as ever. 
P,y appointment of the general court, a fast was held in the 

several churches, Thursday, April 12, 1638, as a day of humilia¬ 

tion "to intreat the help of God in the weighty matters which 

are in hand, and to divert any evil plots2 which may be intended, 

and to prepare the way of friends which wee hope may be upon 

coming to us 
C)n the evening of the day of the fast, Mr. Peter received a 

letter from Mrs. Sheffield which seemed to substantiate his fore¬ 

boding of the lessening of her affection for him. The next day, 

John Endecott wrote to Governor Winthrop as follows:— 

I cannot but acquaint you with my thoughts concerning Mr. Peter, 

since hee receaued a letter from Airs. Sheffield, which was yesterday 

in the eveninge after the fast; shee seeming in her letter to abate of 
her affeccions towards him, and dislikinge to come to Salem vppon 

such terms as hee had written. I finde that shee begins now to play 

her parte, and if I mistake not, you will see him as greatly in loue with 
her (if shee will hold a little) as euer shee was with him; but hee 

conceals it what hee can as yett. The begininge of the next weeke you 
will heare further from him.3 

Air. Peter wrote to Governor Winthrop on the same day 
as Air. Endecott, as follows:— 

To the noble Gouernour in Boston; 

Hon. Sir.— I much thanke you for yours, and together am sorry 
for the sickness of our frends. I am still troublesome to you. I haue 

’Winthrop’s Journal. 
1 his fast was held “for diverse deliverance from the threatening of a 

general governor for the colonies and the consequent dissolution of their 
charter privileges and the loss of all their religious liberty.” 

Massachusetts Historical Society’s Collections, 4th series, volume VII, 
page 157. 
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sent Mrs D. Sh. letter which putts me to new trouble, for though she 
takes liberty upon my Cossen Downing’s speeches, yet (Good Sir) let 
mee not bee a fool in Israel. I had many good answers to yesterday’s 
worke and amongst the rest her letter; which (if her owne) doth 
argue more wisdom than I thought shee had. You haue often sayd I 
could not leaue her; what to do is very considerable. Could I with 
comfort and credit desist, this seemes best; could I goe on, and con¬ 
tent my selfe, that were good; my request is, that this beares my hart’s 
halfe may well observe what is best. For though I now seeme free 
agayne yet the depth I know not. Had shee come ouer with mee I 
thinke I had bin quieter. This shee may know, that I haue sought God 
earnestly, for the next weeke, I shall bee riper: 

I doubt shee gaynes most by such writings; and shee deserues 
most where shee is further of. My very hart is with you and I am 

Yours euer 
H: Peter 

If you shall amongst you advise mee to write to hir I shall forth¬ 
with, our towne lookes vpon mee as contracted and so I haue sayd my 
selfe. What wonder the change would make I know not. 

Later, Mr. Peter wrote, again to Governor Winthrop that 
“I know not well whither Mrs. Sh. haue set mee at liberty or 
not; my conclusion is, that if you find I cannot make an honorable 
retreat then I shall desire to advance . . Once more for 
Mrs. Sh. I had from Mr. Hibbens and others, her fellow passen¬ 
gers, sad discouragement, where they saw her in her trim.” So 
she came to New England, to Boston, where she was admitted 
to the church March io, 1638-9. She married Mr. Peter before 
the year was out; and, Jan. 2, 1639-40, she was dismissed from 
the church in Boston to the church in Salem. 

In a letter to Hugh Peter, dated Jan. 3, 1638-9, Thomas 
Lechford of Boston, the lawyer, wrote: “Worthy Mr. Peters. 
My service remembered to you. these are to let you (as a 
friend in the Lord, upon whom my heart much did and doth 
depend for counsel and ayde,) understand some of my affairs; 
wherein I presume upon—and your wisdom and gracious dis¬ 
position which I have ever observed in you since I was your 
auditor and hung upon your Ministry at the Graves or Sepul¬ 
chres.”1 

Emmanuel Downing wrote to Governor Winthrop, in 1638, 
that “My Cosen P. is constant to his dayly charge, soe that all 
his friends are resolved to leave him to his owne way, yet 
blessed be God his preaching is verie profitable and comfortable 
to all.” 

^echford’s Note Book, page 29. 
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The physical and mental condition of Mr. Peter became 
such that Mr. John Fiske assisted him in the ministry for a 
considerable time. He became so much more incapacitated that 
a colleague was secured and regularly installed. This was Rev. 
Edward Norris,1 who had been a teacher and minister in 
Gloucestershire, England, and had come to America the year 
before. He had come to Salem to assist Mr. Peter in the work 

£f(yv 
meadow Jan. 21, 

of the church. He had joined the 
church here in December; the 
town granted to him one hundred 
acres of land and sixteen acres of 

1639-40; and with great ceremony he was in- 

1Rev. Edward Norris1 lived on the northeasterly corner of Essex and 
Turner streets until the autumn of 1649, when he removed to the Gerrish 
house opposite the city hall; died Dec. 23, 1659; child : Edward.2 

Edward Norris2; schoolmaster; lived in his father’s house; married 
Dorothy-; died in 1684; children: 1. Elizabeth3; married, first, Joseph 
Glover; second, Samuel Moulton of Rehoboth; 2. Edward/ baptized Aug. 
18, 1657. 

Edward Norris3; joiner; married Mary Symonds Dec. 3, 1685; died 
Dec. —, 1700; she was his widow in 1713, and married, secondly- Starr; 
children: 1. Mary/ born April 14, 1687; married James Mackmallin; 2. 
Edward/ baptized July 6, 1690; 3. Elizabeth,4 baptized April —, 1692; 
married Jonathan Williams; 4. James4, baptized Feb. —, 1694-5; 5. John, 
baptized April 10, 1698; currier; lived in Fairfield, Conn., in 1759; married 
Rebecca Mackentire Oct. 1, 1719; 6. Abiel,4 baptized Feb. 2, 1700-1; 
married Richard Buckminster of Boston. 

Edward Norris4; chairmaker and turner; married Remember White 
Dec. 30 i/i5; died July 19, 1759; children: 1. Edward/ born Jan. 4, 1716; 
2. . arah, baptized Nov. 16, 1718; 3. Thomas,5 baptized Dec. 4, 1720; 4. 
John/ baptized Jan. 21, 1724-5; 5- James/ baptized Oct. 30, 1726. James 

Norris ; married, first, Joanna Field Jan. 20, 1718-9; second, widow Lydia 
Begoe May 9, 1728; he died before 1747; she married, third, Benjamin 
Bickford Oct. 2, 1750; children: 1. Joanna,6 born Oct. 16, 1719; 2. Mary/ 
baptized Oct. 15, 1721; 3 James,' baptized June 7, 1724; 4. James," baptized 
Dec 26 1725; 5. Sarah" baptized Nov. 29, 1730; 6. Elizabeth," baptized 

ep . 15, 1734, married John Archer; 7. James/ baptized Jan. 29, 1737-8; 
living m 1752; 8. Henry6 baptized Feb. 17, 1739-40; living in 1756 

Edward Norris ; baker; married, first, Mary Twiss Aug. 5, 1739* 
second, Elizabeth (West) Neal Nov. 16, 1743; he died Sept._1760- she 
dud Nov. 9, 1796; children: 1. Edzvard,6 born April n, 1745- 2 ’Elizabeth*- 

rieclTar/Hfu-hi^t*F /artlett’ A John," born in ,75.'; /ate sena“ar- 

C t,,.4: EvET?™ °Ct. 28' *753; married James King. 

jonn, norn April 12, 

second, Judith King March 13, 1814; she died March 14, 
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stalled March 18, 1639-40. Governor Winthrop wrote, in his 
Journal, under that date: “Mr. Norris was ordained teacher 
of the church in Salem, there being present near all the elders of 
the other churches and much people besides." He was dis¬ 
tinguished for his learning and talents, good judgment and toler¬ 
ation, and Winthrop wrote that he was grave and judicious. 

1855; child: 1. John,8 born in July, 1811; died May 12, 1812, aged ten 
months. George Norris7; lived in Salem, Hamilton and Chelsea; living in 
1869; children: 1. George/ born about 1814; 2. Sarah Ann,8 born about 
1816. Henry Lee Norris7; mariner; married Elizabeth Holman Nov. 25, 
1810; died May 17, 1819; she married, second, Benjamin K. Churchill of 
Bristol, R. I., March 3, 1822; she died Oct. 8, 1851; children: 1. Charles8 
(twin), born Sept. 22, 1813; died May 30, 1814; 2. Henry Lee8 (twin), 
born Sept. 22, 1813; 3. Elizabeth Holman,8 born Nov. 20, 1818; married 
William H. Jackson of Boston May 12, 1846. Jeremiah Norris7; mariner; 
married Dolly Safford Aug. 20, 1824; sailed from Baltimore in a vessel 
that was never heard from; child: 1. Charles Henry8. 

George Norris8; lived in Salem and Hamilton; married Hannah M. 
Call (published Aug. 1, 1833); child: 1. George Henry,3 born about 
November, 1836; died May —, 1838. Henry Lee Norris8; lived in New 
York in 1837; married Sarah K. Churchill Nov. 2, 1837; died before 1891; 
children: 1. Clara C.9, born in Salem Aug. 10, 1838; 2. Eliza H.9; married 
-Russell of Oyster Bay, L. I.; 3. Henry L.9; lived at Edinburgh, 
Scotland, in 1869, and in West Hoboken, N. Y., in 1891; 4. Ada L.9j lived 
in Princeton, N. J., unmarried, in 1891; 5. William M.9; lived in Princeton 
in 1891. Charles Henry Norris8; tailor; married, first, Caroline M. 
Coffin Nov. 11, 18/17; second, Emma Frances Marsh; died _ Aug. 31, I902‘> 
children: 1. Caroline Agnes,9 born Aug. 13, 1848; married William R. 
Colby; 2. Helen M.9, born Sept. 5, 1850; died July 4, 1922, unmarried; 
3. Charles S?, born Oct. 23, 1852; 4. -9 (son), born July 5, 1856; died 
July 6, 1856; 5. -9 (daughter), born Jan. 5, 1861; died Jan. 26, 1861; 
6. William S.9, born April 30, 1863; living in Salem in 1922. 

Charles S. Norris9; clothier; lived in Newton in 1902; married 
Lizzie Eddy Aug. 14, 1876; died before 1922; child: 1. Vivian May,10 born 
March 23, 1877, in Salem; married Lawrence Parker of Warren, Mass. 
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Mr. Peter’s only child, Elizabeth, was born in Salem and 
baptized Oct. i, 1640. About this time, Mrs. Peter became men¬ 
tally disordered, and during the remaining twenty years of his 
life he was deprived of the enjoyment of her society. He wrote, 
in that year, that “Deepe melancholy is getting fast vpon mee 
agayne and tethers mee at home” ; and, again, in the same year, 
“Am also at present fallen into a sore fit of my old hypochon¬ 
driacal melancholy through cold and care." 

Mr. Peter was sent by Governor Winthrop and the general 
court and the church of Salem to Dover to settle a matter of 
church ex-communication and a general broil. He went on foot 
each way, and on his return, with two or three others, he was 
lost in the woods between Portsmouth and Haverhill. They 
wandered about two days and a night, without food or fire in 
the snow and wet.1 

“Upon the great liberty which the king had left the parlia¬ 
ment to in England,” friends there advised the colonists to 
solicit favors from that government. The popular feeling was 
against any such request being made as it was thought best to 
be independent. The court of assistants considered that benefits 
might be derived thereby; and Mr. Peter, pastor of the church of 

Hirfr1’ Pastor of the church of Roxbury, and 
W ilham Hibbins, pastor of the church of Boston, were desired 
to go upon this mission. Mr. Winthrop wrote: “For this end 
the governor and near all the rest of the magistrates and some 
of the elders wrote a letter to the church of Salem acquainting 
them w,th our intentions, and desiring them to spare their pastor 
yr that service The governor also moved the church of Rox- 

y for Mr. Welde, whom, after some time of consideration, 

f Salem yMle <Rd'i ^ Th-" k WaS ProP°mKled to the church 
f SallTm’ Mr- Endecott, being a member thereof, and havino- 

ormei Iv opposed it, did now again the like in the church & 

11 »on Mr F,fl TVeref' h'S intentions the more bv falling foui 
poii Mr. Endecott in the open assembly at Salem'for onnosin? 

this motion and with that bitterness as gave greTt offence and 

behU’ both -odlUm i i° a Professed breach between them, but 
were Jnr5 -i ' hearkening to seasonable counsel they 

such failings as'had’parsed" ^hUth' p“l),ic acknowledgment of 
their n-istnr ‘ “ 1as*e“- but the church, not willing to let 

trate’s request, wrote A answer by^"1 T’*' t0 the magis- 

some reasons of their unsatisfiednes^ aboutlis'gdlng, “h! 

page “S^^hro?s1SJournll,b^arae H^pag^S 3d series* volume IH' 
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agitation of this business was soon about the country, whereby 
we perceived there would be sinister interpretations made of it, 
and . . we gave it over for that season.”1 

The general reformation in England caused many men to 
stay there, and the emigration to New England was very slight, 
and so were the exportations. The general court deemed it 
expedient ‘ho send some chosen men into England to congratulate 
the happy success there, and to satisfy our creditors of the true 
cause why we could not make so current payment now as in 
former years we had done, and to be ready to make use of any 
opportunity God should offer for the good of the country here, 
as also to give any advice . . for the settling the right form 
of church discipline there.” The same men were appointed that 
were selected the year before. As no ship was ready to sail to 
England, these men, together with John Humphrey, John Win- 
throp, jr., and Thomas Lechford, the lawyer, sailed August 3d for 
Newfoundland, intending to proceed from there with the fishinp* 
fleet.2 " 

“This act of the court did not satisfy all the elders, and 
many others disliked it, supposing that it would be conceived we 
had. sent them on begging* and the church of Salem was un¬ 
willingly drawn to give leave to their pastor to go, for the court 
was not minded to use their power in taking an officer from 
the church without their consent, but in the end they and the 
other churches submitted to the desire of the court.”3 

They arrived at Newfoundland just two weeks from the 
date of sailing3, and from there sailed to England. 

In 1642, Mr. Peter was chaplain to the forces for the re¬ 
duction of Ireland, in the expedition commanded by Lord 
Forbes. 

July 5, 1643,. he attended Mr. Chaloner (in Waller’s plot) 
in prison and at his execution. 

In the same year, he was sent by parliament to Holland, to 
borrow money for the Protestant sufferers in Ireland and raised 
thirty thousand pounds. 

Jan. 4, 1644, he attended Sir John Hotham at his execution; 
and on the scaffold received public thanks from Sir John for his 
excellent instructions and assistance. 

March 12, 1644, in answer to a speech of Archbishop Laud, 
at the beginning of his trial, Mr. Peter said that he, himself, had 
been instrumental, through divine aid, in bringing one hundred 

^Winthrop’5 Journal, Boston, 1825, volume II, page 25. 
lnthrop^s Journal, Boston, 1825, volume II, page 31. 

Winthrop’s Journal, Boston, 1825, volume II, page 32. 
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and twenty from papistry, who witnessed a good profession, as 
true Protestants and sincere Christians. 

Mr. Peter accompanied the Earl ot Warwick, upon his 
expedition for the relief of Lyme, during May and June, 1644; 
and June 6, 1645, he was chaplain to the regiments in charge of 

the baggage wagons and artillery. e 
When Archbishop Laud was in prison he charged Peter 

with conspiring to send him overseas, and begged that he might 
not be banished, pleading his age and infirmities. This had been 

an idea of Peter to save the archbishop from death. 
At the siege of Bridgewater, Peter exhorted the commander 

of the forlorn hope, who were to begin the storm, and enthused 
them with courage in the very field of action. In parliament, 
he related the history of the siege; and the members gave him 
one hundred pounds for his unwearied services. Later, he was 
again called into parliament to give them an account of the siege 
of Bristol; and, also, at another time, an account of the taking 

of Winchester Castle. 
In September, 1645, “Mr. Peter Preached in the Market 

Place at Torrington, and convinced many of their Errors in ad¬ 
hering to the King’s Party.” 

Jan. 23, 1646, Mr. Peter came from the army to parliament 
and narrated to them the storming and taking of Dartmouth. 
He was chaplain in the campaign of 1645-6; and his eloquence 
inspired the soldiers with devotion. 

He repeatedly mentioned his intention of returning to 
America, exclaiming, “Ah, sweet New England!” Mrs. Peter, 
being somewhat mentally improved, visited Salem in the autumn 
of 1646. The next spring Mr. Peter wrote to Governor Win- 
throp, and said that his health was much impaired. 

In June, 1647, Mr. Peter went to the king- at Newmarket, 
and had an extended conversation with him. The king told 
Peter that he had often heard of him, but did not believe he had 
that solidity in him he found by his conversation, and that he 
would have further conference with him at another time. Mr. 
keter asked him to hear him preach, but His Majesty refused. 

In June, 1648, he was before Pembroke with Cromwell, as 
the latter was preparing to carry the castle. The Scottish Duke 
ot 11 ami It on bade Peter adieu and embraced him before the 
formei s execution, in March, 1649. hr the following summer, 

* et<. 1 was chaplain to the parliamentary forces sent against the 
rebels in Ireland. 

Oct. 12 1649, Rev. John Eliot, the Apostle to the Indians, 
wrote to Mr. l'eter as follows: “The Lord hath greatly de- 

1.4 tied to improve you, and eminently your talent is increased to 
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ten talents for our Lord and Master’s honour and use, and 
doubt not but your crowne shall be answerable. You are indeed 
much envyed, evil spoken of, smitten with the tongue. No mat¬ 
ter. Be not troubled at what men say, when they speak evill of 
you, seeing you cannot but see, yea, all men know it, God dealeth 
well by you, the Lord doth improve, accept, succeed you. I cannot 
wish you in New England so long as you are of such great use 
and service in the Old; not because I love you not, but because I 
love you and the cause of God, which you do totis viribus pursue 
and prosper in.” 

The following are copies of two letters1 written to New 
England on business, being probably the last of his correspond¬ 
ence hither:-— 

My Deare ffreinde 3.1 : 54. 

I had yors & truely doe love you heard17, though I have beene 
sometimes troubled at my business having noe Return’s & you Selling 
my house for .20lb & lending out my book68 & thing’s & sending home 
nothing to mee but onely what Spencer Sent & a rose of a Colt & three 
Sheepe &c. though I am noe way angry wit11 you for I love you heartily, 
but greate Paiment’s have gone forth you write, & truely I Knew noe 
Debt’s but Such as mr Paine made vpon mee; my minde is that mr 
John Winthrop might bee spoke with about what I have, to whome I 
Assigned it long-since Vpon some condicons though I Profess nothing 
but want Of Health I thincke could deteine mee from New England, 
such is my Love to the place & lovely it will yet bee. I pray doe but 
for mee as I would doe for you: mr Downing owed mee. i8olb noe 
body would Seize the house hee made over to mee & now hee is here 
wish her to make haste after him; Salute yor good wife Pay yo‘ Selfe 

what chardge I Put you to & Love. 

yors Hu: Peters. 

[Superscribed:] 

ffor my good ffriende mr Gott Deacon at Salem now at Wenham 

Deare Sr 

I feare you are angry because you doe not hear from mee nor I 

from you. I have by mr Gott ordered you what I have in New England 
ward. I ever Loved you & yors & am truely Sensible of all yor cares 
nothing Vnder heaven hath more troubled mee than that you had not 

my Company into New England with you; I have sent you by this 
bearer a Loade Stone which I Pray Keepe for mee if I come, if not 

it is vors. O that I were my old malady the Spleene & never had heart 
or time to Attend any cure that now I give my life gone & shall out- 

^uffolk Registry of Deeds, volume 8, page 11. 
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live my parts I feare, my 
whome I am 

hear1 is with my god 

yors Ever. 

& desire after him. in 

Hugh Peter’s. 

30th of April: 54. 

[Superscribed:] ' 

To John Winthrop Junior Esqr these wth a token in a paper 

Mr. Peter was honest, but injudicious. At the death of 
Cromwell, he preached a funeral sermon, the text being “My 
servant Moses is dead”; and in the funeral procession he walked 
among the chaplains of Whitehall. He subsequently ignored 
public affairs; and became very unpopular, his effigy with that 
of Cromwell being carried through the streets. 

He was ordered to be arrested, June 7, 1660, and his arrest 
occurred on Sunday, Aug. 31, 1660, in Kent Street. He was at 
once committed to the Tower of London. At the trial, which 
took place October 10th, Sir Edward Turner, the prosecuting 
attorney, in his opening to the jury, stated that Mr. Peter was a 
principal actor in the sad tragedy of the King’s death, and a 
chief conspirator with Cromwell. Mr. Peter was charged with 
urging people against the king, and to overthrow the monarchy. 
He was also accused of leading troops of Cromwell's army 
against the king’s forces, which was undoubtedly true. 

While in the Tower, he wrote “A Dying Fathers Last 
Legacy to an Only Child: or, Mr. Hugh Peter’s Advice to His 
Daughter"1; and it was given to her before his death. This little 
volume contains many religious and personal instructions, a larger 
number of plain truths concerning Christianity, several references 
1o his family and his own personal experiences, and the follow¬ 
ing poem, containing his 

WISHES. 

/ Wifh your Lamp and Vejjel full of Oyl, 
lake the Wife Virgins, (which all Fools neglect) 
And the Rich Pearl, for which the Merchants tuyl, 
Vea, hozv to purchafe are fo circumfpect: 

I wifh you that White Stone, with the New Name, 
Which none can Read but who poffefs the fame. 

sold TlLWRlJ^ed i0I S' (ralver,t and T- Brewster. London, in 1660, and 
of Pa„l'l a “w1 aRlc amJ f the Three Bibles, at the West-End 
Ot J auls. A photographic copy of the title-page (exact size) of the first 

tTntlTln ^he WinH V- the °PP°site page. Thirty-five of his letters are 
Collections- and a rpers-T 1 le. Massachusetts Historical Society’s 

ad ions, and a list of his writings is given in the exhaustive sketch of 
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-- 

Written by his own Hand, during 
his late Imprlfc ament in the Tower 
of London ; And given her a little 
before his Death. - 

BOSTONy Panted by 
for Benjamin Eliot., at his Shop." on 

■ ■ 
v , 

itwiiS*#**—« 

f *, 

k 

TITLE PAGE 

I wifh you neither Poverty, nor Riches, 
But Godlinefs, jo gainful, with content; 
No Painted Pomp, nor Glory that bewitches; 
A blamelefs Life is the beft Monument: 

And fuch a Soul that foars above the Skie, 
Well pleas’d to live, but better pleas’d to die. 

Hugh Peter by Mrs. Eleanor Bradley Peters, in the Historical Collections 
of the Essex Institute, volume 38, pages 133 and 134. 
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1 wifh you fuch a Heart as Mary had, 
Minding the Main, open'd as Lydia’s was: 
A Hand like Dorcas, who the Naked clad; 
Feet like Joanna’s, pop ting to Chrift apace, 

And above all, to live your felf to ice■ 
Married to Him, who muft your Saviout be. 

He went forth to execution composed in spirit and cheerful, 
saying-, “I thank God now I can die, I can look Death in the face 
and not be afraid." I he third day after their trial, Oct. 16, 1660, 
Peter and the solicitor John Coke, who had been one of 
the prosecutors of the late king, were dragged on sleds .(or 
hurdles) from Newgate to the place of their execution at Charing- 
Cross. Mr. Peter beheld the horrible execution and mutilation 
of Coke. Then the hangman came to Peter, his hands be¬ 
smeared with blood, and rubbing his hands together asked, 
“Come, how do you like this, Mr. Peters, how do you like this 
work?" Peter replied, “I am not, I thank God, terrified at it, 
you may do your worst." When he went to his execution, he 
saw a friendly man, and passed him a piece of gold and desired 
him to go to his daughter’s lodging and deliver to her the piece 
of gold and tell her that his heart was full of comfort; that he 
was ready to die; and not to weep for him. He addressed the 
sheriff, and was then hanged and cut down alive. After much 
mutilation, his body was opened and the bowels removed and 
burned. Then the head was severed with a blow, the body was 
cut into four parts for exhibition in as many places, usually the 
four principal cities of the kingdom, and the head was set upon 
London bridge. 

Mrs. Peter lived in London in 1677, and had been supported 
after Mr. Peter’s death by Mr. Cockquaine and his church. 



CHAPTER VI. 

THE FIRST SCHOOL. 

EV. JOHN FISK assisted Rev. Hugh Peter in his 
church services and taught school here from 1637 to 
1639. The school was probably conducted in a room 
in Mr. Fisk’s house, and the scholars were only the 
boys whose parents paid their tuition. 

Edward Norris, the young son of Rev. Edward Norris, was 
chosen by the town, in January, 1639-40, to teach school. 

He was not paid by 
the town, but relied 
upon his patrons for 
tuition, as Mr. Fisk 
had done. The town 

apparently built him a small schoolhouse upon a lot of land 
measuring about thirty by twenty-five feet, on the easterly side 
of Higginson Place about half way of the First Church building, 
on the land of the town which was a portion of the original lot of 
William Lord. 

March 30, 1641, the Salem court ordered Goodman Auger 
to call a general town meeting the second day of the week to see 
about a free school; but no record shows that such a meeting was 
held nor that a free school was established at that time. 

The school was made partially free by the vote of the town, 
Sept. 30, 1644, which provided that thereafter those able to do 
so should pay for their children to attend the school, and those 
who were unable to pay could attend without paying, the town 
paying the tuition. The following is a copy of the vote:— 

Ordered that a note be published one the next Lecture day that 
such as have children to be kept at schoole would bring in their names 
& what they will give for one whole yeare & Also That if any poore 
body hath children or a childe to be put to schoole & not able to pay 
for their schooling that the Town will pay it by a rate. 
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Mr. Norris continued his school for many years, teaching 
without pay the poor children with the well-to-do, whose parents 
paid. 

Apparently, the town had built a small town house just 
westerly of the meeting house; and the selectmen voted, May 17, 
1655, to prepare the town house for the school and watch. This 
was not done, probably, as on the thirteenth of the next March 
the selectmen voted to repair the schoolhouse. March 19, 1667-8, 
upon the request of Mr. Norris, the town voted to allow him 
three pounds to build a chimney in the schoolhouse and five 
pounds for “his encouragement for teaching of children for the 
year ensuing.” The schoolhouse disappeared the next year, and 
this service of Mr. Norris ended, except for some occasional 
teaching. The town sold the land where the schoolhouse had 
stood to John Corwin for five pounds, which was paid Jan. 19, 
1670-1. 

April 5, 1670, the town voted that the selectmen hire a gram¬ 
mar schoolmaster; and, July 5th, Daniel Epes, jr.,1 of Ipswich 

- £-> was engaged for twenty pounds a year, 
%rprf? residents were to pay at the rate of one- 

third and strangers two-thirds of the 
salary. Mr. Epes was son of Hon. Daniel and Martha (Reade) 

‘Daniel F-fs1 married, first, Martha Boardman of Cambridge April 17 

Wnln fCb' -9 * *’, 1691 mJHied, second> Hannah, widow of Francis 
Wainwnght of Ipswich in 1693; died Nov. 23, 1722; children: 1. Martha 2 
born Aug. io, 1673; died young; 2. Martha,2 born March 8, 1676-7- mar- 

i6~ 8 died ^ DalleC °n April 3- Mary,2 born Feb 19, 
1 /j6Sr'- ^Jr°Ung;- 4' Dyme]’. bgrt? 0ct- 28> i679; 5. Samuel,2 born Jan. 
10 6,6sj.” LwIiTjm SaEm in 1741; 6. Elizabeth,2 born March 
A r’ i J married Capt. Edward Eveleth of Ipswich April 7 i7is- 7 

KCoMoT- iVT'i marTri?d J°h" Cap- of TopsPfidd7’(pu7b^he7d 
Ian 11 A ' bo2nV U y 2-?J 1688; died, unmarried, in Danvers 
Mackey! ’ 9' Margaret> born March 3B 1691; married William 

1(:^-.DJNIEL Epes2» yeoman; married Hannah Hicks of Boston May 
?4’/WDLhe WM hlSoWlfe m. 1748; he died March 10, 1764- children^ 
1. Darnel, born Nov. 8, 1710, in Boston; 2. Francis 3 born Tan 20MWV 
in Boston; 3. Elizabeth,8 baptized in Salem Feb 21 ’1711 c •7 A’ 
.n Anvers July 6, l8oi; 4. Samuel’ baptized Jun4 omi.'SW 

6 M’irv#Jhant-b^Pned 23, I720; marricd Mary Colfins’Nov g i7\l• 
Ld^ay 9^5 dieAoZf’ J°F ProctOT> 7. Joseph,"‘bap- 
1o,p„, Iug^ ^di/d ^ 

jn s'hellied 

Mary Frost of Kittery • had children-9’, 1 t?v ’ ,in Danvers; married 

married Joseph Proctor of Gloucester?'4. ft!TaptlCfMarcCF 



THE FIRST SCHOOL 
93 

Epes of Ipswich, where he was born March 24, 1648-9, and he 
graduated at Harvard College in 1669. 

Mr. Epes taught the school two years, and then went out of 
town. March 25, 1671, the town ordered that the selectmen 
should provide a house for Mr. Epes to keep school in. In 1671, 
Daniel Andrew taught school, in his own house, and was paid by 
the town. This was probably while repairs were being made 
upon the schoolhouse that now is, one pound and eighteen 
shillings being paid for the “mending.” Edward Norris\gain 
taught the grammar school from 1672 to 1675 inclusive for^ten 
pounds annually. In the winter of 1674-5, he kept school in his 
own house. 

When it was decided that the meeting house should be taken 
down, the town voted, Aug. 17, 1672, “that the old meeting houfe 
be reserv’d for The Towne ufe, to build a skoole houf & watch 
houfe.” The next spring, April 21, 1673, the town chose a 
committee “to Agree with a Carpenter or Carpenters to build a 
houfe for the towne which may Serve for a Schoole houfe & 
watch houfe and towne houfe of the timber of the old meeting- 
houfe acording as the timber will bear.” This was accordingly 
done, and of the old timbers a town, school and watch house was 
constructed in the middle of Washington Street, in front of the 
Masonic Temple. 

The town house was two stories in height, the school room 
being on the first floor, with a chimney, and, of course, a fire¬ 
place. Thus, the school room was warmed in cold weather. 

When the new school room was ready for use, “some suit¬ 
able person was sought to keep the grammar school, and Daniel 
Epes was seen. He expressed himself very willing to serve the 
town as a grammar schoolmaster, provided he might have suit¬ 
able maintenance; and, April 7, 1677, he was engaged to again 

T744-5, married Peter Clark of Braintree; 5- Samuel,4 baptized March 1, 
I74o-7; major; lived in Danvers; married Mary Frost; died in Salem, 
wren he was a bellows maker, Dec. 21, 1803, aged fifty-six;* she died Feb. 

.9, 1829; had children; 6. Mercy4; 7. Mary4; married Isaac Lewis of 
. r£Tcestown, N. H., Oct. 18, 1774; 8. Benjamin,4 baptized April 29. 1752, 
in Danvers; lived in Lyndeboro, N. H.; married Mary Proctor Oct. 19, 
1/93; she died in Danvers Jan. 22, 1820; 9. Sarah,4 baptized Oct. 6, 1754, 
m Danvers; 10. William,4 baptized March 29, 1761, in Danvers; 11. Joseph,4 
baptized March 27, 1763, in Danvers; died Jan. —, 1776, in Danvers. 
u,LLImMtv 1 K » esquire; “late of Chesterfield, Va.,” in 1750; married 
Abigail Pickman April 5, 1750; died Oct. 1, 1765; she married, secondly, 
Dr. bylvester Gardiner of Boston April 30, 1772; children: 1. Abigail,4 
baptized Nov 25, 1750; married Richard Routh; 2. William,4 baptized Aug. 
q 3- Judith, baptized July 24, 1757; 4. William Isham,4 baptized 
oept. 25, 1760; died at Southampton, England, Oct. 3, 1823, aged sixty- 
three; 5. Love Rawlins,4 born June 8, 1762. 
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become the schoolmaster of the town. The town vo.ed to lease 
the islands belonging to the town for Ins maintenance, etc., and 
in the following January the Beverly ferry rent and the next 
month the Marblehead ferry rent was added to the income or 
this purpose. A written agreement was made with him b\ th 
selectmen, June 28, 1677, as follows: 

Agreed wth Mr Daniell: Epps In behalf of ye towne, to p forme 

ye place of a Grammr Schoolemaster to ye towne Soe Long as itt shall 

please God to Graunt him Life, health, and abdity, To Learn & Instruct 

all Such Schollers as shall bee Sent to him, from any person or psons 
In vc towne In ye English, Latten & Greek tongue Soe as to fitt them 
forV Vniuersity, If desired & they are Capeable: alsoe to Vse his best 

Endeauer to teach them good maners, & Instruct them In y principles 

of Christian religion In Consideration of ye Poises, hee y s Epps 
shall receiue from Euery pson, y4 Sends his Child or Children to 

Schoole, y° Sum of twenty shillings In money p year for Each Chilcie 

& w4 v4 falls Short of Sixty pounds p anum In money, y Selectmen 
Ingage ye towne shall make up: & In Case hee shall haue more 
Schollers, then to make up ye abouesd Sum of Sixty pounds, shall take 

ye same to himself, as alsoe ye benefitt, of all such as shall bee sent 
from other townes, hee shall alsoe haue ye priuilidge. of Comomdge as 

formerly to all Inhabitants admitted, & bee freed from all rates, 
Trayning watchings, & wardings, as hath been Customary for those 

of ye Like occupation: In wittness thereunto yc sd Epps hath sett his 

hand _ T 
Dantf.t. Epps un 

Mr. Epes now settled down permanently. His salary was 
fixed at sixty pounds annually. In 1682, he was still teaching 
here. He purchased of Edmond Batter the southwest corner of 
the governor’s field, now the northern corner of Washington 
and Church streets, April 18, 167911 and built thereon a large 
dwelling house. In 1699, he laid out Church Street. This was 
at first called Epes lane. In this house he lived until his death, 
Nov. 23, 1722, having devised it to his wife Hannah for her life 
and at her decease to his son Samuel. Captain Epes conveyed it 
to Rev. John Sparhawk of Salem, for five hundred and fifty 
pounds, Aug. 3, 1737“; and Mr. Sparhawk, for eight hundred 
pounds, conveyed the house and land to Timothy Orne of Salem, 
merchant, July 18, 1746.3 Oct. 14, 1747, Mr. Orne conveyed it 
to his son Timothy, a merchant,4 who lived here several years. 
After his removal, the house was occupied by Thomas Somer¬ 
ville, a Scotsman, who conducted therein an inn known as the 

’Essex Registry of Deeds, book 6, leaf 58. 
'Essex Registry of Deeds, book 73 leaf 185. 
‘Essex Registry of Deeds, book 88, leaf 151 

4Essex Registry of Deeds, book 98, leaf 52. 
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DANIEL EPES HOUSE 

“Sign of the Indian King.” Mr. Somerville removed in the 
winter of 1767-8. Mr. Orne had died the preceding summer, 
having devised the house and land to his son Samuel. The 
estate was then valued at three hundred pounds. The above cut 
of this house represents it as it appeared during Samuel’s owner¬ 
ship. He died in 1785, when it was valued at four hundred and 
fifty pounds, and was in the possession of Capt. Jonathan Webb, 
who was conducting a tavern hero. From the heirs of Samuel 
Orne, the title passed to Deborah Saltmarsh of Salem, single¬ 
woman, May 20, 17891. She subsequently married Capt. Zadock 
Buffinton, who, in I792> by remodeling the house, destroyed every 
vestige of its original architecture and raised it another story. 
Captain Buffinton conducted the “Ship Tavern” here for many 
years, being succeeded by others, and died in 1799, when the 
buildings and land were valued at six thousand dollars. Mrs. 
Buffinton died in 1815, leaving the estate to her stepson Jonathan 
Buffinton of Boston, merchant. Jonathan Buffinton, for five 
thousand dollars, conveyed the place, then known as Buffinton’s 
Tavern, stables, barn and land to Gilbert Newhall of Salem, 
horse-letter, May 14, 1822.2 Mr. Newhall lived here, and carried 
on his stable business in the rear of his residence. He died Oct. 
I5? x863, and his heirs, for twelve thousand dollars, conveyed 

Tssex Registry of Deeds, book 150, leaf 76. 
"Essex Registry of Deeds, book 229, leaf 271. 
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the estate to Willard L. Bowdoin of Salem, dentist, Aug-. 3P 
1866 d and Mr. Bowdoin conveyed it to John H. Goldsmith of 
Salem April 29, 1869.2 Mr. Goldsmith conveyed it to Daniel C. 
Manning of Salem May 18, 18705'’ and Mr. Manning sold it to 
Charles'S. Buffum July 31, 18714. Mr. Buffum, about 1885, re¬ 
moved the house to the rear of its original site, and used it for a 
stable. The original part of the east end, being then exposed, 
showed in the gable very ancient Dutchlike carved ornaments, 

painted red. 
There was very little in the way of apparatus or other helps 

in the early schools. A considerable portion of the time of the 
teacher was doubtless occupied in the making and mending of the 
quill pens. The New England Primer was here, as well as the 
horn-book. The latter was a piece of thin board the size of a 
small page, on which was pasted printed alphabets and some 
simple words or sentences, and arabic numerals. The name 
came from the fact that originally, the face was covered with 
thin transparent sheepskin, to keep the reading matter from being 
too much soiled in the hands of a child. It was held upright in 
one hand, by a projecting middle portion of the board at its 
lower end. The horn-book was for beginners. 

When little children first are brought to schoole, 
A horne-booke is a necessary toole.6 

A hundred and fifty years ago, arithmetic exercises were 
written in a blank book, by the schoolmaster for the scholars to 
copy, learn the rules and work out the problems. In the inventory 
of the estate of Theodore Price of Salem, who died in 1671, is 
mentioned “a written book of mathamatix,” which was probably 
something of this sort. 

I he grade of a grammar school, so called, of the seventeenth 
century was classical as well as fundamental 

’Essex Registry of Deeds, book 709, leaf 268. 
"Essex Registry of Deeds, book 797, leaf 181. 
Essex Registry of Deeds, book 830, leaf 88. 
Essex Registry of Deeds, book 771, leaf 101. 
Pasquil’s Night Cap, 1612. 



CHAPTER VII. 

FEDERATION OF THE COLONIES. 

AN. 21, 1639-40, the town granted to Jacob Barney, 
William Dodge and Richard Brackenburv five acres 
of meadow apiece; John Browne, Edmond Tomson 
and widow Felton thirty acres apiece; William 
Woodbury ten acres of upland and five of meadow; 

Joshua Verin forty acres; widow Bryan two acres of meadow; 
Jeffry Massy twenty acres of upland and five acres of meadow; 
Joseph Dalibar1 and widow Scarlet twenty acres of land each; 
Esdras Reed ten acres as an ad¬ 
dition to his former grant of 
ten acres; Richard Lambert 
twenty acres of land between Jeffry Easty and Henry Swan; 
and Roger Conant, son of Roger Conant, “being the first borne 
Child in Salem,” twenty acres. Mr. Ruck2 requested the grant 

1 Joseph Daliver lived in Marblehead. 
“Thomas Ruck1 was of Charlestown in 1638; lived in Salem on the 

western side of Mill Street, near Norman Street, in 1645; lived in Boston 
in 1648 and 1660; haberdasher in 1648, and draper in 1651; married Eliz¬ 
abeth -; died in or before 1670; she survived him; children: 1. John,2 
born about 1627; 2. Stephen,2 baptized April 17, 1642; 3. Thomas2; died in 
England about 1652. 

John Ruck2; merchant and vintner; married, first, Hannah Spooner 
about 1650; she died Jan. 29, 1660-1; married, second, Sarah Flint Sept. 
17, 1661; she died May 4, 1672; married, third, Elizabeth (Price), widow 
of John Croade Dec. 26, 1672; he died in the autumn of 1697; she was his 
\yidow in 1711; children: 1. Elizabeth,3'born Feb. 7, 1651-2; married John 
Osborne Oct. 5, 1670; 2. Hannah,3 born March 17, 1653-4; married Ben¬ 
jamin Gerrish; 3. John,3 born April 1, 1655; died April 10, 1655; 4. Sarah,3 
born Aug. 12, 1656 (married - Burroughs?) ; 5. John,3 born Aug. 30, 
1657; died in 1705; 6. Thomas,3 born Oct. 23, 1658; 7. Damaris3; died, 
unmarried, April 24, 1702; 8. Abigail,3 born Oct. 28, 1662; 9. Mary,3 born 
Aug. 30, 1665; married William Smith; 10. Bethiah,3 born April 8, 1668; 
died, unmarried, in 1697; 11. Rebecca,3 born Sept. —, 1671; married John 
Appleton April 1, 1689; 12. Ruth,3 born Oct. 20, 1673; died, unmarried, in 
1705; 13. James2 born May 20, 1675; 14. Samuel2 born July 24, 1676. 
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of a farm. Mr. Gerford desired fifty acres to be added to the 
fifty already granted to him ; John Luvet, Daniel Ra) s servant, 
requested accommodation ; and Mr. Friend wished some meadow 

to be added to his farm. 
William Bacon1 came to Salem from Dublin, Ireland, this 

year. 
March 30, 1640, the town appointed Lawrence Southwick and 

William Woodbury to keep the milk cattle, certain heifers, etc., 
from April 6th to November 15th, for thirty-six pounds. The 
cattle were to be brought “into the pen near to Mr. Downing’s 
pale,” and from there to be taken to the pasture by the herdsmen 
when the sun was half an hour high in the morning, and be 
returned into the pen when the sun was half an hour high at 

night. 

Thomas Ruck3; merchant; married Damaris Buffum; died July 5, 

1704; children: 1. Hannah,4 born Jan. 20, 1693; married George Dean 

June 11, 1713; 2. John* born June 20, 1696; 3. Thomas,4 born Oct. 15, 

1698; living in 1704; 4. Damaris,4 born Oct. 8, 1701; living in 1704. 

Dea. James Ruck3; shipwright; married Martha Gedney Nov. 6, 1712; 

she died Feb. 20, 1749; he died June 16, 1772; children: 1. Mary,4 born 

Sept. 6, 1717; married Nathaniel King; 2. Martha,4 baptized Feb. 3, 1722-3. 

Samuel Ruck3; shipwright; married, first, Elizabeth Tawley June 30, 

1699; she died in 1711; married, second, Sarah Cheever of Marblehead 

Dec. 10, 1713; they were living in Salem in 1751; children: 1. -,4 born 

May 28, 1700; died May 28, 1700; 2. Elizabeth,4 born July 22, 1701; mar¬ 

ried John Daniels of Boston Aug. 5, 1725; 3. Ruth,4 born Jan. 25, 1703-4; 

4. Samuel* born Oct. 7, 1705; 5. Abigail,4 born Jan. n, 1706-7; lived in 

Salem, unmarried, in 1730; 6. John,4 born Feb. 24, 1716-7. 

John Ruck4; blacksmith; married Esther Johnson (published Nov. 20, 

DO); died about 174°; she died Nov. 14, 1743; children: 1. Abigail5; 

married Philemon Sander Oct. 3, 3745; 2. Esther5; married G reen Morrill 

Dec. 20, 1744; 3- Hannah5; lived in Boston, unmarried, in 1747; 4. Ruth5; 

living in 1744. Samuel Ruck4; shipwright; married Bethiah Bickford 

Aov; 13, 1729; died in 1769; she survived him; children: 1. Elizabeth5, 

baptized Oct. 18, 1730; 2. Ruth5, baptized Dec. 12, 1731; 3. Bethiah5, bap¬ 

tized Oct 21 1733; married Matthew Wharfe Oct. 6, 1754; 4. John5, 

viptized April 9, 038; 5. Rebecca5, baptized March 2, 1739-40; married 

John Bickford; 6. AbigaiP, baptized Jan. 17, 1741-2; 7. Sarah5, baptized 

t 7 a 1743-4; 8* Wllliam> baptized Aug. 23, 1747; 9. Elizabeth5, baptized 
June 10, 1751* 

William Bacon married Rebecca, daughter of Thomas Potter, mayor 
with Th” ry’ t aTckvSJlireB England. She had come to Salem in 1639, 
w. h Thomas Lovell. Mr. Bacon died in 1653; and she died in 1655. They 

,'!< ,ont C"ld, Isaac, baptized in Salem Sept. 12, 1641; mariner- sold 

Hons raster Tdbt 1665 and !eft t0wn- Mrs- Baco" in her will,’ men- 

nnmarried T,', l J i"ri aPI)arently ,n England, and cousins, Anne Potter, 
until a t k d, Richard Cherlcroft and George Bedell Mr Bacon lived in n 

n r WanisWS.Creett0,>„d TA thc -th siefe"of Walnut 
estate hav L a mare A 1 r n0W Bcabody- He left a considerable 
, 1 ’ 1 ^ l ’ cl ^°ke of oxen, five cows, a pair of steers heifer 

t iree calves, nine sheep and seven swine, and much grain on hand brass’ 

iron and pewter vessels, plate, books, maps and pfeturfs ' b ’ 
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Henry Cooke and Edward Ingram were appointed to keep 
the swine for six shillings for each animal. As these man 
walked through the town on their way to the pasture in the 
morning, they blew their horn and the owners of the swine 
brought them out to the drove, which was thus constantly in¬ 
creased in numbers. The swine were returned at sunset. The 
keepers were responsible for any swine that were lost, but for 
those which were killed by wild beasts they were excused if they 
brought home a part of the flesh as evidence.1 

March 30, 1640, the town granted to John Beaumont2 five 
acres of planting ground, and to John Lovett five acres of ground 
which was part of the land exchanged by Jeffry Massy and Rich¬ 
ard Brackenbury near Mackerel Cove. 

To overcome the lack of water which furnished power to the 
grist mill, which Capt. William Trask built and was running in 
the rear of the present Universalist Church in Peabody, he 
changed the site. March 30, 1640, the town authorized him to 
set up a tide mill on the same stream, “provided hee make 
passage for a Shallope from halfe flood to full sea.” To enable 
him to get the water from Strongwater brook, and also a higher 
flow of the tide, he built a dam in the rear of his residence and 
there erected another mill.3 

Captain Trask died in May, 1666, having devised the mill to 
his sons John and William. William died in 1691, having de¬ 
vised his half interest to his sons William and John, who re¬ 
leased their portions to their uncle John. John Trask continued 
to grind corn here until 1712 when he built a new mill farther 
down the stream, where Grove Street crosses the river. As 
soon as the new mill was operated, complaints came into the local 
court against Captain Trask. He was admonished to be more 
careful about grinding and tolls. A condition of the grant of 
liberty to establish a mill at that place was that he would make a 
passage for a shallop by the mill; but he had not done so when 
the court ordered him to do so, June 29, 1641. December 27th, he 
was before the court for neglect in securing scales and weights 
hung up in the mill. Jan. 25, 1641-2, he was sentenced for keep- 

ffn this record is enterlined these words : “The place is in a yard- 

Mr. Brownes neer to Mr Pesters howse.” 

2John Beamont died in or before 1647, leaving a son John, then under 

eighteen years of age. His widow probably married, secondly, John 

Tucker, as the boy is called John Tucker’s son-in-law. 

3See depositions of Benjamin Balch and John Massey, April 10, 1706, 

and Robert Pease and Elizabeth Buxton, Feb. 25, 1706-7 (Essex Registry 

of Deeds, book 20, leaf 12) ; Thomas Lovell, March 27, 1707 (Essex 

Registry of Deeds, book 20, leaf 13) ; and John King and Samuel Golthrite, 

April 27, 1708 (Essex Registry of Deeds, book 20, leaves 124 and 125). 
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ing an insufficient miller, lie agreed to discharge Peter Sinies, 
the man complained of, blit did not do so, and the next month 
the court fined him for lus laxity. At this time, h^ was fined 
also for want of a toll dish, over toll, bad grinding and want of 

beam and scales hung up. 
The quarterly court held in Salem March 31, 1640, was a 

busv session, both civilly and criminally. Francs Nurse a 
youth for stealing of victualls & for suspition of breaking a 

house,” was presented. 
Dec. 23, 1639, the town granted to Arthur Sandin2 of Marble- 

lied two acres of land to plant. Fie lived on the western corner 
of Front and Merritt streets. March 31, 1640, he was allowed 
by the Salem court to keep an ordinary at Marblehead ; and he 
continued to conduct a tavern there until his death, which 
occurred in the autumn of 1666. He sold wine, beer, strong 
water and provisions. He had a brew house, and made the beer 
he sold. 

May 13, 1640, the general court declared that there existed an 
absolute necessity for the increase of the manufacture of linen 
cloth, etc., and ordered an “inquiry what seed is in every town, 
what men and women are skilfull in the braking, spilling, weav¬ 
ing, what means for the providing of wheels, and to consider with 
those skilful in that manufacture what course may be taken to 
raise the materials and produce the manufacture, and what course 
may be taken for teaching the boys and girls in all towns the 
spinning of the yarn"; and also the same inquiry in regard to 
“the spiffing and weaving of the cotton wool." September 14th 
following, the town ordered that “our Brother Gedney and our 
brother Balch and our brother Fogg do enquire about fustean 
spinsters.” October 7th, the general court voted to give a bounty 
of twenty-five per cent, of the value for making linen, woolen 
and cotton cloth; but withdrew the bounty the next june because 
Public funds could not be spared for that purpose. The court 
ad\ ised the colonists to gather the wild hemp, which might serve 
fot making of cloth until cotton could be had. September 30, 
164B the town granted to Samuel Cornhill an acre of land for 
the sowing of hemp. 

At the general court, May 13, 1640, it was provided that in 
each town horses, mares, cows, oxen, goats and hogs should be 
valued by a committee therein. John Woodberry, Jeffry Massey 
and 1 homas Lathrop were appointed the committee for'Salem. 

'Peter Simes “alias Ford” 
not come over. 

was here as late as 1649. 

him. 
Arthur Sandin (Sands, Sandy) married Margaret 

Ills daughter Mary married Nicholas Merritt. 

His wife would 

who survived 
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■ The court in Salem, June 2, 1640, was a busy session. 
Richard Gell, an apprentice boy of Mr. Yongs, was sentenced, 
for burglary on the Lord’s day and stealing, to be “severli 
whipped tomorrow being Lecture day and to set an hour before 
the Lecture with a paper written and set upon his head for 
breaking a house, stealing, etc., on the Lord’s day’.” Gell was 
subsequently a servant of Francis Felmingham, and Feb. 20, 
1643-4, he was ordered by the Salem court to be severely 
whipped for breaking into the house of Mr. Keaser on the 
Lord’s day and stealing two parcels of tobacco, etc. 

Bethiah Cartwright lived in Salem in 1640. She made her 
will May 2d of that year, and it was proved June 30th following. 
In it she gave a few articles to her sister Elizabeth Capon of 
Walderswick, Suffolkshire, England. She probably had no rel¬ 
atives in this country. 

Richard Cook lived in Marblehead in 1640 and as late as 
1646, and perhaps removed to Boston. He was born about 1610, 
and had a wife in 1644. Fie was afterwards connected with 

♦ large business interests. In a suit at law, in 1663, John Winthrop 
testified that Cook could not attend court as he had a dangerous 
infirmity “by reason of a very large tumor risen upon him in a 
difficult place.’’ 

July 15, 1640, the town granted to Joseph Boys ten acres 
of land to be laid out at Cape Ann Side. Air. William Vassal 
and John Harbert requested a grant of a farm to each ; Miles 
Ward1 requested a grant of two or three acres of land at Stage 

Miles Ward1 came from Erith, Kentshire, England. He had a brother 
in England in 1650, when his father had recently died there. He married 
Margaret -; and died in Virginia March 3, 1649-50. She married, 
secondly, Thomas Rix in 1650. Children: 1. Joshua2, baptized April 25, 
1641; 2. John2, baptized Dec. 26, 1641; 3. Lydia2, baptized Jan. 31, 1646-7; 
married Robert Glanfield; 4. Martha2, born March 11, 1649-50; married 
Pasca Foote. * 

Joshua Ward2; mariner; married Hannah Flint Jan. 18, 1668-9; died 
in the summer of 1680; she married secondly, Eleazer Keysor; children: 1. 
Joshua3, born Jan. 16, 1669-70; died in the autumn of 1680, by a cart 
wheel going over him, breaking his arm and shoulder and bruising his 
body; 2. Hannah3, born Jan. 2, 1671-2; married Eleazer Moses; 3. Miles6, 
born March 11, 1673-4; 4- Mary3; married Adoniram Collins; 5. Margaret3; 
married John Pickman of Marblehead. 

Miles Ward3; joiner and chairmaker; married, first, Sarah Massey 
Sept. 16, 1697; she died Nov. 20, 1728; married, second. Sarah Ropes (nub- 
lished Jan. 23, 1737) ; he died Aug. 29, 1764, aged ninety; she died Feb. 7, 
1768; children: 1. Joshua1, born Aug. 15, 1699; 2. John4, born Nov. 27, 
1701; died Sept. 4, 1703; 3. Miles4, born April 18, 1704; 4. John4, born 
July 7, 1707; 5. Ebenezer4, born April 10, 1710. 

Dea. Joshua Ward4; tanner; married, first, Sarah Trevett of Marble¬ 
head Sept. 17, 1722; she was his wife in 1741; married, second, Lydia 
(Burrill), widow of John Hawkes of Marblehead Jan. 21, 1745-6; she 
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Point; John Bushnell desired some land; and Thomas Smith de¬ 

sired twelve acres of upland adjoining his meadow. 

died April 25, 1772; married, third, Ruth Woodward of Gloucester June 2, 
I77V he died Dec. 29, 1779; she died June 5, 1787; children 1. Joshua, 
born March 13, 1723; married Susanna Shores; lost at sea in 1746; she 
married, secondly, Capt. William Masury May 2, 175°; 2- Daniel, horn 
Oct. 25, 1725; drowned at sea in 1746; 3- John5, born June 21, I729; 4- oarah , 
born Aug. 16, T733; died July 18, 1737; 5- Martha, born May 29, 1735; 
died Nov. 27, 1736; 6. Martha5, born June 14, 1737; married William Web¬ 
ster Nov. 21, 1754; 7- Richard5, born April 5, 1741; 8. Burrill , born Aug. 
29, 1747; died Feb. 28, 1748. Miles Ward4; joiner; married, first, Eliza¬ 
beth Webb Jan. 3 1727-8; she died April 13, 1737; married, second, Hannah 
(Derby), widow of Benjamin Hathorne Oct. 10, 1737; died June —, I792; 
she was his widow in 1796; children: 1. Sarah5, born Oct. 19, I728; died 
Aug. 10, 1729; 2. Elizabeth5, born Feb. 7, 1729-30; died April 11, 1737; 3- 
Abigail5, born April 16, 1731; died May 22, 1731; 4- Abigail5, born March 
17, 1732-3; married, first, Samuel Griffin of Portsmouth, N. PI. (published 
Dec. 7, 1752) ; second, John Bass of Portsmouth; 5. Miles5, born July 25, 
1733; 6. Sarah5, born March 1, 1734; married^ John Ives ; 7. Ann5, born 
March 22, 1735; died May 1, 1737; 8. Ebenezer5, born April T2, 1737; died 
April 13, 1737; 9. Elizabeth5, born July 29, 1738; married William Pool of 
Danvers Oct. 10, 1761; 10. Samuel5, born April 30, 1740; n. Mehitable5. 
born March 18, 1741-2; died Oct. 24, 1755; 12. Anne5, born May 11, 1744: 
married, first, Jonathan Mansfield; second, Joseph Henfield; 13. Nathaniel5, 
born July 29, 1746; H. C., 1765; librarian of Harvard College; died at 
Cambridge Oct. 12, 1768; 14. Lucretia5, born Aug. 26, 1748; married Dr. 
Joseph Osgood June 14, 1770; 15. Mary5, born Sept. 30, 1750; died Sept. 30. 
t755; 16. Joshua5, born Oct. 25, 1752. John Ward4; peruke maker; married, 
first, Hannah Higginson Sept. 26, 1734; she was his wife in 1742; married, 
second, Martha Batter Sept. 14, 1758; he died, and she died at the alms¬ 
house Oct. 12, 1788; children: 1. Hannah5, born Dec. 21, 1735; married 
Samuel Webb Nov. 9, 1758; 2. Mary5, born Aug. 9, 1737; died May 27, 
174°; 3- John5, born Jan. 10, 1738; 4. Nathaniel5, born Jan. 29, 1739-40; 
living in 1755; 5. Andrew5, born Oct. 6, 1742. Ebenezer Ward4; joiner 
and cabinet maker; married Rachel Pickman Oct. 23, 1735; she died Jan 
7, 1789; he died March 3, 1791; children: 1. William5, born Aug. 9, 1736; 
2. Ebenezer5, born May 26, 1738; 3. Benjamin5, born Sept. 18, 1739; deacon; 
captain; married, first, Elizabeth Babbidge Nov. 15, 1770; second, Mary 
(Parmer) Carleton May 24, 1781; died June 11, 1812; she died Dec. 29. 
t8i6; 4- Sarah5, born July 19, 1741; died Oct. 17, 1745 75. Caleb5, born Jan. 
J2> 1743; lost at sea Jan. 3, 1764; 6. Miles5, born July 12, 1744; 7. Rachel5, 
born Jan. to, 1746; married Edward Lang; 8. Abigail5, born June 14, 1748; 
married William Hathorne; 9. Elizabeth5, born June 13, 1754; died April 
L D74; 10. Sarah5, born in 1755; died in infancy. 

J<>nx Ward ; yeoman and leather dresser; married Abigail Phippen; 
tiny h\ed in Marblehead in 1758; he was living in Salem in 1765; children: 
t. Joshua, born about 1750; 2. Josiah9; mariner; died Aug. —, 1798. 

Y- TaV ’ Y o Y ,n,.nton» married Abigail Elkins in 1786 
dud Match n, i8ot ; had children; 2. Samuel Curwen6, born Tune 29, 1767 

Meh^hb ' h™ '7T.mar:Ld Dec. I, 1793; 4 
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At a quarter court in Boston, Sept. 1, 1640, Mr. Endecott 
being present, “Jonathan Hatch was censured to bee severely 

married, Feb. 15, 1913. Miles Ward6; merchant; married Experience 
Goodell; died Aug. 10, 1796; she died Nov. —, 1796; children: 1. Elizabeth6, 
baptized April 23, 1758; 2. Miles6, baptized July 1, 1759; died May 18, 1785; 
3. Nathan6, baptized Jan. 25, 1761; married Jane Walker at Wilmington, 
N. C.; died there Oct. —, 1790; 4. Elizabeth6, baptized March 20, 1763; 5. 
Joshua6, baptized Nov. 18, 1764; merchant in 1798; 6. Abigail6, baptized 
Sept. 7, 1766; 7. Mary6, baptized Sept. 7, 1766; 8. Mary6, baptized Sept. 18, 
1768; 9. Hannah6, baptized Jan. 20, 1771; married Jonathan Neal May 29, 
1791; 10. Anna6, baptized Nov. 15, 1772; 11. Nathaniel6, baptized Aug. 28, 
1774; died at Wilmington, N. C., Aug. 6, 1792; 12 Elizabeth6, baptized Feb. 
12, 1775; 13. Oliver6, baptized Nov. 9, 1777. Samuel Ward5; distiller; naval 
officer; married Priscilla Hodges Jan. 2, 1768; died July 31, 1812; she died 
June 2, 1822; children: 1. Nathaniel6, born Oct. 6, 1768; married Sarah 
Trask of Danvers Dec. 12, 1799; died Aug.-, 1809; had children: 2. Samuel6, 
born July 15, 1770; died Sept. 6, 1770; 3. Samuel6, born in 1771; died in 
1773; 4. George6, born Aug. 14, 1773; 5. Samuel6, born Dec. 10, 1775; 
drowned on passage from West Indies Nov. 4, 1793; 6. Priscilla6, born 
July 23, 1777; married Johnson Briggs; 7. Mary6, born Dec. 27, 1779; 
married Joseph R. Chandler of Boston March 29, 1815; 8. Gamaliel 
Hodges6, born Jan. 24, 1782; 9. Stephen6, born Dec. 5, 1783; trader; mar¬ 
ried Abigail Foster Jan. 8, 1807; 10. Jonathan6, born Oct. 8, 1785; sadler; 
married, first, Ruth Bott Feb. 22, 1811; she died March 2, 1817; married, sec¬ 
ond, widow Eliza (Campbell) Ward of Boston (published March 15, 1828) ; 
died Jan. 24, 1851; no issue; 11. Sophia6, born June 25, 1787; married Ben¬ 
jamin Crombie; 12. John6, born Sept. 18, 1788; 13. Henry5, born July 31, 
1791; lieutenant in United States Navy; married Eliza Campbell (see 
above) ; died at Manchester July 9, 1825; 14. Harriet6, born Feb. 25, 1793; 
15. Sarah P.6, born April 5, 1795; married Ira Eaton April 20, 1813. 
Joshua Ward5; merchant; married, first, Sarah Lander; she died April 15, 
1809; married, second, widow Susan Magee of Boston (published March 
31, 1810) he died at Charlestown Sept. 14, 1825; she survived him; children: 
1. Sarah6, born in 1775 (baptied Sept. 26, 1778) ; died, unmarried, Dec. 
25, 1796; 2. Joshua?, born May 11, 1776; 3. Mehitable6, born April 19, 1778; 
died May 27, 1797; 4. Elizabeth6, born April 19, 1780; married 
Nathaniel Appleton; 5. Edward6, born in 1782; died at the age of 
three months. John Ward5; joiner and cabinet maker; married, first 
Bethiah Archer June 4, 1761; she was his wife in 1778; married, second, 
widow (Lufkin) Emmerton Oct. 24, 1784; he died Dec. 1, 1789; she died 
May 29, 1802; children: 1. John6; died in infancy; 2. John6, born Dec. 14, 
1766; 3. Nathaniel6, born Feb. 18, 1768; married, first, Lydia Harding; she 
died June 5, 1800; married, second, Mrs. -—— Crediford; had children; 
4. Andrew6, born Dec. 29, 1769; 5. Jonathan6, born about 1770; died in the 
West Indies Oct. 20, 1791; 6. Israel6, born April 1, 1776; 7. Llannah6, born 
in 1777; died Dec. 31, 1795; 8. Sarah6, born April 7, 1780; married John 
Plantin Sept. 23, 1804. Andrew Ward5; cooper; married Sarah Henfield 
May 21, 1773; died Jan. 16, 1816; she died Dec. —, 1817; children: 1. 
Andrew, born Feb. 28, 1774; 2. Nathaniel6, born June 16, 1776; kept the 
lighthouse on Baker’s Island; married Mary Cutler Aug. 18, 1799; was 
drowned, while returning with provisions, March 30, 1825; she survived 
him; son James lived in Lynn; 3. Jonathan6, born June 22, 1778; 4. John6, 
born July 20, 1781; married Lucy How; died Oct. —, 1821; 5. Samuel6, 
born Dec. 28, 1787; representative; esquire; died April 27, 1842; left 
widow; 6. Sarah6; married Aaron Tufts Oct. 24, 1813; 7. Edmund6, born 
Sept. 17, 1790; died Sept. 14, 1791; 8. Lydia Henfield6, born Nov. 16, 1798; 
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whiped, & for the psent is comited for a slave to Lieft Daven¬ 

port." 

married, first William Seagel Sept. 7, 1823; second, Moses Smith. Capt. 
William Ward5; married Ruth Putnam May 17, 1761; died Oct. 9, 1767; 
married, second, Mary Masury April 19, 1768; both drowned near Pdack 
Rock June 17, 1773; children: 1. William6, born Dec. 28, 1761; 2. RutlP, 
baptized Sept. 18, 1763; died May 25, 1770; 3. Caleb6, baptized Dec. 29, 
1765; died May 28, 1770. Capt. Ebenezer Ward5; mariner; married 
Mehitable Buttolph Aug. 10, 1758; died Oct. 26, 1773; she survived him; 
children: 1. Ebenezer Buttolph6, born May 6, 1759; 2. Mehitable6, born 
Anril 30, 1762; married Henry Carwick March 25, 1786; 3. Sarah6, born 
Dec. 10, 1764; married Nathaniel Knight Oct. 26, 1784; 4. Rachel6; married 
Daniel Farrington of Springfield, Vt., Jan. 21, 1791; 5. Mary6, born April 
I7> 1770; married William Farrington June 23, 1805; 6. Content6, born 
Sept. 2, 1773; married Samuel Skerry Sept. 8, 1798; 7. William6; mariner 
in 1792; living in Salem in 1812. Miles Ward5; glazier, shoreman and 
merchant; married Hannah Chipman of Beverly June 28, 1772; died Oct. 
23, \796; she died, his widow, April 25, 1829; children: 1. Joseph Chipman, 
baptized Sept. 26, 1773; 2. Elizabeth6, born in 1775; married Richard 
Gardner July 29, 1797. 

Joshua Ward6; married Elizabeth Whitworth Jan. 25,'1780; she died 
in Athens, Ga., Jan. 1, 1837; children: 1. Betsey', baptized after June, 
1781; died, unmarried, in 1835; 2. Abigail7; died in 1817, unmarried; 3. 
Ann 1 ; married Johnson; a. Malthus Augustus’, born in Haverhill in 
J~'2 : 5- Sarah7; married John Punchard; 6. Mary Ann7; died in 1803, aged 
fifteen months. Samuel Curwen Ward6; trader; esquire; married, first, 
b'^e Popes Oct _?i, 1790; she died Jan. t8, 1803; married, second, Malvina 

1 utha Glover Dec. 17, 1807; he died Nov. 26, 1817; she survived him; 
c un ren: 1 Samuel Curwin', born Dec. 10, 1791; died Sept. 12, 1795; 2. 
J n> Atkinson, born March 29, 1793; 3. Samuel Curwen7, born Nov. 26, 

V € „ 1 • r'1 7 1 4 y y Lummi 1 1VU ill IQS', /. 

M-O-raa GW. born Aug. 27, 1809; died Sept. 15, 1809; 8. Willhm 
li Jce. • t1.1!”1 Aug. b, 1811; 9. Henry Orne', born Dec. 31, 1816; 

h" rSHr0ernnS,R o: "“"w ^ Buc.hanan Nov. 3. 1847, at Kendall, III.; 
P h- . b'liARn Ward ; mariner and merchant; married Lydia 
Robinson April 14 ,805; died at New Orleans, La., Dec t4 1822 she 
survived him 1840; children: 1. Lydia Robinson’, born Dec. 31 Isoy 

tfSt’ ST” ,8A 2- Rtchard Me,vi,le ’ horn Sept.^8 1807 

UFSttr?-!® Sts S*. fb-u 

r 1.1 B morriea Willi 

A-rayCe’ l803 • unmarried7inT85i f^Samue/Linsey7', 
hlliam WallarH ^ C ashln^on , born Aug. 13. 1807: 6. 
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The session of the quarterly court at Salem, Sept. 29, 1640, 
was the busiest since the court was established. There were 

Ward0; mariner; married Priscilla Lambert Townsend Aug. 16, 1808; died 
March —, 1836; cblidren: 1. Priscilla L.7, born April 1, 1809; married 
Joseph Rowell April 3, 1832; 2. Frederick Gamaliel1, born April 23, 1811; 
3. Mary Townsend,7 born March 17, 1813; married Stephen Burchmore 
June 3, 1835. Stephen Ward6; merchant; married Abigail Foster Jan. 8, 
1807; child: 1. John Dodge7, born in 1818; died Jan. 16, 1822, aged three 
years. Joshua Ward5, merchant; married Susanna Holyoke Aug. 1, 1799; 
died Sept. 8, 1840; she died Feb. 5, i860; children: 1. Mary Holyoke7, 
born May 2, 1800; married Dr. Andrew Nichols of Danvers Oct. 3. 1833; 
2. Mehitable7, born Feb. 14, 1802; unmarried in 1853; 3. Elizabeth Holyoke7, 
born Jan. 14, 1804; died Feb. 15, 1851; 4. Joshua7, born April 8, 1806; 
died June 2, 1808; 5. Joshua Holyoke,7 born July 8, 1808; H. C., 1829; 
judge of court of common pleas; died, unmarried, June 5, 1848; 6. 
Susanna7, born July 19, 1813; married Charles Osgood June 19, 1838; 7. 
Augusta Holyoke7, born May 6, 1823; died Dec. 27, 1826. Capt. John 
Ward6; married Christina Dean Feb. 19, 1796; drowned Dec. 2, 1817; she 
died Jan. 11, 1850; children: 1. John7, born Jan. 7, 1798; trader; married 
Mary Cowen Feb. 6, 1823; died June 20, 1847; she survived him; no issue; 
2. Thomas Dean7, born Sept. 16, 1800; died at Matanzas, Cuba, June 4, 
1817; 3. Mary P.7, born June 20, 1806; married Charles Weston Nov. 26, 
1829. Andrew Ward6; shipwright; married Martha Babbidge June 6, 

x793; died Dec. 18, 1813; she died April 19, 1821; children: 1. Andrew7, 
born Oct. 29, 1793; 2. John7, born Jan. 27, 1793; died Nov. 1, 1795; 3. 
Bethiah7, born Aug. 23, 1796; married Thomas W. Taylor Feb. 11, 1823; 
4. John7, born Dec. 29, 1797; 5. Israel1, born Jan 22, 1800; 6. Hannah7, born 
Dec. 4, 1801; married Charles Hobart Dec. 14, 1823; 7. Adeline7, born Oct. 5, 
1803; married Benjamin Farless March 2d, 1828. Israel Ward6; barber; 
married, first, Mary Murray Jan. 9, 1803; she died March 24, 1814; married, 
second, Sarah Gerrish Aug. 7, 1831; he died June 4, 1849; she was his 
widow in 1853; children: 1. Israel7, born Oct. 3, 1803; tailor; probably 
married Fanny Wing Feb. 6, 1832; 2. Peter Murray7, born June 15, 1803; 
died at sea Aug. 4, 1824; 3. Jonathan7, born June 20, 1808; died May 8, 
1809; 4. Jonathan7, born Jan. 2, 1814; died Oct. 21, 1814. Andrew Ward6; 
cordwainer; married Betsey Bowman Nov. 18, 1798; died Dec. 21, 1806; 
she was his widow in 1812; children: 1. Benjamin7, born April 16, 1799; 
married Betsey F. Atwill of Lynn Oct. 1, 1822; lived in Lynn; had 
children; 2. Richard B.7, born Oct. 11, 180-; died unmarried; 3. Eliza¬ 
beth7, born July 29, 1805; married, first, Nathaniel Burril1 of Lynn Oct. 
6, 1822; married, second, Ira Sanborn of Lynn July 28. 1841. Ca~t. 
William Ward6; mariner and merchant; lived in Salem in 1792 and 1811, 
and removed to Medford as early as 1816; married, first, Martha Proctor 
Feb. 16, 1785; she died Jan. 17, 1788; married, second, Joanna Chipman 
Nov. 14, 1790; he died at Medford May 9, 1827; children: 1 Thomas 
Wren7, born Nov. 20, 1786; lived in Boston; married Lydia Gray Nov. 
13, 1810; died March 4, 1858; had children; 2. Lucy Ann', baptized April 
9, 1797; married (of Boston) Charles Lawrence (published Nov. 12, 
1833); 3. William7, baptized Jan. 13, 1799; 4. Miles7, baptized May 31, 
1801; died unmarried; 5. Nancy7. Capt. E^enezer Buttolpit WarA; 
mariner; married Abigail Waters July 13 1786; died July 13, 1805; she 
died Feb. 13, 1831; children: 1. Abigail7; died Jan 26, 1874; unmarried; 
2. Ebenezer Buttell7, baptized June —, 1793; probably died before 1874; 
3. Esther Gilbert7, born Dec. 27, 1798; married Nathaniel Very Sept. 9. 
1821. Joseph Chipman Ward6; trader; married Mary Ncon'm; died 
June 23, 1832; she was his widow in 1858; children: 1. Miles7, born July —, 
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twenty-two civil cases and several criminal matters. John Cooke, 
servant of William Clark, was ordered to be severely whipped 

1805; died, unmarried, Sept. 6, 1848; 2. Joseph Chipman7, born Dec. 12, 
1807; died Oct. 4, 1809; 3. Mary Ann7, born Dec. 12, 1808; died, unmar¬ 
ried, July 23, 1840; 4. Rachel Pickman7, born Oct. 1, 1810; died, unmarried, 
Sept. 15, 1856 (8?) ; 5. Chipman1, born Dec. 31, 1813. 

Dr. Malthus Augustus Ward7; M. D. from Bowdoin College in 1823; 
physician in Salem, and removed to Athens, Ga., where he was professor 
of natural history in the University of Georgia; married Eliza Cheever 
May —, 1829; died at Athens June —, 1863; children: 1. Mary8 born 
March —, 1830; 2. Elizabeth8, born May —, 1831; 3. Sarah8, born Feb. —, 
1834. George Atkinson Ward'; merchant; settled in New York, and 
returned to Salem in 1862; married his cousin Mehitable Cushing Oct. 5, 
1816; she died in New Brighton, Staten Island, N. Y., Oct. 4, 1862; he 
died in Salem Sept. 22, 1864; children: 1. George Richard8, born July 6, 
1817; died, unmarried, Feb. 12, 1861; 2. Sarah Jane8, born July 31, 1819; 
died, unmarried, Aug. 19, 1849; 3- James Cushing8, born Aug. 27, 1821; 
lived in Northampton, Mass., in 1863 and 1875; wife Marguerite D. in 
1866; 4. Frank8, born Sept. 2, 1824; married Henrietta Zimmerman Oct. 4, 
1848; she died July 23 1849; no issue; he was a patient in the Insane 
Asylum at Utica, N. Y., in 1864. William Raymond Lee Ward7; 

removed to New York City, where he was living in 1874; married, first, 
Sophia Langdon of Portsmouth, N. H., Dec. 31, 1839; she died in Salem, 
beb. 4, 1855; married, second, Eliza Coffin (Symmes), widow of John 
Thorne, in New York, Dec. 9, 1856; children: 1. Malvina Glover8, born 
Sept. 16, 1840; died Nov. 16, 1840; 2. John Langdon8, born Oct. 25, 1841; 
living in 1875; 3. Curwen Glover8, born Dec. 28, 1844; died Nov. 1, 
1846; 4.^ Raymond Lee8, born June 15, 1848; living in 1875; 5. Sophia 
Langdon8, born Feb. 4, 1855; unmarried in 1875. Frederick Gamaliel 

Ward ; mariner; married Elizabeth Colburn Spencer May 9, 1831; children: 
1. Frederick Townsend8, born Dec. 21, 1831; lieutenant in the French 
service in the Crimean W ar; then went to China, as a sailor, about 1859, 
and rose to the highest rank in the Chinese service; was in the military 
service in the vicinity of Ning-po, Oct. —, 1862; was shot, died the 
luxt day, married Chang Mei, a Chinawoman, who survived him only a 

without issue; 2. Henry Gamaliel8, born Aug. 13, 1834; married 
Georgianna M. Bunker Nov. 10, 1862, in New York; 3. Elizabeth Colburn8, 
>orn April 21, 18391 4- Mary Louisa8, born June 2, 1841. Andrew Ward7; 

manner and merchant; married Abigail Richardson Abbott July n, 1819; 
died Aug. 2, i860; she died March 30, 1877; child': 1. Abby R.8; married 
kev. George G. Spence of West Wrentham, Mass., April 6, 1847; had a 
son Andrew born April 16, 1848, who had his name changed to Andrew 
Ward; lived in Maine, unmarried. John Ward7; married Sarah Patter¬ 
son Dec. 17, 1822; died at sea, mate of bark Richard, Jan. 23, 1828- she 

Et1llWr^: J- ^ary Elizabeth8, born Oct. 1, 1824; married 

t-hlor -indJ f Sarav A-elme’ born A^g. 10, 1826. Israel Ward7; 

l- V 1 aCt 11 1,1 Z^nzlbar trade; married Hannah Goodhue May 
/F8 V’ToLn AMa,rch sT9l l854d she dJed -[llly 4, 1881; children: 1. Andrew 
Sto^ ,JW11 ’ b°Trni Sept l6’ 1828 = died at Maranham March 13, I*40, 3. W llliam , born July 6' 184 v died Tan 8 Toer, , T 1 e ^ 

1840- died Tune j iSjw 8 / IC‘ A4, l8'V ’ John A.8, born May 1, 
1040, cneci June 4, 1844, 8. Laivrcnce Pierson8, born Dec 21 t8?i CwtpUa^ 
Ward ; clerk; married Frances Le Vallois March 3" 1846;died fept1 
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and have a shackle put upon his leg- for resisting his master’s 
authority, and theft and speeches in court, being advised by John 
Pearce, Mr. Batter’s man. John Bartoll1 was a witness in court. 
Robert Adams was ordered to be set by his heels in the stocks 
for being uncharitable to a poor man in distress, taking his 
canoe, charging the court with injustice, etc. William Lord for 
Thomas Burwood and Christopher Berry, who “went for Ould 
England,” moved and the court ordered that John Woodbury 
and Peter Palfrey measure one-half of an acre of land at 
Thomas Oliver’s new house. 

Oct. 7, 1640, the general court appointed John Winthrop, 
jr., Simon Bradstreet, Emanuel Downing, Mr. Hathorne and 
Mr. Tynge to “set out” the bounds between Ipswich, Jeffry’s 
Creek and Cape Ann. 

O11 the same day, the general court ordered that unless every 
grantee of land record his deed, it should not bind any one 
other than the parties thereto and their heirs, when the 
grantor remained in possession of the premises, even in the case 
of a mortgage. Upon being requested to do so, by the grantee, 
the grantor had to acknowledge the conveyance, and if he should 
refuse to do so he would be liable to arrest and imprisonment, 
without bail, until he should submit; and in the meantime the 
grantee should enter his caution with a brief statement of the 
deed with the recorder. About 1652, deeds began to be recorded 
in full. The earliest indexes were either written at the beginning 
of each volume, or in pamphlets, one for each volume. This 
practice continued until about 1880, when an index covered a 
year’s records at a time; and about that period the old indexes 
began to be revised and consolidated by periods, the first being 
those of 1640 to 1799, the next from 1800 to 1819, etc. In this 

1861; she was his widow in 1865; children: 1. Francis Chipman8, born 
Aug. 18, 1846; died Sept. 19, 1853; 2- Mary Frances8, born Aug. 15, 1848; 
living in 1865; 3. Ellie Frances8, born Nov. 5, 1850; living in 1865; 4. 
Annie Victoire8, born Nov. 13, 1853; living in 1865; 5. Jane Wallis8, born 
Dec. 17, 1856; died Jan. 4, 1858. 

Capt. Andrew W. Ward8; master-mariner; married Lucy A. —; died 
Oct. 12, 1865; she survived him; children: 1. Jennie Abbott9, born Dec. 
21, 1857; married Hon. John Marshall Raymond; 2. Charles William9, born 
March 12, 1859; 3. Frederic Abbott9, born July 13, i860. Lawrence 

Pierson Ward8; married Mary Goodell Nov. 15, i860; died before 1877; 
child: 1. Annie Goodhue9, born Aug. 13, 1861; living in 1882. 

John Bartoll lived in Marblehead; married Parnell -; 
drowned in March, 1664; she was his widow in 1682, aged about eighty; 
children* 1. William, Dorn about 1629; mariner; lived in Marblehead; 
married Mary -; died in 1691; she was his widow in 1703; had 
children; 2. John, born about 1631; living in 1674; 3. Joan; married 
Edmond Chapman in 1651; 4. -; married William Lightfoot of 
Marblehead; 5. Mary, born Feb. 1, 1642-3; unmarried in 1669. 
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revision, the locus of the premises was given. Emanuel Downing 
was appointed the first recorder for the district of the Salem 
quarterly court He probably kept the records at his house, on 
Essex Street. This law did not apply to grants of common lands 
by towns. Thus, the registration of deeds began, and has evolved 
into the great and important system of the registry of deeds 

which exists today. 
By order of the general court, a road from Rowley to Tps- 

wich and from Ipswich to Salem was laid out by a committee, 
and ordered to be recorded May i, 1640. For Salem, the return 
was signed by William Hawthorne with the consent of Lieutenant 
Davenport and Ensign Reade. That part of the return which 
concerned Salem was “by Mr. Hubbard’s farm house, and so on 
upon the east side of Mr. Smith’s house, and from thence, by like 
consent of Salem men, over the old planters meadow, and so to 
the two ponds usually dry in summer, near which ponds the way 
doth branch, one whereof is easterly of the said ponds, leading 
through the old planters field to Salem ferry, according to the 
marked trees, and the other way is westerly of the ponds, leading 
to a great creek at a landing place westerly of Mr. Scruggs’ 
house.” The way leading from the two ponds southerly is now 
Dodge and Balch streets and the way leading westerly from the 
ponds is Conant Street. The landing place was where the last 
named street crossed F rost-fish River. The two ponds were 
within the triangle formed by Cabot, Conant and Dodge streets. 

Oct. 11, 1640, the town granted to Captain Trask half an 
acre of land adjoining to the new mill; to William Towne “a 
little neck of land right over against his house on the other side 
''I the river ; to Mr. Stileman the one-fourth acre of marsh 

which Mi. Emery should have had and three quarters more 
lying in the flaggy marsh at the upper end” ; and to John Saun- 
dei s and Ralph bogg a quarter of an acre each, “over against 
their lots as you go to the old mill.” It was also ordered at this 
meeting “that none of the common within the cattle range shall be 
granted henceforward, to any man for any particular use And 
the range of the cattle at the Forest Rivef head where the fresh 
water falls 111 and where the salt water fioweth at high water 
mark shall be a line southward up to Mr. Humfry’s farm and 
from thence to the pond, and so about to Brooksby.” 

HavC n","1 rf cal!.c<1,t!le, Voach, being in her voyage to New 
lawn (late Qumipiack) between Salem and Cape Cod, sprang 

a eak, so as ,n the morning they found her hold half filled with 

selWAITTHR S6amen and Passengers betook them- 
■ ; to their skill, being a very small one, and the wind then 

f.EWxnegriVenrckl t * ^ ^ °’le Ja<*son. a godly man and 
an experienced seaman, would not leave the vessel before he had 
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tried the utmost, so getting them in again, and laying the bark 
upon the contrary side, they fell to getting out the water, which, 
it pleased God, they overcame, and having a fine fresh gale, they 
got safe back to Salem.” This was recorded by Governor Win- 
thrip under date of Dec. 15, 1640.1 

At the Salem court Dec. 29, 1640, Benjamin Hammon, ser¬ 
vant of John Hardy, for saying that “if you see my master you 
little think what is in him for he is a very hasty man,” was found 
to be a “rash, unsettled and indiscreet young man, ready to run 
into divers enormities if let free,” and was ordered to serve his 
master a year longer. 

Jan. 20, 1640-1, the town granted to Allyn Convers twenty 
acres of planting ground next to Mr. Endecott’s farm, lying by 
that lot which was Richard Norman’s near the head of the river, 
in exchange of twenty acres formerly granted to him; to Thomas 
Putnam fifty acres of land and five acres of meadow; and to 
John Putnam2 one hundred acres of land at the head of Mr. 

AVmthrop’s Journal, volume II, page 19. 
"John Putnam', son of Nicholas and Margaret (Goodspeed) Putnam, 

was baptized at Wingrave, Buckinghamshire, England, Jan. 17, 1579-80; 
emigrated to America from Aston Abbotts, Berkshire/England; yeoman; 
married Priscilla Gould; died suddenly in Salem Village, where he lived, 
Dec. 30, 1662; children, baptized at Aston Abbotts: 1. Elizabeth2, bap¬ 
tized Dec. 20, 1612; admitted to the church in Salem in 1643; 2- Thomas , 
baptized March 7, 1614-5; 3- John2, baptized July 24, 1617; buried at 
Aston^ Abbotts Nov. 5, 1620; 4. Nath.niel2 baptized Oct. 11, 1619; 5. 
Sarah2, baptized March 7, 1622-3; 6. Phebe', baptized July 28, 1624; 7. 
John2, baptized May 27, 1627. 

Et. Thomas Putnam2; married, first, Ann Holyoke, at Lynn, Oct. 
T7> 1643; she died Sept. 1, 1665; married, second, Mary, widow of 
Nathaniel Veren Nov. 14, 1666; he died May 5, 1686; she died March 
16 (17?), 1694-5; children: 1. Ann3, born Aug. 25, 1645; married William 
Trask; 2. Sarah3, baptized July 23, 1648; 3. Mary3, born Oct. 17, 1649; 

4. Thomas3, born March 12, 1652-3; 5. Edward3, born July 4, 1654; 6. 

Deliverance3, born Sept. 5, 1656; married Jonathan Walcott; 7. Elizabeth3, 
born Aug. 30, 1659; married Joshua Bayley of Newbury; 8. Prudence3, 
born Feb. 28, 1661-2; married William Wyman of Woburn; 9. Joseph3, 
born Sejt. 14, 1669. Nathaniel Putnam2; married Elizabeth Hutchin¬ 
son; she died June 24, 1688; he died July 23, 1700; children: 1. Samuel3, 
born Feb. 18, 1652-3; 2. Nathaniel3, born April 24, 1655; 3. John, born 
Aug. 11, 1662; married George Flint; 6. Benjamin3, born Dec. 24, 1664; 

7. Mary3, born Sept. 15, 1668; married John Tufts of Charlestown. Capt. 

John Jutnam2; planter; married Rebecca Prince Sept. 3, 1652; died 
April 7, 1710; children: 1. Rebecca3, born May 28, 1653; married John 
Fuller; 2. Sarah3, born Sept. 4, 1654; married John Hutchinson; 3. 

Priscilla3, born March 4, 1657-8; married Joseph Bailey; 4. Jonathan3, 
born March 17, 1659-60; 5. James, born Sept. 4, 1661; 6. Hannah3, born 
Feb. 2, 1663; married Henry Brown; 7. Eleaser3, born in 1665; 8 John, 
born July 14, 1667; 9. Susanna3, born Sept. 4, 1670; married Edward 
Bishop; 10. Ruth3, born Aug. —, 1673. 

Sf:ro. Thomas Putnam3; married Ann Carr of Salisbury Nov. 25, 

1678; died May 24, 1699; she died June 8, 1699; children: 1. Anna4, born 
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Skelton’s farm, between it and the farm of Elias Stileman, the 

Oct 18 1679; died, unmarried, in 1716; 2. Thomas4, born Feb. 9, 1680-1; 3. 
Elizabeth4, born May 29, 1683; living in 1715; 4- Ebenezer , born July 25, 
168s * mariner; married Margery Dowse of Charlestown Oct. 16,^1712 
5. Deliverance4, born Sept. 11, 1687; died Dec.^ 29, 1712 < • ’ / , 
Dec. 17 1689, aged three months; 7. Timothy, baptized April 26, 1691, 
lived in’ Newbury and Tewksbury; married Eleanor Doare of Newbury 
Sept 1718' he died at Tewksbury Nov. 3> 1762; she died there May 5» 
1765; had children; 8. Abigail4, born Oct. 27, 1692; living in 1715; 9- 
Sarah4, born Dec. 26, 1693; died Aug. 22, 1694; 10. Seth , born May 19, 
176s- lived in Billerica, Mass., and Charlestown, N. H.; married Ruth 
Whipple Sept. 16, 1718; died at Charlestown Nov. 30, 1775; she died there 
Feb 1 1785; had children: n. Experience4, baptized Nov. 20, 1698; 
married David Bailey of Newbury Nov. n, 1713; 12. Susanna, baptized 
Nov 20, 1698. Dea. Edward Putnam3; yeoman; married Mary Hale 
June T4,’ 1681; died March 10, 1747-8; children: 1. Edward4, born April 
29, 1682; deacon; husbandman; lived in Topsfield and Middleton; married, 
first, Sarah Miles; second, Priscilla (Bradstreet), widow of Nehemiah 
Jewett of Rowley Sept. 3, 1735; she died Sept. 6, 1736, in Rowley; he 
died Oct. 23, 1755; had children; 2. Holyoke4, born Sept. 28, 1683; killed 
by Indians" at Dunstable July 3, 1706; 3. Elisha4, born Nov. 3, 1685; 
deacon; husbandman; lived in Topsfield and Sutton; married, first, Hannah 
Marble Feb. 10, 1710; second, Susanna Fuller of Topsfield Feb. 15, 1713; 
died in Sutton June 10, 1745; had children, the youngest of whom was 
Gen. Rufus Putnam of the Revolution; 4. Joseph4, born Nov. 1, 1687; 5. 
Mary4, born Aug. 14, 1689; married Thomas Flint; 6. Prudence4, born Jan. 
25, 1692; married William Wyman of Woburn Dec. 3, 1719; 7. Nehemiah4, 
born Dec. 20, 1693; 8. Ezra4, born Feb. 28, 1695; yeoman; lived in Tops¬ 
field and Middleton; married Elizabeth Fuller March 6, 1719; she died in 
Middleton Oct. 21, 1747; he died there the next day; had children; 9. 
Isaac4, born March 14, 1698; yeoman; lived in Topsfield and Sutton; 
married Anna Fuller Dec. 20, 1720; died in Sutton in 1757; had children; 
10. Abigail4, baptized May 26, 1700; married Joseph Fuller of Middleton 
Nov. 11, 1730; lived in Lunenburg. Joseph Putnam3; married Elizabeth 
Porter April 21, 1690; died in 1724-5; she married, secondly, Capt. 
Thomas Perley of Boxford May 15, 1727, and died in 1746; children: 1. 
Mary4, born Feb. 2, 1690-1; married Bartholomew Putnam; 2. Elizabeth4, 
born April 12, 1695; married Jonathan Putnam; 3. Sarah4, born Sept. 26, 

1697; married Eleazer Brown; 4. William4, born Feb. 8, 1699-1700; 5. 
Rachel4, born Aug. 7, 1702; married, first, John Trask; second, John Leach; 
6. Anna4, born April 26, 1705; married Jethro Putnam; 7. David4, born 
Oct. 25, 1707; 8. Eunice4, born April 13, 1710; married Thomas Perley of 
Boxford Sept. 20, 1731; 9. -4 (son), born April 14, 1713; died April 
T4> 7 713; IO- Huldah4, born Nov. 29, 1716; married Francis Perley of 
Boxford July 19, 1734; 11. Israel4, born Jan. 7, 1717-8; 12. Mehitable4, 
born Jan. 13, 1720; married Dr. Richard Dexter of Topsfield March 24, 
i/4L Samuel 1 utnam3; married Elizabeth -; died in 1676; she 
manual second, Benjamin Collins of Lynn Sept. 5> 1677; children: 1. 
Elizabeth ; 2. Samuel. John Putnam3; farmer; married Hannah Cutler 
fit. 2 1678; died Sept. , 1722; she survived him; children: 1. Hannah4, 

> >tn Aug. 22, 1679; died young; 2. Elizabeth4, born Nov. 26, 1680; married 

,f’9°;. parried Isaac Buxton; 9. Rebecca4 (twin)/born Aug. 16, 1691 • 
married in 1715; 10. Jobi (twin), born Aug. 16, 1691; n. Sarah4,’ 

un¬ 
born 
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elder, in exchange for one hundred acres formerly granted to 

March 5, 1693; 12. Joshua4, born in 1695; 13. Amos4, born Jan. 27, 1697; 
14. Priscilla4, born May 7, 1699. Capt. Benjamin Putnam3; married, 
first, Hannah -; she died Dec. 21, 1705; married, second, Sarah 
Holton July 1, 1706; he died about 1715; children: 1. Josiah4, baptized 
Oct. 2, 1687; probably died young; 2. Nathaniel4, born Aug. 25, 1686; 3. 
Tarrant4, born April 12, 1688; 4. Elizabeth4, born Jan. 8, 1690; married 
Robert Hutchinson; 5.. Benjamin4, born Jan. 8, 1692-3; 6. Stephen, born 
Oct. 27, 1694; 7. Daniel4, born Nov. 12, 1696; H. C., 1717; clergyman; 
lived in Reading; married Rebecca Putnam Feb. 25, 1718; died in Read¬ 
ing June 20, 1759; had children; 8. Israel4, born Aug. 22, 1699; lived in 
Bedford; married Sarah Bacon of Billerica; died in Bedford Nov. 12, 
1760; had children; 9. Cornelius4, born Sept. 3,. 1702; lived in Sutton; 
married, first, Sarah Hutchinson Nov. 17, 1725; she died in Sutton June 
9, 1741; married, second, Elizabeth (Nelson), widow of William Perkins 
of Sutton Nov. 12, 1741; he died in Sutton in 1761; had children. Capt. 

Jonathan Putnam3; farmer; married, first, Elizabeth Whipple; she died 
Aug. 8, 1682; married, second, Lydia Potter of Ipswich; died March 2, 
1739; children: 1. Samuel4, born in 1682; died Nov. —, 1682, aged fifteen 
weeks; 2. Lydia4, born Oct. 4, 1864; married Thomas Flint; 3. Elizabeth4, 
born Feb. 2, 1686-7; married John Porter; 4. Ruth4, born April 7, 1689; 
died March 26, 1700; 5. Susanna4, baptized May 25, 1690; 6. Jonathan, 
born May 8, 1691; 7. Esther4, born Nov. 18, 1693; married Daniel Marble; 
8. Jerusha4, born May 2, 1696; died Nov. 18, 1697; 9. Jerusha4, baptized 
Sept. 15, 1700; died Aug. 16, 1716; 10. David4, baptized Sept. 8, 1706. 
Lt. James Putnam3; farmer; married, first, Sarah -; she died Dec. 
25, I/I7; married, second, Mary (Read), widow of Daniel Rea March 16, 
1719-20; she died Feb. 14, 1726-7; he died April 7, 1727; children: 1. 
Sarah4, born Jan. 6, 1686; married Israel Porter; 2. Bartholomew4, born in 
1687; 3- James*, born in 1689; 4. Nathan4, born Oct. 22, 1693; mariner; 
died, unmarried, in 1723; 5. Jonathan4; died young; 6. Archelaus4, baptized 
July 4, 1697; died at Cambridge, when a student at Harvard College, May 
14, 1718; 7- Elizabeth5, born Aug. 4, 1700; married William Putnam; 8. 
Jethro4, baptized May 2, 1703. Eleazer Putnam3; farmer; married, first, 
Hannah Boardman; second, Elizabeth Rolfe of Newbury Nov. 14, 1711; 
died Jan. 25, 1732-3; she died Jan. 2, 1752; children: 1. Hannah4, born 
Dec. 8, 1693; married Nathan Peabody of Boxford Nov. 29, 1711; 2. 
Eleazer4, born Sept. _ 14, 1695; farmer; lived in Preston, Conn.; married 
Mrs. Hannah (Williams) Billings of Groton, Conn., Jan. 7, 1730; died 
Jan. 17, 1741; she died Aug. —, 1780; had children; 3. Sarah4; 4. Jeptha4, 
born Aug. 24, 1699; carpenter; lived in Sutton; married, first, Ruth Fuller 
March 11, 1728; she died in 1743; married, second, Mrs. Ruth Hayward 
of Beverly Jan. 8, 1746; had children; 5. Samuel4, born May 30, 
1707; 6. Henry4, born Aug. 14, 1712; 7. Apphiah4, born July 
8, 1716; married John Porter. John Putnam3; married Hannah 
-; died in 1736; children: 1. -4 (daughter), baptized Feb. 15, 
1691; 2. Caleb4, born Feb. 14 1693-4; 3. Mehitable4, born July 20, 1695; 
married Joseph Pope; 4. Miriam4, born Feb. 9, 1697-8; married Stephen 
Putnam; 5. Moses4, born May 29, 1700; 6. Ruth4, born July 13, 1703; 
married Samuel Flint; 7. Hannah4, born May 7, 1707; married James 
Prince. 

Thomas Putnam4; husbandman; married Elizabeth Whipple of Ips¬ 
wich April 10, 1705; died about 1757; children: 1. Thomas5, baptized 
Aug. 25, 1706; died young; 2. Phineas5, baptized April 4, 1708; 3. Mat¬ 
thew5, baptized Feb. _ 10, 1709-10; 4. Elizabeth5, baptized July 6, 1712; 
married Daniel Farrington of Andover; 5. Ebenezer5, baptized Jan. 17, 
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him; and if there shall be less than that amount there, it is to be 

married Daniel Gardner; 
baptized Nov. 13, 1720; 

— / 7 • ' ^ 4 - 

Samuel5, baptized Jan. 5, 1723-4; TO- 
married, first, Philip Preston; second, . ... 
Joseph Putnam4; married Lydia Flint; died m 1773; children: 
4 „ r » T 5 1 i.’ 1 A oA t*7 0/1 \\/ T 

7. 
9- 

1713-4; 6. Anna5, baptized May 6, 1716; 
Thomas’, baptized July 27, 1718; 8. _ Sarah. ^ ^ ^ ^. 

Samuel Kimball of Andover. 
I. Oliver0, 

William Put- 

22, 1728; married 
married Rebecca Perley of 

1. William5, baptized March 
Putnam Nov. 5, 1751; died 

baptized Oct. 21, 1722; 2. Joseph5, baptized April 26, 1724. ' 
nam4- married Elizabeth Putnam Jan. 30, 1723; died May 19, 1729, she 
married, second, John Putnam; children: 1. Elizabeth, baptized May 15, 
1726; married Jonathan Orne; 2. Sarah, baptized Dec. 
Capt. Jonathan Gardner. Col. David Putnam 

Boxford Nov. 24, 1728; died in 1768; children: 
8, 1729-30; lived in Sterling; married Elizabeth 
in 1807; had children; 2. Lucy5, baptized April 23, 1732; married Ezra Put¬ 
nam; 3. Allen5, born in 1732; died in 1759; 4- Mehitable , born in 1734; 
married Rev. Edward Perkins Sparhawk of Lynnfield; 5. Joseph", born 
Sept. 23, 1739; lived in Danvers; married Ruth Flint March 26, 177p! died 
March 9, 1818; had children; 6. Israel5, baptized June 20, 1742; lived in 
Danvers; married, first, Sarah Eppes Feb. 7, 1771 ; she died Oct. 8, 1784; 
married, second, Emme, widow of Ezra Prince of Danvers Feb 22, 1785^; 
he died Feb. 23, 1825; she died July 10, 1831; had children; 7. Eunice, 
baptized April 28, 1745; died young; 8. David", born in 1747; died in 1766; 
9. Eunice5, born in 1751; married Nathaniel Richardson; 10. Jesse", born 
Jan. 8, 1754. Maj.-General Israel Putnam4; an officer of the Revolu¬ 
tion; removed to Pomfret, Conn., in 1741; married, first, Hannah Pope 
July 19, 1739; she died at Brooklyn, Conn., Sept. 6, 1765; married, second, 
Deborah (Lothrop), widow of John Gardner June 3, 1767; she died at 
Putnam’s headquarters at Fishkill on the Hudson Oct. 14, 1777; he died 
at Brooklyn May 29, 1790; children (the first was born in Salem Village, 
the rest in Pomfret): 1. Israel5, born Jan. 28, 1739-40; colonel; lived in 
Pomfret, Conn., and Belpre, Ohio; married Sarah Waldo of Pomfret in 
1764; died in Belpre March 7, 1812; had children; 2. David", born 
March 10, 1742; 3. Hannah5, born Aug. 25, 1744; 4. Elizabeth5, born 
March 20, 1747; 5. Mehitable5, born Oct. 21, 1749; 6. Mary5, born May 10, 
1753; 7- Eunice5, born Jan. 10, 1756; 8. Daniel5, born Nov. 18, 1759; 9. 
David", born Oct. 14, 1761; 10. Peter Schuyler5, born Dec. 31, 1764. 
Samuel Putnam4; farmer; removed to Sudbury; married Mary Leach 
Oct. 19, 1709; died at Sudbury Dec. 30, 1753; children: 1. Samuel5, born 
Feb. 24, 1711-2; 2. John", born Oct. 8, 1715; lived in Framingham; married 
Sarah Maverick of Sudbury April 25, 1737; died at Oswego, N. Y., in the 
french and Indian War April —, 1762; had children; 3. Daniel5, born Nov. 
27, I7I7; died in Sudbury; 4. Elizabeth5, born Dec. 2, 1719; married - 

5. Hannah5, born July 7, 1722; 6. Nathan6, born June 
-Whitcomb of Bos- 

Hutchinson Feb. 19, 
July 31, 1714; 2. Enos5, 

May 5, 1744; died in 1780; 
3, 1718-9; 4. Peter5, baptized April 

. . 4, 1725; married William Putnam of 
baptized March 24, T727-8; 7. Ruth5, baptized June 

Tj . , Bussell. John Putnam4; married, first, Rachel 
Luxton March 16, 1717; second, Lydia Porter; died Feb. 10, 1764; she 

pi 1 22 1777, children: 1. Lydia5, born in 1718; married David 
March 2. 1737-8; 2. Israel5; living in 1750- - 

Robbins of Bolton 
7. 1725; 7- Mary5, born Feb. 13, 1728-9; married — 
ton. Josiah Putnam4; yeoman; married Ruth 
1712-3; died July 5, 1766; children: 1. Asa5, born 
born Oct. 6, 1716; married Sarah Goldtlnvaite 
no children; 3. Josiah5, born March 
5. H24; 5- Elizabeth5, baptized July 
Sterling; 6. Elisha5 
4. 1732; married — 

died 
Goodale 
4- 
in 

Amos5, born 
1727 

Sept. , 1722; 5. Edmund", born in 1724 
married James Swinnerton; 7. Phebe5 born 

759'* 3- John5, born in 1720; 

in 
6. Emma5, born 

1728; married 
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made near Lieutenant Davenport’s hill.2 There was also 

Gilbert Tapley; 8. Ede5, born in 1733; married John Swinnerton. Joshua 

Putnam1; married Rachel Goodale Feb. 2, 1721; died in 1739; she died in 
1744; children: 1. Hannah6, born June 16, 1722; married John Preston; 
2. Mary5, born June 26, 1727; married Timothy Prince; 3. Rachel4, born 
Dec. 2, 1728; living in 1744. Amos Putnam4; yeoman; married Hannah 
-; died in 1774; children: 1. Hannah5, baptized Oct. 1, 1727; 2. 
Amos5, born in 1729; lived in New Salem; married Lydia Trask of New 
Salem; died about 1790; she died in Houlton, Me., April 8, 1820; had 
children; 3. Joshua5, born in 1732-3; lived in New Salem; married Eunice 
Trask; had children; 4. Uzziel5, born in 1735; deacon; lived in New 
Salem; married-Ganson; had children; 5. Daniel5, born in 1738; 
deacon; lived in Danvers; married Elizabeth Putnam March 27, 1760; died 
Nov. 13, 1801; had children; 6. Lydia5, baptized June 14, 1741; married, 
first, Samuel Putnam; second, Timothy Page. Dea. Nathaniel Putnam4; 

yeoman; married Hannah Roberts June 4, 1709; died Oct. 21, 1754; she 
died about 1763; children: 1. Nathaniel5, baptized Oct. 1, 1710; died 
March 4, 1711; 2. Jacob5, born March 9, 1711-2; 3. Nathaniel5, born April 
4, 1714; died Feb. 11, 1720; 4. Sarah5, born June 1, 1716; unmarried in 
1763; 5. Archelms5, born May 29, 1718; 6. Ephraim5, born Feb. 20, 1719-20; 
deacon; lived in Lyndeborough, N H.; married Sarah Cram of Reading; 
she died Oct. 15, 1777; he died Nov. 13, T777; had children; 7. H mnh6, 
born March 4, 1721-2; married Solomon Hutchinson of Amherst, N. H.; 
8. Nathanielborn May 28, T724; 9. Mehitable5, born Feb. 26, T726-7; 

married Reuben Harriman (Harrington?) of Haverhill, N. H., June 4, 
17^7; 10. Kezia5; married - Marble. Tarrant Putnam4; married 
Elizabeth Bacon June 8, 1715; died in 1732; she died Aug. 23, t761 ; 
children: 1. Tarrant6, born April 3, 1716; deacon; lived in Sutton; married 
Priscilla Baker of Topsfield Dec. 9, 1742; died Aug. 24, 1794; she died 
March 16, 1812; had children; 2. Elizabeth5, born May 20, 1718; married 
Samuel Putnam; 3. Solomon0, born June 5, 1720; blacksmith; died in 
1752; 4. Mary5, born April 26, 1724; married Samuel Enclicott; 5. 
Gideon5, born May 29, 1726; deacon; joiner and storekeeper; lived in 
D invers; married Hannah Browne of Beverly June 4, 1752; died May 17, 
i8tt; she died Nov. 6. 1813; had children; 6. Israel5, born Sept. 24, 1730; 
married Betty Dale June 20, 1754; drowned near Baker’s Island Nov. 5, 
1756; had a child; 7. Sarah5, born April 29, 1733; living in 1752- 
Benjamin Putnam1; yeoman; married, first, Bethiah Hutchinson June 
9, 1715; she died Dec. 9, 1726; married, second, Abigail Hutchinson March 
5, 1727-8; he died in 1744; children: 1. -5 (daughter), born Sept. 
2, 17r6; died Oct. 10, 1716; 2. -5 (daughter), born Oct. 3, 1717; died 
Oct. 3, 1717; 3. Benjamin5, born Oct. 12, 1718; 4. -5 (son), born May 
31, 1721; died May 31, 1721; 5. Eunice5, born May 21, 1722; married 
Francis Nurse; 6.-6 (son), born March 10, 1725; died March 10, T725; 
7- -5 (daughter), born Nov. 26, 1726; died Dec. 11, 1726; 8. Abigail0, 
born June 27, 1729. Lt. Stephen Putnam4; married Miriam Putnam May 
30, 1718; died in 1772; children: 1. Stephen5, born March 19, 1718-9; 
died young; 2. Miriam5, born April 9, 1721; married Elisha Flint; 3. Rufus5, 
born Sept. 11, 1723; 4. Timothy5, born Jan. 10, 1725-6; married Elizabeth 
(Nurse'), widow of Caleb Putnam in t755; died in 1756; she married, 
third, Richard Upham of Reading, and removed to Nova Scotia; had a 
child; 5. Phineas5, born June 10, 1728; lived in Danvers; married Mary 
Whipple of Andover Aug. 10, 1752; died in 1817; had children; 6. Aaron5, 
born Aug. 30, 1730; farmer and carpenter; lived in Danvers; married 
Lydia Waters Jan. 4, 1759; died in 1810; she died Jan. 23, 1831; had 
children; 7. Sarah5, born Feb. 21, 1732; married - Ingalls; 8. 
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granted to Mr. Putnam ten acres of Pine meadow if that amount 

was left ungranted there. 

Hannah8, born May 13, 1735; unmarried in 1769; 9. Moses0, born Sept. 
23. 1739; H. C., 1759; school teacher; lived in Boxford from 1766 to 
1773 and afterwards in Wilton, N. H.; married Rebecca Kimball of 
Boxford June 13, 1770 she died Oct. 15, 1797; he died July 25, 1801; 
had children; 10. Stephen5, born Feb. 14, I74I-2; carpenter; lived in 
Danvers; married, first, Ruth Putnam; second, Susanna Herrick; had 
children. Jonathan Putnam4; married Elizabeth Putnam Feb. 12, 
1714-5; died Jan. 17, 1732; she married, second, Benjamin Houlton Nov. 
25, 1736; children: 1. Jonathan5, born July 13, I7!5; 2. David5, born 
Nov. 7, 1717; living in 1732; 3- Elizabeth5, born Nov. 28, 1719; died Aug. 
8, 1728; 4. Aaron5, born Dec. 23, 1721; died Aug. 4, 1728; 5. Nathan6, born 
Dec. 6, 1723; chairmaker; lived in Boston; died in 1748; 6- Mary5, born 
Feb. 19, 1725-6; married William Cleaves of Beverly; 7. Elizabeth5, born 
Nov. 19, 1728; married Joshua Cleaves. David Putnam4; yeoman; 
married Anna Houlton; died Feb. 3, 1760; she died Sept. 25, 1763; children: 
1. Eunice5, baptized March 31, 1750-1; 2. David5, born July 15, 1755; 
lived in Danvers; married Elenor Haskell; died Aug. 12, 1825; had 
children; 3. Houlton5, baptized Aug. 28, 1757; died young. Bartholomew 

Putnam4; mariner; married Mary Putnam July 6, 1710; died at sea 
Afay 23, 1723; children: 1. Bartholomew5, born March 3, 1711-2; 2. 
Joseph5, born Aug. 1, 1714; chairmaker; lived in Boston; married, first, 
Sarah Urann Feb. 19, 1735; second, Elizabeth Comeston in 1765; had 
children; 3. William5, born Aug. 1, 1717; chairmaker; lived in Boston; 
married Ruth Leach Oct. 16, 1740; died in 1749; had children; 4. Mary5, 
born Sept. 19, 1719- James Putnam4; married Ruth Hathorne; she was 
living in 1751; he died in 1763; children: 1. Sarah5, baptized Dec. 4, 1715; 
married Jonathan Browne of Newbury; 2. Ebenezer5, born in 1717; 3. 
Archelaus5, born in 1721; 4. Abide5; died young; 5. Nathan5; died without 
children; 6. James5, born in 1726; H. C., 1746; lawyer; lived in Worcester; 
married, first, Eleanor Sprague Aug. 14, 1750; second, Elizabeth Chandler 
Sept. 20, 1754; died at St. John, N. B., Oct. 23, 1789; she died May 2, 
j798; had children. Jethro Putnam4; married Anne Putnam April 14, 
1726; died in 1750. she survived him; children: 1. Huldah6, baptized 
April 16, 1727; married Dea. John Flint; 2. Enoch5, born Feb. 18, 1731-2; 
colonel; lived in Danvers; married, first, Hannah Putnam April 12, 1754; 
she died Dec. 18, 1776; married, second, Elizabeth Stratton of Lincoln 
March 25, 1778; he died about 1796; had children; 3. Rebecca5, baptized 
8cpt. 5, 1736; married Peter Putnam; 4. Nanny5, baptized Feb. 18, 1738-9; 
probably died young. Samuel Putnam4; yeoman; lived in Danvers and 

• IHUpH nt t • , A ’ J/b2. Henry Putnam4; married Hannah 
7^77'u l ■ a* Lexington April 19, i775; children: 1. Henry5 born in 
/3/, ivcd in Danvers; married Sarah Putnam Afarch 8, 1762; had 
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March 25, 1641, the town granted to Thomas Buxton three 
acres of ground lying by the rails “on the inside at the end of the 

children; 2. Eleazer5, born June 5, 1738; yeoman; lived in Medford; 
married Mary Crosby of Billerica; had children; 3. Elijah5, born July 23, 
1741; probably EL C., 1766; 4. Roger5, born Oct. 10, 1743; yeoman; lived 
in Medford; had children; 5. John5, born Oct. 11, 1745; died in 1763; 6. 
Billings5, born May 11, 1749; lived in Newburyport; married, first, Hannah 
Wier Allen of Newburyport April 19, 1775; she died Oct. 14, 1798; 
married, second, Mary Harris Nov. 12, 1810; he died Jan. 28, 1814; had 
children; 7. Benjamin5, born Aug. 26, 1751; physician; married Ann 
Sophia Malcolm of Washington; died in Savannah, Ga., in 1801; had 
children. Caleb Putnam4 ; farmer; married, first, Silence Dunchell Dec. 
7, 1720; second, Elizabeth -; died in 1757; children: 1. Moses5, 
born Nov. 18, 1721; died Oct 5, 1735; 2 Mehitable5, born Nov. 6, 1723; 
married Archelaus Putnam; 3. Caleb5, born Feb. 10, 1725-6; yeoman; lived in 
Danvers; married Elizabeth Nurse; died April 17, 1751; she married 
secondly, Timothy Putnam; and, thirdly, Richard Upham; had children; 
4. John5, born Dec. 25, 1727; died Aug. 25, 1728; 5. Mary5, born Nov. 8, 
1729; died March 12, 1734; 6. John5, born April 23, 1733; 7. Peter5, born 
July 2, 1735; lived in Danvers; married, first, Lydia Endecott Jan. 27, 1756; 
second, Rebecca Putnam; died in 1773; had children; 8. Moses5, born 
Aug. 31, 1737; 9. Mary5, born July 16, 1739. 

Dea. Samuel Putnam5; removed to Lunenburg about 1759; married 
Sarah Nurse April 4, 1742; died Jan. 2, 1775; she was living in 1777; 
children: 1. Elizabeth6, born Nov. 24, 1744; 2. Thomas6, born Nov. 10, 
1747; died Dec. 26, 1747; 3. Sarah6, born Nov. 10, 1748; died July •—, 
1787; 4. Anna6, born May 8, 1753; 5. Mitchell6, born June 13, 1754; 6. 
Mary6, born July 4, 1755; 7. Samuel6, born May 4, 1757; 8. Samuel® 
(twin), born July 30, 1758; 9. Anna6 (twin), born July 30, 1758; 10. 
Elizabeth6, born June 1, 1761; 11. Lucy6, born Nov. 15, 1764; 12. Clarissa6, 
born Jan. 9, 1768. Oliver Putnam5; lived in Danvers; married Hannah 
Brown Dec. 22, 1743; died about 1790; children: 1. William6, born May 
27, 1744; lived in Danvers; married Bethiah Putnam Aug. 6, 1766; died in 
1800; had children; 2. Mehitable5, baptized Aug. 16, 1747; married Joseph 
Knight of Middleton in 1794; 3. Oliver6, baptized Feb. 4, 1753 5 4- Lydia6, 
baptized Dec. 29, 1754; 5. Lucy6, baptized Jan. 30, 1763. Joseph Putnam5; 

lived in Danvers; married Mary Porter Jan. 31, 1745; died in 1781; she 
died in 1811; children: 1. Lydia6, baptized July 27 1746; 2. Sarah6, bap¬ 
tized Jan. 29, 1748-9; died young; 3. Joseph6, baptized April 21, 1751; lived 
in Danvers; married Anna Putnam Dec. 2, 1773; she died Sept. 21, 1815; 
he died in Salem Sept. 25, 1834; had children; 4. Israel6, baptized June 
24, 1753; 5- Mary6, baptized Sept. 14, 1755; 6. Lydia6, baptized Feb. 26, 
1:758; 7. John6, baptized Jan. 18, 1761; 8. Betty6, baptized Oct. 30, 1763; 9. 
Mary6, baptized Jan. 26, 1767; 10. Porter6, baptized March 25, 1770. 
Dea. Asa Putnam5 ; farmer; lived in Danvers; married, first, Sarah 
Putnam Nov. 30, 1738; she died Sept. 25, 1762; married, second, Mary 
Walcott Aug. 23, 1764; died in 1795; children: 1. Sarah6, born Oct. 22, 
1739; married Jeremy Hutchinson; 2. Elisha6, born March 16, 1741; lived 
in Danvers; married Rebecca Brown Oct. 18, 1764; died Feb. 16, 1817; had 
children; 3. Josiah6, baptized. March 11, 1743-4; died Oct. 6, 1754; 4- Asa6, 
baptized May 27, 1750; died Oct. 8. 1754; 5- Peter6, baptized Feb. 18, 1753 5 
6. Hannah6, born Jan. 9, 1755; 7. Mary6, born Aug. 4, 1765; 8. Elizabeth6, 
born Feb. 2, 1767. John Putnam5; lived in Danvers; married Ruth 
Swinnerton Feb. 4, 1741; died in 1786; children: 1. Nathan6, born Nov. 
3, 1742; 2. John6, born Dec. 10, 1743; married Abigail Small Oct. 31, 
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tenn Acre lots in the North Side”; and appointed Roger Mory 

1765: had children; 3. Daniel*, born April 19, 1748; deacon; representative; 
lived in Fitchburg; married Rachel Small Dec. 14, 1769; died April 26, 
18135 she died Jan. 26, 1819! had children 5 4* Janies , born July 16, I/50, 
deacon; lived in Danvers; married Eunice l ope Sept. 16, 1773 > she died 
March 6, 1808; he died Aug. 21, 1819; had children; 5- Peter, born Oct. 
^ 175r; lived in Danvers; married Eunice Endxott beb. 27, 1783; died 
March 29, 1802; she died Dec. 24, 1854. aged ninety-six; had children; 6. 
Amos0, born May 25, 1752. Dr. Amos Putnam5; physician; lived in 
Danvers; married, first, Hannah Phillips March 18, 1743; she died Oct.. 2, 
17=18; married, second, Mary Gott of Wenham Aug. 13, 1759! she died 
Feb. 15, 1803; he died July 26, 1807; children: 1. James Phillips0, born 
April 21, 1745; physician; lived in Danvers; married Mary Herrick of 
Pomfret, Conn., in 1768; died March 4, 1824; she died Dec. 13, 1840, aged 
ninety-one; had children; 2. Hannah6, born Sept. 18, r7495 married 
Nathan Putnam; 3. Elizabeth0, born March 8, 1753. Dea. Edmund 

Putnam6; farmer and tailor; lived in Topsfield from 1753 to 1758, and 
returned to Danvers; married Anna Andrews Oct. —, 17451 died in 1810; 
children: 1. Huldah6, born May 18, 1746; married Joseph Woodbury of 
Beverly May 6, 1766; 2. Andrew6, born Jan. 15, 1750-1; married Mary 
Page of Danvers Sept. 1, 1774; died in New York City in 1785; she 
married, secondly, Benjamin Kent; had children; 3. Israel0, born Nov. 
20, 1754; 4. Sarah6, born Dec. 19, 1756; 5. Edmund6, born Jan. 15. 1772. 
Jacob Putnam5; settled in Wilton, N. H., in 1742; married, first, Susanna 
Harriman July —, 1735; second, Susanna Styles; she died Jan. 27, 1776; 
married, third, Patience-; he died Feb. 10, 1781; children: 1. Sarah6, 
born June 28, 1736; married Jonathan Cram of Wilton; 2 Nathaniel6, 
born April 24, 1738; lived in Wilton; married, first, Mary Eastman of 
Hampstead, N. H., Dec. 2, 1762; she died Dec. 28, 1777; married, second, 
Phebe Snow Sept. 17, 1778; he died May 20, 1790; she married, second, 
Jonas Thayer of Heath Jan. 18, 1795; had children; 3. Philip6, born 
March 4, 1739-40; died young; 4. Stephen6, born Sept. 24, 1741; farmer; 
lived in Temple, N. H., and Rumford, Me.; married Olive Varnum; died 
in Rumford June 29, 1812; had children; 5. Philip6, born March —, 
T742-3; 6. Joseph6, born Feb. 28, 1744-5; 7. Mehitable6, born Dec. 25, 1745; 
8. Jacob6, born Nov. 15, 1747; 9. Archelaus6, born Oct. 15, 1749; 10. 
Caleb', born March 20, 1751; n. Elizabeth6, born April 15, 1753; 12. 
1 eter . born Jan. S, 1756- Dea. Archelaus Putnam’; lived in Dmvers; 
married Mehitable Putnam April 12, 1739; he died in 1756; she married, 
secondly, Col. Israel Hutchinson; children i i. -6 (daughter), born 
CfV 25> 1739; 2. Archelaus6. born Nov. 16, 174°; lived in Danvers; married 
Abigail Goodrich in 1761; died April 14, 1800; had children; 3. Mehitable6, 
><nn Nov. 11, 1742; 4. Ephraim6, born Sept. 30, 1744; lived in Lyndebor- 

ough N H.; married Rachel Cram in 1768; died May it, 1821; she 

;!!e(TVw^,nl 2<^L 1 chihlrcn > Nathaniel6, born May 17, 1746; lived 
died 

5, 
Nov. 
born 

Ahi^n1NwrN,EIc.Y17AM"; re,”oved t0 Wilton. N. H„ in 1748; married 
tern ,lv ‘ '744; d-'C? July '763; children: J. Mary*. 
Porn July 24, 1744; died unmarried; 2. Sarah6 born Anril pi tv^-* dipd 

4’"'uieail* rTC'5 ’ T" °Ct' 24, 748 '■ rcmoved ‘o Cherry Valley, N. Y.; 
L fF P- SePt 24, 1746 (?); married -- Serin ure- < 
Mehitable , born m .750; 6. Rachel*, born April I2, ,7SI; 7. Miriam*, born 
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and Lawrence Sonthwick to keep the cows, etc., as last year. 

May 16, 1753; 8. Susanna6; 9. Sarah6, born April 20, 1755; 10. Daniel6, 
born Feb. 27, 1760; 11. Benjamin6, born March 9, 1762. Dea. Gideon 

Putnam5; deacon; joiner and storekeeper; lived in Danvers; married 
Hannah Browne of Beverly June 4, 1752; died May 17, 1811; she died 
Nov. 6, 1813; children: 1. Hannah6, born May 2, 1753; 2. Gideon6, born 
Sept. 19, 1756; 3. Solomon6, born May 24, 1759; 4. Anna6, born April 
12, 1761; 5. Abraham6, born Dec. 16, 1762; 6. Jonathan6, born Feb. 12, 1765; 
7. Elizabeth6, born Oct. 27, 1766; 8. Samuel6, born May 13, 1768; 
9. Elijah6, born Feb. 26, 1771; 10. Hannah6, born Jan. 29, 1774. Serg. 

Benjamin Putnam5; lived in Danvers; married Sarah Putnam July 28, 
1741; died April 26, 1796; children: 1. Benjamin6, born Aug. 29, 1742; died 
May 26, 1747; 2. Sarah6, born May 17, 1745; died Sept. 10, 1766; 3. 
Bethiah6, born Sept. 9, 1748; married William Putnam; 4. Eunice6, born 
July 31, 1751; died Jan. 26, 1755; 5. Ruth6, born June 26, 1752; 6. Benjamin6, 
born April 28, 1756. Jonathan Putnam5; lived in Danvers; married 
Sarah Perley of Boxford Nov. 2, 1736; died Dec. —, 1762; children: 1. 
Jeremiah6, born Oct. 31, 1737; captain; served in the French War and 
Revolution; lived in Danvers; married Rachel Fuller Feb. 3, 1763; died 
Sept. 16, 1799; had children; 2. Sarah6, born March 2, 1738; married 
Henry Putnam; 3. Jonathan6, born Dec. 30, 1740; probably died Nov. —, 
1762; 4. Hannah6, born Dec. 10, 1742; married - Foster; 5. 
Elizabeth6, born Jan. 11, 1744-5; died young; 6. Lydia6, born July 15, 
1747; married Ebenezer Rea; 7. Nathan5, born Sept. 8, 1749; 8. Levi6, 
born Aug. 1, 1751; 9. Perley6, born March 17, 175410. Aaron6, born 
Sept. 6, 1756. Bartholomew Putnam6; tailor; lived in Salem; married 
Ruth Gardner Nov. 2, 1734-5; died about 1753; she married, secondly, 
Capt. Benjamin Goodhue Feb. 24, 1771; children: 1. Mary6, baptized 
Aug. 22, 1736; 2. Bartholomezv6, born Feb. 2, 1737-8; 3. Ruth6, born April 
15, 1740; married William Ward; 4. Sarah6, born Jan. 17, 1743; married 
John Elkins; 5. William6, born Feb. 25, 1745-6; died young; 6. John6, 
born Dec. 2, 1748; 7. William6, born April 7, 1751. Dr. Ebenezer Put¬ 

nam5; H. C., 1739; physician; married Margaret Scollay Oct. 28, 1764; 
died Aug. 12, 1788; she died April —, 1808; children: 1. Sarah6, born 
Aug. 30, 1765; married Nathaniel Ropes; 2. Ebenezer6, born Sept. 22, 1769. 
Lt. Archelaus Putnam5; lived in Salem Village; married Ruth Flint 
Dec. 4, 1740; children: 1. Ebenezer6, baptized May 2, 1742; 2. Archelaus6, 
baptized Dec. 9, 1744; physician; lived in Danvers; married Nabby Bishop 
of Medford Nov. 12, 1786; died in 1810; she died in Medford Dec. 17, 
1807; had children; 3. Mary6, baptized March 20, 1747-8; 4. James6, bap¬ 
tized Aug. 9, 1747; 5. Ebenezer6, baptized April 8, 1750; 6. Ruth6, baptized 
Jan. 12, 1751-2; married Francis Perley of Boxford Dec. 13, 1771. 

Hon. Samuel Putnam6; judge; married Sarah Gool Oct. 28, 1795; chil¬ 
dren: 1. Samuel7, born March 2, 1797; 2. Hannah7, born June 21, 1799; 3. 

Loisa, born Oct. 4, 1801; 4. Mary Ann7, born Aug. 20, 1803; 5. Charles 
Gideon7, born Nov. 7, 1805; 6. Elizabeth Cabot7, born Nov. 11, 1807; 7. 

Sarah Gooll7, born June 1, 1810; 8. John Pickering7, baptized Feb. 7, 

1813. Nathan Putnam6; lived in Danvers; married Hannah Putnam 
Oct. 23, 1771; she died Nov. 26, 1802; he died April 10, 1823; children: 1. 

Nathan7, born March 18, 1773; 2. Perley1, born Sept. 16, 1778; 3. David7, 
born Dec. 23, 1780; 4. Amos7, born Feb. 10, 1785; 5. Hannah Phillips7, 
born Nov. 23, 1786; 6. John7, born May 20, 1791. Capt. Bartholomew 

Putnam6; collector of the port; married Sarah Hodges May 13, 1760; 

died April 17, 1815; she died Oct. 17, 1830; children: 1. Sarah7, born 
Sept. 9, 1762; married, first, Thomas Palfray; second, Stephen 
Webb Sept. 2, 1784; 2. Elizabeth7, born Dec. 7, 1764; married Winthrop 
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At the Salem court, March 30, 1641, James Smith, ji., again 
appeared for stealing. Reuben Guppy was first in Salem, 
in this court, having been complained of for running away to 

Gray • 3. Priscilla', born Aug. 21, 1766; married Henry Clark 4. Ruth, 
born June 27 1768; married Michael Webb; 5- Bartholomew1, born Sept. 
20 1772; died unmarried; 6. William7, born Sept. 10, 1776; died unmarried. 
Ebenezer Putnam1'; H. C., 1785; merchant; married, first, Sarah Fiske 
May 22, 1791; she died Jan. 7, 1795; married, second, Elizabeth Fiske Nov. 
H 1796; she died March —, 1808; he died Feb. 25, 1826; children: 1. 
Ebenezer7, born Aug. 27, 1792; died July 5,-1796; 2. Harriet, born Feb. 5, 
1794; died Nov. 22, 1794; 3. Ebenezer', born Sept. 6, 1797; 4- Ada1 (twin), 
born May 22, 1799; died May 22, 1799; 5. Harriet7 (twin), born May 22, 
1799; died May 22, 1799; 6. John Fisk7, born May 25, 1800; mariner; died 
July 14, 1881; 7. Charles Fiske7, born Oct. 19, 1802; died Dec. 31, 1862; 
8. George7, born June 10, 1804; druggist; died, unmarried, Dec. 4, i860; 9. 
Edzvardborn Jan. 23, 1806; 10. Francis7, born Jan. 3, 1808; died March 
26, 1878. 

Col. Perley Putnam7; city marshall; ship carpenter; married 
Betsey Preston Nov. 5, 1801; she died Dec. 31, 1850; he died July 4, 1864; 
children: 1. Eliza8, born July 29, 1802; married James B. Goodhue; 2. 
Mary Ann8, born May 17, 1805; died Sept. 2, 1871; 3. Cynthia8, born Oct. 5, 
1806; died Jan. 14, 1853; 4- Rebecca Cleves8, born Aug. 1, 1808; died June 
14, 1834; 5. Adaline8 (twin), born May 13, 1810; died in infancy; 6. 
Augusta8 (twin), born May 13, 1810; married Charles B. Goodhue; 7. 
Perley Zebulon Montgomery Pikcs, born Feb. 14, 1813; 8. John Preston8, 
born June 19, 1815; 9. Elbridge Gerry8, born April 2, 1817; died, un¬ 
married, in Philadelphia, Pa.; 10. Caroline Matilda8, born July 2, 1820; mar¬ 
ried William B. Brown. Ebenezer Putnam7; H. C., 1815; married Elizabeth 
Appleton Sept. 25, 1827; died April 3, 1876; she died April 27, 1887; children: 
1. Charles Appleton8, born June 10, 1828; civil engineer; died May 25, 1899; 
2. Elizabeth W. A.8, born Jan. 7, 1831; 3. William Henry Appleton8, born 
Feb. 6, 1832; 4. Ellen Maria8, born July 28, 1835; married Alfred Stone; 
5. Frederic Ward8, born April 16, 1839. Capt. Edward Putnam7, master 
mariner and merchant; married Margaret Sage June 13, 1839; died Nov. 
21, 1852; she died in Roxbury Jan. 3, 1892; child: 1. Alice Louise8, born 
April 3, 1840; married William Dorr Boardman of Boston April 3, 1863. 

Perley Zebulon Montgomery Pike Putnam8; married Alary E. Whit¬ 
ney; lost at sea Sept. 9, 1849; children: 1. Mary Eliza9, born Alav 26, 1841; 
2. Perley9, born Jan. 20, 1843; 3- Francis Goodhue9, born Alay 12, 1845; 
4. Rebecca Augusta'1, born Sept. 22, 1847; 5. Frances Tuttle9, born Sept. 
27,4849. John Preston Putnam8; married Helen M. Alden Jan. 13, 
1848; she died June 5, 1852; child: 1. Granville A.9, born Aug. 16, 1849; 
sl George Granville8, born May 19, 1852; journalist; married Hattie W. 
Kinsman Oct. ^9, 1901; she died Aug. 25, 1924. Prof. Frederic 
Ward 1 1 ixam ; ethnologist and naturalist; removed to Cambridge; 
married, tnst, Adelaide Martha Edmands of Cambridge Tune 1, 
I864, she died March 10, 1879; married, second, Esther brne Clarke 
, ,ncago> fib April 29, 1882; he died Aug. 14, 1915; children: 1. Eben9, 
horn Oct. 10 1868; genealogist; resides at Wellesley Farms; married 
Homice I usker ; has children; 2. Alice Edmands9; 3. Ethel Appleton 
Fiske ; married John Hart Lewis of Afinot N. D. 

'Reuben Guppy1 was born about 1605; married Eleanor 
in 1678; children : 1. Mary2, born about 1640; married John Glo’ver; 2. 

(son); living in 1647; 3. John2, born Oct. 12, 1648; 4. Reuben2, 
born Jan. 6, 1650-1 ; living in 1668; 5. Rachel2; married Samuel Phippen. 

; living 
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the eastward from his wife who was about to be confined in 
childbirth, and for stealing, blasphemy, lying and swearing. The 
blasphemy probably was based on his statement, as to why he did 
not attend religious services, that the parings of his nails and a 
chip were as acceptable to God as the day of thanksgiving. 
Mathew Jellet (Gillet), a boy apprenticed to George Williams, 
appeared in court as to the termination of his apprenticeship. I11 
1646, Gillett was living in Marblehead. The wife of Hugh 
Browne must have been a virago, as she was in court for break¬ 
ing her husband’s head, threatening that she would kill him, 
“so that he is weary of his life,” throwing stones at him, calling 
him beast, wishing him hanged and that he might never come 

home. 
In 1641, the town “Granted to Marble head Inhabitants all 

such lands nere adjoyning to them as have not been formerly 
granted to other men. And the said lands thus granted to 
Marble head men are to be disposed of by themselves provided 
it be done with the consent of one of our seven men appoynted 
for the afayres of our towne, who shalbe helpfull and ready to 
joyne with them in the disposing of it, and therefore the town 
hath chosen Jeffry Massy to be joyned unto them for the pres- 

ent.”1 
At the quarter court in Boston June 1, 1641, “Salem is en¬ 

joined to amend the short swamp within a month, and the other 
ways within six months, upon pain of five pounds.” 

At the general court of elections, June 2, 1641, Richard 
Bellingham was elected governor by a doubtful election; and he 
married himself to a young woman, refusing to be published 
where he dwelt, contrary to the constant practice of the country 
and an order of the court. The grand jury presented him for 
breach of the order of court, and in the month of his election the 
secretary called him to answer. He would not leave the bench 
to do so, and put the matter off. The “young gentle woman 
was “ready to be contracted” to a friend of the governor, who 
lodged in his house, when on a sudden the governor impressed 
upon her the strength of his affection, and obtained her for 

himself.2 

John Guppy2; tailor; married, first, Abigail Kitchen June 3, 1669; 
probably married, second, Susanna Starkey Jan. 26, 1699-1700; was^ living 
in 1715; children: 1. Abigail3, born May 31, 1672; 2. Elizabeth", born 
Feb. 8, 1674-5; married Nehemiah Wilkins Dec. —, 1708; 3- Rachel'; 
married Henry Phelps of Reading; 4. Bethiah3; married Thomas Marston 
April 10, 1723; living in Boston in 1769. 

Against this record in the margin is written: “Marblehead to lay 
out their owne lands.” 

2Winthrop’s Journal, Boston, 1852, volume II, page 43. 
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The quarter courts at Salem were now changed. Hence¬ 
forth, two were to be held in Salem and two at Ipswich. One 
was to be held at Ipswich on the last Tuesday of September, and 
the others as they were then held. The magistrates were ordered 
to attend each of these courts, and the jurisdiction was general, 
except in trials for life, limb or banishment, over which the court 
of assistants had jurisdiction. Also, appeals could be taken to 
the court of assistants, and in an action of more than one hun¬ 
dred pounds principal concurrent jurisdiction was given to the 
court of assistants. 

June 2, 1641, the general court desired the elders to make a 
catechism “for the instruction of youth in the grounds of re¬ 
ligion." 

At the quarterly court at Salem, June 29, 1641, John Kettle, 
a boy apprenticed to John Lovett of Mackerel Cove, was ordered 
to be severely whipped "for breaking open John Ward’s house 
and stealing milk (though he had eat milk that same morning) 
and his wilfull breach of the Sabbath." 

Thomas Robbins 
appeared in Salem in 1 
at the age of twenty-th. _, 

and Walter Price2 had come from 
England in the spring, having 
brought with him a servant, 
named John Watkins, who died 
within six or seven weeks after 
landing. 

Thomas Robbins was born about i6i8t rarnentpr• marriprl fircfi 
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Sept. 2, 1641, “A day of thanksgiving was kept in all our 
churches for the good success of the parliament in England.”1 

At the general court, Oct. 7, 1641, Mr. Humphrey was 
given twenty marks at his departure, for his public charges and 
travel, in his place of sergeant-major; and constables were 
ordered to do the whipping, unless they could get others to do it. 

At the same court, it was ordered that November 4th be 
“kept a day of public humiliation throughout our jurisdiction, in 
regard of our wants, and the danger of our native country” (Eng¬ 
land ). 

Archibald Thomson of Marblehead, when carrying dung in 
a canoe to his ground upon the Lord’s day, Nov. 7 (?), 1641, in 
fair weather and still water, the canoe sunk under him in the 
harbor near the shore and he was never seen afterward.1 

The summer of this year was cold and wet, and much of the 
corn never ripened.2 The winter was very cold, and when the 
ice and snow melted in the spring most of the bridges and many 
mills were destroyed or badly injured. “One Warde of Salem, 
an honest young man, who going to show a traveller the safest 
passage over the river, as he thought, by the salthouse, fell in, 
and though he had a pitch fork in his hand, yet was presently 
carried under the ice by the tide. The traveller fell in with one 
leg while he went to help the other, but God preserved him. 
He had about him all the letters from England which were 
brought in a ship newly arrived at the Isle of Shoals, which sure 
were the occasion of God’s preserving' him, more than any good¬ 
ness of the man.” Ward was drowned. 

Dec. 3, 1641, the town granted to William Dodge and John 
Ward twenty acres of land each; to Phineas Fiske twenty acres 
more at the village near the pond; and to Richard Dodge and 
Hilliard Verrin forty acres each. 

born July 23, 1671; living in 1674. Capt. John Price2; married Sarah 
Wolcott of Connecticut Jan. —, 1673-4; died Aug. 13, 1691; she died 
March 25, 1698; children: 1. Walter3, born May 17, 1676; 2. John3, 
baptized Aug. 18, 1678; died in 1679; 3. Hannah3, baptized July 31, 1681; 
died in 1684 (?), aged three years; 4. Sarah3; died between 1674 and 
1691, aged one year. 

Maj. Walter Price3; merchant; married, first, Freestone Turner 
March 30, 1699; she died June 14, 1714; married, second, Elizabeth Hirst 
Feb. 24, 1715-6; he died about March —, 1730-1; she died (“old madam”) 
March 6, 175-; children: 1. John4, born March 29, 1700; living in 1731; 
2. William4, born March 22, 1701-2; died Aug. 31, 1702; 3. Sarah4, born 
Feb. 4, 1709-10; married Joseph Bartlett; 4. Elizabeth4, born May 9, 
1714; married Mitchell Sewall. 

AV'inthrop’s Journal, volume II, page 42. 
“Winthrop’s Journal, volume II, page 43. 
3Winthrop’s Journal, volume II, page 44. 
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Deputy-governor Endecott, Mr. Downing and Mr. Hau- 
thorne were authorized, Dec. 10. 1641, to secure nineteen copies 
of the laws transcribed, and none but the copies subscribed b) 

them should be considered authentic.1 _ 
On the same day, the general court appointed a clerk of the 

writs in each town, authorized to grant summons and attach¬ 
ments and replevin; and Ralph Fogg2 was appointed for Salem. 
June 14, 1642, clerks of the writs were ordered to record births 
and deaths of persons in their respective towns; not only current 
births and deaths, but they were ordered to “do their utmost 
endeavor to find out who hath been born and who have died 
since the first founding of their towns, and to record the same,” 
and annually to give a transcript thereof to the recorder of the 
local court, and all persons having authority to perform the 
marriage ceremony were ordered to make return to the recorder 
of the court nearest their residence, and the recorder must 
record them. All such records were ordered to be made “faith¬ 
fully and carefully/ The next clerk of the writs appointed in 
Salem were Jeffrey Massey, May 17, 1647; and Hillard Yerin 
was the next appointed, Jan. 16, 1656-7. No others appear on the 
records in Salem. 

In the quarterly court held at Salem Jan. 25, 1641-2, there 
were sixty-eight civil cases. This shows the litigious disposition 
of the early settlers. “George the Indean broth' of Georg Saga¬ 
more sent to Boston goale.” Samuel Gatchell and William 
Luckin lived in Marblehead at this time. William Walcott was 
ordered to be whipped for idleness. John Neale3 of Marble¬ 

head, servant to Mr. William Cok- 
raine, was ordered to be whipped for 
burglary. John Goit was admonished 
for saying “its better to go to hell gate 

AVinthrop’s Journal, volume II, page 60. 
"Ralph Fogg was born about 1600. 
"John Neale1; yeoman; made freeman May 18, 1642; married Mary 

Lawes; died May 12, 1672; she married, secondly, Andrew Mansfield of 
Salem, and was that latter’s wife in 1680; children: 1. John2, baptized 
May 22, 1642; died young; 2. John", baptized March 24, 1643-4; died in 
mi .nicy; 3. Jeremiah2, baptized Jan. 18, 1645-6; 4. John2, baptized Jan. 24, 
1047-8; 5. Lydia, baptized April 7, 1650; married Jonathan Hart; 6. 
Jonathan , baptized Aug. 15, 1652; died young; 7. Mary2, born March 14, 
1654-5;. died July 6, 1658; 8. Jonathan2, baptized Sept. 6, 1657; of Salem, 
cordwainer 1680-1707; 9- Sarah2; died July 22, 1658; 10AJoseph2, born 
March 14, 1659-60. 

Ah Jk‘umiah Neale ; housewright; married, first, Sarah Hart June 
pi T , • s lc . d Sept. 28, 1672; married, second, Mary Buftum Sept. 22, 

1 73» s ic was lus wife in 1682; married, third, Dorothy Lord Oct. 31, 1707; 
he died about July 1722; she died between 1733 and 1735; children: I. 
Jo 1 1 , born April 16, 1669; lived in Pennsylvania in 1733; living in 1735; 
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for mercy then to Mr. Endecott for justice.” Captain Trask was 
sentenced for neglecting training three times. 

2. Mary3, born May 11, 1670; unmarried in 1735; 3- Sarah3, born Nov. 1, 
1671; married-Wilkins; and lived in Boston, his widow, in 1728; 
4. Jeremiah3, born Sept. 25, 1674; 5. Abigail3; unmarried in 1735; of Boston 
in 1720 and 1724; 6. Lydia3, died before 1722; 7. Robert3; 8. Deborah3, 
born before 1681; lived in Boston in 1720; unmarried in 1735; married 
James Hughes; 9. Hannah3, born before 1690; married Charles Hooper; 
10. Mercy3; of Boston, unmarried, in 1720 and 1724; died before 1733. 
John Neale2; married Anne Nichols before 1673; died Nov. 11, 1679; she 
married, secondly, William Starling (Sterling) of Haverhill, Mass. ;’thev 
were afterwards of Lyme, Conn.; children: 1. John3, born April 15, 1673; 2. 
Thomas3, born Feb. 14, 1675-6; fisherman; died about June, 1705;’ 3. 
Joseph3, born Feb. 14, 1675-6; fisherman; died about June, 1705; 3. Joseph3, 
born Dec. 4, 1677; husbandman and mariner; lived in Salem in 1702 and in 
Scituate in 1705 and 1717; married Hannah Neale; 4. Rebecca3, born Feb. 
23, 1679- Joseph Neale'; joiner; removed to Newcastle, Pa., after 1710; 
married Judith Croade; she died before November, 1689; he died before 
Jan. 22, 1717-8; children: 1. Judith3, born in 1682; died Feb. 25, 1697-8; 
2. Lydia"; married Samuel Ropes; 3. Joseph3, born in 1689-90; 4. Hannah3; 
married Joseph Neale; 5. Mary3; married Anthony Green of Newcastle on 
the Delaware, Pa. 

Jeremiah Neale3; housewright; married Elizabeth Small March 29, 
(795i died in 1748; children: 1. Jeremiah4 (twin), baptized June 4, 1710; 
living in 1748; 2. Lydia4 (twin), baptized June 4, 1710; 3. Benjamin4, 
baptized in 1710; 4. John4, baptized June 10, 1711; of Burlington, N. J., 
carpenter, in 1748; 5. Hannah4, baptized May 25, 1712; 6. Jonathan, bap¬ 
tized June 6, 1714. Robert Neale3; fisherman; married Hannah Elson 
Nov. 6, 1712; died in 1723; she survived him; children: 1. Mary4, bap¬ 
tized June 24, 1716; a cripple; spinster, of Salem, in 1746; 2. Hannah4, 
baptized Feb. 10, 1716-7; married Samuel Robinson; 3. Roberf, born Aug. 
11, 1718; 4. Benjaminl, born April 21, 1721. John Neale3; mariner; 
married Martha Skerry; died before February, 1699-1700; child: 1. 
Abigail4, baptized April 19, 1702; probably married Henry Elkins. Joseph 

Neale3; cordwainer; married Eunice Pickering Dec. 10, 1724; died in 
I732i she married, secondly, William Pickering April 6, 1738; children: 
1. Joseph4, baptized Nov. 21, 1725; died young; 2. Eunice4, baptized May 
28, 1727; married Benjamin Bacon; 3. Mary4, baptized April 5, 1730; 
married, first, Capt. John Foster of Manchester July 9, 1752; second, Rev. 
John Cleveland of Chebacco Parish, Ipswich. 

Jonathan Neale4; husbandman and cordwainer; married widow Mary 
Marston July 19, 1725^ died in July, 1732; she was his widow in 1752; 
children: 1. Jonathan5, born about 1726; 2. David0, born about 1730. 
Robert Neale4; mariner; married Katherine Daland Feb. 5, 1738-9; died 
in 1742; she married, secondly, David Boyce; children: 1. Katherine5 
(twin), baptized March 15, 1740-1; 2. Robert5 (twin), baptized March 15, 
!740-i; married Hannah Beckford in 1763; probably died in 1766; had a 
son Rpbert; 3. Hannah5, baptized Aug. 29, 1742. Benjamin Neale4; 

cordwainer and mariner; married Lydia Begoe Oct. 4, 1742; died at sea 
about 1751; she married, secondly, Samuel Luscomb Aug. 20, 1752; 
children: 1. Lydia0, born July 18, 1745; married Gedney King; 2. Robert5, 
born before 1748; married Betsey Lander Aug. 24, 1788; probably 
drowned at Alexandria in February, 1789. 

Jonathan Neale3; husbandman and carter; married Annis (Anstiss) 
White; she was his wife in 1774; he fell from a wharf at night, in 
November, 1790, and was found the next morning dead; children: 1. 
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At the court, a week later, William Keine of Marblehead was 
lined three pounds for striking John Bartoll with a stone in h.s 

Hannah8, born in 1750; married Joseph Smith May 20 1776; 2. Lydia8, 
born in 17=52 ■ published to Isaac Osborn July 13» O/ > 3- y > , 
,7,4; died, unmarried. May 7, 1827; 4- Jonathan', born m 1756 (bapUzed 
Feb. 22, 1756) ; 5. Sarah6, baptized Dec. 4, 1757; married Joseph Card , 
6 Elizabeth", born in 1758; died, unmarried, in 1770; 7. D-ivvf, born 
,762 (baptized Aug. I, .762); 8. Abial8, baptized Oct. 28 1764; married, 
first, Frederick Brown Oct. 28, 17941 second, John Fullington, Dec. 5, 
180;• 9 Beniamin6. baptized April 12, 1767; 10. Joseph baptized Kov. n, 
1770; died of lockjaw in May, .789. Caft. David Neale8; master-manner; 
married Hannah Webb June 8, 1752; was knocked overboard by the main 
boom of his vessel and drowned in 17614 she died, his widow, Feb. 14, 
1817 aged eighty-nine; children: 1. David6, born Oct. 1, I752; died Aug. 
1, 1754; 2. David6, baptized Oct. 6, 1754; died young; 3 David , baptized 
Nov. 14, 1756; 4. Jonathan6. born Jan. 15, i759-6o; 5- Hannah, baptized 
Feb. 8, 1761; married John Preston. , 

Jonathan Neale6; yeoman; married Mary Dowst Jan. 23, 17°5; died 
Tulv'— 1811; she died April 30, 1815; children: 1. Jonathan, born 
July 22, 1789; 2. Joseph7, born Dec. 30, 1815. David Neale ; fisherman; 
married Mary (Elliott), widow of his brother Benjamin June 5, 1806; died 
Nov. 28, 1823; she died - 13, 1861 children: 1. Benjamin Baldwin, 
born April 7, 1807; 2. David7, born Dec. 7, 1808; lived in Concord, N. H.; 
married Mary Southwick May 5, 1836; died Sept. 7, 1844; had children; 
3. Elizabeth7, born Dec. 1, 1810; married Azor Hodgkins May 29, 1833; 
4. Margaret J.7, born Feb. 2, 1814; married John Lambert July —, 1843. 
Benjamin Neale6; mariner; married Mary Elliott April 25, 1793; died, 
“late from Calcutta,” Aug. 17, 1801; she married, secondly, his brother 
David; children: 1. Elizabeth7, born May 4, 1794; died Nov. 4, 1807; 
2. Sarah7, born May 8, 1796; married John Marks Nov. 3, 1816; 3. 
Mary7, born July 11, 1798; married John G. Waters; 4. Benjamin1, born 
June 12, 1800; died Dec. 21. 1803. David Neale6; mariner; married 
Martha Henfield; died about November, 1785; she married, secondly, John 
Dowst Nov. 26, 1789; child: 1. Hannah7, born in 1782; married, first. Asa 
Kilham Feb. 13, 1803; second, Stephen Richardson Nov. 28, 1813. Capt. 
Jonathan Neale6; commanded a privateer in th9 Revolution; master- 
mariner; merchant; married, first, Mehitable Eden Jan. 11, 1784; she died 
Sept. 29, 1786; married, second, Hannah Ward May 29, 1791; she died 
Jan. 26, 1814; he died Oct. 9, 1837; children: 1. Mehitable7, born Nov. —, 
1784; married Amos Choate May 26, 1833; 2. David Augustus7, born June 
7, 1793; 3- Nathan Ward7, born Aug. 27, 1797; H. C., 1816; merchant; 
president of Asiatic Bank; died, unmarried, Nov. 17, 1850; 4. William 
Henry7, born March 8, 1799; master-mariner; merchant; president of 
East India Marine Society; married Sarah Rones (published Nov. 7. 1829) ; 
lie died Jan. 17, 1851; she died June 14, 1884; no children; 5. Theodore 
Frederick', born Nov. 3, 1802; died of yellow fever in Havana June 14, 1821. 

Jonathan Neale'; mason; married Eunice Buffum Nov. —, 1811; she 
died Dec. 24, 1842; he died Sept. 4, 1870; children: 1. Mar)'8, born April 
12, 1S12; married, first, James Ricker (Ritter) March 6, 1836; second, 
Josiah Moulton; 2. Eunice8, born April 22, 1815; married Asa L. Breed of 
I.ynn Nov. 21, 1837; 3- Jonathan8, born May 17, 1817; mason; living in 
i869 ; 4- -died in infancy Oct. —, 1819; 5. Sarah Ann8, born Feb. 
5. iNjr ; married Andrew Ober of Beverly; 6. Jane8, born April 23, 1823; 
unmarried, ol Salem, in 1869; 7. Esther Ann8, born April 17, 1825; married 
Alonzo Lewis in 1847; 8. Robert Buffum8, born Oct. 29, 1828; of California 
m i8f>o; 9. William, born April 3. 1830; died at sea March — 1850; 
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hand and swearing by the blood of God. Marblehead was fined 
ten shillings for want of a pair of stocks. “William Cantlebury 
called in question concerning the death of William Stark, ser¬ 
vant to Mr. Tho: Read who is gone to England and now was 
committed unto Mr. William Clark by Mr. Read’s order to be 
with the said Cantlebury. And being now dead.” James Hay¬ 
ward was then of Salem. 

April 14, 1642, “A general fast was kept for our native 
country and Ireland and our own occasions.”1 

The spring began very early, and the weather wa« mild, but 
May and June were wet and cold.1 
May 2, 1642, the town granted ^ 
to Henry Reignolds2 a ten-acre JSdL* 
lot near William King’s. ^ ^ 

10. Henry8, born Sept. 26, 1832; of Salem, coach driver, 1855-1864; of 
Boston in 1869; 11. Louisa8, born March 3, 1835; married William C. 
Cummings in 1856. Joseph Neale7; mason; married Hannah C. Hutch¬ 
inson of Middleton Dec. 31, 1817; died Sept. 4, 1866; she died April 9, 1880; 
children: 1. Hannah8, born Sept. 7, 1818; of Salem, unmarried, in i856; 
2. Elizabeth8, born July 21, 1820; of Salem, unmarried, in 1880; 3. Sarah 
H.s, born Sept. 28, 1822; died Dec. 3, 1823; 4. Caroline A.8, born May 10, 
1824; died, unmarried, Jan. 3, 1881; 5. Joseph W.8, born Feb. 7, 1827; 
lived in Lodi, Cal., from 1866 to 1882; 6. Rufus B8., born March 9, 1829; 
lived in Lodi, 1866-1882; 7. Charles H.8, born Nov. 2, 1831; lived in Lodi, 
1868-1882; 8. George L.8, born Jan. 8, 1834; carpenter; of Salem in 1866; 
9. Mary Ellen8, born Nov. 12, 1836; of Salem, unmarried, in 1866; 10. 
James Monroe8, born Oct. 19, 1839; of Salem, mason, in 1864. Capt. 

Benjamin Baldwin Neale7; master-mariner; married Martha South- 
wick of Danvers Nov. 9, 1842; living in Salem in 1851; she died April 13, 
1873; child: 1. William Silver8, born Aug. 11, 1843. Capt. David 

Augustus Neale7; H. C., 1848; prisoner in Dartmoor prison; master- 
mariner; merchant; president of Eastern Railroad; married Harriet 
Charlotte Price of Boston July 26, 1818; died Aug. 5, i85i ; she survived 
him, and was living in 1864; children: 1. Theodore Frederick8, born 
Dec. 18, 1822; died in infancy; 2. Theodore Augustus8, born March 23, 
1827; 3. Harriet Charlotte8, born Feb. 11. 1831; died March 17, 1837; 
4. Margaret Maria8, born June 15, 1832; living at home in 1864; 5. Harriet 
Charlotte8, born July 8, 1837; married Hon. Robert Samuel Rantoul. 

William Silver Neale8; in United States navy in 1864; formerly 
dealer in gents furnishings, and later vault officer in Merchants National 
Bank; married Rebecca Chapman Millett Dec. 12, 1871; she died Feb. 24, 
1917; he died Dec. 24, 1924; children: 1. Alice H.9, born Nov. t8, 1872; 
died April 24, 1873; 2- George Harding9, born Nov. 29, 1873; died Nov. 
8, 1874; 3. Wi'liam Francis9, born Feb. 11, 1875; lives in Rochester. N, Y., 
unmarried. Thfo^ore Augustus Neale8; merchant; married Elizabeth 
Boardman Whittridge May 31, 1849; died Oct. 26, 1881; children: 1. 
Elizabeth Matingini Whittridge9, born March 10, 1850; married Frederick 
Rand Nourse; 2. Caroline Frothingham9, born April 20, 1855; of Beverly, 
unmarried, in 1881. 

1Winthron’s Journal, volume II, page 62. 
2Henry Renolds, tailor, had a wife Sarah in 1642 and 1664. He lived 

in Salem as late as 1689. 
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Richard Saltonstall sent a certain book to \\ llliam Hathorne 
to be presented to the general court May 18, 1642, because of 
certain passages in it. The consideration of it was continued 
from court to court, and finally, Rev. Mr. Norris, not suspect¬ 
ing the author, handled him somewhat sharply according to the 

merit of the matter.”1 
A ship was built at Salem this summer.2 
For the making of gunpowder, the general court ordered, 

June 14, 1642, that each town should erect a building about 
twenty or thirty feet long and twenty feet wide, and the militia 
were to place therein once a year a sufficient (quantity of earth, 
and twice a year or oftener the earth was to be by them stirred 
and removed from one end of the building to the othei, and from 
the bottom to the top, mixing human and beasts’ urine with goat, 
hen, hog or horse dung that must be brought to it “by the care- 
full & conscionable members of the comon wealth.” Afore earth 
was ordered to be added until it was within two feet of the wall 
plate of the building, and the whole kept dry. Sept. 8. 1642, the 
general court repealed this order about salt peter, and instead re¬ 
quested the people to make it in poultry houses. Mr. Gar ford 
was appointed to look after this matter in Salem. 

June 16, 1642, every town was ordered to choose one or two 
freemen, who should meet at Salem the next March to “consider 
& agree upon a certain number of the most able & fit men in this 
iurisdiction to bee put to nomination for magistrates at the next 
Co't of Elections.” 

A colonial rate of eight hundred pounds was made by Mr. 
Ratter, John Saunders and eleven others, June 14, 1642. Salem’s 
portion was seventy-five pounds; and was second in amount, 
Boston paying the highest sum.3 

July 12, 1642, the Salem court ordered that Elizabeth John¬ 
son, servant of Joseph Yonge, be severely whipped and fined 
five pounds for stubbornness to her mistress, answering rudely, 
and for stopping her ears with her hands when “the word of 
God” was read. 

July 21, 1642, “A general fast was kept by order of the gen¬ 
eral court and advice of some of the elders. The occasion was 
principally for the danger we conceived our native country was in, 
and the foul sins which had broken out among ourselves, &c.”4 

At a town meeting, Aug. 10, 1642, the town granted to 
Goodman Devenishe “an enlargement to be set out to his land 

Winthrop s Journal, volume II, page 64. 
\\ inthrop s Journal, volume II, page 65. 
Massaehusetts Bay Colony Records, volume II, page 13. 
\\ inthrop s Journal, volume II, page 72. 
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near the mill”; and the seven men granted to Henry Bartholmew 
one hundred acres of upland and ten acres of meadow a little 
beyond Mr. Bishop’s land; Samuel Edson twenty-five acres of 
land adjoining Humphrey Woodbury’s farm in Mackerel Cove 
and two acres of meadow “where he can find that thereabout”; 
and John Scudder1 half an acre to build a house on and for 
other uses near his ten-acre lot in King’s Cove. 

Alexander Field, a cordwainer, appeared in Salem as early 
as 1642, and lived here as late as 1652. 

FEDERATION OF THE COLONIES. 

Intimations were received by the people in the colony that 
the Narragansett Indians had caused many sachems to unite 
with them in preparing “ a general and bloody design of the 
Indians against all the English in the country,” and that the 
Indians had secured guns and ammunition from “some of the 
English in the eastern parts.” Such Indians as had agreed to be 
friendly with the settlers, and apparently had now broken their 
pact, were disarmed; but as nothing tangible could be learned of 
an uprising, and the Indians appeared faithful, their guns were 
restored to them. Nevertheless, new evidence sustaining the 
fears of the settlers was frequently secured, and it was prudent 
to be watchful. Sept. 8, 1642, the general court, “considering 
the continuall dangers the inhabitants . . . are in, by plots 
& conspiracies of the heathen,” ordered that upon an alarm in any 
place the commander of the militia there might call his company 
together and “set them in offencive & defencive wayes, as there 
is occasion, against the enemy, according to their best wisdom.” 
The alarm might be given by three discharges of a musket, or 
a continuous beat of the drum in the night, or firing a beacon, 
or by a discharge of a cannon in the night; and every trained 
soldier must respond immediately. Each- town was also ordered 
to prepare a sufficient place of retreat for the women and 
children. If a settlement was attacked, its defence must be 
assisted in by the soldiers of an adjacent town, when they learned 
of it. Watches were to continue from sunset to sunrise, and be 
set and released by beat of the drum. Four barrels of powder 

"Thomas Scudder1 married Elizabeth -; died in June, 1658; she 
died in 1666; children: 1. John2] 2. Thomas2; mariner in 1688; 3. Henry2; 
living in 1657; 4. Elizabeth2; married Henry Bartholomew; 5. William2. 

John Scudder2; currier; lived on Royall’s Neck, in Salem; sold his 

house and land there in 1665, and removed to Southold L. I., that year; 
married Mary King; children: 1. Mary3, baptized June 11, 1648; 2. Hannah3, 
baptized Aug. 19, 1649; 3. -3 (daughter), baptized March 18, 1649-50. 
William Scudder2; married Penelope -; was deceased in 1657; child. 
1. Thomas3; living in 1657. 
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were sent to Salem. Nineteen days later, the general court 
ordered that a discharge of a musket shall be a signal for each 
sentinel to immediately go to each house in his section and 
awaken the people by crying Arm! Arm! The people must 
then be obedient to the order of the chief military officer in the 

town. 
The colonies of New Haven and Connecticut were the most 

menaced apparently, and with Plymouth they sought to form a 
bond of union for mutual protection. At the sitting of the court 
above mentioned a committee was appointed to meet the commis¬ 
sioners from those three colonies “about the union, and concern¬ 
ing avoiding any danger of the Indians, and to have power to 
do herein what they shall find needful for common safety and 
peace.” Apparently no meeting was held that winter and May 
ioth following the general court appointed Governor Winthrop, 
Thomas Dudley, Simon Bradstreet, William Tynge, Edward 
Gibbon and William Hauthorne “to treat with our friends of 
Connecticut New Haven and Plymouth about a confederacy 
between us." A federation was formed, and called “The United 
Colonies of New-England." The articles of federation are dated 
May 19, 1643, and a complete copy is given in Bradford's History 
of Plymouth, pages 496-504. By these articles they “enter into 
a firm and perpetual league of friendship and amity, for offence 
and defence, mutual advice and succor upon all just occasions, 
both for preserving and propagating the truth of the Gospell, 
and for their own mutual safty and welfare.” In everything 
concerning the common interest of the four colonies the federa¬ 
tion had authority, but the internal affairs of each colony were 
to be wholly within the jurisdiction of the respective colonies.1 

1 heir regular meetings were held annually on the first Thursday 
of September. 1 he governing body consisted of two commission¬ 
ers from each of the four colonies. May 29, 1644, the general 
court chose Simon Bradstreet and William Hathorne of Salem 
as the first commissioners, for one year. Winthrop called William 
Ilathorne the principal man in disputes arising among the com- 
missioneis or the United Colonies, though lie was “a young 

Seven al statements made by Winthrop indicate some 
jealous) 01 Ilathorne, and he wrote that Hathorne was young 

a faid ^ the articles of federation of the United States wei 

the PH P^ai-heSe arv!1Cle/ (;f fed1era.tion of i643. Like the senate c 
tl ■ U ‘ a U> ,eacl1 U t,ie colonies had two representatives; an 

unoL^'lS?lm,SS?!lerS ■ T™ gl,ver P0wer t0 el.ect a president froi 
tiir ir-tidf^ nrrCM i fC ng l* .*?• ,de<dare war was in the federation, an 
new colonies ' i °r cxt,adlt,on °f criminals and for admission c 
it with the Fe ler-ll '* ( 0(Tnit'nt ar allead of its time, and a comparison c 

th the ederal constitution shows the genius of its authorship. 
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and both he and Bradstreet lived too far easterly to hold such po- 

‘sitions.1 
The first annual meeting* of the commissioners was held the 

following September at Hartford. The colonial treasury paid 
their expenses and furnished two men and four horses for their 
use during these engagements. Occasionally, there was friction 
between colony and federation; but it continued coexistent with 
the colonies, and resulted in good. 

Sept. 19, 1642, in the midst of these deliberations relative to 
mutual defence of the colonies from attacks of the Indians, a 
messenger reached Salem with notice that Indians were about to 
attack the town. The alarm proved to be false, to the great relief 
of the people. Three days later, a fast was held on account of 
danger from the Indians.2 

1Winthrop’s Journal, volume II, pages 171 and 174. 
2Winthrop’s Journal, volume II, pages 84 and 85. 



CHAPTER VIII. 

THE BRIDGE. 

HE first bridge constructed in Salem, and early known 
as the town bridge, was that over a branch of North 
River, at Blubber Hollow, so called. Before this time 
the only way leading out of Salem by land was that in 
the rear of the high school, crossing Highland Avenue, 

down Pope’s lane, following the railroad, between the river and 
the ridge to Putnam Street and thence by way of Putnam Street 
to Boston Street. The original way was not only circuitous, but 
ledgy and hilly. The laying out of a highway, now Boston 
Street, from Essex Street, at what was afterwards known as 
Buff urn’s corner, to the ancient road at the junction of Boston 
and Putnam streets, with a bridge over the river would afford a 
direct way by land out of town; and this was decided upon. A 
“timber bridge” was accordingly made in 1640, by John Picker¬ 
ing. October nth of that year, the town ordered “that Philip 
Verin or any other shall make the fence that leadeth to the bridge 
of one side from the bridge to the highway that is by Richard 
Norman’s house and that the town will pay him.” 

No vote of the town was formally taken as to the location of 
Boston Street between the ancient roads until Nov. 29, 1642, when 
the town “ordered that the high way by the bridge shalbe laid out 
through the lotts of goodman Moulton &c not round about.” 

March 25, 1644, the town agreed with John Pickering to 
keep the bridge in repair for sixteen years, except the finding of 
the plank for the new planking of it should be at the expense of 
the town, but he agreed to mend the planking and set in a plank 
01 two where and when it became necessary at his own charge. 

1 hrough defect in construction, the bridge soon became danger¬ 
ous to travelers, and there arose a dispute between Pickering 
and the town as to which should repair it. Finally, Nov. 10, 

the town ordered that if Pickering did not repair the 

130 
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bridge within ten days, it would take the matter to the local court. 
The repairs were not made within the time specified and com¬ 
plaint was made to court, which did not sit, however, until the 
next February. The bridge must be made safe, however, before 
the sitting of the court, and apparently Pickering agreed to 
repair it if the town furnished the plank. Samuel Eborne and 
Henry Skerry went into the common land of the town and sawed 
two hundred and forty feet of two-inch plank for the bridge, 
and carried them to “the water side.” This recalls the method of 
producing plank at the time, before saw mills existed here. The 
log to be sawn was rolled over a hole in the ground, called a saw 
pit, deep enough for a man to stand under the log. One man 
stood upon or over the Jog and held one end of a large splitting 
saw and the man in the pit held the other end of the saw. In 
this slow and arduous manner plank and boards were sawn from 
the log similarly to the old upright saw mills, but worked by 
manual power. These sawyers were paid by the town for this 
service twenty-five shillings Jan. 23, 1645-6. When Pickering’s 
presentment was called in court, he was discharged, as the bridge 
had been repaired. 

The town concluded that the bridge required constant over¬ 
sight and expense to keep it in repair, and that its construction 
was defective. It was agreed, Feb. 16, 1645-6, “That the timber 
bridge at the townsend shall be pulled down, or so much of it as 
shall be needful when the causeway is begun to be made which 
is upon the last second day of the third month and that the 
timber of the said bridge shall serve to pile and plank as far as 
it will go the causeway next to the sea. And it is further agreed 
that for the better expediting of the work, that all the hands 
of the town that are fit to work in that kind shall be employed as 
they are called forth by the overseers. And therefore power is 
hereby given to such as are hereafter named, to appoint the said 
persons that are to work and to proportion their wages, accord¬ 
ing to their work. And it is further agreed that the charges of 
all shall be borne by a rate of one hundred pounds which is to be 
rated equally according to men’s estates by the raters chosen for 
rating of the country rates. The men chosen overseers are 
Emanuel Downing, Esq., Capt. William Hawthorne, Captain 
Trask, Mr. Sharp, Mr. Henry Bartholomew, Wm. Lord, Mr. 
Garford, who also have power to distrain by the constables three 
shillings upon the head of every one that shall fail to come forth 
at his work after due warning and likewise three shillings for 
every beast. And the said distresses shall be gathered within ten 
days after the several neglects.” 

The town decided that Mr. Pickering had built the old bridge 
defectively, and that therefore he .should pay toward the con- 
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struction of the new bridge eight pounds and four shillings, for 
which he gave the town a bull and a cow, which the town could 

sell unless he paid in some other way. 
Oct. 26, 1646, the town agreed “that Thomas Wheeler1 shall 

work at the bridge work which he is contented to do, and he is to 
have two shillings and sixpence a day till the bridge work be 

ended if he work so long. 
But the said Thomas 
Wheeler doth bind him- 

self to work there ten days together if weather will permit and 
to begin upon the sixth day of this week: and is to be paid in 
corn or cattle at the merchants’ price." 

Dec. 10, 1661, the Salem court “ordered that the bridge or 
causeway at the western end of the town of Salem be sufficiently 
repaired and a stone wall built against the side at the county’s 
charge. 

The bridge and causeway were improved in 1663 by the 
town, under a vote of Jan. 13, 1662-3, by which the town agreed 
with William Flint and John Neale to repair the bridge bv 
making “a sufficient wall of stone on the east side of three feet 
thick at the bottom and twenty inches at the top and the founda¬ 
tion of it to be laid one foot within the ground and in height it 
is to be as high as the highest bank of the bridge near the sluice 
and according to the height of the wall they are to fill up the 
whole bridge level with sand and on the top of it to lay good hard 
gravel three or four inches thick all over the whole bridge and 
to cover the wall with good turf of English grass from end to 
end for the which work being sufficiently performed they are 
to be paid twenty pounds.” The county treasurer paid this 
twenty pounds to the town. The bridge was not entirely finished 
in 1666. 

At a town meeting, Nov. 29, 1642, John Pickering was 
granted four poles of ground near his house; Goodman Lawes 
sixteen poles of marsh by the water next to his ten-acre lot; 
lieutenant Davenport and 1 homas Lathrop eighty acres of land 

which was formerly given to Richard Waterman, who deserted 
it; Alexander Held twenty-five acres of land which was formerly 
granted to 1 homas Lathrop, who resigned it to said Alexander 
h leld in lieu of the former grant of forty acres. The town sold 

1 "L " an acie of land that was Nicholas Draper’s for 
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twelve shillings. It was ordered that a highway be laid out 
through Daniel Ray’s lot and he was given the old way before, 
over in the ten-acre lots in the North field. 

John Bulfinch1 
lived in Salem in 1640 
and as late as 1643. 
He returned to Eng¬ 
land, and died at Chatham, in Kent, in 1679. Richard Cooke 
lived in Marblehead in 1640, at the age of thirty, and as late as 
16452. John Hart3 came to Marblehead as early as 1637, and 
died there in 1655. Robert Elwell4 came to Dorchester in 1634 
and to Marblehead in 1640. He removed to Gloucester in 1642. 

Bohn Bulfinch’s daughter, widow Katherine Bell, was of Charlestown 
in 1680. In 1642, there was a Goody Bulfinch here. 

2Richard Cooke had a wife in 1644, and lived in Boston in 1650. 
3John Hart1 had wives Mary and Florence, and the latter survived 

him; children: 1. John2; lost at sea in 1673; 2. Jonathan2-, 3. Elizabeth2; 
married Edward Flint; 4. Sarah2; married Jeremiah Neale; 5. Deborah2; 
married Joseph Morgan of Beverly ; 6. Florence2. 

Jonathan Hart2; lived in Salem; married Lydia Neale Nov. —, 
1671; they were living in 1682; children: 1. Lydia3, born Jan. 5, 1671-2; 
married Nehemiah Stone; 2. Jonathan3, born April 14, 1673; 3. John3, born 
June 6, 1675; 4. Sarah3; married Joseph Balch of Beverly. 

Jonathan Hart3; seaman; married Sarah Maule Jan. 24, 1705; died 
in 1720; she died in 1732; children: 1. Lydia4, born Sept. 22, 1706; married 
William Browne Dec. 5, 1727; 2. Peleth4, born Sept. 10, 1708; 3. Jonathan4, 
born April 18, 1711; mariner; lived in Beverly; married, first, Rebecca 
Massy Dec. 20, 1733; second, widow Abigail (Anne) (Baker) Ober of 
Beverly Nov. 12, 1741; was living in 1744; she died in Beverly Dec. 6, 
1768; 4. Sarah4, born Aug. 31, 1713; married John Webber of Marble¬ 
head Jan. 8, 1733; 5. Margaret4, born Oct. 13, 1717; married Clement 
English. 

See volume I, page 449. 
4Robert Elwell1; married, first, Joan-; she died March 31, 1675; 

married, second, Alice, widow of Robert Leach of Manchester May 29, 
1676; he died May 18, 1683; had children, baptized in Salem, as follows: 
1. Samuel2, born in Dorchester about 1636; married Esther Dutch; lived 
in Gloucester; died about 1697; she died Sept. 6, 1721; had children; 2. 
-2, baptized Aug. 28, 1639; died at age of six months; 3. -2, 
baptized Aug. 28, 1639; 4. John2, baptized Jan. 23, 1639-40; 5. Isaac2, 
baptized Feb. 27, 1641-2; married Mehitable -; lived in Gloucester; 
had children; 6. Josiah2; was dead in 1683; had children; 7. Joseph2; 8. 
Sara2, born April 20, 1651, in Gloucester; 9. Sarah2, born May 12, 1652; 10. 
Thomas2, born Nov. 21, 1654; 11. Jacob2, born June 18, 1657; 12. Richard2, 
baptized April 11, 1658; 13. Mary2. 

John Elwell2; fisherman; removed to Gloucester about 1673; married 
Jane Durin Oct. 1, 1667; she was living in 1688; he died in captivity 
among the Indians Feb. —, 1710; children: 1. John3, born Oct. 14, 1668, 
in Salem; master mariner; lived in Gloucester; married, first, Mary 
Robinson; second, Mary Joslyn, Jan 7, 1709; had children; 2. Jane3, born 
Jan. 23, 1671-2, in Salem; 3. Susanna3 (twin), born April 24, 1678, in 
Gloucester; 4. Samuel3 (twin), born April 24, 1678; 5. Mary3, born Feb. 
9, 1680-1; 6. Christian3, born May 16, 1683; 7. Penelope3, born Aug. 6, 1688. 
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At the Salem court, Dec. 27, 1642, William Goult, for re¬ 
proachful and unseemly speeches against the rule of the church 
was ordered to sit in the stocks an hour and be severely whipped 
next lecture day. Henry Bulflower, servant to Thomas West, 
was in court. Some cattle belonged to a 
brother of Walter Price, “a poore man gone 
for England & his wife heare. A post with 
a pillory to it was ordered to be set up by the 
constables. The punishment afforded by the pil¬ 
lory is very ancient; and at first consisted of 
putting an iron collar about the neck of a de¬ 
linquent, the collar or ring being fastened to a 
post or wall. This was called a jugg1 from the 
word meaning the neck. Later, the ring was 
changed to a hole cut in the plank for the recep¬ 
tion of the head and hands of a culprit, as shown 
by the illustration. The word pillory was given 
because of the pillar or post. 

Thomas Cole2 lived in Salem as early as 1642, was a 
husbandman and lived on the easterly side of Beckford Street. 

PILLORY. 

Trom the word “jugg” came the expression of jugging a criminal 
when he is put into jail, the Latin being “juggum”. 

"Thomas Cole2 married Ann - about 1635, probably in England; 
died in the spring of 1679; she died in the spring of 1680; children: 1. 
Abraham2, born about 1638; 2. John2. 

Abraham Cole2; tailor; married Sarah Davis June 11, 1670; died in 
the autumn of 1715; she survived him; children: 1. Samuel3, born May 11, 
1671; died June —, 1671; 2. Sarah3, born Aug. 29, 1672; married Benjamin 
Odell Nov. 20, 1701; 3. Abraham3, born Jan. 6, 1674-5; died young (?); 
4- Isaac3, born Aug. 4, 1677; died young (?); 5. Elizabeth3; married 
Simon Jeffords; 6. Susanna3, baptized Aug. 31, 1684; died young (?); 
7. Samuel'1, born May 19, 1687; 8. Thomas3, baptized March —, 1690. 
John Cole2; cooper; removed to Malden about 1677, and then to Lynn 
about 1684; married, first, Mary Knight May 28, 1667; second, Sarah 
Alsbee about 1675; died in Lynn Oct. 8, 1703; she died in Bradford, his 
widow, Jan. 1, 1740-1; children: 1. John3, born May 18, 1668; lived in 
Lynn and Boxford; married Mary Eaton of Lynn; died in Boxford Feb. 
xt 1736-7; she died there Oct. 7, 1746; had children; 2. Thomas3, born 
Low , 1669; died in 1669; 3. Mary3, born Sept. 1, 1671; living in 1703; 

Hanna.h ’ born Dec. 12, 1674; living in 1703; 5. Samuel3, born Dec. 
2/, 1 >< 7, in Lynn; lived in Lynn and Boxford; 6. Anna3, born Aug. 5, 1690, 
in Lynn. & * 

( ik'\MV G 6 i corwainer; married Elizabeth Hibber dof Beverly 
(pu > Lslud April 28, 1711) ; died in the autumn of 1733; children: 1. 
Lhzabeth born April 15, 1712; died June 26, 1713; 2ffRuth4, born Feb. 

’ D.y-L^dad young; 3. Abraham4, born about 1716; died between 
f' a<lT I743, 4. Abiga! , born about 1718; married Increase Whiston 

,a"d Urookfield; 5. Ruth*, baptized Oct. 4, 1719; married 
a?d Lunenburg; 6. Samuel*, baptized Oct. 

A lA-V, ’ \rm i' 1VCQ "\I'°':,ford ancl Methuen 1 married Mary Peabody 
cf xford May 20, 1748; she died in Methuen Nov. 1, 1767; had children; 
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Jan. 23, 1642-3, the town granted to Esdras Read, brother 
Bulfinch, old goodman Scudder, brother Ralph Tompkins, John 
Kitchen,1 Theophilus Down¬ 
ing,2 ye fisherman, Nicholas 
Heyward,3 a fisherman, Wil¬ 
liam Bowdiashe and John 

x 1 7 j- 

7. Jonathan4, baptized Oct. 5, 1729; probably died young. Thomas Cole3; 

married Mercy Vealy July 10, 1710; died in or before 1760; children: 1. 
Mercy4, baptized May 10, 1719; married, first, Benjamin Lambert 
(published Oct. 25, 1732); second, Peter Smith Jan. 18, 1756; 2. Thomas4, 
baptized May 10, 1719; 3. Mary4, baptized May To, 1719. 

Bohn Kitchen1, born about 1619; embarked at Weymouth, England, 
March 20, 1635; cordwainer; married, first, Elizabeth -; she died; 
married second, Elizabeth, daughter of Joseph Grafton and widow of 
John Saunders about 1643 (?) ; died in the spring of 1676; John Saunders, 
seaman, was called “son-in-law” to John Kitchen in 1661; children: 1. 
Hannah2, baptized March 12, 1643-4; 2. Elizabeth2, baptized March 12, 
1643-4; 3. Joseph2, baptized April 20, 1645; probably died young; 4. John2, 
baptized June 12, 1646; probably died young; 5. Mary2, baptized April 
23, 1648; married Timothy Robinson; 6. Abigail2; married John Guppy; 
7. Priscilla2; married Nathaniel Hunn of Boston Oct. —, 1672; 8. 
Robert2, baptized April 15, 1655; 9. Benjamin2, born Aug. 28, 1660; died 
Sept. 15, 1660. 

Lt. Robert Kitchen2; merchant; town clerk; married, first, Mary 
Boardman of Cambridge; second, Bethiah Weld; died Oct. 28, 1712; 
children: 1. John3, baptized April —, 1683; lived in London; 2. Elizabeth3, 
baptized April —, 1683; died before^ 1712; 3. Mary3, baptized May 27, 
1684; married John Turner; 4. Robert3, baptized July 17, 1688; died young^; 
5. Bethia3, baptized Nov. 10, 1689; married Timothy Lindall; 6. Robert3, 
baptized June 11, 1699; died Sept. 20, 1716, when a student at Harvard 
College; 7. Edward?, baptized Aug. 18, 1700. 

Edward Kitchen3; merchant; married Freake Walcott in 173°5 she 
died Jan. 17, 1746-7; he died in 1766; children: 1. Mary6, born Oct. 2, 
1732; died Oct. 28, 1738; 2. Robert4, born Oct. 1, 1735; died Dec. 20, 1736. 

2Theopilus Downing had wife Ellen, and was living in Salem in 1647. 
3Nicholas Hayward1 was a husbandman and fisherman; died Feb. 

24, 1682-3; children: 1. Nehemiah2; 2. Nathaniel2, baptized Nov. 13, 1642. 
Nehemiah Hayward2; married Anna Dixcy; died in the summer of 

1665; she married, secondly,-Judkins; children: 1. Sarah3, born 
March 3, 1658-9; 2. Hannah3, born Aug. 1, 1661; married - Coit. 
Nathaniel Hayward3; carpenter; married Elizabeth-; she was his 
wife in 1719; he died Dec. 19, 1720; children: 1. Elizabeth3, baptized 
Aug. 26, 1666; married James Kettle; 2. Abigail3, baptized May 5, 1667; 
married Joseph Flint; 3. Nathaniel3, baptized May 30, 1669: lived in 
Beverly; married Hannah -; had children; 4. Nehemiah3, baptized 
July iq, 1670; yeoman alias carpenter; lived in Beverly and Hingham; 
married Bethiah -; had children; 5. Sarah3, baptized Nov. 19, 1671; 
married Edward Coburn March 29, 1694; 6. Jonathan3, baptized July 6, 
1673; 7. Nicholas3, baptized Oct. 10, 1675; 8. Samuel?, baptized May 26, 
1678; 9. Hannah3, baptized May 16, 1682; married --— Vickery; 10. 
Stephen3, baptized Aug. 24, 1684; currier and yeoman; lived in Beverly; 
married Bethiah -; had children. 

Jonathan Hayward3; potter; married Mary-; she was his 
wife in 1711; “Abigail, second wife of Jonathan Hayward, died at her 
father’s in Salem Village April 13, 1716;” children: 1. Mary4, baptized 
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Abby ten acres each (“all these io acre lots are to be laid out 
nere to brother Kings lott”). William Bowditch1 was a young 

May 19, 1700; died Jan. 26, 1718-9; 2. Jonathan4, baptized Feb. 14, 1702-3; 
lived in Beverly; had children. Nicholas Hayward"; lived in Salem Vil¬ 
lage; yeoman alias tailor; married Jemima Rea; died in the spring of 
1748; children: 1. Diadem4, born Feb. 19, 1701-2; married Israel Eaton 
of Reading; 2. Paul4, born Oct. 25, 1705; 3. Mehitable4, born July 9, 1708; 
married Samuel Hayward of Reading. Samuel Hayward3; leather dresser 
and set-work cooper; married Mary Hardy of Beverly June 15, 
1699; lived in Reading, 1724-1728; she was his wife in 1728; he died in 
1748; children: 1. Mary4, born March 16, 1700; married Benjamin 
Young Jan. 17, 1722-3; 2. Elizabeth4, born Oct. 1, 1702; 3.. Hannah4, 
born April 29, 1705; married John Chapman; 4. Samuel4, baptized Nov. 
24, 1706; lived in Reading; married Mehitable Hayward in 1730; weaver; 
5. Robert4, baptized Feb. 20, 1708-9; lived in Reading; 6. Lydia4, baptized 
Aug. 16, 1713; married William Flint July 25, 1734; 7. Sarah4, baptized Feb. 
12, 1715-6. 

Paul Hayward4 ; yeoman and cordwainer; married Hephzibah 
-; children: 1. Israel5, baptized June 4, 1727; 2. Daniel5, baptized Jan. 
12, 1728-9; 3. John5, baptized April 25, 1731; died before 1748; 4. Dudley5, 
baptized Aug. 11, 1734; 5. Archelaus5, baptized Oct. 9, 1737; 6. Daniel6, 
baptized Jan. 16, 1742-3; lived in Beverly; 7. Israel Porter5, baptized 
Dec. 25, 1748. 

Archelaus Hayward5; married Elizabeth -; children: 1. 
Hannah6, baptized Dec. 9, 1764; 2. Archelaus6, baptized Sept. 8, 1765. 

1William Bowditch1 is said to^ have come from Devonshire, England; 
wife Sarah; children: 1. William2, born about 1641; 2. Nathaniel2, bap¬ 
tized Feb. 12, 1642-3; settled in Newport, R. I., before 1674. 

William. Bowditch3; married Sarah -; died Oct. 12, 1681; 
child: 1. William3, born Aug. —, 1663. 

Capt. William Bowditch3; master-mariner and merchant; representa¬ 
tive; married Mary Gardner Aug. 30, 1688; she died in I724; he died May 28, 
1728; children : 1. Mary4, born Aug. 2, 1689; died Oct. 2, 1689; 2. William4, 
born Oct. 31, 1690; died Oct. 12, 1706; 3. Mary4, born Dec. 18, 1693; 
married, first, James Butler of Boston Sept. 8, 1715; second. Capt. 
uliUe Barton; 4 Sarah4, born Jan. 10, 1695-6; married Joseph 

athorne; 5. Thomas, born June 5, 1698; died Nov. 30, 1702; 6. Joseph4, 
born Aug. 21,1700 ; 7. Ebeneser, born April 26, 1703; 8. Eunice4, born 

WnpALIS?A.dl5? jLjJy2\4T/°5; 9; Eunice4, born March 22, 1707; married 
tt \\anrHH I0‘ Pam<d4> born June T9> 1709; mariner; died about 1730; 
11. William born Jan. 18, 1712-3; died Nov. 1, 1715. 

F1i»aiwiT’ tt0SEPJI Bowditch4; clerk of the courts; esquire; married 

Elizabeth'; married Wi.liam Jeffrey; 5! S^hVba^’izeLjan"^,”736-7i 
hed Oct. 2, 1764, 6. Eunice5, baptized May 20 1739- died Tune it tt6“ • 

7. Dame!5, baptized May 2, 1742. Capt. Vren/zS’ 

4. William5 horn'in rTor. v i 3’ I732; 3• 1 homas°, born about 1733; 
5 1737-8- 6 Marv5 horn’ V°( f CC' 29’.I732'> 5- Habakkuk5, baptized March 

r*it’ jV y W n abollt 1741 > died APrd 22, 1757. 
3. 1757- living in ,?oaWDTeHi; !n£'cha2t: marri«i Sa'rah Gardner March 
Nov 20 1757- merchant - dier d 1797: .chlId: T- Joseph6, baptized ’ /./, n reliant, died, probably unmarried in tllP Clirntnor r\ -f tQao 
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man and the ancestor of the long line of master mariners of that 

Capt. Ebenezer Bowditch5; married Elizabeth Gilman of Ipswich July 
17, 1755; died Aug. 3, 1771; she died, his widow, Feb. 11, 1824, aged ninety- 
one; children: 1. Elizabeth6, baptized May 2, 1756; died young; 2. 
William6, baptized July 9, 1758; died young; 3. Eunice6, baptized June 15, 
1760; died, unmarried, Dec. 3, 1841; 4. Elizabeth6, baptized Sept. 5, 1762; 
died, unmarried, Nov. 4, 1845; 5. William6, baptized Aug. 12, 1764; 6. 
Ebenezer6, baptized Nov. 23, 1766; 7. Andrew6, baptized June 4, 1769. 
Capt. John Bowditch; master-mariner; married Mary Carlton July 12, 
1759; died April -—, 1793; she died, his widow, Dec. 24, 1803; children: 1. 
Mary6, baptized June 15, 1760; married Lewis Hunt; 2. Hannah6, baptized 
Dec. 13, 1761; married John Ingersoll; 3. John6, baptized March 4, 1764; 
4. Deborah6, baptized Oct. 11, 1767; married Thomas Moriarty of Danvers 
Oct. 31, 1782; 5. Samuel6, baptized May 7, 1769; 6. Ebenezer6, born Sept. 
22, 1771; 7. Benjamin6, born in 1772; died at sea (buried at Martha’s 
Vineyard) Dec. 2, 1794. Capt. Thomas Bowditch5; mariner; married 
Sarah Bancroft of Lynn April 21, 1760; she died Feb. 26, 1808; he died 
July 29, 1808; children: 1. Thomas6, born in 176-; 2. Daniel6, born March 
5, 1765; 3- Joseph5, born July 5, 1767; drowned Aug. 26, 1774; 4. Sarah6, 
born Sept. 9, 1769; married John Brindley May 12, 1793; Jane6, born 
March 13, 1774; died, unmarried, July —, 1838; 6. Joseph6, born May 11, 
1776; 7. Ebenezer6, born July 5, 1778; 8. Richard6, baptized April —, 1783; 
9. Elizabeth6, baptized April —, 1783; 10. George6, born April 5, 1783. 
Capt. Habakkuk Bowditch5; mariner; married Mary Ingersoll July 23, 
1765; she died Dec. 14, 1783; he died July 28, 1798; children: 1. Mary6, 
baptized March 30, 1766; married David Martin; 2. Habakkuk6, baptized 
May 15, 1768; 3. Elizabeth6, born May 16, 1771; died Dec. 9, 1791; 4. 
Nathaniel6, born March 26, 1773; 5. William6 baptized in 1775; died at 
Trinidad about Jan. 1, 1800, aged twenty-four; 6. Samuel Ingersoll6, bap¬ 
tized Sept. 12, 1779; 7. Lois6, baptized April 1, 1781; married Joseph 
Bowditch Sept. 28, 1806; she died July 29, 1809, aged twenty-eight. 

Capt. Ebenezer Bowditch6; married Mary Appleton July 25, 1797; 
she died May 16, 1819; he died July 24, 1830; child: 1. Ebenezer7; suicided 
at the almshouse Aug. 21, 1825, aged twenty-five. John Bowditch6; mar¬ 
iner; married Polly Cook March 11, 1791; she died, his widow, April 29, 
1844; child: 1. Mary7, born Feb. 19, 1792; married Michael Pitman Sept. 
25, 1814. Samuel Bowditch6; mariner; married Ann (Nancy) Welrnan 
Aug. 15, 1790; perished off the Texell, on the brig Harriette, March 21, 
1791; she married, secondly, William Richardson Nov. 9, 1793; child; 1, 
Anna (Nancy)7, born in 1790; living in 1806. Capt. Thomas Bowditch6; 

master-mariner; married Lucy Mansfield Sept. 17, 1786; died on his pas¬ 
sage from Calcutta, on the ship Boston Packet, of which he was com¬ 
mander, April —, 1807; she died, his widow, Dec. 16, 1831; children: 1. 
Lucy7, baptized July 1, 1787; married Robert Collins Feb. 15, 1807; 2. 
Betsey Mansfield7, baptized Aug. 9, 1789; died Sept. 9, 1790; 3. Thomas7, 
baptized Nov. 27, 1791; 4. Sarah7, baptized May 26, 1793; 5- Ann Hend- 
field7, baptized Dec. 6, 1795; married William Osborn Sept. 11, 1816; 6. 
John7, baptized Dec. 31, 1797; 7. Mary Pickman7, baptized May 14, 1800; 
married William Archer April 6, 1823; 8. Daniel7, baptized July 3, 1802; 
carpenter. Capt. Joseph Bowditch6; master-mariner; married Lucinda 
M. --; died Aug. 30, 1824; she was his widow in 1837; children: 1. 
Helen Maria7, born about 1813; married Luther Upton Sept. 29, 1836; 2. 
Sarah Morse7, born Jan. —, 1815; living in 1822; 3. Joseph Henry', born 
Dec. —, 1816; living in 1822; 4. Francis Morse7, born Jan —, 1821; mariner; 
married Rebecca Leavitt July 11, 1855. Ebenezer Bowditch6; goldsmith; 
married, first, Rebecca Felt Oct. 21, 1800; she died May —, 1805; married, 
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name. At the same time there was laid out thirty acres of land 

second, May Appleton; died July 23, 1830; children: 1. William Appleton, 
horn in 1801; 2. Rebecca7, baptized April 28, 1805; died, unmarried, June 
5 1856; 3. Elizabeth Gilman7, baptized Dec. 6, 1828; died, unmarried, 
March 2, 1895; 4. Mary Ann7, baptized Dec. 6, 1828; married Ezra Upton 
of Danvers Sept. 12, 1836. Capt. Richard Bowditch6; married Sarah Col¬ 
lins May 24, 1807; on the Dryade, drowned in the White Sea Sept. —, 
18r 1; she died, his widow, Jan. —, 1832; children; 1. Lois7, born about 
1808; married Francis Cogswell June 26, 1836; 2. Daniel C.7, born in the 
spring of 1810; shipwright; married Eliza Green May 21, 1836; died May 
13, 1885; she died, his widow, Dec. 9, 1889. George Bowditch6; trader and 
superintendent of hearses; married Sarah Stodder Oct. 11, 1807; died 
Aug. 24, 1862; she died Feb. 17, 1867; children: 1. Deborah Marsh', 
born Aug. 14, 1808; died Dec. 24, 1822; 2. Ebed Stodder7, born Oct. 21, 
1810; 3. George7, born June 20, 1812; 4. Richard7, born April 22, 1814; 
carpenter; lived in Salem in 1837; 5. Sarah Bancroft7, born Sept. 15, 1821; 
married Jacob P. Davis; 6. Thomas7, born April 5, 1824; spar maker; 
died Nov. 28, 1846. Capt. Nathaniel Bowditch6; mathematician; re¬ 
moved to Boston in 1823; married, first, Elizabeth Boardman March 
25, 1798; she died Oct. 18, 1798; married, second, Mary Ingersoll Oct. 
28, 1800; she died April 27, 1834; he died at Boston March 16, 1838; 
children: 1. Nathaniel Ingersoll7, born Jan. 17, 1805; of Rochdale, Mass., 
in 1896; married Elizabeth B. -; had a daughter; 2. Jonathan Inger¬ 
soll7, baptized Oct. 16, 1806; 3. Henry Ingersoll7, baptized Oct. 30, 1808; 4. 
Mary Ingersoll7, baptized May 19, 1816; 5. Charles Ingersoll7, born about 
1810; died Feb. 22, 1820; 6. William Ingersoll7, baptized Aug. 15, 1819; 
7. Elizabeth Boardman7. baptized Aug. 24, 1823. 

Thomas Bowditch'; currier and mariner; married Harriet Mylord 
Sept. 17. 1815; lived in Chelsea awhile; died Feb. 16, 1841; she died, his 
widow, Oct. 4. 1876; children: 1. Elizabeth Mylord8; married John Felt 
of Wenham Sept. 30, 1847; 2. Rebecca C.8, born in 1830; died July 2, 
t855 ; 3- Clara H.8, born about 1837; married William W. P. Walden June 
23, 1859. William Appleton Bowditch7; clerk and trader; married- 
--; she died before him; he died May 15, 1896; children: 1. William 

B. ; of Montrose, Cal., 1895 and 1896; 2. Caroline M.8; married Warner 
P. Patch of Gloucester, Mass.; 3. Eliza A.8; married Josiah Mayo of 
Beverly. Ebed Stodder Bowditch'; cooper; lived in Gloucester and Salem; 
married Anstiss Green July 25, 1834; she died Jan. 21, 1892; he died April 
4, 1896; child: 1. George Henry8, born May 12, 1835; lived in Hollis, 
J\. II.; died in Nashua, N. PI., unmarried, Feb. 3, 1888. George Bowditch7; 

mason, married Margaret S. Brown July 30, 1843; she died March 19, 
1892; he died June 2, 1893; children: 1. Deborah Marsh8, born in 1844; 
dad June 1 1847; 2. Thomas*, born Feb. 26, 1849; 3- George F.8, born 
Beb. 14. 1856; died March 26, 1857; 4- Sarah B.8, born in 1861; died Aug. 
w-1, iVCHA,RD Rowditch : mason; married Prudence S. Pierce of 

mdsor, Me. (published Jan. 7, 1844); living in 1856; children: 1. 
Deborah M. , born Sept —, 1847; 2. Richard F.6, born Aug. 21, 1849; 3- 
Eugene8, born July 7, 1855. s ’ ’ 0 

'Liomas Bowditch8; mason; married Annie E. Murphy June 5, 1875; 

IVr I0I4:-S!Vled Dec- J9I7; children: 1. Elizabeth9, born 
born rw ^?rntv ,ChAar T- J°hnson June 17, 1896; 2. Bertha M.9, 
1886 C ’ (K< April 24, 1893; 3. George Stodder9, born Aug. 27, 

Li£rh?rnmnanT0DDER ?^WJ?1TCH’; assistant-treasurer of the Salem Gas 
GSddeTCn' Ju,7£d £18 A- McDo”ald '5. l9.o; child: I. 
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to Henry Bullock1; to Richard Gardiner and John Gardner a 

Henry Bullock1, husbandman, came in the Abigail in June, 1635, 
with his wife Susan, aged forty-two, and children, Henry, aged eight, 
Mary, six, and Thomas, two. He certified from St. Lawrence Parish, 
England. He settled in Charlestown, Mass., as early as 1638, and removed 
to Salem in or before 1649; his wife Susan died about Nov. 2, 1644; 
married, second, Elizabeth -; died Dec. 27, 1663; children: 1. 
Henry2, born about 1627; 2. Mary2, born about 1629; 3. Thomas2, born 
about 1633; husbandman; living in 1663 and deceased in 1717. 

Henry Bullock2; married Alice Flint; died in 1656; she married, 
secondly, John Pickering and died about 1713; children: 1. Elizabeth3; 
married Richard Norman Jan. 13, 1674-5; 2. John3, born Aug. —, 1654. 

John Bullock3; vintner; injured in fighting the Indians, being made 
a cripple; became an innkeeper and brewer; married Mary Maverick Aug. 
3, 1681; died in 1694; she married, secondly, Archibald Ferguson of 
Marblehead in 1697; children: 1. Elizabeth4, born June 22, 1683; 2. John, 
born April 5, 1686. 

John Bullock4; cordwainer and laborer; married Mary Carlyle July 
20, 1710; they were living in 1760; children: 1. John5, born April 21, 1711; 
2. Elizabeth5, baptized Aug. 11, 1717; 3. Mary5, baptized Aug. 23, 1719; 
4, Hannah5, baptized June 25, 1721; 5. Benjamin5, born April 28, 1723; 
died, probably unmarried, in the spring of 1751; 6. Mary5, baptized March 
14, 1725. 

John Bullock5; cordwainer; married Elizabeth Stileman Oct. 27, 1737; 
she was living in 1773; he died in 1774; children: 1. Elizabeth6, baptized 
Jan. 23, 1742-3; married Thomas Morse; 2. John6, baptized Jan. 23, 1742-3; 
3. Mary6, baptized Jan. 23, 1742-3; married Joseph Brown; 4. Preserved6, 
baptized Jan. 19, 1745-6; married John MackMillian June 7, 1772; 5. 
Benjamin6, baptized March 6, 1747-8; 6. Nathaniel'5, baptized March 4, 
I749~5o; 7- Isaac6, baptized April 19, 1752; 8. Samuel6, baptized Feb. 16, 
1755; lived in Danvers; married Eunice Wyman of Beverly May 20, 1787; 
had children; 9. Sarah6, baptized April 25, 1756; unmarried in 1774; 10. 
Abigail6, baptized May 7, 1758; married Thomas Gass of Salem; 11. 
Hannah6, baptized Sept. —, 1774; married --— Maybury before 1778. 

John Bullock6; fisherman and mariner; lived in Danvers; married 
Rosina Barbarina Ulmerin Sept. 20, 1762; he died in 1778; she survived 
him; children: 1. Samuel7, baptized May 29, 1763; mariner; lived in 
Northport, Me., in 1798; 2. John Woolmore7, baptized Oct. 6, 1765; 3. 
Barbara', born about 1767; married, first, James Goodale of Marblehead 
Aug. 19, 1787; second, Samuel Tibbets; died in Salem March 20, 1804; 4. 
Benjamin7, baptized Sept. 16, 1770; 5. Nathaniel7, baptized Aug. 9, 1772; 
6. Isaac7, born Dec. 25, 1774, in Salem. 7. Joseph7, baptized May 5, 
1776; cordwainer; married Betsey Poland of Beverly Oct. 9, 1796; died 
July 13) 1800; 8. Mary7, baptized March 1, 1778; unmarried, of Salem, 
in 1798. Benjamin Bullock6; master-mariner; lived for a time in 1779 
and 1780 in Lyndeboro, N. H.; returned to Salem soon after; married 
Sarah Skerry March 14, 1771; died in 1794; she died, his widow, Sept. 29, 
1818; children: 1. Anna7; married Hubbard Haskell of Newburyport 
April 4, 1796; 2. Francis7, born May 19, 1782; 3. Samuel7; 4. Elizabeth7, 
born about 1787; died June 25, 1858; 5. Preserved7 (twin), baptized April 
5, 1789; died April 8, 1862; 6. -7 (twin), baptized April 5, 1789. 
Nathaniel Bullock6; mariner; removed to Lyndeboro, N. H.; married 
Elizabeth-; she was his wife in 1786; died in 1800; children: 1. 
Nathaniel7, baptized April 27, 1776; living in 1800; 2. Betsey7, baptized 
April 27, 1776; married Benjamin Gault of Boston; 3. John7, baptized 
March 15, 1778; 4. James7, baptized Nov. 5, 1780; 5. James7, baptized Aug. 
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ten-acre lot near Mackerel Cove, next to Mr. Thorndik s plain, 
to each of them; and to Mr. Emery four or five acres of meadow, 
if there be so much there, next Lieutenant Damport’s farm. Two 
days later, the town granted to Goodman Weekes ten acres to 
lie with the last ten "acres mentioned; Edward Beachamp ten 
acres at Bass River, if it be there; to Thomas Pattin fifteen 
acres and to John Hathorne fifty acres of land toward the great 
river. It was ordered that Mr. Gott should have his meadow with 

the first in the great meadow. 
Feb. 13, 1642-3, the town granted to William Clarke sixty 

acres of land in lieu of that which he lost by the laying out of the 
Lynn bounds, being within the limits of Lynn. It is to be laid out 
in that land that lieth south from Mr. Downing’s great meadow 
towards Mr. Johnson’s land; also granted to Ryce Edwards1 

and John Reeves2 ten 
acres of ground each 
near Mr. Blackleech’s 
farm; and to Edmund 

25, 1782; 6. Benjamin7, baptized July 18, 1784; 7. William7, baptized March 
1, 1787. Isaac Bullock6; mariner and ship owner; married Elizabeth 
Boyd (published April 20, 1776) ; she was his wife in 1804; he died Dec. 
21, 1826; children: 1. Samuel Stileman7, baptized Sept. 27, 1778; 2. Isaac 
Stileman', born about 1779; grocer; married Sally Clough; died Oct. 14, 
1858; she died Dec. 10, 1863; 3. John7, born Feb. 4, 1781; mariner; mar¬ 
ried Elizabeth Cloutman; died Jan. 25, 1854; 4. Elizabeth7, born about 
1782; died, unmarried, Nov. 16, 1855; 5. Benjamin7, born about 1790; 
died, unmarried, Oct. 28, 1823; 6. George7, born Sept. 13, 1795; 7. James 
Crawford'; name changed to Ballard; married Elizabeth C. Archer Aug. 
18, 1816. 

Benjamin Bullock'; mariner; removed to Sturbridge before 1808; 
married, first, Abigail Trask of Danvers (published May 24, 1794) ; she 
died in Danvers June 6, 1799; married, second, Mary - in t8oo; 
children: 1. Hannah8, baptized May 13, 1798; 2. Abigail8, baptized Jan. 
o’ o04 ’ 3* Benjamin8, baptized Jan. 8, 1804; 4. William8, baptized Jan. 
8 1804; 5 Hasket Ulmer8, baptized May 5, 1805; 6. Mary Ann8, baptized 
Dec. 21, 1806; 7. Horatio8, baptized May 14, 1809. Isaac Bullock7; lived 
in Danvers; married Martha I rask of Danvers April 11 1799' died July 
15, 1800; she died at Salem Aug. 11, 1866; child: 1. Isaac8, born April 
13, 1800; lived in Salem in 1866 . 

’Rice Edwards, born about i6t^. ramp frnm \A/atprtr>«7i-> TL« TA o tnp 
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Grover two little parcels of fresh meadow, containing about two 
and a half acres, near Beaver Pond, by Hugh Laskin’s meadow. 
It was ordered that the twenty acres granted to Allyn Convers 
in exchange of twenty acres granted to him elsewhere shall be 
laid out by the town to Mr. Endecott. 

Five days later, the selectmen granted to John Cook about 
three-quarters of an acre of land, lying before his door at his 
ten-acre lot in the North field, reserving to the town two pole in 
breadth through the land for a cart way to and from the town 
of Salem, being the highway through the North field; and to 
Thomas Gardner and Obadiah Holmes near three-quarters of an 
acre lying within the “Rayles” near the gate that leads to and 
from the old mill, near their lots. 

1681; children: 1. Elizabeth2; married Richard Richards; 2. William2, 
born about 1648; 3. Mary2; married Ephraim Kempton; 4. Freeborn2, 
born July 10, 1658; living in 1676; 5. Benjamin2, born Dec. 30, 1661. 

William Reeves2; butcher and slaughterer (also, mason?) ; married 
Elizabeth Collins March 14, 1669-70; died Feb. —, 1717-8; she survived him; 
children: 1. William3; 2. John3, born July 12, 1673; 3. Cockerel 3; 4. Eliza¬ 
beth3; unmarried in 1718; 5. Freeborn3. 

William Reeves3; fisherman; lived in Marblehead and Salem; married, 
first, Mary Carder Dec. 19, 1706; second, Sarah Fountain Dec. 23, 1714; 
died Oct. —, 1737; she married, second, George Cummings Feb. 5, 1745; 
children: 1. John4, born Feb. 24, 1708; 2. Mary4, born Sept. 24, 1711; 3. 
Benjamin4, baptized June 21, 1713; married Sarah Bartoll Oct. 11, 1736; 
living in 1737;. 4. William*, baptized Nov. 8, 1719; 5. Sarah2, baptized Sept. 
9, 1722; married Jonathan Felt. Cockerel Reeves3; heel alias lastmaker; 
married, first, Judith -; second, Elizabeth Robinson July 17, 1723; 
died in the winter of 1756-7; she was his widow in 1762; children: 1. 
Samuel4, baptized Jan. 2, 1708-9; 2. William4, baptized Dec. 24, 1710; heel- 
maker; married Mary Pickering Jan. 16, 1734; died Oct. 2, 1796; 3. 
Susanna4, baptized March 22, 1712-3; married Joseph Clough; 4. Elizabeth4, 
born Oct. 20, 1715; married Gabriel Holman; 5. Nathaniel4, baptized Nov. 
2, 1718; housewright; married Mercy Dudley (published Jan. 29, 1740); 
living in Salem in 1757; 6. Jacob4, baptized Aug. 7, 1720; heelmaker; lived 
in Roxbury as late as 1772, and in Sudbury, innholder, in that year; 
married Abigail Furgeson of Marblehead (published Dec. 17, 1743) ; she 
was his wife in 1772; 7. Judith4, baptized Nov. 11, 1772; probably died 
before 1757; 8- Mary4, baptized July 12, 1724; married Richard Palmer; 9. 
John4, baptized Feb. 6, 1725-6; probably died before 1757; 10. Benjamin, 
baptized Feb. 28, 1730-I. Freeborn Reeves3; married Margaret Felton Nov. 
22, I7I5; died in or before 1732; child: 1. Freeborn4, born about 1717; 
husbandman; living in 1739. 

William Reeves4; married Margaret Peele Oct. 17, 1754; children: 
!• -9, born in 1755; died Oct. 21, 1756; 2.-5, born in 1757; died 
May 21, 1759. Samuel Reeves4; heelmaker; removed to Medford before 
1756; married Elizabeth Millet (published July 29, 1732) ; she was living in 
1757; he was living in 1771; children: 1. Elizabeth5, baptized Aug. 26, 
x733; 2. Judith0, baptized April 13, 1735. Benjamin Reeves4; heelmaker; 
married Hannah Smith of Marblehead Jan. 10, 1754; died Nov. 15, 1759; 
she was his widow in 1770; children: 1. ———5, born in the summer of 
1756; died Sept. 30, 1757; 2. Hannah5, born about 1758; married Joseph 
Bishop. 
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A week later the town granted to old George Wright a 
quarter of an acre or more of land to be laid out by Jeffry Massy 
and Mr. Gardner upon the common near Edmond Giles’ lot ; to 
Mr. Batter half-an-acre or near an acre of land, that he might 
have his line straight; and to brother John Gedney that quarter 
of an acre of ground formerly granted to George Wright. 

At the court in Salem, Feb. 28, 1642-3, John Holgrave was 
admonished for perjury and affirming untruths before the church 

in Salem. 
Lady Deborah Moody, wife of Sir Henry Moody, lived at 

Town House Square1 and belonged to the Salem church. Late 
in 1642, she was before the local court, charged with belief in 
anabaptism, or refusing to baptize infants. Winthrop called her 
“a wise and anciently religious woman."2 She was dealt with 
by many of the elders and others during the winter, and was 
admonished by the court. She still persisted in her belief; and 
to avoid further trouble, she removed to the Dutch against the 
advice of her friends. Many others who believed as she did 
also removed thither. Subsequently, the church excommuni¬ 
cated her. Dec. 15, 1642, William Bound and his wife were pre¬ 
sented for holding baptism of infants not to be an ordinance of 
God. Being in a way of conviction before the elders, the com¬ 
plaint was dismissed. July 1, 1646, Michael Shafflin was pre¬ 
sented for withdrawing from baptism; and, August 4th, the wife 
of William Bowditch was admonished for offensively withdraw¬ 
ing from infant baptism. 

Philip Cromwell first appears in Salem in the winter of 
1642-3, and was here two or three years before probably. He 

was a slaughterer, and had his 
butcher shop near his house, 
which stood where the Naurn- 
keag Block now stands, 209 

Essex .Street. He was born about 1613; and came here alone, 
leaving his wife in England.3 

\\ inthrqp s Journal, volume III, page 123. 
In lip Cromwell was ordered hv flip loral mnrt tn rptnm nic wifo 



THE BRIDGE *43 

Francis Nurse1 appeafed in Salem about 1640, when he was 
a boy, aged nineteen, and lived here the rest of his life. 

Philip Cromwell had a younger brother, Thomas Cromwell, who came 
from England in Mr. Stratton’s ship about 1652 and lived in Salem. A 
John Cromwell, probably his nephew, came with him. Thomas Cromwell 
was a tailor and had a shop 5 married Ann -; and died in or before 
1690, when she was his widow. Children: 1. Jane; married Jonathan 
Pickering; 2. Anne; married, first, Benjamin Ager; second, David Phippen. 

Francis Nurse1 was born about 1621; tray maker and yeoman; 
married Rebecca Towne; she was executed as a witch July 19, 1692’ he 
died Nov. 22, 1695; children: 1. Rebecca2; married Thomas Preston'; 2. 
Sarah"; married Michael Bowden; 3. John2; 4. Samuel?; 5. Mary2; married 
John Tarbell; 6. Elizabeth2; married William Russell; 7. Francis2; born 
Feb. 3, 1660-1; of Reading in 1697; 8. Benjamin2, born Jan. 26, 1665. 

John Nurse2; yeoman; married, first, Elizabeth Smith Nov. 1, 1672; 
she died Oct. 22, 1673; married, second, Elizabeth Very Aug. 17, 1677; he 
died about the first of December, 1719; she was his widow in 1723; 
children: 1. John3, born Oct. 12, 1673; of Framingham in 1719; 2. 
Elizabeth3, born March 18, 1677-8; married - Douty; 3. Samuel3, 
born Aug. 20, 1679; mariner and yeoman; wife Elizabeth in 1699; had 
daughter Deborah, and died before 1719; 4. Sarah3, born Nov. 10, 1680; 
married Peter Twist Dec. 20, 1699; 5. Jonathan3, born May 3, 1682; 
husbandman; married Martha Twist (published March 13, 1713-14) ; living 
*n J743; 6- Joseph3, born Sept. 20, 1683; 7. Benjamin, born Feb. 20, I685-6; 
8. Hannah3, born June 22, 1687; married John Very. Samuel Nurse2; 
husbandman; married Mary Smith April 5, 1677; she was his wife in 1715; 
he died about January, 1719-20; children: 1. Samuel2, born Jan. 7, 1677-8; 
2. Margaret3, born Feb. 24, 1679-80; died, unmarried, Dec. 5, 1700; 3. 
George2, born July 29, 1682; 4. Mary3, born May 25, 1685; married Wiiliam 
Dagett; 5- Rebecca3, born Sept. 15, 1688; married Jonathan Kenney; 6. 
Ebeneser2, born Aug. 5, 1693. Benjamin Nurse2; husbandman; married 
Tomasin Smith Feb. 21, 1688; she was living in 1695 and he in 1731; 
child: 1. Margaret3, born — 12, 1691(F) ; living in 1715. 

Benjamin Nurse3; husbandmanj married Sarah Boston of Lynn 
(published Sept. 4, 1714) ; they were living in 1736; children: 1. Benjamin , 
born in 1726; 2. Sarah4, baptized Dec. 24, 1727; 3. John4, baptized Dec. 24, 
1727; Jived in Danvers, mariner, in 1754; married Elizabeth -; 4. 
Phebe, baptized Dec. 24, 1727; 5. Joseph4, baptized Dec. 24, 1727; distiller; 
lived in Boston in the latter part of his life; died in or before 1791; 6. 
Elizabeth4, baptized May 12, 1728; 7. Nathaniel4, baptized July 6, 1729; 
cordwainer and tanner; married Mary Best Nov. 7, 1754; they were living 
in 1778; 8. James4, baptized April 16, 1732; 9. Daniel4, baptized May 26, 
I734- Samuel Nurse3; married Dorothy Faulkner Nov. 25, 1708; died 
April —1740; she survived him; children: 1. Abigail4, born May 23, 1710; 
living in 1740; 2. Rebecca4, born June 23, 1712; died Sept. 23, 1734; 3. 
Samuel, born April 25, 1715; yeoman; lived in Bolton; married Elizabeth 
Kellogg of Hadley (published Dec. 29, 1739) ; 4- Francis4, born June 6, 
1717; 5- Eunice4, born Aug. 27, 1718; living in 1740; 6. Phebe4, born June 
o, 1721; died Nov. 23, 1729. George Nurse3; yeoman; removed to Lynn 
in 1710; married Lydia Hutchinson in 1709; died March 1, 17S9; she 
died, his widow, April.3, 1764; children: 1. Elizabeth4, born July 8, 1710; 
married Jonathan Twiss; 2. Mary4, born April 5, 1712; married, first, 
Nathaniel Walden; second, John Twiss; 3. George4, born June 30, 1715; 4. 
Abigad , born Sept. 7, 1724; married Adam Johnson Jan. 13, 1745-6; 5. 
Lydia born Aug. 13, 1728; married Joseph Aborn July 2, 1747. Ebenezer 
Nurse3; husbandman; lived in Danvers; married, first, Elizabeth Mitchel 
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In the general court, May io, 1643, the colony was divided 
into four counties, Middlesex, Norfolk, Essex and Suffolk. 

Tan. 4. 1721-2; second, widow Amee Cross Jan. Q, I75I-21 died Dec. 30. 
1765; she died Aug. 10, 1771; children; 1. Sarah , born Nov. 14, 1722] 
living in 1762; 2. Martha4, born Nov. n, 1724; living in 1762; 3. Elizabeth, 
born Sept. 15, 17265 living in 1762 j 4* Ebcuczcv, born Sept. 2, 1728, 5* 
Caleb', born July II, 1732; died Oct. 7, 1732; 6! Eli, born Nov.1 1733; 
died Feb. 4, 1733-4; 7. Mary', born Aug. 5, 1735; living in 1762; 8. Caleb, 

baptized May 20, 1739. . „ , , 
Benjamin Nourse ; chair bottom maker, saddler, shoreman and sex¬ 

ton; married, first, Elizabeth -- before 1774; she died June 29, 1787; 
married, second, widow Abigail Cumbs Oct. 8, 1791; he died Jan. 17, 1798; 
she died, his widow, March 1, 1814; children: 1. Benjamin ; 2. Samuel ; 
3. Elizabeth5, baptized Oct. 12, 1766; unmarried in 1789; 4. Sally5; died 
June 15, 1787, aged eighteen; 5. John5 (?) ; printer; died in Boston Jan. 
1, 1790, aged twenty-eight; 6. Joseph" (?); distiller; lived in Salem in 
1789. Francis Nurse4; husbandman; lived in Danvers; married, first, 
Eunice Putnam March 19, 1739-40; she died Aug. 21, 1766; married, 
second, Hannah Endicott Sept. 10, 1769; he died in the spring of 1780; 
children: 1. Samuel5, born Dec. 28, 1741; died Sept. 1, 1766; 2. Peter5, 
born March 25, 1743-4; living in 1780; 3. Philip5, born July 10, 1748; 
lived in Danvers; married, first, Sarah Putnam Sept. 22, 1772; she died 
July 22, 1786; married, second, Anna Stearns of Lunenburg in 1787; had 
children; 4. Eunice5, born May 2, 1752; living in 1780; 5. Benjamin5, 
born April 5, 1755; 6. Phebe5, born Sept. 21, 1757; 7. Jacob5, born May 11, 
1760; 8. Abigail5, born Jan. 13, 1762; 9. Ede5, born May 17, 1765; 10. 
Allen3, born July 30, 1771. George Nourse6; lived in Lynnfield; married 
Hannah Wallis (published Sept. 6, 1747) ; she died in Lynn Oct. 15, 1765; 
he died in Lynnfield Aug. 21, 1799; children: 1. Aaron5, born Sept. —, 
1754, in Danvers; cordwainer; lived in Danvers, Reading, Salem and Lynn¬ 
field; married Rebecca Ashton of Danvers April 4, 1787; killed by a fall 
from a load of hay July 6, 1818; she died in Lynnfield April 25, 1837; 2. 
Elijah5, born about 1758; 3. George5, born in 1760. Ebenezer Nurse4; 

lived in Danvers; husbandman; married Hannah Rea Nov. 29, 1750; died 
April 23, 1787; she died March 9, 1823; children: 1. Hannah5, born July 

1, 17534 2- E1>'5’ born Dec- 3L 1755; 3- Eli5, baptized July 3, 1757; 4- 
Samuel3, born Dec. 25, 1757 ^ 5- Michel", born Nov. 14, 1759; 6. Roger5, 
born Nov. 3, 1761; 7. Rufus", born Jan. 3, 1764; 8. Deborah5, born Dec. 
28, 1766; 9. Aaron", born Dec. 19, 1768; 10. Ebenezer5, born Aug. 8, 1772. 

Benjamin Nourse"; baker; married Margaret Welcome (published 
April 16, 1744) ; living in 1796.; she died, his widow, Nov. 7, 1815; children: 
i Margaret6, born about 1784; died Sept. 1. 1811; 2. Edward6, born in 1785; 
dud Oct. 28. 1786; 3. John6, born about 1788; died July 16, 1791; aged three 
jears; 4. John, baptized June 5, 1791. Samuel Nourse5; husbandman and 
shoemaker; married Abigail Coombs; died Nov. 25, 1806; she died, his 
\\idow, April 19, 1843; children: 1. Sally6, born Dec. 1, 1790; married 
1 haddeus Willmgton Sept. 2, 1810; 2. Abigail6, born in 1797; died, un¬ 
married, March 2, 1877. Aaron Nourse5; cordwainer; lived in Danvers; 

urir « 1 y V W, 1797; 4- Amos”, born April 1, 1800; 5. 
,^hai?G)0rn J.Pn,e 3°’ *?02; kllled ^ a steamboat at New York Oct. 6, 
it'''1’ 61 ieorfS ’ born March J7> 1805; 7. Rea6, born May 30, 1807; 8. 

owes, born Sept. 13 1810; 9. Aaron6, born April 21, 1813. 

T, “T r°a u1! ’ fruito oealer; marned Abigail Day '(published Jan. 
13, 1815) , she died Beb. 27, 1858; he died Sept. 26, 1869; children : 1. Jane7, 
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Essex County was made up of eight towns. The accompanying 
map shows the territory of each town.1 Salem was made the 
shire town of Essex County by vote of the general court Nov. 
13, 1644; and it has occupied that position ever since. 

Dec. 4, 1643, the town appointed a committee to find a room 
and set up a forge for William Place, the gunsmith. 

At the meeting of the seven men, Dec. 11, 1643. John Hardy 
desired a ten-acre lot about Bass River for his son Joseph, and 
he was granted ten acres near Mr. Alford’s farm, adjoining the 
old planters’ farms. John Jarrett2 was received as an inhabitant, 
and the next month was granted a ten acre lot, formerly Esdras 
Reed’s adjoining Ryall Side, which was returned to the town 
April 15, 1644. Two acres of meadow formerly granted to 
Samuel Edson was ordered to be laid out in the pine meadow 
near Mr. Kenniston’s farm. There was granted to Thomas 
Moore five acres of land on Darby’s side; and Samuel Corney 
was ordered to have the five acres of land formerly granted to 
him laid out on Darby’s fort side. John Kitchen was granted 
about an acre of land near Edward Gaskill’s ten-acre lot at the 
Great Cove. Mark Lothrop was received as an inhabitant, and 
he requested some ground near his kinsman Thomas Lothrop; 
and the latter desired some meadow. Roger Haskell was granted 
six acres in the great meadow. 

Zaccheus Curtis1 appeared in Salem as early as 1643; re¬ 
moved to Reading about 1655; went to Gloucester in 1658; and 
returned to Salem the next year. From Salem he removed to 

born in 1815; died, unmarried, Oct. 22, 1897; 2. Mary G.7, born about 1822; 
died, unmarried, in Danvers Sept. 15, 1846; 3. Dorcas C.7, born April 7, 
1824; died, unmarried, Feb. 10, 1912; 4. Lucy H.7, born Oct. 28, 1829; 
died, unmarried, Dec. 31, 1912; 5. William7, born May 25, 1832; fruit 
dealer; died, unmarried, May 2, 1897. Aaron Nourse6; married Harriet 
Matilda Kimball Aug. 26, 1840; she died June 29, 1899; he died Aug. 2, 
1902; children: 1. Elizabeth Prince7, born Nov. 11, 1842; died, unmarried, 
Sept. 10, 1920; 2. Catherine Elizabeth Ellison7, born March 4, 1847:^3. 
Cynthia B.7, born June 28, 1850; married William P. Upham Dec. 1, 1880; 
4. Henry Prince7, born Feb. 22, 1862. 

Henry Prince Nourse7; letter carrier; married Edith H. Scott Dec. 
28, 1900; children: 1. Dorothy K.8, born June 1, 1901; 2. Harriet S.8‘ 
born Jan. 8, 1903; 3. Elizabeth F. P.8, born Jan. 1, i9°5; />- Harrie K.8 b n 
March 11, 1908;' died May 23, 1908; 5. Vesta S.8, born Jan. 3,^1911; 6. 
-8 (twin), born April 27, 1917; died April 28, 1917; 7--8 (twin), 
born April 27, 1917; died May 3, 1917. 

What part of Lynn which was set off to Reading is not included in 
the map. The towns between Merrimac and Piscataqua rivers constituted 
Norfolk County. 

2He probably came from Rowley, and returned after a few. months. 
aZaccheus Curtis; planter; married Joanna -.; died in 1682; she 

survived him; children: 1. John; lived in Boxford and Topsfield; married 
Mary Look Dec. 4, 1672; died in the spring of I7I8; she died in Topsfield 
Aug. 23, 1745, aged ninety-seven; had children; 2. Zaccheus; lived in Box- 
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Rowley Village (Boxford) in 1663. Savage says that he came 
from Downton, Wiltshire, England, in the James, sailing from 
Southampton in 1635. He was born about 1619. He brought his 
wife and children to Salem, and from thence went to Boxford. 

From this time on, the town grew very slowly from English 
immigration, as the war was on, and ships were stopped leaving 
English ports. Not more than one or two new inhabitants a 
year were admitted by vote of the town. 

ford; married, first, Mary Blake of Boxford Dec. 4, 1673; second, Abigail 
Stiles; died in the summer of 1712; had children; 3. Sarah; married James 
Scales of Rowley Nov. 7, 1677; 4. Mary, born in Gloucester May 12, 1659; 
married, first, John Herd; second, Jonathan Look Nov. 19, 1678; 5. Abigail; 
probably married James Mackcarwithe; 6. Ephraim; married Elizabeth 
Kilburn of Rowley; had children. See Records and Files of the Essex 
County Quarterly Courts, volume II, pages 131-134, for an interesting 
statement of Zaccheus Curtis’ connection with Gloucester. 
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CHAPTER IX. 

WENHAM. 

EW locations were constantly sought by the people, not 
only for farms, but for villages. Wenham Lake, the 
tracts of meadow on Longham brook and Miles River 
and the plain but fertile land lying northerly of them, 
now the center of Wenham, were most attractive. The 

first large grant of land in that section was of two hundred acres 
made by the town of Salem to Francis Felmingham Jan. 15, 
1637-8. This grant occupied the northerly side of Main Street, 
from the Hamilton town line to the meeting house, and bounded 
northeasterly by the Hamilton line to Pleasant Pond. But he 
never lived upon it. The next grant was of two hundred acres 
made by the town to Samuel Smith April 23, 1638. This grant 
was along the southeasterly side of Main Street. Upon this tract 
of land, Mr. Smith built a house, in which he lived until his 
decease in the late autumn of 1642. Before the town of Wenham 
was set off, the town of Salem granted to Richard Rayment one 
hundred acres of upland and ten acres of meadow, within the 
bounds of Wenham, on Pleasant Pond and the great swamp, the 
meadow being in the great meadow. 

Upon appointment made by the town, the seven men met 
about establishing a village in that section Oct. 29, 1638. Appar¬ 
ently, the seven men decided that this was a matter for the whole 
town to act upon and at a general town meeting, Dec. 31, 1638, 
it was “Agreed and voted that there should be a Village graunted 
to Mr Phillips & his company vppon such conditions as the 7 men 
appointed for the town affaires should agree on/’ 

This Mr. Phillips was Rev. John Phillips, rector of the parish 
church of Wrentham, Suffolkshire, England. He began his ser¬ 
vice at Wrentham in 1609, and continued therein until he was 
removed in 1638 He turned his attention to New England, 
where relatives and friends were living in Salem. His wife s 

147 
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brother’s widow, Mrs. Joanna Ames, had gone to Salem the year 
before. This was the widow of Dr. William Ames, who was 
born in Ipswich in 1576, and who entered Christ College in 1613. 
Doctor Ames preached in Holland, being rector of St. Mary’s 
for a number of years, and intimate with Rev. John Robinson, the 
Pilgrim pastor, whose extreme views were greatly modified 
through this friendship. In 1622, Doctor Ames was appointed 
Professor of Divinity at the University of Franeker, in Holland. 
When he left this position, he found that he could not secure a 
living in England because he was a Nonconformist; and early in 
1633 he became one of the ministers of the English Congrega¬ 
tional Church in Rotterdam, in conjunction with Rev. Hugh 
Peter, who had been its pastor since 1623. Doctor Ames was 
there but a few months, dying Nov. 14th of the same year, at the 
age of fifty-six. His ability and fame as an instructor was so 
great that many came from Hungary, Poland and Russia to be 
educated under him; and his writings were held in the highest 
esteem. It was he who wrote “Puritanimus Anglianus.” Hugh 
Peter said of him: ‘‘Learned Amesius breathed his last into my 
bosom, who left his professorship in Friesland to live with me, 
became one of my Church’s Indepency, at Rotterdam. He was 
my colleague and chosen brother to the Church, where I was an 
unworthy pastor.” 

Die second wife of Doctor Ames was Joanne Fletcher, by 
whom he had two sons and a daughter. They were kindly and 
bountifully relieved by the magistrates of Rotterdam. Soon 
alter her husband’s death, she left Holland and went to Yarmouth. 
Deciding to go to America, May 10, 1637, she was examined and 
given permission to sail to Salem to inhabit there. She was 
then fifty years of age, and her children were Ruth, aged eighteen, 
Y illiam, born about 1624, the eldest, and John, the youngest boy. 
I\uth mariied Edmund Angier of Cambridge, and became the 
mother of Rev. Samuel Angier; William1 graduated at Harvard 
C ollege in 1645, became a clergyman and returned to England 
to assist his uncle, Rev. John Phillips, in the ministry at Wren- 
tham; and John probably lived with his brother in Wrentham. 
1 "xini K1 1 5th, after her arrival in Salem, the g'eneral court gave 
her forty pounds for her relief, calling her “the widow of Doctor 
Ames, ot famous memory, who is deceased.” 

I horn as Paine of Wrentham, weaver, aged fifty, and his 
e .md mx children were licensed to go to Salem1 on the same 

1S lvife Elizabeth, aged fiftv-three, and 

Tin U , l,dm ,Ames> K-, married, first, Susanna - 

Feb m ■f,S. f.;nkSl'C,°', ',?lzabcth WaIes Jan- 2fi. '652-3 eb. 19, 1682-3, and he died July 21, 1689, aged sixty-five 

who died 
She died 
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their six children, Thomas, John, Marey, Elizabeth, Dorothy and 
Sarah. On the same day, also, John Thurston of Wrentham, 
carpenter, aged thirty, was licensed to go to Salem to live with 
his wife and children. Mrs. 
Margaret Thurston was 
thirty-two years of age, and 
their children were Thom¬ 
as and John. The widow of Benjamin Smith, a farmer of 
Northhall, in Wrentham, married, secondly, Henry Chickering, 
who after her death went to New England. 

Rev. Mr. Phillips was deprived of his position as rector of 
the church in Wrentham Aug. 8, 1638, and he immediately left 
his homeland for Salem. His arrival was not unexpected. He 
was twice invited to become the pastor of the church in Dedham, 
but declined it each time, and remained in Salem. 

“Mr. Phillips & company” undoubtedly consisted of Hugh 
Stacy, John Thurston, Thomas West, widow of Thomas Paine, 
Austin Kellham, Nicholas Pacy, Philemon Dickenson, Joseph 
Yongs, Henry Chickering, John Yongs, Mrs. Ames, William 
Browne, a shopkeeper, and himself. 

At the general court Nov. 5, 1639 /'Whereas the inhabitants 
of Salem have agreed to plant a village neare the ryver wcli runs to 
Ipswich, it is ordered, that all the land neare their bounds, be¬ 
tween Salem & the said ryver, not belonging to any other towne, 
or person, by any former grant, shall belong to the said village.” 

Jan. 21, 1639-40, the seven men of Salem received Mr. 
Phillips as an inhabitant and granted him and William Browne 
eighty acres of land apiece; to Mrs. Ames forty acres; to Henry 
Chickering and John Yongs fifty acres each; to Austin Killham, 
Nicholas Pacy, Philemon Dickenson and Joseph Yongs, thirty 
acres apiece; and to Hugh Stacy,2 John Thurston,3 Thomas West4 
and widow Paine twenty acres apiece. These grants were made 
upon condition that the grantees remain in this plantation and 
use the premises. 

Mr. Phillips received a third invitation from the church at 
Dedham, and this time he accepted, Nov. 1, 1640, and removed 
thither. Henry Chickering went with him. Mr. Chickering 
owned the Nurse farm at Salem Village, and lived there in 1639, 

*See volume I, page 444. 
2Hugh Stacy lived in Marblehead; children: 1. John, baptized Oct. 

9, 1642; 2. Deborah, baptized Oct. 22, 1643; 3. John, baptized March 29, 
1646; lived in Marblehead; married Agnes —■-; died March 23, 1705; 
she died June 19, 1715; had children. 

3Tohn Thurston went to Newbury before I641. 
4Thomas West came in the Mary and John in 1634, and lived in 

Salem in 1644. 
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although he did not obtain a deed of it until he had removed to 
Dedham in 1641. It had been granted to Townsend Bishop, who 
conveyed it to Mr. Chickering Oct. 1, 1641; and Mr. Chickering 
conveyed it to Gov. John Endecott Oct. 4? 1648. MYs. Ames 
removed to Cambridge, where she died Dec. 21, 1644. 

Mr. Phillips remained in Dedham only a short time; and 
Oct. 26, 1641, he and his wife sailed for England, experiencing 
a long and disastrous voyage. The next year he resumed his 
pastorate in Wrentham. In 1643, he was appointed one of the 
Assembly of Divines at Westminster. He was growing old and 
infirm, and his nephew, William Ames, was appointed as his col¬ 
league. Mr. Phillips died Sept. 2, 1660, aged about seventy-five. 

Mr. Phillips married Elizabeth, sister of Doctor Ames, Jan. 
6, 1611-2, at Wrentham. Doctor Ames had helped him in his 
studies, and influenced him in Puritanism. 

Rev. Hugh Peter had friendly correspondence with Mr. 
Phillips, and the following is one of his letters:— 

Dearly beloved Sir, 

I have received yrs., and thanke you hartely for that you write 
concerning Mr. Ward; truly he hath done not well, making many suffer 

through his melancholly fitts; I pray wish him to come away; we 

haue a place or two (as I write) looke [ing] for good men, and this 
cuntry cannot supply [them]. 

Mr. Burgesse is answered, but how the bookes will come into 
men’s hands is a question. Dr. Ames wilbe here settled the next 

moneth, and we shall desire both to see you. The Lord our God make 
us useful each to other, and both to the churches of God. 

Good Sir, let us learne howe thinges goe with you the next visita¬ 
tion. We suppose things doe . . . The Lord in mercy doe you 
good in all things, in whome I am, 

Yrs., 

Rotterdam, 23 of June, 1633. 
Hu. Peter 

[Addressed: j 

lo the Reverend, my very worthy friend, Mr. Phillips, at Wren¬ 
tham. these, &c., &c. Leave this letter with Abraham Wheeler’s wyfe. 

Ah. ! hblips was a man of good learning, sound doctrine, 
conWtent life and laborious useulness, “a very profitable and 
useful preacher, and obnoxious to Matthew Wren,2 by whom he 

was chased out of ()ld into New England for his Nonconform¬ 
ity. He came back, nevertheless. 

'See volume I, pages 289 and 
Bishop Wren was uncle of 

architect. 

334, for grant and plan of the farm. 
Sir Christopher Wren, England’s famous 
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Dec. 3, 1641, the selectmen granted to Phineas Fiske twenty 
acres of land “more at the village nere the pond.” 

Before his final departure for England, Rev. Hugh Peter 
went to Wenham Lake and standing upon a conical mound1 on 
its shore about half-way between the highway and the point 
of land projecting into the lake, preached to the people 
who assembled there, from the text: John III: 23, “In Enon, 
near to Salim, for there was much water there.” This little hil¬ 
lock was subsequently known as “Peter’s pulpit,” and it was 
leveled about 1850, for the site of the new ice-houses of Addison 
Gage & Company. 

Aug. 24, 1639, the Salem church considered the matter of 
establishing three villages, at Danvers, Wenham and Manchester. 
The subject was brought up for discussion several times in sub¬ 

sequent church meetings. 
Nov. 29, 1642, the town granted to Richard Pettingall2 a ten 

acre lot at Enon, to Henry Haggett3, the cow keeper at Enon, a 
ten-acre lot there, and to George Ingersoll twenty acres to be laid 
out near his other land at Enon. Pettingall and Haggett lived 
there for some years. Jan. 23, 1642-3, the town granted to 
William Sawyer twenty acres of land and two acres of meadow, 
all at Enon. Two days later, the town granted to John Small 
ten acres of land at Enon on the west side of the great pond, to 
Robert Tuke five acres of land at the great pond, to Henry 
Reignolds and John Boorne five acres each at the great pond, 
and to William Allin, Robert Allin, Thomas West and Michael 
Sallowes ten acres each at the great pond. It was also ordered 
that Jeffry Massy should have at the great pond his twenty acres 

formerly granted. 
Feb. 15, 1642-3, the town granted to Richard Prince, Hugh 

Stacy and Christopher Yonges a ten-acre lot each at Enon, pro¬ 
viding they shall go to reside there within twelve months, to John 
White six acres of meadow there and to John Abby ten acres of 
land there, in exchange for ten acres near Bass River. Five days 
later, the selectmen granted to Thomas Skelling4 fifteen acres of 

1The town seal of Wenham preserves a view of this mound. 
2Richard Pettingall married Joanna Ingersoll; lived in Wenham until 

he removed to Newbury, about 1650; children: 1. Richard, baptized in 
Salem Feb. 9, 1644-5; 2. Nathaniel, born Sept. 21, 1654, in Newbury; 
3. -, born Nov. 15, 1657; 4. - (son), born Jan. 16, 1659. 

3BRnry Haggett was born about 1594; married Ann —- ; lived in 
Wenham; died Jan. 24, 1677-8; she survived him; children, living in 1676: 
1. Henry; 2. Moses; 3. Mary; 4. Deliverance; 5- Hannah. 

4Thomas Skelling probably lived here only a short time removing to 
Gloucester. His wife Deborah was born about 1623. They had two 
children: 1. Deborah, born Aug. 22, 1640; 2. Thomas, born Nov. -—,1643. 
A Thomas Skillin died at Salem Dec. 3°> 1676, leaving a widow named Mary. 
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land at Enon. July 8, 1643, the town granted to Christopher 

Hersome1 ten acres of land at Enon. 
In preparation for the establishment of a village at Enon, 

the dividing line between Ipswich and Salem was determined by 
a committee of eight, four being appointed by each town. The 
representatives from Salem were-Joseph Yongs, Roger Conant, 
Jeffry IVIassye and John Balch. The committee met and wrote 
their'report March 27, 1643. This was allowed and recorded by 
the general court at its session May 10, 1643- The following is a 

copy of the agreement as thus recoi ded. 

The 27th of the First Month, 1643. 
At a meeting by us whose names are underwritten, chosen by the 

towns of Salem & Ipswich, & haveing full power either towne to agree 
& determine of the bounds between the said townes, do in the behalfe of 
each towne agree & determine the same as followeth: Imprimis, wee 
conceive that the meeting houses of the two townes stand from each 
other north north east haulfe a point easterly, & south south west 
haulfe a point westerly; whether it bee exactly so or no, wee are fully 
agreed that the line betwixt the two townes shall run as followeth, 
vi:: From the bound tree near John Fairfeilds house west north 
west halfe a point northerly, & east South east haulfe a point southerly, 
as the trees are marked both waves from the said bound tree. 

Willi: Hubberd, 

John Tuttell, 

Joseph Yongs, 

Roger Conant, 

Jeffry Massye, 

John Balch, 

Thom: Howlett, 

John Gage. 

Sept. 7, 1643, tfle general court established the town of 
Wenham by the following laconic vote: “ordered that Enon 
shallbee called Wennam. Wennam is granted to bee a towne, & 
hath liberty to send a deputy/’ 

ddie History of Wenham states that a little meeting house 
was erected in 1641, but a church was not organized until Oct. 
10, 1644. John hiske removed thither from Salem, and was 
its pastor until his removal to Chelmsford in 1655. An at¬ 
tempt to form a church early in 1644 did not succeed. In his 
Journal- Governor Winthrop wrote: “At Wenham there was 
a public assembly for gathering a church, but the magistrates 
and elders present, finding upon trial, that the persons appointed 
weie not tit for foundation stones, they advised them not to pro- 

( hristophei Hersome lived in Wenham, and soon died. Widow 
Mary Hersome died there in 1646. 

W inthrop s Journal, volume II, page 177. 
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ceed, which they obeyed.” Edward Johnson, in his Wonder- 
Working Providence of Sions Saviour1, wrote, in 1654, as fol¬ 
lows : Salem “was helpful to this her little sister, nourishing her 
up in her own bosom, till she came of age, being beneficial to 
her besides, in giving her a good portion of Land; . . is 
very well watered, . . the people live altogether upon hus¬ 
bandry . . yet are they no great company, they were some 
good space of time there before they gathered into a Church- 
body, the godly and reverend Mr. John Fisk went thither with 
them, at first setting down as a planter among them, yet withal 
he became helpful in preaching the Word unto them when they 
were but a few in number, they afterward called him to the 
office of a Pastor.” 

The earliest town records of Wenham are practically lost. 
As far as town officers are concerned, William Fiske is the only 
one known at first. He was the first town clerk and constable. 
He also conducted the ordinary or public house. Joseph Batch- 
elder was the first representative to the general court. 

In preparation for the township, Samuel Smith and John 
Fiske, on whose land the first meeting house was probably built, 
each gave ten acres of their land to the new town that it might 
be divided into house lots, on which the new settlers could build 
and live, constituting a little hamlet, the center of which was 
where the public buildings now stand. The land was divided 
apparently into two-acre lots. The first of the town records is 
devoted to this. It reads as follows:— 

The 2 day of ye first month 1642. 
There is giuen vnto Wenham Twenty acres of ground being laid 

out of eyther side of ye meeting house. Ten acres giuen by Mr Smith 
out of his fearme & laid out by him begining wth the bounds at ye 
vpper end of Phinehas Fiske Lott & soe to ye swampe; & the other 
Ten acres giuen by Mr John ffiske being laid out Joyneing to it on ye 
other s'1 of ye meeting house: 

It is ordered & Agreed vpon at this or meetinge yt such as haue 
any ground graunted of that wch is giuen to ye Towne wch lyes about 
ye meetinge house, such shall Come & Hue vpon it themselues, & if 
not to lay it downe to ye plantation, & if any shall build vpon it &c. 
& after remoue themselues & make sale of the same it is ordered that 
the Plantation shall haue the first pfare & giue there Answere in a 
short time before they make sale of it to any other. 

12 Day of ye 3™°: 1643. 
There is graunted Two Acres of Ground by ye Meeting house 

to Mr Hubbard for ye easem* of his family vpon ye Conditions speci¬ 
fied in y° former Order. . . 

1 Wonder-Working Providence of Sions Saviour, page 189. 
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4 Day of ye iomo: 1643. 
Esdras Read is graunted Two Acres by ye meeting house, accord¬ 

ing to ye fformer ordered specifyed 

The 23 Day of ye 4mo: 1644 
Richard Goldsmith haue two Acres Graunted by the meeting 

house to dispose of wcU way he please. 
Christopher Yongs haue Two acres graunted by y meeting house 

according to ye order made ye 2 day of ye imo: 1642. 

The division line between Salem and Wenham was not 
agreed upon until 1667. At first the natural division was where 
no one lived, and that is, it ran through the woods west of the 
pond and east of it through meadow land. The agreement made 

in 1667 as follows:— 

A true Record of an agrement of a boundary betwene Salem 

& wenham the 29 imo. 1667. 
we whose names are here underwritten being met together to 

agree of bounds betwene Salem & wenham Eastward from ye great 
pond doe determine as followeth yt ye brook which Cumeth out of ye 
great pond shall be ye bounds betweene ye towns aforesaid untill it 
meeteth with that brook which cometh from longham & so taking ye 
brook for the bounds to the eastward sid of richard Dodges farme 
Leaving out the medow to Salem & exempting them from all rates & 
dues & demands to wenham & from thence by ye edge of ye meadow 
called longham1 to ye uper end of sd medow at turnup swamp: to ye 
east end of the pond, our neibours who have medow in longham buting 
upon our comon shall have trees to fence their medow & liberty for 
carting. 

Charles gott mark 

Richard Kemball William X Dixsie 

Thomas ffisk Samuell Corning 

John Rayment 

Humphrey woodberry 

Iohn west w his mark 

Iohn Patch 2 his mark 

Some years after Beverly was set off from Salem, the line 
between Beverly and Wenham was settled practically as it is 
now. Wenham’s territory thus became considerably larger than 
it was at first. 

'The first reference, in 1656, to Longham is that of a place called 
long ham. It is possible that the name arose from the original shape of 
the territory of the town of Wenham, which was that of an elongated ham. 
In this agreement it is not applied to the brook, but to “ye meadow called 
longham.” As ham means a village or town in the Saxon language, 
long ham applies, certainly, to a town of this great length, but very 
narrow. 



CHAPTER X. 

MONSIEUR CHARLES DE LA TOUR. 

T a meeting of the seven men, Jan. 8, 1643-4, there was 
granted to Thomas Goldsmith1 all the waste land be¬ 
tween the water side and his ten-acre lot on the north 
side, reserving the way; and to John Simonds all the 
waste land between the lots of Hugh Laskine and 

Stukly Wesket and the water side, excepting the high¬ 
way. There were also granted to William Lord four acres of 
land, “as now laid out,” near the swamp in the South field, ad¬ 
joining to the three acres Mr. Friend bought of Richard Graves; 
to Michael Sallows a ten-acre lot in the place formerly John 
Abys; and to Thomas Gardner a parcel of land to set a house 
upon near the old mill on the ten-acre lot side. Francis Johnson 
was given authority to exchange six or seven acres of his farm 
upon the plains, and provided that there should be a convenient 
cart way to the farm. At this meeting, Joseph, son of George 
Harris, deceased* was apprenticed to John Thorndike and George 
Harris, aged about eight years, to Thomas Goldsmith. 

At their meeting, February 5th, it was ordered that the lots 
that are laid out next to Goodman Leech’s, at the great hill, as 
namely, Jacob Barney’s and Richard Ingersoll’s, should all deter¬ 
mine with a straight line, at the top of the hill at the marked tree 
where Laurence Leech’s lot ends. There was also granted to 
Ralph Fogg the swamp next to Wfilliam Lord’s ground, and to 
John Endecott the land at the'head of the river between Mr. 
Read’s and Mr. Endecott’s farm, excepting the salt marsh granted 
to Mr. Read, and being the land which was granted to Richard 
Norman and others, whose proprieties Mr. Endecott had bought. 
It was ordered that Margaret Page be sent to the jail in Boston 
as a lazy, idle and loitering person, where she might be set at 

Whomas Goldsmith lived in Southampton, L. I., from 1641 to 1673, 
except in 1644, when he was in Salem for a short while. 
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work for her living'; but she did not go to ja.il, as soon after 
Thomas Browning agreed to keep her at work, the town to pay 
him fifty shillings a year. In the winter, of 1646-7, Goodwife 
Oliver agreed to keep her for the same price, and the next Sep 
tember the seven men concluded to send her to England in Mr. 
Willoughby’s ship, or in the ship that sails next after his. This 
was done, probably, as she is not again mentioned in the records of 

the town or county. 
At the general town meeting, held Feb. 26, 1643-4, the 

country’s eleven muskets, which had been sent to Salem were 
distributed as follows: one to Lieutenant Davenport, one to 
Thomas Lathrop, seven to John Holgrave and two to John Ende- 
cott. There were four and a half barrels of powder in the hands 
of several men in the town in the winter of 1651-2, and to Captain 
Hathorne the town ordered to be transferred three barrels of it, 
and five hundred pounds of lead and seventy-five pounds of 
match. 

March 4, 1643-4, the seven men made various grants of land, 
—to Michael Shaflin about three or four poles of ground before 
the door of his dwelling house, towards the swamp; to John 
Moore about a quarter of an acre of marsh near Darby’s fort; 
to Henry Harwood about three quarters of an acre of land, 
being a little neck at the end of his ten-acre lot; to Daniel 

Rumball1 eighty acres of land; 
to Henry Batholomew eight or 
ten acres of land, next to Joseph 

Boys’ lot, near the Bass River head; and to Richard Gardner 
twenty acres of land at Jeffrey’s Creek. There was granted to 
Robert Fuller twenty acres of land at Jeffry’s Creek, if he dwell 
there, otherwise to desert the land. He probably went away 
without coming into its possession. Jeffry Massy and Peter 
Palfry were ordered to view the ground which Richard Holling- 
worth desires to set a workhouse on. 

At the session of the general court, March 7, -643-4, Eman¬ 
uel Downing and William Hathorn were present as deputies from 
Salem. Marblehead had leave granted to fortify itself, by a 
breastwork or otherwise, and have two guns delivered unto them, 
with convenient ammunition suitable thereto. “In regard of the 
defect ot freemen at Marblehead, it is ordered that the inhabi- 

Daniel Rumball, born about 1600, was a blacksmith, and his homestead 
occupied the northern end of the square between Elm and Walnut streets, 
on the southern. side of Essex Street, now included in Hawthorne Boule- 
\ard He married Sarah, widow of Samuel Smith in 1643, and she was 
ip wife in 1075. His daughter Alice (by a former wife) married William 
urtis Mr. Rumball died in or soon after 1682, when he was upwards 

ot eighty years of age. 
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tants of Salem shall have liberty to comend some honest and able 
man, though hee be not a freeman, and the deputy governor 
shall have power (if hee thinke him fit) to give him the oath for 
constable of that place, to continue till this court shall take fur¬ 
ther order.” Accordingly the town 
of Salem chose David Curwithin1 
constable for Marblehead, and he 
was sworn. 

The first pound keeper in Salem named in the records was 
Theophilus Downing, who was chosen by the town March 25, 
1644* an(l he was allowed two pennies each for impounding hogs, 
goats and great cattle. In 1646, Robert Adams held this office! 
The second pound in Salem was on the western side of the 
Common, opposite Brown Street. The pound of the North field, 
which was there as early as 1660, was on the westerly side of 
North Central Street, opposite, Gardner Street, in Peabody, and 
is still there. 

The thatched roofs of houses were so liable to catch fire, that, 
March 25, 1644, the town ordered that every inhabitant in the 
town should procure a ladder for his house. In 1677, this 
order had become greatly neglected, and the selectmen renewed 
it and declared that a sufficient ladder should be procured for 
each house by the householder within a month. On the same day 
Sept 8, 1677, the selectmen ordered that Bartholomew Gedney be 
appointed to get a hatch made for the meeting house. This was 
another provision on account of fires, probably, as it might be 
easier to. reach the roof, in cases of fire, from the inside than from 
the outside of the building. 

At a meeting of the committee of militia, commissioners and 
selectmen of Salem, Aug. 13, 1679, “Whereas by sad experience 
the want of suitable persons (before appointed) to manage mat¬ 
ters in. case of fire, in other places hath been exceeding preju¬ 
dicial, it is therefore ordered and we do hereby appoint and im- 
power the selectmen of the town for the time being, also Mr. 
Bartholmew Gedney and Mr. Samuel Gardner, sr., to manage and 
act in all matters therein; and all or any of them as occasion shall 
be have hereby full power to require suitable assistance when any 
fires may break out; and to give direction what shall be done, 
either for blowing up of houses or pulling them down or what¬ 
soever else according to their best discretion may be necessary.” 

David Corwithey, sr., lived in Salem until 1663, when he removed to 
oston, where he was living in 1665. He lived in the autumn of 1649 in 

a small house, at 20 Derby Street, belonging to Joseph Younges, and, 
oeptember 24th, Mr. Younges deeded the property to him (Essex Registry 
unre^S’ book 1, leaf 6, book 2, leaf 64). His daughter Mary married 
William Chichester, who, in 1658, left the country. 
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On the same day, the selectmen also ordered that there 
should be provided, upon the town’s account, so many hooks and 
instruments as may be necessary in case of fire; and Wil.iam 
Browne, sr., William Browne, jr., and Edmond Batter were de- 
sired to provide for the use of the town two or three dozen of 
cedar buckets which may be in readiness for use in case of fire 
until leather buckets may be procured. . 

March 2;, 1644, the town made several changes in the sur¬ 
veyors of fences in some of the fields.1 Thomas West and 
Thomas Goldsmith were chosen in the room of Jeffry Massy and 
Henry Skerry; Samuel Archer and William Allen were appointed 
in the mill field; and John Burroughs in the field where George 
Williams As, ' in the place of Thomas Weeks. April 7, 1645? the 
town appointed John Gedney and Thomas Watson overseers of 
the fences in Mr. Norris’ field; Henry Skerry and John Borne in 
the two fields next to Jeffry Massy; Mr. Curwin and Jeffry Massy 
in the field next to the meeting house; and Richard Prince and 
Thomas Edwards of the field where Richard Prince dwells.2 

*See volume I, page 240. 
2Jan. 26, 1645-6, the town voted that the seven men should survey the 

fences. The selectmen performed this duty until May 7, 1656, when they 
renewed appointments of surveyors : Philip Cromwell and Edmond Batter 
for North neck and South field; and William Flint and Henry Skerry for 
the town. April 23, 1657, William Flint and Richard Adams for South 
field; Thomas Gardner and John Porter for North field; Mr. Batter and 
John Nayle in the town from William Browne’s to the bridge; and 
Thomas Roots and Daniel Rumball from Mr. Browne’s to the Neck and 
the ferry. March 22, 1657-8, Robert Hascall, John Rayment and Joseph 
Harris for Cape Ann Side; and the general field from Bass River to 
Mackerel Cove, Rial Side and elsewher on Cape Ann Side; Richard Bishop 
and John Neale from William Browne’s to the bridge; Jeffry Massy and 
Daniel Rumball from William Browne’s to Mordechai Crevat’s; Samuel 
Archard and Richard Adams for South field; and Thomas Gardner and 
Samuel Ebourne for North neck, the glasshouse fences and the lots from 
Thomas Gouldthwaite’s to Michael Shaffllin’s. April 4, 1659, Joseph 
Roots and Thomas Pigden for Cape Ann Side; Thomas Gardner and 
Joseph Boyse for North neck and the glasshouse field; John Pickering 
and Thomas Barnes for South neck; Philip Veren and Thomas Robins 
for the town from the bridge to William Browne’s orchard; and Thomas 
Roots and Francis Skerry from the orchard downwards to the ferry and 
Crevet’s. March 14, 1659-60, Ensign Dixie, Peter Wolfe and Zachariah 
Herrick for Cape Ann Side; Henry Cook and Samuel Ebourne for North 
neck and about the glasshouse and Thomas Gouldthwaight’s field and up 
to Michael Shafflin’s; Nathaniel Pickman and John Neale for South field; 
Sergeant. Hale and Richard Bishop for the town from William Browne’s 
to the Bridge; and John Williams, cooper, and Francis Nurse for the other 
part of the town. April 22, 1661, Nathaniel Felton and John Pease for 

, °rth neck, glasshouse field, etc.; Mr. Price and Richard Adams for 
Soitfh field; Jeffery Massy and Henry Skerry for the town; and Ensign 
Dixie and Benjamin Raich for Cape Ann Side. April 7, 1662, Nathaniel 
relton and Anthony Buxton for North field and glasshouse field; William 



MONSIEUR CHARLES DE LA TOUR 159 

April 1, 1644, the town gave George Emery permission to 
fence in the highway, leaving a “stile gate” to the water between 

Flint and John Pickering for South field; Samuel Archard and Thomas 
Roots for the Neck from the bridge; and Joseph Rootes and John Raiment 
for Cape Ann Side. March 24, 1662-3, William Flint and Henry Barthol- 
mew for South field; Thomas Rix and John Massey from the bridge to 
the lower end of the Neck; Lt. Dixey and Humphrey Woodburie on Cape 
Ann Side; and Anthony Buxton and Samuel Eburne for North field and 
to Captain Trask’s. March 21, 1663-4, Henry Skerry and Thomas Rootes 
from the bridge to the end of the Neck; William Flint and Richard 
Adams for South field; Nathaniel Felton and John Southwick for the 
North field and from Michael Shaffiin’s to Captain Trask’s; and Osmund 
Trask and John Patch on Cape Ann Side. April 5, 1665, Philip Cromwell 
and John Ruck for South field; William Flint and Daniel Rumble for 
North field and beyond the bridge; Mr. Batters for Bass River; and 
Roger Haskall and Joseph Harris. March 6, 1665-6, William Flint and 
Daniel Rumble for South field; John Massy and Henry Skerry, jr., to the 
bridge; Nathaniel Felton and Samuel Ebern, sr., for North field; Robert 
Hibburd and John Lovett, jr., for Cape Ann Side; and Richard Leech at 
the Farms. March 22, 1666-7, George Kezar and Richard Prince for 
South field; Thomas Roots and William Curtis for the town; Thomas 
Picton and John Grover for Cape Ann Side; John Burton and Isaac Cook 
for North field and glasshouse field and about there; and Nathaniel Putnam 
for the Farms. March 20, 1667-8, William Flint and John Keiney for South 
field; John Pease and John Tomkins for North field, glasshouse field and 
thereabouts; John Ruck and Samuel Williams for the town; and John 
Blacke, jr., and Lot Conant for Cape Ann Side. March 19, 1668-9, William 
Flint and John Pickering for South field and from the meeting up to 
the bridge or causeway; Nathaniel Felton and Samuel Ebourne, sr., from 
the bridge upwards, glasshouse, North neck and thereabouts; and John 
Williams,. cooper, and Samuel Archard from the meeting downwards to 
Mordechai Crevet’s. March 14, 1669-70, John Reeves and Edward Flint 
for South field and from the meeting house upward to the causeway near 
John Norton’s; Samuel Gaskill and Hugh Jones about North neck and 
from the causeway to the glasshouse, etc.; and Thomas Roots and John 
Massy from the meeting house to Mordechai’s at the lower end of the 
town. March 6, 1670-1, Henry Skerry, jr., and Jeremy Neal from the 
meeting house to the lower end of the town; William Flint and John 
Marston, jr., from the meeting house to Strongwater brook; William 
Trask and Isaac Cooke for North field; and John Pickering and Nicholas 
Maning for South field. March 18, 1671-2, Edmond Batter and Philip 
Cromwell for South field; Samuel Gardner and Thomas Roots in the 
town from the meeting house to the lower end of the town; William 
Lake and Edward Flint from the meeting house to Strongwater brook; 
and Serg. Nathaniel Felton and Hugh Jones for North field and Strong¬ 
water brook to Samuel Ebourne’s and upwards. April 3, 1673, John Massy 
and Jeremiah Neale for South field; George Keisour and Nicholas Maninge 
for North field; Josiah Southwick and Samuel Gaskill for the glasshouse 
field and thereabouts; and Francis Skerry and Stephen Hasket from the 
causeway to the end of the town to Mordechai Crevet’s. Jan. 20, 1673-4, 
John Pickering and Samuel Gardner, jr., for North field; Jos. Buffum 
and Thomas Robins for South field; Daniel Southwick and Joseph Boyce, 
jr., for the glasshouse field and thereabouts; and Philip Cromwell and 
Thomas Roots from the town bridge to Mordechai Crefford’s neck. March 
x5> 1674-5, Nathaniel Felton and Anthony Buxton for North field; Edward 
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the lots of Robert Goodale and John Borne. On the twenty- 

Flint and Joshua Buffum for South field; John Loomis and Samuel Gaskin 
for the glasshouse and thereabouts; and Thomas Gardner and Wilham 
Curtice from the town bridge to Mordykoy s neck April 15 16/6 Ens. 
John Pickering and Thomas Flint, jr., for South field; Marshal Scerry 
and John Pease, sr., for North field; Joseph Boyce, jr and Daniel South- 
wick without the North neck; and Richard Sibley and Edmund Bridges 
from the town bridge by Goodman Meacham s to the lower end ot the town. 
March 16, 1676-7, Samuel Gardner, sr., and Jeremiah Neal for North 
field; John Horn, jr., Caleb Buffum and Joseph Prince for South field; 
Thomas Robbins and John Simpson from Trask’s about North neck; 
Toseph Horn and John Massey from the bridge to the lower end of the 
town. April 19, 1678, James Simonds and John Pease, sr., for North field; 
Janies Poland and John Holmes for South field; John Traske and Joseph 
Boyce, jr., without the bridge; and John Williams, cooper, and Christopher 
Bavage for the town within the bridge. March 17, 1678-9, Eleazer Gedney 
and Isaac Cooke for North field; Edward Flint and John Marston, jr., for 
South field; William Trask and John Loomis without the bridge; and John 
Rogers and Jeremiah Rogers within the bridge. April 10, 1679, John Bul¬ 
lock and John Marston, jr., for South field. March 18, 1679-80, Eleazer 
Gedney and William Trask for North field; Richard Croad and Peter 
Chevers within the bridge in the town; Samuel Gaskin and Daniel South- 
wick without the bridge; and Philip Cromwell, John Pickering and Lt. 
Jeremiah Neale for South field. March 9, 1680-1, Lt. John Pickering, Man¬ 
ases Marston and Benjamin Gerrish for South field; Robert Fuller and 
William Trask for North field; John Williams, cooper, and John Cook 
for the town; Samuel Aburne, jr., and Thomas Tiley for glasshouse and 
without the bridge. March 27, 1682, Lt. John Pickering, Joseph Hardy 
and Thomas Maul for South field; Christopher Babidge and John Marston 
for the town; and William Osborne and John Bleven for glasshouse. 
March 19, 1682-3, Lt. Pickering. Joseph Hardy and Benjamin Browne for 
South field; Joshua Buffum, Hugh Jones and John Wallers (Watters?) 
for North field; Jeremiah Mecham, sr., Joshua Buffum, William Curtice 
and John Robinson for the town, glasshouse field and without the bridge. 
March 11, 1683-4, John Ruck, Lt. Pickering and Robert Kitchin for South 
field; Lt. Felton, John Tomkins, Caleb Buffom and Peter Chevers for 
North field; Edward Flint. Caleb Buffum, John Williams and Peter Chev¬ 
ers for the town; and Eleazer Geoyls and John King for glasshouse and 
without the bridge. March 17, 1684-5, Isaac Cook, William Osburne, 
William Pinson and George Lockiar for North field; John Hoams and 
John Pickering, jr., for South field; Samuel Gaskin, sr., and George 
Lockiar for glasshouse and thereabouts. April 10, 1686, Caleb Buffum, 
Joshua Buffum, Thomas Maule and Peter Chevers for North field; John 
( rumwe 11 and John Marston for South field; Henry Skerry, Edward 
hlint, Joseph Neale and Christopher Babage for the town within the 
bridge; and Josiah Southwick and Samuel Ebbern for the glasshouse 
field and thereabouts. April 11, 1687, the same persons the proprietors 
chose lor North field and South field; John Marcy, Thomas Ives, Thomas 
rlint and John Simson for the town within the bridge; and William Traske 
and George Locker for glasshouse field and thereabouts. April 23, 1688, 
Isaac Foote and Caleb Buffum for North field; Lt. John Pickren and 

Archer tor South field; Ens. John Clyford and John Crumwell 
V1 ,u lMUn the bridge; and John Traske and Samuel Gaskin for 

glasshouse field and without the bridge. March 25, 1689, Caleb Buffom, 
John Addams and William Pinson for the town within the bridge; Eleazer 
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ninth of the month, Guido Bayly1 was granted “so much of the 
swamp that lies along by his lot over at Cape Anne’s Side as he 
can rid within three years next ensuing”; and ordered that 
Henry Bartholomew, Thomas Lothrop, William Dixy and George 
Emery should lay out the places where fences are to be made on 
Cape Ann Side. June 13th, the town voted that the South field 
should be fenced. 

William Hathorne was the first speaker of the general 
court, being first elected in May, 1644. He also filled the 
position in 1646, 1648, 1650, 1657 and 1660. He was a dis¬ 
tinguished man in Boston as well as in Salem, and Winthrop 
apparently became a little jealous of him. 

May 29, 1644, the general court ordered that William Ha¬ 
thorne be released from “the ordinary trainings of eight times a 
year under Captain Traske, in regard of many country occasions 
in which he is imployed.” 

In the general court, June 16, 1644, “In consideration of 
the great default and neglect of the inhabitants of Marble Head, 
in not exercising themselves in martial discipline,—It is ordered, 
that the inhabitants of Marble Head shall make choice of some 
one of them who shall exercise the rest, that they may not be to 
seek when special occasions call for their assistance.” 

John Porter,2 born about 1595, probably came from Dorset¬ 
shire, England, and settled in Hingham, Mass., about 1635. 
He bought the Skelton 
grant of land in Salem, M 9 O 
now including Danvers- 
port, May io, 1643, and 

Giles and George Lockiar for glasshouse field and thereabouts; and 
the men chosen by the proprietors of the North field and South field for 
those fields. 

2Guydo Bayley was a gardener and lived on Bass River Side, now 
Beverly, until 1652, when he removed to Bridgewater, where he became a 
yeoman; married, first, Elizabeth-; second, Ruth-; died in 
1700; she was his widow in 1703; children: 1. Elizabeth, born July 27, 
1642; 2. Joseph, born Nov. 6, 1644; 3. Guido; died in 1687 or 1688; 4. Mary; 
married, first,-Randall; second, Isaac Leonard; 5. Ruth; married 
Ebenezer Hill in 1684; 6. Elizabeth; married James Harris in 1692-3. 

2John Porter1; yeoman; wife Mary; died Sept. 6, 1676; she died Feb. 
6, 1683-4; children: 1. John2, born about 1618; mariner; died, unmarried, 
March 16, 1683-4; 2. Samuel2; lived in Wenham; mariner; married Hannah 
Dodge; died in 1660; she married, secondly, Thomas Woodbury Dec. 2, 
1661; had children; 3. Joseph2, baptized in Hingham Sept. 9, 1638; 4. Ben¬ 
jamin2, baptized in Hingham Nov. —, 1639; yeoman; died, unmarried, Jan. 
7, 1722-3; 5. Israel?, baptized in Hingham Feb. 12, 1643-4; 6. Mary2, bap¬ 
tized in Salem Oct. 12, 1645; married Thomas Gardner; 7. Jonathan2, 
baptized in Salem March 12, 1647-8; died young; 8. Sarah2, baptized in 
Salem June 3, 1649; married Daniel Andrews. 
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i to Salem the next spring. He purchased the Sharp. 
Downing*amf other grants, ,n‘d became the largest land holder m 

Josech Pouter2 ; yeoman i J^ephf bojf Oct! 

younH2. A.-2, 

MarchT^ifyTO-T ^ shPdied ^lan * 5C1T5'2 ^ITdied^March 

l°P hriSS^/U67! 
£Si- Bratree” 

Dorn way A / , g married Joseph Andrews of Boxford 

Jun^T, iyn ; A T Joseph born April .68! ;J ...Ruth2 baptized Sept - 
168^» * married Jesse Dorman Nov. 26, 1707; 12. Mehitable , baptize 
Sept’ -^1682; married Thomas Cummings of Boxford March 20 1705-6 
Capt. Israel Porter2; yeoman; had the homestead; married Elizabeth 
Hathorne Nov. 20, 1672; died Nov. — 1706; she survived him, chi d ^ 
1. Elizabeth3, born Oct. 2, 1673; married Joseph Putnam, Sarah born 
Au0- 24 1675; married Abel Gardner; 3. John, born Sept. 24, lb//, 
marinermarried Elizabeth Fisk July 11, 1706, in Boston; livedl in Boston; 
died in 1715; she survived him; 4- Ginger, born Dec. 8, 1679, marri 
Samuel Leach Sept. 25, 1699; 5- Mary3, born Sept. 22, 1681; died June 
28, 1682; 6. Israel3, born April 4, 1683; 7- Benjamin, born Sept 4, i680 
died Aug. 22, 1691; 8. Anna3, born June 17, 1687; 9. W illiam, born beb. 
12. 1688-9; 10. Benjamin\ born May 17, 1693. , , 

Samuel Porter3; lived in the Danvers part of Salem; husbandman, 
married Love Howe; died before June 25, 1750; she died in 1762; children: 
1. Samuel4; yeoman; living in 1738; 2. Eleazer ; 3- Lydia ; married John 
Putnam. Joseph Porter3; yeoman; married Mary Bayley May 3, I7°9; 
died Dec. 8, 1714; she married, secondly, George Bixby Aug. 6, 1718; 
children: 1. Joseph\ baptized Aug. 13, 1710; 2. Priscilla, baptized May 
25, 1712; married Thomas Flint of Falmouth Dec. 7> !732; 3- Mary, bap¬ 
tized May 29, 1715; married Jonathan Prince Aug. 24, 1732. Israel 

Porter3; mariner and yeoman; married Sarah Putnam Sept. 12, 1706; died 
in 1729; she died in 1743; children: 1. Ginger4, baptized Aug. 17, 17°7'•> 
married Elisha Hutchinson; 2. Sarah4, baptized Feb. 10, 1709-10; died 
young; 3. John4, baptized March 12, 1712-3; yeoman; died, unmarried, in 
1742; 4. Israelbaptized June 25, 1716; 5. Elizabeth4, baptized April 26, 
1719; married John Andrews; 6. Anna4, baptized Sept. 16, 1722; married 

Faxon; 7. Mary4, baptized April 24, 1726; married Joseph Putnam. 
William Porter3; yeoman; married, first, Edith Herrick Feb. 1, 1708-9; 
removed to Beverly; she died in Beverly March 13, 1723-4; married, second, 
Mary (Batchelder), widow of John Kettle of Beverly Dec. 8, 1725; prob¬ 
ably removed to Woburn; she was his wife in 1750; died in 1755; children: 
1. Israel4, baptized Aug. 20, 1710; married Abigail Batchelder of Beverly 
in 1741; lived in Wenham; probably died in Beverly in 1744; 2. William4, 
baptized June 21, 1713; 3. Benjamin4, baptized June 19, 1715; lived in 
Beverly and Danvers; married, first, Hannah Giles April 27, 1737; she 
died in 1750; married, second, Anna -; 4. Joseph4; tailor; lived in 
Beverly and Bedford; married Bethiah Batchelder April 21, 1741; 5- Anna4; 
6. Josiah4; married Sarah Waterman; had children; 7. Jonathan4, baptized 
Nov. 4, 1733; 8. Edith4, baptized Nov. 4, 1733; 9. Nathan4, baptized Oct. 3, 
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Salem. In 1647, upon the southern end of the Sharp grant, on 
Danvers River, near Bay View Avenue, he built a house in 

1736; 10. George4, baptized Aug. 13, 1738; n. Ginger4, baptized Oct. 4, 
I74i;. I2- Mary4, baptized Feb. 5, 1745. Benjamin Porter8; husbandman; 
married Hannah Endecott April 3, 1712; died in 1727; children: 1. John, 
born about 1713; 2. Hannah4, born in 1715; married Joseph Fowle; 3. 
Benjamin4, born about 1717; 4. Samuel4, born about 1721; lived in Salem; 
yeoman; 5. Bartholomew4, born about 1726; lived in Salem; yeoman and 
tailor. 

Eleazer Porter4; yeoman; lived in the Danvers part of Salem; mar¬ 
ried, first, Mary-4 second, Abigail Waters; she was his wife in 1741; 
he died in 1756; children: 1. David5, baptized May 9, 1731; 2. Asa5, bap¬ 
tized Jan. 26, 1-734-5; died in 1757; 3. Mary5, baptized Aug. 22, 1736; 
married Tarrant Putnam; 4. Abigail5, baptized Dec. 17, 1738; 5. Samuel5, 
baptized Jan. 30, 1742-3; H. C., 1763; lawyer; lived in Ipswich and Salem; 
loyalist; died in London, unmarried, in 1798. Joseph Porter4; lived in 
Salem Village; yeoman; married Mary Dorman of Topsfield May 25, 
1738; died Feb. —, 1746-7; she married, secondly, Joseph Perkins of 
Topsfield March 9, 1749; children: 1. Elizabeth5, baptized May 14, 1732; 
died young; 2. Joseph5, baptized March 16, 1734-5; died young; 3. Lydia, 
baptized July 17, 1737 ; 4. Mary5, born Feb. 28, 1738-9; died April 24, 1739; 
5. Joseph0, born April 4, 1740; lived in Danvers; revolutionary soldier; 
married, first, Sarah Putnam; she died Sept. 10, 1766; married, second, 
Elizabeth Herrick in 1767; died Feb. 12, 1805; 6. Amos5, baptized Nov. 
29, 1741; 7. Mary°, baptized April 6, 1746. Israel Porter4; yeoman; lived 
in the Danvers part of Salem; married Mary Batchelder of Wenham Dec. 
28, 1737; died in 1746; she married, secondly, Jonathan Kettle Aug. 27, 
1747; child: 1. Sarah5, born Aug. 26, 1739; married Samuel Williams. 
William Porter4; yeoman; married Lydia Batchelder July 5, 1733; lived 
in Salem and Beverly and removed to Wenham about 1760; she was his 
wife in 1750; children: 1. Ebenezer5, baptized in Beverly Oct. 8, 1738; 
2. A§a5, baptized in Beverly July 13, 1740; married Mary Batchelder of 
Salem April 14, 1768; 3. Lydia5, baptized in Beverly Dec. 26, 1742; 4. 
Anna5, baptized in Beverly Jan. 12, 1746; 5. Elizabeth5, baptized in Salem 
Village June 12, 1748; 6. William5, baptized in Salem Village April 21, 
1751; lived in Wenham; married Hannah Munroe of Lexington in 1774; 
had children; 7. Jonathan6 baptized in Beverly Oct. 14, 1753; 8. Asahel5. 
John Porter4; innholder and yeoman; lived in Danvers; married Apphia 
Putnam (published Oct. 27, 1733) ; died in 1759; she married, secondly, Asa 
Perley of Boxford Aug. 12, 1762; children: 1. Elizabeth5, baptized Oct. 
12, 1735; married Asa Leach of Beverly; 2. John5, baptized June 13, 1736; 
lived in Danvers; married Hannah -; died in 1774; had children; 3. 
Benjamin5, baptized Oct. 22, 1738; pottery lived in Danvers; removed to 
Wiscasset, Me., in 1790; married Eunice Osborne; died in Wiscasset in 
1805; had children; 4. Abigail5, baptized March 22, 1740-1; 5. Ezra5, bap¬ 
tized July 1, 1744; lived in Danvers; married Mehitable -; died in 
1766; 6. Nathan0; cooper and mariner; married Lydia Goodridge March 
23, 1773; soldier of the Revolution; 7. Anna5; married Eliphalet Perley 
of Boxford Aug. 12, 1762; 8. Apphia5, baptized Oct. 20, 1754; 9. Mary4, 
baptized May 30, 1756. Benjamin Porter4; potter and yeoman; lived in 
Danvers; married, first, Eunice Nurse Dec. 13, 1739; second, Abigail 
Osborn April 21, 1778; died June 10, 1784; she died Feb. 14, 1817; children: 
1. Benjamin5, born Oct. 28, 1740; 2. Hannah5, born March 29, 1742; 3. 
Eunice5, born Sept. 22, 1744; married Nathaniel Webb; 4. Israel5, born 
Oct. 3, 1746; married Huldah Smith; 5. Francis6, born Sept. 22, 1748; lived 
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JOHN PORTER HOUSE 

which he afterwards resided. It faced the south, and was two 
stories high, with a leanto. The front door was midway of the 
house, and on either side, in both stories, were large rooms, each 
having two windows in front. There was a window over the 
front door, in the upper hall. The chimney was immense, and 
furnished large fireplaces in each of the front rooms, upstairs and 
down. The kitchen fireplace was also great. There was a door 
in each end of the house, and on the eastern end a small entry. 
Each gable contained a small window, which admitted light to 
the attic, and each room in the main part of the house had a 
window at the ends of the house. The kitchen also had a window 
at each end of the leanto. The walls of the front and ends of the 
house were lined with brick to its full height. The well was 
located near the northeastern corner of the house. The above 
picture of this ancient house was drawn from memory by Mrs. 
AI ary II. Dodge of Washington, D. C\, soon after it was burned. 

John Porter lived here until his death, Sept. 6, 1676; and in 
lii.s will gave the house to his son Israel, who lived in it until his 

in anvers; married Martha Gott of Wenham April 12, 1772; 6. Sarah8 
p'.V! marr‘e<I John Page; 7. James5, born Jan. 13, 1755; 8 
ret )orn May 9, J 757; 9- Huldah5, born March 20, 1759; 10. Allen8 

born May 13, 1761; 11. Phebe6, born March 10, 1763. 
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death, in November, 1706. In the will of Israel Porter, he 
devised it to his son Benjamin, who died in December, 1726. 
In his will, Benjamin Porter gave it to his sons John and 
Benjamin, and John released his interest in the premises to his 
brother Benjamin April 8, 1741. Benjamin Porter lived in the 
house until his death, June 10, 1794 ; and about two years after¬ 
ward his family conveyed the house and land to Caleb Oakes of 
Danvers. Mr. Oakes fell from his barn window Sept. 19, 1831, 
and died in an hour or two. He left three children, and by 
mesne conveyances the estate passed to Alfred Trask of Danvers 
July 6, 1849, and while it was owned by Mr. Trask it was de¬ 
stroyed by fire Sept. 19, 1865. 

At a town meeting, July 7, 1644, it was “Ordered that twoe 
be appointed euery Lords day to walke forth in the time of Gods 
worshippe, to take notice of such as either lye about the meeting 
howse without attending to the word or ordinances, or that lye 
at home or in the fields, without giuing good account thereof, 
and to take the names of such psons to present them to the 
Magistrate, whereby they may be accordinglie pceeded against. 
The names of such as are ordered to doe this seruice are for the 
first day Mr. Stileman Phillip Verin Junior 2d day Philip Verin 
Senior Helier Verin 3. Mr. Batter Joshua Verin 4th Mr Johnson 
Mr. Clark 5th Mr. Downing Robert Molton Senr 6th Robert 
Molton Junior Richard Ingersoll 7. John Ingersoll Richard 
Pettingall 8 William Haynes Richard Hutchinson 9 John Putnam 
John Hathorne 10 Townsend Bishop Daniel Ray 11 John Porter 
Jacob Barney Then to begin with goodman Porter next the 
meeting howse & so to goe through the towne, accordinge to the 
order of the watch. And the first 2 to giue the next 2 warning 
of it & so from tyme to tyme.” 

On the same day, the town agreed with John Barber and 
Francis Perry to make the wood work, and two months later 
with Thomas Tuck to make the iron work of the gun carriages. 

Henry True1 first appeared in Salem this year; and Giles 
Corey, Antram’s boy, first appears in 
Salem court records, as a witness in a ^ 

the court, July 11 , 1644, against C ^ 
Obadiah Govis, servant of Thomas 
Trusler, who was ordered to be severely whipped for the com- 

Tlenry True lived in Salem as late as 1649; was dead in 1659; wife 
Israel (daughter of John Pike?) ; she was living in Salisbury in 1659; 
children, born in Salem: 1. John, baptized July 13, 1645; 2. Henry, bap¬ 
tized March 8, 1646-7; married Jane Bradbury March —, 1668; 3. Lydia, 
baptized Feb. 4, 1649; 4. Joseph, baptized Feb. 8, 1652; lived in Salisbury; 
married Ruth Whittier April 20, 1675; 5. Benjamin, baptized Feb. 19, 
1654; 6. Jemima, baptized April 27, 1657. 
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mission of several misdemeanors.1 James Thomas, servant to 
Daniel Ray was also ordered to be severely whipped for stubborn 

ness and disobedience to his master. 
On Oe same day, the wife of Thomas Trusler, was fined 

twenty marks for saying- that their teacher taught the people lies, 
and that Mr. Norrice and Mr. Endecott were the foundation 
of their church and they were unfaithful. 

At a town meeting, Sept. 30, 1644, it was agreed that Richard 
Temple, the tailor, Henry Harwood, widow Moore, the midwife, 
and John Jackson should have, each of them, so much of the wet 
marsh or swamp as lies before their ground according as it buts 
upon it. It was also agreed that William Robinson should have 
about a quarter of an acre of ground that lies before his house, 
which was then being built, down to the mill brook, a little above 
the bridge that “leads to the way to Mr. Gardner's new build- 
inge.” At the same meeting, it was ordered that the highway 
from Francis Lawes’ ten-acre lot be laid out most conveniently 
for him. It was also ordered that Rev. Mr. Norris be sufficiently 
supplied with wood, according to the custom; and that Thomas 
Gardner should set up a fence from the end of the bridge, called 
Mr. Read’s, down to the fence at the mill. 

Thomas Abree lived in Salem from 1644 to 1647, and 
Edward Nicholson2 was living in Marblehead as early as 1644. 

Jan. 13, 1644-5, the seven men granted to Thomas Tuck 
four or five poles of ground. Thomas Edwards desired a farm, 
and a few weeks later he was granted sixty acres of land near 
Mr. Ruck’s farm, “beyond Goodman Putnam’s.” 

John Bartlett of Marblehead was presented to the Salem 
court, July 9, 1645, f°r stealing ropes, iron bolts and blocks from 
Richard Hollinworth, and for defaming certain of his women 
neighbors. He went to Newbury immediately afterward, appar¬ 
ently. 

Richard Andrews of London with other merchants had a 
1 lading agreement with various men at New Plymouth, to which 
saac Alleiton was a party, for some fifteen years. The business 

, • 3’ J6i*6’ ,G°vis was ordered by the court, for purloining corn of 
1 J nJls V make double restitution and serve him eight weeks longer. 
V J ’Tr e UaS Pres<rPted for taking tobacco abroad contrary to order. 

sneerke?An i4 ’ ^ sU:! ing wood of John Bridgman and for unclean 

ii IWnn Vfra ces’'Vva^ sernt t0 the Boston jail for further trial 
!° . more 1S. heard of him. 

secondly'<lU' ^M10R(,n died in the autumn of 1660, and his widow married, 

Christonher• hAdn.^ -^Vr °U b^73' ^r- Nicholson’s children were: 1. 
t Samuel • i; ■ A 1,1 ' ’)T ’ 2. Joseph, born about 1641; living in 1673; 

1654; living in’?6S;,6674felizal«th.; liV'ng ™ l665; 5’ Thomas' born about 
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yielded no profit for several reasons. In 1642, it was discontin¬ 
ued, and Mr. Andrews agreed to settle for five hundred pounds 
and some items amounting to five hundred and forty-four pounds 
in all. This was to be collected for him by Governor Winthrop 
of the Massachusetts Bay Colony; and Mr. Andrews gave the 
money to the Bay Colony. It was payable one-third at once, and 
the residue in four annual instalments. Sept. 8, 1642, the gen¬ 
eral court thanked Mr. Andrews and his London associates “for 
their kindness.” Oct. 13, 1642, the general court chose a com¬ 
mittee of three to go to New Plymouth to settle Mr. Andrews’ 
claims; and they returned with certain bonds, notes, etc. A 
committee was appointed to distribute this money as it was re¬ 
ceived. Only about one-half was collected, and this was divided 
among the towns in the colony. Nov. 13, 1644, ten pounds or 
two cows were allowed to Salem. The following March, the 
seven men voted “that Robert Cotta should have the first five 
pound given by Mr. Andrews of London to be laid out in a cow 
or heifer, and this was so disposed of with the consent of the 
elders of Salem.” Oct. 29, 1645, at a meeting of the elders and 
townsmen, “they considered that the poorest man or at least he 
that most was in want was John Batchelor and therefore they have 
disposed of the second cow unto him.” No more is heard of this 
fund; and probably no more money was collected. 

July 3, 1645, “By order of the general court, upon advice 
with the elders, a general fast was kept. The occasions were 
the miseries of England, and our own differences in the general 
court, and also for the great drought. In this latter the Lord 
prevented our prayers in sending us rain soon after, and before 
the day of humiliation came.”1 

Sheep were scarce in Salem in the first settlement; and in 
the records of a town meeting, Sept. 22, 1645, it is stated that 
“divers have underwritten for sheep at forty a head.” 

At the same meeting, Thomas Lothrop and John Neale were 
appointed to procure wood for “our teacher”; and John Kitchen 
and Thomas Spooner “for our elder Mr. Sharpe.” 

Oct. 1, 1645, the general court authorized Richard Salton- 
stall, Esq., Mr. Simon Bradstreet, Mr. Samuel Symonds, Mr. 
Richard Dumer, Mr. William Hubberd, Capt. William Hathorne 
and Mr. William Paine, as a free company of adventurers, for 
twenty years, to establish a trading house, which was to be not 
less than fifty miles from any English plantation, and any man 
was allowed to join the company within twelve months if he was 
of this jurisdiction. No one was allowed to set up another 
trading house within twenty miles of theirs. 

1Winthrop’s Journal, volume II, page 215. 
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TOWNSEND BISHOP HOUSE 

Richard Curtis1 first appeared in Salem in 16451 and re¬ 
mained here for many years. 

On the westerly side of Broad Street, just beyond the 
southerly end of Flint Street, formerly stood a house, which was 
built by Townsend Bishop in 1645. He conveyed it to Ralph 
bogg March 11, 1645-6, and it later belonged to Richard Adams, 
a mason. In 1679, he conveyed it to Lt. John Pickering, who 
died possessed of the estate in 1694- Mr. Pickering had de¬ 
vised it in his will to his sons Benjamin and William; and they 
divided the house, Benjamin having the western part, with the 
northern leanto, and William the eastern. The family of Ben¬ 
jamin 1 ickering possessed his part of the house until 1830, 
when, by sale, it went out of the name; and Captain William’s 
tanu \ retained their part until 1804, when that portion also 
passed out of the name. Through mesne conveyances, Ben¬ 
jamin s (western) portion became the property of William 

oonev in 1858, and William’s (eastern) part became owned by 

• ' 111 >,u > 1,1 ]<Sf)4. When these Looneys owned it the house 
was destroyed by fire between two and three o’clock on the 

24 i?46hanrrdnl^hlvSahad Wife SaraJl TT-; chiIdren : 1. Caleb, born Se 
24, 104 probably died young; 2. Caleb, baptized April 21 16^0• Snr' 

T letFe Sa'T 4' born April I, 1651; Sara,’born^c 
i6<6 “Anna” married p? A/p -19’., 'J54:5; 7' Ha"™h. born Sept, i 
2? 1658-0 died Inlv ,8 Fn,en,d A,pril Ift 1677; 8. John, born F< 

.660; .o9’Marv, bom Feb nbW ’ " JU"e 4> l66°; died Sept' 
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afternoon of Sept. 16, 1865. William Looney and his son-in-law 
Coakley were then living in his part, and the other half was 
occupied by the widow Wood and a Mr. Redmond and family. 
The engraving of this ancient house on the opposite page is 
copied from a drawing made March 1, 1866, by John Robinson, 
representing it as it appeared just before the fire. 

Sergeant-major-general Endecott, William Hathorne and 
others of Salem and Lynn, “out of ye care for ye safety of ye 
publick weale, by ye advancment of ye military art and exercise 
of armes,” petitioned the general court for the right to form a 
military company. May 14, 1645, the request was granted; and 
“Sergent-major General John Endecott, Capt. Robert Bridges, 
Mr. William Hathorne, Mr. William Clarke, Ensign William 
Dixie, Sergeant Thomas Lathrop, and such others as they shall 
from time to time take into their company, shall be called the 
Military Company of Salem and Lynn.” They were given 
authority to choose their under officers, manage their affairs 
and train in Salem or Lynn as often as they chose. 

The general court further pursued the matter of military 
defence for Salem. “Whereas the town of Salem, lying so open 
to the sea, is in great danger of sudden attempts by a foreign 
enemy, and therefore great care is to be had in these dangerous 
times,” the general court ordered, Oct. 1, 1645, that the chief 
military officer of the band there should inhabit in or near the 
harbor,” and “considering that Captain Trask, who hath been 
many years their chief officer, dwells so remote from that part of 
the town as he cannot be helpful upon any such sudden occasion, 
doth hereby discharge him of that office, with all due acknowl¬ 
edgement of his faithfulness and former good service to the 
country, and do hereby appoint Mr. William Hathorne to be 
captain of the said military company or trained band of the said 
town, to exercise the office, and continue therein, until some 
other shall be duly chosen and confirmed in the said office, 
according to the order of this Court; and William Clarke to be 
his lieutenant during the said time.” The deputies of Salem had 
placed Captain Trask and Major Hathorne in nomination. They 
had also nominated Thomas Lothrop and Peter Wolfe for lieu¬ 
tenant. Ens. William Dixie was again chosen ensign. 

The seven men ordered, Nov. 3, 1645, that all the ordnance 
should be mounted. 

At the same time, the seven men ordered that a bill of four 
pounds be paid to Henry Bartholomew for the drums which Mr. 
Endecott bought for the town. June 13, 1644, the town voted 
that the annual salary of the drummer should be seven pounds. 
Nov. 10, 1645, the seven men agreed “that Joseph the drummer 
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shall have ten shillings a clay for the training days.” Josiah 
Rootes of Salem was the drummer that winter; and also in 1656-7, 
when he was paid forty shillings for beating the drum to the 

train band. In 1666, he was called drum major. 
The seven men granted, Nov. 3, 1645, to John Lovet two 

acres of marsh ground lying near to the old planters meadow near 
Wenham common; and, a week later, they ordered that there 
shall be layd out 4 bushells of wheate for 8 bushells of coales to 

good: ffranklin.” 
At a town meeting, Dec. 15, 1645, it was “ordered and agreed 

that the non-members of this congregation shall be rated for the 
helping and the supporting of some of the public ordinances in 
the church: as namely the preaching of the word.” 

MONSIEUR CHARLES DE LA TOUR. 

When England ceded to France the title to Acadia, in 1632, 
Razilly was given charge of the province. He appointed Monsieur 
Charles de la Tour his lieutenant for the territory lying easterly 
of St. Croix River, and Monsieur D’Aulnay for that part next, 
westerly of that river, the emperor claiming to Penobscot River. 
Razilly died in 1635, and each of his said assistants claimed the 
authority of the deceased over all Acadia. The purpose of this 
claim was the profits of the trade in furs with the Indians, and 
each had a fort and trading post, D’Aulnay on the Penobscot 
River and La Tour on the St. John River. There were con¬ 
tinual conflcts between these rival claiments. 

Capt. Isaac Allerton and others set up a trading wigwam at 
what is now Machias, and left five men in charge of it. In 
October, La Tour routed them, and being resisted killed two of 
the men and carried away the others. About the middle of the 
following January, Captain Allerton went to Port Royal, in his 
pinnace, to relieve the prisoners, as it had been agreed. 

In November, 1641, La Tour sent a messenger to Boston, 
proposing free trade and asking assistance against D’Aulnay, 
but the messenger produced no evidence of his authority. The 
next October, La Tour vainly sent his assistant with fourteen 
men in a shallop to Boston, again requesting aid against D’Aul¬ 
nay. I lie next June (1643), La Tour went to Boston from 
Rochelle with one hundred and forty persons by water, and 
again expressed his wish for aid in raising a blockade of his fort 
b\ his enemy. lie was informed that this was a matter for the 
fedeiated colonies, but the general court'decided that the gover- 
noi of the Massachusetts Bay Colony could consent that La Tour 
might hire vessels and men here for that purpose. The result 
was that, July 1st, La 1 our sailed with four ships and a pinnace, 
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carrying; sixteen cannon and seventy men, whom he had hired 
for his expedition. When the ships were discovered by D’Aul- 
nay, he set sail with his two ships and a pinnace to Port Royal, 
where he ran his vessels aground, and began fortifying himself 
on land. With about thirty men, La Tour landed and marched 
to D’Aulnay’s fortified mill, which they attacked. The mill was 
burned. The troops returned to the ships, and sailed to La Tour’s 
fort. Eventually, the Massachusetts soldiers returned safely, but, 
Winthrop wrote that “the report of their actions was offensive 
and grievous to us.” 

Just before March 23, 1643-4, La Tour came to Salem to 
request of Governor Endecott further aid. A meeting was 
agreed upon to be held in Boston, but, as few attended, another 
was agreed to be convened at Salem the next week. The aid 
requested was refused, and the governor and council passed an 
order, commending strict neutrality. Governor Endecott was 
personally greatly opposed to rendering the aid. 

The Massachusetts commissioners of the Confederacy re¬ 
ported to the confederacy the doings of the Massachusetts Bay 
Colony, and in October, 1644, an embassy from D’Aulnay to the 
confederacy arrived at Salem. After an extended and full discus¬ 
sion of the relations of the parties, a provisional treaty of peace 
and free trade was concluded, and, in 1646, all matters in dispute 
were amicably settled. Soon afterward, D’Aulnay died, and La 
Tour married his widow, thereby healing all breaches between 
the contending factions. 

In 1645, the records of the Salem court mention the pres¬ 
ence of the “French frigate in Salem Harbor.” 



CHAPTER XI. 

MANCHESTER. 

RANTS of land were early made within the territory of 
what is now the town of Manchester. This section 
was called after the name of the inlet from the sea, 
Jeffries Creek, which was afterwards known as the 
harbor of Manchester. William Jeffries is supposed 

to have been associated with this neighborhood, hence the name. 
He was born at Chuddington Manor, Sussexshire, England, and 
received the degree of Bachelor of Arts at Cambridge in 1606 
and of Master of Arts in 1610. He was apparently in Ipswich 
awhile, and went to Weymouth in 1654. He was governor of 
Rhode Island, where he died, in Newport, Jan. 2, 1675, and his 
tombstone is still standing there. 

About 1637, there was granted to the widow of Thomas 
Moore ten acres of land at Jeffries Creek; and at the same 
place to Samuel Archer sixty acres, William Allen fifty acres, 
John Sibley fifty, George Williams forty, John More forty, John 
l>lack thirty, Sergeant Wolfe fifty and Sergeant Dixie fifty acres. 
These lots were laid out together soon after Feb. 20, 1636-7. 

I his tract of land was known as the Four Hundred Acres. Some 
of these grantees did not settle at that place, and others built 
houses on portions of this tract. The final division of the four 
bundled acres did not occur until 1711. The village grew up 
where it is now. 1 his common holding of the territory probably 
explains the scarcity of real estate transfers in Manchester on 
uu)id during the first half-century of the existence of the town. 

nit part of the town known as the Four Hundred Acres is 
outlined on the accompanying map by dashes, and lay almost 
wholly easterly of the creek, including Singing beach. 

1 o the south lay the broad ocean, but in every other 
(hrection the primeval forest, rough and ledgy, and dark and 
dreaded, extended, practically pathless, for miles. 
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Jan. 27, 1636-7, the town “ordered that Richard Brakenbury, 
Tho: Laythrop & Richard Huchenson are to view what Inlande 
their is betwixt Jeffereys Creeke & Makerell Cove, 4 or ffyve 
miles.” 

Aug. 28, 1637, John Pickworth, William Bennett and John 
Galley requested grants of land at Jeffries Creek; and, Nov. 8, 
1637, the town granted to them and John Norman twenty-five 
acres each at that place. 

Nov. 26, 1638, the town granted to Samuel Archer a neck 
of land of about twenty acres, “lying out against the sea neere 
vnto Jeffry Creeke Hand,” and eight acres of meadow in Kettle 
Island Cove. 

Jan. 27, 1638-9, Sergeant Dixy desired some hay ground 
about Jeffry’s Creek. 

Feb. 4, 1638-9, the town granted to Robert Allyn twenty-five 
acres of land, lying between the land of William Bennett and 
Samuel Archer at Jeffries Creek. 

July 25, 1639, the town granted to Benjamin Parmiter ten 
acres, Nov. 20, 1639, to James Standish forty, and, Jan. 21, 
1639-40, to Benjamin Parminter ten acres, all at Jeffry’s Creek. 

In the spring of 1640, the owners of land at Jeffries Creek 
determined to settle there; and seventeen of them petitioned the 
general court for authority to establish a village there. The 
following is a copy of the petition:— 

We whose names are subscribed belonging to the Church & Town 
of Salem (being straitened in our accommidations soe that wee are 
not able to comfortably to subsist: haveing advised and taken Councell 
about our present estate & condition it being Judged fitt & free liberty 
being granted us to remove, and noe place being soe convenyent for 
our easy removall as Jefferyes Creek lying soe neere us & most of us 
having some small quantity of ground allotted to us there also Doe 
therefore Joyntly & humbly request the Hon'n Court to give us power 
to erect a village there & to allow us such inlargment thereabouts: as 
is not granted to any other plantation. Thus Leaving our request to 
yr wisdom & consideration with our prayrs for a blessing from heaven 
on yr psons & proceedings wee rest yr Humble petitioners 

WILLIAM WALTON 

John Black 

wm. Allen 

Sam11 Archer 

Geo Norton 

wm. Dixy 

John Sibly 

Tames Standish 

1640 
14th 3mo 

John 

John pickworth 

John Gally 

Ben : parmter 

Rorert Allen 

Edmond Grover 

pasco foot 

wm. Benett 

John norman 

Freind 
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This petition was presented to the session of the court which 
convened the day before the date of the petition, and the record 
of the action taken upon it is as follows:— 

The petition of the inhabitants of Salem for some of their church 
to have Jeffryes Creeke, & land to erect a village there, for Mr Willi: 
Walton, John Blacke, Willi: Allen, Sam: Orchard, Geo: Norton &c, 
compa; what land & inlargment may bee convenient, & is not granted 
to any other plantation, is granted them; & it is referred to Mr John 
Winthrope, Iunior, & Mr Symon Bradstreete, to settle the bounds of 
the said village. 

The general court then appointed Mr. Hauthorne, Mr. Holy¬ 
oke and Mathew Boyse “to view and settle the bounds of Ips¬ 
wich, Cape Ann and Jeffries Creek.” 

March 4, 1643-4, the seven men granted to Richard Gardner 
at Jefferies Creek twenty acres of land; and to Robert Fuller 
twenty acres of land there, “if he dwell there, otherwise to 
desert the land.” 

April 1, 1644, John Webster asked the seven men to grant 
to him accommodation at the Creek. 

The only act of incorporation of the town of Manchester is 
this, that, at the request of the inhabitants of Jeffry’s Creek, the 
general court “ordered, that Jeffryes Creek shalbe henceforward 
called Manchester." This was ordered at the session of the 
general court which convened June 18, 1645. 

Winthrop, in his Journal, says, under the date of July 9, 
1645: “The village at Jeffries Creek was named Manchester, 
and the people there (not being in a church state) had procured 
Mr. Smith (sometimes pastor of the church of Plymouth) to 
preach to them.” T his was Rev. Ralph Smith, who began his 
service here in 1642. He came to Salem in 1629, and'at this 
time Irom Plymouth, where he had been preaching since 1636. 
I Fe was son of Rev. Ralph and Catheran (Mathewson) Smith, 
baptized in the parish of Gainford, Durham, England, April 5, 
158'), and graduated at Christ College, Cambridge, in 1614. He 
mished his labors in Manchester after 1647; then lived with his 
son-in-law in Ipswich until about 1659; was at York, Me., in 
1 do, and died in Boston March 1, 1660-1.1 Religious meetings 
weie- held in the houses of the people until 1656, when a meeting 
house, eighteen feet long, was erected near the landing place. 

u cai 7 1CC01 ds of Manchester are not in existence, and 
so a inost nothing can be learned of the earliest conditions 
here in the public and private life of the settlers. Even early 

aiU reC01< " ale • William Allen, a carpenter, appears to 

JSee volume I, pages 112, 113 and others. 
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have been the most prominent of the men of the town, having 
lived there since about 1640. 

The settlement of Manchester called for better means of 
traveling thither. The old path to Cape Ann was very poor 
indeed, probably nothing had been done to it. The first spot 
which was sought to be improved was at the creek at Mackerel 
Cove. Salem was presented to the local court because there was 
no sufficient bridge there; and the town was ordered to make one. 
At a town meeting, Oct. 26, 1646, probably to meet the necessities 
of the Manchester settlers, the town of Salem ordered that a 
way between the ferry at Salem and the head of Jeffry’s Creek 
should be laid out forthwith, by William Woodbury, Richard 
Brackenbury, Ensign Dixy, Mr. Conant, Lieutenant Lothrop 
and Lawrence Leach, and that it be such a way as men may 
travel on horseback and drive cattle; and if such a way may not 
be found then to take speedy course to set up a foot bridge at 
Mackerel Cove. William Dixy certified that the committee of 
Salem, appointed to lay out a way toward Manchester, had done 
so, and made it sufficient, Dec. 30, 1646.1 

1Records and Files of the Quarterly Courts of Essex County, volume 
II, page 108. 



CHAPTER XII. 

SHIP TAVERN. 

I LIT AM WHEELER was of Salem early in 1646 for 
a short time;1 and Adam Westgate took up his abode 
here the same year. Mr. Westgate was a master- 
mariner, sailing along the coast.2 Thomas Avery 
was here earlier than these residents, and apparently 

removed to Topsfield in 1657* 
Erasmus James lived in Marblehead on the southerly side of 

Washington Street about where Hawkes Street is now located. 
His wife Jane earned a reputation which was unenviable. As 
early as 1639, she was accused of taking things from the house of 
Anthony Thatcher, who was engaged in missionary work among 
the fishermen at Marblehead, and she and her husband were bound 
for her good behavior. 

Both Mr. and Mrs. James were witnesses against John 
Bartoll for making some statements derogatory to the reputation 
of Moses Maverick in 1645, and Bartoll stated that he could prove 
Mrs. James to be “a common liar; a thief and a false foresworn 
woman.” 

The next year, William Barber and Mrs. James were in 
the house of Thomas Bowen, who testified that Barber said to 
Mrs. James, upon her speaking to him, “get out of doors you 

'Records and Files of the Quarterly Courts in Essex County, volume 
I, page 92. 

"Capt. Adam Westgate1 lived in Marblehead as late as 1680; wife 
Mary; she was living in 1676, and was probably dead in 1685; children: 
1. Robert", born July 1, 1647; of Salem in 1665; 2.-2 (son), born 
April 15, 1650; 3. Thomas2, born Feb. 12, 1653-4; probably died young; 
4. Joseph", born April 30, 1657; died June 19, 1659; 5. Mary2, born Feb. 
T4, 1659-60; died Aug. 28, 1662; 6. Benjamin2, born July 26, 1662; died 
Aug. 12, 1662; 7. John2, baptized April 20, 1663; of Salem in 1680; had wife 
Elizabeth in 1690; mariner; 8. Thomas', l3aptized April 20, 1663. 

1 homas Westgate"; of Salem in 1680; living in 1685; child: 1. 
Thomas , baptized May —, 1689. 
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filthy old baud or else I will cuttle your hyde, you old filthy 
baggage” J and Barber took a fire brand, but did not throw it at 
her. Bowen also testified that Barber carried away a shoulder of 
mutton which Mrs. James should have had, giving her a push, and 
saying that he could eat a shoulder of mutton as well as she. At 
the next term of the Salem court she sued Barber for slander. 

In 1650, Mr. and Mrs. James brought suit against Peter 
Pitford for calling her a witch; and a verdict for fifty shillings 
damages, was recovered. Henry Pease of Marblehead testified 
that he heard Peter Pitford of Marblehead say that Goodwife 
James was a witch and that he saw her in a boat at sea in the 
likeness of a cat, also that his garden fruits did not prosper as 
long as he lived near that woman, and that he called her Jezebel. 
Henry Trevett of Marblehead also testified. The next year, 
Mr. James sued John Gatchell for saying that Mrs. James was 
an old witch, and that she was seen going in a boat on the 
water towards Boston when she was in her own yard at home: 
and the plaintiff again won his case. 

Mr. James died in the spring of 1660, and his wife survived 
him. Her reputation did not improve with her widowhood; and, 
in 1667, when she was about sixty-five years old, she brought 
suit against her neighbor Richard Rowland, for saying* that she 
came in at a hole in the window in Rowland’s house, took him bv 
the throat, and almost choked him as he lay in his bed, and for 
calling her an old hag. Capt. James Smith testified that he, 
Samuel Aborne, sr., and Richard Rowland were in bed together 
when suddenly Rowland screeched, started up and said that he 
was almost choked by the old hag, Goody James, who, Rowland 
said, had come in through a hole in the window and had him 
fast by the throat. Captain Smith said that he saw nothing, 
although the room was very bright with the light of the moon. 
Aborn also testified; and John Furbush stated that he had often 
heard Rowland and his wife call Mrs. James Jezebel and devil. 
She again won her case. About three years later, death ended 
her troubles, she having lived alone in a house which was built 
for her.1 2 

Rev, Edward Norris, pastor of the church in Salem, expected 
to preach the election sermon to the general court in 1645, but 
failed to do so; he preached it to the court the next year.3 

The seven men granted to Daniel Baxter, in March, 1646, 
a small parcel of salt marsh lying at the end of his ten-acre lot in 

1This is a corruption of the old French word bargasse, meaning a 
worthless woman. 

2See volume I, page 449. 
3Winthrop’s Journal, volume I, pages 218 and 219. 
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South field, and a little salt marsh lying before Mr. Gott’s and 
Mr. Button’s land near the mouth of Forest River; to Robert 
Gutch a small parcel of salt marsh lying at the end of his ten- 
acre lot in the South field; and to John Robinson about three 
quarters of an acre of salt marsh lying at the head of Clay brook. 

April 8, 1646, the town “ordered that the way which was 
formerly used to be gone through near the end of Mr. Read’s 
farm, that the gate shall be set there and the way run as it did 

before.” 
A week later, the town granted to John Borne leave to sell 

beer; and the next month, by the general court, he was “allowed 
to set up a cookes shop at Salem, so that he sell no beare above 
a penny a quart.” 

April 20, 1646, the seven men granted to William Dodge 
about an acre of ground that lies between Hugh Laskin’s lot and 
his; and also it was ordered “That the little strip of ground that 
is between Ryall’s Side, and the ten-acre lot of John Batchelor 
and John Marston and before the lot of John Scudder, where 
he dwelleth, shall be given” to those three men. 

John Mascoll1 came to Salem about this time, and remained 
here. 

May 6, 1646, the general court appointed Governor Ende- 
cott major-general and a commissioner of the United Colonies. 

\John Mascoll1 was a servant to Mr. Goog in 1643; married Ellen 
(Eleanor) Long March —, 1649; living in 1704; children: 1. John, born 
Dec. 25, 1650; 2. Stephen", born Feb. 15, 1652-3; living in 1671; 3. Mehitabel2, 
born May 15, 1655; married Peter Fountain; 4. Thomas2, born Aug. 14, 
i657 ; 5- James2, born March 16, 1661-2; Nicholas2, born April 14, 1664. 

John Mascoll"; gunsmith and locksmith; married Hester Babbidge 
Oct. 6, 1674; (wife Bethiah in 1710-1) ; living in 1720; dead in 1741; 
children: 1. /0/m3, born Aug. 5, 1675; 2. Stephen3, born May 21, 1677; 
h\ed in Marblehead; married Mary Frettee of Marblehead Oct. 4, 1705; 
3. C hristopher , baptized July 14, 1678; 4. Joseph3, baptized Aug. —, 1685; 7. 
4* Umes , baptized Nov. 18, 1683; 6. Nicholas3, baptized Oct. —, 1685; 7. 
Sarah0, born April 20, 1687; married Isaac Willaims; 8. David3, baptized 
July 14, 1689; 9. Jonathan3, baptized Jan. —, 1690-1; 10. Mehitable3, born 
Jan. 16, 1694-5; died before 1720; n. Benjamin3, born Aug. 15, 1699. 
1 homas Marston; mariner; married Mary Swasey; died in the mid¬ 
winter of 1721-2^children: 1. Thomas3, baptized Nov. 18, 1683; died 
young tephen , born Aug. 10, 1684; died before 1722; 3. Mary3, bap¬ 
tized April —1687; married, first, William Beckett; second/Daniel Webb; 

6 lwrT ’cbaStlATd *lOV- 9’ J690 5 5' Thomas3, baptized April —, 1692; 
\ ~ l695; 7- James*, baptized July 11, 1697; 8. 

and n-i'irinrr -1ZC(- -Ctj 2c[ JU0 ’ u‘ iobn ’ baptized June 13, 1703; fisherman 
Hannah Prinr^nT ’ r'St’ Sara.1 IJri11?c? (published Aug. 2, 1729) ; second, 
Hannah Prince Oct 26, 1739; both living in 1771. 
T,mJ°S Mascoll ; cordwainer; married Elizabeth Bachellor May 14, 

Oct ’^8 i-ol^clnhl*°"7 11° !na‘Td’ s^ondly, Alexander Lovell of Ipswich 
mTriner maAied P^ ; V ’ borr* March 25, 1701-2. James Mascoll3; 
manner, married Patience Barton Nov. 7, 1721; she married, secondly, 
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At this session of the general court, the following petition 
of the inhabitants of Marblehead was presented to the court:— 

To ye General Court the humble petition of ye Inhabitants of 
Marblehead 

Whereas there come yeerly into or plantation many fishermen yt 
are strangers, & haue formerly don vs very much damage in ye con- 
fuming of or fire-wood, stage-timber & flakestuffe; we could not but 
expreffe ye fence we haue heerof, & to yt end for the preventing of 
ye like detriment; we entered an action agf* ye mrs of ye voyages 
the last Court at Salem whose desire was yt before any farther pro¬ 
ceedings they might fpeake wth ye Marchants yr owners who haue 
manifested theyr willingnes to giue vs satisffaction for ye wrong yt 
heerein we suftayne, yet loath to bring vp any customes for future 
times. Our desire & humble request therfore is that this Honoured 
Court would be pleased to establish some order wherby from hence¬ 
forth we may be enabled to releiue orf: in cafes of this nature. 

your humble petitioners 
William Walton 

MoIes Mavericke 

ffrancis Johnson 

Dauid Carwethen 

John Bartoll 

John Patch fEN: 

John Lyon 

Arthur Sandin 

John I H Hart 

Wm W M Barber 

Willm W Charles 

Abreham whiteheare 

John Peach iur 

John Legg 

WALSINGHAM W CHILSON 

Thomas Sam1 

Upon ye petition of Marblehead men, ye Cort thinke fit to declare, 
yt howsoevr it hath bene alowed custome for forraigne fishermen to 
make use of such harbors & grounds in this country as have not bene 
inhabited by Englishmen, & to take timber & wood at their pleasures 
for all occasions, yet in these parts wcU are now possessed, & ye lands 
disposed in ppriety to sevrall townes & psons, & by his matlcs grant, 

Joseph Flint (published Oct. 30, 1731); child: 1. James4; tailor. 
Mascoll3; shipwright; married Ruth Purchase Dec. 31. I724;^died 
1773; she died in 1785; children: 1. Thomas4; 2. Stephen4; 3. 
married William Tapley; 4. Mercy4; married Thomas Stevens; 5. 
died before 1773; had children. 

Capt. Stephen Mascoll4 ; mariner; married Hannah Dean 
1764; died in 1784; she survived him; children: 1. Hannah5, born 
married Jesse Kenny Jan. 20, 1793; 2• Mary5, born in 177°; 3- 
born in 1773; married Anna Thorndike of Beverly April 17, 
Sarah5, born in 1777; married George Sinclair Nov. 17, 1799- 

Massachusetts Archives, volume 60, leaf 35. 

Joseph 

July - 
Mary4; 

Joseph4; 

Aug. 16, 
in 1768; 

Stephen5, 
1800; 4. 
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undr ye great seale of England, it is not now lawfull for any person, 
eithe1’ fishermen or other, eithr forreyner or of this country, to enter 
upon yc lands so appropriated to any town or pson, or to take any 
woode or timber in any such places w'hout ye licence of such towne or 
pprietor; & if any pson shall trespas herein, ye towne or pprietor so 
iniured may take their remedy by action, or may pserve their goods 
or other interest by opposing lawfull force against such uniust vio¬ 
lence; pvided, y* it shalbe lawful for such fishermen as shalbe implied 
by any inhabitants of this jurisdiction in ye sevrall seasons of ye yeare 
to make use of or harbors, & such lands as are neere adioyning for yc 
drying of their fish, or other needful occasions, as also to take such 
timber for firewood as they shall have necessary use of, for their fish¬ 
ing seasons, where it may be spared, so as they make due satisfaction 
for ve same to such towne or prietor.”1 

Nov. 2, 1646, the town “Ordered that if Mr. Endecott doe 
agree with Mr. Allen and Mr. Dunster for the morter piece 
which is mounted upon the carriage that the town will see the 
same satisfied.” 

Feb. 2, 1646-7, the town agreed that Captain Hawthorn, 
Mr. Corwine and William Lord should “take care for fitting up 
of the carriages for the great guns, and to speak with Francis 
Pery and Thomas Tuck about finishing of it.” It was agreed 
that for the gathering in of the town’s powder, being dispersed in 
the hands of certain men, Sergeant Porter and John Hardy were 
to go to Mr. Fogg for half a barrel, Samuel Archer was to go 
to Mr. Johnson and Edmond Batter to Captain Trask for a barrel, 
and Captain Hawthorn was to provide a barrel for Capt. Thomas 
Read. 

Nov. 2, 1646, the town granted to Zacheus Curtis about an 
acre of land near the house he bought of Joshua Verin at 
Brooksby. 

1 he seven men, Dec. 28, 1646, granted to Edward Bishop2 
forty acres of land lying near the farms at Bass River head 

near Nicholas Howard’s lot, 
and to Humphrey Woodbury 
half an acre of meadow, lying 

... . beyond Mackerel Cove, and 
adjoining his meadow, which was granted to him. 

1 eb. 23, if>46-7, the seven men agreed that “two black 
staves of six foot long or thereabout be provided for the con- 

sta > (- s, Edmond Batter to speak to Francis Perry to have 

Massachusetts Bay Colony Records, volume II, page 147. 
rlshop h.ved i.n what is now Beverly, on the northerly side of 

as pprlv SatcrereicWeuer y of thJ main entrance to the Cherry Hill farm, 
marnV4 Cr t' TT “ ,was at hrst a husbandman and later a sawyer. He 
married, first, Hannah - before 1646; she was his wife in 1653; 
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them nia.de. dhe staffs were not made, probably, as the next 
July the town was complained of for want of such a staff.' 

On the seventeenth of that month, the seven men granted 
to Robeit Cotta that part of land and salt water marsh which 
lies before his lot and which he possessed, but he had nothing to 

CABOT STREET BRIDGE. 

do with that part of his lot he sold to Jeffery Eastye nor the salt 
water marsh before it. John Bailey1 requested a parcel of land 
in the South field, near William Giggle’s lot. 

married, second, Bridget, widow of Thomas Oliver before 1680; she was 
executed as a witch June 10, 1692; married, third, Elizabeth Cash March 
9, 1692-3; he died before 1715; children: 1. Hannah, baptized April 12, 
1646; married William Rayment of Beverly; 2. Edward, baptized April 
23, 1648; husbandman; lived here until 1703, when he removed to Rehoboth, 
where he was an innkeeper and yeoman; married Sarah Wild of Topsfield; 
died in Rehoboth in May, 1711; had children; 3. Mary, baptized Oct. 12, 
1651^; married Robert Coburn of Beverly; removed to Chelmsford. 

John Bailey left his wife in England and was living in Salem as 
early as 1644, in the part which was incorporated as Marblehead in 1649. 
In 1651, he was ordered by the local court to get his wife here or go to 
her. The last that was heard of him was when Mr. Maverick and Mr. 
Batter testified in court to his attempt to get her to come here. She de- 
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At the same time, in the room of Ralph Fogg, whom they 
conceived unfit for that service, the seven men appointed William 
Auger to "take notice of vital records in his stead. 

At the same time, the selectmen appointed Samuel Archer 
marshall of the Salem court, and the appointment was confirmed 
by the court April 7, 1649. He continued in that office until June 
26, 1666, when he was fined for being “disguised in drink”; and 
Henry Skerry was appointed at that time, his pay being four 
pounds per annum as Archer s salary had been. Mr. Skerry held 

the office until after 1682. 

BUTTS BRIDGE. 

In the early summer of 1647, “A barn at Salem was set on 
fire with lightning, and all the corn and hay consumed suddenly. 
It fell upon the thatch in the breadth of a sheet, in the view 
of people.”1 

I lie town was presented for two insufficient bridges near 
the houses of John Balch and William Dodge, and the seven 
men, May 17, 1647, chose these men to make the bridges sufficient 

sired him not to hasten his coining to her as she had a comfortable estate 
to live upon and maintain herself. 

\\ inthrop s Journal, volume II, page 310. 
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and finished within one month. The engraving of the Cabot 
Street bridge, near Herrick Street, in Beverly, was made from a 
photograph taken in 1924. Extensive fillings from time to time 
have raised the road to its present height. Sergeant Porter and 
Mr. Kennyston were chosen to see to the finishing of Strongwater 
bridge, the Butts bridge and a bridge at the great pond within one 
month. Butts bridge, over Butts brook, on Washington Street, in 
South Peabody, has changed but little probably since early days. 
The view of it given here is from a photograph taken in 1924. ” 

“William Clarke,1 dwelling between Lynn and Ipswich, hath 
liberty to entertain passengers and cattle.”2 This was in the 
summer of 1641. He removed to what was subsequently known 
as The Ship Tavern, on Essex Street, in the town of Salem, be¬ 
fore April 7, 1645, when the town chose him to keep the ordinary 
in Salem, and, Nov. 4, 1646, the general court appointed him to 
keep the house of common entertainment here. He died seven 
months later. 

The latter house of Mr. Clark, in 1647, was of considerable 
size, and he had a large estate. His house included, on the 
ground floor, a hall, parlor and kitchen, and upstairs a chamber 
over the hall, a great chamber over the parlor and a chamber 
over the kitchen and a partly furnished garret. He had an 
abundance of household furnishings and supplies, among the 
latter being fifteen hundred weight of tobacco, about seven 
hundred pounds of sugar and corn and wheat. There was a 
long table, round table and two others, six table cloths, a court 
“cubbard” and a sempiternum “cubbard cloth” with silk fringe. 
There were stools, seven of which were jointed and three were 
of leather, a bench, five forms, one being short, and three leather 
chairs. There were four bedsteads, one being half-headed, one 
jointed and one low, five featherbeds, two flock, one canvas 
flock and a straw bed; curtains and valances, bolsters, pillows, 
blankets, two dozen sheets, among them Holland sheets with 
seaming lace. On the floors were mats and rugs, and five car¬ 
pets, two of which were Turkey carpets; a great cushion wrought 
with worsted, five “cubbard cushions,” one of which was of dam¬ 
ask and another of needle work; seven and a half dozen napkins, 
among them being Holland, diaper and flax napkins; and a 
dozen towels. Among the customary smaller things were silver 

1William Clark lived in Salem as early as 1637; married, first, - 
-; and, second, Katherine -; died in 1646; she married, secondly, 
John Gedney, sr.; children: 1. -——— (son by his first wife) ; 2. ---—- 
(son by his second wife) ; 3. Bethiah, baptized Aug. 26, 1638; 4. Susanna, 
baptized March —, 1643; married, first John Gedney, jr.; second, Deliver¬ 
ance Parkman; 5. Deborah, baptized Aug. 6, 1645. 

Massachusetts Bay Colony Records, volume I, page 332. 
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spoons and some pieces of plate, twenty pewter platters and a 
great pewter pot, flagon, three dozen plates, beer cups and wine 
cups, two pewter lamps, four candlesticks, China dishes, brass 
and copper pots and kettles, shovel, tongs, andirons, peel and 

jack. 
Mr. Clark’s widow, Katherine Clark, was licensed to suc¬ 

ceed him, with liberty to draw wine, paying a license fee of ten 
pounds annually, and to provide “a fit man that is godly to 
manage the business,” and the Salem court approved of Robert 
Gutch as such a man.1 This house was the inn which was after¬ 
wards known for a century as The Ship Tavern. It stood on the 
northerly side of Essex Street, opposite Central Street. Mrs. 
Clark married John Gedney, sr., who had been an innkeeper in 
Salem, and Mr. Gedney conducted the house, drew wine and 
retailed strongwater until his death in 1688. Associated with 
this tavern was a pasture, containing twelve acres and being 
nearly a square, and lying on the southeasterly side of Bridge 
Street. Its western corner was opposite Lemon Street, the 
northern corner at Arbella Street and the southern was nearly 
down to the northern corner of the Common. This was called 
the "Ship Tavern pasture,” and was used as its name implies.2 

I he children of Mr. Clark had died, apparently, except 
Susannah. The tavern continued to be owned by the Gedney 
family, but it had been let. In 1698, when the estate was con¬ 
veyed to Deliverance Parkman, it was occupied by Francis Ellis. 
Mr. Parkman died Nov. 15, 1715, and the title descended to his 
daughter Mehitable, who married Rev. George Curwen. I11 1740, 
the tavern was under lease to Mrs. Margaret Pratt. Samuel Cur¬ 
wen, son of Mrs. Mehitable Curwen, became its sole owner, and, 
June 11, 1745, he conveyed it to John Turner of Salem, who 
took down the ancient hostelry three years later, and Mrs. Pratt, 
who had been here since 173R returned to her house on the 
not theasterly corner of Essex and Washington streets, where she 
continued the innkeeping business. 

Sept. 30, 1647, the town granted to Sergeant Porter two 
bundled acres of pasture land near Mr. Bishop’s farm. 

Juh 6, P>47, Nicholas Patch, sr., and William Woodbery 
“ Company, inhabitants of Mackerell Cove,” petitioned the 
Salem court for exemption from watching. The request was re- 
ferred to the general court, who, Oct. 27', 1647, freed them from 

k,-on SPm.w51’- R?hrt Gl.ltcl’ ,was hcensed by the Ipswich court t. 
public"house ' ^ ’ a,m ’ iuf: lle does not appear to have opened ; 

pasture.0 ^ ESS“ Antiquarian. volume IX. P*ge 75, for plan of thi 
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being called to watch at Salem, except that the petitioners should 
be liable to watch there by direction of the constable and the 
injunction of military officers in times of danger. 

May 15, 1646, the general court ordered the convention of a 
synod of the churches to be held at Cambridge September first 
following', to establish the rig'ht form of church government and 
discipline, by agreement of the churches and consent of the civil 
authority, and October twenty-seventh, while the synod was in 
session, the general court desired Mr. Norris of Salem and six 
other ministers to prepare a brief form of doctrinal belief and 
present it at the next sitting of the synod. Mr. Norris was 
named first on this list of clergymen, and the stenographer of 
the synod was John Higginson, son of Rev. Francis Higginson, 
and afterward pastor of the Salem church, who was, at this 
time, living in Connecticut. 

The present system of perambulation of the bounds be¬ 
tween towns was established by the general court Nov. 11, 1647. 
Once in three years, three or more persons of each towm ap¬ 
pointed by the selectmen, should together go to the bounds and 
renew the marks, by each adding a stone to the heap of stones, 
which should mark it, or renew a trench, six feet long and two 
feet wide, which was also a mark in low lands, the most ancient 
town being the one to give notice of the time and place of meet¬ 
ing, in March or April, to perform this service. The law of 
perambulation of town lines is practically the same today, but the 
bounds are now permanent monuments. 

Thomas Bowen1 lived in Marblehead as early as 1642; and 
in the Salem court, Feb. 29, 1647-8, he was fined for sailing 
from Gloucester Ffarbor on the Lord’s day, when the people 
were going to the morning exercises, having hay in his boat. 

At a meeting of the seven men, Feb. 3, 1647-8, Edward Wil¬ 
son2 requested a quarter of an acre of land in the neck near his 
house ; and Benjamin Pauly3 was chosen to keep the town herd 
of cows. On the twenty-eighth, the town granted to Thomas 
Wheeler two parcels of meadow of about eight acres, lying near 
the grist mill by Mr. Humphrey’s farm, one called noman’s 
meadow ; and, also, to John Hathorne a parcel of meadow adjoin¬ 
ing to that of Jacob Barney, a parcel of meadow adjoining Mr. 

Whomas Bowen was a planter and fisherman. He was born about 
1625! and lived in Marblehead as late as 1674. His wife was named Eliza¬ 
beth, 1646-1674. 

"Edward Wilson probably lived in Salem as early as 1641, being a 
young man; ship carpenter; called son-in-law in will of Michael Sallows 
in 4646; and removed to Fairfield, Conn., about 1655. He was living in 
Fairfield in 1679. 

3Benjamin Pawley lived in Salem until 1658. 
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Bartholomew’s, and a parcel lying on the great river, all three 

lots containing about five acres. 
Edward Wharton came to Salem in or before 1648, and 

when in England he brought to America with him his sister’s 
son, John Windett, a youth, whom he took as his own. Mr. 
Wharton was a glazier, and lived next the meeting house on 
Essex Street. He never married, and died March 3, 1677-8, 

HORSE BRIDGE. 

leaving brother George Wharton, who lived in the Tower of 
1 .ondon, and another own brother there, and a half-brother in 
A irginia and half-sister, Mrs. Windett, in England. He became 
a great merchant, having in stock at his decease a large amount 
ot cloth and clothing, house furnishings, implements, etc. Of 
furs, and lie had skins of fox, raccoon, wolf, bear, otter, wood¬ 
chuck, martin, sable, musquash, beaver and moose. Thus passed 
away one of the leading business men of his time, having won 
success in spite ot religious persecution and opposition. 
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William Dowdriclge of Marblehead and others were presented 
for rolling a cask in a house on the Lord’s day, in the time of 
public service, and acquitted by the Salem court March 1, 1647-8, 
as it was necessary work. He had just removed from Gloucester 
to Marblehead. 

Sept. 26, 1648, the court fined Robert Prince, Henry Keny1 
and John Bond for throwing down a great gun. 

On the same day the town of Salem was presented to the 
Ipswich court for want of a sufficient horse bridge over “a, brook 
or swamp about a mile beyond the great pond which joins upon 
Wenham, lying in the way from the pond to Lin.” This was 
horse bridge, so called as early as 1660, over the source of Bass 
River, on Conant Street, in North Beverly. This bridge was 
made sufficient soon after. The view of this bridge on the oppo¬ 
site page indicates that it has changed but little since that early 
date. This illustration is from a photograph taken in 1924. 

John Scott was of Salem, 1647-1649, and probably as late as 
1657, being first a servant of Lawrence -Southwick. John Bridg¬ 
man lived in Salem as early as 1647, and died in 1655. Lie had 
one child, a daughter, in 1655. 

xHenry Kenney1, born about 1624, was a planter in Salem as early as 
1648; lived in what is now Danvers, the site of his house being included 
within the location of the Boston and Newburyport turnpike, about mid¬ 
way between Preston and Nichols streets; the house was destroyed by fire 
in the summer of 1696; was a soldier under Major Sedgwick about 1654, 
at the taking of St. John from the French; married Ann -; she was 
his wife in 1680; he died between 1705 and 1710; children: 1. John, born 
Jan. —j 1651-2; 2. Thomas2, born June 11, 1655; 3, Hannah2, born March 
2, 1657; 4. Mary2, born May —, 1659; living in 1680j 5. Sarah2, born Aug. 
20, 1661; 6. Elizabeth2, born Dec. —, 1662; 7. Lydia2, born April —, 1666; 
8. Henry', born May 1, 1669. 

John Kenney2; removed to Newbury after 1691, and was living 
there in 1710; married Elizabeth Looke June 17, 1675; children: 1. John3, 
born March 25, 1676; died young; 2. Elizabeth3, born Feb. 6, 1677; 3. 
Johnz, born Aug. 15, 1689; 4. Samuel3, born Oct. 26, 1691; lived in New¬ 
bury; married, first, Mary Moores Feb. 29, 1711-2; she died in I74_(?); 
married, second, widow Lydia Davis Dec. 7, 1749; had children. Thomas 
Kenney2; husbandman; married Elizabeth Knight May 23, 1677; died in 
1691; she survived him; children: 1. Thomas3, born June 27, 1678; 2. 
Joseph3, born Sept. 7, 1680; living in 1696; 3. Danielf, born July 23, 1682; 
4. Jonathan3, born May 27, 1686. Henry Kenney2; yeoman; lived on his 
father’s homestead as late as 1716; removed to Sutton in 1725; married 
Priscilla Lewis May 14, 1691; wife Priscilla in 1711; wife Mary, 1716-1725; 
he was living in Sutton in 1727; children: 1. Jemima3, born Feb. 14, 1692; 
published to John Blackmer of Providence Dec. 9, 1709; 2- Priscilla3, born 
Oct. 9, 1696; 3. Dinah3, born Dec. 9, 1698; 4. Mary3, born April 5, 1701; 
married William Fiske of Andover Dec. 3, i723; 5- Anne3, baptized Sept. 
16, 1705; married John Bishop of Pembroke Aug. 2, 1726; 6. Esther3, 
baptized Sept. 16, 1705; 7. Mehitable3, baptized Feb. 23, 1706-7; married 
Jonathan Dunnel of Lynn Aug. 21, 1727; 8. Theophilus3, baptized June 18, 
1710. 
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March 20, 1647-8, the town gave Robert Cole liberty to 
yearly mow the grass upon the highway between Henry Herrick’s 
rock and the west end of Lawrence Leech s lot, provided he does 
not hinder passing through the way. 

June 24, 1648, the town granted the request of Thomas 
Scudder to exchange a plot of ground near his “now” dwelling 

house. 
Aug. 21, 1648, the seven men granted to George Corwin a 

farm of two hundred and fifty acres of land and twenty-five 
acres of meadow; to John Pigkett1 a parcel of land near Daniel 
Ray’s farm, formerly granted to Lieutenant Lothrop, who sur¬ 
rendered it to the town; and to Francis Perry about an acre of 
meadow lying near and on the left hand side of the great pond 
towards Lynn. October ninth, they granted to Lt. Thomas Loth¬ 
rop about an acre of upland lying within his meadow. November 
twentieth, the town voted that, whereas the way laid between 
Goodman Ray’s and Goodman Porter’s upon the hill is “now” 
made through Goodman Porter's land, it was ordered that Good¬ 
man Porter should have the other way as his own land to enclose 
and improve to his best advantage. 

m 
John Kenney1 

1737; children 
husbandman; 

4 
married Mary they were living 

i- -4 (son), baptized April 27, 1706; 2. Benjamin4, 
baptized Nov. 28, 1708^; 3. Benjamin4, born Oct. —, 1709; tailor; lived in 
Salem in 1737; 4- John4, born June 12, 1710; 5. Bartholomew1, born March 
24, 1711-2; 6. Elisha4, born Feb. 21, 171-; 7. Josiah4, born Feb. —, 171-; 
married Mary Case of Topsfield July 3, 1734; 8. David4, born March 12, 

Thomas Kenney'1; weaver and yeoman; married Martha Cox Nov. 
; they were living in 1716; children: 1. Jeremiah4, baptized Sept. 
2 James baptized March 5, 1704; 3. Stephen4, baptized July 15,. 
Aaron, baptized Feb. 23, 1706-7; 5. Amos4, baptized Oct. 10, 
Moses^, baptized June 18, 1710; 7. Martha4, baptized March 9, 

8. Lois, baptized March 1712; 9. Kezia3, baptized March 6, 

I7I4-5- 
10, 1701 
6, 1702; 

L05; 4 
1708; 6. 
1711-2; 

TD4j Daniel Kenney3; married Mary Richards Jan. 10, 1704-5; children: 
1. DameL born Oct. 19 1705; 2. Isaac4, baptized Oct. 19, 1707; lived in 
Middleton; married Lydia Richardson Aug. 28, 1734; had children: 3. 
Jacob baptized Dec. 18, 1709; 4. Israel4, baptized Oct. 5, 1712; 5. Mary4, 
baptized April 24, 1715; married Israel Averill June 11, 1735; 6. Ruth4 bap¬ 
tized June 30, 1717; married Samuel Buntin Jan. 11, 1739; 7 Eunice4, 
baptized Feb. 14, 1719-20; married Joseph Fuller Feb. 17, 1741; 8. David4, 

m Jll yi 29Li!P2; 1 ved in Middleton; married Priscilla Wilkins May 
L’DM0, had children; 9. Jonathan4, baptized Jan. 15, 1726-7 Jonathan 

irea«'1 2I' w; chilA : 7 i. Jonathan-, 
tided Sent > '.-If- ' v t’C'*’ iMpt!ze<! Sept. 20, 1714; 3. Thomas*, bap- 

baptized June 12 ,’72£ Na'han ’ bapt,zed March 2> 1717-8; 5. Samuel*, 

in Bevedv' unHLhmft^6 n?rth<Lrly corner of Hale a"d Bisson streets, 
dread1 Jolm banned m?’ wbcnAe removed to Stratford, Conn.; chil- 

Sarah, baptized Nov in "N't VAf' bapt'zed Nov' '9- l6-18; 3- 
Rebern hnnti^ri r ’ J ’ 4- I homas, baptized Nov. 19, 1648; 
JacoLbkpt^lfpGh^.1650 1 6' Da"iel- Jan. 25,9’i6 ;i-2 

5- 

7- 
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Jeffry Massy was chosen by the town, clerk of the market, 
being the first one, Dec. 19, 1648. Clerks of the market regu¬ 
lated prices when provisions or produce were offered for public 
sale.1 

In the Salem court, Feb. 21, 1648-9, William Goodwin, 
servant of John Hathorne, presented for robbing the orchard of 
Major-general Endecott and stealing many apples, a petticoat 
and other things, including money, from Thomas Putnam, jr., 
for lying and rebellious carriage towards his master and dame 
and robbing his dame’s desk, was ordered to pay twenty shillings 
to the major-general for the apples, twenty shillings for two lies 
and be admonished for his actions toward his master. 

Elias Stileman continued to keep an ordinary as late as 1660, 
and to sell beer and provisions in 1649, strongwater in 1656, and 
wine in 1660. 

At the same sitting of the court, Richard Hollingworth was 
admonished for much sleeping in time of public ordinances, and 
frequent, absence therefrom on Lord’s day afternoons. He 
pleaded in defence illness and bodily infirmity. 

At the same time, the town of Salem was presented for want 
of a pound. 

John Friend, being desirous of erecting a tide grist mill on 
the westerly side of Bass River and southerly side of what is now 
Elliot Street, probably suggested the removal of the landing 
place of the ferry from the head of Bass River to Draper’s point. 
This met public approval, and a lane was proposed to be laid 
out as a means of going to it. March 12, 1648-9, the town 
ordered that the highway be brought from Edmond Grover’s 
through Jonathan Porter’s and Mr. Garford’s ground to Draper’s 
point, if the general court should consent thereto. The general 
court voted, May 4, 1649: “The petition of Salem, for removal 
of the highway and landing place, from the head of Bass River 
to Draper’s Point, is granted.” The way laid out to the new 

’The list of clerks of the market who succeeded Jeffry Massy is as 
follows: Thomas Spooner was chosen March 13, 1655-6; Thomas Gold- 
thwaite, Feb. 24, 1656-7; Serg. Thomas Hale, March 22, 1657-8; John 
Ruck, April 4, 1695; Samuel Corning, March 14, 1659-60; Francis Skerry, 
April 22, 1661; William Dodge, April 7, 1662; Nathaniel Putnam, Nov. 9, 
1663; William Lake, June 17, 1665; Stephen Haskett, March 22, 1666-7; 
Elezear Gidney, March 20, 1667-8; Mr. Ashby, March 19, 1668-9; Anthony 
Ashby, Oct. 7, 1669; Bartholomew Gedney, March 27, 1671; Philip Crom¬ 
well, March 18, 1671-2; Thomas Ives, Jan. 20, 1673-4; Samuel Beadle, May 
3, 1678; John Cromwell, March 27, 1679; David Phipeny, July 23, 1680; 
John Lander, April 11, 1681; Nathaniel Silsbey, April 7, 1682; Samuel 
Phipeny, April 9, 1683; John Rogers, March 31, 1684; Nathaniel Silsbey, 
March 9, 1684-5; Symon Willard, March 19, 1685-6; Jeremiah Rogers, 
April 11, 1687. 
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ferry landing is now called Beckford Street. This landing place 
was'used as a general landing place as late as 1758, but as a 
ferry terminal only until after 1665. It was changed to the point 
nearest to Salem about four hundred feet easterly from the pres¬ 
ent Beverly terminal of the Beverly bridge. The landing on the 
Salem side was three or four rods easterly of the present Salem 
terminal of the bridge. The ferry house is marked on the plan 

FERRY LANDING AT DRAPER’S POINT. 

made in 1677 and shown on page 16. The ferry was continued 
between these two points until the bridge was constructed, in 
1788. 

In 1638, the town had granted to Richard Stackhouse a ten- 
acre lot of land, on which he built a house, on the northerly side 
of what is now Cabot Street, where the southerly end of Rantoul 
Street connects with it. June 6, 1653, the town ordered that 
Richard Stackhouse for the relief of his family should have the 
benefit of the keeping of the ferry towards Ipswich, he providing 
a sufficient boat and men to attend it and to enter on it the last 
day of June. Mr. Stackhouse’s daughter Ruth Haskins, then 
a widow, succeeded him, and was conducting the ferry in 
1717. 

The grist mill which was erected by Mr. Friend at what is 
now the Elliott Street bridge was reached by a wav called the 
mill lane, which ran from Cabot Street about three hundred feet 

Beverly Town Records, volume V, page no. 
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on the way to the ferry (now Beckford Street), then turned to 
the right and then to the left to the river at a point opposite 
the mill. Some of the buildings of the United Shoe Machinery 
Company are located within the ancient mill pond. 

John Friend died in 1655, and his son Samuel Friend, of 
Manchester, sold the mill to Lawrence Leach of Salem, but the 
deed was not passed until after 1662. The mill was appraised at 
forty pounds, of which only thirty pounds had been paid. This 
balance, Mr. Leach’s son John paid, and, thereupon, Sept. 7, 
1:665, he received a deed of it.1 John Leach lived here and was 
the miller until he conveyed the property to John Dodge, jr., of 
Beverly, husbandman, Sept. 2, 1669.2 Mr. Dodge conveyed to 
his son-in-law, Ebenezer Woodbury of Salem, miller, “the grist 
mills alias corn mills, Oct. 12, 1702.3 Mr. Woodbury was run¬ 
ning the mills in 1708, and died possessed of the property in 
I714- Upon the division of his real estate, in 1758, to his eldest 
son Ebenezer was assigned “Two old Grist mills situate in Bass 
River in Beverly.” The mills continued to be owned in the 
Woodbury family until July 17, 1797, when Israel Woodbury 
conveyed them to Thomas Davis, jr., of Beverly, the sale having 
been made by auction.4 Mr. Davis died July 17, 1840; and the 
heirs conveyed the mills to Aaron Dodge of Beverly, miller, 
April 28, 184s.5 The mills continued to be run until the decease 
of Mr. Dodge, Feb. 3, 1886. The daguerreotype from which this 
illustration of the ancient mill was made was taken about 1855. 
The schooner is the Island City, sailing from Harwich, and bring¬ 
ing corn to the mill from New York. 

March 13, 1648-9, the selectmen granted to John Hardy lib¬ 
erty to make a dam to drown his salt meadow, at the head of 
Forest River in the place where the old bridge was, for seven 
years. They, also, granted to Henry Bartholomew that part that 
was beside his ten acres in the meadow. 

Jan. 29, 1648-9, the seven men granted to Ralph Tompkins 
a small piece of meadow lying near Major-General Endecott’s 
“last grant” in a corner by a small brook and a great swamp. 

John Rowden,6 planter, appeared in Salem in 1648, and had, 
in 1661, an apprentice, Daniel Poole, who was- born in 1655. 

*Essex Registry of Deeds, book 5, leaf no. 
2Essex Registry of Deeds, book 3, leaf 69. 
3Essex Registry of Deeds, book 16, leaf 146. 
4Essex Registry of Deeds, book 162, leaf 210. 
5Essex Registry of Deeds, book 400, leaves 141 and 142. 
6John Rowden was born about 1611; married, first, Mary-; sec¬ 

ond, the widow of Richard Hammond, who was killed by the Indians, in 
1676, with Captain Lake at the Kennebec. He had a son in 1674; and died 
in the late autumn of 1683. 
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Robert Mountegue and Richard Haynes1 lived here in 1648 and 
1640; and the latter resided on Cape Ann Side when Beverly 

became a town. 
April 25, 1649, the selectmen ordered that George, Thomas, 

Samuel and Joseph Gardner should survey and measure from 
the meeting house to a parcel of meadow upon the great river 
westerly from Salem. On the same day, a committee was chosen 
to lay out a way over Mr. Read’s land, as Goodman Canterbury 
had enclosed the old way which caused men to go far about to 

get to their lots. 
The seven men of Salem, May 30, 1649, granted to Goodman 

Giggles, Joshua Grafton, Goodman Jakson and others (who had 
eleven hundred acres of upland) fifty acres of meadow to be 
divided between them, lying part between Moulton’s brook and 
Ipswich River, and the other part on the south side of the river 
between Mr. Norris and Mr. Corwyn’s farms; to Goodman 
Sowthwick four acres of meadow near Mr. Corwin’s farm, where" 
of two acres ar,e in recompence of his meadow, spoiled in digging 
turf for the new bridge; to Thomas Gardiner, jr., George Gar¬ 
diner and Hilliard Verryn four acres of meadow to each of them 
at the seven men’s bounds, and forty acres of upland apiece, the 
Gardiners’ to be laid out near their meadow, and Verrin’s to be 
in lieu of forty acres formerly granted to him; to George Gar¬ 
diner four acres of meadow on the north side of Ipswich River, 
near above Mr. Corwyn’s upland on the south side; to Thomas 
Gardiner two acres in the same place; to Samuel and Joseph 
Gardiner four acres of meadow apiece; to Joseph Pope four 
acres of meadow in the same place; to John Burton, Thomas 
Roots and Nathaniel Felton three acres of meadow apiece near 
Mr. Corwyn’s meadow; to Thomas Scudder, sr., six acres of 
meadow in the same meadow; to Mrs. Felton and Christopher 
Waller2 four acres of meadow in the same place; to John Reeves 
three acres of meadow and twenty acres of upland toward Mr. 
Corwyn’s farm; to John Conclyne, Ananias Conclyne and Thomas 
Scudder four acres apiece in the same meadow; to Philemon 
Dickenson two acres of meadow in the same place; to Mr. Price 
ten acres of meadow and one hundred acres of upland near Mr. 
( orwyn’s farm; and to Sergeant Porter ten acres of meadow by 
the great river. Nearly all of these grants were of land lying on 
Ipswich River, on the line between Danvers and Peabody. 

Richard Haynes was associated with William Haynes in Salem in 
h>4l, and they may have been brothers. Richard Haynes was a husband¬ 
man, and died Dec. 16, 1681. 

Christopher \\ aller was a tray maker; lived where the Salem jail is 
now located; married Margaret Felton; died in 1676; she married, second¬ 
ly, Robert Fuller. 
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In the Salem court, June 28, 1649, Giles Corey1 was fined 
for stealing wheat, powder, soap, flax, tobacco, bacon, pork, 
butter and knives from Mr. Curwin and Thomas Anthrom. 

The selectmen, Aug. 31, 1649, granted to Mr. Gardner about 
an acre of meadow lying on the north side of and adjoining his 
farm; to Francis Skerie “a little spot of ground betweene the 
sea and his field whch was formerly Goodels”; and to John 
Marston two little spots of marsh lying against Mr. Scruggs by 
goodie King’s land. 

Sept. 11, 1649, the Salem court fined Robert Sallowes2 and 
Robert Starr, for fighting, twenty shillings each. These were 
young men, having just come of age. Starr was a mariner, and 
sailed on a coaster until 1679, when he was “murdered by the 
hands of ye Barberious heathens.” 

Oct. 13, 1649, the selectmen granted to Richard Stileman the 
meadow of which Mr. Verin had the cutting of the grass, but if he 
should remove the meadow should return to the town; to Mr. 
Herbert and Goodman Robinson fifty acres apiece; to Goodman 
Bullock and Goodman Buffum forty acres each; and to Goodman 
Bowdish thirty acres, and to each of these five men five acres of 
meadow, near Goodman Moulton’s farm; and to Mr. Gedney the 
land and meadow which was taken from Mr. Clark’s farm by the 

men of Lynn. 
Oct. 19, 1649, the general court ordered that on the last 

Wednesday of April following there should be a meeting of the 
deputies of the several towns in this jurisdiction, at Salem, to 
consult about and prepare elections, and what else they think 
may tend to the welfare of the country at the next general court. 

Nov. 19, 1649, James Thomas was granted twenty acres of 
planting ground; John Ingersoll forty acres of land to plant; 
John Bridgman3 thirty acres of land; Thomas Smith and 1 homas 

Miles Corey was born about 1619; married, first, Margaret ; 
second, Mary Brite April 11, 1673; third, Martha --; pressed to 
death Sept. 19, 1692; wife Martha was hung as a witch Sept.. 22, 1092; 
children: 1. Deliverance, born in Salem Aug. 5> 165S; married Henry 
Crosby June 5, 1683; 2. Margaret; married William Cleaves of Beverly; 
3. Elizabeth; married John Moulton of Salem. Mr. Corey lived in what 
is now Peabody about ten rods westerly of the West Peabody Junction rail¬ 
road station, adjoining the southerly side of the location of the Salem and 
Lowell railroad. Caleb Moore stated that when he was in V irginia with 
his father, the latter bought Mary, Cory’s second wife, out of a London 
ship. 

2John Black married, secondly, Freeborn, widow (not daughter) of 
Robert Sallows, July 29, 1664. She was probably daughter of Peter Wolfe. 
See volume I, pages 278 and 294. . 

3John Bridgeman was in Salem as early as 1647; and died uy the 
autumn of 1655. He had an early child, Mary, who was baptized ^ept. 
8, 1650, and who married Samuel Smith April 8, 1673. 
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Watson thirty acres of meadow and upland each; Elias Mason,1 
John Robinson and John Kitchen forty 
acres of meadow and upland each; 
Thomas Pigden two acres of meadow 
near Wenham line; and Francis Perrie 

thirty acres of upland with the thirty acres formerly granted, in 
all sixty acres near the meadows granted to Mr. Gardner’s sons, 
and also the overplus of the twelve acres of meadow granted to 
the Gardners near the line of Salem. 

Nov. 26, 1649, selectmen granted to George Williams 
about a quarter of an acre of ground lying between his meadow 
and Francis Skerry’s land; to Nathaniel Putnam fifty acres of 
land lying beyond Elias Stileman’s farm, and adjoining Mr. 
I horndike and Captain Hathorne’s farms; to Giles Gorey twenty 
acres of land; and to Thomas James forty acres of land and 
meadow; and it was agreed that the two hundred acres of upland, 
which was taken from Mr. Downing’s farm by the great meadow 
towards W enham should be granted to him again for his pains 
in transcribing the books of the town’s records to be kept for 
posterity, making his grant again five hundred acres. 

Dec. 3, 1649, the selectmen granted to Richard Greaves forty 
acres of land; to Thomas Antrum thirty acres of land in addition 
to twenty acres formerly granted; to Zacheus Curtes all that 
meadow that lieth above Mr. Clarke s meadow, on the south side 
of Mr. Humphry’s farm and on the north of Mr. Clarke’s plain 
t lat lieth next to Dog Pond; and to Peter Palfrey five acres of 
meadow in Wenham meadow. 

Two weeks later, the selectmen granted to Henry Trew forty 
aci es of land, and to Mr. Bacon one acre of the swamp lying in 
t ic north neck, adjoining Edmond Gyles ten-acre lot on the south 
side of Air. Bacon’s lot which he purchased from Captain Trask; 
to Ensign Dixey and James Standish that InVliwav wVnVV, iiWV. 
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line, to be laid out adjoining the rest of his land; to Philip Crom¬ 
well one hundred acres of land and ten acres of meadow; to 
Robert Prince forty acres beyond the river; to Francis Skerie 
sixty acres of land, including what was formerly given him; and 
to Henry Skerie forty acres of land, including what was formerly 
given him; and it was ordered “that mr Gidney shall take in 
the highway adioyning to the ground he bought of mr Emerie and 
to leaue a way through the midst of the next field and a way to 
the watering place.” 



CHAPTER XIII. 

MARBLEHEAD. 

ROM the earliest settlement of Marblehead, that terri¬ 
tory and the people who lived there seem to have 
been in some degree and manner independent of 
Salem. The colonial tax was sometimes assessed 
upon the residents of that part of Salem as though 

Marblehead was a town by itself. 
At a general town meeting in Salem, March 12, 1648-9, it 

was ‘'ordered that Marble Head, with the allowance of the gen¬ 
eral court, shall be a town, and the bounds to be the utmost extent 
of the land which was Mr. Humphrey’s farm and sold to Marble 
Head, and so all the neck to the sea, reserving the disposing of 
the ferry and appointing of the ferry man to Salem.” 

May 2, 1649, the general court, “Upon the petition of the in¬ 
habitants of Marble Head, for them to be a town of themselves; 
Salem having granted them to be a town of themselves, and 
appointed them the bounds of their towne, which the Court doth 
grant.” 

Francis Johnson, who transcribed the earliest records of the 
town of Marblehead, stated, before 1674, that when he copied 
them the old book was not whole, several leaves having been 
tom out.1 The existing records give scanty information of the 
( oing* of the town and of the people who then constituted it. 

le hi st board of seven men, or selectmen, consisted of Moses 
Maverick Samuel Doliber, Francis Johnson, Nicholas Merritt, 
Jo 111 eac 1, si., John Deverox and John Bartoll. Francis Simson 
was the first constable, and lived there until 1666, when he re- 
moved to Rhode Island, having become a Quaker He was born 
about iOio, and had a sister who was twice married. 

V t>a<>(C ''-'I m<* * ^CS Ul t'lc Quarterly Courts of Essex County, volume 
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Felt says that when Marblehead became a town it contained 
forty-four families. A list of the grantees of the common lands 
in Marblehead probably gives a fair representation of the free¬ 
holders at that time. The following names are given: James 
Smith, Richard Rowland, Samuel Doliber, John Gatchell, 
Edmund Nicholson, William Barber, David Thomas, John Legg, 
Peter Pittford, Erasmus James, Thomas Bowing, John Stacy, 
George Chin, John Northey, Nicholas Merritt, Thomas Pitman, 
Timothy Allen, Thomas Lane, Arthur Sanden, Isaac Allerton, 
Moses Maverick, William Walton, John Lion, Henry Stacy, 
William Chichester, Samuel Carwithin, David Carwithen, Thomas 
Gray, Richard Norman, John Peach, jr., Richard Curtice, John 
Hart, William Charles, John Deverox, Abraham Whiteare, John 
Peach, sr., John Bartoll, Joseph Doliber, Robert Knight, John 
Bennet, Francis Johnson, Walsingham Chilson, John Norman 

and John Goyt. 
Robert Knight moved from Salem to Marblehead, where he 

lived from 1644 to 1653. He then removed to Manchester. He 
had a daughter Marie. Mary Hill lived in Marblehead, 1643- 
1645. Timothy Allen lived there from 1645 1° I65411 and re¬ 
moved to Lynn before 1660. George Pollard died in Marblehead 
in 1646. In his will, he mentioned no relatives.2 Henry Pease 
lived there from 1646 to 1653; and had wife Gertrude in 1651. 
Mathew Gillett (Jellett) was a boy servant of George Williams 
in Salem in 1641 ; and lived in Marblehead in 1646. Henry 
Trevett lived in Marblehead from 1646 to 1654. He was born 
about 1623; and had a wife in 1664. George Tucker was of 
Marblehead in 1647, and removed to the settlement at Gloucester 

about 1650. 
The map of Marblehead as it was when the town was set off 

from Salem has been made from the records of grants and con¬ 
veyances, and is as nearly correct and complete as it can be 
made. The following is a list of the owners of the tracts of land 
which are numbered. Those portions of the town which are not 
numbered constituted the common and undivided land, being 
very ledgy and rough and unsuitable for planting or other im¬ 

provement. 
1. Coy Pond Land. This tract of land is the fifty-acre 

game preserve of Emanuel Downing, and has ever since been 
known as the Coy Pond land.3 This was conveyed by John 

1Records and Files of the Quarterly Courts of Essex County, volume 
I, page 91. 

2Records and Files of the Quarterly Courts of Essex County, volume 

I, page 106. 
3See chapter two of this volume. 
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Humphrey to Mr. Downing* Sept. 6, 1638,1 and the latter died 
possessed of it about 1657. This was the northwestern end of 
the grant of five hundred acres made by the town of Salem to 
John Humphrey May 2, 1636. Mr. Downing granted-it to his 
grandson, Solomon Stoddard of Boston, and he conveyed it to 
Moses Maverick and Richard Rowland, both of Marblehead, 
May 1, 1667.2 This tract was later claimed by Salem, and is still 
a part of it. 

2. The Plain Farm. This tract of four hundred and fifty 
acres of land was the balance of the grant of five hundred acres 
of land made by the town of Salem to John Humphrey May 2, 
1636, after his sale of fifty acres to Emanuel Downing, Sept. 6, 
1638. Mr. Humphrey leased both this and the Pond farm to 
Zacheus Gould for ten years from Sept. 29, 1640. Sept. 6, 1642, 
in the Boston court, Mrs. Lydia Banks recovered a judgment 
of one hundred pounds, and probably levied an execution upon 
the land. Sept. 24, 1645, she conveyed it to Moses Maverick, 
David Corwithen, Arthur Sandin, William Charles, John Peach, 
the elder, and ‘'others the inhabitants of Marblehead, all that 
farm called ye Playnes farme,” etc.3 It was subsequently divided 
into fourteen or more parts. Mr. Humphrey had a house on this 
land, which had been built by Nathaniel Pickman in 1639, and 
kept servants there; and when he went to England, in the autumn 
of 1641, he left his son-in-law, Adam Oatly, at the house, which 
the latter finished. As agent for Mr. Humphrey, Oatly sold the 
house and land to John Friend of Salem; but this did not stand 
against the execution of M rs. Banks, apparently. 

3. Hugh Peter Grant. This tract of land, containing three 
hundred and fifty acres, was granted by the town of Salem to 
1 lugh 1 eter about 1636; and he conveyed it, by his agent, to John 
Devereaux of Marblehead, fisherman, July 1, 1659. Mr. Dev¬ 
ereaux built a house upon the lot, on or near the site of the 

evereaux residence which is now standing, and died possessed 
ot the estate in the spring of 1695. Mr. Peter died as a regicide, 
and his only daughter and heiress, Mrs. Elizabeth Barker of 
.oik on, England, claimed the title to the farm sometime after 
u ( ecease o Mi. Deveieaux. She released her interest therein 

to lus son Robert Devereaux June 29, 1704. 

vr n , j0!^ Ruck owned this ten-acre lot about the time that 

before 167? beCame a town’ and conveyed it to Richard Rowland 

ieSSeTMKer?Stry °.f ^eeds, book i, leaf i. 

Collection1! of thTp A,UTa.rian' volume XIII, page 132; and Historical 
collections of the Essex Institute, volume 46, page 1 

Essex Registry of Deeds, hook 1, leaf 29 
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5. This lot consisted of three ten-acre lots, which were 
owned very early by Moses Maverick; and he conveyed it to 
Richard Rowland Aug. 25, 1672. In this lot are the famous 
dungeons or kettle holes made by the glaciers. 

6. Thomas Oliver, a calander, owned this ten-acre lot early, 
and conveyed it to John Bradstreet of Salem in or before 1658. 
The ancient Indian circular palisaded fort was located at the 
extreme southerly end of this lot.1 

7. James Underwood, a baker, owned this ten-acre lot very 
early, and conveyed it to John Gatchell, a planter, before 1651. 

8. Abraham Williams owned this lot of ten acres very early, 
and conveyed it to John Gatchell in or before 1651. 

9. Richard Temple owned this lot of about thirty acres of 
land, and conveyed it to Moses Maverick in or before 1650. 

10. Richard Hollingworth owned this lot when Marblehead 
became a town, and he died possessed of it in 1654. 

11. William Dixey conveyed this lot of land to Henry Har¬ 
wood of Salem April 20, 16402; and Mr. Harwood died in the 
spring of 1664, possessed of it. 

12. This lot of land was granted by the town of Salem to 
Henry Harwood, who conveyed it to William Stratton, “master 
of ship of Bristow that then used this country,” July 10, 1649.3 
Captain Stratton sold it to William Payne and Richard Russell, 
who immediately erected at the brook in the cove the first grist 
mill in Marblehead. William Beale of Marblehead hired the mill 
until it was sold to Joseph Jewett of Rowley, and even after Mr. 
Jewett bought it. Jewett conveyed the property to John Brad- 
street of Marblehead June 28, 1658.4 The mill was gone in 
1674. 

13. The town of Salem granted this lot of land to Thomas 
Tuck in or before 1657; and he conveyed it to William Beale 
Nov. 25, '1657. 

14. This lot belonged to William Beale in 1658.5 
15. Richard Hide of Salem early owned this lot, and con- 

veved it to Thomas Pitman of Marblehead, fisherman, Nov. 4, 

1657.6 
16. Francis Collins owned this lot in 1657, and died 

possessed of it in 1689. 
17. John Legg early owned this lot and died possessed of 

it in 1674. 

^ee volume I, pages 27 and 28. 
2Essex Registry of Deeds, book 6, leaf 39. 
3Essex Registry of Deeds, book 1, leaf 7. 

" 4Essex Registry of Deeds, book 2, leaf 31. 
5Essex Registry of Deeds, book 2, leaf 82. 
6Essex Registry of Deeds, book 4, leaf 4. 
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18. The western half of this lot of land early belonged to 
Richard Hollingworth, and the eastern part to William Hunter 
of Salem, mariner, in 1658. Mr. Hunter died in 1691, possessed 
of his part of the lot. 

19. Samuel Friend of Manchester, planter, conveyed this 
lot to John Peach, jr., of Marblehead, a fisherman, Dec. 3, 1658.1 

20. This lot of land belonged to John Legg of Marblehead 
in 1658, and he died in 1674, having devised it to his wife Eliza¬ 
beth. 

21. This lot of land belonged to John Peach as early as 
1658. 

22. The owner of this lot at about the time of the incor¬ 
poration of Marblehead has not been learned. 

23. This lot belonged to Joseph Grafton of Salem, mariner, 
in 1649; and he conveyed it to Thomas Dixey of Marblehead, 
the ferryman, Aug. 30, 1658.2 

24. This lot belonged to Thomas Edwards, a shoemaker, 
very early, and he conveyed it to David Corwithen, sr., Tuly 9, 
1649.3 

25. This lot of land belonged to Joseph Younges of Salem 
vety early, and he conveyed it to David Corwithen Sept. 24 
1649.4 

This lot of land and the house thereon belonged to 
\ llliam Luc kin of Marblehead in 1643* when the land and houses 

were in the occupation of William Chichester. The houses were 
gone a few years later. 

a/t ,27; ™S was the ten_acre lot of Abraham Whitear of 
Marblehead, a fisherman, in 1652, when he sold it. 

28. Robert Knight of Marblehead owned this lot in 1652. 

A*enl7ud t,°.MaJWhester> and sold the land to Richard Reith 
of Marblehead in 1686. 

291* ATllI,s !ot ls the ancient cemetery among the ledges. I 
m„Cruf it stood the meeting house, and at that plac 

arked with a dot on the map was “Walton’s Spring” fror 
Wh,ch water was obtained in later years for church purposes/ 

ear/ / h'S mimite hoiiselot belonged to John Peach, jr., ver 

conveve / it /i' 1 °f Manchester, and the latte 
onveyed it to Robert Knight of Marblehead Sept. 28. 1651.6 

he conveved’it !r ^ /onSed ‘° Capt. Isaac Allerton, an, 
0 118 s°n-in-law Moses Maverick very early. 

'Essex Registry of Deeds, 
Essex Registry of Deeds, 
Essex Registry of Deeds, 
Essex Registry of Deeds, 
See volume i, page 297. 
Essex Registry of Deeds, 

book 1, leaf 43. 
book 2, leaf 51. 
book 1, leaf 6. 
book 2, leaf 64. 

book 5, leaf in. 
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32. This was the property of Matthew Cradock, the gover¬ 
nor of the Massachusetts Bay Company in England, in 1629. A 
house stood upon it in 1638, and it was occupied by Rev. William 
Walton. Mr. Cradock died, and his widow Rebecca, who had 
married Richard Glover of London, gentleman, conveyed it to 
Mr. Walton June 6, 1650.1 He died in 1668, and this became the 
homestead of his son Samuel Walton, who lived in it. He con¬ 
veyed it to Ambrose Gale of Marblehead, merchant, Sept. 20, 
16862; and Mr. Gale to Joseph Gallison of Marblehead, a fisher¬ 
man, Dec. 31, 1706.3 Mr. Gallison died in 1754, and the estate 
descended to his grandson John Gallison. The old house was 
gone soon afterward. 

33. Peter Petford owned and lived upon this lot in 1641, 
and erected a fishing stage there. He owned the house, stage 
and land until his death, in 1659. 

34. Arthur Sandin was granted lan.d in Marblehead in 1638, 
and was one of the earliest inhabitants of the town. He lived on 
this lot, and was the first innkeeper in the town, being first licensed 
therefor in May, 1640. He died in 1667, possessed of the house 
and lot. 

35. This lot early belonged to Thomas Pitman, and was the 
property of Francis Johnson in 1655. 

36. Walsingham Chillson of Marblehead owned and lived 
in this lot, and July 13, 1655, conveyed the house and land to 
Francis Johnson.4 

At the northwesterly end of this lot stood the town stocks. 
37. This lot was owned by Timothy Allen in 1648. He re¬ 

moved to Lynn, and conveyed it, with the house thereon, to Elias 
Hendley of Marblehead Sept. 28, 1660.5 

38. This lot early belonged to John Coit, who lived in the 
house situated on the extreme eastern point of the land. About 
1635, this cove at the foot of State Street was agreed to be a 
place of public use for the town, and John Coit built a stage on 
this lot, it being one of the first, if not the first, in the town. Mr. 
Coit removed to Cape Ann, and conveyed the house, stage and 
land to William Pitt Feb. 9, 1647.6 When he was of Boston, 
merchant, Mr. Pitt conveyed the whole estate to his son-in-law 
Christopher Lattimer of Marblehead, mariner, who was then 
living upon the premises, Feb. 2, 1659.7 

Tssex Registry of Deeds, book 1, leaf 24. 
2Essex Registry of Deeds, book 7, leaf 115. 
3Essex Registry of Deeds, book 19, leaf 127. 
4Essex Registry of Deeds, book 13, leaf 242. 
5Essex Registry of Deeds, book 8, leaf 177. 
6Essex Registry of Deeds, book 1, leaf 6. 
7Essex Registry of Deeds, book 4, leaf 4. 
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39. Thomas Taynour owned this lot as early as 1661. 
40. This lot of land and house thereon belonged to Henry 

Pease of Marblehead in 1656. 
41. This lot belonged to Henry Pease in 1656. 
42. John Gatchell of Marblehead, planter, owned and lived 

on this lot in 1652. 
43. This lot belonged to Francis Johnson in 1666. 
44. This lot early belonged to Emanuel Clarke, who con¬ 

veyed it to Joseph Bowd in or before 1664. 
45. Erasmus James of Marblehead owned this lot, with the 

house thereon, very early. He died, and his widow Jane James 
conveyed the house and lot to James Smith of Marblehead Aug. 
6, 1660.1 

46. This was the homestead of Richard Rowland of Marble¬ 
head, planter, as early as 1648, and he died, possessed of it in the 
summer of 1685. 

47. William Barber of Marblehead, a fisherman, owned this 
lot in 1651. 

48. Samuel Doliber of Marblehead owned this lot of land, 
with the house thereon, very early, and conveyed the estate to 
John Waldron of Marblehead, a fisherman, June 20, 1651.2 

Though William Walton was never ordained to the ministry, 
lie continued to preach to the people of Marblehead until his 
death, in October, 1668. A meeting house had been built on 
burying hill, and the usual troubles which arose from seating the 
people came to the inhabitants. Until a church was organized, 
in 1684, die members of the Salem church who lived in Marble¬ 
head attended the services of the church in Salem on days of the 
sacraments of the Lord’s supper and baptism, and on other Sun¬ 
days were found in the little meeting house amongst the ledges 
and the graves on the hill. The members of the Salem church 

ho lived in Marblehead in 1684 numbered fifty-four. 

Essex Registry of Deeds, book 4, leaf 130 
‘Essex Registry of Deeds, book 4, leaf 67. 



CHAPTER XIV. 

FORT ON WINTER ISLAND 

T a meeting of the seven men, Jan. 21, 1649-50, there 
was granted to William Robinson sixty acres of land, 
which was formerly granted, and his son twenty 
acres; to John Tucker1, James Patch2, Edmond 
Grover, John Hill3 and Philip Verin forty acres 

each; to Josia Roots about two acres of 
land adjoining to his ten-acre lot on the Cu£v+ 
northeast side, and to Robert Morgan’s 

at the other end; to William 
Scuder thirty acres . by Mr. 
Bartholmew’s; to Mr. Bacon one 

hundred acres beyond the great river; to John Lovett twenty 
acres more in the swamp and upland; and to Henry Cooke forty 
acres beyond the river “or on this side by Henerie Bartholmew.” 

Bohn Tucker was in Salem from 1642 to 1647; was called father-in- 
law to a boy, under eighteen years of age, named John, son of John 
Beaumont, who died in or before 1647. Mr. Tucker probably married the 
widow of the deceased. 

2James Patch lived near Mackerel Cove, Beverly, from 1648 to the 
autumn of 1658, when he died, leaving wife Hannah and children, James 
Patch, Mary Patch and Elizabeth Patch. In his will, he mentions his 
brothers Nicholas Woodbury and John Patch. 

3John Hill, born in Bristol, England, about 1635; wheelwright; lived 
on the easterly side of Aborn Street and southerly of Glasshouse field, 
and later in Beverly; married, first, Miriam Gardner; and, second, Lydia 
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At a meeting of the seven men, Feb. 21, 1649-50, there was 
granted to Robert Molton, jr., the thirty acre.s formerly laid out 

to him. 
Ralph Fogg, the first clerk of the court in Salem, had before 

this date lost the prestige he had had in the town for a number 
of years, and, Feb. 28, 1649-50, made his final appearance in the 
court to answer for a charge of lying in the face of the open 
congregation on a Lord’s day, slandering the church, and after 
the meeting was ended complaining to Governor Endecott of 
wrong that he had done him, both in church and court, saying 
that the governor was the grand jury and the grand jury, the 
governor. The court ordered that Fogg should confess his 
error in the meeting the next Lord’s day, as follows: “I Ralfe 
Fogge do acknowledge that I did very wickedly and sinfully in 
that I did in the face of the Congregation deny that the Church 
or any particular member did ever make known to me any one 
pticular for the which the Church proceeded agnst me the which 
in saying I did very falsely slander the Church of Christ and that 
I did very sinfully in saying that the Governour had done me 
wrong and that he was the Grand Jury and the Grand Jury was 
him for all which I am very sorry.” If he should refuse to make 
this confession, it was ordered that he stand at the whipping post 
half an hour after lecture with a paper in his hat on which in 
capital letters should be written: “For slandering of the Church 
and for abusing the Governor.” Mr. Downing and Captain 
Hathorne were ordered to see it done, and in case he “stands 
not quietly with his back to the post that then the constable is to 
bind him to it.” 

At a town meeting, March 16, 1649-50, it was “Ordered that 
all the land lying on Cape Ann Syde from Mr. Blackliech his 
farm unto Rich Dodg his farm and all between the old planters 
farm and Mackerel Cove and so to the head of the ten acre lots 
on Cape Ann Side that is undisposed of and lieth in common 
shall be reserved for common, and none of it disposed provided 
such grants as have been made before this order to oarticular per¬ 
sons shall be made good unto them.” This great tract of rough 
country, of great ledges, boulders, hills and swamps, contained up¬ 
wards for four thousand acres. Two or three small lots had been 
granted to individuals out of it, but generally it was wild and 

Buffum Aug. 26, 1664; died in the autumn of 1680; she married, second, 
George Locker; children: 1. Miriam, born March 24, 1658; married 
William Haskell May 1, 1679; 2. Susanna, born July 31, 1660; 3. Lydia, 
born March 30, 1666; 4. Elizabeth, born Dec. 15, 1667; 5. John, born Jan. 
22, 1670-1; married Elizabeth Oaks April 27, 1696; 6. Robert, born Sept. 
11, 1676. 
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primeval, and most of it is still untamed. Snake Hill, Pride’s 
mountain, Cat swamp, Burnt hills, Turtle Hill, Beaver Pond, 
Bald Hill, Rattlesnake Hill, Beverly rock, Red rocks, Prospect 
Hill, Grindstone Hill, Standley’s grove, etc., are found therein. 
This common land was afterward divided into several commons, 
by the town of Beverly, in the territory of which it is situated. The 
last great division was the sheep pasture, which contained about 
eleven hundred acres, and is in that section known as Egypt. A 
walk or ride through Wood, Witch or Common lane will give 
some idea of what it was like in the early days. 

At the meeting of the seven men, July 10, 1650, there was 
granted to Job Swinerton "that strip of meadow sometime in the 
hands of Mr. Phillip Verin and lately granted to Richard Stile- 
man until he should remove his dwelling which we conceive 
Richard Stileman hath done, but if he continue with us then he 
is still to enjoy it according to his grant, otherwise Job Swinerton 
is to enjoy it.” 

At this time, there was in existence no highway leading 
northerly towards Topsfield from what is now Danvers Square. 
At this meeting of the seven men, July 10, 1650, William Dodge, 
Jacob Barney and Nathaniel Putnam were appointed to lay out 
the highway "from the further side of that farm that was Mr. 
Bishop’s, now in the hands of John Porter, unto Crane River.” 
The town of Topsfield had probably planned a road from the 
hamlet there to the Salem line, and Salem laid out its continuation 
to Danvers Square. The course adopted being practically North, 
Locust and Maple streets. At the Square it followed the old 
Ipswich and Boston road to Crane River, and thence by the 
ordinary way to Salem through Peabody. 

Thomas Duch alias Arden lived in Salem in 1650, and had a 
wife and daughter. Thomas Rix,1 
a barber, was living in Salem 
that year, and had a shop near the he 
meeting house. 

Thomas Rix1 married, first, Margaret, widow of Miles Ward in 
1650; she died July 24, 1660; married, second, Bridget (Muskeet), widow 
of William Fiske Nov. 3, 1661; she was his wife in 1680; he married, 
third, Susanna (Skelton), widow of John Marsh; he died in 1684; she 
survived him; children: 1. Remember2, baptized Oct. 13, 1650; 2. Sarah2, 
baptized June 29, 1651; married Richard Prince; 3. Hester", baptized June 
5, 1653; 4. Thomas2, baptized Aug. 26, 1655; 5. James2, baptized Oct. 18, 
1657; 6. Theophilus2, baptized Aug. 13, 1665; married Hannah -; they 
were living in 1724. 

James Rix2; carpenter and shipwright; removed to Preston, Conn., 
in 1702; children: 1. James3, baptized April —, 1685; 2. Sara3, baptized Aug. 
—, 1688; 3. Thomas3, baptized Feb. —, 1693-4; 4. Lydia3, baptized March 8, 
1696; 5. Mary3, baptized April 2, 1699; 6. Elizabeth3, baptized Aug. 31, 1701. 
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At a meeting of the seven men, Aug. 12, 1650, there was 
granted to Francis Skerry a little spot of ground at the end 
of his ten-acre lot at the Great Cove, between his lot and the 
marsh of John Small; and November 9th, the selectmen granted to 
Robert Hiberd twenty acres of ground at the upper end of 
William Dodge and Roger Haskal’s ground, next to the swamp, 
for commonage and wood. 

Nov. 11, 1650, at a town meeting, there was delivered to 
Richard Greaves and Zacheus Cortis a corselet apiece of the 
town’s, being in good repair, in which condition they were to 
keep them and return them to the town upon demand. 

On the twelfth, the selectmen granted to William Browne two 
hundred and fifty acres of upland and twenty-five acres of meadow 
to be laid out near Ipswich River. December 21st, they granted 
to Lawrence Sothwick a quarter of an acre of meadow adjoining 
to his four acres; and, a week later, to Jacob Barney fifty acres of 
land at Long Hill adjoining the farm which was Mr. Alford’s; 
to Thomas Robins three acres of meadow in the great meadow 
beyond Wenham, of that meadow that was supposed to belong 
to Mr. Payne, “provided there be so much recovered from Ips¬ 
wich of that meadow”; and to Job Swinerton forty acres of land 
near Richard Huchinson’s in lieu of twenty acres granted to him. 

At the Salem court, Jan. 2, 1650-1, Humphrey Woodbury 
and Hugh Woodbury were sworn • freemen; and Nicholas Patch 
was freed from training on account of his age, and John Stone 
on account of age and infirmity in one of his arms. 

Feb. 8, 1650-1, the selectmen allowed John Batcheller to 
fence in a little neck of land to save a parcel of his marsh on 
Rial’s Neck, provided that he should leave bars in the midst of 
it for any one to cart down to the water, and return the land to 
the town upon demand. 

Feb. 25, 1650-1, at the Salem court, Salem was presented 
for want of some bridges. First, for want of a cart bridge at 
Stony Butts brook, and was ordered to build one sufficient to 
lead a horse over, a cart bridge not being considered necessary; 
second, for want of a foot bridge at Crane River, and was ordered 
to make it; and, third, for deficiency in a bridge at Mackerel 
Cove creek. To this last presentment, the town answered that 
it was ready to make a new bridge when the highway should be 
laid out, and also promised to perfect the highway to Manchester. 

1 he western portion of Ipswich was incorporated as a town 
under the name of Topsfield Oct. 18, 1650. It included, on the 
south side of Ipswich River, what is now East Middleton and 
extended from Nichols brook easterly as far as the Wenham 
meadows. 
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At a town meeting, March 24, 1650-1, “Captain Hathorne 
and Jefferrie Massey are appointed to run the line and perfect it 
between Ipswich and Salem and have liberty to choose such as 
they judge meet to assist them in it and the town to bear the 
charges.” Nothing resulted from this vote apparently, and June 
20, 1653, the seven men appointed Jeffery Massey, Lieutenant 
Lathrop and Sergeant Porter to meet with Ipswich men for the 
perfecting of bounds “between them and us towards Topsfield” 
the next Friday. Then, two years more elapsed, and, March 8, 
1654-5, the selectmen desired Mr. Corwine to get an “Artist” to 
come to Salem and run the line and appointed Mr. Corwine, 
Lieutenant Lawthrop, Jeffery Massy and Edmond Batter to treat 
with the Ipswich men and empowered them to perfect the division 
line; Again, March 25, 1657, the selectmen of Salem ordered 
Major Hathorne, Mr. Corwin, John Porter and Jefferie Massey 
to meet with Topsfield men April 9th and treat with them about 
the bounds between the towns. September 226. following, the 
selectmen “entreated” Major Hathorne, Mr. Corwin and Jacob 
Barney to meet some of the inhabitants of Topsfield and treat 
with them as to their mutual bounds. At a town meeting, March 
8, 1657-8, a request of Topsfield men was presented to settle the 
line by a decision of the general court, and it was voted that Maj. 
William Hathorne move the general court to give the sense of 
the several grants relative to the bounds of the towns. At a 
town meeting, April 26th, at the request of Topsfield, the town 
chose two men to agree with them about the line, with full power 
to decide the same, and Maj. William Hathorne and Henry 
Bartholmew were so appointed and empowered. Still, Jan. 29, 
j658-9> the selectmen appointed another committee to perform 
this service, namely, Jeffery Massey, Thomas Putnam, Nathaniel 
Putnam and Joseph Hutchinson. This attempt to run the line 
was successful, and for the entertainment of the men that ran 
the line Thomas Putnam was paid twenty shillings and Joseph 
Gardner, thirty shillings. The following agreement was drawn 
and signed by representatives of the two towns:— 

March 25th 1659. 
Wee, whose names are under written, being chosen & impowered 

by the inhabitants of Salem & Topsfield to runne the sixe miles extent, 
& also the divitionall ljne betweene the two tounes, have thus agreed 
and determined, namely: that wee have runne the sixe miles extent upon 
the northwest & by north, which ends in the edge of a swampe of John 
Putnams, called the Great Ashing Swamp, next unto a hill comonly 
called by the name of Walnuttree-hill, nere unto Perries wigwam, & 
from thence have thus farr agreed upon the divitionall ljne which 
runns southwest westerly to the river side, comonly called by the name 
of Ipswich River, where wee marked trees by a rocke towards the 



208 HISTORY OF SALEM 

east, & a necke of land, comonly called Cromwells Neck, westwardly 
of the sajd trees marked, & from thence southwest one mile & a 
quarter, & so on according to the rule that Mr. Joseph Gardner runne 
the afo’resajd divisionall ljne, & from the sixe miles extent towards 
the north east easterly, as it is bounded & marked, one mile & a 
quarter, ending at a swampe by a hill called Smiths Hill, and Lorn 
thence towards the east north east, ending upon a hill nere Wenham 
Causey, & so towards the east & by north one hundred rodds, ending at 
Wenham meadow side. 

Tho: Putnam, 
Joseph Hutchinson, 
Nathaniel Putnam, 
Abraham Reddington, 
John Reddington, 
John Wild, 

marke 
William W Evens. 

These surveyors neglected to make their return for nearly 
two years. The town of Topsfield was still dissatisfied, and it 
made another complaint to the general court. May 6, 1664, the 
town of Salem chose Captain Curwin, Henry Bartholmew, 
Lieutenant Putnam and Nathaniel Putnam to attend the court 
and answer the complaint. Lt. Thomas Putnam appeared in the 
court against the same. The court heard the parties on the 
twenty-ninth, and decreed that the agreement of March 25, 1659, 
was binding upon the two towns, and ordered each town to pay 
one-half of the expense of running the line. Thus ended the dis¬ 
pute of about fourteen years duration. Dissatisfaction generally 
resulted from fixing of the bounds of the territory of towns, and 
several decades sometimes elapsed before their final establishment. 

At a meeting of the selectmen, April 21, 1651, it was ordered 
that the fifty and thirty acres of land formerly granted to Mr. 
Garford should be laid out near Burchen Plain; and that forty 
acres of land and four acres of meadow formerly granted to 
Thomas Spooner “was long since laid out to' him. There was 
granted, at this meeting, to Edmund Grover three-quarters of 
an acre, on the highway side, between his ten-acre lot he then 
lived on and Henry Herrick’s lot, in recompence of some land 
taken from him for a highway through his lot. Thomas Oliver, 
jr., was given the privilege of cutting the grass growing on the 
highway between his father's lot and the lot of Thomas Watson, 
sometime the lot of Thomas Gouldsmith. 

April 29, 1651 (or May 3d), the selectmen granted to 
Nathaniel Putnam five acres of meadow near Ipswich River. 

Apparently, one or both of the parties became dissatisfied as 
to where the six-mile limit was found to he, and complained to 
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the general court, and the court, May 7, 1662, ordered that it be 
run by Ensign Noyse and Jonathan Danforth. These surveyors 
neglected to make their return for nearly two years, when they 
made their decision. Their return was as follows:— 

April 22—1664. 
Acordinge to the order of the honoured generall Court may the 

feventh 1662 wee whos names are heervnto fubfcribed, runinge the 
deviding line between fallim and Topffeild, we runne from fallim 
meetinge hous fix miles vpon playne grovnd. (by travis) fomthing 
more wefterly then the north and by weft poynt wheare we fot a ftake 
and erected a heape of ftons, ther ftanding a white oake about two or 
three moore southerly of it marked with ST and from that heape of 
ftones we fir ft rane eaftward Circularly and marked a whit oake with 
ST and fo continuinge the line with marked trees vntill we came at 
bifhops medow to a red oake marked at the north end of bifhops 
greater part of medow and fo runinge between the two medows over 
bifhops broke to a white oake and from thence to longe fponge almost 
all the way through it by maples and one wallnut tree marked in the 
fponge from thence croft Thomas puttmans medow to a red oake 
marked on the eaft fide of it and fo over the hill Through farmer 
porters medow, vnto a litle whit oake marked with TS which ftands 
on the eaft fide of the high way by the forde over the brooke which 
is commonly called ftony brooke from thence it runes crofle another 
parcell of farmer porters medow on the north end of the long hill 
which lyeth on the fouth eaft of the fayd medow by a marked wallnut 
tree and from thence to wennum line which line from the heape of 
ftons is about two mille and one hallfe Then wee began at the firft 
heape of ftons and ran toward the fouth eaft (ftill keping fix milles 
from falem meeting house) we rane over the northeaft end of maior 
Hathorns hill about fixty pole (by eftemation) from his medow from 
thence runninge by a marked tree part of mr Curwins farme Crofe 
by the fide of a fponge of medow which lyeth vpon Ipfwich river 
neare thirty poles from the river, and from thence the line runs below 
the f(de of the fteepe hill by the fyde of the medow vnto a marked 
pine and from that alonge in that narrow fponge of medow vnto an 
other pine marked with ST ftanding in a litell pine fwampe on the 
eaft fyd of the litell brooke about two poles from it, from thence it 
ran through henry ffelpes feild on the eaft fid of his hous vnto a great 
red oake marked with ST ftanding a bout ten poles weft ward of 
andever road to fallim and from thence to a pine forward in the line 
and fo to a duble whit oake marked as before which ftands on the 
fouth of a litell medow fenced in and from that to redding line foe that 
his fouth weft line is about four milles from the heape of ftons, all 
which work was faithfully wrought acording to the rulles of art, and 
the who11 bounds of falem as now we have rune it is full fix miles 
from falem meeting hous 

Thomas Noyes, 

Jonathan Danforth.1 

Massachusetts State Archives, volume 112, leaf 154. 
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William Bailey lived in Wenham in 1648, and had a 
wife, whose name was Grace in 1655; in Salem in 1651; and in 
Rhode Island in 1658. Anthony Needham,1 a young man, and 

Anthony Needham1 was born about 1631; yeoman; lived on Lowell 
btreet m Peabody, near the Boston and Newburyport turnpike; married 
Ann Potter Jan. 10,1655-6; they were living in 1696; children: 1. Rebecca2, 
born Dec. 21, 1656; married Michael Chappleman Jan. — 1675-6- 2. 
Anna, born Aug. 31, 1658; 3. Elizabeth2, born Dec. 1, 1659; 4. Provided2, 
born April 12, 1661; 5. Anthony2, born April n, 1663; 6. Mary2, born 
Apnl 30, 1665; 7. George2, born March 26, 1667; of Salem in 1731; 8. 
ra<\A ^prd 1669; 9. Abigail2, born May 31, 1671; married - 
Lould of Salem; 10. Thomas2, born July 25, 1673; farmer; married Ruth 
mbley Aug. 8, 1706; 11. Dorothy2, born Aug. 25, 1675; married William 
Browne of Ipswich; 12. Rachel2, born March 17, 1677-8; married William 
Small. 

Anthony Needham2; yeoman; married Mary Swinerton Jan. 3, 
1 ’ 3 Yas hl4 W^e *n I735; he died in the winter of 1757-8; children: 
1. Ihomas, born Feb. 4 1695-6; 2. Rebecca3; married Jonathan Felton; 3. 
Anthony ; living in 1736; 4. Humphrey3; living in 1736; 5. Jasper3, born 
about 1707; 6. Ruth; married Benjamin Warner of Brimfield. Isaac 
Needham; husbandman; lived in Salem Village; died in the spring of 
1750; children: 1.—1 born Dec. -, 1693: 2. George3; 3. Isaac3; 4. John9; 
husbandman, married Elizabeth (Smith), widow of Jonathan Walcott Feb. 

I739~40. 
Jasper Needham ; joiner and husbandman; lived in Danvers; married 

Mary Cook (published Nov. 20, 1731) ; died April 3, 1794; children: 1. 
Daniel, born June 15, 1735; 2. Stephen4, baptized Aug. 31, 1735; died 
young, 3 Benjamin > born Aug. 6, 1738; lived in Danvers; married Lydia 
Small Feb. 7, 1771; died Oct. 9, 1779; had children; 4. Stephen4, born Oct. 
15, 1742; yeoman; lived in Danvers; married Elizabeth Moulton of Brim- 

P 5o ed^0V'Jn' I758)P died Dec- 28’ 18011 she died at Lynnfield 
r‘-dj d Vi r children. George Needham3; innholder and yeoman; 
vl^lche • Apri IT» 17175 theV were living in 1737; children: 

pA3hk bf-Ptl5el May 22’ 17265 2‘ MaiV4, baptized Oct. 27, 1728; 3. 
^acdd 5 baptized Oct. 27, 1728; married John Stevens (published Oct. 2, 

George baptized Oct. 27, 1728; 5. Thomas4, baptized Oct. 27, 
J' AaVun j04ini baptized July 27, 1729; married Ruth Twiss July 10, 1749; 
7* ham, baptized Dec. 23, 1733. Isaac Needham3; carter; married 
c^edryTnnarTrTingl°sn (p“bbshed Aprd 25, H35) ; he was living in 1754; she 
1 1781 ’ cbddren: T- Daniel, baptized May 15, 1736- 2 Sarah4 
T" £f’ l-3Sri;n Mary4’ baptized AuS- 17, 1740; died May 10, 

r h ’ b!ptued Octv24, 1742; 5. Martha4, baptized Jan. 6, 1744-5; 
married George Archer; 6. Isaac , born March 4, 1746. 

Ihomas Needham4; joiner and cabinet maker; married first Mary 
Twist (published July 13, 1751); second, Seeth Phippeny Feb 17 1754 

4 17T0) died’ n ,? I759-; ma7iedo third’ Lydia Lefavour (published Aug! 
Jenkins ’aL a 1787; she married, secondly, Capt. William 
Jenkins Aug. 8 1793; children: 1. Thomas5, baptized Aue 3 177;- 
LrSl€,th.> baptized Aug. 8, 1756; 3. Nathaniel5, baptized Aug. 6 1758- 4 
£arah .baptized June 22, 1760; 5. Daniel5, baptised Dec. 12, 1762 6 MarJ' 

dzed SdepfePM9i777,6f:n7'F?anKatj’l b.apti?ed April l6’ 1769; 8. Mary5, bap- 
baptizedUn o Tti- Elizabeth baptized Sept. 29, 1771; I0. Thomas5, 
baptized \-,,v k VP’. 8 j baptized^ after June, 1781; 12. Robert5, 
March t-? WV. v\t ^baptized in 1784; 14.-B, baptized 
Tail 1 e TrfJPshe ’ ,mer9hant; married Elizabeth Pope 
Jan. 12, 1769, she d.ed Oct. 3, 1800; he dled Feb. 19, 1830; children: 1. 
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Edward Woolen,1 fisherman and shoreman, were also here in 

1651. 
The December session of the Salem court was ordered by 

the general court, May 7, 1651, to be held a month earlier, as 
December, “by experience hath been found too troublesome and 
dangerous for the magistrates and country to attend in regard 
of the season/’ 

May 23, 1651, the general court granted to Capt. William 
Hauthorne, upon his petition ,four hundred acres of land in New 
Hampshire, considering his good service to the country. 

At a town meeting, June 16, 1651, upon the petition of 
Nicholas Howard, John Batchelder and others that they might 
have liberty of common in the land lying near their houses and 
that it might not be appropriated to any, it was ordered “that all 
that land that lyeth within Ipswich way from the new bridge unto 
the head of Frost-fish brook undisposed of shall be reserved for 
common and none of it granted in propriety to any.” 

The local court sat in the chamber of John Gedney’s ordinary 
at this time; and the court allowed five shillings to be paid to 
those who attended in the house, two shillings to Robert Prince 
and three shillings among the rest of the servants. At the same 
time, the court presented the town for allowing open wells which 
were dangerous for the drowning of children and cattle,—one 
near Captain Hathorne’s house, one near Mr. Browne’s house, 
and others. The town was ordered to make them secure or 
stop them up within a week, on penalty of five pounds. 

Two days later, an indenture was allowed, by which Jeremiah 
Boutman,2 “sometime an inhabitant at Thropp, Suffolkshire, 
England, “with the consent of his uncle and guardian, Mr. Robert 

John5, baptized May 19, 1771; married Sally (Peirce), widow of Capt. 
Joseph Holman (published March 8, 1800) ; died at New Orleans in July, 
1805; she died May 20, 1853; 2. Molly5, baptized April 11, 1773. 

Nathaniel Needham0; married Sarah Cheever Jan. 25, 1784; died 
May —, 1802; she married, secondly, Capt. William Jenkins; children: 1. 
Nathaniel6; 2. Thomas6, baptized Feb. 4, 1787- Thomas Needham5; cab¬ 
inet maker; lived in Salem; married, first, Mary Bell (published June 17, 
1799); second, Abigail (Peirce), widow of Joshua Buffum Dec. 4, 1808; 
she died Oct. 23, 1853; he died Sept. 26, 1858; child: 1. Eliza Peele6, born 
about 1800; married Henry Upton Aug. 14, 1823.. 

1Edward Woolen lived here until he sold his house and land on the 
easterly corner of Essex and Turner streets in 1690. 

2Jeremiah Butman (Bootman) was born about 1631; fisherman; mar¬ 
ried, first, Hester Lambert Oct. 8, 1659; second (?), Mehitable - 
about 1664; he died Feb. 6, 1693-4; she survived him; lived in Beverly; 
children: 1. Mary, born July 4, 1660; living in 1678; 2. Jeremiah, born 
Nov. 4, 1662; died Feb. 27, 1686-7; 3. Mathew, born Sept. 11, 1665; lived 
in Beverly; husbandman; married Elizabeth Hooper April 28, 1690; was 
dead in 1719; had children; 4. Samuel, baptized Oct. 26, 1679; 5- Hannah, 
born Sept. 29, 1683. 
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Newman, was apprenticed to Mathew Nixon of Salem for seven 
years, to be taught fishing. 

Nov. io, 1651, the selectmen, upon complaint by Edward 
Wharton about a strip of ground “between his house and that 
which was lately Mr. Keniston’s, now in the possession of Simon 
Groce, that it was a great annoyance to him,” they granted it to 
Wharton; and William Baylie was given liberty to cut what grass 
he could find “at the great pond on this side of Mr. Blackliech 
his farm that is not in any man’s propriety until the town take 
further order." Five days later, the seven men granted to Jeffery 
Massey four acres of meadow formerly granted, part to be the 
pond beyond the great river, the rest to lie by the river side; and 
“he shall mow the same this summer, not being able to lay it 
out until after the hay should be taken of.” 

Late in the autumn of 1651, there was manifest an eager 
desire to sell strong water at retail, and, November 25th, Emanuel 
Downing, Capt. William Hathorne, William Browne, George 
Curwin,. Walter Price, Edmond Batter and Henry Bartholmew, 
the leading men in Salem, were so authorized by the Salem court! 
As Mr. Downing soon returned to England, his license was never 
renewed; neither was Captain Hathorne’s. William Browne’s 
license was renewed in 1662-1680; Captain Curwin’s in 1662- 
1680; Captain Price’s in 1662-1670; Edmond Batter’s in 1662- 
1680; and Henry Bartholmew’s in 1662-1674. 

Nov. 28, 1651, the Salem court presented Thomas Trusler 
for taking excessive wages from John Alderman, namely, ten 
shillings and six pence for a day’s work of six oxen and a 
man. 

Dec. 16, 1651, the seven men granted to Mr. Brett sixty 
acres, of land in the, place he desired, if it be there and not pre¬ 
judicial to foimer grants, and if, when former grants are made 
good, there lie any land remaining he should be further considered 
to have more added. January 7th following, they granted to 
Osmond Traske thirty acres of land to be laid out near Richard 
Dodge s farm, in consideration of a highway laid out through his 
ten-acre lot. They also granted to Nicholas WoodberL forty 
acres of land,—twenty acres of it to be that “which was late in 
the possession of Mr. Thorndike.” 

Feb. 13, 1651-2, the.seven men granted to John Swasey1 forty 
acreb of land to be laid out near Henry Bartholmew’s farm. 

Robert Goodell having forty acres of land granted long since 

rSTTasey lived °.nJ the south side of what is now Derby Street, in 
1 ,1 °i °‘ 99 °n said street. He married Katherine King; and con- 

T -> 10USe a-1K ?t t0 hls Wlfes mother, widow Dorothy King, March 
1 a, If)52-3, removing from town. 

> 
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by the town and he having bought land of several others that 
had land granted to them, viz. Joseph Grafton, thirty acres, John 
Sanders, forty acres, Henry Herrick, forty acres, William Bound, 
forty acres, Robert Pease and his brother, thirty acres, Robert 
Cotta, thirty acres, William Walcott, thirty acres, Edmund 
Marshall, twenty acres, Thomas Antrum, twenty acres, Michael 
Shafln, twenty acres, Mr. Venor, forty acres, John Barber, thirty 
acres, Philemon Dickenson, twenty acres, Mr. Goose, fifty acres, 
in the whole four hundred and eighty acres, it is ordered that the 
said Robert Godell shall enjoy the said four hundred and eighty 
acres of land, being part of the eleven hundred acres, he dis¬ 
charging the town of the above said grant, and he is allowed to 
said four hundred and eighty acres of upland twenty-four acres 
of meadow, provided that the meadow laid out within his up¬ 
land be a part of it.” 

Henry Bartholmew and seven others, commissioners of the 
eight towns of the county, met at Salem Mlarch 31, 1652, and 
certified that Maj. Daniel Denison and Capt. William Hathorne 
were chosen magistrates for the county courts of Essex for the 
year ensuing. 

Arthur Kippen,1 a fisherman, lived in Salem from 1652; and 
John Hardy had a Scotch servant, named Duncan Macall the 
same year. Mathew Dove2 was a servant of John Blackleach of 
Salem for four years from June 1, 1640. He had been a servant 
of George Luxor, master of the ship Friendship. He married 
Hannah Archer, and lived at 9 Daniels Street. He was living 
here in 1689. 

April 5, 1652, the seven men granted to Jacob Barney, jr., 
thirty acres of land to be laid out with fifty acres formerly granted 
to his father. May 1st, the selectmen granted to Samuel Corney 
the land that was left for a highway at the end of his ten-acre 
lot next the river on Cape Ann Side, which was for so much land 
as was taken out of his lot by the country way, which he accepts 
of therefor; to James Standish the little spruce swamp near his 

Arthur Kippen married Abigail -; they were living here in 
1673; children: 1. Abigail, born Jan. 4, 1658-9; died Oct. 3, 1662; 2. Arthur, 
born Jan. 6, 1660-1; 3. Mary, baptized April 13, 1662; 4. William, baptized 
April 13, 1662; died Sept. 14, 16—; 5. Elizabeth, born May 12, 1662; 6. 
—- (daughter), baptized May 17, 1663; 7. Joseph, born Feb. 23, 1666-7; 
8. Hannah, born June 28, 1668; 9. Sara, born “last of May,” 1670. 

2The children of Mathew and Hannah Dove were as follows: 1. 
Hannah, born Oct. 23, 1652; married Richard Harris March 10, 1670; 2. 
Elizabeth, born Dec. 16, 1653; married Samuel Wakefield June 2, 1675; 3. 
Dorcas, born Oct. 16, 1656; 4. Bethiah, born May 26, 16—; 5. Sara, born 
July 3, 1660; died July 18, 1660; 6. Daniel, born Sept. 10, 1661; lived in 
Salem in 1682; 7. Deborah, born Dec. 10, 1665; married John Marsters; 
8. Mathew, born Dec. 3, 1667; 9. Ruth, born Oct. 15, 1673. 
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house, provided that any inhabitant make use of any of the wood 
or trees in it while they shall remain growing there; and to 
Joseph Haughton thirty acres of land where it is most con¬ 
venient for him. On the seventeenth, they granted to John 
Ruck liberty to enclose the highway, now Norman Street, be¬ 
tween Mr. Emery’s and his land until the end of September, 
provided he leave bars to be drawn at each end for any that may 
have occasion to make use of that way; to Josiah Roots the con¬ 
firmation of a former grant of a little strip of land, containing 
about two acres, lying next to his ten-acre lot on Cape Ann Side, 
on the northeast side; to John Putnam, sr., what a former grant 
of fifty acres of land lacked in area, to be made up to him in 
land lying between his son Nathaniel’s land and land of Richard 
Huchinson; and to Hugh Woodberie, Mark Lathrop and Thomas 
Picton a spot of meadow lying between Benjamin Felton’s 

PINE TREE SHILLING 

meadow and the great swamp near Wenham, equally. At this 
meeting it was ordered that Ensign Dixey should make a gate 
and bars in the general fence on Cape Ann Side, at the further 
side of the field on the way laid out to Manchester. 

The general court, at its session of May 26, 1652, made an 
order, for temporary purposes, to establish a mint in Boston, and 
agreed with John Hull, as master of the mint, to melt all bullion, 
plate or Spanish coin that any one might bring to him, and, 
becoming sterling, to be coined into twelve pence, six pence and 
three pence pieces, with “N. E.” on one side and the value on 
the other side, the mint master to have five per cent of this 
amount of coin produced. Oct. 19th, the design was somewhat 
changed, and two rings were stamped on either side, with the 
word Massachusetts’ and a tree in the centre on one side, and 
the words New England ’ with the year on the other side. The 
exercise of this prerogative of the sovereign power, although it 
was intended to be temporary, was undoubtedly hailed with dis¬ 
favor when it came to the knowledge of the government in 
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England.1 However this may or may not have been, the powers 
in the fatherland were not then very critical of the acts of the 
colonists in New England. 

John Brackenbury was presented to the Salem court, June 
30, 1652, for wearing points and ribbons. The witnesses were 
John Porter and Lieutenant Lathrup. It has been said that this 
prohibition was on account of the strict religious plainness of all 
things among the Puritans. This is partially true, but the 
principal reason was the expense. 

Oct. 21, 1652, the general court appointed Nov. 10, 1652, to 
be a Fast day, for the loss of many persons by unwonted diseases; 
unusual storms and continued rains; worldly mindedness, oppres¬ 
sion and hardheartedness; England and the wars there; increase 
of heresies and errors; etc. 

Nov. 27, 1652, the town ordered that the country way irom 
the ferry to Ipswich before Ensign Dixey’s house, should be 
continued, provided he kept it in sufficient repair for horses and 
carts, which he promised to do. 

Feb. 21, 1652-3, the selectmen sold to Samuel Eborn about 
four acres of land, lying to his house, and to Serg. John Porter 
was granted fifty acres of upland in lieu of ten acres of meadow 
formerly granted to him. Nine days later, there was gianted 
to the inhabitants on Cape Ann Side half an acre on the hill 
adjoining Robert Morgan and Thomas Roots’ lot on Cape Ann 
Side; and to John Remont fifty acres of land next Mr. Alford s 
farm, which land was formerly granted to Jacob Barney, piovided 
he does quietly possess and enjoy the fifty acres laid out to him 
in lieu of it. June 6, 1653, the town ordered that the common land 
lying before the ten-acre lot of Francis Skery, next Thomas Mat¬ 
son’s, should be given to Francis Skerry, if to any one; but for 
the present the town reserved it. June 20, 1653? 61 e seven men 
granted to Job Swinerton ten acres of land at the east end of the 
forty acres formerly laid out to him in lieu of the two acies want¬ 
ing in his ten-acre lot in the North field. 

Governor Endecott had two sergeants or servants, at the 
expense of the Colony, to wait on him, before 1653- that 
vear, they were Robert Gutch and Elias Mason. Each of them 
received twelve pence a day for their services, and they petitioned 
the general court for an increase of pay, alleging that his former 
attendants were free a portion of the time and could attend t len 
callings, but the time of the petitioners was wholly taken and 
they had no opportunity seasonably to follow their business, etc., 
and, also, “considering the difference between their service and 

*See the Massachusetts Bay Colony Records, for the details of this 

matter. 
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ours in respect of our honoured Govr habitation ” They were 
allowed eighteen pence a day.1 

. In i653, the church in Salem sent to the general court a 
petition, signed by Edward Norris and Samuel Sharpe, praying 
that a restraint should be put upon choice of preachers, except 
upon certain approval.2 

Job Hilliard, a fisherman, Thomas Barnes,4 a blacksmith, 
Francis Marsters5, a Frenchman, 

and Samuel Cutler11 first ap- O /T'' 
peared in Salem in 1653. Mar- v 

garet White and Elizabeth Due (Dew) came from Wincanton, 
England, about 1642. Margaret was the servant of Henry Her¬ 
rick in 1651, and became Mrs. Endecott’s maid. She married 
Cornelius Hulett in 1654. 

^Massachusetts Archives, volume 67, leaf 45a. 
^Massachusetts Archives, volume 10, leaf 84. 
Job Hilliard was son of Margaret Wright of Weathersfield, who died 

La I??I; mATned’ Afirstl Sarah -she died Oct. 14, 1660; married. 
second, Mary Oliver April 1, 1661; he died “in the begining of March ” 
1669-70; she married, secondly, William West Aug. 30, 1672; children: i 
Abigail, born July 26, 1662; married John Hooper of Marblehead; 2. 

enjamin, born May 6, 1664; probably died young; was dead in 1701- 3 
mlir!lrnrd - Connaway; 4. Job, born June 1, 1669; cordwai’ner 
and mariner, lived in Charlestown. 

1 4 bomas Barnes was born about 1632; married Mary_• 
drowned Dec —,1663; she married, secondly, James Powllen Aug. 2, 1670! 

?nhl^d6r,vn:d-LBenJrm’ 0cti l655; Hvin^ in l6M: 2. Thomas, born 
Mart57bnrn Min u657 ’ 3kAMary’i-b?rn Oct. 12, 1658; died Oct. 14, 1660; 4. 
Mary born March 19, 1661-2; living in 1664. 

of aXranmnM\S/rerS+had a S0” /°tn in i665> when J°hn was nine years 
f Sa rmohn, Marsters married, first, Elizabeth Ormes July 17 1678- 

ToLn l Deb0eah D°Ve ?0Ct l8’ l683- at Marblehead; and had children C V. 
{6sT- b°7 !Sep • 24>H68i; died young; 2. Elizabeth, born last of July, 
1684, 3- John born Feb. 15, 1687; 4. Jonathan, born Nov. 10 1680 • 1 
Samuel born Oct. 1, 1693; 6. Benjamin, baptized Feb. 9 i69S-6- 7. Francis 
baptized Nov. 14, 1697; 8. Nathaniel, baptized Sept. 24 1699- 9 Deborah’ 
bap ,zed Nov 2, 1701; 10. Hannah, baptized Feb. 27, 170Z-411 Moms 
baptized Apr,1 21, 1706; 12. Edward, baptized July 2 1710 ’ 

Samuel Cutler ; planter; married, first, Elizabeth-• second 

born Dec1UrChi6Ly ^ /n WAS Hving in I7°6; children : r- Hannah2,’ 
M S £ T’ 65^ marned John Putnam; 2. Abigail2, born Jan — i6«?6-7- 

born in I«,+ rn ^ 23 > 1658; 4' SmlueP’ bo™ m i«U l EblnfJ/, 

Ian S20MUtfcrCUJhF; ho“?ewriSht and husbandman; married Sarah Satie 
Children’- V ’c h MWfs hlsT Wlfe in r73i J died in the spring of 1733 - 
17 1714-e. 2' Samuel’3 7™ 2’ 792"3; married Nathaniel Flint Feb. 
/’Jonathan?' horn oJ JuiV2’ 1694 ’ cooper’- hving in Salem in 173M 
3- Jonathan, born Oct. 12, 1696; probably died before mo- a AhicAV 

bNnTHM6WTTdAhn Tlden ^ 
f’,lJ°l ’ d™ tjB TZeki|' Goidthwite '*& SusamAhj AugN°l 

husbandman; Mareh i’i" IIM-g; Mvlng'in i^Tshe 
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Feb. 20, 1653-4, the selectmen granted to John Putnam, jr., 
twenty or thirty acres of land, if it be adjoining to Captain 
Hathorne’s farm, in consideration of twelve shillings due for 
bridge work and he had none formerly granted; to Humfrey 
Woodberie a parcel of swamp lying between his land on both 
sides, not more than ten acres, and the wood was reserved to 
the inhabitants to fell as they pleased at all seasons, the land on 
one side being Guido Bayley’s; and to Henry Skerie a little hill 
encompassed by his own marsh near Mr. Friend’s mill, if it had 
not been already granted. This little hill is that lying near Bass 
River, between Elliott Street and the ancient site of Draper’s 
point ferry landing. March 6th following, the town granted to 
John Browne all the meadow and the upland enclosed which 
was lately in the possession of Mr. Garford; to George Emerie 
the herbage of that parcel of land which was John Woodberie’s 
in the old planters marsh; and to John Kitchen so much land 
as will necessarily make a cellar near Goodman Trusler’s fence, 
over against the house of said Kitchen. April 27, 1654, the se¬ 
lectmen granted Mr. Gardner’s request for himself and those that 
now do or hereafter should live at those ten-acre lots’ ends or side 
that they have the common land that lies at the foot of Mr. Read’s 
hill to lie as common for their joint use. There was also granted 
the request of Serg. George Gardner for a small plain of up¬ 
land, containing about six acres, lying near Robert Moulton, jr.’s, 
meadow, and to the round hill near Mr. Humfre’s farm and so 
to that land that was granted to Francis Perry. There was also 
granted to John Symons liberty to fence his ground which was 
formerly William Comins’, in the town of Salem, “round home 
to the bank,” provided that he made two sufficient stiles for a 
foot way through the lot. There was also granted to Richard 
Bishop four acres, Henry Skerie two acres and Richard Bracken- 
berie three acres of meadow, lying uat the further end of Salem 
bounds” next to Mr. Richard Saltingstall’s farm, provided the 
meadow was within the bounds of Salem. There was granted 

was his widow in 1734; children: 1. Mary3, born March 19, 1691; married 
-Sibly before 1734; 2. Elizabeth3, born June 26, 1693; lived in 
Salem, unmarried, in 1734; 3. Ebenezer3. born Oct. 1, 1695; of Sutton, hus¬ 
bandman, in 1734; 4. Zachariah3, born Feb. 5, 1698-9; fisherman, of Salem, 
in 1734; 5. Ezekiel3, born Nov. 4, 1700; when of Killingly, Conn., he 
married Katherin Marsh April 13, 1736; 6. Amos3, born Oct. 4, I7°3; °f 
Salem, husbandman, in 1734. 

Dea. Cornelius Cutler3; tailor and husbandman; lived in Danvers 
part of Salem; married Abigail King Oct. 12, 1725; died in the winter of 
1766-7; she survived him; children: 1. Elizabeth4, baptized Sept. 13, I73°i 

married Ebenezer Jacobs; 2. Jonathan4, baptized July 16, I732; physician; 
lived in Danvers; married Martha Trask of Beverly Dec. 11, 1760; had 
children. 
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to Henry Skerie all that upland which lies within the fence of 
John Batchellor that fences in his salt marsh on Ryall’s Side, 
provided that it remain in common when the crop was taken 
oft". 

May 8, 1654, the selectmen granted to Thomas Picden three 
acres, John Batcheller two acres, John Pickett two acres and 
Charles Gott three acres of meadow, lying at the farther end of 
Salem bounds next to Mr. Richard Saltinstall’s farm, provided 
the meadow was within the bounds of Salem. There was also con¬ 
firmed to Ralph Tomkins a grant made to him in 1648, a spot 
of meadow, lying near Mr. Downing’s farm on the northwest 
and on the west to a farm that was granted to Philip Verin at 
the head of Cow House River, provided it is not within anv 
other person’s bounds. 

The general court, May 14, 1654, ordered that “the foureth 
day next come sevenmght shall be set apart and kept as a oublic 
Uay ot humilhation throughout our jurisdiction.” 

, At a meeting of the selectmen, May 15, 1654, there was 
confirmed to Thomas Watson three acres of meadow and to 
Lieutenant Lathrop his former grant of eight acres, two more 
being now added, at the farther end of Salem’s bounds next to 

,R>chard Saltmstall’s farm, provided that the meadow was 
within Salem bounds. There was also granted to Francis Skerie 
a small spot of upland lying near his ten-acre lot in the North 
Neck by the water side “which is free from George Williams his 

At a town meeting, May 27, 1654, a former grant of one 
bundled acres of upland to Thomas Ruck, sr., was confirmed, 

ere was also granted to Mr. Ruck five acres of meadow at the 
arther end of the bounds of Salem, provided it is within the 

bounds of Salem. 

William Marston1 removed from Salem to Hampton in 1647 
aiu re uined to Salem about 1654. He removed to Newbury 
about 1669, and from thence to Hampton about 1670. George 
Salmon2 came to Salem in 1654. & 

towJPfT8 °dd’ theS<i dayS> that at a"y time attendance upon 
Own meeting was compulsory. Before the time of which this is 
written, freemen were sometimes fined not only for not attending 

William Marston married Sarah 

& •CHf “5 ‘ Tf% SarahXn Ceh £ 
M Elizabeth, baptized April io, 1659; 4- Mary born Anril 2 

27 C War"06’ ib°ni cU'y IS’ 1663: married Thomas Cooper Dec’ 
ilk ’ am’ b°™ Sept- I9’ 1663: 7. William, baptized Sept. 20, 

George Salmon (Samon) married Remember Felton Get Tb-d • 
died about Feb. 12, 1672-3; she was his widov^ in ' 678; childTen A 
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such meetings, but because they did not speak on the question 
before the meeting. At the meeting held as above it was “ordered 
that all those persons that shall not seasonably attend town meet¬ 
ings, either by their persons or proxies for every such offence or 
delinquency, after due warning according to order, shall pay 

eighteen pence.” 
Oct. 2, 1654, the selectmen granted to Jonathan Porter ten 

acres of upland on Cape Ann Side in consideration of a high¬ 

N 
A 

\Y 

way. 
Thomas Rix sold his shop and house near the meeting house, 

for eleven pounds, in 1654.1 
Feb. 26, 1654-5, the selectmen grant¬ 

ed to John Putnam, jr., thirty acres of 
upland near the farms of Captain 
Hathorne, John Rucke and William 
Nichols, it being in exchange of thirty 
acres he should have had at the end of 
Captain Hathorne’s farm, and the surplus 
of the land contained within those bounds 
was granted to Richard Graves in con¬ 
sideration of forty acres formerly grant¬ 

ed to him. 
At the same time, the selectmen, 

upon the request of John Putnam, sr., 
Richard Huchisson, Daniel Ray and John 
Hathorne, granted to them a small rocky 
piece of land adjoining the farm lately 
in the possession of Captain Hathorne, but then possessed by 
these grantees; and forty acres of upland were granted to Jefferie 
Massey for transcribing that portion of the town book which Mr. 

Downing left unfinished. 
Jan. 4, 1654-5, the town confirmed to Richard Huchenson a 

grant a parcel of upland, not exceeding twenty acres of up¬ 
land, situated between the farms of Mr. John Thorndike and Mr. 

Elias Stileman. 
May 17, 1655, the town “Ordered that there shall be a burial 

place on the hill above Francis Lawes’ house.” This is the old 
Broad Street burying ground, which is still in use. 

What is now the extension of Summer Street up the hill by 
the northeasterly end of the burialplace was, in the eaily days, 

PUTNAM GRANT 

Elizabeth, born in 1665; died young; 2. Elizabeth, born Feb io, 1666-7, 
3. Mary, born March 16, 1668-9; was brought up by Robert Fuller; married 
Joseph Doliver of Marblehead; 4. Susanna, born March 30, 1670; 5- George, 
born March 1, 1672; 6. John, baptized March 30, 1673. 

^alem Town Records, volume I, page 181 (printed). 
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the narrow way to the northerly corner of Governor Endecott’s 
broad field. At the top of the hill, at the easterly corner of the 
burying ground was a red gate. 

This broad field of Governor Endecott contained forty acres, 
and extended along the original highway from the red gate, 
southwesterly, to the present location of Hawthorne Street, and 
from the street southeasterly to the South River. The house of 
Francis Lawes, from whom this hill derived its name, stood on 
the northwesterly side of the street. 

Apparently, the burialplace remained unfenced until 1732. 
The northeasterly end of this peculiar highway was origin¬ 

ally about four hundred and fifty feet wide. The cemetery took 
up more than one-half of its breadth, and went southwesterly as 
far as it does now,—that is, to Winthrop Street. 

Go vein ot Endecott’s Broad Field. 

The dotted line indicates the location of the street as its 
southeasterly boundary at the present time being about one 
bundled feet wide. At about the close of the War of the Revo¬ 
lution, that part between the burialplace and the dottted line 
u as used for the site of the almshouse, a factory for the manu¬ 
facture of duck cloth for sails of the vessels of Salem, and later, 
for the building in which was the registry of deeds. Still later, 

Jt. Yas the slte of the Salem State Normal School, the Salem 
ug 1 and other schools. In 1808, the portion of the original way 
between the broad field and the dotted line, at the southwesterly 
end of the burying ground, was taken out of the street location, 
am subsequently conveyed by the town to the respective adjoining 
owners, this triangle came to a point at the western corner of 
Froad and Hawthorne streets. 
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May 17, 1655, the town appointed Mr. Corwine and Mr. 
Gedney to secure materials and workmen to repair the town 
house for the school and watch. 

At this time, the town had a horse, cow and some sheep 
which they probably received for taxes. 

The bridge on Lowell Street, in Peabody, over the brook 
which runs around the South Church meeting house, was built 
by John Southwick in 1655, and, in 1662, he made extensive re¬ 
pairs upon it. July 21, 1669, the selectmen appointed John Pick¬ 
ering, Josiah Southwick and William Trask “to make a foot 
bridge at the brook near to Thomas Goldthwait”; and, Oct. 28, 
1680, the selectmen ordered that there should be a horse bridge 
made there, and John King was chosen overseer of the work. 
The bridge over the brook at Central Street is about as old. 

Mordechai Craford1, a mariner, came to Salem in 1656, and 
built a house at Juniper, which was burned in the night of Sept. 
10, 1666. Capt. Thomas Savage, who had a mortgage upon the 
premises, foreclosed it, and Captain Craford’s wife was accused 
of setting the house on fire, as she had threatened to do so; but, 
upon trial, she was found by the jury not guilty. 

Dec. 24, 1655, the selectmen granted to Gregory Gibbs half 
an acre of land to enclose near Clay brook, to make bricks, so 
long as he should continue to make them. 

John Talbey, Dec. 24, 1655, was to be put out as a servant 
to Robert Morgan or some other man for one year, at the expense 
of the town. Jan. 29, 1655-6, Henry Cooke agreed to so take him 
for a year, the town to supply him shirts, cloth to make a coat, 
covering for a bed and some things to make a bed, Cooke to have 
eight bushels of Indian corn. Aug. 4, 1656, the selectmen 
“Ordered that John Talbey being commonly noted for a person 
spending his time idly and unprofitably: we think it meet that he 
should be sent to the next magistrate to be employed accordingly 
(provided for such persons).” Aug. 22, 1657, the town voted 
that George Corwin and Jacob Barney appear at the Ipswich 
court to inform it of John Talbe, and advise about putting him 
in the house of correction at Ipswich. Lawrence Southwick 
was paid twenty shillings for keeping Talbey and seventeen shill¬ 
ings for things laid out for him. 

Edward Wharton was granted liberty by the town, Dec. 24, 
1655, to build a porch before his door upon the land of the town, 
Mr. Corwine and Edmond Batter to determine “how far out it 

might come.” 

Mordechai Craford (Cravat) was born about 1621; married Edith 
(Judith) -; living in 1671; children: 1. Hester; married John 
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John Endecott sat in the Salem court as a magistrate for 
the last time Nov. 28, 1654. He removed to Boston soon after, 
upon the request of the general court, “if his own necessary occa¬ 
sions would permit.” He lived in Boston in what is now Pem¬ 
berton Square. Pie was then sixty-eight years old and in poor 
health, as he wrote June 29, 1657, to John Leverett, who was 
then the colonial agent in England: “in the extremity of heat 
and after a long sickness, I am very faint; not fit to do any 
thing.” 

lie was chosen president of the Colonial Commissioners the 
next year (1658). 

Mr. and Mrs. Endecott did not, however, sever their con¬ 
nection with the Salem church until November, 1664. 

He died Mai eh 15, 1664-5? aged seventy-seven, in Boston, 
where he was buried “with great honor and solemnity,” eight 
days later, but his grave is unknown. May 25th following the 
general court voted to pay for the expense of the “wine, cakes, 
toombe and powder" on the occasion of his funeral, sixty pounds 
towards mourning clothes for his widow, “children and family ” 
and twenty pounds for five years to his widow. I11 his Wonder- 
Working Providence, Edward Johnson wrote of him as follows:— 

John Endicat twice Governour of the Englifh, inhabiting 
the Mattachufets Bay in N. England. 

Strong valiant John wilt thou march on, and take up ftation firft, 
iri l ca'd hath thee, his Souldier be, and faile not of thy truft • 

Wildernefs wants Chrifts grace fupplants, the plant his Churches pure, 
TT 1 lth 1 °n9ues.gifted, and graces led, help thou to his procure • 

Undaunted thou wilt not allow, Malignant men to waft: 
Chrifts Vineyard heere, whofe grace fhould cheer, his well- 

beloveds taft. 
Then honoured be, thy Chrift hath thee their Generali promoted: 

1 0View their love, m place above, his people have thee voted. 
Yet muft thou fall, to grave with all the Nobles of the Earth 

1 hou rotting worme, to duft muft turn, and worfe but for new 
UvflVlr* 

Apparently, the draining of Beaver Pond was intended, as 
the selectmen, March 13, 1655-6, granted to John Thorndike, 
Joshua Roots and the rest of the proprietors that had meadow 
near the pond, at Richard Dodge’s farm, should have the land 
that would be gained by the draining, according as it should bound 
upon each of their proprieties, provided they are at equal charge 

benefitWOrk’ °thenvlse they that bear the charge should have the 

Hosman Dec 23, 1669; 2. Susanna; had an illegitimate child bv Stenhcn 
Haskett, which she murdered in 1668. ’ - 5, p"c 
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HOUSE OF JOHN BECKETT 

March 13, 1655-6, the selectmen appointed Serg. John 
Porter, Mr. Gardner, Jacob Barney and Thomas Putnam to 
“lay out highways through John Endecott’s farm and others’ 
farms there about as may be most convenient for the town and 
the inhabitants thereabouts: extending to the great river.” 

John Beckett1 appeared in 4 
Salem in 1656. He lived in the 
ancient Becket house on Becket (J 
Court. This was originally the home of John Jackson, who died 

Bohn Beckett1 was born about 1626; shipbuilder;, married Margaret 
-; died Nov. 26, 16831; she married, secondly, Philip Cromwell before 
1687; children: 1. Mary2; married Daniel Webb; 2. Sarah"; married 
Robert Bartoll of Marblehead March 16, 1681; 3. Hannah2; youngest 
daughter; married Isaac Sternes; 4. William2, born about 1669; 5* J°lin 1 
married Elizabeth Locker; shipwright; living in 1711. 

William Becket2; shipwright; married Hannah Sibley May 18,^ 1683; 
died Nov. 10, 1723; she was his widow in 1734; children: 1. John, born 
Aug. 10, 1684; 2. Hannah3, born July 17, 1686; married, first, Jospeh 
Manning of Nantucket July —, 1707; second, Richard Bethel June —, I711» 
3. Margaret3, born Mhy 14, 1688; married, first,. John Swinnock Nov. 13, 
1712; second, Philip Cowen May 16, 1723; 4- William3, baptized March —, 
1695-6; 5. Mary3, baptized March —, 1695-6; died before I73L probably 
young; 6. Benjamin3, baptized March 14, 1697-8; died young; 7. Elizabeth^, 
baptized June 2, 1700; married William Slade Feb. 28, 1724-5; 8. Retire , 
baptized April 23, 1704. 



224 HISTORY OF SALEM 

in the winter of 1655-6. It then bacame the estate of Jonathan 
Porter, who conveyed it with one and three-fourths acres of land 

John Becket3; shipwright; married Susanna Mason Sept. 20, 1711; 
died in 1763; she was his widow in 1769; children: 1. Mary4, born July 
25, 1712; married James Collins; 2. Susanna4, born April 15, 1714; married 
John Babbidge; 3. John4, born Feb. 25, 1714-5; 4. Margaret4, born about 
1718; married Joseph Searls Nov. 20, 1781; 5. William\ William 

Becket3; married Mary Mascoll Sept. 10, 1713; died in 1716; she married, 
secondly, Daniel Webb July 27, 1727; children: 1. Hannah4, born in 
171-; probably married Benjamin Phippen July 5, 1739; 2. Mary4, baptized 
Aug. 26, 1716; living in 1732. Retire Becket3; shipwright; married Han¬ 
nah Graves of Beverly March 11, 1725; died June 17, 1734; children: 1. 
Hannah4; married, first, Joseph Hathorne Feb. 20, 1742-3; second, Abraham 
Parker of Bradford Feb. 17, 1745-6; 2. William*; 3. Abigail4; living in 
1735J 4- Sarah4; married Thomas Murry March 25, 1750. 

John Becket4; shipwright; married, first, Rebecca Beadle of Boston 
May 3, 1738; she died Jan. 13, 1758; married, second, Sara Rue Nov. 25, 
1762; he died Aug. 29, 1781; children: 1. Elizabeth5, born Jan. 5, 1738-9; 
married William Peele Jan. 26, 1762; 2. Susanna5, born Dec. 11, 1740; mar¬ 
ried David Felt; 3. Rebecca5, born Aug. 8, 1742; died March 23, 1743; 4. 
Mary5, born April 4, 1744; died April 13, 1744; 5. Rebecca5, born Feb. 
25, 1744-5; died June 15, 1753; 6. John5, born Nov. 17, 1746; 7. Benjamin5, 
born July 16, 1748; probably married Hannah Ulmer April 16, 1767; living 
in 1794; 8. Sarah5, born Feb. 15, 1749-50; married Nathaniel Silsbee; 9. 
Hannah5, born Nov. 17, 1751; married Joseph Cloutman June 20, 1770; 10. 
Rebecca5, born Sept. 14, 1753; married William Fairfield; 11. Eunice5, 
born Jan. 15, 1756; married, first, John Bray; second, Thorndike Daland; 
12. David Beadle5, born Dec. 18, 1757; died Jan. 23, 1759; 13. Martha5, 
born Dec. 19, 1757; died Jan. 6, 1758. William Beckett4; shipwright; 
married Susanna Fowler of Newmarket, N. H. (published April 6, 1745) ; 
died about 1760; she died, his widow, April 21, 1817, aged ninety-four; 
child: 1. Susannah5, born about 1747; married Thomas Rue. William 

Beckett4; shipwright; married Mary Murray Aug. 9, 1752; died in or before 
1794; she died, his widow, Feb. 3, 1826, aged ninety-seven; children: 1. 
Retire5, born about 1754; 2. Hannah5; married Thomas Rowell; 3. James5-, 
4. Mary5; married Joseph Brown; 5. Abigail0; married Benjamin Hawkes 
Aug. 14, 1791; 6. Sarah5; married Ebenezer Slocum Sept. 11, 1791; 7. 
Lydia ; married Samuel Leach; 8. Jonathan5, born May 25, 1773. 

Capt. John Becket5; caulker, boat-builder and shipwright; married, 
first, Sarah Browne M,arch 16, 1769; she was drowned June 17, 1773; 
married, second, Elizabeth Ingersoll March 9, 1775; she died Jan. 23, 
1790; married, third, Sarah Dean Jan. 24, 1791; he died Aug. 19, 1804; 
she died, his widow, Nov. 5> 1834; children: 1. Sarah6, born about 1774; 
married John Babbidge; 2. John6; 3. Elizabeth6, born about 1782; married 
Benjamin Waters Sept. 13, 1805; 4. Rebecca6, baptized March 27, 1785; 
married Samuel Cook of Boston Nov. 21, 1821; 5- DavidJ, baptized Nov. 
12, 1786; 6. Mary', baptized Jan. 10, 1790; died, unmarried, March 8, 1817. 
Retire Beckett ; shipwright; married Rebecca Swasey June 4, 1794; died 
May 29, 1831; she died, his widow, March 25, 1842; children: 1. William6; 
died at sea unmarried, in 1814; 2. -6 (daughter), born in 1796; died 
Iuy 1/96; 3. 6 (daughter), born in 1798; died July 16, 1800; 
4- Mary, born about 1800; died July 24, 1806; 5. Rebecca6, born about 
1(03, died at. Roxbury, unmarried, June 22, 1859. James Beckett5; spar- 
maker, married, first, Deborah Peabody of Haverhill Dec. 11, 1783; she 
died Jan. 4, 1802; married, second, Susanna Porter of Beverly Feb. 5, 
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to John Becket May 26, 1656.1 Mr. Becket was a shipwright, 
and the head of the long line of famous shipbuilders on his prem¬ 
ises there. The homestead remained in the family for some two 
hundred years, descending from John Becket through his son 
William, "then Retire, John, John, John, and John. The latter 
John Becket died in 1816, and his heirs conveyed the house and 
land around it to Stephen Gauss in 1853 and 1854. The house 
faces due south. It is well preserved and will weather many 

winters more. 
March 13, 1655-6, the selectmen granted to Nicholas Wood¬ 

bury four acres of meadow at the west end adjoining to the pond 

near Mr. Blackleach’s farm. 

1804; died March 4, 1827; she died, his widow, Sept. 26, 1857, aged ninety- 
two; children: 1. Sarah6; married Robert Richardson June 2, 1811; 2. 
Mary6; married William Kelly Oct. 16, 1808; 3. Elizabeth6; married Francis 
Goss; 4. Caroline6; married, first, Otis Allen; second, Jacob Tarr; 5. 
William6; died, unmarried; 6. James6, born about 1795;_ died, unmarried, 
May 18, 1819. Jonathan Becket5; shipwright; married Jane Hyland 
Campbell of Amherst, N. H., Nov. 29, 1807; died Jan. 28, 1839; she died, 
his widow. Nov. 22, 1873, aged ninety-two; children: 1. Alfred H.G; 
living in 1839; mariner; 2. Daniel C.6; 3. Emeline C.G; married John Bar- 
low Aug. 8, 1884; 4. Mary Jane6; died, unmarried, April 20, 1898. 

Capt. John Becket6; master mariner; married Sarah Brown Aug. 2, 
1807; died at sea on his passage to Cork, Ireland, Oct. 24, 1816; children: 
I. John7, born about 1812; died July 24, 1818; 2. John7, born about 1808; 
died Feb. 14, 1810; 3. John W.7, baptized March 16, 1817; 4- Elizabeth', 
baptized May 11, 1812; 5. David7, born in 1815; died Oct. 8, 1817. David 
Becket6 ; spar-maker and wood wharfinger; married Elizabeth Townsend 
May 1, 1817; died June 20, 1836; she died, his widow, March 18, 1872; 
children: 1. John Ingersoll7, baptized Aug. 29, 1819; carpenter; married 
Rebecca K. Andrews Nov. 14, 1839; 2. Mary Elizabeth', baptized Aug. 29, 
1819; married Joseph Browne July 22, 1838; 3. David Augustus1, born 
April 30, 1824; 4. William M. J.7, born about 1827; mariner; married 
Elizabeth-; lived in New York City in 1854; 5. Rebecca C.‘, born 
about 1829; lived in Boston, unmarried in 1853; 6. Priscilla I.7, born about 
1829; lived in Boston, unmarried, in 1853; 7. Joseph L.‘, born about 5836; 
living in 1844. Daniel C. Beckett6; shipwright; married Sarah Picket^; 
she died June 8, 1858; died Aug. 20, 1887; children: 1. Charles Henry', 
born about 1834; died Dec. —, 1838; 2. Daniel C.‘; 3. Edward C.‘, born 
about 1839; currier; married Tamson S. Poor of South Danvers Sept. 29, 
1864; was in Chelsea Soldiers Home in 1901; 4- Lucia C.'; married Charles 
F. Burchstead Oct. 5, 1862; 5. Alfred H.7, born in 1846; boatbuilder; died, 
unmarried, Jan. 23, 1868.1 

David Augustus Beckett7; mariner; married Ellen M. Brown Aug. 
30, 1846; lost overboard from the brig Cherokee, on a voyage from Aden 
to Muscat, Sept. 25, 1847; she married, secondly, Edward Lampson Aug. 
II, 1851; child: 1. Ellen Augusta8, born in 1847; died Dec. 24, 1847. 
Daniel C. Becket7; gas fitter; married Imogene Greenmail; (she married, 
secondly. Roderick N. Knapp July 11, 1870J) ; she died, wife of Daniel C. 
Becket, March 8, 1913; he survived her; children: 1. Sarah A. , unmarried 
in 1915; 2. Imogene8, born April 10, i865 ; 3. Fannie E.8; married - 
Crockett of Revere. 

Tssex Registry of Deeds, book 1, leaf 37. 
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Nov. 5, 1656, was appointed by the general court as a day 
of thanksgiving for plenty and abundance of the blessings of the 
earth, supply of the churches with officers beyond expectation, 
^tc* The fr ecjuency of fasts and thanksgivings indicate a nearness 
to and consciousness of the dependency of the early settlers upon 
God and of his interest in their welfare. 

Nov. 27, 1656, the selectmen ordered that Simon Bradstreet 
should have fifty acres of upland in consideration of ten acres of 
meadow which should have been laid out with the one hundred 
acies formerly granted to John Stratton as conveniently as may 
be for Serg. John Porter. 

The next day, the Salem court heard the case of William 
Lord, jr., for beating James Abbot,1 servant of Edmond Batter. 

Lt- Thomas Lawthrope was granted by the selectmen, Jan. 
16, 1656-/, six acres of upland about the Longham; and there 
was formerly granted to Samuel Corning twenty acres of upland 
near the land of John Harding, sr.,2 deceased. 

The selectmen, April 23, 1657, agreed with Samuel Archard 
and Nathaniel Pickman to make the stocks sufficient and “set up” 
the whipping post. At this period, the constable was paid two 

shillings and six pence for each person he 
whipped. Nov. 16, 1667, constables were re¬ 
leased f 10111 whipping, and the town agreed to 
hire a whipper. 

Richard Sibley,3 a traymaker, lived in Salem 
as early as 1657. 

Games Abbott came from Wincanton, Eno-land 
about 1642. 

J“John Harding” was John Hardy, who died in 
1652. 

‘Richard Sibley" married Hannah -; died in 
1676; she was his widow in 1700; children: 1. SamueF, 
born March 10, 1658-9; 2. Hannah2, born Sept. 20, 1661; 
married William Beckett; 3. Sarah2, born Dec. 20. 1663; 
1’vmg in 1676; 4- Damaris2, born Aug. 26, 1666; living in 

. T ^ l6?6; 5. John2, born first week in April, 1669; 6. Mary2, 
born Jan. 25, 1671-2; living in 1676; 7. Elizabeth2; living in 1676. 

Samuel Sibley2; house carpenter and shingler; married Sarah Wrells 
Sept. 13, 1695; killed by the Indians at Haverhill Aug. 20, 1708* she mar- 
ned, secondly John Sawyer (published Nov. 25, 1710); children: 1. 
Hannah born May 17, 1696; married Batt Moulton of Amesburv Dec. 1 
1712 2 Richard, born Jan. —i 1698; 3. Sarah3, born March 27, 1699; mar¬ 
ried Edward Emery of Newbury, Dec. 19, 1719; 4. Jonathan3, born Nov 25, 
i/oi; joiner; lived in Amesbury and Newbury; married Hannah Goodridge 

cc 2?h tI73°Whad chlldren: 5- Samuel5, born July —, 1704; 
x Samuel> horn May 5 1705. John Sibley2; husbandman, cordwainer and 
weaver; Jived in Salem Village; married Elizabeth Peale July 4, 1695* they 

1VnS-in, l?u*21 child.ren.; i- Elizabeth3, born Oct. 3/1696; died in 
1698; 2. Elizabeth, born April 13, 1699; 3. Hannah3 (twin), born March 

WHIPPING POST 
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May 11, 1657, the selectmen granted to Thomas Robbins 
the thirty acres of land granted to his predecessor Thomas West, 
to be bounded between Elias Mason’s forty acres and Osborne 
Trask’s thirty acres near Rise Edwards’ land. Also, the select¬ 
men delivered to constables Jeffrie Massey and Henry Skerry 
‘The three barrels of town powder which lately stood in the 
little house over the deacons’ cellar.” 

June 8, 1657, the selectmen ordered that John Porter and 
Thomas Putnam forthwith repair a highway, now Pine Street, 
leading from John Endecott’s farm to Goodman Huchisson’s 
house; and it was agreed that the way through Daniel Ray’s ten- 
acre lot in the North neck should be exactly bounded by Jeffrie 
Massey and Francis Skerie before the last of the month. It was, 
also, agreed that John Porter, Jacob Barney and Jeffrie Massey 
should determine the differences between William King, John 
Batchellor, Nicholas Heaward and others and Ensign Dixey, 
Josiah Roots and Samuel Corning concerning a driftway from 
the head of Bass River into Royall’s neck. This way is probably 
the ancient way from Balch Street, through Rial Side, to Stoney 
or Aunt Betty’s Cove. 

Thomas West was found by the Ipswich court, March 31, 
1657, to have committed two burglaries, one on the Lord’s day, 
and that he also stole five bushels of malt, one bushel of wheat, a 
pistol and some tobacco pipes. He was sentenced to be whipped 
and pay treble price of the stolen goods. He appealed to the gen¬ 
eral court, which referred the case to the next session of the 
Salem court, July 1, .1657. The local court, it being “his first 
offence,” ordered that he be branded in the forehead with the 
letter B and have one of his ears cut off. 

Alexander Seers1 lived in Salem as early as 1657. 
At this time, Edmond Batter was the county treasurer. 

14, 1701; died March 21, 1701; 4. Mary3 (twin), born March 14, 1701; died 
March 21, 1701; 5. Mary3, born Aug. 25, 1702; 6. John3, born Dec. 1, I7°4- 

Samuel Sibley3; cordwainer and merchant; lived in Newbury from 
about 1735 to 1738; married Meribah Bartlett of Exeter, N. H., in I73°i 
died in 1749; children: 1. Samuel4; 2. John4; 3. Nathaniel4; 4. William4; 
of Exeter in 1761; 5. Sarah4; married Somerby Gilman of Exeter; 6. 
Susanna4; of Exeter in 1763; 7. Littlefield4, baptized May 6, 1739, in Salem; 
mariner; married Sarah Lambert Aug. 19, 1765; 8. Hannah4, baptized 
April 19, 1741; lived here in 1763; 9. Eunice4 (twin), baptized Oct. 7. 
1744; 10. Priscilla4 (twin), baptized Oct. 7, 1744! n* Mary4, baptized 
Sept. 6, 1747; spinster, of Salem, in 1770. 

Alexander Seers married Mary -; died in the spring of 1667; 
she married, secondly, Stephen Searls the same year; children: 1. Robert, 
born Aug. 6, 1657; living in 1667; 2. Mary, born Feb. 22, 1659-60; died 
Nov. 23, 1662; 3. Abigail; died Jan. 16, 1662-3; 4. Alexander, born May 
25, 1664; living in 1667. 



228 HISTORY OF SALEM 

In the synagogue of the Hebrews the men are seated on one 
side of the auditorium and the women on the other side. In the 
early days in Salem, the seating shows that the sexes were sep¬ 
arated in different pews. The Friends are seated in their con¬ 
gregations in this manner, and they probably followed the method 
of seating they had been accustomed to in the Puritan meetings. 

At the meeting of the selectmen, June 8, 1657, the seats in the 
meeting house were assigned to prominent persons for the first 
time. It was agreed that William Browne and George Corwin 
should sit with Major Hathorne in the magistrates’ seat; Mrs. 
Hathorne and Mrs. Corwin should sit in Mrs. Endecott’s seat, 
being enlarged; that in the second seat where Mrs. Hathorne and 
Mrs. Corwin lately sat Mrs. Price, sister Elizabeth Browne, wife 
of John Browne, sister Grafton and the wife of Sergeant Porter 
should sit; Sergeant Hale’s wife and Francis Skerry’s wife should 
sit in the seats of Mrs. Price and sister Grafton; Mrs. Norris 
should be seated with Mrs. Browne; sister Prince should be seated 
where Sergeant Porter’s wife lately sat; and that Sergeant Porter 
should sit in the seat with Captain Trask. 

March 22, 1657-8, the selectmen agreed that the fore seat in 
the south gallery should be set apart for the following named 
persons: Alexander Seeres, Thomas Barnes, Job Hilliard, Bich¬ 
ard Adams, Mordechai Cravat, William Trask, Samuel Porter, 
Thomas Sallowes, Andrew Woodbury, Arthur Kippen and 
Thomas Robbins. April 22, 1661, the selectmen ordered that 
Serg. John Porter be “placed” in the deacons’ seat ; and, Jan. 
7. 1661-2, they granted leave to John Putnam, John Marsh, John 
Cromwell, John Becket, Joseph Huchenson, fob Helhard, Francis 
Colhnce, Thomas Barnes, Isaac Williams and Theodore Price to 
build a seat by the south gallery. May 3, 1667, the selectmen 
agreed that John Ormes and John Marsh might “build a seat at 
the v est end of the meeting house under the gallery: provided 
they take into them so many as the selectmen think meet.” The 
selectmen also gave liberty to Eliezer Hawthorne and “John 
Corning and Company” to build a seat in the front of the south 
gallery; provided that it doth not annoy those that are behind 
them, neither those that are seated under the gallery: and that 
they take in with them so many as the selectmen judge meet and 
convenient.” 

Mr. Samuel Whiting, son of Rev. Samuel Whiting of Lynn, 
was engaged as assistant to Rev. Mr. Norris, pastor of the 
c lurch, lie was born in Skirbeck, in England, March 25, 1633. 
His mother was Elizabeth St. John of Bedfordshire, who was a 
sister of Oliver St. John, chief justice of England under Oliver 
Cromwell, and is said to have been of Royal blood. He graduated 
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at Harvard College in 1653; and married Dorcas Chester of 
Charlestown Nov. 12, 1656. He came to Salem in August, 1657; 
and at the request of the town, Capt. George Curwin purchased 
the house of John Miller, tailor, which stood at number 149 
Essex Street, for the occupancy of Mr. and Mrs. Whiting, Aug. 
29, 1657.1 This was the house owned and occupied by Alexander 
Field, cord winder, who conveyed the house and land to William 
Venus of Salem Feb. 3, 1651-2.2 Mr. Venus conveyed it to John 
Miller of Salem, tailor, Feb. 16, 1652-33; and Mr. Miller con¬ 
veyed it to Mr. Corwin for the town for the occupancy of Mr. 
Whiting. After Mr. Whiting had left Salem, Mr. Corwin con¬ 
veyed the house to Edward Grove, sailmaker, March 19, 1668-9. , 
and when it was owned by Mr. Grove it was destroyed by fire in 
the great conflagration of 1698. 

For provision for Mr. Whiting, the town paid twenty pounds, 
having voted, Aug. 22, 1657, to provide necessaries for his enter¬ 
tainment “until he resolves to stay with us.” The town voted, 
Feb. 17, 1657-8, that Mr. Norice should have eighty,pounds and 
Mr. Whiting seventy pounds, and wood for the fire for the year 
ensuing; and that the elders’ maintenance should be endeavored 
to be raised by subscription. Aug. 18, 1658, the town ordered 
that that part of the house Mr. Whiting lives in should be made 
tight by shingling or otherwise with speed. Nov. 21, 1658, the 
town voted that the house which Mr. Whiting lives in should be 
given to him and his heirs provided he should stay in town the next 
three years. March 8, 1658-9, he had not determined whether he 
would stay. Firewood was furnished to him in 1660. 

At a town meeting, Feb. 17, 1657-8, having agreed that 
the elders’ maintenance should be endeavored to be raised by 
subscription, Major Hathorne and Edmond Batter were 
appointed to take care of the subscription from the bridge to 
Mordechai Crevet’s, Thomas Antrum and Sergeant Stileman 
from the bridge to Michael Shafflin’s house4 and for the ten-acre 
lots, and Sergeant Porter and Thomas Putnam for the farms , and 
April 26, 1658, the town ordered that all persons who will not 
subscribe nor contribute to the maintenance of the ministry should 
be taxed. Apparently, voluntary contributions were not very gen¬ 
erous, as, March 8, 1658-9, the town ordered that the selectmen 
investigate and learn if the ministers had received theii last ycai s 
pay. On this latter date, the town voted that the ministry be 
paid by a town tax. 

Tssex Registry of Deeds, book 3, leaf 70. 
3Essex Registry of Deeds, book 1, leaf 12. 
3Essex Registry of Deeds, book 1, leaf 18. 
4Michael Shafflin’s house was on Lowell Street, opposite b orest Street, 

in Peabody. 
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Sept. 14, 1657, the selectmen ordered for the settling a high¬ 
way between Salem and Reading that John Porter and Nathaniel 
Putnam meet with inhabitants of Reading. 

June 20, 1657, the town received James Rising1 as an in¬ 
habitant; and granted to Thomas Hale,2 for his trade of a glover, 
a small portion of ground, not exceeding two and a naif rods 
square. This land was at the northerly end of Washington 
Stieet. Mr. Hale emigrated from England to Boston in 1637, 
and settled in Newbury. He came to Salem in 1657 and returned 
to Newbury in 1661. 

The load to Topsfield from what is now Danvers Square 
was laid out in 1657. It followed Maple Street to Locust Street 
and thence to Topsfield, practically as Locust Street now runs. 
The return of the Salem and Topsfield committees to the Salem 
quarterly court is as follows:— 

the 22 . 8 . 57 

We hose names ar under written beinge apointed by the too 
1 ounes to lay out a cuntrie way be twine the too Townes Salem & 
l ops f el cl we began vpon John Porters farme acordinge as the trees ar 
marked and. so alonge vpon Daniell Rayes farme too pole brod and so 
thoroh the woods to a farme of John Porters wich was formerly mr 
Kemstones and so thoroh the woods to a farme of John Porters wich 
was formerly mr Doumngs and so thoroh the woods to the Rever 
against Guelman Tounes house and this we have don accordinge to 
our best descresion 

John Porter 

William dodge 

Thomas Borman 

FRANCES PABODY 

TI]1S was alowed of by the court (as it is layd out) held at Salem 
29th of June 1658 Robert Lord deric 

Nov. 9, 1657, the selectmen ordered that the difference be¬ 
tween John Porter and John Putnam about a highway over Mr. 

„ T2ameLRising came from Boston; married Elizabeth Hinsdale July 
/, 57. and removed to Windsor, Conn., after 1662. He died there in 1669. 
Her Tfg;J?01TS Haje marned Thomasine -; died in Newbury 
:Q ’ 68 ’• SJieLdied Jan- 30, 1683; children: 1. Thomas, born Nov. 
children • ¥ary Hutchinson May 26, 1657; lived in Newbury; had 
Lowed FW l ^kh0Tu wprdl9, l635; carPenter5 married, first, Rebecca 
Dee Q l66°; she died June 1, 1662; married, second, Sarah Somerby 
W,Yh. Ml’ rhi fCd JunVg» i672; married, third, Sarah Symonds of 

married ta “t WiF Feb* removed * Woodbridge, N.’j3;' 
NewburV 4 4M-arc£rIQ’ 1669; second’ Sarah Bslev oi 
there Nov s r n •i S,h?ndlcd in Woodbridge Jan. 19, 1680-1; he died 
jamin Rolfe Nov. 3, 1659 ^ 1 4 Apphia’ born 111 l6^l married Ben- 

See Quid Newbury, by James J. Currier, page 85. 
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Sharp’s hill be determined by Captain Trask; and that Francis 
Skerie forthwith remove his fence that is near John Luffs to 
the enlargement of the country way one pole into his ground. 

The town voted, Nov. 18, 1657, “that ould goodie Neves,” 
a widow, should have relief from the town. Dec. 14th she was 

allowed five pounds. 
Sept. 14, 1657, the selectmen ordered that Jacob Barney and 

Jeffry Massey view a highway to the mill and meeting house, and 
hear William King and others of his neighbors and Roger Haskell, 
who disagreed as to its course, and report to the selectmen. 

Nov. 20, 1657, the selectmen ordered that the way from the 
meeting house “on Cape Ann Side to Lawrence Leach his mill 
shall be directly in the Country way to Edmund Grovers and 
from thence to the way lying betwixt the said Grover’s land 
and of Osman Traske and so forward through the land of Henery 
He'ricke.” It was also ordered that, “as some of the neighbors 
on Cape an syde” desire a way from the meeting house to the 
mill through the proprieties of Roger Haskell and others, their 
desires were granted, provided they first paid to the owners of 
the land over which it goes full satisfaction, the way not to 
exceed four rods wide, and to be made and maintained by those 
that make use of it. Two men to be chosen by tne selectmen 

were to appoint the way. e 
William Sergeant had lately removed himself and family to 

Salem, “under pretence of some work he had undertaken to do, 
and was not approved of by the selectmen as an inhabitant, Jan. 
11, 1657-8. Henry Herrick promised that they and their children 
should not become chargeable to the town. 

Feb. 8, 1657-8, the selectmen granted to Robert Lemon, m 
consideration of a country way laid out through his five-acre lot 
and a foot path through it, thirty acres of land at Cape Ann 
Side next the sea, near that which was William Balie s lot. 

The town, Feb. 17, 1657-8, ordered that Mrs. Sharpe should 
have ten pounds for her relief for the year ensuing. 

At a town meeting, March 8, 1657-8, it was voted that John 
Gedney should “have the lane that is between his fields in tie 
Neck as one goes down towards Ipswich, paying to the town 
forty shillings, provided there be a foot way through those fields. 
At the same meeting, upon the request of James Patch, about the 
exchange of some land on Cape Ann Side, Mr. Conant and 
Samuel Corning were appointed to view it. It was also ordered 
that these men lay out Ensign Dixie’s land on Cape Ann Side. 

March 22, 1657-8, the selectmen requested John Gardner, 
William Flint and Henry Skerry to join with Lynn men to per¬ 
ambulate their line, beginning at the sea and so to the great pone 
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by the road towards Lynn, and Thomas' Putnam, Joseph Pope and 
John Putnam from the pond to the seven men’s bounds and so on, 
April 15th. Whether or not this perambulation of the Lynn 
bounds occurred is unknown; but apparently the line was un¬ 
certain, and, April 7, 1662, the selectmen appointed Major 
Hathorne, Mr. Curwin, William Flint and John Pickering- to run 
the line from the sea to the long pond, and Thomas Putnam, 
Thomas Flint, Nathaniel Putnam and Flenry Bartholmew from 
the pond to the seven men’s bounds. Still, again, Jan. 18, 1663-4, 
the selectmen appointed Captain Curwin, Lieutenant Putnam’ 
William Flint and Henry Bartholmew to meet with some per¬ 
sons of Lynn “to perfect the bounds between us from the sea to 
the ponds by the way to Lynn.” 

The town, April 26, 1658, voted that the selectmen should 
take care of William Chichester’s family for the present, he being 
out of the country and it was uncertain when he would return 
He had left his wife Mary and several children without means 
to bring them up. They lived in Marblehead in 1645 and 1646, 
and removed from there to Salem. August 18th, the town 
ordered that she should receive half a bushel of Indian corn each 
week for the relief of herself and family for the present. The 
Salem court ordered, July 20, 1658, at the time of her abode in 
Salem, foi the maintenance of Alice Chichester and her child 
Salem should pay three-fourths and Marblehead one-fourth; and, 
on the thirtieth, the selectmen of Salem considered sending her 
away. . August 31st, the selectmen of Salem and Marblehead 
respectively agreed that her son named Jeremiah, now about three 
months old, be apprenticed to Edward Harnet, a tailor, who had 
cared for them. Mr. Harnet soon removed from town. Mrs. 

ichester s father, David Corwithee, apprenticed her son James 
to brancrs Skerry Dec. 1, 1658. James was then about ten years 
okl Skerry agreed to send him to school until he could write a 
legible hand, to give him a ewe lamb to keep, to give him ten 
pounds at the end of his time and two suits of clothes, one 
tor Lord s day and the other for working days. In 1662 her 
husband had been in Virginia about five years and the house, 
valued at thirty pounds, was ordered by the general court to be 
sold by her and the debts be paid from the proceeds of the sale. 
Mrs Chichester was granted by the town, March 30, 1663, a 
sma plot of ground “below Richard Harvey’s house to set a 
eio-hring ]10f- T’ cJ0I?tainin§‘ twenty-five feet in length and 
^ ? cfet ,m breadth’ Provided she build on it within two 
years. She does not appear again. 

pWLC6’ l6s8, the town chose William Dixie and James 
1 atch highway surveyors for Cape Ann Side, and John Neale and 
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William Flint to Strongwater brook, at Thomas James’ and at 
Mr. Gardner’s; Jacob Barney and Thomas Putnam were chosen 
surveyors for the bridges about the governor’s farm. 

Joseph Miles1 was in New England as early as 1653, and 
lived in Salem in June, 1658. He 
was a cooper by trade; and 
lived in what is now the north¬ 
west corner of the Howard 
Street burying ground. This site was a bluff, overlooking the 
widest part of North River. 

Humphrey Coombs2 was in Salem in 1659, being a fisherman. 
He built his house on the 
western corner of Essex - % X 
Street and Hodges court in Of ^ 
1661. Samuel Pitman3 lived 
in Salem as early as 1659. 

In July, 1658, Goodman Gigle had a servant named John 
Garven,4 who beat Richard Middleton, a servant of John Putnam, 
violently with a stick. 

Into the Salem court, July 20, 1658, Salem was summoned 
for the insufficiency of the highway between Lynn and Ipswich 
near the house of Thomas Janies, and for insufficiency of the 
pound. 

The general court appointed Wednesday, Nov. 10, 1658, 
because of “the Lord’s displeasure against us in the sad divisions 
in several churches, the arrogance and boldness of open opposers 
of the truth and ways of the Lord, unseasonable rains, and mor- 

ffoseph Miles married, first, Mary Whelase Jan. 18, 1661-2; she died 
in 1663; married, second, Exercise Felton Nov. 7> 1664; he died in the 
spring of 1693; she died, his widow, in the summer of 1704; children: 1. 
Mary, born April 1, 1666; died young; 2. Susanna, born Oct. 7, 1667; 3. 
Abigail, born July 5, 1669; 4. Mary, born March 27, 1671; 5. Elizabeth, 
baptized Nov. —, 1673; 6. Sarah, baptized May —, 1677; married 
Thomas Elkins Jan. 14, 1701. 

2Humphrey Coombs married Bathsheba Raymond July 29, 1659; and 
lived here in 1705; child: 1. Hannah, born May 26, 1660. . 

3Samuel Pitman1 (Pickman) was a mariner; married Lydia --- 
in or before i659 ; died in the spring of 1691; she was his widow in 1694^; 
children: 1. Sarah2, born Dec. 4, 1659; died May 24, 1660;^2. Sarah, 
born in 1663; married, first,-Mayfield; second, Samuel Phillips; 3. 
Samuell2, born Nov. 21, 1664; 4- Peter2, born Aug. 14, 1667; died Sept. —, 
1668; 5. Peter2, born Feb. 27, 1669-70; died young; 6. Lydia2,, born Jan. 7, 
1672-3; unmarried in 1694; 7. Joshua2, born Aug. 19, 1675; died young. 

Samuel Pitman2; married - -; died in or before 1694J 
children: 1. Elizabeth3, born April 26. 1686; living in 1694; 2. Samuel, 
born Jan. 10, 1687-8; died young; 3. Atwood3( Ashwood), baptized Feb. , 
1688-9. 

“John Garvin was lost at sea Feb. 5> 1661-2. He had a daughter 
born July 26, 1662. See files of the Salem quarterly court. 
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tallity in divers places,’’ that it may be kept “a solemne day of 
humilljation for intreating the Lords favorable presence yet to 
be continued to his poor people and churches in these ends of 
the earth, and to the rising generation after us.” 

Nov- 21 > i658, the selectmen granted to Maj. William 
Hathorn the town’s right in the planters marsh, and'also about 
fifteen 01 twenty acres of land near Fish brook to straighten his 
fence. 

Nov. 27, 1658, the selectmen ordered that the fort)- acres 
granted to each of Philip Veren, Henry Cooke and Tohn Hill be 
laid out in the common land above the house of Thomas James. 
Forest Street, in Peabody, now runs through these lots 
w nch he just westerly of Summit Street. Four acres of meadow 
was also to be laid out to them. Richard Bishop, Elias Mason 
ihomas Robins, Joseph Boyse, John Kitchen and Henry Renalls 
were given the rest of the meadow there, if there is any more 
and also the swamp running up near Nicholas Phelp’s farm. 

In November, 1658, George Gardner had a servant named 
Baldwin House.1 

Dec- 7. 1658, the selectmen granted to John Bachelour and 
1 homas Pickden a swampy brushy meadow in the great swamp 
near YYenham, measuring eight acres; and to Anthony Buxton, 
Nathaniel Felton, Thomas Watson and Henry Skerrv four acres 
of meadow each next to that granted to Richard 'Bishop and 
company, which lies on both sides of Norris brook where it 
flows into Ipswich River, at the angle in the latter stream, near 
Bald Hill. Twelve acres of the thirty granted to widow Felton 
two spots of land near the great swamp, was ordered to be laid 
out adjoining Nathaniel Putnam’s; and the remainder was given 

James'IStOI) ler ^ a er 111 tlle dlvii:,enci above the farm of Thomas 

Isaac Burnap- was living in Salem at this time. At this 
meeting of the selectmen, John Mason8 was allowed to be an 
inhabitant. He became a brickmaker, and, in 1662, built the 
ancient house which formerly stood on the western corner of 

sex and Summer streets. He conveyed it to Stephen Sewall, 
e merchant Jan. 31, 1686-7, and four days later Mr. Sewall 

conveyed it to Isaac Stearns, a glazier. Mr. Stearns died in 1692, 

II, jiagFi26. and FileS °f the Ql,arterly Cour‘s of Essex County, volume 

End^Grea^AmweirpJfu °f R,°b^‘ ant,1 Annis BurnaP °f Hoddesden swap* 
irmrrLrl Hannah " lS h™ akout j^25, brickmaker on Summer Street: 
married nannah -; lived in Salem as late as 1686. 
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and his son-in-law, John Chapman, a tailor, lived there from 
1706 until his decease, in 1744. The house then became divided, 
Mr. Chapman’s daughter, Hannah Gillingham, receiving the 
northern half, and his widow Elizabeth the southern half. 
Eventually, the title passed into the hands of strangers, and, in 
1850, widow Eliza W. Fiske, who then lived in Chelmsford, con¬ 
veyed the whole of the premises to John Kinsman of Salem, who 

HOUSE OF JOHN MASON 

took the old house down, building in its place the present brick 
house. The engraving of the ancient house given above is a 
copy of a pencil drawing made by Edward C. Cabot in 1841. 

John Croade,1 who 
had been known as John 
Hewson (or, Hughson), 
was in Salem as early as 
1658. Alister Mackmal- 
lion,2 who was born in 
Scotland about 1632, 
came to Salem about 

Tohn Croade2; merchant; married Elizabeth Price March 17, 1:658 9, 
died in the late autumn of 1670; she survived him; children: 1. Elizabeth, 
born Oct. 21, 1661; living in 1674; 2. John2, born June 14, l663; 3- Mannah , 
born July 14, 1665; living in 1674; 4- Jonathan", born Jan. 17, 1007-5. 

John Croade2; merchant, joiner and innholder; married Deborah 
Thomas Dec. 1, 1692; children: 1. Elizabeth0, born Aug. 21, 1693, 2 Join , 
born Aug. 20, 1695; 3. Thomas", born April 18, 1697; 4. Ruth , born May , 
1699; 5. Mary3, born March 18, 1700-1. ... . . 

2Allister Mackmallion3. (Mackmallen, Mackmallon and Mackmillen) , 
married Elizabeth -— before 1658; died in the autumn of 1 79» s ie 
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1658, and lived at 49 St. Peter Street. John Lambert1 came to 

married, secondly, John Baxter Sept. 1, 1679; she was living in 1694; chil¬ 
dren: (1 -married Mathew Dove before 1669?); 2. John2- 3 
Alexander. ’ 

_ John Mackmallion2; carpenter; married Mary Gilson Dec 11 1684- 
living in 1694; children : 1. John3, born Sept. 5, 1685; 2. Joseph2, born Sept’. 
-4> 1087, married Elizabeth Taylor of Boston, (published June 30, 1711). 
Alexander Mackmillion2; chairmaker and turner; married Rebecca 
— -; he was living in 1720; she was living in 1734; children: 1. 
Elizabeth, born March 16, 1702; married —- Harbutt; 2. John3, born 
March 9, 1704; died July —-, 1705; 3. Abigail", born Dec. 25, 1706; married 

Russell; 4. Jonathan , born Aug. 23, 1708; 5. Kezia 3, born March 9. 
1710; married - Clough; 6. Hannah3, born July n, 1713; unmarried, 
of Boston, in 1734. 

John Mackmillion3; house carpenter; married Sarah 
1I71TQ 1M T -__ _ I* O _ 1 * - . 

. ^in » ^pcmcr; marriea sarati-; she was 
his wife in 1736; he was of Salem in 1743; child: 1. Timothy4; of Salem 
house carpenter in 1770; died in 1778. Jonathan Mackmillion3; chair- 

™k„erb marned AaChel Fr°cter July 2°’ iy32; died before December, 
1739, she survived him; child: 1. Eunice4, baptized Sept. 16, 1733; married 
John Peirce of New Salem before 1784. ’ ° ’ 

TAQ,1-JLHN4'L^AwEI^Tl;,his wife never came t0 America and was living in 
1684; he died late in the autumn of 1685; child: 1. John2, born in 1629. 
r 1-uHN4- j^bekt ; fisherman, mariner and shoreman; married Preserved 
Gaskill; died in the winter of 1710-1; left a widow; children; 1. Daniel3 

F°rL-?Cti 3’ l6/8’’t2’ SaEah> born Feb- 7, 1660-1; living in 1684; 3! 
Ezeuel born March 3, 1661; 4. Samuel"; died July 7, 1662- 3 Samuel3 
born March 16 1664-5; 6. Mary3, born April 26. 1667; living in 684’ 

T6?Tiarr/ n7- JonatlVan > born Dec. 23, 1669; 8. Hannah3, born Dec. 
lb7r. died Dec. , 1671; 9. Ebenezer3, born April 2, 1674 

T,n VAaMRERT ; shipwright; married, first, Mary Gray June 3 

0f8EdmlJeRrTg' 29i-T-,; n,larried- second’ Elizabeth (Croade), widow 
I7IT dX , rfPldg,eSbdle* the„w'nter of 1694-5; she survived him in 
t-tt’ -■ Fi; 1' ,1V !ar-v : ‘Orn Eeb. 20, 1683; of Boston, unmarried, in 

•’ if' , 'rabeth , born April 9 1684; of Boston, unmarried in 1711- 3 
Dame, born Dec. 7, 1.686; 4. W, born Feb. 3, ,688; 5! Preserved4' 

7 RadieP bnmth1: td,e6 SeV-24, -i69i; 6- J°sePh\ born April 12, 1692;’ 
shoreman and L,b i694;. living m 1710. Samuel Lambert5; mariner, 
snAnn f weaver; married Margaret Browne before i6qo; died in the 
spring of 1.732; she survived him; children: 1. Margaret4 born Tan i7 

&aTaMTdonJOJUSaTy,T*: C E™ APrd » ^ maJriVd 
1720 a Hannah*3'Lo M ’ born J?nb T- l693-4'; mariner, of Salem, in 
T.mathaV i1,T ’ b " N2v't17’ i.696; married Benjamin Manning; 5. 
Lydia Roiies before"t^83’f Joseph born a."A T’ '702; tailor; married 
- Kopes before 1738 Ebenezer Lambert5; shipwright; married Mary 
■u'rJle? ln h W1,nter °f 1-27-8; she survived him; children- 1 
Mai!* h ’ J01,’ XIu,y 26’ 1696 i 2- Ebenezer4, baptized Aug 24 17oi - i 
Funke4 WnAnHl"!' ™ Af b 4' • baP‘iz«' March 26, 1702-3’; 5. 

baptized June aPmi -T^eetl? ^anF1"! Ju'y 3’ 1709; 7' 
tized Tune o in?- ia R 1 .baptized Sept. 6, 1713; 9. Ebenezer4, bap- 

baptized 6ct9,25,7 i7’i9 ’ bapt'Zed June 9> 17I7 = "• leho’aden4, 

MargaretTorn^^Orae)'’May 6htT7o8f J:w|.,ort-. R- r-- in 1734; married 

u mZ I-,,if? wsetsaw 
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Salem as early as 1660, and lived on the site of the city hall, in 

Beverly. He was a fisherman . 

FORT ON WINTER ISLAND 

A fortification was made on Winter Island as early as 1643 ; 
and at least two small cannon were there, as Capt. Thomas 
Breadcake was permitted by the general court in 1664 to take 
two small guns from “Winter Island by Salem” for his cruise 

against Turkish pirates. 
In 1652, the town of Salem voted to build a “form ’ on the 

southeast point of Winter Island, toward which the general court 
gave one hundred pounds; and the town voted, May 27, 1654, 
to pay one hundred pounds out of the country rate or “the re¬ 

mainder towards our fortification." 
May 17, 1655, the town “Ordered that the fort upon Winter 

Island shall be finished with all speed: Mr. Corwine, Leift. 
Lawthrop, Edmond Batter are appointed to order the work about 
the fort together with those formerly appointed.” It was also 
“Ordered that the island where the fort is, is appropriated for the 
vse and maintaining of the fort. ’ It was also ordered that those 
men appointed for the ordering of the fort have power to warn 
men to work about the fort to the finishing of it, according to 

the proportion of each man’s rate.’ 
May 29, 1655, the general court granted to John Endecott, 

Esq., Catta Island, of about two acres, near Marblehead. The 
name became abbreviated to Cat Island, and for many years has 
been known as Lowell Island because a number of families from 

Lowell spent their summers there. 
March 13, 1655-6, Mr. Browne and Mr. Corwine were 

ordered by the selectmen to “take care to see the great guns 
speedyly mounted,” and April 23, 1657? 6ie selectmen appointed 
Mr. Price to “see the work about the great guns to be speedily 

done as also to get them mounted.” 
May 7, 1656, the selectmen ordered that Jeffery Masey and 

Edmond Batter should speedily remove the planks of the town 
that are now on the North neck to the fort upon Winter Island. 

June 18, 1666, the town voted that the work to be done at 
the fort, under the order of the general court, be carried on by a 
day’s work of every man in the town above the age of sixteen 

13, 1712; married William Steward. Joseph Lambert ; shoreman; mar- 
ried Mary Williams Feb. 2, 1726-7; died in 1764; she survived him, and 
died in the spring of 1796; children: 1. Joseph5; 2. Margaret, born in 
1729; married William White May 22, 1754; 3- Mary , born Feb. 2, 1/32-3. 
married Andrew Preston Feb. 4, 1753; 4- Sarah5; married — —- L rider- 
wood; 5. Priscilla5, born in 1739; married Daniel Ropes; 6. Elizabeth , 

married Henry Phillips May 28, 1771. 
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years, and so round the town, from day to day until the work 
should be finished, notice of each man’s turn to be given to them 
by Capt. George Corwin, who was also to decide how many should 
be employed each day. 

His Majesty first required fortifications in this country, the 
general court impowered Captain Corwin about it with the advice 
of Major-general Leverett, who likewise ordered it, and Captain 
C 01 w m acquainted the town with it. T he town voted that it should 
be done and the manner of it. 

About July 27, 1667, Captain Corwin hired a team or two 
of oxen and John Pickering, Edward Flint, Nathaniel Pitman 
and Samuel Pitman for the work. The guns were in Town- 
House Square, near the house of Mr. Batter. As the oxen began 
to move one of the guns, the axle-tree canted out of the notches 
of the cai riage, not being fastened, and the oxen were stopped 
for fear of drawing the gun off the wheels. The men told Corwin 
t lat the guns were not fit to be carried as they were, but they 
could take them out of the carriages and draw them with a chain. 
He said, No, that would make double labor,” and that he would 
\\ait until the day after the next day, because he had heard that 
the way over the gut was worn so narrow that they could not go 
over, and it should be mended on the morrow. While the attempt 
to carry the guns was in progress, Batter appeared and twitched 
Corwin by the arm, saying that he would never pay a pennv for 
the charge if the guns were removed without the selectmen’s con¬ 
sent, and Latter told the men that it would not be safe to transport 
the guns without the consent of the selectmen. 

Captain Corwin entered a complaint in the local court against 
Batter for hindering the work by telling the workmen not to move 
the guns without the consent of the selectmen. Batter answered 
7. y- ln<> *la^ selectmen had had possession of the guns for 
urty-two years and that about eighteen years before, the general 

court endeavored to take them away, but the efforts of the" Salem 
deputies succeeded m keeping them in Salem, claiming that they 
should shortly be fitted for the defence of the country. Corwin 
u plied that the guns did not belong to the town, and the relation 
of the selectmen to them was this, that the latter were to furnish 
the supplies for them and make repairs, while the guns were 
really in the custody of the committee of militia in the town ; also! 

I-m CgCgr'y C'mbert”; mariner and merchant; married Mary Foot 

Joseph’c (married ‘Abi|aiT°f) -'TarilieAn ’:d-h,ildren : . ’j 

married Thomas Welcome 1 unmarned >" '794; 6. Elizabeth”; 
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that Major Hathorne had often told him the guns belonged to 

the country. 
Major-general Leverett received no accusation against Bat- 

ter —only a letter, stating how things were seditiously transacted 
in the town, and that apparently a conspiracy existed to hinder 
the defence of the town when news was brought of the great loss 
of the English in Virginia. The major-general had charge of 
the fort and the ordering of all the great guns in the colony, and 
he commanded Captain Corwin to move the guns. July 26th follow¬ 
ing, the selectmen ordered that Captain Corwin should have the 
great guns carried down to the fort with as convenient speed as 
he could, and that the town would defray the cost, and also the 
expense of carriages for them. Edmond Batter and Nathaniel 
Putnam, two of the six selectmen, dissented from the order. 

Captain Corwin concluded his reply to the answer of Mr. 
Batter, as follows: “and yet this [is] not sufficient to satisfy one 
man: now likewise it appears, who [hath] hindered all things 
for the good of the town, wherein himself is not in the first place; 
in a word, he it is, who is the occasion of all the troubles and 
divisions which have been in the town of Salem, and yet would 
seem to be the only grieved person.” He “would lay the blame 
of these precedential cases (as he terms them) upon military 
officers being over-impowered whereas the true cause is in him¬ 
self; for had he been chosen captain, when Captain Price was 
elected, all had been well, and the committee of militia in all 
things ’acted to his satisfaction: but he being well known unto 
this honored Court, It is to be hoped, that your honors will take 
his case into consideration, and something humor his ambition, 
for if he were made captain of some remote village in this country, 
he would (Csesarlike) count himself happier therein, than to be 

the second man in Salem.” 
The court advised them to forget their differences and to 

study peace, unity, love and concord. 
At a joint meeting of the committee of militia and the select¬ 

men, Aug. 4, 1673, as they had received an order from the major- 
general and the major of the regiment to speedily repair the fort, 
mend the platform and fit up the great artillery and make such 
provision as the juncture of time required “do conclude all of us, 
to take our turns, two of us at a time upon each day to oversee 
the work and to employ workmen to carry on the work as the 
case requires and do desire Mr. Bartlemew to be assistant with 

us in his turn in carrying on of this work.” 
On the twenty-fourth of the next month, the selectmen 

appointed Mr. Batter, Lieutenant Gardner, Mr. Rucke, John 
Hawthorne and John Turner to “finish the highway at Morde- 
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cay’s cut that it may be a sufficient way for cart and horse to 
go to the fort." This work was done by Francis Collins. 

Robert Hibbard did carpentry work at the fort, John Hig- 
ginson laid the platform, which was plank furnished by John 
Norman, spiked down, Manasseh Marston and Daniel RumbalJ 
did iron work about the fort, Francis Collins, John Marston, 
John Massey, Francis Skerry and Nathaniel Prece performed 
labor there, Jonathan Walcot and Thomas Flint made wheels for 
the guns, and work was also done on the wheels by John Ormes, 
William Curtis (iron work), Richard Hide and John Beckett. 
Anthony Needham did carting. 

ISLANDS 

Baker’s Island was known under that name as early as 1630; 
I inker s Island was so called in 16591 and the Misery islands 
were collectively called, in 1658, Moulton’s Misery, and, later, 
The Misery or The Miserys. 

The Miserys were originally connected by a sand bar, and 
the bar was exposed at half-tide, even as late as 1800. This sub¬ 
sidence is still continuing, according to scientists. 

In 1659, John Ingersoll, Thomas Sallowes and Paul Mans¬ 
field signed a petition to the general court, in which they stated 
that they had “for our furtherance in our trade of fishing settled 
a stage upon an island (bordering upon the sayd towne) called 
Morton s-Miserv, and had been at charges amounting to thirty 
or forty pounds ; and they prayed that the islands might be granted 
to them. The petition1 was denied ; but, in 1663, the petitioners 
had a stage and house there. 

Upon the request of the town of Salem, in 1660, as “the 
Miserys and Baker s Island are fit for the employment of fishing, 
which is a great part of the business of the petitioners, that the 
general court would grant these islands to the town, the court 
allowed the petition, providing that it should be lawful for any 
fisherman to make use of them for curing of fish, and whatever 
conduces to it, or building houses, stages, etc., as, also, wood and 
flaking in fishing seasons. 

John Lambert and others requested of the town of Salem the 
grant of some land on Moulton’s Misery Island to plant, March 
2, 1662-3, but were refused.2 
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Dec. 27, 1673, the selectmen appointed a committee to care 
for the preservation of wood and timber upon these islands and 
to bring away any of it that had been cut by men of Marblehead. 

Feb. 19, 1677-8, the selectmen leased the Great and Little 
Misery islands to Capt. George Corwin for a thousand years and 
a day, for three pounds a year. Upon Great Misery Island, he 
built a summer residence, which, according to valuations, must 

have been costly. 
It has been already mentioned that Bakers island was 

granted by the general court to the town of Salem in 1660. 
In 1670, some persons of Marblehead or others had en¬ 

croached on “our commons,” in cutting wood and timber on this 
island, and the selectmen investigated. Trees were allowed to 
be cut upon the island for house construction in the town. Dec. 
27, 1673, the selectmen appointed a committee to care for the 
preservation of the wood and timber on the island and to bring 
away any wood found there which had been cut by men of Marble¬ 
head. The next spring, permission was given to Francis Skerry 

to fell thirty trees there for bark. 
Feb. 19, 1677-8, the selectmen leased the island to John 

Turner for three pounds a year, probably for a thousand years 
and a day. Mr. Turner built a summer house on the island; and, 
in 1680, when he died, the house was completed and furnished. 

the son of the sagamore of Agawam, a known man in ye country; he sold 
the town of Ipswich, all or the most part of it; all the old plantei s knew 
him that had ought to do with the Indians in those days. George can in¬ 
form concerning him, he that hath lost his nose.” 



CHAPTER XV. 

QUAKER PERSECUTION 

HE disturbed condition of society and government in 
England during the Revolution and the Common- 
weath was the occasion of freedom in matters of re¬ 
ligion and fanaticism. Among the most prominent of 
the new orders that had their origin at that time were 

the Fifth Monarchy and Ranters or Quakers. 

The latter sect first came to general notice when, in 1648, 
George Fox, son of a weaver in Drayton, Leicestershire, England! 
began to promote it by preaching. Having no creed, no system of 
ministry, nor practice and government like other churches, their 
services were conducted as the individual members recognized the 
impulse or suggestions of the spirit to speak, read or pray in the 
occasional meetings. If no such suggestions were received, the 
time was passed in silence. The freedom was so great that it was 
impossible to know what they generally believed. All other re¬ 
ligion s of the time and region included outward observances and 
formulated creeds. 

Fox s preaching was primarily of the necessity of repentance, 
and his insistence upon universality and sufficiency of the light and 
power of the Spirit. There were so many new movements with 
zealous followers, that strife between them was frequent, and 
soon the acerbity of the language used by the sects against each 
other surpassed anything of the kind in normal times. 

The churches of England, especially those of nonconformity, 
and also the army of Cromwell were affected by the mutability of 
religious belief, and because of this condition in the mother 
country the general court, May 14, 1656, appointed June nth to 
be kept as a public day of humiliation, “to seek the face of God 
in behalf of our native country, in reference to the abounding of 
errors, especially those of the Ranters and Quakers, that* the 
I rotector may be preserved from the machinations of evil minded 

242 
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persons, that the Lord’s presence and blessing may be on the 
naval and land forces of our native country at home and abroad, 
that the Lord would go out with the Protestant armies against 
Anti-Christ and his adherents, the settling of unity and peace 
amongst the churches here, that the ordinances of Christ may be¬ 
come more effectual to all, especially to children and servants, the 
rising generation.” 

While this fast was being held, a vessel with two women 
missionaries of the Quaker faith on board was nearing the shores 
of New England. These women landed in Boston about the first 
of July, and were put into the prison immediately and their books 
burned officially in the market place, although there was no law 
that supported such an action, except the general law against 
heresy. After remaining in the prison five weeks they were sent 

away. 
August 7th, another Quaker-bearing vessel came into Boston 

Harbor. There were among its passengers eight of the obnoxious 
sect. Three of them were Christopher Holder, William Brend 
and John Copeland. Mr. Brend was nearly seventy, but Holder 
and Copeland were young and unmarried. The officials took and 
burned the hundred books they had brought with them, even the 
Bible. The men were put into the prison, where they were kept 
about eleven weeks, although no law had been passed against them 
or their books. When the men were released, they apparently 
worked their way southward towards Rhode Island. 

The next session of the general court was held October 14th, 
and the following law was immediately enacted directed against 

this new sect:— 

Whereas there is a cursed sect of haereticks lately risen up in the 

world, wch are commonly called Quakers, who take uppon them to be 

imediatelv sent of God, and infallibly asisted by the spirit to speake 
and write blasphemouth opinions, despising government and the order 
of God in church and comonwealth, speaking evill of dignities, re¬ 

proaching and reviling magistrates and ministers, seeking to turne the 

people from the faith, and gaine proselites to their pernicious ways, this 

Court, taking into serious consideration the premises, and to prevent 

the like mischiefe as by theire meanes is wrought in oui native land, 

doth heereby order . . that what master . . of anL 
vessell that shall henceforth bring into . . this jurisdiction any 

knowne Quaker . . shall pay . . one hundred pounds to the 

countrie, except it appeare that he wanted true knowledg or informa¬ 
tion of theire being such; and . . that what Quaker soever sha 
arive . . shall be forthwith comitted to the house of correction, 

and at theire entrance to be severely whipt; and by the master thereo 

to be kept constantly at worke, and none suffered to converse 01 speav 

wth them. 
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This law also provided for the burning- of Quaker books and 
writings concerning their “devilish opinions/’ prohibiting support 
of their opinions or their writings to the extent of banishment. 

In preparation for the coming of Quaker missionaries to 
Salem, the selectmen ordered, June 8, 1657, that if any inhabitant 
should “take in or receive” any foreigner without the approval of 
the selectmen he should pay twenty shillings every week during 
the continuance of such entertainment. This order was confirmed 
by the town twelve days later. 

Holder and Copeland went to Salem, where, in spite of this 
order, they were hospitably entertained by Lawrence Southwick, 
who lived in the ancient house which formerly stood on the north 
side of Main Street, opposite Washington Street, in Peabody. Mr. 
Southwick probably bought three acres of land of Edward Lum- 
mus of Ipswich, a weaver, and built this house, but received no 
legal transfer of the title until March 22, 1658-91, when the grantee 
was in prison in Boston. Mr. Southwick devised this house and 
land to his son Daniel, who conveyed it to his son Lawrence, both 
of whom were husbandmen, and lived here. Lawrence Southwick 
died in I/I7- It then went to his son Daniel, who conveyed it to 
his brother Joseph in 1742.2 Joseph died in 1791, having devised 
the house and lot to his son Edward. Edward died in 1836; and 
it then went to his son Philip R. Southwick, a tanner. Mr. South¬ 
wick removed to Boston, and sold the estate to David Pingree in 

. Bhe ti ustees under a deed of trust of ME. Pingree con- 
\ e^ ed it to Isaac B. and Lewis W. Elliot in 18564, and they con¬ 
veyed it to Calvin Pierce. Mr. Pierce took the old house down in 
1862, and used the materials of the old house in a new house which 
is numbered 41 Webster Street, in Peabody. The picture of this 
house on the opposite leaf is a copy of a miniature India ink 
drawing, less than two inches square, made by Nathaniel Votin of 
England about 1810. 

^or entertaining these Friends (as they called themselves), 
Mi. and Mrs. Southwick, “an aged and grave couple,” and mem- 
xis o the church, were taken and committed to the prison in 
Boston, there being at that time no jail in Salem. Mr. Southwick 
was soon released to be dealt with by the church, but Mrs. South¬ 
wick lemained seven weeks, and was allowed to return home upon 
paying a fine of forty shillings. 

Holder and Copeland attended the regular services in the 
meeting house Sept. 20th, and at their close Holder attempted to 

'Essex Registry of Deeds, book 1, leaf 56. 
'Essex Registry of Deeds, book 88, leaf 235 
"Essex Registry of Deeds, book 390. leaf 143. 
Essex Registry of Deeds, book 533, leaf 76 
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speak. He had spoken only a few words, when Edmond Batter, a 
member of the church,-and a commissioner of the court, grabbed 
him by his long hair and pulled him backward, and furiously thrust 
a glove and a handkerchief into his mouth to gag him. Another 
member of the church, Samuel Shattock, fearing that Holder 
would be choked to death, rose and pulled away the hand that 
was trying to stifle him. The two strangers were thrust out, and 
taken to a house, where they were kept until the next day. Then 
they were conducted to Boston, where they immediately received 
thirty stripes a piece, with a knotted whip of three cords, so 
cruelly that a woman who saw it fainted and fell. The journey 
from Salem to Boston was undoubtedly made on foot over rough 
paths and through the forests for twenty miles without refresh¬ 
ments. It can be imagined, though slightly, what their bodily 
condition must have been after enduring the tramp, hunger and 
the terrible whipping. That night, without food, they were put 
into a small room, without bed or straw, only the bare boards to 
lay their torn backs on. For three days, they had neither food 
nor water. No one was allowed to see or speak to them. Their 
imprisonment continued for nine weeks, without exercise, fire or 
bedding, through the chilly months of October and November. 

Soon after his arrival in America, young Copeland wrote, in 
a letter to his parents, “Take no thought for me. The Lord’s 
power hath overshadowed me, and man I do not fear; for my 
trust is in the Lord who is become our shield and buckler, and 

exceeding great reward.” 
After their release, Holder and Copeland probably went to 

Rhode Island, and while passing through Plymouth were subject¬ 
ed to a severe scourging. It was a common saying at that time, as 
the Pilgrims copied the Puritans, that it was “a Pilgrim saddle 

on a Bay horse.” 
On the first of August, 1658, they felt moved to go again 

to Boston. They reached Dedham on the third of the month, and 
lodged there that night. The next morning, they were arrested 
and taken to Boston. There they were put into the prison, which 
was a close room; and remained there, without food, for eight 
days. The jailor’s wife, fearful for their fate,. brought them some 
milk, and from that time friends were permitted to put food in 

through the window. 
In this little room, without good air, and with little food, 

they remained more than a month. The reader can imagine the 
nature of the sanitary conditions of such a place, and it was 
probably neither different nor better that the dungeons of Eutope. 

September yth, an order was made to cut off their light eais, 
which was done on the tenth. Holder was the first to suffer, and 
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as the cutting was begun the marshall, who had been ordered to 
see it done, turned away from the brutal sight. Another Quaker 
prisoner, who was there with Holder and Copeland, and who was 
also to be subjected similarly, said to the marshall, “Nay, turn 
about and see it done." 

Holder was sent to England, but he returned to the Bay 
Colony, and the general court banished him on pain of death be¬ 
fore the third day after the next ship sails for England/’ 

Samuel Shattock, who could not but resent the barbarous 
treatment of the strangers in the meeting house, was compelled to 
follow the strangers to Boston and to prison, although he was a 
man of good repute in the town. How long he remained in the 
jail in Boston is unknown. It was for a few days or weeks, ap¬ 
parently, and when he was permitted to return to his home he had 
no desire to attend meetings of the church. November 25th, he 
was presented for absence from church services. Both Mr. Shat¬ 
tock and the Southwicks were fined in the winter and spring for 
such absences. Others of the church had no heart to worship in 
its religious meetings, and withdrew their presence from them. 
The} met by themselves on the first day of the week, quietly and 
peaceably, in one another's houses. 

Edward Harnett, who was sixty-nine years of age and his wife 
seventy-three, constituted another of these families, who suffered 
heavy-fines, with little or nothing to satisfy them. They lived 
in Peabody, near the site of the city hall. They sold their house, 
barn and land Feb. 20, 1657-8, and disappeared. 

Oct. 17, 1657, the general court amended the law against 
Quakers by providing that in case of a repeated offence, every 
male Quaker should have one of his ears cut off, etc., and for a 
subsequent offence should have the other taken off’and every 
female Quaker, for each subsequent offence should be severely 
whipped, and upon the next offence have her tongue bored with 
a hot iron, etc. 

Hunted as beings more terrible than wild beasts, the Friends 
felt that they could not endure the thought of constant fear of ar¬ 
rest and imprisonment and loss of their property taken for the 
payment of fines for not attending the religious "services of the 
church, and turned their attention to the liberty of Rhode Island, 
and three of the inhabitants of Salem started together for the 
territory of Roger Williams. These were John "Small, fosiah 
Southwick and John Burton. The first day they traveled as "far as 
Dedham, a distance of thirty miles. As they were entering the 
ordinary there to lodge, “the chief men of that place” examined 
them about religion, and the next morning the constable appeared 
with assistance and arrested them. With a halberd and brazen- 
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headed staff, they were convoyed along the thoroughfares to 
Boston, like important criminals. Upon the payment of a fine 
for the benefit of the constable and his men, these Quakers were 
allowed to return to Dedham and continue their journey. 

Lawrence Southwick, Josiah Southwick and Edward Harnett 
were fined, March 8, 1657-8, for absence from meeting; and 
Lawrence Southwick, Josiah Southwick, Cassandra Southwick, 
wife of Lawrence, and Samuel Shattock were fined May 10, 1658, 
for similar offences. June 29th, Anthony Needham’s wife, John 
Southwick’s wife and John Small were fined for such 

misdemeanors. 
Edmond Batter was a great man in his own estimation, and 

when Governor Endecott removed to Boston, he aspired to the 
governor’s seat as magistrate of the Salem court, but William 
Hathorne was appointed. Batter was chosen treasurer. This in¬ 
creased his conceit, and he pursued the Quakers with avidity, in 
association with Samuel Archer, his brother, Benjamin Felton and 
Henry Skerry, church members, and Thomas Roots, constable. 

William Brend1, who came on the vessel with Holder and 
Copeland, was a man of three-score and ten. He began his mis¬ 
sionary labors in Rhode Island, and worked his way toward Bos¬ 
ton, preaching as he went. While in Plymouth, he was severely 
scourged, but his age excited no compassion in the lieai ts of his 

persecutors. 
While he was on his way north, a new law was passed by the 

general court, May 19, 1658, providing that “Quakers and such 
accursed heretics arising among ourselves may be dealt with ac¬ 
cording' to their deserts, and that their pestilential erroi s and prac¬ 
tices may speedily be prevented, and that every such person 
professing any of their pernicious ways by speaking or writing, 01 
by meeting* on the Lord’s day or any other time to strengthen 
themselves or seduce others to their diabolical docti ines, should 
be fined, every person so meeting ten shillings, every one speak¬ 
ing in such meeting* five pounds, and any such person who has 
been punished by scourging* or whipping under former laws to be 
kept at work in the house of cenection till they give bond with 
sureties “that they will not any more vent their hateful errors or 
use their sinful practices,” or else should depart out of the juiis- 

diction and never return. 
Regardless of the law, Brend continued on lus way to Salem, 

where he held meetings with William Ledra2, who is said to have 
been a Cornishman, though his home was in Barbadoes, and who 
also had come to New England as a Quaker preachei. 

1His name is also given as Brand on the Salem court recoids. 
2His name is spelled Lederay and Lutherway on the Salem court records. 
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They were welcomed by several families in Salem, who sym¬ 
pathised with the new faith, Lawrence Southwick’s and Nicholas 
1 helps being the most prominent among them. Meetings were 
held at the same time as the church services, at which the 
stranger s preached of repentance and forgiveness of sins 
through Christ, and of the joy of the spiritual life. 

On Sunday, June 27th, a meeting Was held at the house of 
Nicholas Phelps, in “the woods,” as that western portion of the 
territoiy of Salem was then called. This house stood on the 
northerly side of Lowell Street, just westerly of the Phelps Mills 
railroad station, in West Peabody. This was about five miles 
from the meeting house in Salem, and the privilege of attendino- 
rehgious services in one’s own neighborhood was welcomed This 
meeting was attended by the missionaries. The Phelps house was 
built upon the Norris grant by Eleanor, widow of Thomas Trusler 
about 1654. She died the next spring, having devised this estate 
to her sons Llenry and Nicholas Phelps (children by her former 
nisband) The half interest of Nicholas was taken for the pay¬ 
ment of fines for being a Quaker and not attending church, and 
ienry bought it in. In 1664, he conveyed the estate to Joseph 

1 ope Many years later, the place returned into the Phelps family 
and then remained in it until Francis Phelps took the ancient 
house down in 1856. The illustration is a copy of a pen and ink 
sketch oi about that date from an oil painting of the old home- 
stead made about a century ago, and now in the possession of Mrs. 
Maria Hood of Danvers. 

Governor Endecott had removed to Boston and Major 
Jrlathorne was the principal person in authority in Salem, and 
Edmond 1,after, a commissioner,, was his executive, assisted by 
James Underwood, the town constable. To this meeting came 
Mr Batter (whom George Bishop, in New England Judged, called 

a bloody man and “a cruel wicked man”) and the constable, and 
lequired the people to assist the constable in arresting the offend- 
mg but inoffensive Quakers. This the company refused to do 
probably because there was neither occasion nor need of interfer¬ 
ence. After using some violence to the strangers, the commission¬ 
er and the constable went their way. The next week, Batter gave 
then names to the court, who caused them to be arrested and 
vept m a neighbor s house two days until the latter part of the 
session of the court which was then convened. 

The aged Trend and the younger Ledra and the score of men 
and women, who had been arrested with them filled the court 
chamber m the tavern of John Gedney on Essex Street, June 20th. 
Many or the men stood with their hats on until the officers pulled 
them off. The magistrates were Simon Bradstreet, Gen. Daniel 
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Denison and William Hubbard, all of Ipswich, and Maj. William 

Hathorne of Salem. 
The court sought to prove that the prisoners were Quakers, 

but had no evidence. In confession only was that to be obtained. 
During the examination, the strangers were asked, “Why and 
[for] what they came into these parts?” and one of them answer¬ 
ed, “To seek a godly seed; the Lord God said, Pass away to New 
England.”1 One of the prisoners demanded, “How they might 
know a Quaker?” Bradstreet answered, “Thou art one, for 
coming with thy hat on.” The questioner then said, “It is a 
horrible thing to make such cruel laws, to whip, and cut off ears, 
and burn through the tongue, for not putting off the hat.” They 
were then charged with blasphemy, and told that they held forth 
blasphemies at their meetings. One of the missionaries desired 
the court to make any such thing appear, if it were so; and told 
them that they might be convinced, they would do well to attend 
their meetings, that they might hear, and give account of what 
was done and spoken, and not conclude of a thing they knew not." 
Denison said, “If ye meet together, and say anything, we may con¬ 
clude that ye speak blasphemy.” They endeavored to appeal to 
English law and English courts, without avail. 

The prisoners acknowledged that they were Quakers, and 
were taken, probably on foot, with Lawrence Southwick and his 
wife Cassandra Southwick, Josiah Southwick, Samuel Shattuck, 
Samuel Gaskin and Joshua Buff urn, who had also made a good 
confession, eight in all, to the house of correction in Boston, the 
next morning. The warrant is dated July i, 1658; and they were 
received in Boston at six o’clock in the evening of the next day. 

The original warrant for the commitment of William Ledra 
to Boston is in existence2. It reads as follows:— 

To the Constable of Salem or his Deputy: 
You are hereby Required to take the body of William Ledra, & to 

convey him fafely to Boston, there to Appeare before ye Deputy 
Gouernor to be further proceeded withall according to Law, Laft: 

2 mo. 
Wm. Hathorne. 

Brend and Ledra were shut up in a room, provided for the 
purpose, the jailer having* stopped and darkened the windows and 
all other means of conveyance of food and provisions foi fresh 
air, though it was the hot season. He laid before them some 
porridge and a piece of bread which they did not eat. No one 
was permitted to communicate with them. Without any food, 

"“why & w" they came into these pts—to seek a godly seed the lord god 
sd pase away to New England.”—Salem Quarterly Court Records. 

Massachusetts Archives, volume 10, leaf 265. 
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Iirend and Ledra remained there from Friday to Wednesday 

'v ,?n ea°h ot Aem was whipped ten stripes with a “knotted-three- 
fold-corded-whip,” for being Quakers. The next morning, the 
jailer put Brend in irons,-neck and heels, locked so close together, 
that there was no space between them,—only for the horse-lock 
tiat fastened them. Thus he was fastened for sixteen hours be¬ 
cause he did not work for the jailer. In the meantime, he had no 
meat, and his back was torn with the whipping of the previous 
day. 1 he jailer then gave him twenty blows with a pitched rope 
and subsequently ninety-seven blows. His flesh was beaten black 
and into a jelly, and under his arms the bruised flesh and blood 
hung down, clotted as it were in bags. Ledra was also whipped. 

ie\ were then locked into a close room, and the jailer went 
away. Lying upon the boards, Brend soon fainted. A crv was 
mat e and the doors were thrown open and means used to save 
h.s life. Governor Endecott was alarmed and sent his son and a 
chirurgeon to do what they could. The latter thought that the 
flesh could not heal, but would rot off. When the public saw and 
knew what had been done they posted papers at the meeting house 
and in the street demanding punishment of the jailer. The wounds 

tnheat alK ln!^ad 0t the Jailer.being punished, he was ordered 
beat each of the missionaries fifteen lashes with the three-fold- 

corded-whip, and Trend's sores were reopened. The floggings 
in the prison had been repeatedly so cruel, that, at the terrible 
scourging in this instance, the public became so indignant that 
the officials released the Quaker prisoners, Brend Ledra and 

Healed had ,nor1ISlhhd 0" ?ahl °f death' Bu‘ the unseen J Jcale had more labors in store for the aged Brend. and he arose 
trom his sick cot, and left the colony, afterwards preaching in 
Rhode Island and the West Indies. & 

Samuel Gaskin was apparently released soon after his in¬ 
carceration, and returned home. He was occasionally fined for 
absence from the services of the church and for attendance at 

correction 'InPosi- ^ “-'T prisoners in t,le house of 
correction in Boston remained there all through the heat of the 

h~eTth T 'rbam'ry- After tW° iniprLonment tne) wrote to the Salem court as follows:_ 

This to y" Magestrats in Court at Salem 

are vndirewrinlJnT '*• u'aS/OUf' P,eafufes t0 Commit vs whole names 
are cndar written, to y lioufe of Corection in Bofton. though v° lord y' 
Righteous Judge is o wittnes y' we had don nothing worthy ’of ftripes 

a las vdSlatnuidselfng ^‘ed by order from y« Court, to be tleke with 
all as > law puids for foriane Quakers as vo“ pleafe to call vs • & hiuiiw 
fome of vs sufared you' law & pleafurs . . now v< w%e fa 

WC aw'Vt if Vo™* Tl ',aU^ SUf,are'1 y6 ,avv’ fo noiv to be fet free by y 
5 au (lt -vo act by a law) as you' manar is w*" ftrangars, &'n'ot 
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to put vs vpon y° acount of one law, & execute anothar vpon vs, wch 
acording to you1- one manar we ware neuer Conuicted of. then as ye law 
express, if you had sent vs vpon ye account of ye new law we fhould 
then haue expected ye Gailors ordars to haue bin vpon yl account, wUl 
y1 it was not apeares by ye worant wch we haue ye punifhment w(h we 
beare, as four of vs wch was whipt. amongst whome was Cafandra 
Suthick who had formerly bin whipt & now allfo acording to you1' for- 
mar laws ffreinds let it not be a fmal thing in you1' Eyes. yu Expoffing 
as much as in yow lyeth our famelies to Ruin, its not vnknowne to yo" 
ye feafon & time of ye yeare for those y4 liue of hufbantry, & what 
thare Cattal & famelies may be expofed vnto. & allfo fuch as Hues on 
trade, we know if y° fpirit of Christ did dwell & Rule in you these 
things would take impreffion vpon you1 harts. w4 o1 Hues & conuerfa- 
tions haue bin in y1 place is well knowne, & what wc now fufar for is 
much from falce Reports & vngrounded Jelousie of herefie & fedition, 
thefe things lyes vpon vs to lav before yo" ; as for o1 parts e haue 
trew peace & Reft in ye lord, in all our fufaring, & are made willing in 
ye powar & ftrength of god freely to ofar vp o1' Hues in this caufe of 
god, for wcu we fufar, yea & we doe find through Grace, ye inlargments 
of god in o1' imprifoned eftate to whome alone we Comit or felues & 
famelies for ye difpofing of vs acording to his infinite wifdome & 
pleafure in whofe loue is o1 Reft & life 

Lawrance Suthick 

CAffANDRA Suthick 

JofiAH Suthick 

Sam11 Shattock 

JofHUA Buffum 

ffrom ye houfe of bondage in bofton where in 
we are made Captiues by ye will of men 
although in meafure made free 
by ye Son ioh: 8. 36 in wch we Quietly Reft 
this 16th 5th m° 1658.1 

Lawrence Southwick was fined in March and May, preceding 
his imprisonment, for absence from the regular church services 
on Sundays, and his wife was admonished for her usual absence, 
in July, 1657, and fined in May, 1658. Their son Josiah had been 
fined for such absence at the same time as his father. 

Soon after this letter was written, and as its effect, probably, 
Samuel Shattuck and Joshua Buffum were allowed to return to 
their homes to superintend their affairs. The three South wicks 
remained in the jail in Boston; and soon afterward they were 

transferred to the Ipswich house of correction. 
Nicholas Phelps, who was “a weak man, and one whose back 

was crooked/'2 was fined forty shillings for entertaining Quakers 

1The original letter is on 
at Salem, volume 4, leaf 73- 
size. 

2George Bishop, in New 

file with the Quarterly Court of Essex County, 
It is inserted here reduced nearly one-half in 

England Judged. 
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and having the meeting at his house, and also fined for being a 
Quaker and for absenting himself from public worship. 

Hannah, wife of Nicholas Phelps was present at this meeting, 
and also Mr. and Mrs. John Southwick1, Daniel Southwick, Pro¬ 
vided Southwick, Mr. and Mrs. Joseph Pope2, Anthony Needham 
and his wife Ann, Edward Wharton, Henry Trask3 and his wife 
Alary, Tamosin, wife of Robert Buffum, Thomas Brackett, John 
Hill4, George Gardner’s wife and Robert Adams. 

John Southwick manifested little or no interest in the faith 
of the Friends; neither did he attend the services of the church 
constantly, apparently caring little or nothing for religious things. 
His wife was repeatedly fined for absence from the church 
late as 1663. Joseph Pope attended church very little, distance 
from the meeting house and an apparent lack of interest causing 
his absence. He was fined several times for his absence, a whole 
yeai one time and more than half a year at another. Anthony 
Needham went to this meeting at the house of Air. Phelps, in 
June, but not again. Mrs. Needham became an enthusiatic 
Friend. Air. Wharton was not an absolute Friend at first, but, 
fired by the torch of persecution, he became a bold and good con- 
tessor of the faith. Neither Henry Trask nor his wife, although 
she was a daughter of Fawrence Southwick, were interested in 
this meeting, and she was repeatedly fined for her absence from 
church services until 1666, when she apparently recovered her 
former relations with the church. Robert Buffum was not a 
Quaker, but his wife Tamosin became one and attended the 
Quaker meetings. She was repeatedly fined until 1669, her hus¬ 
band having died in August of that year. Thomas Brackett did 
not become a Friend. Neither Daniel Southwick nor his sister 
1 ro via eel were troubled for being at this meeting, both being 
under age. John Hill and his wife were not subsequently identi¬ 
fy with the Quakers. Mrs. George Gardner was repeatedly 
fined tor absence from church, the last time being in November, 

, 'John Southwick lived on the north side of Lowell Street, in Peabody, 
about half a mile from Central Square. 

“Joseph Pope lived on the easterly side of Central Street, in Peabody, 
about three hundred feet southerly of Sparrow lane. 

P^kHienrycTrask llVed ?n tbe easterIy corner of Main and Mill streets, in 
eabocfy. Savage says that he came to America on the Mary and John in 

°3}'Ge Jlved m Sale,m as ear]y as i652; and married Mary Southwick. He 
died before 1694; and she married, secondly, William Nichols. Children: 
V .ary’ b°rn AuS- 14, 1652; married Jeremiah Meachum; 2. Ann, born 
April 14, 1654; married first, Robert Wilson; second, Joseph Foster; 3. 

WhfuA b01T iUy 271 l656A; ™arried> first, — Archer; second, Abraham 
Whiticar , 4. Henry, born April —, 1669; living in 1694. 

John Hill lived on the north side of Gardner Street, in Peabody, about 
eight , hundred and fifty feet easterly from Liberty Street. 
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1669, when the persecution of the Friends had become lax. 
Robert Adams had formerly lived in Salem, but at this time he 
was a resident of Newbury. Subsequently, the Salem court 
ordered him to pay costs for attending this meeting. 

On Sunday, July 4, 1658, the meeting of the Friends was 
held at the house of Lawrence Southwick. There were present 
Thomas Brackett, John Small, Daniel Southwick, Margaret, wife 
of John Smith, Mrs. Nicholas Phelps, Mrs. Isaac Page, Mrs. 
Samuel Shattock, Mrs. John Southwick, Mrs. Anthony Needham, 
Mrs. Henry Trask, Provided Southwick and a daughter of 

Robert Buffum. 
John Small became a Quaker, and his fines for absence from 

church did not cease until T667. Margaret, wife of John Smith, 
was daughter of Robert Buffum. She paid costs for attending 
this meeting, and was repeatedly brought befoie the court, and 
fined for absence from church, the last time being in June, 1670. 
The daughter of Robert Buffum was undoubtedly Deborah who 
married Robert Wilson. She was young, and was not complained 

of until 1661. , 
At another meeting of the Friends, held on Sunday, July nth, 

there were present Nicholas Phelps, Thomas Brackett, Daniel 
Southwick, Mrs. Samuel Shattock, Mrs. Isaac Page, Mrs. 
Anthony Needham and Provided Southwick. 

At a meeting of the local court, adjourned from June 9jh to 
July 20th, several of the people who had attended these Quaking 
meetings, as the court records have it, were present. Henry 
Trask, George Gardner’s wife and Mrs. Joseph Pope were fined 
for attending the meeting in June. Thomas Brackett was fined 
for his attendance at these meetings and for absence from the 
services of the church. November 30th, he was again fined for a 
similar offence. May 28, 1659, he petitioned the general court to 
have his fine remitted, “humbly acknowledging his being drawn 
away by those called Quakers from the good ordinances of Go 
here established, and too often to meet and join with those ill 
affected persons, to the dishonor of God, troubled this common¬ 
wealth, & wound & greife to his wife, family & conscienc, for 
which he desires to be humbled.” Half of his fine was remitted, 
and the Salem court remitted the other half. He and his family 
then disappeared from Salem. Daniel Southwick was fined for 
attending these meetings, and he was also ordered to pa} costs 
for absence from church. His sister Provided Southwick was 
fined for attending these meetings, and was ordeied to1 
be set by the heels in the stocks an hour. The fines for absence 
from church of Provided terminated in 1670 and of Daniel in 
1671. June 26, 1666, he refused to pay his fine, and was ordered 
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to be whipped. Mrs. Shattuck was ordered to pay costs for being- 

at these meetings; and she was fined for absence from the church 

meetings often until June 28, 1670. Mrs. Isaac Page was ordered 

to pay costs for attending these meetings and for absence from 

the church meetings. She disappeared from Salem immediately 

Mrs Ann Needham was fined for attending these meetings, and 

was frequently fined for absence from church until June 1670 

June 26, 1660, she was fined three pounds and fifteen shilling's 

01 absence from church services, which she refused to have paTcI 

or ler, and the court “considering her former offences and pro- 

\Oving speeches, and she, claiming to have the punishment in¬ 

flicted upon her person, ordered her to be whipped twelve stripes 

revived tT^-n"8 §iVe 1 by Th°maS Roots> the constable, who 
received two shillings and sixpence for this service. 

“After this,” wrote Bishop1, “the People who Suffered were 

more Joyned together, . . as a Testimony . . that thev 

were of God and so they met together at Salem, waiting upon 

t ie Loid, whose I resence there with them was more Precious 

than L.fe; therefore they offered up Life, and their All, to Enjoy 

his f resence So Meet they did,” said Bishop, adding, though 

Captain Hathorne pursued them like a blood-hound, and had his 

friends! PerS°n and estate- tho»8h they had been 

at this time G*0™6 S'gned this order to the constable of Salem 

A ou are required, by Vertue hereof, to fearch in all fufpicious 
Houfes for Private Meetings; and if they refufe to open the Doors 

y?Ufindto° IpTwich Court D0°r UP°n tHem' and retUrn the Names of a,i 

William Hathorne. 

he constable was so eager in his search that, with an axe, he 
>1 oke open the door of a house wherein they had met, though if 
ie tad asked to come in he would have been welcomed. The 

constable took the names of four of the persons present and sent 
cm to the court at Ipswich. This meeting was probably held 

o Suncay, Sept. 26, 1658. Bishop says that the court did not 

fn-feaHufonr ff °/ Ql,'akerS t0 be present at 0,,e time, be- 
G / r f effeCt upon the Pe°Ple- The constable arrested 

three of the quartette, and took them to the court in Ipswich 
These were Samuel Shattuck, Nicholas Phelps and JoTua 
, ’ 1I.11' u: t0l,|th was Airs. Ann Needham, who could not be 
brought, as she was in childbed2. 

’New England Judged, page 78. 
Her daughter Anna was horn Aug. 31, 16^8 
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The court convened on Tuesday, Sept. 28th, the second day 
after the meeting. Nicholas Phelps had heard some one say that 
the Quakers denied magistrates and ministers, and he gave them 
a paper stating the contrary. The court asked him if he ac¬ 
knowledged it as his own view, and he said, “Yea.” Then they 
fined him forty shillings. Simon Bradstreet questioned them 
about the Trinity, Christ’s body, etc. They replied, “Produce 
your evidences: We defire nothing but a fair Tryal, the Priviledge 
of Men: We are not afraid nor ashamed to declare what we hold, 
whether before the court, or elfewhere.” They offered before all 
the people: to have a fair trial by a jury of twelve men, according 
to law. But this, the court denied. General Denison sarcastically 
said to them, “That they had left off being Doctors of Divinity, 
and were turned Lawyers.” Joshua Buffum was fined fifteen 
shillings for being at this Quaker meeting'. Then they were sent 
to the house of correction there to continue in their imprisonment 
until they gave security to renounce their opinions or removed 
without the jurisdiction of the colony. Thus they rejoined their 
neighbors. 

Upon his entrance to the jail, Phelps was cruelly whipped, 
but his physical condition excited no compassion; and within 
half-an-hour each of the others received ten strokes with a 
knotted-cord whip. Phelps was whipped three times in five days, 
ten cruel strokes each time, with a three-fold corded whip, with 
knots. Added to the horrors of his imprisonment, was the thought 
of affairs at home, as it was then the harvest season. But his 
spirit did not waiver. 

Oct. 19, 1658, the general court, becoming convinced that 
the terrible laws which had been enacted were insufficient to stop 
the preaching of the Quakers, and “for the further prevention of 
infection and guiding of people in the truth,” passed a law banish¬ 
ing all persons “favoring the Quakers who after due means of 
conviction remain obstinate and pertinacious,” and Rev. John 
Norton was requested to speedily undertake to convince them of 

their errors. 
Learning that the Salem Quakers in the Ipswich house of 

correction would do nothing to effect their release, the general 
court immediately ordered that they should be brought before 
them. This was done, and they were all taken to Boston, where 

they were placed in the prison. 
A few days afterward, William Marston of Hampton, who 

was on his way to Boston, stopped in Salem, and was requested 
by Lawrence Southwick’s children to carry some provisions to 
their parents, and also their son Josiah’s wife to take some things 
to her husband. Mr. Marston himself was put into the prison, 
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and kept fourteen days in a cold room, though he was seventy 
years of age. 

Much endeavor was vainly made to convince and reform 
the prisoners, by Mr. Norton, and the court then ordered that 
Samuel Shattock, Lawrence Southwick and his wife Cassandra 
South wick, Nicholas Phelps, Joshua Buffum and Josiah South¬ 
wick depart out of this jurisdiction before the first day of the next 
court of election, which if they should neglect or fail to do, they 
should then be banished under pain of death. Governor Endecott 
told them “That all deserved to be hanged,” and that they were 
blasphemers and heretics. Shattock’s sister Mary Hamor, upon 
her petition, was allowed by the general court to be permitted to 
meet him, when he should be brought to Boston, and take him to 
Rev. Mr. Norton’s house for his conversion1. 

Under this order they were released from prison, and, return¬ 
ing to their homes, cared for their suffering families and farms. 
The time of their probation was about at an end when, at the ses¬ 
sion of the court, May 11, 1659, the six were called before it. 
Governor Endecott charged them with rebelling against 
the authority of the country in not departing according to order. 
They answered that they had no other place to go to, and had their 
wives, children and estates to care for; nor had they done anything 
worthy of death, banishment or bonds, or any of the hardships 
or ignominious punishments which they had suffered in their 
persons, besides the loss of a large amount of money and property 
that had been taken to pay fines. Governor Endecott was silenced ; 
but General Denison made this unanswerable reply, that they stood 
against the authority of the country in not submitting to its laws; 
that “they and the church people are not able well to live together; 
at present the power is in our hand, and therefore the strongest 
must fend off.” The sentence of banishment was then pronounced 
upon them, and only two weeks’ time (until June 8th) was al¬ 
lowed in which to settle their affairs and bid “good-bye” forever 
to their families and friends and home. 

Lawrence Southwick and his wife, in their old age, parted 
from their children, and with but little money and few articles, the 
fines of the court having taken much of their estate, secured a 
boat and sailed southward, along the coast. They finally built a 
little house on Shelter Island, in Long Island Sound; and there 
passed the few months of their exile. The privation and exposure 
that they experienced during the rigorous winter that followed 
was too severe for their aged and weakened bodies, and both died 
in the following spring, his wife surviving him three days. 

Massachusetts Archives, volume 17, leaf 3. 
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Josiah Southwick and Joshua Buff urn also went to Shelter 
Island. They returned into the colony more than two years 
later, and Josiah Southwick was discovered in Boston soon after¬ 
ward, and taken into custody. He was kept in the Boston jail 
nine weeks, and then the court of assistants, Sept. 9, 1661, ordered 
that he be tied to a cart’s tail, stripped above his waist and whipped 
out of Boston with ten stripes, and then with ten stripes through 
Roxbury, and then to be delivered to the constable of Dedham, 
who was ordered to whip him ten stripes out of the jurisdiction of 
the colony. Southwick said to the court: “Here is my body; if 
you want a further testimony to the truth I profess, take it and 
tear it in pieces; your sentence is no more terrifying to me than 
if you had taken a feather and blown it in the air.” He was 
whipped, not with whip cord, as in England, but of dried intestines 
of animals, of such as bass-viol strings are made, and with three 
knots at the end,, which the constable laid on with both hands, 
producing most violent torture. Twenty-six miles of scourging 
that day, and then the constable left him in the wilderness fifteen 
miles from anv town. His back was plowed, and his flesh torn 
and beaten. But some friends had followed and assisted him to 
his home, more that thirty-five miles that night, making in all 
more than sixty miles of travel that day and night, probably with¬ 
out food or drink. His friends had one horse between them, and 
he undoubtedly rode on horseback in the night. 

Samuel Shattuck and Nicholas Phelps took advantage of an 
opportunity to sail for England, four days later, with the intention 
of laying the whole matter before parliament. They returned to¬ 
gether, but Mr. Phelps, being' weak in body, after some time died. 
His mother, Mrs. Eleanor Trusler, had died in 1655? and hei 
sons Henry and Nicholas Phelps inherited her farm in West Pea¬ 
body, where, at the house thereon, the first meeting of the Friends 
had been held. Nicholas Phelps’ half of the house and lands were 
taken for the payment of fines. Batter, the treasurer, apparently 
turned if over to Nicholas Phelps brother Henry, who owned the 
other half interest, Henry having married Batter’s sister; and, 
July 18, 1664, Henry sold the entire estate to Joseph Pope. 

' On the day that Lawrence Southwick and his wife and 
friends were sentenced to banishment, at the suggestion of Cap¬ 
tain Hathorne, the county treasurer was authorized to sell theii 
younger children, Daniel, aged twenty-two, and Provided, aged 
eighteen, to the English in Virginia or Barbadoes1. This was 
because these young people could not pay the heavy fines imposed 

Bohn G. Whittier wrote a poem upon this subject, entitled ‘‘Cassandra 
Southwick,” having substituted the name of her mother in place of Provided 
Southwick, as her mother’s was a more poetic name. 
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upon them ‘‘for siding with the Quakers, and absenting them¬ 
selves from public ordinances,” and as a means of satisfaction of 
the fines. But no one would have anything to do with the propo¬ 
sition and they were released. The records of the quarterly 
court held at Ipswich May 10, 1660, stated: “Provided Suth- 
wicke, upon proof of her contemptuous carriage at Salem to the 
great disturbance of the peace. The court sets a fine on her of 
forty shillings and to abide in prison until she have paid it and 
the hue set by Salem court or other course be taken to sell her 
for the payment there of according to law and fees of court.” 
But neither was Provided Southwick sold under this decree. 

While Lawrence Southwick and his associates were preparing 
to take their final leave of everything worth remaining for, Wil- 
ham Brend, the Quaker preacher, who had found a sympathetic 
and receptive friend in Southwick when he first came to America, 
had, regardless of his banishment, apparently returned to bid his 
rienc s Good-bye, so little regard had he for physical conse¬ 

quences. He was arrested and placed in prison, and ordered by 
the general court to be released on the sixteenth of May, and be 

death* Bir^sc^c^on within two days thereafter, on penalty of 

lie returned to England, and, in 1662, he was one of the 
hundreds of Friends confined in loathsome Newgate prison. He 
died at the age of ninety; and the following is the record of his 
burial: William Brend, of the Liberty of Katherine’s, near the 

ower, a minister, died Seventh mo., Seventh, 1676, and was 
buried at Eunhill Fields.” Twelve years later, the remains of 
John Bunyan, the celebrated author of “Pilgrim’s Progress,” were 
laid in the same burial place. 

. The beautiful spirit of this venerable pilgrim is shown in his 
writings, in one of which, written in prison, he says, “It hath 
been upon my heart, when in the sweet repose of the streams of 
my Father’s love and life, by which my heart hath been overcome 
to visit you with a loving salutation from the place of my outward 
bonds. . . . Oh, m the love and life of the Lamb, look over all 
weakness in one another, as God doth look over all the weakness 
in every one of us, and doth love us for his own Son’s sake—in 
so doing peace will abound in our borders, it will flow forth 
amongst us like a river, and it will keep out jars, strifes and con¬ 
tentions. 

William Robinson and Marmaduke Stephenson were two 
preachers of the F nends, and they were arrested and imprisoned. 
After being flogged they were released and banished. They came 

‘Massachusetts Bay Colony Records, volume IV, part 1, page 371. 
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to Salem, where they remained awhile. Daniel Gould wrote 
that he overtook them at Salem, where they had a meeting in the 
woods (West Peabody), as people were afraid to have meetings in 
their homes. There was a “great flocking" to it to hear; “And 
the Lord was mightily with them, and they spoke of the things 
of God boldly, to the affecting and tendering of the hearts of 
many.” The three then went to Piscataqua and its neighborhood, 
“in the service of the Lord,” and found the people friendly as 
they went. They returned to Boston, the party numbering ten or 
twelve besides Robinson and Stephenson, and were all put into 
prison. Gould received thirty stripes, being tied to. a gun car¬ 
riage, and two men and three women were also whipped at the 
same time, ten stripes each. They were in an upper room, and 
Robinson spoke from the window to the crowd without, who were 
eager to hear. The people were ordered to disperse, but being a 
large number they would not go; and so James Oliver, the captain, 
“hauled” some of the prisoners down the stairs to a low dark 
“cub” solitary place. The Friends bade goodbye to and embraced 
the two preachers as the soldiers took them away to the place of 
execution. 

Mary Dyer, formerly of Boston, but then of Rhode Island, 
had been banished with Robinson and Stephenson, foi theii re 
bellion, sedition, and presumptuous obtruding themselves upon 
us, notwithstanding their being sentenced to banishment on paine 
of death, as underminers of this government, etc.,” were brought 
before the general court Oct. 19, 1659, and returned to the prison 
without action, the next day being again brought in and 
sentenced to die, by hanging on the seventh day thereafter.1 On 
the twenty-seventh, one hundred soldiers, completely armed with 
pikes, and musketeers with powder and bullet, under command 
of Captain Oliver, were ordered to lead them to the place of exe¬ 
cution and see them hang “till they be dead.” Reverends 
Zachariah Symmes and John Norton were ordered to repair to 
the prison and tender their endeavors to make the prisoners sen¬ 
sible of their approaching dangers, and prepare them for their 
end. 

Thirty-six of the soldiers were ordered to remain in and about 
the town as sentinels to preserve peace while the rest went to the 
execution; and the selectmen of Boston were required by the 
general court to impress ten or twelve able and faithful persons 
every night during the sitting of the court ‘ to watch with great 
care the towne, especially the prison.” The general court became 
very much alarmed over its acts, fearing the people, and a state¬ 
ment was printed and distributed by it and written into the records 

"New England Judged, by George Bishop, page 121. 
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to excuse or ‘Vindicate” it.1 This was prepared by Rev. John 
Norton, to whom the general court, November 12th, voted its 
thanks “for his great paines and worthy labors in the tractate he 
drew up, and by older of this Court hath been printed, wherein 
the dangerous errors of the Quakers is fully refuted and dis¬ 
covered,1' and also five hundred acres of land, “as a small re- 
compence for his paines therein.” 

Upon the arrest of Robinson and Stephenson, there followed 
tjiem to Boston Alice Cowland (Couland) “who came to brino- 
linen wherein to wrap the dead bodies of them who were to 
suffer,” and Daniel Gold, William King, Mrs. Hannah Phelps 
(wife of Nicholas Phelps, who was banished), Mrs. Mary Trask 
(wife of Henry Trask) and Mrs. Margaret Smith (wife of John 
Smith and daughter of Robert Bufifum), all of Salem, came to¬ 
gether to “accompany those who should suffer.” Provided 

outhwick came with them to see her sister, who was then in the 
innson, and they were all put into the prison. So the prison began 

At the time appointed, the three victims went hand in hand 
to the place of the execution. After the men had been huno-, Mrs 
Dyer mounted the ladder, and the rope was placed about her neck 
and the hood adjusted. She expected every moment to be launched 
into eternity, but she did not know that her son had secured a 
reprieve of two days that she might depart from the territory of 
the colony. She was returned to the prison, sorely disappointed 
as she had expected to immediately meet her Savior face to face! 
bhe went to Rhode Island, but returned the next May, and was 
executed June 1st. J 

When the bodies of Robinson and Stephenson became rmid, 
instead of taking them down, the rope was cut and the bodies lell 
to the ground, and in the case of one of them the skull was frac¬ 
tured. Their shirts were ripped off with a knife, and their naked 
bodies were unceremoniously cast into a hole, which was dug in 
the open field. Friends of the dead wanted to take the bodies 
away, but the executioner refused to allow it, but did permit the 

U r, W Wra,pped 1,1 !inen- Water ra" into the pit, and so 
latme as though sympathetic, covered the remains. Thus was 
verified the prophecy of the Son of God: “The time cometh that 

if11 think that he doeth God Service. And 

the Father*nor me/** Ullt° y°U’ beCaUS6 they have not known 

iv, ilrtSl!'PgesC38sUa “ f"“ “ tl,C reCor<ls of the «»*. volume 
‘John 15; 2, 3. 
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Edward Wharton of Salem, a glazier, who lived on the south 
side of Essex Street and on the easterly corner of Higginson 
Place, being the house next to the meeting house, was a Quaker 
before the persecution became severe, and as it developed he grew 
in faith and adherence to the principles of the Friends. Once, 
when he was about to be scourged by the constable, Philip Crom¬ 
well, who was a slaughterer, Wharton asked him how he, who 
had been his near neighbor, could treat him so, he answered, “He 
must needs go that the devil drives.”1 He, also, had accompanied 
the preachers Robinson and Stephenson from town to town in 
their journeys between Salem and the Piscataqua River; and 
four days after their execution he was arrested at Salem and im¬ 
prisoned in the jail in Boston. November 3d, he was whipped 

twenty-four lashes. 
At the session of the general court, which convened Oct. 18th, 

and at which Robinson and Stephenson were sentenced to death, 
Christopher Holder, who had been banished and had gone to 
England, was now returned to New England. He was arrested 
and placed in the jail in Boston and at this session of the court 
sentenced to banishment on pain of death and ordered to leave the 
colony within three days after his release from confinement. He 
was whipped on the twenty-second of the month. 

Daniel Gold, William King, Mrs. Margaret Smith, Mrs. 
Mary Trask, Provided Southwick and Mrs. Hannah Phelps were 
arrested and committed to prison in Boston, and, Nov. 12, 1659, 
they were brought before the general court. King was about 
twenty-six years old, and lived on the western side of Bass River 
(now in Beverly) about sixty rods southerly from the upper end 
of the river, where McKay Street is now located. These persons 
were confined, so the record says, “for adherence to the cursed 
sect of the Quakers, . . not disowning the same, nor their 
submission to the order here established, either in church or com¬ 
monwealth, . . their disorderly practices and vagabond like 
life in absenting themselves from their family relations and run¬ 
ning' from place to place.” Mrs. Phelps was admonished. Gold to 
be whipped with thirty stripes, King fifteen, and Mrs. Smith, Mrs. 
Trask and Provided Southwick, ten each. Daniel Gold was order¬ 
ed to depart from this jurisdiction within five days. The others 
were committed to prison. Gold, shorn of his clothes, was tied 
to the wheel of a great gun, his skin stripped from his back and 
his flesh beaten on his bones. The women remained in jail until 
friends paid the jailer’s fees. William King, Mrs. Phelps, Mrs. 

"This is what the clown said, in Shakespeare’s play, “All’s Well that 
Ends Well,” scene III, and is probably an old English saying. Geoige I ee , 
the earlier English dramatist, also used the same saying. 
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after11' ^ia‘s,< and Provided Southwick were released soon 

. , A Quaker meePng was held, in February, 1659-60, at Whar- 

were SnSJon eXTh’le meetmS.h.ouse' while the church services 
were „om on. This was certainly audacious and courageous At 
leas William King, Mrs. Smith, Mrs. Trask and Provided 
Southwick were there and were arrested. Provided Southwick 
was committed to the Ipswich house of correction, but the others 
were imprisoned m Boston. Mrs. Trask had three children at 
home, respectively seven, five and three vears of ti u 
her husband’s pleading with Governor Ldecott shT was ahowfS 

hufba tTTo m Smith °nthS ^ “ Mrs. Smhh’s soana John Smith, was arrested for speaking at the ordination 
Re''; Johlr Higginson, August 29th, and eight days later was 

1 ought to the Boston jail. Joseph Nicholson "and his wife Tane 
who was great with child, came to Salem about March 18 i6qo 60 
and John Southwick took them into his house. April ,d the S’ 

■O England, ,0 which pla« 

A letter written from the jail in Boston, by John SmitlAo 

!hStWwe,f- br°Tler Joshua Buffium. and dated Nov 4 1660 states 

S xi Wii,Mn ,”d Nid»'»”. Edward Wharton’ 

*" ■SHB.Vriv' f" r 
Cort of Assizes on thJ'v ^ dliam Llclra who being banished at the 

%$£ ^ -S^iieruVand 
Nichosonancf hi^wi^anFclfih? *1 ^ t0 the ,prison' Ant] Joseph 
Ingland who was )!ad before he co^nd* hit t0J° f°r ' 
away and a boat nressnd ^ ^ ,• and hlf hberty granted to go 

the master of the^hip refused m llm °iv b°rC tbe shlp at Nantasket 

and went before the PGofernor desired Uf> t0 B°St°n agai" 
other privit hous to he in bill u ‘ t0 a ^ Prison r°om or some 
William Lidra was called fort / was another opportunity to go. 
go for Ingland he answered /iT,dema"ded whether he would 

therefore could not go thev said^he °^asion to £° for InSland 
, . mey said he sh(auld go somewher else then 

YorkTCiStyetter ^ “ the P°SSeSsion of Mrs- Mary Cassandra Hodges of New 



QUAKER PERSECUTION 263 

he asked whither som answered to the gallows so he was brought to 
the prison again and hear both remain. Hear is Edward Wharton who 
was brought to the prison the latter end of the 3 month or thereabout 
for not going to ther meeting as they call it. John Chamberlen one of 
the town of Boston imprisoned the latter end of the 3 month for de¬ 
claring against the minister of Charlston in publick as they call it. 
Her is Robert Harper and his wife imprisoned for coming to visit us 
hear in prison the 26 of the 8 month or therebout. My wife and Mary 
Traske imprisoned the 12 day of the 12 month 1659 and hear kept ever 
since onlv Mary Traske was at home 2 months of the tune or therabout 
through her husbands pleding with the Governor who was imprisoned 
both of them for meeting at EdwTard Whartons house neai the meeting 
hous and for making disturbance before they had done as they say 
being moved of the lord to speak not knowing but that it was don 
William King imprisoned at the sam tim was banished and departed 
to Rod Hand not long after for the sam thing. Provided Southwick 
imprisoned also for the sam meting in Ipswich prison and let out the 
county cort at Ipswich to answer at Sallem Cort on the 9 month and 
I was put in prison for making a disturbance on the day of ordination 
as they say being moved of the lord to declare against them therein 
imprisoned the 6 of the 7 month 1660 and hear now must remain al 
winter for ought we know. Only Joseph Nichoson and his wife it is 

lik shall pass to Ingland when oportumty is. 
Wrighten in the hous of correction 
the 4 day of the 9 month 1660. • 

From the dear brother m the 
[Lord?] John Smith 

Arraigned and in prison. 

[Indorsed:] 
For the hands of 
Joshua Buffum at 
Shelter Island or elsewhere. 

There are a number of letters which were written by the 
missionaries, and a joint letter by Mary Traske and ^This 
Smith to Governor Endecott, dated at Boston, Dec. 21, 1660. This 
is found in the Massachusetts Archives, volume 10, leaf 207. 
these letters are printed in New England Judged. 

Sometimes, though not often, as it was fso"rce|“^, ‘ 
Ouakers complained to the court of indignities done to them. 
Tohn Kitchen’s1 wife Elizabeth had Edward Batter presented be¬ 

fore the Salem court June 26 1660, for pubholy s’anJW”!atter 
Tohn Ward and Thomas Meekins, two young men with Batter 
and two of the constables, Philip Cromwell and Thomas Roots, 
were going along the road near Strongwater brook, one morning 
Ind met Mrs Kitchen and a man, riding on a horse. Batter and 
Roots took hold of the bridle and told Mrs. Kitchen to get oft the 

Gohn Kitchen lived oil the northerly side of Essex Street, about two 

hundred feet westerly of Beckford Street. 
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bUt Shu- Y°old n0t' They pu!,ed both ller and ‘he man off 
withHff ’wahrfh R?°m t(?°k fr°m them’ mounted and rode away 
, t-, )' ard and Meekms testified to this, but the constables 

firit z,cer" r ,o"di »' 'S w 
however, that he asked her if she had been “a pawawlng” called 
her a quaking slut, as he supposed she was coming “from’a quak 
mg meeting, seeing also some other persons Ghat q? JV 

Q , c §enera co.llrt> Oct. 16, 1660, granted the request of the 
Quakers then in prison that they might go to England provided 

Mr^ and Mrs^N^h b°und ‘hither; and disorder included 

|r'’ ^hilip Verrin> Samuel Gaskin, Mrs Tamosin 
Buffum, Daniel Southwick, Samuel Salmon and Mrs Thomas 
Gardner, sr. , were summoned to the Salem court Nov io 1660 

» mN'Tl'a^meeti"«; and 011 tbe twenty ninth d fhai 
sTch a meeting0 nrrrNavrner W“ presentedfor attending 
moved to NanUiJket 7’ ^ ^ ^ Rkhard Gard"^ bad re& 

r, Jhe monarchy in England had now become restored and 

SSyhelda^l aS the ,S°Verel>- Tbe Massachusetts Bay 
liament. *£ ^ 
graph about the Quakers:— following para- 

ducers°from "the glorPouf ?api‘a11 blasphemers, open se- 
Christ- 4-u 11felon1ous Trinity, the Lords Christ, our Lord Testis 
n t of Hflthe b'eSSed gosPe"’ and the Holy Scriptures as the 

hands of LV0butnmero7the.>egOUernm-en- ’,tSeIf as. established in the 
promoters of doctrines directlv ft!!'!'' pr!ncip!es’ mahgnant & assiduous 
state, after all other lanJ7 tfendin^,t0 subvert both our churches & 
were’ at latt consfeVSed in wee 
bannishment against them vnrm -1G sat,et^’ t(? Passe a sentence of 
daingerous impetuous^ TdJP ,'fJ1e,of death' S»ch was theire 
state Cjuil & edesTasticall asPethaat h™ IT ur°th, t0 rel igion & the 
haue binn avoyded, the magistrafe'atTtstJin cotfcTencTbothTeTcod 

£ brook.rem0nt StreCb ” 
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& man, judged himself called, for the defence of all, to keepe the 
passage wth the point of the sword held towards them. This could doe 
no harme to him that would be warned thereby: theire wittingly rush¬ 
ing themselves therevpon was theire oune act, & wee, wth all humillity, 
conceive a crjme bringing theire blood on theire oune head. The 
Quakers died, not because of theire other crimes, how capitoll soeuer, 
but vpon theire superadded presumptuous & incorrigible contempt of 
authority, breaking in vpon vs, notwthstanding theire sentence of 
bannishment made knoune to them. Had they not binn restreined, so 
farr as appeared, there was too much cause to feare that wee ourselves 
must quickly haue djed, or worse; and such was theire insolency, that 
they would not be restreined but by death; nay, had they at last but 
promised to depart the jurisdiction, & not to returne wthout leaue from 
authority, wee should haue binn glad of such an oppertunity to haue 
sayd they should not dye1. 

William Ledra was kept chained in the open prison in Boston 
through the succeeding seasons, even through the cold and in¬ 
clement winter. March 11, 1660-1, he was brought into the court, 
at the same time as Wharton, and sentenced to be hung on the 
fourteenth. Upon hearing the sentence, he said to the court, 
“Thou hast no evil justly to lay to our charge.” William King 
was also banished. Another, who had been banished, just then 
entered the court room. This was Wenlock Christison of Salem, 
who was well known, 
and had come to bid 
good bye to Ledra, 
though his life might be 
the price. Consterna¬ 
tion and surprise were 
so general at his appearance that no one moved or spoke for 
several minutes. Nothing seemed to make this calm and quiet 
people fear. Death itself had no terrors for them. He was placed 
at the bar and condemned to die. 

Three days were then allowed Ledra to piepaie foi death. 
On the day before he was executed, he addressed a letter to d he 
little flock of Christ,” in which he said: “Stand in the watch 
within in the fear of the Lord, which is the very entrance of wis¬ 
dom and the state wherein you are ready to receive the secrets of 
the Lord. Hunger and thirst patiently, be not weary, neither 
doubt; stand still and cease from thy own workings, and in due 
time thou shalt enter into rest and thy eyes shall behold His salva¬ 
tion. Confess Him before men; bring all things to the light that 
they may be proved whether they are wrought in God. Without 
grace possessed there is no assurance of salvation. By giace you 

are saved.” 

1Massachusetts Bay Colony Records, volume IV, part I, page 45 u 
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1 he following* day (March 14, 1660-1), the chains which had 
so long bound him to a heavy log were knocked off, and he went 
forth to the slaughter in the meekness of Jesus.” His last 

words from the scaffold were: “I commend my righteous cause 
unto Ihee, O God! Lord Jesus receive my spirit.” Governor 
.ndecott and a guard of soldiers were present. The beatine of 

drums drowned the words of the victim. 

In the same winter, of 1660-1, Joseph Nicholson and his wife 
who had been arrested at Salem, were imprisoned in the Boston' 
jail. 

John Smith and his wife, after nearly two years spent in 
prison, were released, and they started for Salem.' She was sick 
and weak, and though leaning on a staff she fainted by the wav 
as she was driven by officers through Boston. Governor Belling- 
ham met them, and ordered them back to prison. 

, On the day (March 11, 1660-1) that the general court sen¬ 
tenced William Ledra to death, Edward Wharton was banished 
and was allowed eleven days to get without the territory of the 
colony. He asked for the reason of his sentence, and was told of 
his showing Quaker preachers from town to town. Wharton 
queried of the court, “Have ye not plowed blood-furrows on my 
back for that already, although you had no law for it?” But rarely 
a iiaker stayed banished. Wharton had been at Oyster River 
and Georgiana, now York, Me.; and, in 1662, was at Piscataqua 

a storvfhardWhetll,gS'v A. Conffregational minister there circulated 

neveLbeen mlrief ^ ^ ^ and fam^’ tho^h he ^d 

When banished, Wharton went into the northern part of New 
ngland, to Saco, and then to Black Point, in Casco Bay “The 

towTrrk p T recelved him kindly and gladly. He then returned 
towards Boston, was refused entertainment in several places and 
finally stayed with an old couple (Mr. and Mrs. Stephens) in the 
voods. 1 he next evening a “professor” told the woman that the 
nan was a Quaker, and she was liable to a fine of five pounds. He 
vent into the court at Dover, July 4, 166^ Mai William Ha 

thorne was the judge and Elias St,lelnan, clerk The latter had 

the ciurt “Wnef <;1T neighbor in Salem- Wharton addressed 
dHnati-on of tlM V °PPressors and persecutors, for the in- 

karn " do weir'" t ^ ■? ^ Patie"ce’ «ase to do e^and a 11 to do well ye who spoil the poor and devour the needy ve 
who lay traps and snares for the innocent.” The cour ordered that 

«-**• »■ - . > and tnou art an old persecutor, its 
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time for thee to give over, for thou mayest be drawing near to 
thy Grave.” This caused Wharton to be whipped. Tied to a 
pan* of cart wheels, with a great rope about his middle, drawn by 
a number of persons, he was whipped and then put into prison 
where another man’s wife was. After several days, he was 
placed on the back of a horse without a bridle, and holding on by 
the pummel of the saddle, his horse was led, as if he was a no¬ 
torious offender, from town to town, through three towns, given 
ten stripes in each town, as a vagabond Quaker, although he was 
a house-holder in Salem and about his business. On returning to 
Salem, he was tied to the whipping post, and given fourteen lashes 
by John Massey, the constable. 

Afterward, being at Rhode Island awhile, with Wenlock 
Christison, he went to Boston, and had “a glorious meeting.” 
Governor Endecott ordered him to be whipped to Salem May 4, 
1664, but he returned to Boston next day. With Christison, he 
was at Salem the next month, and they went to Boston, hrom 
there they were whipped thirty stripes to Salem, on the thirtieth, 
being vagabond, though ordered to be whipped to his dwelling- 
place, which he owned. When Wharton was in Boston in May, 
1665, to get a ship for Barbadoes, he was again whipped. 

In the Salem court, June 30, 1668, Edward Wharton appeared 
“in an irreverent manner and contempt of authority, with his 
hat on, refusing to take it off, and having 110 business with the 
court, he boldly charged the government in open court with un¬ 
righteousness. Afterwards, he came into the court and charged 
the court with cruelty and shedding of innocent blood, which 
upon trial he admitted, and being asked whether he did not do 
wrong in so speaking, he replied, “God forbid I should own that 
to be wicked which God requires of me. He was fined fift) 
pounds, and ordered to lie in prison till it was paid. 

May 22, 1661, a new law had been enacted against Quakeis 
who had no home or right to be within the jurisdiction of the 
colony, as they “liaue not bin restreined by the lawes already pro¬ 
vided/’ Under the new law such Quakers could be arrested by 
any person; and for the first offence they should “be stripped 
naked from the middle upwards, tied to a cart’s tail and whipped 
to the next town; for the second offence, the letter R should be 
branded upon their right shoulder and be whipped out of town 
as for the first offence; and, for the third offence, be banished on 

pain of death. . 
William King, who had been banished, returned without 

leave, and was brought before the court of assistants at Boston,, in 
March, 1661 ; and upon his declaration, “how much he, by the rich 
grace and mercy of God, was now brought to loath and abhoi 
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himself for his sinful and shameful practices against authority 
hei e established, was referred to the general court May 22 1661 
and released on security; and the general court fully discharged 
him. 

During the session of the general court, on June 1st, Wenlock 
Christison, who had appealed from his sentence of death nro- 
nounced by the court of assistants in March, was now sentenced 
to death by Governor Endecott, to be executed on the thirteenth 
immediately alter the lecture, provided that if he should in writ¬ 
ing agree to forthwith depart this jurisdiction and return no 
more he should be discharged. The favor was accepted. 

Samuel Shattock1 and Nicholas Phelps, upon their banish¬ 
ment, m the summer of 1659, went directly to England to lav the 
w tole matter of the persecution before the government. They 
found that authority there was in a chaotic state, and until the 
throne was restored and Charles II became king nothing could 
x accomplished, through the influence of friends of the English 
Quakers later, access was obtained to the presence of the kino- 
who heeded their request and issued an order to the Bay Colony to 
cease the persecution. The following is a copy of the" letter2 

CHARLES R. 

T RUSTY and wellbeloved, We greet you well Having been 
1 informed that feveral of Our Subjects amongft you called 

been Executed’and’off and are.Impnfoned by you, whereof fome haue 
f 7 a£r ot^iers m danger to undergo the like We have 

do0hSe’rebtyt0RIke6 behaIf’ for ‘he'fumre and 
n j ' eQuire, That if there by any of thofe Peonle called 
hi nk-l’IS arng t y°u> now alrea,|y condemned to sutfer Death or are 
Imprisoned, and obnoctious to the like Condemnation" You are to 

StreefAmarriedHfirTrr;VaS * feltmakfr and hatter; lived at 181 Essex 

Popri TercTbid- ^F" V}653 f’ ma^ried’Tn^ 
n mshC c,ybb0-rn • a£ch J655; married, first, Andrew Flliott Dec 
maS Niel ,eniaAln,TraSf0„f Bev1rU; 5. Priscilla2, born May ! 
sffilep? T°to°4 Sa,e™>6. RetunE bon, Aug. ,6,’,662; married John 

»■ “a* 

July 24 1676- dkd' m^h,’ fel.tmakrr and hatterl married Sarah Buckman 
7, 1678; died Dec 14 ifc 2 chl'fenJ r- Samuel2, born Sept, 
mariner, of Salem, 1727• rnarriec/\L,V r™ ,Mai£Th *3> 1679-80; captain; 

4’ ’otmarfs"shattock 'd7331 3- Margaret*married''Mid’Bacon.'Al'S' 

doubted™Vnothef of SamueT’si^n0 ^arned, Tho!nas Gard”er’ was un¬ 
married Mr. Gardner’s son Richard Gardner3 “ °f SaraH 5hatt0ck' who 

ThomasWMau^pdageP23SeCUt0rS Mauled Wi‘h ‘heir own Weapons, by 
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forbear to proceed any further therein, hut that you forth-with fend 
the faid Perfons, whether condemned or imprifoned, over into this 
our Kingdom of England, together with their refpective Crimes or 
Offences laid to their Charge, to the end fuch courfe may be taken with 
them here, as fhall be agreeable to our Lawes, and their Demerits. And 
for fo doing, thefe Our Letter fhall he your fuffkient Warrant and 
Dif charge. 

Given at our Court at White-hall, the gth day of Septemb. 1661. 
in the 13th Year of Our Reign. Subfcribed to Our trufty & 
well-beloved John Endicot, Efg; and to all and every other 
Governours of Our Plantation of New-England, and to all 
the Colonies thereunto belonging, that now are, or hereafter 
fhall be; and to all and every the Minifters and Officers of Our 
faid Plantation and Collonies whatsoever within the Continent 
of New-England. 

By Elis Majefty’s Command, 
y W. Morris. 

Samuel Shattock bore the precious missive1 to Boston, the 
captain of the vessel being himself a Quaker. Captain Oliver, the 
executioner, went on board the vessel when it landed, recognized 
Shattock, and hearing him and the captain conversing, supposing 
that all the people on board were Quakers, returned and reported 
that “Shattock and the Devil and all” had arrived.2 

Nov. 27, 1661, another session of the general court was held 
and the letter of the king was considered and accepted with reser¬ 

vations, as follows:— 

The just & necessary rules of our gouernment & condicon for 
preservation of religion, order, & peace hath induced the authoiity leie 
established from time to time to make & sharpen lawes agl Quakers m 
refference to their restless intrusion & impetuous disturbance, & not 
anv propensity or any inclination in vs to punish them in person 01 
estate, as is evident by our graduall proceeding w them, releasing 
some condemned & others liable to condemnation, & all imprisoned 
were released, & sent out of our borders; all wch, not wustanding theme 
restless spiritts haue mooved some of them to returne, & others to. n 
the royall eares of our soueraigne lord the king w 1 complaints against 
vs, and haue, by theire wearied solicitations in our absence, so tart 
prevayled as to obteine a letter from his maj y, to forbeare theire 
corporall punishment or death. Although wee hope, & doubt not, but 
that if his majty were rightly informed, he would be farre from giving 
them such favour, or weakening his authority here so long & orderly 
setled, yet, that wee may not in the least offend his maj this Court 
doth heereby order & declare, that the execution of the awes m orce 
against Quakers, as such, so farr as they respect corporall pumshm or 
death, be suspended vntill this Court further order. 

1See the poem of John G. Whittier, entitled “The King’s Missive.” 
New England Judged. 
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1 lus order caused directly the Quaker persecution to cease 
although indirectly it continued some time longer. The prisoners 
were set at liberty. The charter gave the New England govern! 
ment no authority to pass laws taking limb or life, and probably 

J such laws would have been enacted had there been a stable 
government m England at that time. 

It cannot seem strange that some of the sufferers under the 

imbl r6r aT ShOU d, laV,e bec0me so insane as t0 aPPear naked in 
LI r Lr fn ldea that 11 was their duty to thus declare the 

k L* splntua aPParel of New England’s established church. 
R i ,unh’ daughter of Mrs. Tamison Buffum, and wife of 
\obeit Wilson, was young, very modest and retiring. In Tune 

62, she telt constrained to go through the town naked as a 
sign ot the bareness of the religion of the church. She had gone 
through only a portion of the town before she was arrested and 
the court record says that she, for “her barbarous and unhuman 
L naked through the Town, is sentenced to be tied at a 
Carts tail with her body naked downward to her waist and 
whipped from Mr. Gidney’s Gate till she come to her own house 
not exceeding thirty stripes, and her mother Buffum and her sister 
Smith that were abetted to her, etc., to be tied on either side of 
ker, at the carts tail naked to their shifts to the waist and ac 
company her. Daniel Rumball, a constable, was called to whin 
her, but he demurred, being loth to do it, and said so to the court 
but was ordered to do ins duty. Her husband (it may be presumed 

after anTT1 m'-’T'’ th°Ugh neither was a Quaker Hollowed 
back S c'aPPed Ins hat sometimes between the whip and her 

nhl 1 Jm T fi",ed year 3fter >-ear for absence from church 
1668 when the court was “informed” that she “was dis’ 

tempered in her head.” s" 

nwnWllen: *n tll(: season for plowing, John Small’s best yoke of 
oxen was taken from him for the payment of fines, Mrs Small 

that thev t leir 0Xe" uere *aken’ and she was informed that they gave the property to the poor. Just then John Gedney 
at whose tavern the court had always sat, came in, and she asked 
it ,ie was the poor they gave it to. Major Hathorne said, “Would 
>011 have us starve while we sit about your business?” The court 

Ind°n lid °r bi’!S PaLd f°r f°0d and d™k, and thTma,Servants 

ffita1” more they 

Philip \ eren spoke to some of his neighbors of the cruelties 

scientC0He QUakers’ beinS a -an of a live? com 
said that the government had murdered the dear 
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saints and servants of God and that he himself saw one of them 
murdered at Boston. Sept. 29, 1663, the Ipswich court, for these 
“seditious and treasonable words against the government" and 
this “great offence against the country in slandering the govern¬ 
ment,” ordered him to be severely whipped. 

Samuel Shattock went into the Salem court, Nov. 24, 1663, 
and charged the court and country with being guilty of innocent 
blood and words to that effect. He was sentenced to pay a fine. 
Dec. 21, 1675, John Holmes accused the Salem magistrates of 
murdering the Quakers, William Robinson and Marmaduke Ste¬ 
phenson. 

At this time, the general court enacted some new laws against 
the Friends; but it was too late for them to have any substantial 
force. In 1677, constables were authorized to search for meetings 
and apprehend the persons who were present for punishment. 

In the spring of 1669, a young man, named Thomas Maule1, 
appeared in Salem, and became the foremost of the Friends, in 
wealth and energy. He 
was son of Thomas and Susan¬ 
na Maule, and was born May 
11, 1645, in Barkville Parish, 
near the city of Coventry, in Warwickshire, England. He wrote, 
in middle life, that 

Human Learning I have not, 

yet several books emanated from his pen. When about twelve 
years of age, he left England and went to the Island of Barbadoes, 
and from there, for the sake of his health, to New England about 
1666, being then of age. He heard much preaching and loud pray¬ 
ing, he said, and after living among the people in a certain place 
about three years, he experienced their words to be good, but their 
works evidenced quite the contrary. He then went to Salem where 
he found the church similar to that in the town he had just left. 
Here, he soon found, however, a number of quiet people of few 
words and good works, and to these he was attracted. As he was 
a stranger, the officials supposed that he was a Quaker, and Apiil 
19, 1669, fined Samuel Shattock and Samuel Robinson, who en- 
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tertained him, twenty shillings each. He was then but twenty- 
three, and spoke his mind freely. He said that Mr. Higginson 
preached lies and that his doctrines were of the devil. Beino- com- 
plained of, May 3, 1669, the local court ordered that he be whipped 
ten stripes well laid on.” F 

THOMAS MAULE HOUSE 

In Salem court, Maule was fined for working openly in his 
shop, June 29, 1675, which was a public fast day. 

Maule was a tailor when he came to Salem, but soon entered 
into tiade and did a large and successful business, dealing in all 
the general kinds of merchandise, hardware, drygoods, medicines, 
country produce, furs, staves,-tobacco, grain, hay, rum and other 
liquors. About 1685, he also made bricks on the easterly side of 
Cambridge Street, about two hundred feet from Essex Street. 
His house stood on the southerly side of Essex Street, about one 
hundred feet westerly of Cambridge Street, and was built on land 
o Jonathan Xeale in 1679* I he agreement for its construction 
was made Dec. 20, 1678, and it was finished Oct. 30, 1679. It 
was thirty-five feet long, twenty feet wide with fourteen feet 
posts. The deed of the land was not made out until Oct. 6, 1681.1 
He deeded it to his son John, April 9, 17072, and it passed to the 

o man family in 1746, when Samuel Hayward was conducting 
the shop. In this house many meetings of the Friends were un¬ 
doubtedly held. _ In 1815, it was described as very old and quaint 
looking. The title remained in the Holmans until 1848 when it 
was conveyed to John Clark and from his heirs, in 1851, it passed 
to the Curwen family. It was removed in 1852. The illustration 

Tssex Registry of Deeds, book 6, leaf 27 
Kssex Registry of Deeds, book 19, leaf 164. 
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of the old house is copied from a pencil drawing of it made by 
Miss Kate Johnson in 1850. 

It has been said that the first burial place of the Friends was 
on the side of the hill, at the western corner of Boston and Good- 
hue streets. When Edward Wharton died, March 3, 1677-8, in 
his nuncupative will be gave five pounds towards procuring a 
burying place. With this money was purchased, for this purpose, 
a small lot of land owned by Joseph Boyce, who was also a Friend, 
on the southerly side of Main Street, opposite Grove Street, in 
Peabody. The yard has been used ever since, the last interment 
having been made in or about 1882. The State legislature, in 
1924, authorized its abandonment and the removal of the 
remains of persons buried there to the Friends burial place on 
Essex Street, in Salem, and the next year the remains were, so 
removed. 

Maule erected some buildings for others, and probably had in 
his possession considerable used lumber. I11 the autumn of 1688 , 
he erected a meeting house for the Quakers out of such lumber on 
the northwesterly corner of his six-acre pasture, the site being on 
the southeasterly side of Essex Street, just easterly of Grace 
church. Oct. 13, 1690, he conveyed that corner of the pasture 
with the building thereon to Josiah and Daniel Southwick, Samuel 
Gaskin, Caleb Buffum, Christopher Foster and Sarah Stone, all of 
Salem, and Samuel Collins, of Lynn, and others of the people 
called Quakers, “for the use of the above named and several others 
of the people commonly called Quakers to worship and serve 
God in.”2 This building was the meeting house of the Quakers 
for twenty-five years. The high seat on which the leaders of the 
services sat was called the gallery in this meeting house. As 
the Quakers were building a new house for their services, Nov 
18, 1718, Daniel Southwick, Samuel Gaskill, Caleb Buff am and 
Samuel Collins, being the survivors of the grantees named in the 
deed from Maule, for themselves and others interested 111 the 
propertv, reconveyed to him the land and old building theieon. 
The meeting house was added to, and was a dwelling house until 
1753, when the old meeting house part was separated from the 
main portion of the dwelling house and removed to Gallow s Hi 
pasture, where it was then used for smallpox patients. It was 
there until 1864, when, under a mistaken idea that it was the first 
meeting house in Salem or was a part of that meeting house, it 
was removed to the grounds of the Essex Institute, where it ie 
mains. Because of the misinterpretation of the agreement for the 

'Essex Registry of Deeds, book 8, leaf 102. 
2Essex Registry of Deeds, book 9, leaf 29. 
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building of the addition of the first meeting house, all the posts 
were lengthened two and a half feet; so the building as it now 
appears is two and a half feet higher than it was when found. 
The illustration of the building shown herewith is a copy of a 
pencil sketch of it made by James Henry Emerton in 1861, as it 
stood in the pasture and was used as a woodshed. 

Love to God, love to men, sacrifice and heavenly aspirations 
were the essentials of the faith of the Friends,—all else was 
secondary. It is almost impossible for one in these days to under¬ 
stand the actions of the Puritans who left England and the com¬ 
munion of the Episcopal Church on the plea of liberty of con¬ 
science, and came to America where they manifested far greater 
and more heinous intolerance than was shown them at any time. 

The cause lay in the union of church and state. The church 
and the state should exist and work side by side, but as soon as 
the state lives in the church, the will of the state will be para¬ 
mount. Ecclesiastical law, so far as creed is concerned, will always 
cause trouble in the state, because all men do not think alike, be¬ 
lieve alike or run in any other grooves, and the aims of church 
and state are different and often antagonistic. The state must be 
governed and conducted by all the people, whatever their religious 
faiths may be. Christ settled this matter once for all time when, 
being shown a coin, he asked, “Whose is this image and super¬ 
scription, Being' told, “Caesar’s,” he said, “Render to Caesar 
the things that are Caesar’s ; and to God the things that are God’s.” 

The great result of this persecution of the Quakers was the 
end of the temporal power of the church in New England. To 
this time no one could vote or hold office unless he was a freeman; 
no one could be a freeman unless he was a member of the Con¬ 
gregational church; and no one could be a member of the church 
except by the consent of the minister. Therefore no one could be 
a freeman, nor vote, nor hold office, except with the consent of the 
church. CharlesII had heard, even before he had succeeded to the 
throne, of the differences between the Congregationalists and the 
Quakers in the Massachusetts Bay Colony, of the hateful and 
awful treatment of one another of these “followers” of the meek 
and lowly Jesus, and he, being of the Episcopal Church, 
which was banned by the Puritans, informed the government of 
the colony that it owed its origin and very existence to the spirit 
of liberty and conscience, and ordered that the qualifications of 
freemen should thereafter be based entirely upon standards out¬ 
side of church membership. Another fact is also apparent in 
Salem. Practically, the Congregational church in the colony was 
an established church, existing and controlled by the state, that is, 
the temporal or secular authority. At this time, the unity of the 



QUAKER PERSECUTION 275 

church here was broken. Salem became divided into three parish¬ 
es, each independent of the others, namely, the Salem Village 
church, the Cape Ann Side (Beverly) church and the original 
church. Soon, the authority of the town passed into the parishes, 
each having the former powers of the town to levy taxes for the 
support of the church within the respective territories. This was 
repeatedly modified until the parish became entirely personal, that 
is, that no one belonged to it except those who voluntarily were 
admitted into it, and it was supported wholly by voluntary do¬ 

nations. _ . . 
Thus dawned a condition, not less Christian, not less patnotic, 

wherein freedom of belief and form and life did not hinder the 
civil life. In this view of the terrible persecution, Salem became 
the battle ground where was fought out the principle of separate 
duties to God and things. It seems almost incredible and impossi¬ 
ble that one of the contending parties should, have been the meek 
and non-resisting Friends, without a creed, liturgy, priesthood or 
sacrament; and which have never allowed war, oaths or litigation. 
By their quiet passiveness and reasoning, their scruples imme¬ 
diately became recognized and acquiesced in by the governing 
powers. In a local way, it is an interesting* fact that the meeting 
house which Thomas Maule built for them out of secondhand 
lumber is the only meeting house of that early time now in ex¬ 
istence in Salem, and that it was, unwittingly, it is true, removed 
to the Essex Institute, more than sixty years ago and has been 
carefully guarded all the decades since,, by descendants of the 
Puritans, as a sacred thing. Such is the irony of fate. 



CHAPTER XVI 

REV. JOHN HIGGINSON 

ANUARY 29, 1658-9, the selectmen ordered that the 
ten-acre lot of Joseph Hardy (“Hardinge”) on Cape 
Ann Side he bounded and recorded; and twelve acres 
of upland near the farm of Thomas James were 
granted to Francis Skerry for about forty rods of his 

land which was added to the highway going to Richard Stack¬ 
house’s ferry. 

May 2, 1659, the town granted “to Helyard Varen room be¬ 
fore his now dwelling house to make a porch.” This was the 
Higginson and Williams parsonage in Town House Square. At 
the same time, the town granted to William Robinson one-fourth 
of an acre of land between the old mill and his house. 

Thomas Flint1 was living in Salem as early as 1650. He was 
hiothei of V illiam Flint who had come to Salem eight years 
earlier as a tenant of Emmanuel Downing" 

Hhomas Flint1 was a farmer; wife Ann; died April 15, 1663; 
children: 1. Thomas"; 2. Elizabeth", born June 30, 1650; married John Leach; 
3. George", born March 6, 1652-3; farmer; lived in Reading in 1682; married, 
first, Elizabeth Putnam; she died March 6, 1697; married, second, Susannah 
Gardner March 2, 1698-9; she died March —, 1720; had children; 4. John2, 
born Dec. 3, 1655; 5. Anna", born Feb. 25, 1657-8; died April —, 1663; 6. 
Joseph5 born in 1662. 

Capt. Thomas Flint2; served in King Philip’s War; carpenter; lived in 
Salem Village; married, first, Hannah Moulton May 22, 1666; she died 
March 20, 1673; married, second, Mary Dounton Nov. 15, 1674; died in the 
spring of 1721; children: 1. Abigail3, born June 27, 1668; married Henry 
Houiton; 2. George", born April —, 1672; husbandman; wife Sarah; they 
were living in 1749; 3. Thomas’, born Aug. 20, 1678; 4. Mary3, born Nov. 11, 
1680; married Jonathan Hayward; 5. Ebenezer3, born April 6, 1683; husband-' 

,.ve(lpn R^dingd married Gertrude Pope; died in 1767; had children: 
6. // ilham , born July 17, 1685; 7- Elizabeth3, born Aug. 30, 1687; married 
1 homas Nichols of Reading Nov. —, 1709; 8. Jonathan3, born Nov. 8, 1689; 
husbandman; lived in Reading; married Mary Hart Feb. 18, 1723; had 
children: 9. Ann , born Oct. 29, 1691; married Ebenezer Nichols of Read¬ 
ing June 21, 1711; 10. Samuel3, born Sept. 29, 1693; 11. Lydia3, born June 
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May 11, 1659, the general court made the observance of 
Christmas a misdemeanor, in the following words: “For pre- 

i, 1695; probably married Joseph Putnam Jan. 3, 1720-T. John Flint'; 
husbandman and carpenter; lived in Salem Village; married Elizabeth - 
she died before 1730; he died April 1730; children:\ i Samuel" born 
Dec. 12, 1679; 2. John3, born Feb. 8, 1681; husbandman; lived in Windham, 
Conn.; married, first, Christian Reed May 5> I7°91 she died Sept. 27, T721 > 
married, second, Lydia Gennings March 14, 1722; he was living m I/31* 
had children; 3. Hannah3, born April 4, 1685; married John larbell ot 
Billerica Aug. 25, 1705; 4- Stephen3, born Dec. 29, 1687; 5. Joshua , born 
Oct. 28, 1689; lived in Windham; married Deborah Ingalls of Andover 
Oct. —’ 1715; died at sea; had children; 6. Joseph3, born Feb. 25, 1692-3; 
mariner; married Patience Mascoll; living in 1731; 7- Lydia, born July 20 
1696- married — Phillips; 8. Sarah3, born Aug. 18, 1700married Richard 
B-riwrt; 9. Elizabeth3, born Jan. 10, 1702-3; married Benjamin Gillingham. 
Joseph Flint2; husbandman; lived in Salem Village; married Abigail 
May ward Aug. 6, 1685; died in 1710; she was his widow m 1719; children: 
1. Jose'M born June 25, 1686; 2. Nathaniel3, born Dec. 11, 1688; lived m 
Windham; married, first, Sarah Cutler Feb. 17, 1714-5; she died Dec. 20, 
1726- married, second, Mary Davis May 22, 1727; she died Feb 22 1728; 
married, third, Mercy Abbee Dec. n, 17341 he died June 3, 1766; she died 
Dec 5, 1771; had children; 3. Abigail", born Jan. 12, 1690-1; probably 
married Robert Russell of Andover June 22, 1716; 4. Jonathan*, born March 
31, 1691-2; 5. Anna3, born Aug. 3, 1693; 6.. Samuel, born Jan. 1, 1694-5> 
tailor; of Salem in 1717, and of Middleton in. 1738; perhaps married Ruth 
Putnam March 6, 1722-3; 7- Lucy3, born April 22 1698; probably married 
Thomas Eliot of Boxford May 30,, 1723; 8. Elizabeth, born July 6, 1700 
probably married Samuel Marsh Feb. 23, 1726-7; 9- Sarah born March 5’ 
1703-4; died, unmarried, in 1723; 10. Ruth, born March 31, 1705? 1I- 
Eunice3; probably married Thomas Goldthwaite m 1730. 

Capt Thomas Flint3; yeoman and carpenter; married, first, Lydia 
Putnam Jan. 6, 1703-4; she died Aug. 31, 1711; married second Mary Put¬ 
nam of Middleton Jan. 8, 1713; third, Abigail (Leech), widow of J°hri 
Ganson Sept. 1, 1726; she was his wife in 1735; he was living m 1741, 
children: 1. Thomas4, born Nov. 23, 1705; farmer and millwright; lived in 
Reading; married Priscilla Porter of Topsfield Dec. 7, 1732; she died Apri 
28, 1774; he died Jan. 24, 1775 *, had children ; 2. Jonathan born Oct 12 1707 
(of Killingly, Conn., husbandman, in 1749?) ; 3- Lydia born Sept 10, 1709, 
probably married Joseph Porter in 1730; 4. Mary, born ug. 9, 7 » 
probably married Eleazer Porter in 1729; 5- Edward born!/ukne 
died July 9, 1714; 6. Elishcf, born July 22, 1715; 7. Elizabeth , baptized Oct. 
6, 1717; married Thomas Dorman of Topsfield June 17, i/35, • WP ’ 
baptized Nov. 15, 1719; married, first, Simon Bradstreet ofR b®Psbef CL ' 
16 1740- he died Sept. 18, 1747; married, second, John Baker of fops 
field Feb. 2, 1748-9; 9- Moses4, baptized Sept 24, 1721. Dea.• Willia 
Flint3, husbandman; lived in Reading; married Abigail Nichols April 20, 
AT died Oct 1 1736: children: , William* born Apnl 14, W husband- 
man- married Lydia Twiss in 1745-6; 2. Abigail, born Sept. 0o, 1719, 3- 
Elizabeth4, born Feb. 8, 1722; 4- James born July 25 1724; hyed m R 
ing; father of Rev. James Flint, pastor of the East °6f 
Rev. Jacob Flint of Cohasset, Mass.; 5. Joseph , born Sept. 7, JL7-0, o- 
Beniamin4, born Dec. 26. 1728; 7. Mary, born Jan. 14, 173° , 8 KendaII 
baptized in i733; 9- Jacob4, baptized in 1734- Capt Sam 
bandman; lived in South Danvers; married Ruth Putnam March b 17- 3, 
died March 10. 1767; she died Sept. -, 1780; children: . 
14, 1723-4; 2. John4, born Aug. 27, 1725; deacon; captain, farmer, lived 
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venting disorders arising in several places within this jurisdiction 
by reason of some still observing such festivals as were super- 
stitiously kept in other countries, to the great dishonor of God 
and offence of others, it is therefore ordered . . that whoso¬ 
ever shall he found observing any such day as Christmas or the 
like, either by forbearing of labor, feasting, or any other way, 

. . shall pay for every such offence five shillings ,as a fine 
to the county.” 

June 15, 1659, was commended by the general court to be set 
apart as “a solemn day of humiliation for the imploring of God’s 
favorable presence yet to abide with our dear native country, and 
with us his poor people and churches in the ends of the earth, and 
with our seed after us,” the court “taking into their serious con¬ 
sideration the present unsettled estate and condition of our 
brethren in our native country, by commotions and great thoughts 
pf heart, both in country and parliament, now assembled, a good 
issue whereof doth wholly depend upon the Lord’s favor and good¬ 
ness towards them, as also the Lord’s frowns upon ourselves by 

in Middleton; married Huldah Putnam Jan. 8, 1746-7; died Feb. 15, 1802- 
she died May 1, 1802; had children; 3. Mary4, born April 10, 1730; 4. 
Samuel , born April 9, 1733; captain; farmer; soldier of the Revolution; 
lived in South Danvers; married Ede Upton Jan. 12, 1758; killed at the 
head of his company, at Stillwater, Oct. 7, 1777; she died July 6, 1812; had 
children. Stephen Flint ; husbandman; lived in Middleton; married 
Hannah Noulton in 17141 she was his wife in 1731 j he died in 1753; children; 
1. Samuel, born Sept. 1, 1715; 2. Anna4, born June 9, 1718; 3.^ Elizabeth4, 
born Dec 2, 1721; 4. Mehitable4, born Jan. 28, 1724; 5. Hannah4, born Dec. 
3’ I/27- t Joseph Flint0; yeoman; lived in South Danvers; married Rachel 
Sjbley Nov. 16, 1710; had a wife Mary in 1727; died in the spring of 1747; 
children: 1. Joseph ; probably died before 1746; 2. William4; lived in Dan¬ 
vers; yeoman; married Ruth Newman May 24, 1751; 3. Lydia4; living in 
1746; 4 Ruth4; living in 1746; 5- Ann4; living in 1746; 6. Abigail4’; living in 
1746. Jonathan Flint'; husbandman; married Hannah Swinerton Jan. 
3, 1716-7; she was his wife in 1738; child: 1. Hannah4, baptized Oct. 21, 1722. 

Capt Elisha Flint4; farmer; lived in South Danvers; married Miriam 
Putnam Jan. 28, 1741-2; was living in 1773; children: 1. Mary6, baptized 
March 13, 1742-3; 2 Moses baptized July 13, 1746; 3. Rebecca6, baptized 
Jan. 29, 1748-9; 4- Mehitable, baptized Jan. 15, 1758; 5. Miriam5, baptized 
Nov. 12, 1759; 6. Hannah, baptized Nov. 13, 1763. Joseph Flint4- house 
carpenter; married Sarah Putnam Aug. 14, 1753; died Dec. —, 1795; she 
was his widow in 1799^children : 1. Sarah6, baptized Feb. 19, 1758; thrown 
from a sleigh into Ipswich River and drowned Jan. 14, 1775, aged eighteen; 
2. .Elizabeth, baptized Jan. 27, 1760; unmarried in 1795; 3. Whlliam5 bap- 
tized Jan. 24 1762; lived in Maryland; married Lydik Mitchell in 1799; 
died Jan. 12, 1832; she died June 25, 1841; had children; 4. —6 (daughter), 
baptized March n 1764; 5- Mary6, baptized Aug. 3, 1766; married - 
Holmes; 6. Kendall , baptized Sept. 11, 1768; sadler; lived in Marvland; 
married Bridget Lang Aug. 4, 1793; died at Easton, Md., Dec. 14, 1800; had 
in dun; 7. Phebe , baptized Aug. 5, 1770; 8. Thomas5, baptized Jan. 17, 
1773; living m 1795; 9. Sally baptized March 5, 1775; 10. Joseph5; living 

1X1 1/95! 11. Abigail'; married Abner Parrott of Talbot, Md. 
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the irreparable rents and divisions in sundry churches, the great 
security and sensuality under our present enjoyments, the sad 
face on the rising generation, together with threats of future 
evils in this present spring season, all of which are signs of the 
Lord's displeasure for our withdrawing from him.” 

July 7, 1659, the selectmen ordered that the foot bridge 
over the marsh at N. Putnam’s farm be speedily mended, William 
Flint and Samuel Cutler to do the work; and William Dodge and 
John Rayment were chosen to mend the bridge and highway 

between Frost-fish River and Wenham. - 
Nov. 29, 1659, the selectmen gave leave to Richard Flarvey , 

tailor, to mend the a 
little house adjoining 
the meeting house, and 
make use of it for a 
shop at the pleasure of 

Dec 8 1659, was commended by the general court, as a day 
of thanksgiving and acknowledgement of God’s fevors, 

March 14, 1659-60, the selectmen appointed Sergeant Poj ter 
and Edmond Batter to lay out highways m the ten-acre o s on 

Cane Ann Side as need may require. * 
P Matthew WoodwelP lived in Salem as early as 1659, and was 

a seaman at first, subsequently becoming a bnckmaker. e 
bought a tract of land through which High Street now runs, and 
on which, at 2 High Street court, in 1666, he built a small house, 

and lived there until his decease in 1691. 

‘Richard Harvey married Jehoidan —; died before 1679; she *“"lved 

him; ^children : :. sLy died ^ 
1660 * 3. Anna, baptized Dec. 8, iooi, marriea yv , •+ un1ise 
y v A' o Am - Hied before I72Q; 5. John, baptized Dec. S,.iooi, fiouse 

Wo’oDW^VoodaU) married Mary--; died in 1691J she 

survived™Children : 1. sW. born. Octg> M^r'ie%SU 

1661-2; died young; 3- born 9Oct ^6 *1667 ; ’ 5. Matthew2, born 
Stacey; living in 1702, 4- Mary , . A’.t= born Aug. 4, 1671; 
Dec. 4. 1668; married Ann died .r1705 1674 
married John Robinson June 18, 1694, 7- b DJcjs= born 
married Benjamin Pickman of Marblehead Nov. H, ^orbc ’ Nov. 
about 1676; married Stephen Chapman Nov. 7°^- 9- 6J’ 

* tsz «fcssrtss -Vi* jj-j 
Stacy; died Dec. I5< 1697, she A JR1C ’ SC Cj° j y 2’ j6g7 • 3. Gideon3, born 
Samuel*, born Jan. 14, .168r 2. John born July 25> 3 M Xongue 

5? 1^;; carried Sarah (Chamberlain), 
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John bly lived in Salem as early as 1653* when he was about 
fourteen; John Pomeroy was here in 1660, being a mariner, and 
was cast away at sea in 1662; and George Keaser2, a tanner, came 

here from Lynn in the autumn of 
1660, when he built a dwelling house 
on South River, on the easterly side 
of Liberty Street. There, he es¬ 

tablished tanning, lie had bought the land six years previously 

wjdow of Josiah Clark March 13, 1711-2; lived in Boston, cordwainer, in 
and 1714; had a child; 5* Benjamin3, born Dec. 28, 1691; seaman; lived 

L?ston m I7I5 and in Charlestown subsequently; married Alice Johnson 
1-ij iar eSJ°^n ^T°v. 1, 1715; died Jan. 17, 1721-2; she survived him; had 

children; 6. Jonathan, born April 5, 1693; 7. Elizabeth3, horn April —, 
..95; married Paul Langford Dec. 4, 1716; 8. David3, born Nov. 17, 1697; 
ned in Boston, blacksmith, in 1718; removed to Hopkinton about 1730; 

deacon; married Mary —; she was taken captive by the Indians and died 
in prison at Quebec; had children. 

Samuel Woodwell3 removed to Hopkinton before 1730, and to Hop- 
kinton, N. H., before 1736; glover; married Elizabeth Carrill Nov. 10 Bis¬ 
was living m 1754; children, born in Salem: 1. Elizabeth4, baptized Feb 1’ 
I7j8-9 ; 2. Mary baptized July 2, 1721; 3. Samuel4, baptized June 28, 1724! 
John Woodwell'; married-; child: 1. Mary4, baptized Nov. 3, 1706 
Jonathan Woodwell ; fisherman; married Priscilla Stacy May 8 1716- 
died 111 1737; children: 1. John* born Nov, 30, 1719; 2. Joseph4, born July 
.Lj/"2 cJ’ Jonathan , baptized April 5, 1724; 4. Jonathan4, born Aug. 7, 
r/-b; 5. Stacy ,, born Jan. 19, 1728-9; 6. Priscilla4, baptized Oct 3 1731 

John Woodwell ^mariner; married Elizabeth Gillingham’ Aug. 28 
1/39; children : 1. Lydia, baptized May 24, 1741; married Samuel Alexander 
(Landers) Sept 18, 1757; 2. Elizabeth5, baptized Dec. 19, 1742; married 

Wche^ln| Bpb-bl mm1 u ¥a7Abaptized Jan- 8’ 1743-4; married Samuel 
Archer, 4. Priscilla baptized Oct 13, 1745; 5. Priscilla5, baptized Dec. 13, 
1/47^ married Jonathan Glover; 6. John5, baptized Feb. 4, 1749-50 

4 John Bly was a brickmaker; married Rebecca Golt Nov. n 1663- was 
living m 1709; she was living in 1713; children: 1. -, born Jan. 3, 1663-4! 

: (?ahrn’ ffrn JjT- 27> l6d5; living in 1685; 3- Benjamin, born Oct. 8, 1666; 
l’ b0nJ 25, ,l6d8; Rebecca, born July 20, 1670; married James 

Gillingham; 6 Edmond, born Sept. 14,, 1672; living in 1685 • 7 Hannah 
born Oct. 8 1674; 8. William, born Sept. 17/ 1676. 7‘ ’ 

Fi;caE0RGL K-A?E?1 ^KezaGand Keyser), born about 1612; married first 

iambi AshbvA10'Vime 24k-l6S9-} n?ariTed' second> Rebecca (widow of Ben- 
childrcn aiiV2 ’ ^le was bis wife in 1687; he died in the summer of 1690; 
children, all born in Lynn: r. Sarah2; married John Gilloway April 7 1666• 

HA’f son), born about 1646; 3. John2, born about 1651; ta™er: 
settled in Haverhill; married Hannah Davis of Haverhill Sept 28 1677- 

maSrrLlSTh bL‘hLIndia"s .MaTb IS, 1696-7; had children;'4. Mary2;’ 
160S o JrohaWv d; •S,BePJa“m'> born about 1658; died about January, 

unable Intake N°V' * ^ 8 neyeLnaki^ 

r Capt- Eleazer Keaser2; tanner; married, first, Dec 9 1670 Marv 

£ spn^of T- m mthner Sie<T°nd’ Hannah> widow of Miles Ward f died in 
Tames Collins Bn ’7 Jac 2%T3~4: children: 1. Mary3; married 
James Collins Jan. 7, 1701-2; 2. Sarah3, born Dec. 6, 1686; died before T721 
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JOHN PICKERING HOUSE 

April 3, 1660, the selectmen ordered that “all timber wood 
and all other lumber” should be cleared in all streets and highways 
within the town, that is, from the bridge and so all the neck within 
the town, that there may be sufficient passage for carts and 

“foot and horse by night and day.” 
At the same time, the selectmen fined Joseph Miles twenty 

shillings for entertaining a stranger, a Scot, several weeks, and 
voted to “clear the town of him” ; and Thomas Spooner was fined 
ten shillings for entertaining Goody Finch, “a strange woman,” 
and with others who have entertained her to give security to 

“discharge the town of her.” 
John Pickering lived, a searly as 1642, on the northerly side 

of Broad Street, westerly of Pickering Street. I11 1659, he pur¬ 
chased the lot of land next easterly of his house, and upon this 
higher ground built the ancient Pickering house the next year. A 

PICKERING FIREBACK 
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fire back was set in the back part of the fireplace. This fireback 
was cast at the iron-works in Saugus at that date, and is preserved 
in the museum of the Essex Institute. John Pickering died pos¬ 
sessed of the house in 1694. The next owner was his son John 
Pickering, who also died possessed of it. The next owner was the 
latter’s son, Dea. Timothy Pickering, who died possessed of it in 
1778. It then descended to his son Col. Timothy Pickering, who 
was born in this house in 1745, and became secretary of state un¬ 
der Washington and Adams, secretary of war, postmaster-general 
and member of congress. Colonel Pickering died possessed of the 
house in 1829; and its title and possession still remain in the 
family. 

May 1, 1660, the selectmen admitted Nicholas Deacon ai an 
inhabitant of the town, and Henry Herrick and Benjamin Balch 
were fined for entertaining him the next day. November 29th 
following, he was presented to the local court for living apart from 
his wife, and Henry Herrick was one of the witnesses against him. 
In 1669, Deacon told the court that he expected his wife soon 
He was then living in Beverly. 

May 8, 1660, the selectmen admitted John Sampson1 as an in¬ 
habitant of the town, provided that he took effectual course to 

bring his wife with him; 
and on the same day Wil¬ 
liam Haynes2, a tailor, who 
had come from Virginia, 
was also admitted an inhab¬ 
itant. 

_ 

A week later, the selectmen granted to William Lord, sr., in 
further satisfaction of the land taken for the site of the first meet¬ 
ing house, ten acres of land between Thomas James’ and Mr. 
Downing’s farm. 

Aug. 13, 1660, the town granted to John Loomis3 sixteen 
square rods of land between the two ways (Boston and Aborn 
streets), as an enlargement of his house lot. 

A\ illiam Ellet of Cape Ann Side went into a deep pond after 
a duck, which had been shot, Sept. 13, 1660; and he was found 

John Sampson was born about 1627; yeoman; constable; lived in the 
Beverly part of Salem as late as 1680; was called “son-in-law” of Richard 
and Alary Haines in 1677; children: 1. Sarah, born June 18, 1668; 2. Alary, 
Porn;!^?v- I5, 1670; 3. Ciprian, born Alarch 13, 1672-3. 

( Tins was, perhaps, the William Haynes who married Sarah Ingersoll 
oi Salem in or before 1644; and was a husbandman in Salem in 1648, having 
been^ in Virginia in the interim. 

3John Loomes was a seaman, and lived on the western corner of Boston 
and Aborn streets m 1659; married Alary Trask; died about 1685, leaving an 
only son John and widow Alary, both of whom lived in Salem in 1700. Air. 
Loomis daughter Alary w^as born Dec. 16 1659 
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drowned the next morning. The pond was “environed with long 
weeds, some about nine fathoms/’ and both of his hands had 
weeds fast wrapped around them. A jury, consisting of William 
Dodge, Robert Hubbard, John Leach, Edmond Grover, Zackary 
Herrick, Cornelius Baker, Osmond Trask, John Grover, Joseph 
Harris, Nicholas Decane and Isaac Davis, was summoned, and 
they decided that the deceased had been drowned by accident1. 
Neither Elliot nor his wife Sarah were desirable citizens2. 

Nathaniel Pattey appeared in Salem this year for the first 
time, and he was of Bass River Side the next year. He was a 
servant of Hugh Woodberryj and was g'one to sea m Novembei. 
Nov. 6, 1660, the selectmen admitted Clement Salmonds8 to be an 

inhabitant. He came from Boston, and - . , ^ 
returned thither in 1662. Hugh Jones4 
came from Wincanton, England, about 
1642, in Mr. Stratton’s ship, as a 
servant of Robert Gutch, and lived in Salem in 1660, having been 
a servant of Thomas Gardner. He became a planter. 

After Charles II ascended the throne of England, fearful that 
the events occurring during the period of the Commonwealth 
might have influenced the young' monarch unfavorably towaid 
the Massachusetts Bay Colony, the general court addressed to 
him the following latter (which is here given somewhat abbre¬ 

viated :— 

To the hi?h & mighty Prince Charles the Second, by the grace of God 
King" of Great Brittajne, Fraunce, & Ireland, Defender of the 

Faith, &c. 
Most gracious & dread soueraigne. . .. 

May it please your majty, in the day wherein yow happily say yow 
now know that yow are king ouer your Brittish Israel, to cast a av°r 

able eye vpon your poore Mephibbosheth, now, &, by reason of lamenes 

in respect of distance, not vntill now, appearing in your presence; wee 
meane vpon New England, kneeling with the rest of your subjects be¬ 

fore vor mai17, as her restored king; wee forgett not oui ineptness as 
to these approaches. Wee at present owne such impotency as renders vs 

'Records and Files of the Quarterly Courts of Essex County, volume H, 

Page'M2r2s2 Elliofmarried, secondly, before November 27th 
The latter drank intoxicating liquor to excess, aid she had an“"pjntrollaM 
tongue They lived in Wenharn m 1662. Mr. Elliot had a daughter baran, 
who survived him. As a boy, in 1641, he was a setrvant of HughLaskn, 

3Clement Sammon married Joanna Riland June 13, 1600, in Eost , 
children 1.lohnCn May 9. A ».Salem; 2, Mary born 
in Boston; 3. Elizabeth, born Feb. 26,, 1665-6, m Boston, 4. Samuel, born 

APr‘Hugh Jones, born about 1641; married first, Hannah Tompkins June 
26, 1660; she died in 1672; married, second, Mary Foster Dec. 3E /-- 1 
was living in 1681 and dead m 1691; she was living m 1696, and was o 
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vnable to excuse our impotency of speaking vnto our lord the king- • yet 
contemplating such a king, who hath also seene adversity, that he 

knoweth the heart of exiles, who himself hath binn an exile, the aspect 

ot majesty, thus extraordinary^ circumstanced, influenced, and ani¬ 
mated! exam mated outcasts (yett outcasts, as wee hope, for the trueth) 
to make this addresse vnto theire prince. Hoping to find in yor sight 

wee present script, the transcript of our loyall hearts, into yor royal! 
nanus, wherein wee craue leaue. 

Io supplicate yo' majesty for yo‘ gracious protection of vs in the 
continuance both ot our civil priviledges according to (& of our re¬ 

ligion & hbertjes) the grauntees knowne end, of suing for the pattern 

conferred vpon this plantation by your royall ffather. This, our libertie 
to walke in the faith of the gospell wth all good conscience according 

to the order ot the gospell, (vnto which the former in these ends of the 

earth is but subservient,) was the cause of our transporting ourselves 

w our wiues, our litle ones, & our substance, from that pleasant land 

°-r Atlanticke Ocean into the vast & wast wildernes, choosing 
rather the pure Scripture worship, wth a good conscienc, in this poore, 

remote wildernes, amongst the heathens, then the pleasures of England 

w submission to the impositions of the then so disposed & so farre pre- 
vavling hierarchy, wch wee could not doe wthout an evil consci¬ 
ence. 

.. ^.U1. Wttnes is in heaven, that wee left not our countrje vpon any 
dissatisfaction as to the constitution of the civil state. Our lott, after the 

example of the good old non conformist, hath binn only to act a passiue 

Part through out these late vicissitudes & successiue’ ouerturnings of 

state- Our seperation from our brethren in this desart hath binn & is 
a sufficient bringing to minde the afliction of Joseph; but providential! 

exemption of vs hereby from the late warrs & temptations of either 

paitv wee account as a favo' from God; the former cloaths vs wth sack 
cloth, the latter with innocence. 

Wee could not liue wthout the publicke worship of God. Wee were 
not pmitted the vse of publicke worship wthout such a yoake of sub¬ 

set lpt ion ot conformity as wee could not consent vnto wthout sinne. 

lhat wee might therefore enjoy divine worship wthout the humajne 
mix ures, w out offence either to God, man, or our owne consciences, 

wee w leaue, but not w 'out teares, departed from our country, kindred, 

& fathers houses, into this Pathmos, in relation wherevnto wee doe not 

,sa; &arments are become old by reason of the very long iourney, 
11. la ourse ves, who came away in our strength, are, by reason of 

very long absence, many of vs become grey headed, & some of vs stoop- 

inu,’ f1(n asr5'. T ie. omission of the prementioned injunctions, together 
w tlle walking of our churches, as to the point of order, the congre- 

Wi'to 'IWf fI^H! : k HaAlnah’ bor" Feb- 9. 1660-T; 2. Sara, horn 

ETta* l-zl ^dDep4 V Au7;b°66-,Jof Fr^tagi 

- r ' /’..Tf/d 5> to. Hannah, born May 17, 1677* 11 Rachel born Anril t*7 
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gationall way is all wherein wee differ from our Orthodox brethren. Sr, 
wee lye not before yor sacred maj^je. The Lord God of gods, the Lord 

God of gods, he knoweth, & Israeli he shall know; if it were in rebellion 
or schisme that wee wittingly left our dwellings in our owne, or con- 
tinew our dwellings in this strainge land, saue vs not this day. . . 

With the religious stippulation of our prajers, wee, prostrate at yor 
rojall feete, begg pardon for this our boldnes, craving finally that our 

names may be enrolled amongst 
Yo1' majljes most humble 

Subjects & suppljants, 
John Endecott, Gouno1', in the name & by 

the order of the Generali Court of ye Massachusetts. 

With this letter to the king, another was sent, addressed to 
Parliament, and also a letter of instructions to the colonial agent 
in England.1 

Rev. Edward Norris, pastor of the church, was not well for 
several years before his decease. In his will, dated Dec. 9, 1657, 
he wrote: “having* infirmity upon me which may prove very dan¬ 
gerous, and mortal.” Sometime after, he was stricken speechless 
in the pulpit. He became so weak that the town ordered, May 2, 
1659, “that when God shall take Mr. Norrice to rest out of this 
world to himself: that the town shall be at the charge for his 
burial.” He died Dec. 23, 1659, after serving here nineteen 
years, and in the prime of his life. 

Rev. Mr. Whiting2 was still in service here when Mr. 
Norris died, but removed immediately afterward to Billerica, 
where he was ordained pastor of the church Nov. 11, 1663. He 
preached the Artillery sermon in 1682. Cotton Mather called 
him “a reverend, holy, and faithful minister of the gospel.” He 
died Feb, 28, 1713-4, at the age of eighty. The following lines 
are in a poem published soon after his death:— 

Whiting, we here behold a starry light, 
Burning on Christ’s right hand and shining bright; 

Years seven times seven, sent forth his precious rays, 

Unto the gospel’s profit and Jehovah’s praise. 

Nov. 29, 1659, the town ordered that the ministry for the 
next year be supported by voluntary contributions put into the 
“drawing box” ; and those that will not so contribute should be 
taxed by the selectmen. The only record about the success of this 
plan is a single line in the accounts of the town: ‘ Rec p sevrale 

1These papers are all printed in full in the Records of the Massachusetts 
Bay Colony, volume IV, part 2, pages 449 to 456. _ 

2Rev. Samuel Whiting married Dorcas —; children: 1. Elizabeth, 2. 
Samuel; 3. John; minister at Lancaster, where he was killed by the Indians 

•Sept. 11, 1697; 4. Oliver; 5. Dorothy; 6. Joseph; 7. James; 8. Eunice; 9. 
Benjamin; 10. Benjamin. 
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men for the msty £i, 17s., 6d” At this time the Quakers were 
making inroads on the church attendance and influencing the 
members in their interest in its services and their maintenance. 

It was expected that a stranger would be the. new minister who 
must soon come, and it was deemed necessary that a parsonage 
should be provided for him. There had been no parsonage since 
the death of Rev. Francis Higginson, in 1630—thirty years be¬ 
fore. Nov. 29, 1659, the town therefore voted “that there shall be 
a house built for the ministry. The -site chosen for it was the 
lot on the northwest side of Washington Square west, between 
the Second Church and Williams Street. On the plan, the dotted 
line indicates the westerly line of Williams Street. The lot was 

owned by Daniel Rumball who permitted the 
town to take it, and he was given a lot of land 
in satisfaction therefor1. On the day that the 

N town voted to build the parsonage, William 
A Browne and Mr. Corwine were desired to agree 
_with carpenters for its construction ; and to pay 

for the same two hundred pounds was ordered 
to be raised by taxation Dec. 14, 1659. The 
house was of considerable size. The strip of 
land on the easterly side of the lot was con¬ 
veyed by John Williams to Mr. Higginson, the 
new minister, Nov. 20, 1682. Mr. Higginson’s 
barn stood upon this strip, and the house 
was on the street end of the original lot. 

Mr. Higginson died in 1708, having in his will devised the estate 
to his son Col. John Higginson, who died March 23, 1719-20, 
possessed of it. In his will, he devised it to his daughter Mary, 
wife of James Lindall and her children. She died in 1753, leaving 
three children, Timothy Lindall, Sarah Lutwyche and Abigail 
Jennison, widows, the latter being of Boston and the others of • 
Salem. Sarah released her interest to her sister Abigail in 17S4, 
and Mrs. Jennison lived in the house. Timothy and Abigail di- 
\ ided the estate two days afterward, Abigail thereby becoming 
the owner of the house and that portion of the land. She removed 
to Danvers before I759> when the house was occupied by Ruth 
Putnam and William Patterson, a mariner, and she conveyed the 
property to Mr. Patterson Jan. 1, 17612. He died in 1770, and the 
administrator of his estate conveyed the “old house” and land to 
Jonat ian Andrew A Fay 9, 177P. The house was gone before 
1700. 

Salem Town Records, volume II, page 7. 
“Essex Registry of Deeds, book 109, leaf 85 
Essex Registry of Deeds, book 129, leaf 244. 
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John Higginson, a son of Rev. Francis Higginson, the first 
teacher of the church, was thirteen years old when he came to 
Salem with his parents in 1629. He was born at Claybrook, 
Leicester, England, Aug. 6, 1616. He was chaplain at Fort Say- 
brook, Conn., in 1641; taught school in Hartford; and studied 
theology with Rev. Thomas Hooker. In 1643, he became assistant 
to Rev. Henry Whitfield of Guilford, Conn., whose daughter 
Sarah he married. He had sole charge of the church there from 
1651 to 1659. In the latter year, he took passage in a ship for 
England, and because of the severity of the weather was obliged 
to put into the harbor of Boston. Apparently, he visited Salem 
soon afterward, about the time of the decease of Mr. Norris. He 
was asked to remain here awhile, and be the temporary pastor 
of the church. He agreed to stay a year. Subsequently, he was 
invited to become the permanent pastor, and he gave his affirma¬ 
tive answer in the following letter:— 

It hath been matter of serious enquiry to me w4 should be the will 
of God & my duty in this great turne of my life, especially in ordering 
my Abode here amongst you for a time, wch hath been ouerruled by the 
Prouidence of God wholly beyond my owne intention in my removall 
from ye place where I was before. And yet truly when I haue con¬ 
sidered all, I encline to look at ye call of ye people here as the call of 
God for my continuance amongst you. I desire to be thankfull to God 
& thankful to you all for your loue to me & mine, & am willing to settle 
amongst you as in Acts 2. 42 so when I joyn in church fellowship 
with you So long as the Church & people of God here continue in the 
stedfastnes of Faith in Christ & order of ye Gospel as now you doe. 

So long as I finde y4 I can (with a good Conscience) 
1. cary on ye part of ye works of Christ woh may be 
2. long to me & discharge my duty to my Family. 
I doe express my selfe willing to setle amongst you with a true 

intention, and a true affection having no other thoughts or desires but 
to liue & dye amongst you as my Father did before. 

There is but one thing, I would commend vnto ye Congregation 
that you would seriously think of a Ruling Elder, for though I should 
not be vnwilling to doe w4 ye Lord shall, enable me, yet I am not free 
to vndertake church work without y° Assistance of a Ruling Elder, 
the place being great the people many, & ye work like to be much es¬ 
pecially in such times as these. ^ t 

And for myselfe I know my own weaknes many wayes & y4 I 
shall haue need of ye Freedome of my Spirit & command of my time, 
y4 I may in some measure fulfill ye work of ye ministry vnto wch T am 
called of God by yourselues. 

This invitation was accepted in June or early in July. With 
his family and goods, he was transported from Boston to Salem 
by Capt. Richard Moore by water, for which service the town paid 
him forty shillings. His family consisted of his wife Sarah and 



288 HISTORY OF SALEM 

children, John, aged thirteen, and four others. Two children 
were born to them in Salem.. 

The church elected John Browne ruling elder, in his ab¬ 
sence, and he accepted the position July eighth, and, in accepting 
it, he said in effect that though he judged himself unfit and there 
were many others more able for the work, yet considering the call 
of God and his people in it, and that he might be any means of 
the church’s settlement, he did give up himself to the Lord and 
to the church in the work so far as the Lord should enable him 
thereunto. His occasions at Virginia required his presence there 
the following winter, and when the Lord should please to return 
him safely from thence he should then continue at home and apply 
himself to the work as the Lord should enable him. 

Letters inviting the churches of Ipswich, Lynn, Reading and 
Boston to participate in the ordination exercises were sent. At 
the ordination, which was in August, 1660, Mr. Higginson 
preached the sermon from I Cor. 3:7: “So then neither is he 
that planteth anything, neither he that watereth; but God that 
giveth the increase.” Maj. William Hathorne and the deacons 
imposed their hands upon Mr. Higginson, and then he upon the 
ruling elder. Rev. John Norton of Boston gave the right hand 
of fellowship, speaking'from Gal. 2:9: “And when James, 
Cephas, and John, who seemed to be pillars, perceived the grace 
that was given unto me, they gave to me and Barnabas the right 
hands of fellowship; that we should go unto the heathen, and they 
unto the circumcision.” 

^ Mr. and Mrs. Higginson were dismissed from the church 
in Guilford and received into the church in Salem. The parsonage 
was unfinished Jan, 8, 1660-1, when the selectmen agreed with 
John Ruck that he should have ten pounds a year for entertaining 
Mr. Higginson “into his house” on what is now Mill Street, for 
so long time as he should live in the house; and the town to be at 
the charge of making a brick chimney in the outhouse. Mr. Ruck 
was to have twelve pounds for the wood he was to provide Mr. 

with the first year. The Ruck house at that time was 
the northwesterly portion of the present house, where the great 
chimney is. 1 he house was built, as it was originally, before 1643. 

Mr. Higginson was the stenographer of the synod which was 
held at Cambridge in 1637, being employed by magistrates and 
ministers of the Bay to make a report of the meetings and write 
out the material parts for printing, which he did, and it was 
accepted by the general court at Boston, in May, 1639. It was 
agieed that he should have the benefit of the printing of it, which 
" as estimated at one hundred pounds. He loaned the copy to 
the minister s, and some of them wished to have it printed, and 
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some did not. In May, 1641, he again delivered the copy to the 
court, to whom he wrote, from Guilford, Aug. 9, 1643, requesting 
the court to pay him for his services, and suggested fifty pounds1. 
The court replied by saying that he was given the right to print 
it and “make his best of it”; and if he had been persuaded not 
to print it by any persons it was his matter and not the court’s. 
So, apparently, all his labor was lost. 

The town voted, March 9, 1659-60, to pay Mr. Higginson 
one hundred and sixty pounds a year as salary and twelve pounds 
for his fuel; and, July 17, 1671, it was mutually agreed that he 
should have one hundred pounds a year and forty cords of wood, 
and the same was agreed to in 1676-7. The salary was at first 
raised by voluntary subscription, and the deacons reported monthly 
the amount contributed. This was soon found to be a precarious 
or at least uncertain method, and afterward the town voted that 
the selectmen solicit contributions directly from the people. After 
three years trial of this last method, the salary was found to be 
forty pounds behind. In 1667, it was decided to make an assess¬ 
ment upon the people (Quakers excepted) ; and, June 30, 1668, a 
number of residents petitioned the Salem court for arbitration 
with Mr. Higginson relative to his claims, to settle the whole 
matter, lest through long delays “such a place as this, any sad in¬ 
conveniences may follow to the dishonor of God, the discourage¬ 
ment of the ministry and the dishonor of the people here.’’ No 
action was taken upon the communication. 

April 13, 1661, the town granted to Mr. Higginson one and 
three-fourths acres of swampy land near the northeast corner of 
Washington Square, “in the Common Pen neare Mr. Stileman’s 
field on the south and Mr. John Gidney’s and John Neale on the 
north to begin at the upwards west corner of Mr. Stileman’s pas¬ 
ture and cross over to John Neal’s field and so downwards to the 
sea between those fields above named”; and also six acres of 
land at the Neck, constituting what is now known as Juniper 
Point, and described as “in the great neck neare to Mordechai 
Creuet’s new Dwelling.” Apparently, when in need of money he 
sold the swamp lot in or before 1664; and the Juniper lot in 1671. 

DOMESTICITY 

As commerce increased new articles came to the houses of 
the settlers. An “eastend” carpet, calico carpets, a Thrum rug, 
and a worsted Thrum rug appeared. “Sea beds” were here, 
flags were used to fill ticks, and Flanders ticks were in some 
houses. There were flag-bottomed chairs, looking glasses, desks 
and wicker baskets; also, Turkey cushions, Turkey-work chairs, 

1Massachusetts Archives, volume X, leaves 185 and 186. 
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leather chairs and straw-bottomed chairs. William Woodcock, the 
apothecary, had a trunk with feet. Thomas Trusler had “a. 
broad plait candlestick of brass, to hang on a wall.” Brass and¬ 
irons appeared in some forerooms. Framed pictures were fre¬ 
quently hung in the best room. Latten ware became common, as 
pudding, dripping, sauce and other pans, cullenders, candlesticks 
and lamps. Snuffers were introduced to trim the candles. There 

also Lisbon ware, silver cups and spoons, china porringers, 
quait stone jugs and brass savealls. In the kitchen, began to 
appeal nutmeg graters, mincing knives, and molasses and oranges. 

New materials for apparel appeared, as Hampton serge, 
galloon ossinbridge cloth, Turkey mohair, silk mohair and hair 
camlet.. In spite of the fact that it was proposed in the general 
court in 1654, that the Irish be prohibited from entering 
the Colony, because of “ye cruel and malignant spirit that has from 
time to time been manifest in ye Irish nation against the English 
nation,” Irish cloth, linen, serge and blanketing, and even Irish 
beef became common here. Upon the clothing, were soon used 
silver, gold and steel buttons, and there were tape and ribbon The 
buttons came on cards, much the same as they do now. 

The apparel of the women now included taffety scarfs, felt 
ats, silk hoods, lawn handkerchiefs, sleasie aprons, straw hats 

cametto coats, buckskin buskins, dimity waistcoats, red waistcoats' 
castor hats narrow-brimmed hats, Portugal caps and ivory combs! 
F rench tall shoes appeared here in 1680. Among other personal 
articles, were snowshoes, walking canes, pen knives, razors and 
Silver-bowed spectacles. Furs of all kinds were plentiful. 

I he principal money in circulation was the Spanish and 
New England silver coins. 

In the way of military, weapons and accoutrements, as well 
as tor protection and hunting, were muskets, carbines, fowling 
pieces, pistols, rapiers, swords and snapsacks. Henry Harwood 
nad a javelin. 

1 7JrC1C Twere a considerable number of slaves here 
and West Indians. 

, Negroes 

tlipn the J methods at meals, the adults ate their repasts and 
t en the servants and children ate the same class of food 

tsooks began to accumulate here as the years passed The 

next6 NT thl FTT f°und in most houses! Pile 
Testament m tU Wlth “ °ccasi°nal copy of the New 
ie.tament. \\idow Margery Wathin, who died in 1644 had 

Sr/ b00l«, valued at eight shillings, and a Bible and 

DraisTd at’th rt Smp' ,Ebas Mason had nine books, ap- 
hed in 1647 nnT he, <lied in i646- William Clark 

I l647’ PosSessed of Purchas’ Pilgrimage, a rare and im- 
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portant volume. Mrs. Rebecca Bacon died in 1655, possessed of 
Doctor Sebe’s and Doctor Preston’s Works, Calvin’s Institutions, 
Luther upon the Galatians, Mr. Shepard’s Morality of the Sab¬ 
bath, Nicholas Gibbin’s Disputations, Joshua Symonds’ books, 
Markam and ten small books, besides three Bibles and a Con¬ 
cordance. Thomas Sallows, who died in 1663, had two of Mr. 
Burroughs’ writings. Thomas Flint had, at the time he died, in 
1668, a great Bible, Psalm book and a sermon book. John Sy¬ 
monds, who died in 1671, had, among other books, a volume of 
Doctor Preston’s works and one of Mr. Rogers’ works. William 
Bowditch, who died in 1681, had beside a large Latin Bible, eleven 
books called Rutherford’s Letters, valued at one pound and two 
shillings; twenty books of Durham on the Commandments, ap¬ 
praised at one pound and ten shillings; five books of Mr. Rait 
against Popery, valued at six shillings and three pence; three 
books of William Colvill’s Works; two books of George Dow- 
name’s Works; one volume of John Browne’s Works; one volume 
of John Despagne’s Works; and two books of Meinlies against 
Dempster. 

Rum, in considerable quantities, early appeared here. 
The husbandman soon acquired the practice of keeping his 

grain in the garret of his house, and established a dairy room 
called a buttery. 

The settler who cultivated the ground and conducted the 
business of farming most extensively was Farmer John Porter, in 
what is now Danvers, whose title he certainly earned. At the 
time of his death, Sept. 6, 1676, he had twelve acres planted with 
Indian corn and two acres with peas and twelve acres sowed to 
barley and one to wheat. He had eight oxen and two three-year- 
old steers, a bull, fifteen cows, nine two-year-olds, eight yearlings 
and eleven calves, five horses, six mares and two colts, forty-six 
ewe sheep and wethers and fourteen lambs and fourteen swine and 
eleven young shoats. He had two negro slaves and three English 
servants. 

' Clergymen seem to have been the most educated men among 
the early settlers. They had the largest libraries, at least. Lawyers 
were rare, and the minister did many things that a lawyer ordin¬ 
arily does. The legal side of their services was almost confined 
to drawing of wills and deeds, although advice must have been 
frequently sought. Early deeds occasionally began with To all 
Christian people to whom these presents shall come, etc., and 
it is easy to imagine who prepared them. Wills more generally 
manifested their authorship in the preamble: In the name of 
God amen, I, John Pickering of Salem, being of perfect mind 
and memory, do make and ordain this my last will and testament 
in manner and form following- First, I bequeath my soul to my 
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Lord God and Saviour, and my body to the earth from whence it 
came." This will is dated July 30, 1655. 

Barbers were the first surgeons. ' They were early called 
here barber-surgeons or limb-dressers. They performed ampu¬ 
tations and phlebotomy, extracted teeth, etc. Their sign is con¬ 
tinued to this day. It was a pole wound with a narrow bandage, 
and originally had a basin suspended from it, all of which indi¬ 
cated the winding of the bandage around the limb to stop the 
bleeding and the basin in which to catch the blood. 

Physicians had little knowledge of the body or intellect. Their 
special preparation was a knowledge of certain customary reme¬ 
dies for the manifest symptoms. Apparently, they had little or no 
knowledge of the technical advantage of administering certain 
remedies, or what quality of the medicine produced the results, or 
why. The published recipes of Dr. Zerobabel Endecott of Salem 
give an exact view of the methods of the seventeenth century 
physicians. Such ingredients as had been employed by other 
practitioners, whether their physiological effects were known or 
not, "were pi escribed. Among the herbs and other things used 
were red lead, lead ore dissolved, wax, stone horse’s livers dried in 
an oven, powdered and administered in milk, herbs of various 
kinds, as fivefinger, brambles, strawberry roots, plantains, sumac 
powdered, elecampane roots powdered, wormwood, wild carrot 
seeds, sweet fennel seeds, raisins, maiden hair, liverwort, elder 
buds, knotgiass, shepherds pouch, agrimony, polhpod, borrage, 
buglose root, rosemary, primrose, cowslips, violets, crude tobacco 
leaves feverfew, peony seeds, the fillings of a dead man’s skull 
spices, camomile, etc. The most revolting substances were in¬ 
cluded in many remedies, and are unfit to be mentioned. The fol¬ 
lowing is a cure for a distracted woman, and is a specimen of the 
remedies used in that period: uTak milk of a Nurce that ^iues 
flick to a male Child <Sr aho take a hee Catt & Cut of one of his 
Ears or a peece of it & Lett it blede into the milk & then Lett the 
lick woman Drink it doe this three Times.” 

. The records reveal a number of instances where patients lived 
with the physicians while being treated. The bills are classified 
into treatment and diet. This seems to have been a practice at 
that time m Salem and Marblehead. These are cases where the 
patient had no home or place where he could remain and have 
proper caie. This practice was the beginning of the modern 
hospital. 

The expense of funerals at that period was ordinarily about 
two pounds, sometimes as low as twelve shillings, but that of 

u -? ter ?rC<f’ 111 i6?4> amounted to sixty pounds, and of 
May William Hathorne, in 1681, to forty-one pounds. Coffins 
cost about ten shillings. The formal services at a funeral were 
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sfrnple. A large number of people attended, the minister was 
usually present, but did not read or pray or address the people. At 
the tolling of the funeral bell, the people met at the late home of 
the deceased, and carried the remains solemnly on a bier,—above 
which was carried a pall, a large black cloth, supported by four 
or six men, horizontally,—to the grave, by which they stood until 
the burial was completed. Prayers and serious remarks were 
rare here until nearly the close of the seventeenth century. At the 
funeral of William Woodcock, the apothecary, in 1669, six 
gallons of wine was consumed, and three gallons at his child’s 
burial. Finger rings were sometimes given to the mourners. 
Doctor Bentley, in his Diary, wrote, in 1787, as follows: “Mr. 
Edw. Norris shewed me a Ring belonging to the first Edward 
Norris & now held by the sixth for the seventh, a minor. It is 
of gold, enameled with a death’s Head, with a posy Live to Die!' 
This was probably a funeral ring. 

J 



CHAPTER XVII. 

BELLINGHAM AND DENISON GRANTS 

EPTEMBER 6, 1638, the general court granted to 
Richard Bellingham seven hundred acres of land ; and, 
viewed by Maj. William Hathorne and Capt. Richard 
Davenport, it was described as “on the head of Salem 
to the northwest from the town, there being in it a 

ml, with an Indian plantation, and a pond, and about a hundred 
or one hundred and fifty acres of meadow,” and it was confirmed 

y t e court ^°v. 5, 1639. /Squire Bellingham, who was then 
lvmg in Boston, May 28, 1659, being governor, moved that in 

reference to this grant, as the town of Salem had taken a parcel 
of meadow belonging to the farm, pretending that it was within 
six miles from Salem meeting house, that the distance be 
measured, which the court ordered to have done. The result of 
the measurement, if it were made, is unknown. Governor Belling- 
ham, for two hundred and fifty pounds, conveyed the estate to 

0 tfL Bray Wilkins, husbandman, and 
Jolm Gingell (Gingion), tailor, 

^ both of Lynn, March 9, 1659-601. 

1 • u 1 i* 1 ^ ilkins erected a house in 
which he lived, probably on the south side of the Fuller burvino- 
place, across the road, in Mid- A y* 
dleton. Gingell also lived at 
Will’s Hill as late as 1670. / 0 rCsfV-' nr 
Wilkins house was burned in J (jf 
the latter part of January, 

1664 ; and he apparently built a new one on the westerlv side of 
what is now Middleton Square2. western side ot 

;Essex Registryof Deeds, book 2, leaf 17. 

and in DorchesfeMn ^ 'T1 P‘ante,C lived in from ^30 to 1660 
married Ann, * h f633’ a,ccordl,nS to Savage; and from 1661 in Salem- 
married Anna - before 1659; she was his wife in 1697; he died Jan 1, 

294 
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There was also granted to Maj.-Gen. Daniel Denison of Ips¬ 

wich three hundred acres of land, adjoining the seven-hundred- 

1701-2, aged ninety-one; children: 1. Samuel2, born in 1636; died Dec. 20. 
1688; 2. Henry2; 3. Benjamin2; 4- Thomas2; 5- Margaret2; married Philip 
Knight; 6. Lydia2; married John Nichols; 7. John2. 

Henry Wilkins2; married Rebecca-; she died April 9, 1689, aged 
forty; children: 1. Rebecca3, baptized Jan. 4, 1684-5; married Philip 
Mackintire of Reading Feb. 20, 1694-5; 2. Daniel3, born about 1675; ‘‘be¬ 
witched to death” May 16, 1692, aged seventeen; 3. Elizabeth , baptized Jan. 
4, 1684-5; married - Carrill; 4- Henry3, baptized Jan. 4, i68J-5 ; 5- 
Aquila3, baptized Jan. 4, 1684-5; 6. Nehemiah3, baptized Aug 12, 1683; 7. 
Susannah3, born Oct. 13, 1684; 8. Ebenezer3, born Jan. 5, 1688-9; married 
Mary (Bailey), widow of Daniel Wilkins April 24,, 173°; had a child, 9. 
John3, baptized Jan. 14, 1686-7; 10. Ruth3, baptized July 13, 1690; died 
Dec. 14, 1695, aged six; 11. -3, baptized Aug. 17, i6go. Benjamin 
Wilkins2; married Priscilla Baxter June 3, 1677; died in the autumn 0 
1715; she survived him; children: 1. Priscilla3, born Feb. 24, 1677-8; died 
Oct. 24, 1690; 2. Benjamin , born Dec. 3, 1679; 3. Anna , born Oct. 3L w®1 > 
married Ebenezer Foster; 4. Jonathan3, born Feb. 24, 1683; 5. Sarah, born 
May 11, 1686; married Henry Wilkins; 6. Abigail, born Sept. 12, 1688; 
married John Wilkins May 26, 1710; 7. Elizabeth3; married Daniel Rolf 
of Concord Sept. 3, 1718; 8. Priscilla3, born April 21, 1691; wing in 171S, 
9 Daniel3, born June 28, 1693* Thomas Wilkins2; husbandman; married 
Hannah Nichols May —, 1667; died in 1717; she survived him; children. 1. 
Hannah3, born Nov. 14, 1669; 2. Thomas3, born May 26, 1673 ; lived in 
Boxford; married Elizabeth Towne of Topsfield Dec. 19, i6945 died in 
1726; she survived him; had children; 3. Bray, horn Nov. I3> 1 7 > 4- 
Joseph3, baptized July 20, 1690. 5- Isaac3, baptized July 20, 1690. John 
Wilkins2; husbandman; lived in Salem Village; married, first, Ljdia . > 
she died Jan. 27, 1688-9, aged twenty-two; married, second, Betty Southwick 
Aug. —, 1687; she was his wife in 1718; he. died in 1723; children.. 
John3, born Jan. 20, 1688-9; 2. Esther3, born June 25, ^690; living m i/i8, 
3. Daniel3, born May 12, 1692; living in 1718; 4- Betty, born Dec. 29, 1695, 
living in 1718; 5- Jonathan3, born May 6, 1697; 6. Lydia , born Dec, 73; ]6"j 
married Mark How of Boxford Dec. 20, 1725; 7- Mercy, born March 13, 
1701* married Benjamin Chevers Oct. 20,, 1725; 8. David, born March , 
1703-4- living in 1718; 9. Joseph3, baptized June 7, 1719; married Rebecca 
Yell (Bell?) Feb. 1, 1731-2; 10. Stephen3, baptized June 7, 1719; husband¬ 
man; lived in Middleton; married Hannah Curtis Aug. 24, 1732; died Apn 
1 1742; had children; 11. Solomon3, born about 1710; lived in Middleton, 
married Patience Lambert Oct 29, 1730; had children ,, 

Henry Wilkins3; husbandman; lived m Boxford and Middleton 
married, first, Sarah Wilkins July —, 1703; second,, Mary Lewis Oct 22, 
1718• children: 1.-4 (daughter), born May 27, 1704, m Boxfoid, 2. 
Sarah4, baptized June 23, 1706, in Boxford; married Isaac NichoL o 

Sutton Feb. I, 1726-7; 3- Hannah born Jan. 4, 1 VprilciD 
Abigail4, born Aug. 10, 1711; 5- Elizabeth, born 
born July n, 1720; 7. Ruth , born July 9, 1724, m Middleton, 8 Henry , 
born Sept 23, 1735. Aquila Wilkins”; husbandman; married Lydia 
Nichols July 12, 1704; died in Middleton Jan. 17, 1766; children: . 
Ebenezer4, baptized April 14, 1706; 2. - baptized Sept 10, 1708. 3- 
Ruth4, baptized Sept, n, 1726. Nehemiah Wilkins ; lived m lBoxford, 
married, first. Elizabeth Guppy Dec. —, 1708; second, Hannah Wilkins 
Oct 4 1711 * child: 1. Elizabeth4, baptized Oct. 31, 1714; married Jeremi 
Towne Dec.’ 15, 1735- John Wilkins”; husbandman; parried Abigail 

Wilkins May 26, 1710; living in 1737; children: 1. - (son), baptized 
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acre grant made to Richard Bellingham, May 7, 1662. This was 
also conveyed to Bray Wilkins. The actual boundaries of these 
grants were not determined until, upon an order therefor, dated 
May 7, 1662, the day that the Denison grant was made, and the 
order included the layout of both grants. The report was made 

BELLINGHAM AND DENISON GRANTS. 

married MarfeV7Roff~o£ Concord J^y 2C1702Ahildren Othriiel^ba8' 

Tapley Nov. ,5 i737; 

ton k“SarnPed‘ ^nfh TiVeT^MiS 

Marchi72a: 64‘n{ShKn’ bT?/n ,Morch l8> 1721> s> Benjamin4, born 

fpublfshe^d OctN?3: ?7i4)nd l^1!1^ ma^de^Marf Badey 

married Samuel Wilkins TUne“ii t7^^3'av ’U b*?r”, SrCp}' 3°’ 1721; 
married William Cobb Tune 2- 3UZ4 ,C 4QAb^ai|’ baptized July 18, 1725; 

d‘r !i t JUne 2/’ 1743 > 5- Sarah4, baptized April 2. 1727- 6 
born Feb 26 ^rjo^i ” o ^Hscd’h4' ^Sar/Jht, baptized April 6, 1729; 8. Marcy4, 

’ 730 ’ 9- Priscilla , baptized May 2, 1731; 10. Rachel4, baptized 
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September 23rd1 following. The Bellingham grant is therein 
thus described: “The first line runs from a white oak, marked 
R B, northwesterly to a rocky point, where a white oak is marked, 
and from thence by the southerly corner of Beachy meadow to a 
white oak, marked; the length about a mile and a quarter. The 
second line from the last marked white oak upon a west and by 
south point, about a mile to an oak marked R B. The third line 
from the said oak, upon a south and by east point, a mile and a 
quarter, to a tree marked on the southwest side of the pond, 
taking in a meadow of about twenty-five acres, lying without the 
said line, and adjoining to it towards the northerly end thereof. 
The fourth line from the last marked tree, upon an east and by 
north point, to the first white oak marked R B, in length one 
mile and quarter. Also, one hundred acres lying square in the 
plain before the dwelling house of Bray Wilkinson2, beginning 
at the brook that runs into Price’s meadow, and running in length 
down to a white oak marked, about one hundred and sixty rods, 
and in breadth, both ends, one hundred rods, to a tree, marked, 

Sept. 16, 1733; 11. Daniel4, baptized March 16, 1735. Bray Wilkins3; lived 
in Boxford in 1710 and then in Middleton; married Rebecca Knight of 
Topsfield Feb. 10, 1701-2; children: 1. Rebecca4, born May 20, 1702, in 
Boxford; 2. Rebecca4, born May 18, 1703; 3. Penelope4, born Nov. 18, 1703, 
in Boxford; 4. Penelope4, born Sept. 22, 1704; 5. Israel4, born Jan. 6, 1705-6, 
in Boxford; lived in Middleton; married Margaret Case July 18, 1726; had 
children; 6. Margaret4, baptized July 6, 1707; 7. Phineas4, born Dec. 26, 1708; 
Abner4, baptized Sept. —, 1711; married Emma Marble Dec. 29, 1737; 9* 
Mehitable4, born Sept. 6, 1711; 10. Ithamar4, born Sept. 15, 1712; married 
Lois-June 3, 1736; had a child; 11. Abigail4, born July 28, 1716; married 
Nathaniel Putnam Feb. 6, 1744; 12. Joshua4, born Aug. 26, 1718; lived in 
Middleton; had children; 13. Ichabod4, born July 7, 1720; lived in Middleton; 
married Mary Clark May 9, 1744; she died July 10, 1803; he died Feb. 27, 
1804; had children. Joseph Wilkins3; husbandman; married first, Mary 
White Nov. 22, 1705; second, Margaret Nicholls July 8, 1708; living in 
Middleton in 1726; children: 1. Mary4, born Oct. 29, 1710; 2. Joseph4, born 
March 11, 1712-3; shopkeeper; married Abigail Burt July 20, 1736; had 
children; 3. Amos4, baptized Oct. 24, 1713; 4. Lydia4, born Sept. 17, 1715; 5. 
Elisha4, born April 2, 1718; lived in Middleton; married Lydia Nichols Oct. 
4, 1738; had children ; 6. Archelaus4, born June 23, 1721; lived in Southegan 
West; married Rachel Case Nov. 29, 1744; 7- Hannah4, born April 1, 1725; 
married Humphrey Case June 4, 1747; _ 8. Margaret4, born May 17, 1728. 
Isaac Wilkins3; husbandman; married Anna (Wilkins), widow of 
Ebenezer Foster; children: 1. Timothy4, _baptized July 3, 1709; married 
Anna Smith; had children; 2. Isaac4, baptized July 26, 1713; 3. Nehemiah4, 
baptized May 6, 1716; 4. Hannah4, baptized Aug. 16, iyig^ 5- Susanna , bap¬ 
tized July 21, 1724. John Wilkins3; husbandman; married Mary Goodale 
(published Oct. 24, 1713); children: 1. Edward4, baptized Oct. 16, 1715; 2. 
Samuel4, born July 21, 1717; 3- Josiah4, born July 1, 1718; 4- John4, born 
Dec. 29, 1720; 5. Edward Nichols4, born Nov. 14, i723- 

Massachusetts Bay Colony Records, volume IV, part 2, pages 63 and 

64. 
2Bray Wilkins. 

i 
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at either end; the lower or southeast angle being a pine tree, 
marked, the upper or northwest angle being oak, marked, standing 
neai a gieat lock; provided, that part of the pine swamp that 
lieth within the said bounds shall be free and common for any to 
take off timber growing therein.” The Denison grant is described 
as follows: “Imprimis eighty acres of upland in a long square, 
bounded on the northeast by John Putnam’s land, on the south¬ 
west by a brook that runs out of a pond unto Price’s meadow on 
the northwest by the land of Bray Wilkinson, and on the south- 
east by Pi ice s meadow. Also, one hundred and forty acres, be¬ 
ginning at a white oak, marked R B, the bounds between Brav 
\\ ilk in son and John Putnam and the former eighty acres, and 
from the said tree joining upon Bray Wilkinson in a straight line 
to a rocky point, where a white oak is marked, and from thence 
by the southerly corner of Beachy Aleadow to a white oak, marked 
at the northwesterly angle of Bray Wilkinson’s farm, and so up 
to Andiver six miles bounds; also, from the said white oak, 
marked R B, upon a north and by west line adjoining to John 
Putnam’s, to a forked white oak, marked, and so to the brook 
that runs by Beachy Meadow to Andiver six miles bounds. Also, 
eighty acres of woodland on the northeast side of the brook that 
runs by Beachy Meadow, beginning at a marked tree standing 
near the brook, by a swamp, and running north east and by east 
about two hundred rod to three white oaks marked, and then 
turning southward about thirty rod to that part of the brook 
where another brook falls into the same, and a great rock lies in 
the midst of the brook.” These layouts were made by Maj. William 
tiathorne and Ens. Thomas Howlet, and confirmed Oct. 8 166^ 

Thus the territory of Salem was extended northerly. These grants 
are now entirely within the town of Middleton. 

Timothy Lindall1, who was born about 1642, came from Dux- 
bury to Salem, where he was allowed to be an inhabitant. Tan. 8. 
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Feb. 26, 1660-1, the selectmen confirmed a grant of one hun¬ 
dred acres of upland and ten acres of meadow to Richard Ray- 
ment; ten days later the town granted to John Patch forty acres 
of land on Cape Ann Side; and Mr. Jeremiah Hubbard requested 

some land. 
Joseph Houlton1, 

called Joseph Houghton, 
came to Salem as early 
as the spring of 1652, 
when he had land grant¬ 
ed to him. 

does, in 1715 and 1727; merchant; married Sarah -; died Nov. 13, 1751; 
she died, his widow, June 27, 1754; 8- Rachel', born Dec. 3, 1686; married, 
first, Thomas Barnard May 7, 1713; he died in 1715 ; married, second, Capt. 
Samuel Barnard of Deerfield May 29, 1723; 9- Veren2, born Feb. 12, 1689-90; 
killed by the Indians at Haverhill Aug. 29, 1708. 

Dea. James Lindall2; merchant; esquire; married, first, Elizabeth Cor- 
wine Dec. 15, 1702; she died May 19, 1706; married, second, Mary (Higgin- 
son), widow of Dr. Edward Weld May 3, 1708; he died May 10, 1753; she 
survived him, and was living in 1760; children: 1. Elizabeth3, born Sept. 29, 
1703; married Edward Gray of Boston Sept. 13, 1739; 3--3 (son), born 
Jan. 12, 1704; buried Jan. 13, 1704; 3- Mary3, born Dec. 14, i7°5;ofive<i in 
Charlestown, 1761-1767; died, unmarried, Jan. 22, 1776; 4. - (son), 
born April 25, 1709; died same day; 5. James3, born May 21, 1710; merchant; 
died Aug. 19, 1754; 6. Veren3, born May 14, 1711; died April 22, 1712; 7. 
Sarah3, born June 17, 1712; married Lawrence Lutwych of Boston May 6, 
1736; 8. Abigail3, born June 16, 1713; married Rev. William Jenison May 
15, 1730; 9. Rachel3, born Aug. 9, I7J4; hied Sept. 9, 1714; I(J Timothy , 
born April 14, 1716; merchant; married, first, Elizabeth Gerrish Oct. 14, 
1753 ; she died Aug. 23, 1756; married, second, widow Hannah S^vasey June 
18^ 1763; he died in the summer of 1765; she married, third, Capt. John 

Bartoll of Marblehead Jan. 8, 1767- . ' . 
Hon. Timothy Lindall2; H. C., 1695; merchant; judge; representatne, 

speaker, councilor; lived in Boston in 1714; married, first, Bethiah Ivitchen 
May 27, 1714; she died June 30, 1720; married, second, Madam Mary 
Henchman of Lvnn (published Dec. 6, 1749) ; died Oct. 25, 1760; she died, 
his widow, Feb. 8, 1767; children: 1. Bethiah3, born Sept. 6, 1716; died 
Sept. 20, 1716; 2. Bethiah3, born Nov. 17, I7I7’> died Nov. 23, 1717 > 3- 
Mary3,, born Oct. 20, 1718; died, unmarried, Dec. 3C T74°> 4- 
(daughter), born June 23.. 1720; died same day , t , 

"Joseph Houlton2 (Houghton and Holton) was born about 1621; was 
a servant of Richard Ingersoll about 1640; lived in Salem Village; married 
Sarah (Ingersoll), widow of William Haynes; died May 30 1705; children: 
1. Joseph2, born in 1652; 2. Benjamin , born Feb. 14, 1657-8; 3. Elizabeth^, 
born in 1660; married John Buxton; 4. Henry, born in 1662; 5. James, 
born in 1665; 6. John2, born in 1667; cooper and weaver; married Mary 
Star Jan. 16, 1688; died in 1721; she married, second, John Rea Oct. 3, H22; 
7. Sarah2, born in 1669; married —— Needham. . 

Joseph Houlton2; veoman; lived in Salem Village; soldier, in the 
Narraganset War; married Hannah Eborne; died in 1732; she died in 1743; 
children: 1. Joseph3, born Aug. 31, 1673; lived m Boston; married Susanna 
_• died in 1708; had a child; 2. Hannah3; married Joseph Fowls; 3- 
Sarah3, born March 4, 1688-9; married Ebenezer Fowls of Charlestown. 
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July io, 1661, the general court commended to be kept “a 
solemn day of thanksgiving and returning praises unto our good 
God” for “the many favo's wherewith the Lord hath been pleased 
to compass us about for so many years past in this remote wilder¬ 
ness, and in special the gracious answer that he hath given us to 

Benjamin Houlton2; yeoman; married Sarah-; died Sept. 17, 1689: she 
married, secondly, Capt. Benjamin Putnam; child: 1. Bcinjamin6, born Jan. 

'too1™9-?0', HenrJ Houlton2; yeoman; married Abigail Flint March 4, 
1688-9; died m 1746 or 1747; she died Feb. 28, 1758; children: 1. James3, 
born Jan. 20 1689-90; married Ruth-; 2. Timothy3, born May 15, 1693; 
3. Hannah , born July 13, 1696; married Stephen Flint of Middleton (pub¬ 
lished i\ov. 6 1714) ; housewright; removed to Lynn; married Eunice Col- 
lms of Lynn Feb 20, 1722; died in Marblehead May 14, 1732; 4. Ebenezer3, 
born April 11, 1699; 5. Samuef, born April 6, 1703; 6. Abigail3, born May 
u i1/05^ infancy; 7. Abigail3, born June 22, 1708; married Jacob 
Hiller March 16, 1727-8;; 8. Elizabeth0, born Sept. 1, 1712 (probably married 
Abraham Kemball of Wenham m 1729). James Houlton2; yeoman; 
married, first, Ruth Felton; second, Mary Linsey of Lynn Nov. 4, 1706" died 
m j722, she married, secondly, William Stacey of Marblehead Aug. 22 172? 
and removed to Boston; children: 1. Mary3, born Sept. 11, 1707; married 
Ebenezer Proctor; 2. James , born Jan. 16, 1708-9; married Hannah Houlton 
in 1730; died in 1731; no children; 3. Joseph3, born June 30, 1710-1; 
cordwamer; lived in Hopkinton and New Salem; married Rebecca Felton in 
I/3L had children; 4. Ruth3, born Jan. 24, 1712-3; married Samuel Johnson 
of Lynn; 5. Sarah , born April 10, 1715; married David Felton; 6. John3, born 
March 7, 1716-7; captain; lived in Danvers; married Lydia Gott of Wen- 
ham Sept. 25, 1751; had children. 

Capt. Benjamin Houlton3; yeoman; married, first, Lydia Leach July 
!3» i7°8, second, Elizabeth (Putnam), widow of Jonathan Putnam Nov 25. 
1736; he died; she married, thirdly, Edward Carlton of Haverhill, N. H., 

ov. 7, 1745 > children: 1. Sarah4, baptized March —, 1709-10; married John 
rarrington ot Andover Nov. 12, 1730; 2. Ruth4, baptized July 13, 1712; 
married Abraham Goodell; 3. Lydia4, baptized Sept. 2, 1716; 4. Benjamin4, 
born May 4, 1718; 5. Israel, baptized March 19, 1720-1; 6. Elizabeth4, bap- 
hzed July 7, 1723; 7- John4, born in 1726; 8. James4, baptized July 27, 1729; 
9- Mary, baptized Sept. 19, 1731; probably married Humphrey Holt Nov. 
30, 1749 timothy Houlton3; removed to Sutton in 1727; town clerk; 
married, first, Iveziah Rea March 7, 1715-6; she died June 14, 1724; married 
second Mary —; children: 1. John4, born Sept. 19, 1717, in Salem; lived 
m Sutton; married Ann Rawson Oct. 1, 1747; died May 13, 1760; had 
children; 2 Timothy born Sept. 5, 1719, in Salem; lived in Sutton; married 
Susannah Putnam Feb. 24, 1742; had children; 3. Nathan4, born March 21, 
1732, in Sutton; 4. Kezia , born July 4, 1734, in Sutton; 5. Ebenezer4, born 
uct. 7, 1736, in Sutton Samuel Houlton3; married, first, Anna Edwards of 
\ enham Jan. 22, 1728; she died Sept. 18, 1729; married, second, Hannah 

Gardner (published April 28, 1732) ; she died March 7, 1762; married, third, 
ilary ; he died Jan. 18, 1777; she survived him; children: 1. Anna4, 
born Sept. 4 1729; married David Putnam (published April 17, 1745)- 2. 

’• G’ TOl‘L’ same day; 3. Lydia4, born Aug. 4, 1735; 
married Dr. Jonathan Prince; 4. Samuel4, born June 9, 1738; physician; 
mem er o congress and judge of probate court; lived in Danvers; married 
Mary Warner (published March 4, 1758); she died Aug. 1815; he 
c.ied Tan. 2, t8t6; had children; 5. John4, born April 6, 1745; died Nov. 6, 
T745- 
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our late supplication and humbling of ourselves before him,” and 
“in being preserved from contagious diseases & suitableness of 
the season this present spring, and continuance of the lives of so 
many of his aged servants of public use in church and common¬ 
wealth, even while he seemed to threaten us with so great and 
unparalleled loss in such juncture of time as this.” 

Aug. 26, 1661, the selectmen granted to Serg. John Porter the 
way upon Mr. Sharp’s hill in consideration of the way which now 
goes on “this” side of the hill. 

Sept. 7, 1661, John Croade, Thomas Hale, Nicholas Potter, 
John Corwine, William Woodcocke, Richard Harvey, Andrew 
Woodberry, Isaac Williams, James Rizing, Thomas West, Thomas 
Barnes and Richard Tidmarsh were required, as a jury of inquest, 
by a constable, to go the house of Samuel Beadle, in Salem, to see 
a dead child. They found the remains laid out on a chest or table; 
and upon inquiry as to how it came to its death, the parents 
answered that it was drowned in the well, and no contrary evi¬ 
dence appeared. 

Lynnfield Street, in South Peabody, was laid out as a country 
highway between Salem and Reading, by John Porter and Na¬ 
thaniel Putnam of Salem and Peter Palfrey and John Wesson of 
Reading, who were appointed March 25, 1659, and made their re¬ 
turn June 24, 1660, as follows: Beginning at a place called the 
Butts in Salem bounds and so through a plain called Mr. John¬ 
son’s plain, then through a little plain between a great rocky hill 
and Mr. Gidny’s meadow and through another little plain, leaving 
a brushy pond, called Dog Pond, on the lefthand, and so through 
a great plain, called Mr. Humphrey’s plain, leaving Mr. Hum¬ 
phrey’s pond on the righthand, and so to the then Lynn line. The 
Salem portion of the way was laid out four rods wide. The re¬ 
turn was accepted by the Salem court Dec. 10, 16611. 

Nov. 18, 1661, the town granted to John Horne a parcel of 
land, forty by eighteen feet, in the gut between the houses of Wil¬ 
liam Lord, sr., and Hilliard Veren house, to satisfy him for want 
of land in his ten-acre lot; also, to Hugh Jones a parcel of land 
near John Southwick’s; also, to William Mappor so much land 
as the Inhabitants on Cape Ann Side shalbe Willing to give out of 
the Comon on the East fide of Bass River ; and, also, to John 
Green two acres of land where Abraham Warren lived on Ryall 

Side. 
In the Salem court, Nov. 26, 1661, an assault case from Gape 

Ann Side was tried. The plaintiff was Osmond Trask and the 
defendant Roger Llaskell. The trial is interesting only from its 

1See the two returns which were made, printed in the Records and 
Files of the Quarterly Courts of Essex County, volume II, page 333- 
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relation to Haskell’s clay pit. This was by the side of the highway 
at Roger Haskell’s hill1. The road was measured and found to 
be two rods and five feet wide and it was four rods to the further 
end of the pit. Haskell said that Trask had taken away clay in 
a forcible manner to the damage of the highway. Jeffrey Massey, 
aged about seventy, Nicholas Woodbury, aged about forty, and 
William Haskell, aged about forty-two, testified that the clay pit 
in the lane near the house of Roger Haskell was within the bounds 
of twenty acres of land long since granted to William Woodbury 
and widow Browne. William Dodge saw Osmond Trask digging 
clay over against Roger Haskell’s door. William Haskell and 
Robert Hebord testified that the old fence used to stand over part 
of the clay pit hole, and the four rods set out for the highwav did 
not reach over the clay pit by six feet, etc. The defendant was 
surveyor and he ordered Trask to stop digging. The clay pit was 
already dangerous a year before. The pit was six feet deep and 
so near Haskell’s door and gate that it was dangerous for his 
cattle and carts. Haskell had possessed the land thirteen or four¬ 
teen years, and claimed that the lane was not a highway. 

Dec. 23, 1661, the town granted to Mr. Johnson two or three 
acres of upland for fencing in of his meadow at his farm in 
Brooks by, and Richard Leech a neck of land on Rial s Side which 
is encompassed by his salt marsh. 

John, a negro belonging to Henry Bartholomew, was found 
dying from a gun wound, in December, of this year, and a jury of 
inquest was appointed, consisting of John Browne, Richard 
Prince, Walter Price, John Gedney, Daniel Rumbel. John Gard¬ 
ner, William Woodcocke, Nicholas Potter, Thomas' Cromwell, 
Joseph Gardner, Robert Gray and Hilliard Veren, probably on 
the day he died or the next day, were sworn on the twenty - 
third, and on the same day returned their verdict, in which they 
^tate that they had “viewed the place where the negro was 
found lying and a gun lying by him, and heard the relation 
<>r several wittnesses, that were called before he was quite 
dead, and viewing his body and finding where the shot went 
into his body being about or Just beneath his short ribs over 
his leaft side, and came partly through his shoulder blad behind, 
and being all agreed in our apprehentions, doe Tudg . . that 
he did willingly contrive and was the only acter in his owne 
death by shooting of the said Gun into his owne body.” 

Dec. 2/, 1661, the selectmen rescinded a former grant of four 
acies meadow to Nathaniel Felton, and instead he was now 
granted forty acres of upland on “the further” side of Ipswich 
River next to his meadow there bought of Joseph Pope; and 

Tor the location and a plan of this lot, see The Essex Antiquarian, 
volume XI, page 111. M ’ 
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John Bachelour was granted four acres of meadow with the 
pond near Mr. Blackleech’s farm. 
At this meeting, William Lake1 
and John Buttolph2 were admitted * 
inhabitants, and became prominent 
citizens. 

Jan. 2, 1661-2, was appointed by the general court “to be 
kept a day of solemne humilliation and supplication to the Lord 
for a thorough redresse, . . It being obvious to all pious and 
serious persons amongst us that wee are called of God deepely to 
humble ourselves for the many and great unproffitablenes, neglect, 
and indisposednes to a full inquiry and practice of the order of 
the gospell; the great ignorance and inclination of the rising 
generation to vanity, profanes, and disobedience; the sinfull in¬ 
dulgence in family government; pride and excesse in apparell; in¬ 
ordinate love of the world and the things thereof; insensibleness of 
evill occurrences; and in speciall, God’s suffering many enemies 
and underminers to multiply complaints against us to our sover- 
aigne lord the king; the impetuous and restles intrusion of haere- 
ticks and enemies to the ways, worship, and ordinances of God; 
the cursed combination of Anti-christ and his adherents to mine 
and trample upon all the sincere servants of God.”3 

Jan. 7, 1661-2, the selectmen ordered that a former grant of 
twenty acres of upland to Richard Adams be now entered. 

Jan. 20, 1661-2, the selectmen admitted Mathew Price4, who 
came from Charlestown, for an inhabitant of the town, provided 

1William Lake was a set-work cooper; lived on the1 northwesterly 
corner of Washington and Federal streets; in 1664, he lived in Philip 
Cromwell’s house; married Ann Stratton about August, 1661; died in 1679; 
she died in 1680; children: 1. Ann, born June 1, 1662; died June 10, 1662; 2. 
Abigail, born April 21, 1667; married-; 3. Mary, born Feb. 1, 
1668-9; married Lewis Hunt; 4. William, born March 12, 1674-5; probably 
died young. 

2)ohn Buttolph1; leather dresser; lived in a house which formerly 
stood on the site of the Essex Institute; married Hannah Gardner Oct. 16, 
1663; removed to Boston, where he lived in 1671; children: 1. John2, born 
Sept. 11, 1664; died April 23, 1665; 2. Jonathan2, born Sept. 9, 166-; 3. 
John2, born Oct. 15, 1667. 

John Buttolph2 married Priscilla -; he died May 10, 1713; she 
married, secondly, Simon Willard July 25, 1722; children: 1. John3, born 
July 1, 1688; lived in Boston; married Mehitable -——; had children; 2. 
Hannah8, born Dec. 9, 1689; married Nathaniel Osgood March 27, 1710; 3. 
Priscilla3, born July 31, 1692; married John Lansford Dec. 6, 1711; 4. 
Sarah3, born Jan. 20, 1693; married John Allen Nov. 18, 1713; 5. William3, 
born Sept. 7, 1695; died, unmarried, Sept. 23, 1720. 

Massachusetts Bay Colony Records, volume IV, part 2, page 34. 
Matthew Price was a tailor; married Elizabeth-before 1656; they 

were living in 1684; children: 1. Joseph, born in Charlestown March 23, 
1656; 2. Sarah; married William Jamison of Charlestown Oct. 18, 1677; 3. 
Elizabeth; married John Edwards. 
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he purchased a house to dwell in; and Charles Turner, son of 
Lieutenant Turner of Boston, was also received an inhabitant. 

Feb. 18, 1661-2, the 
selectmen granted to An- 

\jjA iCi£ct. (jL' thony Buxton twenty 
acres of land. Giles 

Corey, in consideration of some of his land having been made use 
of for a highway, was granted a small strip of about two acres of 
land near that which was Roger Morey’s meadow, and also a spot 
or hole of meadow near Henry Phelps’ house and near his own 
meadow. 

March 3, 1661-2, the town ordered “that the land lying along 
the high way against Thomas Goldthwaite’s and given to Hugh 
Jones and by him sold to William Robinson shall belong to Wil¬ 
liam Robinson and the widow Cooke from the way to the brook.” 
The town also “Granted to John Buttolf to set fats to Dress leth- 
er a parcel of land not exceeding a pole and half square in the 
swamp adjoining to Mr. Curwin’s land that was sometime Mr. 
Peter’s.” Three days later, this piece of land was laid out “from 
the frame set up by Thomas Tuck and so to run over the run and 
to join to Mr. Curwen’s fence.” The town also granted to John 
Beckett a parcel of land, not exceeding half an acre, next Richard 
Hollingsworth’s fence. The town also laid out to Henry West1- 

Hhomas West and Henry West were brothers and lived in Salem as 
early as 1658. 

1 Thomas West was a planter; married, first, Phebe Waters Oct. 11, 1658* 
she died April 16, 1674; married, second, Mary Tenne Oct. 14, 1674; he was 
living in 1701; children: 1. Samuel, born March 23, 1659-60; died in the 
summer of 1685; 2. Joseph/born Sept. 3, 1663; 3. Benjamin, born Oct. 1, 
1065; living at the Southward” in 1701; 4. John, born Sept. 9, 1667; 5. 
Mary, born Jan. 31, 1675-6; 6. Elizabeth, baptized July 1, 1677. 

Henry West1; sadler; married Elizabeth Merriam of Concord Sept 7, 
1664; she died Aug. 26, 1691; he died in 1703; children: 1. Elizabeth2, born 
*^^0 22’ 2. Samuel, born Jan. 25,-1666-7; 3. Susanna2, born Nov. 16, 
1668; unmarried in 1704 ; 4. Henry2, born Jan. 14, 1670; 5. Elizabeth2, born 
March 4, 1672; unmarried in 1704; 6. Mary2, born Feb. 22, 1675; married 
Richard Prince. 

Samuel West2; sadler; married Mary Poor Jan. 29, 1690; she was 
living m 1728; he died in 1732; children: 1. Samuel3, born Nov. 21, 1691; 2. 
Elizabeth, born Sept. 11, 1693; 3. John2, born May —, 1695; 4. Jonathan8, 

un- 2.’ 1697; died y°un8'> 5- Daniel?, born April 22, 1699; 6 Na- 
thaniel, baptized Sept. 6, 1702; 7. Mary3, baptized April 16, 1704; 8. Eliza¬ 
beth, baptized Nov. 10, 1706; died, unmarried, Aug. —, 1787; 9. Jonathan3, 
baptized July 16, 1710. Henry West2; shoemaker and sadler; married, first, 
juchth j oor Feb. 2, 1704-5; she died Jan. 27, 1715; married, second, Susanna 
Rhippen Dec. 2, 1718; married, third, Ruth, widow of Benjamin Phippen 
Dec. 22, 1726; he died Dec. 24, 1745; children: 1. John3, born Jan. 6, 1705-6; 
fisherman; married Margaret Ward March 19, 1730-1; they were both liv¬ 
ing in 1760; 2. Henry3, born Aug. 13, 1708; 3. Elizabeth3, born Nov. 10, 
1710; 4. Mary, born Oct. 17, 1712; 5. Judith3, born Jan. 23, 1714-5; died 
Aug. 22, 1715. 
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on the north side of Thomas Tuck's frame a plot to build a house 

Samuel West3; sadler; married Mary Gale Nov. 25, 1714; she sur¬ 
vived him and was dead in 1730-1; children: 1. Mary4, baptized Sept. 18, 
1715; died, unmarried, Feb. —, 1803; 2. Miehitabel4, baptized Oct. 27, 171:7; 
died young; 3. Elizabeth4, baptized Dec. 13, 1719; married, first, William 
Stacey Aug. 17, 1739; second, Jonathan Ashby Dec. 7, 1752; 4- Samuel4, 
baptized June 20, 1722; 5. Mehitabel4, baptized Oct. 25, 1724; 6. Sarah4, bap¬ 
tized March 19, 1727; 7. William4, baptized May 12, 1728; 8. Benjamin4, bap¬ 
tized Feb. 14, 1730-1. John West3; sadler; married Mary Dean April 28, 
1720; she was his wife in 1739; he died Feb. 21, 1751; children: 1. Susanna4, 
baptized Aug. 12, 1722; 2. Sarah4, baptized March 15, 1724; died young; 3. 
John4, baptized Sept. 5, 1725; 4. Mary4, baptized March 12, 1727; 5. George*, 
baptized April 27, 1729; 6. Sarah4, baptized Aug. 8, 1731; married Benjamin 
Peters Nov. 16, 1752; 7. Benjamin4, baptized Jan. 14, 1738-9- Daniel 
West3; sadler; married widow Elizabeth (Bickford?) Hauker Nov. 19, 
1744; died Jan. 3, 1748-9; she survived him; children: 1. Mary4, baptized 
May 18, 1746; married John West Feb. 6, 1766; 2. Daniel4, baptized April 3, 
1748; housewright; married, first, Ruth Oliver July 12, 1770; married, 
second, Sarah Burgess Oct. 23, 1796. 

Samuel West4; mariner; married Mary Massey Oct. 8, 1747 5 died in 
May, 1774; she was his widow in 1791; children: 1. Sarah5, baptized Jan.—, 
1748-9; 2. Samuel Massey5, baptized Dec. 16, 175°; 3- Martha, baptized 
Jan. 21, 1753; married Alexander Walker April 16, 1770; 4- Mary4, baptized 
Feb. 27, 1737; married Caleb Smith (published Oct. 5, 1777) 5 5- Benjamin ; 
6. Abigail5^ baptized Aug. 26, 1764. William West4; distiller and mer¬ 
chant; married Mary Bickford Nov. 1, 175°; died at sea, by drowning, 
Aug. 17, 1803; she died Sept. 15, 1813; children: 1. William5, born Dec. 3, 
1751; died at sea March —, 1788; 2. Sally6, born Feb. 8, 1754 5 unmarried in 
1801; 3. Mehitable5, born Feb. 8, 1754; 4- Benjamin5, baptized Feb. 9, 1755 5 

lived in Salem, baker, in 1788; 5- Nathaniel5, born Jan. 31, 1756; 6. Ebenezer , 
born Aug. 17, 1758; 7. Edward4, born Aug. 22, 1760; mariner; lived m Salem 
in 1791; 8. Thomas5, born Jan. 3, 1762; mariner; lived in Salem in 1788; 9. 
John5, born Sept. 6, 1764; 10. Mary2, born Jan. 3,. 1769; died, unmarried, 
April 15, 1813; 11. Sarah5, born Feb. 16, I7725 married John Gardner. Capt. 
George West4; fisherman; married, first, Abigail Cook April. 28, 17515 she 
was living in 1775; married, second, Alice Whittemore (published Nov. 23, 
1782) ; he died March —, 1802; children: 1. Abigail5, baptized June 6, 1750J 
2. George5, baptized June 6, 1756; 3- John4, baptized May 22, 1757; 4- John , 
baptized Tune 24, 17595 5- Benjamin5, baptized Aug. 5 1764; 6. Sarah , bap¬ 
tized Aug. 18, 1765 (Sally married Thomas Tuck, published Feb. 17. 1785) 5 

7. Margaret5, baptized June 12, 1768; died young; 8. Margaret , baptized 
Aug. 26, 1770; married Jacob Townsend Aug. 24, I79r5 9- Mehitable , bap¬ 
tized Aug. 16, 1772. Capt. Benjamin West ; mariner and merchant, 
married Abigail Phippen Aug. 9- '1762; she died Dec. —, 1798; he died 
March 22, 1809; children: 1. Elizabeth5, baptized Sept. 29, 1765. at two 
years of age; died, unmarried, Feb. 3, 1855; 2. Susanna, baptized Sept. 29, 
'1765; died Sept. 1, 17875 3- Benjamin5, baptized July pi, 1768; merchant; 
died July 14, 1825; 4. Thomas5, born about 1778; 5- Mary ; died Nov. —, 

T/98Samuel Massey West5; mariner; married Mary Young (published 
Sept 8 1773) ; he was dead in the spring of 1801; children : t. Patty , born 
about 1782;' 2. Samuel6, born about 1785; 3- John born about 1787; died 
Feb 1 1821- 4. Nancy6, born about 1787; 5- Abigail8, born about 1790; liv¬ 
ing in 1801 ’ Capt. Nathaniel West5; master manner; commanded a pri¬ 
vateer in the Revolution; merchant; married, first, Elizabeth Derby May 23. 
1783; she died March 19, 1814; married, second, widow Julia Houghton ot 
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of two rod in length and twenty foot in breadth at one end and 
eighteen foot the other end.” 

^ " oodcock1 lived in Salem in 1660, and was the first 
apothecary here. He was called “doctor”, and among his personal 

Andover June 25. 1816; she died March 11, 1844- he died Dec ,n tR-, 
aged ninety-five; children: i. Henry6 born Tune 27 r-9- r 1 ; % ’ 
Martha Derby6, born Feb 17 1787 • W• % 7? 7%Tdled in 1810 J 2- i7i’ 6 1 ~ ’ x-n * y 3* A at haute l, born Nov 20 7788 • 1 
Ehzabeth born Oct. 19, 1790; married Capt. Edward LandeFoct10 ,81, • 

*3 

Ma?garet Tuck (’publIishednDe2c’ ^T’’ f'shenmn’ 
Carolina in Janu^.ytf s^mlrri 3 si 

&eth^Seltyfp^i 1 ?A£Fd°A-rd^ 
Feb. 25 1864* children- °t Ah*’ -i^pj311' 6^’, l849l she died, his widow, 

Richard cTXr^ Nov 25 1835 g2‘ ]&£ 1808 b 
Der ti rQo-- ^ c 6 J ’ z- HfizaDetn M. , born Sept, i, 1810- died 

ville Ky Aui % 1840’ ,°TI AUS' n’ l8l2.i ™arried J°Iln RlIst of Louis- 

of Be^(yAjSd^^ofri^r'Svb?n,-1Ja?ai- 'T8l5; princi'lal 
living in 1840- 6 Martha 1 T4?’ 5- Benjamin*, born June 15, ,818; 

ried Mary Bowle^White^ofl^verl^A ^nap°llS’ l1Kl; state senator; mar- 

W* ssi 
I3* ■ Francs', born Aug. 13, ,822; 8. Sarah Derby’, born Sep 4 ,8* = 

&.yTelei-d sVprVsT rtf; SS£ TE!!’: rC^r*= r^ed borcis 

April’ ^x8,oan died'Aprils ""la-ESr1 rTW ^^dTebiahA^ers pliildrnti • T r' 7 P, l844 > she died, his widow March w jR-fi- 

bxs-n8 ti 

EHz? Ann’,'born %X’ ^7^ ,°f ^ 
March 29, 1820- / ’Eliza Ann^hnrn^ ^tarc^ 3* 18211 6- Benjamin A.1, born 

Gfortk Wwt’ a tnn ’ ^°rn T i82-3 ; died, unmarried, July 2s 1848 

second Mlr^Web:bmsTe died A «firsC]MaP Endicoit &e.W«; 
x. George W* born May 17 iR-o" P 1844’ dxed June 24, 1852; child: 
ried Nancy B.’ Downing Tan’ rfFsTi WesC merchant; mar- 

Hospital: married Emily C Fessen4 " ^unkeag Trust Company and Salem 

William Woodcock mafried Hannah"-3’ anf ^hf^ ^ 2°’ ^ 
children are recorded as bavintr Ko0„ \ • 0 , the. following-named 
the time Mr. Woodcock died V FTa orn,in, 8a eiP ^a child died here about 

1667; 2. SusannT^ Ju? 7' ^ died ^ - 
born Oct. 12, 1666; died March 21. 1667 ^ ^ 3’ W,lliam* 
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WOODCOCK HOUSE 

^OLCLIC wao CL LUiilLl ^ UUIliGUL J 

Mm** 

estate was a cornet (“curnett”)—a scarf anciently worn by phy¬ 
sicians, indicative of their pro- 

> g ^ fession. On land of Edmond 
Batter, at about that date, he 

erected a large dwelling house which is still standing on its 
original site at 274 Essex Street. This was the first house erected 
on either side of the street between Washington and Forth 
streets, except houses on the corners of those streets. About I735> 
Timothy Orne, who had lately bought the house and land, added 
to the house, building out the front to the sidewalk and making a 
gable on the street at the western end by raising the roof in front. 
The leanto must have been added much later, as its frame is of 
soft sawn lumber. The main timbers are of oak, a loot square, 
and the thick planks were hewn from the primitive logs. The 
attic shows a unique construction of the ridge plank. Air. Wood¬ 
cock died June 16, 1669, having never received a deed of the land 
from Air. Batter. Mr. Batter gave a deed of it to Daniel Andrew 
of Salem, a brick-layer, Dec. 13, 1669. Sept. 17, 1670, the widow 
of Mr. Woodcock released her interest in the property to the ad¬ 
ministrators of the estate of Mr. Woodcock, and, Feb. 18, 1672-3, 
the administrators conveyed to Mr. Andrew the house, household 
goods, clothing, physic, drugs, vessels, pots, horse, etc.. 

In a letter to the Ipswich court, Rev. John Higgmson said 
that Mr. Woodcock “died in horror, complaining of the snare ot 
company and drinking.” . 

Mr. Woodcock was the first apothecary m Salem, and m the 
inventory of his estate is listed a small still and another still, four 
pair broken scales, chest of drawers, box of drawers, a mortar and 
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an old broken mortar, two glass bottles, gallipots in the shop, in 
which the ointments were kept, and “apotticharies drugs.” 

Mr. W oodcock was licensed to distill strong water for a rear 
and sell by retail, at Ipswich court, March 25, 1662. This license 
was granted with the understanding that he should sell to none 
but masters of families of good repute, nor sell after sunset 
and to keep a record of sales, as to persons, times and quantities' 
His license was renewed for retailing strong water for one year 
ensuing Nov. 24, 1663, and for 1665 to 1667. 

At the same meeting, John Clifford1 and William Segrave 
were admitted as inhabitants, pro- . n * 
vided they brought a certificate 
from some magistrate that they J VtJWUfr 

were allowed to be inhabitants in this jurisdiction. These young 
men from Boston were allowed to be inhabitants Feb. is, 1663-45. 

. MJcX®alch' S0Tn of the Emigrant of that name, was drowned 
in North River in January, 1661-2. A jury of inquest, warned by 
a constable, consisting of Henry Bartholmew, Jefferie Massey, 
Richard Prince, Hillyard Veren, Thomas Cromwell, Isaac Wil- 
hams, Zebulon Hill, William Curtis, John Hill, John Knight 
Samuel Archer and Thomas Robbins, probably on the day oAhe 
drowning or the next day, were sworn Jan. 16, 1661-2, and on 
the same day, returned their verdict, in which they stated that 

said Balch bemge constrayned to leave the Canow in which he 
was bound over the river at Salem ferrie, by reason of the violence 

nL, ai?u WaVG and Indeavormge to returne againe to the 
shore died by the extremitie of the cold with the violence of the 
M inde the lage of the sea and so perished in the water ”2 He left 
a widow and a young child, the latter dying soon after. 

stooc/in1 the"middfe ofDerh°U<Ll6*l0; roIJe maker; lived in a house which 
rWKJfi , middle of Berby Street, on the western side of English Street- 

-TTed JufeT, *698. ^ ™S °£ Lyn" in 1696’ marri?d EH-beth 

JohnBaNTaCviivfrMt,!1 iAsta‘|d’„thr,ough a typographical error, that 
in January, 1661-2 ” ' l"le ' ldd2’ when 11 should have read, “drowned 
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CHRISTOPHER BABBIDGE HOUSE. 

June 6, 1662, the selectmen laid out into lots, according to 
the order of the town, the land lying between Essex Street and 
the creek leading from the common to Collin’s Cove, and sold 
them for five pounds each. The lots were laid out as shown by 
the opposite plan, and granted as follows: 1. This lot was granted 
to John Robinson, the tailor, who was then living at Edward 
Woolan’s, Aug. 7, 1672. He built a dwelling house thereon and 
lived there. 2. This lot was probably granted to George Gardner 
Jan. 27, 1662-3. 3. This lot was probably granted to Joseph 
Porter Aug. 26, 1665. 4. This lot was probably granted to 
Christopher Babbidge before 1683, when he owned it, having 
erected a house, in which he lived. This house was one of the 
best in the neighborhood, and the staircase is still in use in that 
section of the house which remains upon the original site. A pic¬ 
ture of the house as it was built is given above, and a view of the 
staircase is inserted to show the ancient newel post and balusters, 
all of which are beautifully carved. Mr. Babbidge died about 
1711, and his son Christopher succeeded him on the place. In 
1717, the building committee of the East or Second Church met 
here and considered the plans of its first meeting house, which 
was built on the opposite side of the street. Mr. Babbidge died m 
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1755, and the administratrix of his estate conveyed the land and 
buildings to Richard Derby, the merchant, Nov 8 17=57 Mr 
Derby died in 1783, having devised to his daughter Mary Crown- 
mshield this House in which she lately dwelt now occupied by 
Joseph Moses. Mrs. Crowinshield conveyed the estate to Tames 
Cheever, a merchant, Aug. 24, 1799. Mr. Cheever died Sept. 23, 

STAIRCASE IN BABBIDGE HOUSE. 

R^wVTlT Ch,ldreQn conTveyed the buildings and land to Phineas 
end ofth J *’ I,840' In i859> Mr' Weston cut off the eastern 

Mr Westoffs'p an| m0Ved itut0uGrant Street- where jt sti11 stands, 
land I n" / cy c.onv7ed the remainder of the house and the 
Here , t,nT Bowker July 2I’ l88> and Mr. Bowker lived 

June 6"Ife^andTT 'It5' '0t WaS gTanted t0 John Mascoll june o 1002 and he built a house upon it. 6. This lot was Prant 

hous°e ^ponh 7°ThUnff’ 1662 : and he ^mediately ererted a 
Tune 6 I'7 ° „Wf granted to widow Hollingworth 
June 6, 1662, and a small dwelling house was built upon it. 



BELLINGHAM AND DENISON GRANTS 3H 

8. This lot was granted to John Williams June 6, 1662; and he 
immediately erected a house upon it. 9- This lot was granted to 
Nicholas Bartlett before 1667. He immediately built a house upon 
it, and lived there. 10. This lot was granted to Matthew Wood 
in 1667; and he built a house on it that year. This house had only 
one room upon a floor, and the chimney and entrance were at the 
eastern end. It was taken down in March, 1789. 11. This lot was 
owned by George Hodges in 1667, when a house was standing 
upon it. 12. This lot was granted to Richard Roberts, a tailor, in 
May, 1673, and he built a small cottage upon it. Between lots 
eight and nine, the lane leading to the cove was left very wide; 
and the western two-thirds of it was granted at a town meeting 
to Teremiah Butman March 14, 1672-3. This way, which is now 
called Emerton Street, was thus left very narrow. The houses 
erected on the five lots first granted were the first houses built on 
that side of Essex Street, below St. Peter Stieet, except the 
ancient Downing house which occupied the site of the Essex Insti¬ 
tute. The dotted lines on the plan indicate the rear limits of each 
lot. The space between those lines and the ancient highway were 
encroachments upon the common land. March i/, 1692-3. the 
town voted that the encroachments should be paid forand also 
that the owners should keep open the creek that the tide water 
might freely pass and not annoy the inhabitants who lived farther 
up^the street in the low swampy ground, that is, to the Hawthorne 
Hotel. When the common land on the north side of the creek, 
through which Forrester Street now runs, was granted to the 
owners of the adjoining lots on Essex Street, in 1795, a condition 
was inserted in each deed that the common shore should be for¬ 
ever kept open at the expense of the grantees. Between the lots 
as occupied and the creek was the original highway m that section 
probably before Essex Street was laid out, over the lot next 
westerly of Emerton Street, being a part of the way on that side 
of the ridge originally leading to the Neck. The creek was tne 
outlet for the ponds and swamp which now constitute the common. 
It was still open in 1862, and probably later. 

Oct 8 1662 the general court confirmed the election of the 
officers by the troopers of Salem, Lynn, etc., namely: tor captain 
George Corwine; for lieutenant, Thomas Putnam; and for cornet, 

Walter Price 
The selectmen were desired, Oct. 8, 1662 to petition the general 

court for the grant of Penacook (“penme Cook ) as a plantation, 
and so engage its planting. A year later (Oct. 21 1663), the 
court granted the request—a plantation at Pemcook of four miles 
square provided the town people “erect a village there with a min- 

ister within four years. 
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_ John Milk1 was in Salem in 1662, being a young man, at first a 
chimney sweep, and subsequently a herdsman. He lived in a 
house he had built midway of what is now Federal Street, opposite 
the 1 abernacle meeting house. 

S'ov‘ 1662, was appointed by the general court to be kept 
as a day of thanksgiving, the Lord “having graciously answered 
°m pubhcke prayers in sparing such a part of the fruites of the 
eaith, whereby man and beast may be sustained, . also the 
safe and speedy returne of our publicke messengers sent for 
England, together with the continuance of the mercies of peace 
liberties, and the gospel.” p ’ 

wat Jsh* SaIetm-,CMrt grantedJ Hcense t0 J°hn Croad to sell strong 
waters at retail Nov. 25, 1662, and he was licensed as late a! 

Dec. 3, 1662 was appointed by the general court as “a solern 
day of fasting and prayer,” for the affliction and low estate of the 
cause and people of God universally, with the prevailing power of 
Antichrist over the Reformed churches beyond the seal together 

with some publicke rebukes of God among ourselves.” 
„„ f I7,’ l6M th? selectmen granted to Henry Keny thirty 
actes of Dnch and six days later ordered that the land between that 
of Richard Hutchinson and Nathaniel Putnam, formerly granted 
o Jo n Putnam, sr should be Hutchinson’s in satisfaction for 

ways which were laid out through his land. 
Jan. 13, 1662-3, the selectmen granted to Ser°- George Gard 

s “m™, 1 r •- houVbTSo.. i«; c eady laid out and of the same proportion, he paving- five 

man Wollans of r6 d0ne; *° Ge0rge Hodges a lot below Good- * • W? s’ of,the Proportions of those lots already laid out 
pc wng fi\e pounds : and to Job Swinerton, jr a parcel of land if 

SKXJ* as 
Two weeks from that day, at a meeting of the selectmen 

CaP°emAn,f SklenfoerXd ge<1 l0‘ f°rmerly panted to him on , I ‘ h>ide tor the same quantity of land near Lono- Hill nn 
the north and Bald Hill on the southeast. * 

fi A! llleetll]g of the selectmen, it was also “ordered that all 
he inhabitants within the town of Salem shall sweep or cause 

everyCmOTthyfrombtheSWhePt- Wberek tbey usuaI1-v make fire once 
of the firsfmonthlnd beg-nn'ng 0f the ei&ht month to the end 

e hist month and once in two months from the first of second 

he died in the autum'of children M'* t3’i M ’ sbe was livin8 in 1688; 
ned Elizabeth Hempfield at Marblehead \', - b°In Jan- 8, 1668-9; mar- 
22, 1670; livingin 1688 Warb,ehead’ A«S- 2°, 1689; 2. Mary, born Nov. 
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month to the last of the seventh month on the penaltie of twelve 
pence a time if any shall neglect the same to be paid to the use of 
the informer and for any that will have their chimnies swept John 
Milke is chosen and apointed for this year insuinge to be the com¬ 
mon chimney sweeper and is to be paid four pence for every 
chimney swept if it be paid in money wheat or butter and if in 
other pay six pence a chimney; provided that it is in the liberty 
of any to sweep their own chimney or to employ any other as they 
see cause; and it is further ordered that if any chimney through 
neglect of sweeping should catch on fire so that it flame out at the 
top of the chimney the owner of the chimney should forfeit ten 
shillings to the use of the town.” 

Two months later, at a meeting of the selectmen, Lt. Thomas 
Gardner requested the grant of about fourteen acres of land ad¬ 
joining the land of Henry Phelps. 

Widow Dennis was supported by the town from 1658 to 1664. 
March 24, 1662-3, the selectmen admitted Thomas Longbot- 

tom as an inhabitant of the town. At about the same time, there 
came to Salem Christopher a ^ 
Babbidge1, a tailor, who had<^^fA«yf^(|9v^ 
been taught his trade by y 
George Marks of his native parish of Totness. 

Christopher Babbidge1 was son of Roger and Hester Babbidge of Tot¬ 
ness, Devonshire, England, came to New England in 1661 in the ship Nathan¬ 
iel, and settled in Salem in or before 1663; tailor; married, first, Agnes 
Triggs of Totness, and she came to America with him; she died in Salem, 
Nov. 17, 1667; married, second, Hannah (Jewett), widow of John Carleton 
of Rowley, Oct. 5, 1674; she was living in 1706, and he in 1711; children: 1. 
Ruth2, born March 21, 1663; 2. John2, born April 15, 1666; died Jan. 13, 1688; 
3. Hannah2 born July 15, 1675; died May 6, 1698; 4. Mary2, born March 
7. 1676-7 (baptized Annie) ; 5. Christopher2, born Nov. 11, 1678; 6. Richard2, 
born Oct. 1, 1680; died March —, 1680-1; 7. Richard2, born July 14, 1682; 
died Oct. 1, 1683; 8. Nehemiah2, born March 25, 1684; died Dec. 24, 1685. 

Christopher Babbidge2; cordwainer; married Lydia Marston Dec. 6, 
1705; she was living in 1726; he died in 1755; children: 1. James3 (probably 
his son), born in 1706; published to Mary Shaddock of Boston March 16, 
1727-8, but John Carter forbade the banns, and he married Elizabeth Knowl- 
ton of Ipswich June 13, 1728; lived in Ipswich, and died there within a year 
thereafter; she was his widow in 1732; had a child; 2. John, born Sept. 7, 
1707; 3. Lydia3, baptized Jan. 22, 1709-10; unmarried in 1783; 4.. Mehitable3, 
baptized June 14, 1713; died, unmarried, Dec. 24, 1784; 5. Benjamin3, bap¬ 
tized Feb. 5, 1715-6; married Abigail Mears of Boston June 17, 1742; 6. 
Christopher®; 7. Hannah3 (probably his daughter); married Nathaniel Os¬ 
good Oct. 6, 1745. 

Capt. John Babbidge3; mariner; married Susannah Becket Jan. 11, 
1732-3; died May 12, 1745; she survived him, and after teaching her fa¬ 
mous private school' for fifty years, the corpulent Madam Babbidge died 
June 3, 1804, at the age of ninety; children: 1. Lydia4, born Sept. 7, 17331 
assisted her mother in her school; died, unmarried, July 9, 1800; 2. Su¬ 
sannah4, born Nov. 3, 1734; married Capt. Jonathan Mason Jan. 22, T756; 3. 
John4, born May 17, 1736; died, unmarried, Oct. 22, 1757; 4- Elizabeth, born 
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Richard Sibley built his dwelling house, in 1663, on the 
southeastern corner of the lot of land upon which the North 
meeting house now stands, on Essex Street. He died in 1676, and 
after the death of his widow, subsequent to 1700, the heirs re- 

RICHARD SIBLEY HOUSE. 

leased their interests to his son John. The estate passed to loseph 

side Of V Qfand; 111 I7<5-3' re moved the house to tile westerly 
side of North Street, opposite Lynde Street. The estate remained 
in the Oavett family Originally, the house consisted of the east¬ 
erly end only, including the front door and large chimney. 

Feb. 27, 1737-8; married-Capt. Benjamin Ward Nov. is 1770 • c Rpnin**S„* 

Aprils' imI7^d0Sentda1474bOrn Jaa 7- WilHam^ born’ 

nams inov. 12, i/97, 2. John (probably his son) born lulv 8 ? 

sssaisar ass vw ® 
unmarried, March 5, 1856. ' ’ " Usan ’ 30rn m I7^°» died, 
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At a town meeting, March 30, 1663, Major Hathorne, Wil¬ 
liam Flint and Henry Bartholmew were appointed to lay out the 
way to the cove, by John Ruck's, which they accordingly did. 
This is the northern end of Mill Street, between Norman and 
Creek Streets. 

John Babbidge0; shipbuilder; married Sarah Beckett June 25, 1789; 
died March 22, i860, aged ninety-three; she died July 17, 1856; children: 1. 
John Laurens6, born Sept. 21, 1789; 2. William6, baptized July 17, 1791; died, 
unmarried, Aug. 27, 1819, at sea, on board the ship Argonaut; 3. Benjamin6, 
baptized April 21, 1793; boat builder; died, unmarried, March 7, 1879; 4. 
Sarah6, baptized Feb. 22, 1795; died Oct. 19, 1841; 5. Nancy6, baptized April 
30, 1797; 6. Elizabeth6, baptized July 7, 1799; 7. Charles6, baptized Aug. 16, 
1801; died Oct. 14, 1802; 8. Lydia6, baptized March 27, 1803; died, un¬ 
married, April 20, 1884; 9. Mary6, baptized Nov. 23, 1804; 10. Charles6, bap¬ 
tized Oct. 27, 1806; clergyman in Pepperell; married Eliza A. —; 11. Susan¬ 
na Archer6, baptized Feb. 4, 1809; married Gordon Robinson of N. Hampton 
July 19, 1832. Capt. Benjamin Babbidge5; mariner; married Mary Phippen 
(published April 13, 1793) ; sailed as master of the brig Nancy, from Turk’s 
Island, Oct. —, 1810, and was lost at sea; she died March 17, 1812; children: 
1. John Phippen6, baptized Feb. 22, 1795; mariner, mate of ship Saco; mar¬ 
ried Sarah Pulsifer Aug. 8, 1813; died at City Point, Va., Aug. 2, 1826; she 
died June 19, 1876; 2. Mary Adelaide6, baptized April 26, 1801; died Nov. 
30 1803 Capt. Christopher Babbidge6; master-mariner; married, first, 
Ruth Randall of York, Me., May 6, 1792; she died July 5, 1809; married, 
second, Eunice (Peele), widow of Capt. Michael Barnes Dec. 1, 1822, he 
died Nov. 24, 1836; she died March 31, 1869; children: 1. Christopher , bap¬ 
tized Aug 12, 1792; died, unmarried, in Dartmoor prison at Chatham, Eng¬ 
land, Jan. 19. 1814; 2. Elizabeth6, born May 13, 1796; married Capt. 
Ebenezer Ropes; 3. Margaret Lockhart6, baptized Oct. 21,_ 1798; died, un¬ 
married, Oct. 26, 1821; 4. William6, baptized Feb. 15, 1801 ; died on ship Alary 
Ann at Sumatra, unmarried, Feb. —, 1820; 5. Martha Silsbee , baptized Dec. 
26 1802; married Capt. William Driver; 6. Susan Beckett , baptized March 
17, 1803; married Alfred R. Brooks Feb. 19, 1831; 7- Maria Ruth baptized 
June 13, 1814; married, first, Henry Russell Sept. 19, 1830; he died July 28, 
1837; married, second, Thorpe Fisher Oct. 10, i860; 8. Christopher, born 
April 12, 1824; died April 13, 1824; 9. Margaret, born about 1824, died 
young. William Babbidge5; married Mary Bateman April 13, 1806; she 
died Nov. —, 1821; he died Dec. 8, 1832; children: 1. Mary Ann , born Sept. 
7, 1809; married George W. Pew of Gloucester Nov. 5, 1829; 2. Francis, 
born March 9, 1811; 3- Christopher6, born Jan. 5, 1813; 4- Nancy , born in 

John Laurens Babbidge6; married Nancy Ann Ivimball July -6 1816, 

died at St. Thomas March 27, 1824; she was his widow in 1871; children: 
t. Ann Maria7, born about 1817; died Aug. 23, 1841; 2. — (son) stillborn 
Nov 27 1818 Capt. Francis Babbidge6; master-mariner; married Amelia 
P. Goldthwaite Jan. 27, 1842; died Oct. 3L 1865; she was his widow in 
1870; children : 1. Frances A.7, born Sept 21 i§44; 2 Charles . born Ma> 31, 

1848; railroad official; married Carrie J. Stanwood ot Topsfield Oct. IS, 
1879; 3. Augustine L.7, born July 1, 1851 ; married Emma C. is 'e ^ • - > 
1878. Christopher Babbidge6; married Elizabeth P. Masury Jan 25, R3.7, 

she died Oct. 17, 1861; children: 1. Mary Ann born June 17, 1839, married 
Thomas S. Call March 15, 1865; 2 Abba Elizabeth born Oct u, 1841. 
died May 7, 1844; 4- William7, born Nov. 10, 7844; plumber, died Dec. -5, 
1890; 4. Margaret E7, born about 1848; married Francis H. Hale May 2, 
1867’; 3. Evdia B.7, born in 1856: died Nov. 2, 1856. 
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Richard Waters was licensed by the Salem court to distill and 
sell strong waters at retail from 1663 to 1668. 

Aug. 22, 1663, the selectmen granted to John Tompkins all 
the land lying at the end of the five acres he bought of Jefferie 

Estee, next Robert Cotte (near Mingo beach?) from his bound 
at the end of his lot, both upland and marsh, to low water mark ; 
and it was ordered that no person should dig any clay upon the 
plain commonly known by the name of the mill plain between the 
causeway and Strongwater brook, upon penalty of five shillings a 
load. 

Three days later, the selectmen admitted William Smith1 and 
Isaac Hull2 as inhabi¬ 
tants; and John Ruck was 
chosen to keep a house of 
common entertainment. 
This ordinary was the C_^0s/' 

northwestern corner of the old Ruck house, at 8 Mill Street, now 
standing. His license was renewed until 1681, and in 1663 he was 
licensed to sell wine. He was licensed to sell strong waters from 
1666 to 1680 Nov. 24, 1663, the court renewed the license of 
1 horn as Gardner to sell one barrel of strong water at retail, and 
tie .next day his license was limited to the strong water he had on 
hand. He was licensed to sell strong water as late as 1668. 

This house was built by Thomas Ruck when he purchased 
the Sweet grant, about 1645. He removed to Boston a year or 
two later, and became a haberdasher and draper. He conveyed 
the house and the nine acres of land to his son John Ruck, who 
ived here, Jan. 9, 1651-23. This was the first house erected in 
this square, and the only one until 1664. John Ruck died in 
1697 having devised the house and the land under and around 
it to his sons Samuel and James. They carried on shipbuilding 
here, and m February, 1711-2, divided the estate, Samuel taking 
the northern and James the southern half of the lot. The house 
stood entirely on Samuel’s part, and he lived in it. James con- 
\ e\ed to his brother Samuel the land adjoining on the south side 
of the house in 1712-3; and upon this lot, and annexed to the old 
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house, Samuel built, before 1742, the present southwestern 
portion of the house. He lived in the old part of the house; and 
Dec. 27, 1742, he' conveyed the new part to Samuel Bacon of 
Salem, shipwright.1 Mr. Ruck was still living in the old part of 
the house when he sold it with the land to Joseph Mackintire of 
Salem, joiner, July 13, 1751.2 Mr. Mackintire sold his part of 
the house and land to Samuel Bacon,, who owned the new part, 
Oct. 11, 1754.3 While Mr. Bacon owned the estate a part of the 

RUCK HOUSE 

house was occupied by Richard Cranch, a watchmaker. He was 
father of Justice Cranch of Washington, and brother-in-law of 
President John Adams, who used to frequently visit here in his 
younger years. Mr. Cranch moved to Boston in 1767. He was 
an Englishman, and soon after he was succeeded as a tenant in 
the house by Copley, the celebrated painter, who remained here 
for a time at the beginning of the Revolution, and painted poi- 
traits of some of the leading citizens. Copley s son, Lord Lynd- 
hurst, subsequently Chancellor of England, was brought hei e as 

"Essex Registry of Deeds, book 82, leaf 243. 
2Essex Registry of Deeds, book 98, leaf 69. 
3Essex Registry of Deeds, book 123, leaf 55- 
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an infant and remained until his parents could sail for England 
tiie father being a tory. 

Samuel Bacon died before 1783; and his daughter Mehitable 
and her husband John Lawless of Salem, conveyed, in trust, for 
themselves and their children, to John Templeman of Salem 
surgeon dentist, the whole estate March 28, 17831, and Mr. and 
Airs. Templeman of Georgetown, Md., merchant, conveyed the 
estate to AVihiam Deakins, jr., of Georgetown, merchant, May 

f0’J797-# Mr Deakins died in 1799, having devised the property 
to Francis Deakins, who, Oct. 16, 1799, conveyed it to Mr. Tem¬ 
pleman. Mr. and Mrs. Templeman conveyed it, the same day, 

w-fr' Ropes of Salem,3 and Mr. Ropes conveyed it to 
VVilham Dolhver of Salem, baker, May 27, 1805.4 Mr/Dolliver 
died m or before 1809, and the place was purchased of the estate 
by Rev. Samuel Worcester, pastor of the Tabernacle church, 
June 30, 1809. Mn Worcester lived here till his death, June 7 
1821, and his administrator conveyed the house and lot to Rev! 
1 horn as Carlisle of Salem, minister at St. Peter’s church, Jan. 
-i, i< 22 - Ir. Cailisle became insolvent, and his assignees con- 

vEved ™ estate t0 Ephraim Brown of Salem, baker, April 10, 
I( 22A 1 lie estate has been in the Brown family ever since. 

Sept. 29,1663, the Ipswich court allowed fifty pounds to build 
a prison m Salem out of the Quakers’ lands which had been 

Tjle ancient Goodale house, now standing in Peabodv, on 
Goodale Street was built by Isaac Goodale, on land of his father 
about 1663 He was married in 1667, and probably then first oc- 

C"pieJR is two-story in height, with a leanto, which projects 
about five feet from the northeasterly end of the house, forming a 
bevelly projection, as it is called. The title and possession of the 
estate remained m the Goodale family until 1915, when the house 
and land around it was conveyed to Charles R. Stackpole of Na- 
nant. this view of it was taken in 1888 

Anthony Ashby8 came to Salem ^ ^ 
m 1603, and lived at the Juniper house ,/f. M UJ 

on Salem Neck, where he was an inn- 
keeper. // 

j Essex Registry of 
"Essex Registry of 
3Essex Registry of 
Tssex Registry of 
“Essex Registry of 
6Essex Registry of 
‘Essex Registry of 
“Anthony Ashby1; 

baptized June 12, 1670; 
baptized June 15, 1684; 

Deeds, book 162, leaf 186. 
Deeds, book 165, leaf 181. 
Deeds, book 165, leaf 182. 
Deeds, book 176, leaf 134. 
Deeds, book 187, leaf 208. 
Deeds, book 229, leaf 91. 
Deeds, book 228, leaf 227. 
married Abigail Hutchinson; children 
2- Abigail2, baptized June 12, 1670; 
4- Elizabeth2, baptized June 16, 1684. 

Gershom2, 
Benjamin2, 
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GOODALE HOUSE 

Dec. 22, 1663, the selectmen appointed Major Hathorne and 
Mr. Batter to view a plot of ground at the turning of the fence of 
Major Hathorne at the end of the lane and to lay out a parcel of 
land to John Glover to build a house on, not prejudicial to the 
highway, and to make return to the next town meeting. 

Benjamin Ashby2; shipwright; married Hannah —; died in the sum¬ 
mer of 1713; she was his widow in 1731; children: 1. Benjamin3; shipwright; 
married Elizabeth Priest Dec. 27, 1700; died April —, 1718; she married, 
secondly, Thomas Humphreys May 25, I719‘, 2• Elizabeth3; married Na¬ 
thaniel Pease; 3. John3, baptized June 1693; 4. Abigail3, baptized Sept. 
—> 1694; 5. Jonathan3, born Sept. 28, 1694. 

John Ashby3; removed to Beverly in 17r4; married Patience Ellen- 
wood of Beverly (published Oct. 4* 1712) ; died in 1715; she married, sec¬ 
ondly, Moses Morgan (published Jan. 12, 1717-8) ; child: 1. John4, born Nov. 
8, 1713; lived in Beverly, cordwainer, in 1742. Jonathan Ashby3; ship¬ 
wright; married Jemima Felt Nov. 17, 17H5 died Jan. 22, 1729-30; she 
died, his widow, Nov. 23, 1789.. aged ninety-three; children: 1. Jorva- 
thah\ baptized July 21, 1717; 2. Jemima4, baptized Feb. 1, 1718-9; married 
Thomas Morong June 21, 1739,- 3- Benjamin4, baptized April 16, 1721; 
4. John4, baptized April 7, 1723; laborer; lived in Salem in 1750J 5. 
Hannah4, baptized May 30, 1725 ; married Samuel Luscomb; 6. George . 

Jonathan Ashby4, shipwright; married, first, Mary Dean April 19, 
1739; she died in 1751; married, second, Elizabeth (West), widow of Wil¬ 
liam Stacy Dec. 7, 1752; he died Dec. —, 1782; she died June 25, 1783; 
children: 1. Mary5, baptized March 2, 1739-40; probably died unmarried; 
2. Hannah5, baptized Nov. 1, I7411 married, first, William \oung Oct. 8, 
1769; second,-Palfray; 3. Benjamin5, baptized July 17, 1743 5 P10* 
ably died before 1786; mariner (?) ; 4- Jonathan5, born in 1740; 5. Jemima, 
born March 6, 1751; married, first, Samuel Young May 2, 1774 5 second, 
John Howard March 28, 1779; 6. David5, baptized April 17, 1757; 7- Sarah, 



320 HISTORY OF SALEM 

At this time, the town laid out a row of house lots between 
Essex Street and what is now known as Washington Square, from 
Washington Square West to Pleasant Street. The second or 
Daniel Rumball lot had been conveyed to him by the town, April 
30, 1660, and the other lots were sold for five pounds each, upon 
condition that a house should be built upon each lot within two 
years, and also that they should keep open the water course behind 
each lot. 1 his, the parties agreed to do, in writing, April 16, 1700. 
The lots were conveyed as follows: 1. This lot was granted to 
John Higginson, jr., Dec. 4, 1673. 2- This lot was granted April 
30, 1660, to Daniel Rumball, in consideration for his land which 

baptized Oct. 1, 175S; married John Orne of Marblehead April 2, 1780; 8. 
Elizabeth;, baptized June 21, 1761; died, unmarried, May 23, 1823. George 
Ashby4; mariner; married Hannah Jarvis of Marblehead Jan. 16, 1749; 
died in the winter of 1789-90; children: 1. Hannah5, baptized May 5, 1751; 

Elizabeth0, baptized Feb. 18, 1753; 3. John1\ baptized June 16, 1754; 4. 
Mary, baptized Feb. 22, 1756; 5. Martha5, baptized Dec. 25, 1757; died 
young; 6. Thomas, baptized Feb. 3, 1760; 7. Martha5, baptized June 28, 
1761; 8. Benjamin, baptized March 31, 1771. 

Jonathan Ashby°; shipwright; married Lydia Kimball Dec. 1, 1768; 
she died July 8, 1793; he died Nov. 15, 1797; children: 1. Jonathan\ born 
A.US* 62E 1769; 2- Lydia6, baptized Dec. 2,* 1770; unmarried in 1797; 3. 
MaryJ, baptized March 1, 1772; unmarried in 1797; 4. Samuel6, baptized 
Dec. 12, 1773; living m 1797; 5. Benjamin6, baptized Sept. 22, 1776; living 
m 1797; 6. Thomas6, baptized July —■, 1779; living in 1797; 7. Lucy6, bap¬ 
tized Jan. 7, 1781; living in 1797; 8. John6, baptized Feb. 22, 1784; living 
in 1797; 9. Elizabeth6; aged under fourteen in 1797; 10. Hannah6, baptized 
June 1, 1788; under fourteen in 1797; n. Hetty6, baptized March 14, 1790; 
died Jan. 30, 1792. David Ashby5; shipwright; married Mary Field (pub¬ 
lished June 3, 1781); she died April 3, 1789; he died Jan. 15. 1822; chil¬ 
dren: 1. Samuel, baptized in 1781; died Dec. 13, 1783; 2. David6, baptized 
March —, 1783; married widow Abigail Smith of Wenham June 12, 1804; 
3; : ~ (daughter) ; died Sept. —, 1795, aged seven years. John Ashby5; 
shipwright and blockmaker ; married Esther Mclntire (published Oct. 7, 
1775); they were of Salem in 1791; children: 1. Hester5, baptized Feb. 1’ 
1778; married Thomas Ashby; 2. John6, baptized May 7, 1780; 3. Hannah6, 
baptized May 26, 1782; 4. George6, baptized Sept. 12, 1784; married Nancy 
Hartwell Jan. 12, 1808. Capt. Thomas Ashby5; grocer and master mar¬ 
iner; married, first. Rebecca Hill Feb. 3, 1789; she died Jan. 20, 1790; 
Ta,r[iedHsecond- Mary White March 14, 1791; married, third, Esther 
Ashby March 13, 1803; he died Dec. 29, 1804; she survived him; children: 
1. Mary , baptized Nov. 18, 1792; living in 1804; 2. Rebecca6, born Dec. 31, 
ll92j 3‘ EJnny> baptized May 31, 1796; married Samuel Carlton Sept. 20, 
i8hS; 4. Thomas White6, bprn Feb. 21, 1798; married Margaret Fabens 
Nov. 3, 1819; 5. Benjamin6, baptized May 18, 1800; &. Charlotte5, baptized 
May 13, 1804. 

Jonathan Ashby6; shipwright; married Sarah Fitch Nov. n, 1792; 
died Sept. 24, 1807: children: 1. Sally7, born March 13, 1793; died young- 
2. Jonathan' born Dec. 15, 1795; died at sea; 3. Benjainin Fitch7, born July 

"b Ailbam, born March 19, 17991- 5- John7, born July 24, 1801; 
died about 1805; 6. Sarah Fitch', born May 27, 1803; married Marston 
Hazelton Aug. 31, 1826; 7. Elizabeth7, born Nov. 26, 1806. 
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was taken by the town for the parsonage lot, at the corner of 
Brown and Williams streets. 3. This lot was granted to Man- 
asseh Marston Oct. 7, 1665. 4. This lot was granted to John 
Lander April 5, 1672. 5. This lot was granted to Nicholas Man- 

LAYOUT OE HOUSE LOTS 

ning for his son Joseph Gray April 5> 1672, and the latter built a 
house upon it. 6. This lot was granted to James Symonds April 5, 
1672. 7. This lot was granted to Nathaniel Silsbee April 5? 1672, 
and he built a house upon it. 8. This lot was granted to Thomas 
Beadle on or before April 15, 1672; and he built a house thereon. 
9. This lot was granted to Peter Cheever April 5, 1672. 10. This 
lot was granted to Richard Prince, jr., March 7? 1669-70. 

Mary, widow of John Jackson, and formerly widow of Wil¬ 
liam Goose, who had died about 1650, had been distracted and 
supported from 1656 to 1664, when she died. She lived in the 
Goose house, which was situated at the lower end of English 

Street, until she died. _ 
Stephen Plaskett1 originated in Henstredge, Somersetshire, 

England, and came to Salem from Henstredge, Ireland, in 1664, 

when he was about thirty years of age. j&sZ#^ zv* 
He was a soap boiler, and his house 
stood in the northeasterly corner of the 
Howard Street burying ground, on the ancient road which ran 
along the river bank. He originated the lane which is now Howard 

Street2. 

Stephen Haskett had a brother Elias in Henstredge; married Elizabeth 
— at Exeter England; died in 1709; she married, secondly, Simeon Stod- 
da’rd; children: 1. Elizabeth; married, first William Dynn; he Ted in J689- 
90; married, second, Roger Derby; 2. Stephen, born Marc 9> 
March _ 1668-9; 3. Elias,, born April 25, 1670; had lived in London, E g 
land and’removed to Boston, Mass., esquire, in 1717; colonel; governor of 
Providence W I.; 4. Mary, born March 13, 1671-2; 5. Sarah, born Feb. 5, 
1673-4; married Samuel Ingersoll; 6. Hannah born Aug. 2, 1675; married 
Richard Symins; 7- Martha; married Richard Derby. 

2See deed of Stephen Haskett to William Bath Oct. 2, ib^.—bssex 

Registry of Deeds, 4, leaf 162. 
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. ^ illiani Hooper lived at Bass River in 1664, at the age of 
sixteen. 

_ , Jan- 5. 1663-4, at a meeting of the selectmen, John Luffe and 
Kobeit Hibbnrd agreed that upon John Luffe’s delivering to 
Robert Hibburd the ten pounds for which he sold his house and 
land at the ferry, that John Luffe and his' wife-should live 
during their lives in a part of his house in which the Frenchman 
now lives after his year is out, and also should have ten or twelve 
rods of ground for a garden, if they will fence it; and if John 
Luffe should be disabled “by sickness or other hand of God” from 
his work the town will look after him. 

Feb. 15, 1663-4, the selectmen confirmed a former grant of 
thirty acres to Nathaniel Felton near twenty acres of John Bur¬ 
ton s; and “old mr Gardnr” twenty acres of land near the seven 
men s bounds in consideration of a country highway through his 
farm, and “also that some meadow of Mr. Gedney’s falleth within 
his farm. Two weeks from that date, the town ordered that all 
the lands undisposed of from Mr. Humphrey’s hill to the seven 
men s bounds and all on the other side of the river within the 
town s bounds are left to the selectmen to dispose of. 

March 14, 1663-4, the selectmen granted to Thomas West 
twenty acres of the land near the seven men’s bounds; and to 
Goodman Hull by the inhabitants of Cape Ann Side, was granted 
seven acres of land next to David Thomas, near Bald Hill. 

April 11 1664, the selectmen ordered that John Southwick 
and 1 homas Goldthwaite have liberty with such others concerned 
m it to set up two gates, one near Thomas Goldthwaite’s and the 
othei near Michael Shaflin’s. The selectmen also granted to 
Anthony Buxton thirty acres of land about the seven men’s 
bounds; to John Tompkin, thirty acres; to Richard Hollingworth, 
thirty acres (in place of the twenty acres formerly granted to 
him): to Henry Skerry, twenty acres, in consideration of four 
acres of meadow formerly granted; to William Flint, fifty acres • 
to Francis Lawes, thirty acres; to John Pickering, thirty acres:’ 
to Francis Nurse, twenty acres; to John Harwood, twenty acres; 
to Nathaniel Carrill, twenty acres; to John Mascall, twenty acres* 
and to Robert Pease, twenty acres. 

1 he Salem foot company nominated its officers, which the 
court at Ipswich refused to confirm and the general court Mav 18 
1664, appointed to command it, Maj. William Hathorne, “of whose 

William Hooper was son of Francis and Julian Hooper of Coker Ene- 
and* mariner; married Elizabeth — about 1671; died by “suddenly falling 

overboard at sea, about Nov. 8, 1679; she survived him; children :'1 Eliza- 
beth born Aug g 1672; married Mathew Butman April 28 1690- 2 Ed- 

-■*-.. 
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ability and service they have formerly had good and long experi¬ 
ence/’ and as lieutenant, Mr. Walter Price, and ensign, Mr. 
Hilliard Veren, until the company has an orderly election. Oct. 19, 
1664, the Salem military chose Mr. Walter Price, captain, George 
Gardner, lieutenant, and Zerobabel Endecott, ensign, who were 
thereupon confirmed by the general court. Aug. 6, 1665, the gen¬ 
eral court confirmed Philip Cromwell, clerk, and Henry Bar- 
tholmew, cornet, of the troop commanded by Capt. George Cor¬ 
win. At this time the northeasterly portion of the common was 
called the training field. 

June 15, 1664, the general court appointed as a fast day, ’‘be¬ 
ing sencible of many distractions and troubles under which the 
country do labor in sundry respects, as also the sad estate and 
condition of God’s people and interests in other places.” 

Nov. 18, 1664, at a meeting of the selectmen, Samuel Ketle 
was admitted an inhabitant; and Humphrey Woodbury desired 
satisfaction for a country highway laid out through his land near 
Mackerel Cove. 

Dec. 13, 1664, the selectmen admitted Rowland Powell, who 
had lived in Gloucester, as an inhabitant of the town. Two. joiners 
were staying here temporarily,—Thomas Praser, entertained by 
Serg. Tames Brown, who wished them to stay until spring, and 
John Crabtree, who had dwelt in a shop of Mr. Gedney for several 
weeks whom Mr. Gedney wished to stay until spring that he might 
work up for him some timber which he had bought. 

Feb. 7, 1664-5, the selectmen granted to Humphrey Wood- 
bery five acres of land not more than two miles from his house, in 
consideration of a highway through his land at the back side of 
John Black’s land; and to Edmund Grover five acres of land in 
consideration of a highway to Draper’s point and to the feiry 
through his land. 

Two weeks from that day, the selectmen admitted John Bax- 
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to Richard Harvey, John Robison and John Foster1 twenty or 
thirty acres of land about Ipswich River ; and Edmond Batter was 
appointed to see the five pounds that William Hollingwood en¬ 
gaged to pay for the lot of land laid out for his mother. He testi¬ 
fied that it had been paid by Mr. Hollingwood to Goodman Clif¬ 
ford towards the keeping of Mrs. Goose. 

direction of the physician. In this case, John Baxter agreed to pay Doctor 
Knott forty shillings for board, etc., and six pounds, fifteen shillings and 
eleven pence which had been contributed, was to be equally divided between 
Doctor Knott and Dr. Daniel Weld of Salem, who was associated with 
Doctor Knott in the cure, for their services. 

'John Foster1 was born about 1618; husbandman; married Martha 
Tompkins; died in the winter of 1687-8; she married, secondly, Richard 
Adams, children : 1. Mary,, baptized March 24, 1650-1; married Hugh 
Jones; 2. Samuelbaptized Alarch 7, 1652-3; 3. John', baptized June 3, 1655; 
4. Benjamin, born July 3, 1658; probably died young; 5. Jonathan1', born 
Dec. 20, 1660; died March 28, 1663; 6. Jonathan2, born Nov. 22, 1662; died 
Now 6. 1667; 7. Joseph', born in 1664; 8. DavicP, born Oct. 16, 1665; 9. Eliza¬ 
beth' born Nov. 22, 1667 ; 10. Jonathan2, baptized June 12, 1670; cordwainer 
and husbandman; lived in Boston in 1725; 11. Hannah2, baptized July 21 
1672; living in 1703; 12. Martha2, baptized Sept. —, 1674; Ebeneser2 born 
Aug. 5, 1677. 

Samuel Foster2; husbandman; married, first, Sarah Steward May 14, 
1676; second, Margaret —; was living in 1726; children: 1. Samuel3, born 
May 18 1677; died Feb. —, 1678-9; 2. John3, born Nov. 30, 1678; probably 
married Margaret Jacobs Nov. 30, 1699; 3. Samuel®, born JuH 26, 1680; 4. 
Anna0, born July 26, 1683; 5. Sarah3, born Oct. 9. 1685; 6/Joseph3, born 
March 14, 168/ , removed to Ipswich; married Mary Creasy Aug 13 1712' 
7- Benjamin3, born May 24, 1689; 8. Richard3, born Dec. 8. 1692; pVobably 
married Lydia Rea March 19, 1714-5; 9. Mary3, born Nov. 8, 1694; married 
Joseph Carryl April 18, 1721; 10. Margaret3, born Feb. 4, 1697; married 
Beniamin Carryl Nov. 11, 1726; n. Jonathan3, born April 2, 1699; probably 
married Priscilla Procter Nov. 10, 1720; 12. Bartholmew3. born Feb. 23, 
1701-2; 13. Timothy , baptized May 15, 1715. John Foster2; husbandman; 
married, first, Mary Stuard March 18, 1672-3; she died about 1690; married, 
second, Mary .(Cowes), widow of John Pomeroy, July 12. 1692; he died in 
WA\ she survived him; children : 1. John3, born July 27, 1674; died Sept 14, 
\0,32u ■^a1ry°’ born Sept. 12, 1675;. married John Harrod of Boston; 3.’ 
Anne, born last of April, 1677; lived in Boston, unmarried, in 1743, spinster; 
4. Sarah born Nov. 27, 1678; married John Simons; 5. John3, born Nov. 
J5> 1680; blacksmith; married Margaret —; lived in Attleborough in 1743; 
6. Hannah , baptized Oct. 9. 1681.; 7. Jonathan3, born June 14, 1683; 8. Eben3, 

3 1 22, 9- Benjamin3, born March it, 1687; living in 1708; 10. 
Mercy , born July 15, 1689; died at Wrentham before 1743; it. James3, born 
April T4. 1693; 12. Ruth3, born June 19, 1694; married Joseph Very Aug. 
T3' T/2H she was his widow, of Mendon. in T743; 13. Patience3, born Dec. 
20 1696; probably died young; 14. Patience3, born Dec. 6. 1697; lived in 
Salem, unmarried, in I7JT; t5- Nathan3, born July 5, 1702; shipwright; lived 
in Boston as late as 1768; married, first. Margaret Baxter Nov. 15. 1728; 
second, Mary Plaisted July 20, 1738; had children. Joseph Foster2; hus¬ 
bandman and house carpenter; removed to Dorchester about 1697; married 
Anna (Trask), widow of Robert Wilson Nov. 21. i68a; thev lived in Dor¬ 
chester in T705; child: i. Ruth3, born Oct. 18, 1684. Df.a. David Foster2; 

husbandman; lived in the Danvers part of Salem; married, first Hannah 
Buxton Jan. 13. 1686-7; second, Elizabeth Herbert Dec. —. 1732; she was 
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Nicholas Bartlett came from England in 1662 in the ship 
Nathaniel of Dartmouth. He was born about 1620, and first ap¬ 
peared here in 1665. He was a fisherman, and lived in Cape 
Porpus, Maine, about 1700. 

Maj. William Hathorne read in the general court, May 3, 
1665, the following acknowledgement, the reasons of which are 
unknown to the writer :— 

Whereas there are words charged on me by his majesties honor¬ 

able commissioners in this Court, either directly or by implication, 

which words I never spake, yet this I freely confesse, that I spake many 

words foolishly, and unadvisedly, of wch I am ashamed, and repent me 

of them, and desire all that tooke offence to forgive me, as his majesties 

commissioners have freely done. 

18 : 3m0., 65. " Wm. Hauthorne. 

his wife in 1743; he died Sept. 12, 1748; children: 1. Richard3, born Nov. 
26, 1687; 2. David3, born March 19, 1689; living in 1743 7 married Eliza¬ 
beth Foster Sept. 8, 1712; 3- Jonathan3, born Jan. 10. 1690; living in 1743; 4- 
Samuel3, born Dec. 24, 1692; yeoman; lived in the Danvers part of Salem; 
married Sarah Small Feb. 16, 1720-1 ; living in 1753 5- Hannah , born Dec. 
3, 1694; married Daniel Shaw April 13, 1727; 6. Elizabeth, born Nov. 27, 
1696; married Samuel Bell Dec. 6, 1721 ; 7- Joseph3, born Feb. 1, 1690-9, 8. 
Lydia3, born April 15, 1701; married, first, William Shillaber Sept. 9 1725 ; 
second. Thorndike Procter; 9. Rachel3, born Jan. 15, 1703; married Joseph 
Osborn July 12, 1726; 10. Abigail3, baptized Nov. 17, 1706; married William 
Trask; 11. Amos3, born April 21, 1710; married, first, Eunice Stockwell 
(published Feb. 24, 1732-3) ; second, Abigail King (published April 24, 
1749) ; removed to New Salem in 1750. Ebenezer Foster ; lived in the 
Peabody part of Salem; married Anna Wilkins Dec. 19,1700; died in the 
spring of 1721; she married, secondly, Isaac Wilkins; children: 1 AbigaiR 
born Sept. 10, 1701; married Nathan Taylor Jan. 1 1719-20; 2. Jonathan, 
born Sept. 9, 1703; lived in Boston in 1732; 3- Stephen , born Feb. 28 1705-0; 
4. Benjamin3, born May 12, 1708; 5. Ebenezer , born Aug. 23, 1710; 6 Steph¬ 
en3, baptized-April 4, 17T41 7- Anna3, baptized April 3, 1715 * <-• Jos ua, 

born in 1718; living in 1732. 
Samuel Foster3; married Mary —; was dead m 1729; children. 1. \ iL 

liam4, born Aug. 18, 1703; lived in Walpole, yeoman,- m 1729, 2. . arF1H.j 
born Feb. 4. 1705-6; 3. Lydia4, born Aug. 24, 1709; 4- Hannah Worn April 
7, 1712; 5. Timothy4, born Aug. 18, 1714. Capt. James Foster ; mariner, 
married Margaret Pratt May 15. 1719; died m the summer of 1724. she mar¬ 
ried. secondlv, Samuel Endecott Feb. n, 1724-5; children: 1. Margaret born 
Tulv 10 1720- died Aug. 2, 1720; 2. Tames, born Aug. 10 1721, hvii.., in 
1725, Benjamin Foster3: lived in Danvers, and removed to Lunenburg; 

married Mehitabel Steward of Rowlev (published Jan. 3, LA ■ ’JJ!! ' , 
Benjamin4, baptized Jan. 26, 1728-9. Ebenezer Foster3; clothier, weaver and 
fuller; lived in the Peabody part of Salem until 1744, when he removed to 
Rutland; married Lydia Felton in X73IJ died -. she returned to Salem 
before 1770, and died Feb. —, T7Q2; children: i. Ebenezer, norn m i/33. 
served in the French and Indian wars and the Revolution; lived m Rutland 
and Oakham; married Hannah Parlin of Concord DecL iJV- she d ed 
Feb. 28. t8o8; he died March 19. 1811; had children; 2. Lyd a married 

Tonathan Bullard May 22. 1755: 3- Skelton1 ;marriedR 
land in 1766; 4. Samuel4; married Patty Williams of Oakham m T/86. 
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June 22, 1665. was appointed by the general court to be kept 
as a fast, ‘“lifting up holy hands without wrath and doubting, and 
may turn from the evil of their doings in the way of a real and 
thorough reformation, that so the Lord’s anger may be turned 
away from us, and we may obtain reconciliation with him, and 
the continuance of his gracious presence with us and ours, that his 
work may appear to his servants and his glory unto their children, 
together with the favor of the king’s majesty toward us, whence 
we may be encouraged in this wilderness still to offer up the sacri¬ 
fices of sweet savors unto the God of heaven, . . having taken 
into theii serious consideration the distressed, bleeding, dying' con¬ 
dition of the Protestant Christian interest in the world, the dark- 
ness of the hour of temptation, referring to ourselves those mani- 
10 c public rebukes the Lord hath given us in our concernments 
at home and abroad, contending with us divers years, and now 
again by the caterpillars and the palmer worm, denying us the 
privilege and mercy of being a people desired as in former davs, 
and threatening us, by divers judgments impending, severely to 
punish us even with the removal of the candlestick out of its 
place, except we repent, and so to make us a reproach by aveng¬ 
ing the quarrel of his covenant, his jealousy being provoked 
thereunto by the abounding of iniquity among us, the great in¬ 
disposition and unsubduedness of our spirits to take upon our- 
seh es and submit unto the yoke of Christ, wantons under the 
peace and liberties we partake of. And considering likewise how 
great a measure of our prosperity hath its dependence, under 
God, upon the benign aspect of our sovereign lord the king towards 
us and the rest of his good subjects in these ends of the earth, as 
well as in other parts of his dominions, not unmindful also of the 
alarum from heaven given us in the awful appearances of the 
comets , both this and the last year, warning us to be watchful and 
quickened unto the discharge of the several duties incumbent on us 
respectively, as also in regard of the late declared war betwixt 
England and Holland.” 

At this time, on account of the restoration of the throne in 
England’ several changes in laws and practice had to be made. 
1 he Commonwealth of England” had to be altered to “in his 
Majesty s name ; the king’s arms had to be set up in every court 
ot justice; the church of England put on legal and political' equal- 

The great and dreadful comet,’ as Josselyn called it, made its first an- 

through6 0f NTmbV ■ Night after nighi, the whole winter 
ugh, the great blazing starre took its position in the southern skv as 

soon as the stars began to glint in the evening constellations. Its size and 
extreme brilliancy greatly alarmed the people. . . Morton said to them 

world ’ ” r/LaPI?ea^d hVS* inLmediately by God to awake the secure 
world. —Historic Storms of New England, by Sidney Perley, page 16. 
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ity with the Congregational church ; May twenty-ninth to be 
celebrated for the king’s birth, the restoration of the throne and 
the crowning of the king 5 November fifth, the date of the gun¬ 
powder plot; thanksgiving days; that January thirtieth be the an¬ 
nual fast day; the penalties against observing Christmas were re¬ 
pealed ; heresy and laws against Quakers were modified; and the 
coining of money and the power to associate with other colonies 
were both prohibited, as they were prerogatives of the king. The 
freemen of Salem appear to have been more progresssive than 
others of the settlements of the Colony as they voted, May n, 
1663, that the deputies should declare it at the next general court 
as their mind and desire that there might be an enlargement ac¬ 
cording to what they should, in their wisdom, see meet unto some 
that are not members of particular churches. The general court 
made the change May 30, 1665, and thereafter a freeman need not 
be a member of the" church to have all the political rights of a 

citizen. . . . . ..... 
Oct. 7, 1665, the town voted that no person should be eligible 

to the office of constable until he has been an inhabitant two years. 
At this meeting, it was voted that Anthony Ashbe should have a 
lot “where Goodman Bavedg lives." 

Nov. 1, 1665, the town of 
Salem admitted Joseph Phip- 
peny1 as an inhabitant of the 
town. 

xDavid Phippen1 (son of Robert Phippen), probably born at Melcomb 
Regis, Dorsetshire, England, emigrated to America in 1635, and settled at 
Hingham, Mass. His wife was named Sarah. He removed to Boston, where 
he died in the summer of 1650. He never lived in Salem. She survived him. 
Children: 1. Joseph2) 2. Rebecca2; married George Vickery of Hull; 3- Ben¬ 
jamin2; lived in Boston; 4. Gamaliel2; lived m Boston; 5. Sarah 5 married 
George Hodges and Thomas Yeo of Boston; 6. George ; probably lived in 
Hull; 7. John2, born July —, 1637; died July —, 1640; 8. John born Ju y 
_? 1640; 9. David2, born about 1648; 10. Samuel, born May 6, 1649, in 

^ Joseph Phippen2; pumpmaker and fisherman; lived in Falmouth in 
Casco Bay, for many years before the first Indian war; married, first Sea¬ 
borne Gooden Dec. 22, 1670; second, Damans, wldow ,Th°mas Seari» 
April 14 1686; she was his widow in 1724 and 1731, children. 1. Daniel, 
bom Dec 20, 1671; probably married Elizabeth -; hved in boston li d 
child; 2. Samuel3, born Sept 20, 1674; 3- Sarah , born Oct 8, 1676 married 
Benjamin English June 8 1699; 4- Dorcas born Ite. 22 16/8> S- Joh^ 

baptized Nov. 16, 1679; 6. Israel, born Ju y 17, , p. __ 1684-41 
Sarah • lived in Boston; had a child; 7. Anne , baptized heb. , 1053 4, 

8. Joseph1, born March 3. 1686; 9. Susanna, born July 2. l687iF'Tphi?- 
min\ born Sept. 29, 1688; 11. Elizabeth8, born Feb 15, PfL. 
pen2- shipwright- married Ann (Cromwell), widow of Benjamin Ager 
Tune’26 1672 “he lived in Boston in 1692 and 1701; was treacherously killed 

fnThe1ndSn2’War,Tug. to 1703. GteSi^TsMem his 
fort at Falmouth; his family returned to Salem, she lived in Salem, 
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The general court appointed Nov. 8, 1665, as a day of thanks- 
giving, toi giving seasonable rain this last summer when the 

widow in 1719; children: 1. David3, born April 14, 1673- 2 Thomas3 
baptized Aug. - 1675; 3. Ann3 baptized May 19, 1678; married 

enjamin hopes March 10, 1694-5; 4. Cromwell3, baptized Oct. 5, 1679- 5 
Joseph baptized Aug. -, 1681; 6. Jane3, baptized Oct. 7, 1683; 7 Abigail8' 
baptized Aug. 2 1685; married William Furneux Oct. 2, 1707; 8. Samuel3’ 
lived m Salem,.fishennan wife Mary, in 1714; 9- Elizabeth3, baptized May 
—,1689, married John Webb Oct. 18, 1705; 10. Sarah3, baptized May 
I691. Samuel Phippen’; blockmaker; married Rachel Guppv Feb. 1, '1676- 

Dec ,2 ,6- ■,I’TI7nI°»'Ii,he d£d Feb' h l71'-8- children: I.’War,3, born 
Dec. 12, 1677, 2. John born Oct. 4, 1679: died Aug. 6, 1684; 3. Steven3 
born May o, 1682; died Aug. 30, 1682; 4. Rachel3, born Aug. 5, 168? ■ died 

iL t is68!? ’ ’■ lohn ' ,oni- Dec- r-i. 1685; 6, Nathaniel", born Aug. 4. ’1687; 

Feb 3ghei696-7" SePt' I3’ 1(93 ’ °f Salem' sl’inster- in 1749 ; 8. Joseph3, born 

„ TSifLlL PTaPfN’i married Elizabeth English June 12, 1701; died Sept. 
'£l V-i,’- h C‘-edi v - 1727-8; children: 1. Sarah4, born July 
„ ’TIna ’nlTrh 4dnZem%be- W j l?ras Au«- ,J. 1725; 2. Abiel4, born Nov. 
3» I/O4 married David Chapin of Boston (published April 17, 1729) Ben- 

jamin PntppEN ; fisherman and cordwainer; married Ruth Marston Nov 

\-hi5; lle n ed. a™ she married, secondly, Henry West Dec. 22 17 26• 

bapt,2ed April 28’ 1717 i 2- Elizabeth4, baptized Sept’. 
7. 7io. 3* Ruth , born in 1719; died, unmarried, Dec. 10, 178s. Thomas 

mppKx ; mariner ; marned Mary (Lindall), widow of Nathaniel Gedney 

7 6; S-heid^ “ I9- 1722-3; children: 1. Mary4, baptized Nov. 
-L 1 yOS married Edward Rose (published Oct. 10, 1730); 2. Thomas4 
baptized Jam 28 1710-1; 3. Nathan4, baptized Oct. i9. 1712; lived in Boston 

o /3J k UE£ : mariner; married, first, Mary Beadle in 1708- 
second Rebecca Beadle March 20, 1717-8; died in 1732; children: 1 Samuel4’ 

7’ q7i,°'V J™d in Topsfield; married Amine Averill of Tops- 
fielcl Sept. 7. 1738; had children; 2. Joseph4, baptized June 14. 1713; living hi 

A^n^T^t^i7731 3 ^ary4f baptized Aug. 14, 17^5; married John 
Averill of Topsfield May 7, 1735; 4. Ruth4, baptized Dec. 21. 1718- married 
Masco lWdhams June 5, 1740 ; 5- Rebecca4, baptized Dec. 4 1720-’ married 

^berlAA en D^Cu3’ -I74I; 6' J°nathan\ baptized July 1,1722; ’ihTno in 

Tune’/\^ibVater ’ bai)tizcd vJ!le 17245 dled y°ung; 8. Atwater4, baptized 
June 5, i/-6 married, first, Olive Butler March 20, 1730- she died Sent — 

79”: hTdkd DecT/’ A°V- 7- '791 ; she was his wife in’ 
E99, ! • , D’ l8°6; 9’ Meh,table , baptized July 9, 1727. John Phip- 

spnbi’o- oT^-T81/1 marr!ed E!lzabeth Hartshorn Nov. 23, 1709; died in the 
AnrilT- ,Tt5t5.’ H "a? cS :vld?wJn 759; children: i. Elizabeth4, baptized 
Oct ,t5’t-7,V-’ ™arr-lea TBc,1Jam'n Cook Dec. 24, 1750; 2. Rachel4, baptized 

Dec to i7i6’4™"rid4JTmeSi,CD0J SeptV ',8, 17321 3' Hannall<> baptized 
March i’e i'm-™ p d- J°Se«Pi R?be7a Ju>y 7- H37; 4. John3, baptized 
A™ ■ 9,’ Benjamin^, baptized Oct. 29, 1721: 6. Ebenezer4. baptized 
.®r:; ’'i'j James baptized April 23, 1727: 8. Susanna4, baptized Dec. 

20 vTn- .bin aANIEL PHlrENu-i ,cooper; married Margaret Palfrev June 
If ■/'' 1 Aus- T4- 1756; children: r. Nathaniel', born July 5 17r! ■ 2 

Sentga,8 Jo" ,JlAb-,5--pT7,I3: dE' in I'64’ ~ried; 3. & bom 
Pike Oct ! \'-A, AblRal, ■ '“"'"Sept IP\,717\ married, first. Nathaniel 
t 14 k I- ' 1't9T second- J°bn Ward of Marblehead in or before 17^6- s 
Tsrad Raptized July 17, 1720; merchant; lived in Marblehead; married Eliza- 

ried Jrperi1ttI8Apr'L-ILT7T45V6Ons,’S<' ',’aEZcd Ju"e 7' 17 A flich? unmar- ltd. April t8. 1775, /• Lydia, baptized Sept. 17, 1727; 8. Thomas\ bap- 
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fruits of the earth were like to perish, whereby the Lord hath 

tized Jan. 17, 1730-1. Joseph Phippen3; married Susanna Hartshorne Jan. 
18, 1719-20; died in the spring of 1734; she was his widow in 1773; children : 
1. William4, born Sept. 23, 1721; married Elizabeth Bush April 4, 1744; 2. 
Susanna4, born July 7, 1723; 3. Sarah4, born June 25, 1726; married Thomas. 
Dean, jr., July 31, 1751; 4. Joseph4, born Dec. 18, 1730; mariner in 1772. 

Benjamin Phippen4; cordwainer; married Hannah Becket July 5, 1739; 
child: 1. Mary5, baptized July 6, 1743. John Phippen1; married Hannah 
Hooper Dec. 10, 1742; died in 1760 (?); children: 1. Abigail0, born about 
1744; married Benjamin West; 2. Hannah5, born about 1746; living in 1761; 
3. Samuel0, born about 1748; living in 1761; 4. Elizabeth3, born about 1750; 5. 
Susannah5; living in 1773. Nathaniel Phippen4; cooper; lived in Boston 
in 1745 and 1747; returned to Salem before 1759; married Seeth Hardy Oct. 
14, 1734; died about 1757; children: 1. Seeth5; married Thomas Needham 
Feb. 17, 1754; 2. Hardy0; of Marblehead, minor, in 1759; 3. Joshua5, born 
Jan. 27, 1742; 4. Joseph5; of Danvers in 1759. Dea David Phippen4; 

joiner; married Priscilla Bickford of Reading May 24, 1738; she was his 
wife in 1762; he died, a widower, Feb. 15, 1782; children. 1. Priscilla3; mar¬ 
ried John Gill Oct. 5, 1768; 2. Samuel16, born in 1744: 3- Lydia5, born Jan. 
7, 17471 married John Fiske June 12, 1766; 4. Ebenezer5, born about 1750; 5- 
Margaret5, born about 1752; died April 23, 1842, aged ninety; 6. Sarah3; mar¬ 
ried Capt. Samuel Hobbs May 28, 1780; 7. Nathaniel5, born in 1757; 8. Re¬ 
becca; married William King March 10, 1785; 9. Anstiss5; married Jona¬ 
than Smith Sept. 6, 1789. Thomas Phippen4; cooper; married, first, Mar¬ 
garet Driver Nov. 2, 1749; second, Sarah (Ingalls), widow of John 
Smith April 12, 1766; he died about 1793; children: 1. Thomasbaptized 
March 1, 1751-2; 2. William5, bormFeb. 27, 1752-3; 3- James5, baptized April 
2i. 1754; died April 10, 1756, aged two years; 4. James5, baptized April 13, 
1760; drowned when a lad; 5--baptized April 17, 1763; 6. Olive3, bap¬ 
tized April 19, 1767; married Isaac Perkins March 27, 1790. 

Joshua Phippen3; cooper; married, first, Hannah Sibley _ Oct. 3, 1764; 
she died March 21, 1801; married, second, Ursula (Knapp), widow of Jona¬ 
than Symonds. Oct. 25, 1801; he died April —, 1811; she died, his widow, Dec. 
20. 1818; children: 1. Nathanief, born in 1765; 2. Hannah6, baptized June 
3, 1770; married Capt. George Hodges March 25, 1798; 3. Nathan6, baptized 
June 3, 1770; 4. Sarah6, baptized Dec. 13, I772; 5- Joshua6, born in 1773 
(4?) ; married Susanna (Nancy?) Trask of Beverly (published March 18, 
1799) ; died April 28, 1805; she survived him; 6. Eunice6, baptized Dec. 24, 
1775; died Dec. 19, 1799, aged twenty; Hardy6, born July 6, 1778. Samuel 

Phippen5; cabinet maker; married Mary Swain Oct. 27, 1782; died Feb. 22 
1798; she lived in Wakefield, N. H., in 1820; children: 1. Rebecca Maria^, 
born Dec. 7, 1783; married Josiah Dow of Boston Jan. 5, 1806; 2. Samuel , 
born April 23, 1785; died Oct. 2, 1804. Ebenezer Phippen5; cabinet maker; 
married Elizabeth Simmes Oct. 27,, 1772; died March 27, 1792; she died, his 
widow, June —, 1826; children: 1. David*, born July 25,_ 1775. in Reading; 
2. Ebenezer6, born about 17771 blockmaker; died, unmarried, Aug. 14, 1813; 
3. Rufus6, baptized Aug. 7, 1785; died Feb. 28, 1790; 4- Henry , born m 1788; 
died March 2, 1790; 5. Nancy6, baptized Feb. 27, 1790; 6. Maria, baptized 
March 16, 1792: daughter Mary died Dec. 7, 1792, aged eleven months. 
Capt. Nathaniel Phippen5; mariner; married Abigail Blooper (certi¬ 
ficate May 2. 1779) ; died Feb. 24, 1815; she was his widow in 1823; children: 
1. Nathaniel6, born about 1779; drowned off Cape of Good Hope from on 
board Capt. Chipman,” Jan. 4, 1796, aged seventeen; 2 Samuel , born about 
1782; died, with Captain Taylor, June 4. 17991 3- Sarah born in 1785; died, 
unmarried, Oct. 12, 1806; 4- John6, baptized Dec. 23, 1787; 5. Abigail ; mar- 
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mercifully spared a necessary portion of sustenance for us and our 

ried J°seph Jenkms Knapp Thomas Phippen5; mariner; married Rebecca 
Wellman Dec. 27 1774;.she died May - 1837; he died Dec. 22, 1839; 

Sis r6a-: aI-rTfggy 5 b0aptlzed °ct* 24, 1775; 2. Thomas6, baptized June 7, 
778, died Oct. 24 1813; 3 Israel baptized in 1780; 4. Becca6, baptized 

T’ r784, 5- Rebecca, baptized Sept. — 1786. William Phippen5* 

trader; married, first, Lois Hutchings (certificate Nov. 22, 1777)* she died 
March 11, 1794; married, second, widow Anna Ring (certificate Aug 6 
1794) ; he died May 28, 1796; children: 1. William*, born about 1778*' 2 

I?8?: married Benjamin Balch; 3. James6, baptized 
hanl Vxf0’ dled aisea,4ug*,~ T795; 4- Thomas6; 5. Moses Hitchings6, 
baptized Nov. —, 1785; feltmaker; died Aug. 14, 1808; 6. Lydia6, baptifed 

?7oo-3R'l?8t; 7; P? y ’ hf°\n ab°-Ut o788; 8> Geor&e6, baptized March —, 
^mister; of Lynn [n r?2y a”d of Canton, Conn., in 1829; 

Sept 16 ^881 Rh°ads; 9' LucyJ> baPtlzed Feb. 26, 1792; died, unmarried. 

, Phippen6; cooper; married Anna Pickett of Beverly Sept. 
3, 1786, died March 9, 1809; she died, his widow, July 23, 1815; children* 
1. Samuel, born Feb 5, 1787; cooper; married Sarah Burns Dec. 2, 1810*' 
died June 25, 1821; she was his widow in 1850; 2. Benjamin', born Oct. 24 

788, in Portsmouth, N. H.; 3. Nathaniel, born Feb. 19, 1791 in Portsmouth* 
4. Joyhua born Nov. 17, 1793; 5. Eunice7, born Feb. 26, 1796; died un- 

-riTodo rI'pl7M 3; P Ann7’ b«°rn July 20’ 17gS'> 7- Charlotte7,’born Aug. 13, I8oo. Capt Hardy Phippen ; master-manner; married Ursula K Sv- 
monds March 18 1804; she died Feb. 17, 1859; he died Oct. 9, 1868; children* 

Hai?LePT nSaMy ’ 1°^ Jgne IOf bank cashier’‘ married> first* Susan 
line T Is T^°i died Foeb- 3’ 1882; married, second, Eme- 
6 Toofi- nn el-m6, l883 ’ ?Jed PCtc l5, aSed mnety-one; she died Dec. 
Hale N ^ hlldrenW2- PrSU a Symonds7, born Sept. 21, 1809; married 
Isaac N Chapman March 10, 1840; 3. Joshua7, born Dec. 13, 1812* 4. 

e°r9? Dean, born April 13, 1815. David Phippen6; rope maker house- 
wnght ancl manner; married Nancy (Anne, Anstiss) Cook Feb. 17 1799- 

u iloo n • Tn l8ZU he dl|d Jan’ \4’ lS4g; chi,dre" : 1 David7, born N?V’. 
q 798,,of Topsbeld in 1875; 2. Anna Kennedy7 (Nancy) born Feb 2 

unmarried April 16 1875; 3- Ebenezer7, born Nov. 16, 1802; 4.’ 
f ea Kennedy born Aug. 5, 1805; 5. Benjamin Cook7, born Feb. n, 1807* 
6. Susan Kennedy , born Sept. 16, 1808; died, unmarried, Feb. 21 1901 aged 

181T0TV’ R<:imarMdTr ^°WderS; 8‘ StePhen Sims?’ b°™ MaK ^13, of New Boston N. H., in 1901. Israel Phippen6; married Sarah 
utson of Marblehead July 24, 1808; she died Nov. 1 1855* he died Feb 

23, 1859; children: 1 Sally7, born Oct. 18, 1809; died May 23 1826* 2 

Feb urL'FaVi3' A'\b0-r,n Au% l8l4i 4-'Martha1, born 
pcd 14, 181/ , 5. Esther Adams , born April 23, 1820; married John B Test 
Sept. 7, 1852; 6. Ann Maria7, born Nov. 14, 1823. William Phippen6* to¬ 
bacconist; married Sarah E. Hathorne (certificate June 27 1797) • ’died 
about 1841; she died Jan. 21, 1847; child: 1. Joseph H 7, born Sept 9 ’1800 
cordwainer: married Elizabeth Gavett; she died Nov. 21 1862* he died Sent’ 

,TTT P,hippen^ ™.rried Sarah Lufkin’(cmificateAull; 
™dow S7al y PhlPPen married William Hall March 21, 1824* child- 

died WCaeCT^.fi blPTfd DctCV29’ .t8°4V^ Sally7’ baPBzed April to, 1806; 
washed overb^rd 3frm^°mf ’ baptlzed JuI^ 9, 1807; supposed to have been 
wasned overboard from schooner Juno, near Cape Cod Tan 8 1822- a 
Charles , baptized Dec. 28, 1812; 5. Rebecca7, baptized Dec. 28 1812 
thUYA”? Phippen i, cooper; married Mary Massey Wells Jan is 
829, died Feb. 24, 1862; she survived him; children: 1. Benjamin Franklin8, 
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families, also for diverting a squadron of Dutch ships which 

born June 15, 1830; cooper; died, unmarried, May 5, 1871; 2. Nathaniel*, born 
Jan. 26, 1832; 3. Joseph E.\ born Dec. 11, 1833; 4. Martha C.8, born Oct. 31, 
1835; died March —, 1837; 5. Martha Clark8, born Jan. 12, 1838; married 
Samuel Lord; 6. John Prince8, born Oct. 2, 1840; of Boston in 1863; 7. 
William Trumbull8, born Sept. 25, 1842. Nathaniel Phippen7; cooper; mar¬ 
ried Martha C. Clark Dec. 24, 1820; died May 22, 1864; she died, his widow, 
May 9, 1883; children: 1. Martha Ann8, baptized July 2, 1826; married 
William A. Frye; lived in Athol in 1874 and 1883; 2. Charlotte Lane8, bap¬ 
tized July 2, 1826; married Wm. H. Archer; 3. Benjamin Howard8, baptized 
Aug. 5, 1827; clerk; married Sarah E. —; died May 9, 1857; she survived 
him; 4. Joshua B.8, born Feb. 7, 1830; expressman; married Mary R. Da¬ 
kin; she died Dec. 18, 1886; he died Dec. 17, 1904; 5. Mary Dustin8, baptized 
Sept. 21, 1834; died, unmarried, March 31, 1883. Joshua Phippen'; gas 
fitter; merchant; married, first, Betsey Barr Holman April 22, 1841; she 
died April 9, 1854; married, second, Eunice Louise Daniels ; he died Oct. 8, 
1890; she died, his widow, Sept. 20. 1914; children 1. Mary Elizabeth8, born 
May 20, 1842; married Richard Price Nov. 5, 186472. Joshua8, born May 
3, 1857; musician; lives in Winchester; 3. Edward A.8; bank teller; 4. 
Hardy8, born Nov. 3, 1862; physician. George Dean Phippen'; cashier of 
Salem National Bank; married Margaret Barton April 13, 1840; died Dec. 
26, 1895; she died Dec. 1, 1896; children: 1. George Barton8, born Feb. 12, 
1841; 2. Samuel Webb8, born Oct. 13, 1846; died June 22, 1847; 3- Arthur 
Henry*, born Sept. 7, 1849; 4- Charles Endecott8 born Jan. 20, 1856. Benja¬ 

min Cook Phippen7; baker; married Ann B. Melzard of Marblehead April 
20, 1830; she died Nov. 1, 1865; he died Aug. 20, 1866; child: 1. David8, born 
May 7, 1838; died May 9, 1872. . ^ - 

Nathaniel Phippen8; cooper; married Abbie M. Ellis Feb. 23, 1800; 

died Jan. 19, 1914; children: 1. Abbie L.9, born June 27, 1867; 2. Anna 
Maud9, born July 21, 1874; married Charles E. Ebsen April 8, 1903. Joseph 
E. Phippen8; cooper; married Abbie B. Perry Sept. 19, 1855; died Nov. 
27, 1902; she died June 12, 1910; child: 1. Mary A.9, born July —, i860; died 
March to, 1861. William Trumble Phippen8; artist and photographer; 
married Sarah Addie Dix, April 12, 1863; died Nov. 8, 1910; children. 1. 
Mary Eliza9, born Feb. 18, 1866; 2. Carrie Lillian9, born Dec 1, 1867. 
George Barton Phippen8; treasurer of New York and New England Rail¬ 
road Company and broker; moved to Boston about 1894; married Marj 
Eliza Stodder Nov. 30, 1865; children: 1. George Stodder, born July 3, 
1868; 2. Caroline Barton9, born Dec. 2, 1876. Arthur Henry Phippen ; bank 
clerk; married, first, Mary Elizabeth Chamberlain Dec. 18, T^J3 > she diec 
Aug. 27, 1879; married, second, Elizabeth M. Sanborn Oct. 6 too1 , she 
died Sept. 10, 1917; children: 1. Margaret Chamberlain, born ceb. 15, 1875 
died Feb. 17. 1875; 2. Walter Gray9, born Dec. 25, 1876; physician ; married 
Ethel Arnold Patch April 16, 1906, at Buffalo, N. Y.; have two adopted 
children; Robert Jordains, born Aug. 31, 1916; and Barbara Emily, born 
Dec 7, 1920; 3. Elizabeth Chamberlain9, born July 7, J879; ched Aug- 5? 
1879; 4. Elizabeth Russell9, born April 30, 1884; married Walter Everett 
Poor Oct. 9, 1912; 5. Henry Osgood*, born Sept. 2, 1885; 6. Arthur, born 
May 19, 1887. Charles Endecott Phippen8; bookkeeper; married Harriet 
Ellen Gifford Oct. n, 1880; children: 1. Margaret Barton born Aug. 27 
1883; 2. Eleanor Gifford9, born May 16, 1891; married Daniel Gordon dower 
of Indiana Nov. 11, I9I5- , TT • A ujlu 

Henry Osgood Phippen9; clerk; moved to Hamilton; married Edith 
Whipple Dane Oct. 5, 1910: 1. Henry Osgood , born March 15, 1912, 2. 



332 HISTORY OF SALEM 

threatened to invade our coasts”; and at the same time there was 
appointed a fast, to be kept on the twenty-second, on account of 
the sad condition of the people of God in other parts, especially 

the severe hand of God in the pestilence raging in London and in 
many other places in our native country.” 

William Downton1, born ~ y 
about 1629, a carpenter was in J'o 

balem as early as 1665. He y * 1 
lived in the house he had bought, which formerly stood at 15 
Washington Street. Edward Humber, a blacksmith, was also 

1634, was in Salem in 1665. 
He was a fisherman, and at 
first lived at the Neck, where 
the causeway led to Winter 
Island. 

living here in the same 
^ year, and as late as 1672. 

Gilbert Tapley2, born in 

fi&irlr Gif ^ 

Joan Almira10, born June 18, 1915; 3. Richard Dane10, born July 1, 1918; 4. 
Geraldine , born July 4, 1925. Arthur Phippen0; bank clerk; married Alice 
Davenport Bowden of Marblehead Feb. 24. 1915; children: 1. Mary Eliza¬ 
beth born July n, 1915; 2. Jane West10, born May 23, 1918; 3. Arthur10, 
born Jan. 13, 1923. 

William Downton married, first, Rebecca —; she was living in 1682; 
married, second, Joanna —; died in the autumn of 1696; she was his widow 
m 1702; children: 1. Mary; married Thomas Flint; 2. William, born April 
I*’J6®5 ’ j,!vir!§ !n ^96; 3; John, born June 17, 1669; probably died before 
1090^; 4. Elizabeth; living in 1696. 

^Gilbert Tapley1 married Thomasine —; died April 17, 1714; she died 
A'ov. 1. 1715; children: 1. Gilbert2, born Aug. 26, 1665; 2. Joseph2, born 
March 10, 1667-8; died about 1689; 3- Mary2, born April 4, 1671. 

(Elbert Tapley2; married, first, Lydia Small April to, 1686; second, 
Barah Archer Aug. 21, 1707; died in 1710; she survived him; children: 1. 
Mary born Nov. 4, 1689; married Christopher Batten Sept. 19, 1706; 2. 
Joseph, born July 30, 1692; 3. Lydia3, born March 10, 1696-7; 4. Gilbert3 
born July 13, 1699. 

Joseph Tapley3; innholder; married Margaret Masury Nov. 27, 1712- 
children: 1. Gilbert, born May 6, 1722; 2. John4, born about 1728; lived in 
Peabody; married Elizabeth Buxton Feb. 15. 1749-50; 3- Lydia4. Gilbert 

1 apley ; fisherman; married Elizabeth Henderson Tad. 9, 1721-2’ died in 
1757: children: 1. William4; 2. Elizabeth4; married John Cox May ’15, 1743- 
3. Mary ; married Benjamin Henfield of Danvers, Nov. 25, 1733. 

Gilbert Tapley4; housewright; lived in Danvers; married, first. Phebe 
.Putnam June 17, t747: she died May 6, 1770; married, second, Mary (Flint), 
widow of Nathaniel Smith, March n, 1771; she died July i. 1799: married, 
third Sarah (Abbott) Farrington of Andover June 6, T799; he died May 

- 14? o S 1 died ,n Anc,°ver Jan. 19, 1823; children: i. Amos8, born Oct. 
tL 1' ’ -T fl,er of the Revolution; yeoman ; lived in Danvers; married, first, 
Hannah Preston May 9, 1772; she died Oct. 20, 1825; married, second. 
Sarah (Brimblecom) Berry of Lynn Nov. 8, 1826; he died Sept. 6, 1833; 
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Nov. 18, 1665, the town granted to Ankias Horsman a lot of 
land at the east end of Goodman RumbaH's lot. 

fames Priest hung himself with a rope, in November, 1665, 
and a jury of inquest, consisting of George Gardner, Samuel 
Gardner, Thomas Cromwell, Thomas Rix, John Beckett, John 
Cromwell, Richard Harvie, John Williams, Henry Skerry, Wil¬ 

liam Dounton, John Pickworth and Samuel Pickworth, appointed 
by the constable of Salem, viewed the body and adjudged that his 
death was caused by his voluntary will. The verdict was returned 
to the Salem court Nov. 28, 1665. James Priest was son of James 
Priest of Weymouth, where he was born May 8, 1640. 

The town of Salem granted to Emanuel Downing five hun¬ 
dred acres of land which is now the extreme northeastern corner 
of Danvers, July 16, 1638, and he conveyed it to John Porter April 

had children; 2. Daniel5, born Dec. 6, 1750; married ]Mary Barbed of Dan¬ 
vers May 5, 1774; died Aug. 10, 1775; 3- Phebe , born Aug. -o 
Joseph5, born April 10, 1756; 5- Aaron0, born Jan. 25,; 1758; 6. Asa born 
Sept u, 1761; 7. Elijah5, born Dec. 14, 1765; 8. Saly, born Oct 19, 7A 
William Tapley4; mariner; married Mary Mascoll Oct. 17, 1745, child. 

1. William5, born about 1746. 
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15, 1650. Sergeant Porter conveyed it to his son Joseph Porter, 
Jan. 2, 1664, as a part of his portion upon the latter's marriage 
with Anna, daughter of Maj. William Hathorne; and upon this 
land Joseph erected a house which is still standing. The farm, 
with the house thereon, is now owned and occupied by Daniel ]. 

Conners. The house is in excellent condition, and apparently able 
to still weather the storms for centuries. It is fifty feet in length 

JOSEPH PORTER HOUSE 

and twenty odd feet in width, two stories in height and faces the 
south. The chimney is large, and each of the front rooms on both 
doors are twenty feet square. The original barn is now adjoining 
the house, having a frame similar to that of the house. The posts 
and beams are hewn of white oak and a foot square. About fifty 
rods northeasterly from the house, near a swamp, is the original 
burialplace of the family. There are some half a dozen graves 
marked with as many field rocks. Some of the latter now lie upon 
the ground and others are partly embedded in the earth. All are 
overgrown with briars and bushes. Two of the stones which lie 
loosely upon the ground are each about two feet in length and a 
toot and a half in breadth, and thin at the edges. On one of them 
are cut the letters “A P” and above them is at least a figure “2”. 
r he only early member of the family who lived on the farm whose 
initials these might be is Anna, wife of the builder of the house. 
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daughter of Major Hathorne. It is unknown when she died, but 
she was not alive in 1713, when Mr. Porter executed his will, and 
it may be that the figure “2” is a part of the date of ‘‘1712”. 
Passing over or near these stones no one would suspect that this 
was a sacred burialplace and that here have reposed for more than 
two centuries the remains of a daughter of Major Hathorne. 



CHAPTER XVIII. 

THE SOUTH MILLS. 

HE windmill at Burying point continued to be used 
after 1639, and Samuel Bennett of Lynn conveyed it 
to Thomas Wheeler of Lynn, who had removed it 
from Salem to Lynn, April 1, 16531. 

Poor judgment used in selecting millers, bad 
grinding, the large loss in the amount of meal returned for the 
corn sent to mill, the great uncertainty as to when the grist would 
be ground, and other reasons made Trask’s mill very unpopular. 
Complaints were made to the court, but little satisfaction was 
thereby secured. This must have been a good mill, as when Cap¬ 
tain Trask died, in 1666, it was appraised at one hundred pounds. 

William Browne, George Corwin and Walter Price finally 
requested the town to give them the right to erect a mill on the 
South River. This request was favorably received, and the town 
voted, Nov. 29, 1659, to grant them liberty to build a gristmill up¬ 
on the South River above Mr. Ruck's house where it may be con¬ 
venient. This vote apparently brought to Captain Trask a forcible 
reminder of his duty to the public, if he wished to retain its custom, 
and fault finding quietly subsided. After a few years, complaints 
were renewed, and it seemed that another move would be made 
for a new mill. I he town was about to grant the privilege of 
establishing a mill at the place contemplated in 1659, when John 
Trask, on the behalf of his father, Capt. William Trask, the owner 
of the old mill, engaged to make as good meal as was made at 
Lynn and that when they could not supply the town, for want of 
water or in any other respect, they would send it to Lynn upon 
their charge and have it ground there. Upon this promise, the 
town suspended proceedings about building another mill. This 
was on March 2, 1662-3; but August 22d following, the town 
voted “that there is liberty granted for building of a mill over the 

"Essex Registry of Deeds, book 4, leaf 121. 
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South River near Mr. Ruck’s/' Another inducement for the con¬ 
struction of the new mill was probably its convenient situation. 

On the ninth of November following, the town again voted 
upon the matter, and ordered “That Walter Price Henry Barthol- 
mew John Gardner and Samuel Gardner have liberty to build a 
mill over the South River near Mr. Ruck's, provided it be built 
in two years or to lose their privilege." 

John Pickering had petitioned the Salem court June 29th pre¬ 
viously, asking-that the question of its site might be settled. There 
was apparently no response to it. 

To satisfy Jonathan Pickering for the disturbances of his 
right to build vessels there, March 23, 1676-7, the town granted 
to him a “convenient” parcel of land about Hardy’s Cove to build 
vessels on. 

These men began the construction of a dam, when one morn¬ 
ing they found that their work had been tampered with in the 
night time, their wheelbarrows and tools and timber were thrown 
into the river, the stakes pulled up, etc. Later, when the mill 
building was partly up, an endeavor was made in the night to turn 
it into the channel1. This was done by John Pickering, who 
claimed that the proprietors had no right to build a mill there and 
obstruct him from going to his land, which was the Broad field of 
Governor Endecott originally, or using it for ship-building. Mr. 
Pickering brought two suits against the proprietors of the mill, 
one for trespass upon his land and the other for damming the 
water of the river, the writs being dated Nov. 11, 1664. 

At either end of the mill dam the town erected gates, which 
were maintained by the proprietors of the mill. 

When the Broad Street burial ground was laid out in 1655, 
space was left at the eastern end for a passage way and at the east¬ 
erly corner of the burialplace, there was at a very early date a gate 
painted red through which was obtained access to the Governor 
Endecott Broad field. When John Ruck, who owned all the land 
on the eastern side of this common, sold to Matthew Woodwell 
a lot of land where the southerly end of Mill Street now runs he 
agreed to lay out a highway to it fourteen feet wide from what 
is now Summer Street. This was done, and thus came into ex¬ 
istence High Street and the southerly end of Mill Street. A week 
after the day that Mr. Pickering’s petition was filed with the 
court, the selectmen ordered that a highway be laid out from 
the way near Bartholomew Gedney s to the new mill laid out 
that day ten feet above high water mark into the bank neat the 
mill to a stake and so against the mill as it was staked out. 

1For details of these depredations, see Records and Files of the Quar¬ 
terly Courts of Essex County, volume III, pages 216 and 217. 
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July 18th previously to the suits being brought, the proprie¬ 
tors of the mill had come to agreement with John Pickering in 
the matter, that, in consideration of twenty pounds, he gave them 
liberty to use his land and soil for setting up the dam and mill 

SOUTH MILLS 

w here they had begun the dam and for his damages by stopping 
up the river below his land, and also to save them harmless for 
all damages to Matthew Woodall and others. In spite of this 
agreement, the suits were tried, and in both cases the defendants 
won.1 

The mill was completed in the summer of 1665. It was 
originally a single grist or corn-mill, and continued to be such 
until about 1720. To the original proprietors was added, when the 
building was finished, George Gardner. Price, Bartholmew and 
Samuel had each one-quarter, and John and George Gardner each 
one-eighth part of the business. Major Price died in 167-, and 
his interest passed to his widow and to her children in her dis¬ 
cretion. She conveyed one-eighth to her daughter Elizabeth 
Ruck, and the other one-eighth to her son John Croade. George 
Gardner died in 1679, having devised his one-eighth to his son 
Gapt. Samuel Gardner. Mr. Bartholmew was a merchant, and, 
as a gift, he conveyed his one-fourth interest to his daughters 

’See Records and Files of the Quarterly Courts of Essex County, volume 
111, pages 203-207. 
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Hannah Swinerton and Abigail Willoughby in 1689. Samuel 
Gardner died in 1689, having devised his fourth part to his grand¬ 
children, Abel Gardner, one-eighth, Joseph Henfield, one-six¬ 
teenth, and Mary Neale, one-sixteenth. John Croade, who was 
a merchant, conveyed his one-eighth to the miller William Stacy 
in 1699. John Ruck’s executors conveyed his share,—one-six¬ 
teenth to Capt. Samuel Gardner, and the other one-sixteenth to 
John Higginson, jr.,—in 1702. Widow Hannah Swinerton con¬ 
veyed to William Browne, esquire, one-eighth in 1702; and the 
other one-eighth in 1704. John Gardner died in 1705, having 
devised his one-eighth to his grandson John Gardner of Mendon. 
Mr. Stacy conveyed his one-eighth to William Browne in 1708 
and 1709. John Gardner of Mendon conveyed his one-eighth to 
Capt. Samuel Gardner and to the latter’s son Capt. John Gardner, 
in 1712. William Browne deeded one-sixteenth to his daughter 
Mary Lynde in his lifetime, and in his will devised his remaining 
three-sixteenths to her, in 1716. Col. John Higginson died in 
1720, having devised his one-sixteenth to his daughter Elizabeth 
Gerrish. 

The miller was William Stacey from before 1682 until 
his death, in 1723. Because of this fact, this place of industry 
was known as Stacey’s mills for several years after his death, 
even as late as 1735. Another set of stones and machinery was 
added about 1720, and still another set about 1727. These three 
sets of stones or mills continued in use until after the Revolution. 
The establishment was known as the South mills as early as 1699 
and as late as 1840. 

Capt. Samuel Gardner died in 1724, having devised his one- 
fourth to his grandsons, John Higginson, John Gardner, Daniel 
Gardner and Samuel Gardner. Daniel Gardner and Samuel 
Gardner conveved their one-eighth to their brother John Gaidner 
in 1733. John Gardner was a yeoman, and conveyed one-six¬ 
teenth to Jonathan Gardner in 1735- ^rs: ^aiT' ^ea^e conveyed 
her one-sixteenth to Benjamin Lynde, jr., in 1735- Abel Gardner 
conveyed his one-sixteenth to his son Jonathan Gardner in 1735? 
and died in 1739, having in his will devised his other one-six¬ 
teenth to his son Abel Gardner. Abel Gardner conveyed his one- 
sixteenth to his brother Jonathan Gardner in 1739. John Gard¬ 
ner conveyed another of his sixteenths to Benjamin Lynce, 
esquire, in 1738, and his other sixteenth to William Lynde in i73°- 
Capt. John Gardner died possessed of his sixteenth, and his widow 
Elizabeth Gardner conveyed it to Jonathan Gardner in I742- 
Joseph Henfield died in 1743- having devised his one-sixteenth to 
his son Edmund Henfield. John Higginson died m 1744; a™ 
his one-sixteenth descended to his son Francis Higginson, who 
died in 1761. having devised his interest to his wife Esther Hig- 
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ginson. She married Daniel Mackey, and they conveyed it to 
Daniel Malloon Feb. 22, 1762. Mrs. Elizabeth Gerrish died in 
1734 ; and her sixteenth passed to her daughter Sarah King by 
the division of her real estate, Dec. 1, 1756. Mrs. King conveyed 
her one-sixteenth to James King Dec. 1, 1756; and Tames King 
conveyed the same share to Daniel Malloon of Salem, miller, 
April 20, 1759. Mrs. Abigail Willoughby died, possessed of her 
one-eighth, and it descended to her son Francis Willoughby of 
Boston. Mr. Willoughby conveyed it to Thomas Barton June 1, 
1747. Colonel Barton died in 1751, and his one-eighth descended 
to his daughter Mary Toppan. She conveyed it to Daniel Malloon 
Feb. 4, 1764. 

Thomas Brewer was the miller from as early as 1729 till as 
late as 1739, and Thomas Osborn in 1743 and as late as about 
1760. Daniel Malloon was the miller in 1761, and until his death 
in the spring of 1783. They were known as Malloon’s mills as 
late as 1831. About 1769, a “scythe mill” was added, and also a 
granary, the latter being in existence in 1804. The “scythe mill” 
existed in 1776, but was gone before 1811. 

Edmund Henfield conveyed his one-sixteenth to Daniel Mal¬ 
loon Feb. 28, 1770. Mr. Malloon died in 1783, and his five-six¬ 
teenths descended to his grand-daughter Eunice Andrew. Wil¬ 
liam Lynde died in 1752, having devised his one-sixteenth to his 
brother Benjamin Lynde, Esq., who died in 1781, and his three- 
sixteenths was divided among his three daughters, Mary Oliver, 
Lydia Walter and Hannah Lynde April 21, 1786. Jonathan 
Gardner died in 1783.' having devised his one-fourth to his sons 
John Gardner and Jonathan Gardner. Jonathan Gardner brought 
a suit against his brother John, who lived in Danvers, re¬ 
covered judgment, and, in satisfaction of the judgment, John’s 
one-eighth was assigned to Jonathan Gardner July 12, 1813^ The 
one-sixteenth of Hannah Lynde passed to her sister Lydia Walter. 
Their mother, Madam Mary Lynde, died in the summer of 1790, 
and her one-fourth passed to her daughters, Mary Oliver and 
Lydia Walter. Mrs. Walter died, and her heirs conveyed one- 
eighth to Jonathon Gardner April 16, 1801, and one-eighth to 
John Gardner on the same day. Mrs. Eunice Andrew removed 
to Marblehead and conveyed her five-sixteenths to Peter Hodson 
Nov. 15, 1804, and it passed from him to Jesse Blanchard. Mrs. 
Oliver died in September, 1807, having devised her three-six¬ 
teenths to her three children, Dr. Benjamin Lynde Oliver, Peter 
Oliver and Sarah Oliver. Sarah's interest passed to her brother 
Peter Oliver before 1810. 

One of the grist mills was taken out before 1827. A choco¬ 
late mill was established in or before 1811, and run by James 
Brown. It was leased to William Micklefield, tobacconist, by the 
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owners of the mills, for ten years, from July 26, 1825, and turned 
into a snuff mill. There was a slaughter house upon the premises, 
also,, in 1813. A saw mill had been introduced about 1812, and 
that was continued as long as the mills were run. A pulverizing 
mill was established in or about 1827, when there were upon the 
premises two grist, one saw, one chocolate and one pulverizing 
mill. William Frye was the miller in 1825, and continued until 
1832 or later. 

Dr. B. L. Oliver conveyed his one-sixteenth to Jonathan 
Gardner Jan. 28, 1819; and Jonathan Gardner had conveyed to 
Nathaniel West one-eighth before that date. Peter Oliver be¬ 
came deranged, and his guardian conveyed his one-eighth to Abel 
Lawrence and John B. Lawrence Feb. 26, 1821. Abel Lawrence 
conveyed his one-sixteenth to Charles Lawrence March 1, 1824; 
and Charles Lawrence conveyed his one-sixteenth to Nathaniel 
West April 20, 1830. John B. Lawrence conveyed his one-six¬ 
teenth to Mr. West May 27, 1831 ; and John Gardner conveyed his 
one-eighth to Mr. West Jan. 11, 1830. Jesse Blanchard conveyed 
his five-sixteenths to William Frye Dec. 1, 1825; and Mr. Frye, 
who had removed from Salem, conveyed his five-sixteenths to 
William Micklefield, John Jewett, Elliott Smith and Amos F. 

' Smith, constituting the firm of Micklefield & Co., July 9, 1832. 
There were dwelling apartments in the mills Jan. 20, 1836, 

when, for a rental of twelve hundred dollars per year, the mills 
were leased, for ten years from Feb. 1, 1836, by Nathaniel West, 
William F. Gardner, William Micklefield, John Jewett, Elliott 
Smith and the guardian of Amos F. Smith, owners, to said 
Micklefield, Jewett and Elliott Smith and Jonathan A. Kenney,.all 
of Salem, and Thomas Id. Prime of Charlestown, the lessees being 
the firm of Micklefield & Co. The next year, the mills consisted 
of two grist, one saw and one snuff mill. A veneeiing mill was 
added before 1846, and that was in use for a number of years, 
the veneer being sawn from squared mahogany logs. The nulls 
were called the City mills as early as 1846. The snuff mill was m 
existence as late as 1846, and another of the giist mills was dis¬ 
continued between 1837 and 1846. 

Amos F. Smith died in 1833, and his interest descended to 
his son Amos F. Smith, jr. Jonathan Gardner died 111 1821 ; and 
his five-sixteenths descended to his son William F. Gardner, who 
conveyed the same to Jonathan A. Kenney and Thomas H. Prime, 
mahogany dealers, Jan. 27, 1846. Oct. 21 1837, Elliott Smith 
conveyed five-sixty-fourths of the mills to William Micklefield, 
who died in 1840, possessed of five-thirty-seconds of them. I he 
whole plant was then valued at twenty-two thousand dollars, lhe 
executor of the will of Mr. Micklefield conveyed the interest of 
the estate to John Jewett, Thomas H. Prime and Jonathan A. 
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Kenney, comprising the firm of Prime, Kenney & Co., March 23, 
I&49- Kle guardian of Amos F. Smith conveyed his five-sixty- 
fourths, at auction, to John Jewett June 2, 1846. Nathaniel West 
conveyed his three-eighths to John Jewett, Thomas H. Prime and 
Jonathan A. Kenney, mahogany dealers, Oct. 12, 1849; and these 
three, owners of the City mills,” conveyed one-tenth of them 
to Thomas S. Jewett Oct. 18, 1849. John Jewett, Jonathan H. 
Prime, Jonathan A. Kenney and Thomas S. Jewett, for fifty thou¬ 
sand dollars, conveyed the City mills to The Eastern Railroad 
Company June 17, 1854. The property then conveyed consisted 
of grist, veneer and upright saw mills, and the buildings and land. 
The mills were run a few years after their sale to the railroad 
company, and then removed.1 

MILL SITE 

This was a tide mill, and the mill pond was thus originated. 
The land on the eastern side of the South River at the mill 

was owned by Capt. Walter Price, and the executors of his will 
conveyed to the owners of the mill a part of his lot March 10, 
* /5- They built upon it a small house, situated at what is now 
the. easterly corner of Mill and Canal streets, apparently for the 
residence of the miller. It was subsequentlv sold, and taken down 
soon after 1765. 

Houses were built at either end of the dam soon after. The 
accompanying plan shows their locations and first owners. 

THE NEW WAY TO MARBLEHEAD. 

The only way by land to Marblehead from Salem to this time 
was by way of Highland Park to Vinning Square and thence to 
the town of Marblehead. When this milldam was constructed, 

r ca HAy ?ver lt;’ ^le roa<J was changed to run through 
the South fields, by way of Lafayette Street and Loring Avenue 

tory'of tieTcord tit^T SelilL ^ ^ f°r the fu" his' 
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to the pumping station on Forest River. The road then followed 
a path over the bridge, passing over Stony beach, called Webb’s, 
between the river and Legg’s Hill toward Marblehead, past Ruck s 
tree, o-0ing through the dungeons, westerly of the new burial 
place,^on the south side of the gravel pit and joining the original 
highway at what was formerly known as “Our house.” This 
new way saved more than a mile of travel. 

A curious incident of this matter was the °f. ^ 
out the road. Salem appointed two citizens of Marblehead to lay 
out that part of the way which was m Salem and Marblehead 
appointed^ two citizens of Salem to lay wit that portion^whic 
was in Marblehead. Salem appointed Richard Rowland and 
Samuel Ward of Marblehead; and Marblehead appointed Map 
William Hathorne and Henry Bartholmew of Salem. The y 
was laid out April 24, 1666, and the return was as follow * • 
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I he Returne: of thofe that weare Apoynted: to laye owt the 
Common hie waye: betwixt salem towne and marblhed: is vydz • that 
the waye: shall: lye: owt of the towne of marblhed: as: the Common 
Cart wave now lyeth: fower Rodds wyde: and soe to Runn: fower 
Rodds broade: as wee haue mked trees: neere the way as It is Com¬ 
monly vied: only vppon the midle of the playne we Leaue the common 
waye: and goe: somewhat one the Left hand of the ould waye accord¬ 
ing as thee trees are marked and soe to Runn: fower Rodd wyde * 
vntill wee com to: the bridg: and then to goe fower Rodd wyde - vnt.il1 
wee Com to the litle gate: that standeth In the south feeld ffence: and 
then we haue determined that the waye shall Runn: throgh at that °-ate 
vppon a strayght lyne vnto an ould tree that lyeth neere that common 
hye waye. in the south ffeeld and soe to goe along the waye: as it is 
now vfed: through the south ffeeld vnto the mill dam: and the breath 
ot the whole waye through the south ffeeld to be on Rodd wyde And 
that this is owre Joynt agreement: wee haue heare vnto sett oure 
hands this 24 of April: 1666 

William Hawthorne 
Henry Bartholmew 
Richard Tp his 
Rowland I mark: 
Samuell Ward:1 

Some time before his departure for England, John Humphrey 
had built a bridge over Forest River, near the Marblehead pump¬ 
ing station, to enable him to conveniently reach his Plain farm 
at the westerly end of Marblehead. This was about 1640 The 
bridge was poorly made, and was gone before 1648. The way by 
which Mr. Humphrey traveled was by boat from the rear of the 
parsonage across South River to the landing place of the South 
held, which was at what is now the southeastern corner of Wash¬ 
ington and Dodge streets, and then by land over the ancient 
narrow and crooked path through the South field and what is now 
Loring Avenue to this bridge, by means of which he crossed over 
the stream to his land. 

March 13, 1648-9, the selectmen granted to John Hardy lib¬ 
erty to make a dam to drain his salt meadow at the head of 
b orest River, m the place where the old bridge was, for seven 
yeais. Aug 4, 1656, the term of seven years having elapsed the 
town ordered that William Browne should make a foot bridge 
where Mr Humphrey’s bridge had been and maintain it for a 
common foot bridge. At the end of another period of seven 
yeais,. Dec 22, 1663, the selectmen of Salem appointed Captain 
Curwin and Mr. Batter to treat with the selectmen of Marblehead 
about paying their part of the cost of building the bridge, and 
issue it with them. Nov. 17, 1666, the town voted to pay Wil- 

lum Flint five pounds for the bridge. Tune 25, 1667, the "Salem 

’Town Records, volume II, page 81. 
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court, having received a complaint that the bridge was defective, 
Salem and Marblehead were ordered to bear the cost of repairs 
and maintenance of the bridge for horses and persons to pass 
safely, with rails on either side of the bridge. A month later, the 

FOREST RIVER BRIDGE 

selectmen voted to repair the bridge, and William Flint repaired 
the Salem half of it. The next January, the selectmen ordered 
that no person should fasten any lighter or other vessel, great or 
small, to any part of this bridge, on penalty of one pound. 

May 26, 1673, the selectmen chose John Pickering to rebuild 
or repair the bridge if Marblehead should appoint a person to act 
with them for their part, the selectmen of Marblehead to be no¬ 
tified to do so. To oppose the endeavors to compel the town of 
Marblehead to contribute to the maintenance of the bridge, Mar¬ 
blehead petitioned the Salem court for relief as it was claimed 
that the Coy Pond land many years before was a part of their 
town and the channel of the river was the dividing line between 
the towns; but, in 1679, Salem took the liberty of claiming those 
lands as a part of their territory, and set the town line over about 
twenty rods from the bridge. After that time, the bridge was 
wholly within the town of Salem, and the Marblehead men stated 
that “the great ability of Salem” renders help unnecessary, and 
that “the poverty and disability” of Marblehead is such that “it 
should bear no part of the expense of a bridge or causeway en¬ 
tirely in another town.” If the court should make Marblehead 
responsible for a portion of the maintenance of this bridge, the 
petitioner prayed that the Coy Pond land be restored to Mar¬ 
blehead, “which so long before we had enjoyed.” 

In 1675, there was a landing place on the northerly side of 
the river easterly of the bridge.1 

^ssex Registry of Deeds, book 4, leaf 121. 



CHAPTER XIX. 

COMMERCE 

HE catching of fish was the business in which most of 
the mariners of Salem in the first settlement were en¬ 
gaged, and naturally as the people came out of the 
fishing establishment at Cape Ann. By the middle of 
January, 1647, the vessels at Marblehead alone had 

caught in the season of fishing just closed about four thousand 
pounds worth of fish.1 

Only a few years after the settlement of Salem, trade was 
established along the coast with the Netherlands, Virginia and 
the West Indies, and even across the ocean. The trade with the 
Dutch, which was profitable, almost caused a breach with the other 
people of the United Colonies, as the Massachusetts Bay traders 
were indisposed to war with them. Rev. Edward Norris of 
Salem, however, wrote a long and interesting letter to the Com¬ 
missioners of the United Colonies, dated at Salem, May 3, 1653, 
urging them to follow the threats they had repeatedly made by 
positive and aggressive activity against the Dutch.2 

Jan. 1, 1659-60, a small vessel was burned in Salem Harbor. 
March 6, 1661-2, Elder John Browne, when on a voyage to 

Virginia, was shipwrecked, losing the vessel and cargo, and being 

Telt’s Annals of Salem, volume II, page 212. 
April 6, 1660, John Croad of Salem, merchant, conveyed to Walter Price 

of Salem his interest in the fish and train oil that has been or would be 
procured by their fishing shallop at Marblehead, kept there for fishing, at 
Moses Maverick’s island, from Oct. 1, 1659, to May 31, 1660. 

Mordecay Craford, his wife Judith and John Pride, all of Salem, 
mortgaged to Capt. Thomas Savage of Boston the barque in which Captain 
Craford usually sailed, and pne-half of the barque that Captain Pride goeth 
in and the produce of a fishing voyage, which said Craford was then under¬ 
taking, with two boats at Cape Nawagon, Dec. 27, 1661. 

“See the letter in Hazard’s Historical Collections, volume II, page 255. 
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in great danger from the Indians, but, returning safely, he ren¬ 
dered thanks to God before the congregation for his safety. 

William Hollingworth was a merchant here in 1663. 
Obadiah Antrim was lost, in 1664, on a voyage to Nevis. 
In the same year, Josselyn wrote of Salem: "In this town 

are some very rich merchants”; and, in 1686, John Dunton, who 
walked from Boston to Salem to see the place, wrote: "I found 
the town about a mile long, with many fine houses in it, and it is 
reported the next town to Boston for trade." 

In 1665, Capt. Benjamin Fermayes of Salem died on the 
coast of Guinea. 

In July of that year, great fear was produced here by the re¬ 
port that Admiral De Ruyter was in the West Indies, and intend¬ 
ed to visit our coast. Preparations were made to receive him; but 
contrary winds caused him to sail to Newfoundland, where he 

"did great spoil.” 
Dec. 8, 1665, there was a great tempest, and a ketch from 

Barbadoes, with all her company and passengers, were lost near 
Salem. 

In the beginning of 1667, some Dutch men-of-war came to 
Virginia, and plundered eighteen or nineteen merchantmen and 
burned a frigate. John Brown of Salem, son of Elder Brown, was 
one of the victims. 

Feb. 12, 1667, the tax of John Norman was remitted as he 
had received great loss at sea, being taken by the Dutch. 

Sept. 7, 1667, Captain Grafton’s vessel and cargo were burned 

here. 
Oct. 9, 1667, a committee, of whom was George Curwin, was 

appointed to devise regulations for the better building of vessels 
and more correct procedure in admiralty cases. This resulted in 
the adoption of a maritime code of laws the next year. 

Feb. 21, 1669-70, John Grafton and Joshua Ward had lately 

suffered shipwreck. 
Oct. 15, 1673, the general court, having been informed ‘ that 

there is one Robert Stone, master of a vessel, lately come from 
New York and arrived at Salem, judges it necessary in order to 
the present affairs under consideration, that said Stone, together 
with Mr. Hollingworth, who was lately taken by the Dutch, be 

forthwith sent for.” 
Nov. 16, 1674, Capt. Cornelius Anderson, under Dutch colors, 

took various articles from Capt. Edward Hilliard, at the eastward. 
Anderson was captured and tried the next year, on this account, 
for piracy, which was then punishable with death. 

July 8, 1677, a vessel arrived here, which took Capt. Ephraim 
How of New Haven, the only survivor of his crew, from a desolate 
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island near Cape Sable, where, for eight months, he suffered ex¬ 
ceedingly from cold and hunger. 

April 20, 1681, a ketch, commanded by Capt. Edmond Hen- 
field, picked up a boat with Captain Andrew and six of his crew, 
four hundred and fifty miles from Cape Cod. These persons be¬ 
longed to a Dublin ship, bound to Virginia, which had sunk two 
days previously, when sixteen men and three women perished. 

Thomas Purchase went on a voyage, and nothing was ever 
heard of him afterwards. 

Oct. 16, 1682, surveyors of goods damaged on board of ves¬ 
sels were provided for; and John Hardy, sr., John Brown and 
Richard More were appointed for Salem. 

In 1685, James Collins sailed for Barbadoes, and was lost. 
Sept. 8, 1685, as small-pox was raging at Barbadoes, the se¬ 

lectmen ordered that all cotton imported from there should be 
landed at Baker’s Island. 

In 1686, the New England flag had a red cross on a white 
ground, with a crown in the middle of the cross, and under the 
crown, the letters “J R” (James Rex). 

Aug. 4, 1687, two Salem ketches were taken by a French 
man-of-war. 

Sept. 24, 1687, James Thomas, master of the ship Thomas, 
stated that he and other French Protestants arrived at Salem the 
ninth, and that their ship was seized. He prays that he may be 
tried, and, if condemned, enough may be allowed to the seamen, 
and to relieve himself from distress. 

Sept. 10, 1689, the ship Pelican, a pirate vessel, brought in a 
prize, which was sold. 

Oct. 20, 1689, a brig arrived from Newfoundland, with wine, 
brandy and English manufactures; and another similar cargo 
came in another brig. 

Nov. 11, 1689, a ketch sailed to Virginia to load with a cargo 
of tobacco, and from thence to proceed to Scotland. 

Dec. 13, 1689, a Salem ketch arrived from Holland. 
The capture of vessels was always iminent. There were no 

officers of the strong right hand of the law to defend one’s right 
in the lonely regions of the ocean. The little defence vessels 
possessed must be used, and in the old days the men who sailed 
them were steadily moulded into a hardy and couragious race. 

Following King Philip’s War, the Indians were very trouble¬ 
some to the fishing vessels. Thirteen fishing ketches, belonging 
to Salem, and their crews were captured. Some of the men es¬ 
caped and reached Salem. Great consternation came over the 
people here when the news came. July 16, 1677, fourteen of the 
merchants and leading men of Salem petitioned the general court, 
praying that a vessel, with forty or fifty men, be suddenly sent out 
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to secure the vessels which had been lost and put a stop to such 
losses in the future.1 A fast was held a week later—on the next 
lecture day. The exercises were conducted by the pastor, Rev. 
Mr. Higginson, who was assisted in prayer by Rev. Messrs. Hale, 
Cheevers and Gerrish, the ministers of the neighboring churches. 
About nineteen wounded men were sent into Salem a few days be¬ 
fore, and on the day of the fast some of the ketches returned, 
which partially relieved the tension of the people. Among the 
wounded were Tames Veren and Anthony Waldern of this place. 
Two of the townsmen, Nathaniel Kun and Peter Petty, were 
killed. These four appear to have been connected with the pre¬ 
ceding vessels, while on fishing voyages at the eastward. Joshua 
Scottow’s narrative says that, August 18th, on signing articles of 
peace at Pemaquid, Mladockawando delivered up five men, who 
belonged to ketches of Salem and Marblehead. 

May 24, 1681, there was a report that Indians intended to sur¬ 
prise “our ketches fishing near Cape Sable.” The military com¬ 
mittee of Salem petitioned the government that they might im¬ 
press a vessel and men, and send her to prevent such a purpose, 
promising that if the report be false they would pay the cost, but, 

if true, the Province should pay them. 
William Johnson and John Graham and other sea rovers, his 

accomplices, were tried in the court of assistants in Boston, Nov. 
12, 1683, on the charge that, in June, 1683, on the high seas, and 
near the coast of Canada, with force and arms, piratically assault¬ 
ed, seized and took several vessels belonging to them, namely, a 
certain ketch belonging to the port of Salem, John Lambert, 
master, and three other vessels, making the men belonging to the 
vessels prisoners, and plundering and sharing among themselves 
the goods, in the said vessels. The jury found the defendants not 

guilty. 111 
Aug. 1, 1687, two ketches of Salem were captured by the 

French. 
June 13, 1689, the government ordered that a vessel scour 

our coast of pirates, then carry soldiers on the Eastern expedition, 
and protect our fishing vessels on the coast of Acadie. 

Sept. 17, 1689, five Salem ketches were taken by two French 
frigates. Soon after this, the merchants of Salem sent a petition 
to the council, stating that several of their vessels had not returned 
with their last fares; and that six of them, with thirty men, had 
been captured and carried into Port Royal. They also remaike , 
that they were discouraged from fitting out their craft next spring, 
and desired that an agent be dispatched to see about those detained 

by the French. 

1Massachusetts Archives, volume 69, leaf I54a- 
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John Blackleach of Salem petitioned the general court for re¬ 
lief from the depredation of the Moors. The petition was received 
and consented to, and referred to the elders “to inform them of 
the mind of God therein,” and upon their report to further con¬ 
sider the matter. The Turkish pirates were very offensive along 
the shores of Europe, and disturbed our foreign commerce. The 
general court commissioned Capt. Thomas Breadcake, master of 
a ship, Nov. 13, 1644, to take any Turkish pirate within twelve 
months. Winter Island had been fortified by two small cannon, 
belonging to the colonial government; and now the court loaned 
them for this purpose to Captain Breadcake, who was to return 
them by the middle of the next summer (1645). The owners of 
the vessel were bound for their return, or pay the value of the 
guns by the next summer. The guns were probably never return¬ 
ed. The Barbary corsairs held many of Salem’s mariners in bond¬ 
age for slavery and their ranson charges. 

April 13, 1645, the governor and assistants received intelli¬ 
gence that d Aulnay had taken a vessel from Salem commanded 
by Joseph Grafton, because she was bound, with provisions, to 
the Fort of La Tour; that he had turned her crew upon island, 
kept them there ten days when the snow was deep, destitute of 
fire, and only covered with an old wigwam; that he then sent 
them away in a shallop, without gun or compass. The next day 
after leaving the island, they were pursued by hostile Indians. 
The governor and assistants sent a request to d'Aulnay to give up 
the vessel and cargo. 

An interesting section of Salem of this period is that around 
Creek Street, which was a large tidal creek, on the shores of 
which were wharves and ship building yards, with dwelling houses 
of the shipwrights, smiths, seamen, etc. Many vessels of the 
smaller varieties were built here. Capt. Nicholas Manning 
forged anchors of not less than one hundred pounds in weight 
and Capt. Manasseh Marston and Jonathan Felt were also anchor- 
smiths and had their shops here. Samuel King was a blockmaker. 
This section of territory was granted by the town to John Sweet 
very early, and from him the title passed to Thomas Ruck and his 
children and grandchildren and the locality was called “Ruck’s 
\ illage. Later, the Bacons came and lived here and added their 
efioi ts foi the building of vessels. So much business was done 
here that the sound of the mallets was almost incessant and the 
place became known as Knockers’ hole. The creek was filled 
about 1829.. The western end of Creek Street was laid out, four¬ 
teen feet wide, as a lane to the landing place at the head of the 
creek, in 1692. The western end of Gedney Court was laid out, by 
the two adjoining owners, to Col. Bartholmew Gedney’s building 
place in 1760, and the High Street end in 1796. 
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Jacques (James) Pepin was a merchant of Rochelle, France, 
where his father was an elder in the Protestant Church, and he 
made voyages to Salem. April 25, 1661, he was. one of five Jo 
petition "the general court to become inhabitants of this juris¬ 
diction. PI is petition was allowed, but without the right to trade 
here.1 “Monsieur Pipen” had a house in Salem in which he lived.2 
In January, 1672-3, he brought a French woman here in his vessel, 
and the selectmen ordered him to take her aboard his ship again. 
This was done by Constable John Williams.3 In August, 1661, 
“Mounsier Pepine” and Joshua Scottow had been at Salem in 
Pepin’s ship, which, with its cargo, Pepin had sold to William 
Browne, George Corwin, Joshua Scottow and Walter Price, and 
the new owners appointed Scottow their attorney to take control 
of the vessel and cargo, but some days later he relinquished his 

authority under the power.4 
London merchants contended that England was the magazine 

of European goods, and, according to law, the colonists here had 
no right to procure their goods 'elsewhere. At this time, New 
England merchants traded with European ports and invited the 
people with whom they traded to trade with them, in turn. The 
merchants of England, therefore, in 1675, petitioned their govern¬ 
ment that New England might be compelled to conform thereto. 
The world traded here without any export tax, and with a tax on 
imports. Edward Randolph came to Massachusetts, with author¬ 
ity to act as' inspector of customs, and also a commission to em¬ 
power the council and others, among whom was George Curwin, 
to administer oath to Governor Leverett, whereby he should obli¬ 
gate himself to execute the Royal Act of trade. The governoi de¬ 
clined to take the oath. Thus, our people refused thus early to 
play into the hands of England. Randolph charged om govern¬ 
ment with refusing to obey the royal order for him to be collector 
of customs. Under subsequent dates, Randolph complained to the 
Lords of Trade of commercial transactions in Salem. 

In 1663, Hilliard Veren was elected by the general court as 
collector of the ports of Salem, Marblehead and Gloucester, John 
Croade having been first chosen by the deputies, Oct. 28, 1663, 
but the assistants did not concur with them. May 20 1668, the 
general court chose Edmond Batter and Henry Baitholmew to 
collect duties at the Salem port. They were ordered to repair to 
the warehouses, etc., where any foreign goods were placed on 
sale in any of the harbors. Upon complaint to them, constab es 
of the town levied upon the goods on which the duty had not been 

Massachusetts Archives, volume Ai55 leaves 7 and 9. 
2Essex Registry of Deeds, book 2, leaf 42. 
3Salem Town Records, volume II, page 154. 
Massachusetts Archives, volume 60, leaf 132. 
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paid. The rate was at that time one penny per pound. The com¬ 
missioners who had charge of the collection of the duties were 
ordered to meet at Salem on the first sixth day of each month.1 
Among the protestants against imposts in Salem were Abraham 
Cole and John Cole. Mr. Veren was the collector in 1679, and he 
was succeeded by William Bowditch, who died suddenly Oct. 12, 
1681. Feb. 15, 1681-2, Benjamin Gerrish was appointed to suc¬ 
ceed him. He was probably suspended during the Andros regime, 
when Thomas Offiey was collector. In 1687, Thomas Dyer was 
surveyor. April 15, 1689, William Brown was appointed, under 
Andros, “chief officer of the customs at Salem.” The Revolution 
occurred on the eighteenth, and Benjamin Gerrish was elected to 
succeed Brown on the twenty-fourth. 

There was no known custom house in the early days in Salem. 
The records were probably kept and the duties paid at the house 
of the collector. 

keb. 7, 1683, it was ordered that Marblehead, Beverly, 
Gloucester, Ipswich, Rowley, Newbury and Salisbury belonged to 
the Salem port of entry. In 1686, the extent of the port of Salem 
was somewhat modified. 

wharves 

In 1662, the town voted to allow wharves to be built around 
Burying point; and, in 1681, William Brown, jr., and other mer¬ 
chants were permitted to have wharves on the cove which lay be¬ 

tween Burying point and the foot of Norman Street and which 
ran up near Town House Square. One condition of the privilege 
was, that the town “have wharfage free there.” 

Dec. 23, 1661, the town gave liberty for shops to be built be¬ 
low the bank between the burying ground at the Burying point 
and South River, and gave authority to the selectmen to carry out 
the purpose. Before spring, however, it was considered as a com¬ 
mercial center; and at a town meeting, May 5, 1662, Abraham 
C ole, Zebulon Hill, William Lake and Samuel Williams were each 
granted a twenty-four feet strip from the water to the burialplace, 
Henry Bartholmew, Mr. Price, John Brown (son of Mr. William 
Browne) and Edmond Batter were each granted strips thirty-five 
feet wide, to build warehouses on, and Major Hathorne/john 
Porter and John Gidney were each granted strips of thirty-five 
feet in width. There were lands laid out at the burying point: 
To Abraham Cole next Natha: Pitman at the head of the Cove. 

24 foot To Henry Bartholmew next to Abra: Cole 40 foot To 
Mr. John Browne, the ruling Elder—35 foot To Mr. Price: 35 
foot To Zebulon Hill: for a shop: 24 foot To William Lake 24 

Massachusetts Archives, volume 60, leaf 38. 
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foot To Sam: Williams 24 foot To Mr. Batter 35 foot To Jo: 
Brown Mr. William Browne’s son 35 foot To Jo: Gednv 35 
foot. To Sam: Gardner and his brother Joseph: 70 foot To 
Serg. Porter: 35 foot To Major Hathorne 35 foot.” It was 
“ordered that all the bigger lots that are for warehouses shall 
leave a sufficient way of ten foot broad between their houses and 
the bank and the lesser that are for shops shall leave a sufficient 
way of ten foot broad before their houses or shops.” 

Examination of the titles to these lots, from the present time 
back to the time the grants were made, show that the layouts were 
as shown on the accompanying plan. The original owners of the 
lots were found to be as follows: 1. Alexandei Cole, 2. Henry 
Bartholmew; 3. John Browne, ruling elder; 4* Mn Pi ice, 5* 
Zebulon Hill; 6. William Lake; 7. Samuel Williams; 8. Ed¬ 
mund Batter; 9. John Browne;' 10. JohnGedney; 11. Samuel 
Gardner; 12. Joseph Gardner; 13- John Poitei , 14- William 

Hathorne. , ... 
March 3, 1661-2, the town “ordered that the selectmen with 

those masters of vessels that are then in town to join with them 
to advise with such as have land granted at the burying point how 
that may accomodate them so as that there may be a place le t 
for craving of vessels and that all further proceeding be suspenc - 
ed until this be done.” Three days later, the selectmen ordered 

that “those three shops”1 laid out together. 
Dec. 23, 1661, the town gave liberty for shops to be built be¬ 

low the bank between the burying ground at the burying point 
and South River, and gave authority to the selectmen to carry 
out the purpose. Before spring, however, it was considered as a 
commercial center; and at a town meeting, May 5, 1662, Abraham 
Cole Zebulon Hill, William Lake and Samuel Williams were each 
granted a twenty-four feet strip from the water to theJ buna p ace, 
Henry Bartholmew, Mr. Price, John Brown (son of Mr William 
Browne and Edmond Batter were each granted strips thirty-five 
feet wide, to build warehouses on, and Major Hathorne Join 
Porter and John Gedney were each granted strips of thirty-five 
feet in width. There were lands laid out at the burying point: 
“To Abraham Cole next Natha: Pitnam at the heads of the Gone 
24 foote To Henry Bartholmew next to Abra: Cole: 40 foote 

To mr John Browne the rulinge Elder—35 foote T° ™ ^ • 
We To Zebulon Hill: for a fhopp: 24 foote lo \\ llham 

Lake 24 foote To Sam : Williams 24 foote To nTEattar 35 foote 
To To • Brown mr William Brownes son 35 foote To m Jo . we y 

foote To Sam: GardiV and his brother Jofeph: 7° foote To 

ferg Porter: 35 foote To maio1 Hathorne 35 ioote. 

Mole’s, Hill’s and Lake s. 
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ordered that all the bigger lotts that are for ware houfes fhall 
leaue a lufficyent way of ten foote broode between their houfes 
and the banke and the lefser lotts that are for ihopps fhall leaue 
a iufhc\ent way of ten foote brode before theyer houfes or 
fhopps.” 

GRANTS AT BURYING POINT 

March 3 1661-2, the town ‘"ordered that the select men with 
io e malt of yefsells that are then in towne to joyne with them 

to advife with fuch as haue lande granted at the buryings poynt 
how thet may acomodate them foe as that there may be a place 
leit for graumge of vefsells and that all further proceedinge be 
fufpended vntill this be Done” Three days’ later, the selectmen 
oi dered that thofe 3 shopps1 laide out together are so to wharf 
as that they leaue sufficient room before their wharves for grav- 
mge of vessels those that have ground laid out for warehouses 
lave liberty to wharf so low as they please and it is further order¬ 
ed that it sha 1 be in the liberty of any person inhabitant or 
stranger to land at any of those wharves and also to moor or fasten 

y]S boat ®klff or other vessel at any wharf provided it is not in the 
lbeity of any person to land any goods whatever at any wharf 

unless the^owner of the goods doe first agree with the owner of 

’Cole’s, Hill’s and Lake’s. 
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Front Street at this time followed the high-water mark, and 
soon had so many wharves along its water front that it was known 
as Wharf Street. The wharves, in that direction, were soon ex¬ 
tended to Creek Street, and then up Creek Street nearly to Sum¬ 
mer Street. The town landing was on the southwesterly corner of 
what are now Lafayette and Front streets. 

The following is a list of known wharves of this period. The 
numbers after the name of each wharf’s or warehouse’s name is 
that of each wharf or warehouse as shown on the accompanying 

map. . « 
Hollingworth Wharf jH). At the foot of English Street, on 

the easterly side, was Hollingworth wharf, on which was a ware¬ 
house as earlv as 1661. This was in front of the ancient Blue 
Anchor Tavern, and was the property of Mrs. Ftollingworth, 
widow of William Hollingworth, who was lost at sea in 1677. He 
had owned the property as early as 1661. Mrs. Hollingworth 
conveyed the estate to her daughter Mary, wife of Philip English 
Feb. 17, 1684-5. Mrs. English died in 1694* arM the title descend¬ 
ed to her son Philip English, who conveyed it to Richard Derby 
Feb. 24, 1748. The wharf and warehouse were then in use. 

Pinson Wharf (2). On the westerly side of and at the foot of 
English Street was a wharf owned by "William Pinson, a fishei- 
man, as early as 1686. He conveyed the property to John Carter, 
who was, also, a fisherman, in the same year. 

Bechet Shipyard and Wharf (3)- In front of the o d Becket 
house was the shipyard of the famous builders of vessels ot that 

name from the early days to about 1816. , 
Bridges Wharf (4)- Next westerly of the Becket shipyard 

was a wharf built by Edmund Bridges in 1680. He was a black- 
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smith, and conveyed one-half of the wharf to his son Edmund, 
who died June 24, 1682. The entire property was sold to widow 
Elizabeth Turner in that year. Before Oct. 28, 1699, the title had 
passed to John Turner, merchant, and at that date he conveyed 
the property to William Beckett, who owned and occupied the ad¬ 
joining shipyard; and, Nov. 1, 1699, Mr. Becket conveyed the 
estate to Abraham Purchase, a blacksmith. Mr. Purchase died in 
or before 1724, and the estate was divided in 1735, the wharf and 
old house being assigned to his widow Ruth Purchase. 

Turner Wharf and Warehouse (5). John Turner, a mariner, 
built a wharf and two warehouses on his home lot about 1670, and 
died possessed of them Oct. 9, 1680. The estate descended to his 
son John Turner, a merchant, who died in 1692, possessed of the 
wharf and warehouse. 

Higginson Wharf and Warehouse (6). This wharf and 
warehouse were built by John Higginson and Thomas Gardner in 
the spring of 1687. They divided the warehouse, June 6, 1687, 
Higginson had the northern end and Gardner the southern, and 
fifty feet of the wharf was to continue in common between them. 
Lieutenant Gardner died Nov. 16, 1695, and the administrator of 
his estate conveyed his portion of the wharf and warehouse to 
Capt Benjamin Allen, a mariner, Sept. 3, 1697. Mr. Higginson 
died in 1719, and the. executor of his will sold his portion to Capt. 
Peter Osgood, who lived where the Salem Hospital was formerly 
located on Charter Street, in 1722. 

Moore Wharf and Warehouse (7). This wharf and ware¬ 
house belonged to Capt. Richard Moore as early as 1659, and he 
conveyed it to John Higginson, jr., a merchant, Oct. 29, 1687. 
Mr. Higginson died in 1719; and the executor of his will conveyed 
it to Capt. Peter Osgood Feb. 26, 1721-2. 

Bowditch Wharf and Warehouse (8). This wharf was pro¬ 
bably built by William Bowditch, a merchant, in 1676; and he, also, 
erected a warehouse thereon. He had a brewhouse on the wharf, 
when he conveyed the property to Philip Cromwell Aug. 26, 1680. 
Mr. Cromwell died Miarch 30, 1693, and the estate descended to 
his son John Cromwell, who died, possessed of it, Sept. 30, 1700. 
The wharf and warehouse were still there, but the latter was then 
called old The warehouse then had a leanto, which was usual. 

Bartholmew Wharf and Warehouse (9). This wharf and 
warehouse were built by Henry Bartholmew in 1662. He re¬ 
moved to Boston before Feb. 7* 1679-80, when he conveyed the 
property to Timothy Lindall, a merchant. Mr. Lindall died Jan. 
6, 1698-9, and the wharf and warehouse were then standing. 

Sanders JJ/harf and Warehouse (10). John Sanders was a 
mariner, and built this wharf and warehouse in 1682. 
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Cole Wharf (n). Alexander Cole apparently built this 
wharf, which was in the ownership and possession of John Pilgrim 
in 1708. 

Hill Wharf (12). This wharf was built by John Hill, a 
cooper, in 1686. He died in the spring of 1691, having devised it 
in his will to his wife Priscilla, who conveyed it to Philip Hill, a 
cooper, Nov. 22, 1692. Mr. Hill owned it in 1700. 

Tozvn Wharf (13). William Browne was granted an interest 
in this wharf by the town Aug. 29, 1681; and died possessed of it 
Jan. 20, 1687-7, when it descended to his son Benjamin 

Browne. 
Corwin Warehouse (14). George Corwin had a warehouse 

as early as 1662; and this one in 1668. He called it the upper 
warehouse, and it measured 44J4 x i8j4 feet, Jan. 3, 1684-5, 
when he died. It occupied the rear portion of what is now Hale’s 
Block. The heirs of Mr. Corwin conveyed it to his daughter 
Mrs. Susanna Lyde Dec. 1, 1701. 

Cole Wharf (15). John Cole built this wharf in 1662; and 
he conveyed it to Robert Wilkes, a shipwright, Feb. 22, 1675-^* 
Air. Wilkes was taken sick on a voyage from Bristol to New Eng¬ 
land in the summer of 1677, and died on the way, having devised 
this property to his niece Mrs. Mary Woodbury, who conveyed it 
to Deliverance Parkman Feb. 19, 1693-4. He died in 1715» 
possessed of the wharf and warehouse. 

Batter Warehouses (16). These two warehouses of Edmond 
Batter stood on the easterly side of Washington Street and north¬ 
ern side of Front Street, the westerly half of each of them stand¬ 
ing in what is now Washington Street. The upper warehouse 
was gone before 1700, and the other was then standing. 

Corwin Wharf (17). This was George Corwin’s wjiarf. 
There was a dock and wharf fifty feet in length there April 24, 
1695, when the administrator of the estate of George Corwin con¬ 
veyed them to James Gillingham, and he sold the piopeity to Ed¬ 

mond Batter Oct. 18, 1695. 
Price Wharf and Warehouse (18). 

owned this wharf and warehouse. 
Corwin Wharf and Warehouse (19). 

and warehouse was located at the northern entrance to the stone 
railroad station. The warehouse was of two stories in height; and 
George Corwin conveyed one divided half of the whaif and ware 
house to Robert Kitchen in or before 1689, and the other half to 

Capt. Walter Price 

In 1668, this wharf 

Roger Derby, a shopkeeper, July 13, 1689. 
Tawley Wharf and Warehouse (20). This wharf had a 

warehouse back of it, and, in 1680, it belonged to John Tawley, a 

mariner, who died in 1690. 
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Marston Wharf (21): This wharf belonged to Benjamin 
Marston, and its western end was included in what is now Mill 
Street. 

Ruck Wharf and Warehouse (22). The Rucks carried on 
shipbuilding where Mill Street now runs, and had their wharf and 
warehouse here. They owned the property as late as 1702. 

Felt Wharf (23). This wharf was probably built for the use 
of Jonathan Felt, an anchor smith, who had come from Falmouth. 
His smith’s shop was adjoining the wharf. The land was a por¬ 
tion of the large Ruck estate and owned by Thomas Ruck of Bos¬ 
ton and then by his son John Ruck, who let it to Mr. Felt. 

Lambert Shipyard (24). This was the shipyard of Daniel 
Lambert from 1686 for about ten years, when he died. 

Rix Wharf (25). This wharf was built by James Rix, a car¬ 
penter, in 1685, and he became a shipwright. He removed to 
Preston, Conn., in 1703, and conveyed the estate to Ebenezer 
Lambert, a shipwright, June 12, 1705. 

Marston Wharf (26). Capt. Manasseh Marston was a black¬ 
smith and bought this lot of land Jan. 7, 1669. He died in 1704; 
and the estate came into the hands of Charles King, who conveyed 
it to James King, a blockmaker, Oct. 10, 1761. 

Gedney Wharf (27). This was the property of Eleazer Ged- 
ney in 1665, and he built vessels here, launching them near this 
wharf, which was called “the Lower wharf.” He died April 29. 
1683, and his widow and administrator of his estate conveyed it to 
his eldest son Eleazer Gedney Oct. 23, 1690. 

The location of ancient wharves and landings are very difficult 
of determination, as they were of a transitory nature and situated 
upon worthless flats and unowned water. This was especially true 
in the early days. Besides those wharves and warehouses above 
mentioned were others here whose location is unknown to the 
writer. William Browne and Edmond Batter had a warehouse 
as early as 1662, and Joseph Grafton, jr., and Nathaniel Grafton 
had warehouses at the time of their decease in 1671. Capt. Walter 
Price had a warehouse in the town at his death, in 1674. which 
was valued at forty-five pounds. Richard Prince, sr., had one 
when he died in 1675. 

VESSELS 

Now, as to the vessels themselves. They were very small, 
and most of them were the two-masted ketches. These strong 
and firm vessels rode out wind and wave, though tossed about in 
both storm and pleasant weather. 

An agreement for the construction of a ship, made with Wil¬ 
liam Stevens, who was formerly a shipbuilder in Salem, but then 
of Gloucester, with John Browne, on behalf of himself and 



COMMERCE 359 

Nicholas Balhach and John Balhach, all then of Jersey, merchants, 
dated June 6, 1661, shows something of the size and construction 
of vessels at this early period of our commerce. Mr. Stevens 
agreed to build a new ship of sixty-eight feet in length by the keel 
and twenty-three feet broad from outside to outside, to be nine 
and one-half feet high in the hold under the beam, with two decks, 
forecastle, quarter-deck and round house, the deck from the main 
mast to the forecastle to be five feet high, with a fall at the fore¬ 
castle of fifteen inches, and a raise at the main mast to the quarter¬ 
deck of six inches, the great cabin to be six feet high, Stevens was 
to find timber, plank, trunnells, pitch, tar and oakum, and the hull 
was to be finished and the vessel launched by the last of July, 1662. 
“Said Browne and Company” were to find all iron work, carved 
work and joiner’s work in due time, and were to pay said Stevens 
three pounds and five shillings per ton of the said ship’s burthen, 
—that is, fifty pounds in goods at Mr. Brown’s, Mr. Corwin’s or 
Mr. Price’s in Salem, one hundred and fifty pounds in Muscovadus 
sugar, at two pence per pound, at Barbadoes and one hundred 
pounds in New English money. As to the charge for building the 
vessel, at that time the ordinary price was four pounds a tun. 

A vessel belonging to Philip English of Salem, Captain 
Bavage, master, was at Cape Sables Sept. 12, 1688. 

The following is a list of the vessels that belonged in Salem, 
with a few connected with Salem, which, for the time, were prac¬ 
tically Salem vessels. This list does not include vessels from other 
ports and trading or otherwise in Salem. 

Abigail. Ship. She sailed from Weymouth, England, June 
20, 1628^ Henry Gauden, master, having been hired by the Massa¬ 
chusetts Bay Company to take over Endecott and some colonists, 
and arrived at Naumkeag Sept. 6, 1628. 

On another voyage, she sailed from Plymouth, England, July 
—, 1635, with Hugh Peter, John Winthrop, jr., Harry Vane and 
others on board, and arrived Aug. 6, 1635. 

Adventure. Ketch. This vessel was owned by William 
Payne of Boston in October, 1657? Stephen Talby, mastei. 1 e 
owner purposed to send it on a voyage to England, on account o 
Simon Bradstreet, on an adventure to London, with sugai con¬ 
signed to Peter Cole of London, merchant, Dec. 17, id57- 

Alligator. Ketch. At the time of his death, in 1652 John 
Hardy owned one-fourth of this vessel, which one-fourth was 
appraised at that time at thirty pounds. This would make the 
value of the vessel one hundred and twenty pounds. 

Ambrose. Ship. This vessel belonged to Gov. Matthew 
Cradock, and was commanded by John Lowell. It sailed f 10m 
Southampton, England, March 22, 1630, and arrived at Salem 

about the middle of June. 
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Arbella. Ship. 350 tuns burthen. For its figurehead, it had 
the effigy of an eagle; and it was originally called the Eagle. The 
name was changed to Arbella, probably because the funds of Lady 
Arbella Johnson, who came to Salem in her, undoubtedly pur¬ 
chased the vessel. She sailed from Southampton, England, Peter 
Milborne, master, March 22, 1630, and arrived in Salem on Mon¬ 
day, June 14th. It carried three hundred passengers. She was 
manned by a crew of fifty-two seamen, and carried twenty-eight 
pieces of ordnance. Governor Winthrop and Maj. William 
Hathorne came in this vessel at that time. The ship sailed from 
Salem to Charlestown about two months later. 

Beginning. Ketch. 24 tuns burthen. At the time of his 
death, in 1674, Capt. Walter Price owned five-eighths of this 
vessel, which five-eighths was appraised at that time at sixty 
pounds, that is, at a valuation of ninety-six pounds for the whole. 

Betty. Ketch. 26 tuns burthen. William Bowditch of Sa¬ 
lem, a merchant, conveyed this vessel to Philip Cromwell of Salem 
Nov. 20, 1679. The vessel was commanded by Pasco Foot, and was 
then at sea. 

Betty. Lighter. John Dodge of Salem sold to John Roberts 
of Gloucester, boatman, three-eights of this shallop Nov. 10, 1677. 

Blessing. Ship. The vessel belonged in London, England, 
was owned by James Reed and Thomas Carrick, and commanded 
by Thomas Carrick. Edward Prescott, freighter of the ship, 
agreed to lade and dispatch the vessel out of New England by 
July 1, 1652, to carry goods for William Browne, George Corwin 
and Walter Price, merchants, of Salem, but the ship was not 
rigged nor graved, nor ready to receive the cargo, for Barbadoes. 
Her bows were weak and leaky and the sails insufficient. 

Blessing. Ketch. In this vessel, Job Hillard was in Mary¬ 
land in 1669, with a cargo of tobacco. 

John Blackleach and Richard Lord were partners in an ad¬ 
venture of fish, bought in Salem, or elsewhere, for the full lading 
of this vessel, Nov. 21, 1672. The voyage was to be first to Bilboa, 
then to France, etc. 

Benjamin Ganson was master of this vessel in 1677, when he 
brought wines from Madeira, for its owner, Capt. John Corwin.. 

Blossom. Ketch. 35 tuns burthen. At the time of his death, 
in 1680, John Turner owned this vessel, which was then appraised 
at one hundred and seventy pounds. It carried a crew of five 
men, and was commanded by William Pride in 1699. 

Bonetta. Ketch. 25 tuns burthen. It carried a crew of five 
men, and was commanded by Martin Masury in 1699. 

Charles. Ship. This vessel sailed from Southampton, Eng¬ 
land, for Naumkeag, after March 22, 1630, and anchored at Sa¬ 
lem July 5th. 
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Coach. Pinnace. On her course to New Haven, this vessel 
sprang a leak in our bay. The seamen and passengers took to 
the skiff, which was too small to accommodate them, when the 
wind was nearly a gale, but John Jackson, who seems to have been 
in command, remained, and prevailed on them to return on board 
and endeavor to stop the leak and get her into port. They did so, 
and finally reached Salem in safety. 

Content. Ketch. 38 tuns burthen. April 1, 1682, this was 
a new vessel, and, at that time, Bartholmew Gedney, Esq., of.Sa¬ 
lem, for one hundred and seventy-one pounds, sixteen shillings 
and ten pence, conveyed to John Tawley of Salem, mariner, one- 
half of this vessel, with one-half of its masts, sails, anchors, boat, 
etc. This would show that the entire value was three hundred and 
forty-three pounds, thirteen shillings and eight pence. 

Crickett. Ketch. 18 tuns burthen. At the time of his death, 
in 1674, Capt. Walter Price owned one-half of this vessel, which 
was then appraised at twenty-five pounds. This would make the 
entire value of it fifty pounds. 

Daniel and Elizabeth. Ship. 200 tuns burthen. Daniel 
Jeanverin of the Island of Jersey, now resident in New England, 
conveyed to Thomas Mudgett of Salisbury, New England, ship¬ 
wright, for two hundred pounds sterling, one-eighth of this vessel, 
which then belonged in Jersey, and then riding at anchor in the 
harbor of Salem, with one-eighth of her masts, sails, yards, 
anchors, cables, boat, etc., Oct. 20, 1681. The consideration for 
this one-eighth would make the entire value of the vessel sixteen 
hundred pounds sterling. # 

Desire. Ship. 120 tuns burthen. This vessel .was buut^ at 
Marblehead in the summer of 1636. It was fitted with three fal¬ 
cons and one falconet, of the weight of three thousand, eight htm_ 
dred and seventy pounds, taken from the bark Warwick. The 
commander was Capt. William Peirse. 

In the summer of 1637, Captain Peirse went on.a cruise to 
the West Indies, with a cargo of dry fish and strong liquors. He 
made Providence Isle. The return cargo consisted of cotton, to¬ 
bacco, negroes, etc., from Providence, and.salt from Toituga. 

In the summer of 1640, she made a trip from. Marblehead to 
England, arriving at Gravesend, in the Thames, in twenty-t ree 

davs. i - z c. 
She also made a trip to England m the spring of 1041. 
Diligence. Ketch. 20 tuns burthen. It carried a crew ol 

six men, and was commanded by Gamaliel Hawkins Dec. 14, 1088, 
when it received a pass from Governor Andros to go on a voyage 

to Antigua. 
Sept. 17, 1689, when it was commanded by Gilbert Deters it 

was taken by two French frigates. See Thomas and Mary. 
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Dolphin. Ship. 100 tuns burthen. Sept. 14. 1685, William 
Browne, sr., and William Browne, jr., merchants, for themselves 
and the other owners of this good ship or pink called ye Dolphin 
of Salem, Alexander Cole of Salem, master, now riding in the 
port of Boston, let it to Thomas Pilgrim, Edward Hunt and Toseph 
Grove of the Island of Barbadoes, merchants, freighters, for 
twelve months certain and three months uncertain, for a vovage 
from Boston to the Island of Barbadoes and from thence to Vir¬ 
ginia and from thence to England, Ireland or Holland, or from 
Virginia to ye Island of Madeira and so to Barbadoes and from 
thence to Boston, for twenty-five pounds in current money of New 
England per month, from Aug. 20, 1685, when this charter party 
commenced. 

Dolphin. Ketch. John Ruck hired three-fourths of this 
vessel of James Underwood of Salem, and William Hollingworth 
claimed to own it in June, 1655.1 

James Underwood and Alexander Seares, owner and master 
of this vessel, agreed with Thomas Stegge, hirer of it, to sufficient- 
13 fit out and man it with all expedition for the use of said Stegge 
for four months certain or six months uncertain. Sept. 2, 16q8, in 
Boston. Stegge agreed to pay for the use of the vessel and men’s 
wages, etc., eighteen pounds and ten shillings per month in “the 
Manhattas,” and the vessel was to trade between Virginia and 
“Manhattoes”. 

This vessel sailed from Boston to Thomas Woodbury’s point, 
in Beverly, in 1677, with a parcel of sail for Richard Stackhouse. 

Sept. 18, 1689, the vessel, then commanded by Isaac Wood¬ 
bury of Salem, was taken by two French frigates. See Thomas 
and Mary. 

Dove. Ketch. 40 tuns burthen. Nathaniel Grafton of Sa¬ 
lem owned one-eighth of this ketch, which was appraised at fifty 
pounds at the time of Mr. Grafton's death, in 1671. The whole 
value, therefore, was four hundred pounds. 

This vessel was called a pink March 27, 1689, when the gov^ 
ernor gave a pass for it to go to Barbadoes, under the command 
of Zebulon Hill, and with a crew of six men. 

Elizabeth and Margaret. Ship. This ship was “lately” built 
by John Becket (May 4, 1671). It was owned by John Corwin 
and partners, and commanded b)r John Browne, jr., at that time. 

Endeavor. Bark. This vessel was of Salem, and was com¬ 
manded by Joseph Grafton on a vovage to the Isle of Sables in 
1641. 

Endeavor^ Ketch. 30 tuns burthen. This vessel was owned 
by William Hirst, and went on a fishing trip in 1682. It was 

See Records and Files of the Quarterly Courts of Essex, volume I 
page 391. 
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commanded by Stephen Daniell. They sailed from Winter Island, 
and took two barrels of bait mackerel, two barrels of pork, five 
bushels of peas, eighty-eight pounds of butter, one gallon of vine¬ 
gar, one pound of pepper, a cord of wood, etc. The men shipped 
on shares, which was the ordinary way. 

In 1699, she again was given a pass on a fishing voyage. She 
was then commanded by Thomas Mascoll, with a crew of five. 

Flower. Ketch. John Hardy of Salem bequeathed one- 
eighth of this vessel, in his will, to his son Joseph Hardy March 

30, 1652. 
Four Sisters. Ship. 30 tuns burthen. This vessel sailed 

from Gravesend, England, for Naumkeag, June 3, 1629. It be¬ 
longed in London, and was a “fair ship.” It was commanded by 
Roger Harmon ; and brought passengers, cattle and provision. 

Frances and Elisabeth. Ketch. Mark Hascall hired (owner 
of?) one-half of this vessel for thirty months; and he was sued by 
Henry Russell (owner of one-half?) for one-eighth of the hire or 

profit of it, Nov. 26, 1661, in Salem court. 
Frances and Mary. Ketch. 31 tuns burthen. . This vessel 

belonged in Salem, where she was riding at anchor in the South 
River, by the wharf of David Phippen of Salem, shipwright, who 
had (May 17, 1679) “lately built and launched” it. Its hull, fin¬ 
ished and fitted for the sea, with all carpenter work, boat, masts 
and yards, Phippen conveyed, for one hundred and twenty-five 
pounds sterling, to Robert Hodg, mariner, Nehemiah Willoughby, 
merchant, Eleazer Gedney, shipwright, • and Francis Skeiry, si 

of Salem, May 17, 1679. . 
Fraternity. Ketch. John Turner of Salem owned one-eighth 

of this vessel, which was valued at his death, in 1680, at forty 
pounds. The value of the whole at that rate would have been 
three hundred and twenty pounds. The commander of it, March 
16 1681-2, was Deliverance Parkman of Salem. 

Friendship. Ship. 130 tuns burthen. Early in August, 
1674, this vessel, which belonged in Salem, was out ot New ng 
land. It was built in Salem, and carried six guns. 

April 2, 1687, Governor Andros gave it a pass to go on a 
voyage to London. It was then commanded by John Ware. 

Friendship. Ketch. 36 tuns burthen. Walter Price ot Sa¬ 
lem owned this vessel at the time of his death, in r674, having 
bequeathed one-third of it in his will to his son John lice a 
part of what was promised to him upon his mamage. - 1(~ 
time of Walter Price's death, in 1674, the ketch was appraised at 
one hundred and sixty pounds. Mr. Price bequeathed the residue 
of his estate to his wife Elizabeth for her life and then to Ins son 
William Price, if she think meet, “according as he shall behave 

himself.” 
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John Turner of Salem owned one-fourth of this ketch when 
he died in 1680, which was then appraised at sixty-five pounds, or 
two hundred and sixty pounds for the whole. 

April 1, 1683, the ketch Friendship, Richard Ingersoll, master, 
on his return from a voyage to “Saltatudos,;” was cast away on 
Cape Cod, and his brother Nathaniel Ingersoll, one of the crew, 
perished. 

George Bonaventure. Ship. 300 tuns burthen. This vessel 
was hired by the Massachusetts Bay Company to transport colon¬ 
ists to Naumkeag, in 1628-9, and came to Naumkeag in the follow¬ 
ing summer. It was a strong vessel, and carried twenty pieces of 
ordnance. It was manned by about thirty mariners, and com¬ 
manded by Thomas Cox. Rev. Samuel Skelton and his family 
came on this voyage, sailing from England about the middle of 
April and from the Isle of Wight May 4th, and being anchored at 
Naumkeag June 22d. The George returned to England by way 
of Newfoundland. The charter and seal of the Massachusetts 
Bay Colony were brought in this vessel on this voyage by Samuel 
Sharp. ' ' 

Gift. Ketch. John Hardy of Salem, in his will, dated March 
30, 1652, gave one-fourth of his “new ketch” The Gift, to his son 
Joseph Hardy. In the inventory of his estate his three-fourths of 
the ketch was appraised at sixty pounds. This would make eighty 
pounds the value of the whole vessel. In his will, Mr. Hardy 
gave the residue of his estate to his wife Elizabeth. She died in 
the autumn of 1654* having given in her will, which was declared 
invalid, one-half of the ketch Gift to her son Joseph Hardinge. 

Hannah. Ketch. 35 tuns burthen. The governor issued a 
pass for her to go on a voyage to Fayal and Barbadoes in 1686. 
She then carried six men, and was commanded by John Ingersoll. 

Hannah and Elizabeth. Ship. Nov. 18, 1679 this vessel ar¬ 
rived from Dartmouth with forty-seven passengers. 

Hope. Ketch. 70 tuns burthen. Richard Hollingworth of 
Salem, mariner, conveyed to David Morgan of the Isle of Bar¬ 
badoes, merchant, one-eighth of this vessel, which was then rid¬ 
ing at anchor in the harbor of Salem, together with one-eighth 
of her masts, yards, sails, anchors, cables, tackle, boat and other 
furniture, Oct. 20, 1668. 

Oct. 10, 1670, Edmund Henfield was its master on a vovage 
to Virginia. 

This was undoubtedly the same vessel, Edmund Henfield, 
master, which, April 20, 1681, picked up a boat with Captain An¬ 
drew and six of his crew, one hundred and fifty leagues from Cape 
Cod. These persons, so rescued, belonged to a Dublin ship, bound 
to \ irginia. She had sunk on the eighteenth, with sixteen men 
and three women passengers, who perished. 
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Hope. Ketch. 27 tuns burthen. Capt. Walter Price of Sa¬ 
lem owned one-half of this vessel at his decease, in 1674, when it 
was appraised at sixty pounds, that is, one hundred and twenty 
pounds for the whole. 

Hopeivell. Ketch. 30 tuns burthen. Richard Rayment of 
Salem, mariner, conveyed to Walter Price of Salem, merchant, 
one-fourth of this vessel, which belonged to Salem, now riding at 
anchor in the harbor of Boston, with one-fourth of her masts, 
yards, sails, anchors, cables, tackde, boat and furniture, warranted 
“one whole year and a day next after the date hereof, according 
to the laws of Oleron, perils of the seas and enemies only except¬ 
ed,” Aug. 27, 1660. Captain Price conveyed this interest in the 
vessel to John Gedney, sr., and John Gedney, jr., in 1661-2. 

Industry. Ketch. 45 tuns burthen. The governor gave a 
pass for her to take a voyage to St. Christophers, Nov. 18, 1687. 
She was commanded by Lewis Hunt, and carried a crew of six 
men. 

Mary Batter of Salem, for ninety-five pounds, conveyed one- 
half of this vessel to Nathaniel Dummer of Southton, England, 
mercer, with one-half of her tackle and apparel, Jan. 5, 1688-9. 
She was then commanded by Captain Hunt. 

James Bonaventure. Ketch. 30 tuns burthen. She received 
a pass from the governor to go on a voyage to Barbadoes March 
30, 1689. She was then commanded by Philip Prance, and car¬ 
ried a crew of five men. 

Jezvell. Ship. This ship sailed from Southampton, England, 
for Salem March 22, 1630, Nicholas Hurlston, master. It was 
the property of Matthew Cradock. It arrived in Salem in June. 

John. Ship. 20 tuns burthen. John Chadeyne, Peter Aron- 
das and Peter Roles, mariners, came from France to Dublin, Ire¬ 
land, by reason of the persecution, and were admitted inhabitants 
and citizens of Dublin, July 6, 1682. They came in this vessel, 
which was foreign built, but no foreigner then had any interest in 
it. It was registered in Dublin and was reputed a ship belonging 
to Dublin, July 17, 1684. Peter Bowdouin, was a denizen of Dub¬ 
lin, being a Protestant stranger at the latter date. Bowdouin was 
a merchant, and May 6, 1686, he had laded this ship, Alic Lam¬ 
bert, master, for a voyage to Pennsylvania, with nineteen barrels 
of beef, two tuns of ship beer, two hundred pounds of butter, two 
hundred pounds of cheese, fifty pounds of candles, one barrel of 
peas, one barrel of beans, two thousand pounds of bread and forty 
yards of frieze, his majesty’s duties having been paid. During the 
summer, Mr. Bowdouin became the owner of three-fourths of the 
vessel, and, for forty pounds, conveyed his three-fourths and the 
one-fourth which belonged to said John Chadwine, for whom 
Bowdouin acted as attorney to make the transfer, they being both 
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late of the City of Wexford, Ireland, but then of Salem, to Capt. 
John Price, John Ruck, Lt. Thomas Gardner and Charles Redford, 
all of Salem, merchants, equally, this barque or small ship, called 
the John, lately of Dublin, Ireland, and there recorded, together 
with her hull, masts, sails, rigging, anchors, etc., Nov. 2, 1686.1 

John and Elisa. Ketch. This vessel was commanded by Ezra 
Lambert Sept. 17, 1689, when she was taken by two French fri¬ 
gates. See Thomas and Mary. 

John and Elisabeth. Pink. This vessel was owned by John 
Ruck and commanded by Joshua Ward, and belonged to Salem. 
Mr. Ward was agent of the owner as well as master, and one of 
the crew was Michael Chappleman of Salem, a fisherman, on a 
voyage to Bilboa of about seven months time, with a cargo of fish. 
Chappleman brought a suit for his services, the writ being dated 
June 18, 1679. He shipped Oct. 10, 1678, and returned May 15, 
1679. 

John and Mary. Sloop. John Neale owned one-eighth of 
this vessel at the time of his death, in 1679, when it was appraised 
at thirty-four pounds, fifteen shillings and ten pence. At this rate 
the whole value of the vessel would be two hundred and seventy- 
eight pounds, six shillings and eight pence. 

John and Thomas. Ketch. At the time of his death, in 1680, 
John Turner of Salem owned this vessel, which was appraised at 
that time one hundred pounds. 

John Adventure. Ship. Bartholmew Gedney of Salem, ship¬ 
wright, conveyed to Capt. Walter Price, John Gedney, sr., John 
Corwin and John Gedney, jr., equally, as joint owners or partners 
therein, the hull of the ship called the John Adventurer, with her 
masts, yards, boat, etc., Sept. 7, 1699. 

Lion. Ship. This ship, commanded by Capt. William 
Pierce, sailed from Bristol, England, and was in the harbor of Sa¬ 
lem when the fleet arrived in the summer of 1630. It sailed again, 
from Bristol, Dec. 1, 1630, with Roger Williams on board, and 
duly arrived at Salem. March 29,-1631, it was at Salem, and 
sailed for England two days later, arriving at London April 29, 
1631. The next year this vessel was cast away near Virginia, but 
Captain Pierce and his men were saved. 

Lion's Whelp. Ship. 120 tuns burthen. This was a well- 
proportioned and fast ship, carrying eight pieces of ordnance. It 
was bought by the Massachusetts Bay Company to go to Naum- 
keag, in 1629, and was commanded by John Gibbs. It sailed from 
Gravesend, England, April 25, 1629, and arrived at Naumkeag 
June 29th. It returned to England, and was waiting to be un¬ 
loaded Sept. 19, 1629. 

"Essex Registry of Deeds, book 7, leaves 90 and 91. 
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Lords Increase. Ship. This ship was afterwards called the 
Recovery, which see. 

Lucy. Ketch. This vessel belonged to John Curwen in 1676; 
and made a fishing voyage, Gilbert Peters, master, in 1677. 

Man-of-War. Ketch. This was the Supply. See page 370. 
Margaret. Ketch. This vessel, commanded by Daniel Gyles, 

was taken by two French frigates Sept. 17, 1689. 
Martha and Mary. Ketch. 58 tuns burthen. Eleazer Ged- 

ney.of Salem, shipwright, conveyed the hull of this new ketch, 
“being built and finished with all builders’ work according to the 
custom of builders in this country,” Nov. 26, 1676. 

Mary. Ketch. 15 tuns burthen. John Browne of Jersey, in 
England, merchant, conveyed to Mordecal Creford of Salem, sea¬ 
man, one-half of this barque or ketch, called the Mary, with one- 
half of her masts, sails, yards, anchors, cables, tackle and furni¬ 
ture, July 4, 1661. 

Mary. Ketch. This fishing vessel, Allen Chard, master, 
when about nine miles from Half-way rock, in Massachusetts Bay, 
was captured by pirates, together with the crew of about five men 
and the cargo, on Friday, Aug. 9, 1689. Oct. 4th following, sloop 
Mary of Boston, Capt. Samuel Pease, master, went in pursuit of 
the pirates, and engaged them immediately in Martyn’s Vineyard 
Sound. Several of Pease’s crew were wounded and the captain 
mortally. The pirates were taken, however. They sailed under a 
red flag.1 The pirates that were taken numbered ten: Thomas 
Hawkins, Thomas Pound and Thomas Johnston, all of Boston, 
mariners, Richard Griffin of Boston, gunsmith, Eleazer Buck, mar¬ 
iner, and John Sickterdam, William Dun, Daniel Lander, Wil¬ 
liam Warren and Samuel Watts. They were all indicted for pi¬ 
racy, and all but the last named were convicted. The indictment 
was as follows: For that, on Friday, Aug. 9, 1689, upon the high 
seas, about three leagues from Half-way rock in Massachusetts 
Bay, upon the ketch Mary of Salem, Hellen Chard, master, and 
upon said master and men, being in number about five of their Ma¬ 
jesty’s liege people, assaulted and as a felon and a pirate with 
guns and swords entered and said ketch with all her appurtenances 
and lading of fish, of the value of sixty pounds, took and carried 
away. The jury found nine of them guilty of piracy, and they 
were sentenced to “be returned to the place from whence they 
came and from thence be carried to the place of execution and 
there be hanged by the neck until they be dead.” The court order¬ 
ed John Green, the marshal-general, to execute them on Monday, 
Jan. 27, 1690. 

Tor an interesting account of the capture of these pirates, see New 
England Historical and Genealogical Register, volume II, page 393. 
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Marx Anne. Ship. Thomas Payne of Salem owned an in¬ 
terest in this vessel, which belonged to Salem, April io, 1638, 
when he made his will, in which he ordered that his interest be 
sold for the payment of his debts. Plis will was proved in July, 
1644. Mr. Payne came to America in the ship Mary Anne of 

Yarmouth, England, in 1637. 
Mayflower. Ship. This vessel was of Yarmouth, England, 

William Pierce, master, and sailed from Gravesend, England, 
June 3, 1629, for Salem. It came again in 1630, arriving at 

Charlestown Harbor July 1st. 
Patient Betty. Ketch. 23 tuns burthen. Capt. Walter Price 

of Salem owned one-half of this vessel at the time of his death, in 
1674, when it was appraised at forty-seven pounds and ten shil¬ 
lings. The value of the entire boat would therefore be ninety-five 

pounds. 
Pelican. Sloop. The governor gave a pass to this sloop to 

go to Pennsylvania June 6, 1687, when it was commanded by 

George Deane. 
Penelope. Ketch. 35 tuns burthen. It was commanded by 

Edward Hilliard, and carried a crew of six men. The governor 
gave it a pass to go on a voyage to St. Christophers Dec. 12, 1687. 

Pink. The Pink of Salem belonged to John Corwine and 
Eleazer Hathorne in 1671, and John Browne was master. David 
Anderson hired the vessel that year. 

Prosperous. Ketch. John Turner owned this vessel at the 
time of his death, in 1680, when it was appraised at one hundred 
and twenty pounds. In the summer of 1682, Philip English was 
about making a fishing voyage in it, with Thomas Jeggles, jr., as 

master. 
Providence. Ship. 140 tuns burthen. Bartholomew Gedney 

of Salem, shipwright, conveyed to Andrew Bonne of the Parish 
of Stepney, Middlesexshire, England, and now resident in Salem, 
mariner, the hull of a new ship, called the Providence of London, 
being built and finished with all carpenter’s work, according to 
the custom of builders in this country, May 13, 1672. Mr. Bonne 
sold three-fourths of the vessel, one-eighth each, for one hundred 
and ninety-seven pounds and eleven shillings for each one-eighth, 
to George Cole, Edward Merriweather, Thomas Burchet, George 
Shaw and Thomas Bodly, all of London, merchants, May 15, 1672, 
and one-eighth to William Antelby of London, merchant, and 
partners, on the next day. 

Providence. Ketch. Sept. 16, 1669, this vessel, which was 
then commanded by Capt. John Grafton, while on a voyage from 
Salem to the West Indies, was cast away on a rock in a dark and 
rainy night. Of the crew of ten, six were drowned, and the 
master, mate and one seaman, who was badly wounded, remained 
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on the rocks until morning. With difficulty, they succeeded in 
reaching an island about half a mile off, where they found another 
of their company. They remained on this island eight days, div¬ 
ing on salt fish and the last four days on cakes made of flour, a 
bushel of flour having washed ashore. Four days after the wreck 
occurred, they found a piece of touchwood, which the mate for¬ 
merly had in his chest, and a piece of flint, with which, having a 
small knife, they struck a fire. They framed a boat with a tarred 
mainsail and some hoops, and then fastened pieces of boards to 
them. In this improvised boat, they sailed thirty miles to Anquilla 
and St. Martin’s, where they were kindly received. Joshua Ward 
was one of the shipwrecked. 

Recovery. Ship. This was formerly called Lord’s Increase. 
In 1658, it was commanded by Augustine Lyndon. John Ruck of 
Boston was the owner of one-fourth of the vessel in 1658, another 
one-quarter was owned by Edward Lassell of Barbadoes and one- 
eighth by William Becks. The ship was ready to set sail for Bar¬ 
badoes in November of that year. 

Return. Ship. Thomas Coddington shipped on board ye 
good ship Return, Adam Westgate, master for this voyage, now 
riding at anchor in Carlisle Bay, bound for Boston, namely, five 
hogsheads of Muscovado sugar, two hogsheads of rum and four 
hogsheads of molasses to be dellivered to Nathaniel Cary (or in 
his absence to Richard Russell), dated in Barbadoes May 18, 1670. 

For account of Niklis Fulgin, Joseph Hardy shipped on board 
the good ship Return, Abraham Lewis, master, now riding at 
anchor in the road of Barbadoes and bound for James River, rum, 
sugar, etc., Nov. 14, 1683; and also on the same day, rum, etc., on 
account of John Waltin. 

Return. Ketch. John Hardy of Salem owned three-fourths 
of this vessel at the time of his death, in 1652, one-half being ap¬ 
praised at thirty pounds, making the value of the whole sixty 
pounds. It was then called an “old catch. In his will, he gave 
one-fourth of it to his son Joseph Hardy, and the remaindei of his 
estate to his wife Elizabeth. 

Sept. 18, 1656, the Return, Henry True, master, was about 
sailing from Barbadoes, being then in Carlisle Bay, bound for 
Boston, with molasses. 

April 5, 1658, she was again at Barbadoes, John Marston, 
master, then in the Bay of Carlisle, bound for Boston, with wine. 
John Archer sailed in this ketch. 

Habakkuk Turner was master of this vessel in 1670 and 1672, 
and in the latter year John Herbert of Salem was mate . 

Stephen Sewall of Salem, merchant, bought of his brother 
Capt. Samuel Sewall of Boston one-half of the ketch Return and 
one-half of her tackling and furniture May 10, 1688. 
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Society. Ketch. John Turner died owning three-eighths of 
this vessel, in 1680, when it was appraised at one hundred and 
fifty pounds. That would be four hundred pounds for the 
whole. 

Speedwell. Ketch. 80 tuns burthen. John Turner of Salem, 
mariner, conveyed to Capt. John Turner of Barbadoes one-fourth 
of the good ketch called the Speedwell of Salem, being newly built 
and riding at anchor in the harbor of Salem, with one-fourth of 
its furnishings, etc., Jan. 9, 1668. 

Speedwell. Pink. One-half of this vessel belonged to John 
Turner at the time of his decease, in 1680, when it was appraised 
at one hundred and fifty pounds. That would be three hundred 
pounds as the value of the whole vessel. 

Dec. 30, 1686, Governor Andros gave a pass for this vessel 
to go on a voyage to Barbadoes. The vessel was then command¬ 
ed by Thomas Beadle. 

Success. Ship. This vessel came to Salem in 1630, arriving 
July 26th. 

Supply. Ketch. This vessel sailed between Salem and New 
York, trading with the Dutch at New York, contrary to orders, 
and Dec. 12, 1673, the council ordered her capture. She was 
seized on the fifteenth and ordered for trial at Boston. 

The next that is heard of her is in 1677, when she appears as 
a man-of-war, being fitted out in Salem for a vessel of war to go 
out against the pirates. She carried forty men, and was com¬ 
manded by Capt. Nicholas Manning. She carried the benediction 
of Rev. John Higginson: “The Lord give them good success.” 
Thirteen guns were allowed upon the vessel. The following 
named persons were paid for this purpose the sums following their 
names. The vessel was fitted out for the use of the country, and 
these expenditures were to be satisfied out of the colonial treasury. 
In 1677, there was paid to John Turner £13, 4s., 4d; William 
Browne, sr., £12, 15s.; Timothy Lindall £9, 14s., id ; John Higgin¬ 
son, jr., £9 ; John Hathorne £6, 15s.; Thomas Gardner, Samuel 
Gardner, Edmond Batter and William Hirst £6, 7s., 6d each; John 
Ruck £5 ; William Browne £4, 19s., 3d ; Capt. William Browne £4, 
ns., 4d; and Capt. John Price £3, os., 4d; in 1678 to Capt. George 
Corwin £12, 15s.; Capt. John Price £11, 7s., £11, i6d, and £3, os., 
6d ; 1 imothy Lindall £8, 11s., 6d; Capt. William Browne £5, 6s.; 
John Ruck £1, 17s., 6d, and £1, 17s., 6d; John Hig ginson, jr., 
£1, 1 os.; March 6, 1678-9, to Capt. John Curwin, for the man-of- 
war and the Eastern poor, £14, 17s.; Captain Price £16; Tohn 
Higginson £4, 4s.; Robert Stone £2, 5s.; and Timothy Lindall 
i6s., 5d; and Robert Stone £2, 5s.; and April 2, 1679, 1° Timothy 
Lindall £8, 11s., 6d.; and Capt. John Ruck £3, os., 6d; making in 
1677 in 1678 £58 and in 1679 ^67, in all about £219. 
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The next year, she appears as a merchant vessel, and Feb. 26, 
1678-9, she was waiting in the harbor of Salem for a fair wind to 
start on a voyage to the Southward. 

Susan. Ketch. Capt. Richard Moore of Salem, mariner, 
owned one-half, at least, of this vessel in 1659. 

Susannah. Ketch. 25 tuns burthen. Dec. 23, 1687, the 
governor gave a pass that she might go on a voyage to Virginia, 
under the command of Peter Brateler, with a crew of six. 

The next year this vessel picked up a boat with three men, 
which was blown out of Cheasapeake Bay March 30, 1687. They 

were brought to Salem. 
Swallow. Ketch. 60 tuns burthen. This vessel was com¬ 

manded by Joseph Hardy, June 9, 1663, when they set sail for 
the northward. Later, she was in the service of the colony, as 
Edward Rawson, the colonial secretary, wrote to the governor 
and council of Connecticut, in March, 1674, that the ketch Swallow 
of Salem, with twelve guns and sixty men, with another vessel 
were ready to sail “to cruise up and down the Sound,” “on the 

service of the colonies.” 
Talbot. Ship. 300 tuns burthen. This ship was strong, with 

nineteen pieces of ordinance and manned by thirty mariners. It 
brought about one hundred planters to Naumkeag in 1629. It 
was under the command of Thomas Beecher, and sailed from 
Gravesend, England, on Saturday, April 25, 1629.1 It had been 
hired bv the Massachusetts Bay Company for this purpose, and 
again the next year it came with the Winthrop fleet and was the 
vice-admiral of the fleet. It sailed down the harbor of South¬ 
ampton March 22, 1629-30, and arrived at Salem, July 2, 1630 . 

Thomas and Marv. Ketch. Off Torbay, near Cansir, this 
vessel, which belonged in Salem, and was commanded by Joshua 
Conant, was taken by three French vessels, two of which were 
frigates and the other a merchantman, Sept. 17, 1689. 

Trial. Ketch. This vessel belonged in Salem, and was com¬ 
manded by Edward Hilliard. A cargo had been placed in the 
vessel, for a voyage to Virginia, Feb. 5, 1667-8. The owners of 
the cargo were Eleazer Hathorne and John Corwin, merchants, 
and it consisted of four mares, with eight hundred weight oi hay 
to feed them on, wine, shoes for men, women and children, women 
and boys’ stockings and a variety of cloth. The following is the 

note of orders given to the master: 

Salem 5th february 1667. 

Mr Edward Hilliard: 
Sr You are to take the first optunity ot wind 

to Savle hence in the Katch Tryall (wherof y 

& weather Conuenient 
are Mast1') and Direct 

"See volume I, pages 110-114, for an account of the voyage. 
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yor Course for Virginia And when it shall please god to send yu thether 
vpon yor first Ariuall Enquir wlt place there is most plenty of Tobb: 
and thether goe to dispose of o° goods aboard, make Sale of or goods for 
redy Tobacco, if it may possibly be pcured make noe Debts, but sell ye 
Cheaper for redy Goods Either Porke or Hyds yu may sell for, if To¬ 
bacco may not be had: if yu should find or goods Low and Tobacco not 
to be got take aduice whether it may not mor: pbably Conduce to or 
pfitt to goe to Roanocke, and if yu should find good Encoradgment you 
may Act as yu shall judge most for or Aduantage make wth Dispatch yu 
possibly can And returne hether to us: Thus wth or prayers for yor 
psperous voyadge we Remaine 

Yor Loueind Friends 
John- Corwin 
Eleazer Hathorne1 

William Hollingworth of Salem, mariner, for two hundred 
pounds, conveyed to Philip Cromwell of Salem the good ketch 
Trial of Salem with all her masts, yards, sails, tackle, blocks, rig¬ 
ging, boat, etc., June 6, 1672. 

Mary Batter, administratrix of the estate of Edmond Batter, 
lately deceased, for sixty-five pounds, conveyed to Nathaniel 
Dumer of Southton, England, one-half of this ketch which the 
deceased bought of John Hubbard of Boston, and one-half of her 
sails, anchors, cables, boat, etc., April 23, 1686. 

Daniel Webb of Salem was master of this vessel in 1678 and 
1679, when he twice sailed from Kingsale, Ireland, to Salem. 

Unity. Ketch. July 29, 1671, this vessel belonged to Eleazer 
Hathorne of Salem, and on that day he let it to freight to Richard 
Wharton of Boston. The ketch, being insufficiently caulked and 
fitted, sprang a leak at sea, and the goods on board were injured 
and some of them lost.2 

Virgin. Ketch 30 tuns burthen. The governor gave a pass 
to this vessel to go on a voyage to Antigua Dec. 14, 1688, w^hen she 
was commanded by John Allen, and carried a crew of four men. 

Visitation. Ship. 100 tuns burthen. This vessel belonged in 
Boston. William Hollingworth of Salem, merchant, hired Zacha- 
riah Gillum, master therof, to carry a cargo of one hundred hogs¬ 
heads of tobacco from the Potomac River, in Maryland, Dec. 20, 
1663, to Plymouth, England, where said ship and master are to 
stay four days at the pleasure of said Hollingworth, for his ad¬ 
vantage for a market, thence to sail to the Island of Jersey and 
to any one port in Holland as said Hollingworth shall decide, the 
ship staying four days at the Island of Jersey. This charter party 
was dated Sept. 10, 1663.s The vessel was then riding at anchor 
in the river of Boston. 

*Files of Salem Quarterly Court, volume XVI, leaf 93. 
JSee Essex Registry of Deeds, book 3, leaf 144. 
8See the charter party, Registry of Deeds, book 2, leaf 72. 
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William. Ketch. This ketch was owned by William Jeggles, 
at the time of his decease, in 1659, which, with its appurtenances, 
was then appraised at fifty pounds. 

William. Ketch. 26 tuns burthen. William Bowditch of 
Salem, merchant, conveyed to Philip Cromwell of Salem this 
vessel, which now lies at said Bowditch’s wharf in Salem, Nov. 
20, 1679. 

William and John. Ship. John Turner owned one-third or 
three-eighths of this vessel at the time of his death, in 1680, when 
his part was appraised at five hundred pounds. 

William and John. Ketch. 22 tuns burthen. Capt. Walter 
Price owned this ketch at the time of his death, in 1674, when it 
was valued at one hundred pounds. In his will, he gave it to his 
son John Price. 

William and John. Ketch. John Turner owned three-eighths 
of this vessel at the time of his death, in 1680, when it was ap¬ 
praised at one hundred pounds. This would make the whole value 
of the vessel two hundred and sixty-six pounds, thirteen shillings 

and four pence. 
William and Mary. Ketch. Richard Moore, jr., was the 

commander of this ketch while on a voyage to Barbadoes, landing 
at Spike’s Bay, leaving Boston Dec. 9, 1670. John Necke, aged 
twenty, was the mate, and John Belcher one of the crew. 

William and Sarah. Ketch. This vessel was sailed in fish¬ 
ing, and was commanded by Capt. Nathan Nixon in 1671. _ One 
of the fishermen was then John Williams, who brought suit for 
his wages for three and one-half months service, amounting to 
ten pounds and ten shillings. 

Willing Mind. Ketch. John Turner owned this ketch at 
the time of his decease, in 1680, when it was appraised at ninety 

pounds. 



CHAPTER XX. 

THE PRISON. 

HE selectmen, Jan. 19, 1665-6, ordered that Henry Kirk, 
the currier, and his man be warned by the constable to 
leave the town. Kirk was entertained by Mathew 
Price. The selectmen gave John Bartram leave to so¬ 
journ here until the “weather breaks up,” but not 

more than two months. 
April 21, 1666, the selectmen ordered that all wells between 

Thomas Cromwell’s and Richard Gardner's, to the head of Mr. 
Brown’s cove, so called, should have a curb two and a half to three 
feet high above the ground. 

Shortly before the death of Capt. William Trask, he filed a 
petition with the general court, praying that some of the land 
taken from the Indians in the Pequot War, lying in the valley of 
the Connecticut, might be granted to him, as he understood that a 
portion of the land had been given to some “who it may be never 
sweat so much for it as some of us bled on it,” and for his service 
in that conflict. Four hundred acres were granted to him.1 

Captain Trask died May 15, 1666, and three days later, the. 
selectmen ordered that the soldiers which attend him to his grave 
should have an allowance of not more than twenty shillings to 
“make them drink at Mr. Gidney’s, at the discretion of Walter 
Price, and cloth to cover the drum.” 

March 6, 1665-6, the selectmen ordered that Captain Corwin 
and Walter Price have the small field gun mounted fit for service.' 

May 23, 1666, as the town and harbor of Salem “lie too open 
and exposed to danger, and that due care and means have not been 
impowered for their defence and security,” the general court 
ordered that the town of Salem, “erecting a work or battery upon 
some convenient place upon their harbor, by advice and direction 
of the major general, shall have the like encouragement, by 

Massachusetts Archives, volume 30, leaf 89. 

3/4 



THE PRISON 375 

abatement of the country rate; . . and for the orderly and 
better carrying on of the said work, Capt. George Corwin is here¬ 
by desired and impowered to improve all means for the speedy 
effecting of this work, and the committee of militia of Salem de¬ 
sired to advise and assist him in the business.” The court promised 
to order them two or three guns, when a work to secure them 
should have been made. _ 

William Curtis,1 a ^ ^ 
blacksmith, came to Sa- < 
lem in 1659, and re¬ 
mained here as long as he lived. 

James Hadlock2 of Roxbury married Rebecca, daughter of 
Richard Hutchinson, and came to Salem to live in 1659- 

house was on the west- 
erly side of Pine Street, 
about midway between 
Holton and Hobart 
streets, in Danvers. 

1 Willi am Curtis1 married Alice Rumball; she was his wife in 1708; he 
died before 1723; children: 1. Anna,2 born Aug. 30, 165-; 2. Sarah, born 
Oct. 13, 1660; died Oct. 23, 1660; 3. William, born Dec. 26, 1662; 4. Abi¬ 
gail,2 born about Aug. 15, 1664; married Thomas Mason; 5. John, born 
May 14, 1666; 6. Elizabeth,2 born Jan. —, 1668; married John Lowther, 

7. Hannah,2 born Aug. —, 1670. . , . , T v , 
William Curtis;2 blacksmith and sawyer; married, first, Judith Need- 

ham March 22. 1687; second, Lydia (Anna?) before 1710 the latter was 
hR wife in I7SI • he died in 1741; children: 1. William, born Jan. 13, 
1687-8; blacksmith and currier; lived in Lynn; married Elizabeth Scadloc ' 
(Scarlet D May 4, 1709; died Sept. 22, 1730; she married, secondly, John 
Hawks of Lvnn Sept. 7 1735; had children; 2. Ruth.' bom July 5, 1690; 
married_Banter; 3. John, born Aug. 15, l^93, living m I/4J, 4- 
Daniel2 (triplet) born Feb. 4, 1698-9; 5- James3 (triplet), born Feb. 4, 
1698-9; 6. Jonathan3 (triplet), born Feb. 4, 1698-9; 7- born May 34 
1701; 8. Lydia,8 born July 24, 1702; married -- Stillman 9- Uame 
born April -, 170-; shipwright; married Rebecca Farnngton^arch 29, 
1729; living in 1740. John Curtis; married Elizabeth , . 

1. John,3 born Oct. 21, 1690, in Salem. . r n. d 
2Tames Hadlock1; married Rebecca Hutchinson m Ma>. 1658 

Dec. 3, 1687; she was his wife in 1680; children : 1. James, about 
1659; 2. Rebecca;2 living in 1678; 3. Hannah, 4- ara, ’ 
THn- c Marv2 born March 2, 1661; married John Worthen uec. ju, 
t68o- 6 Sarah2 born Dec 6 1670; married William Simons; 7- John- 
l689jAMRS JaLock? nVarried Abigail Martin of Amesbury Dec 3, 
died July 2, 1716; had children: u James born Sept. ~4, /9- ^_3 

2. John,3 born in 1681; 3. Sarah; 4- Abigai , 5- 3 'Hannah;3 
(son) - 7. Samuel,3 born March 18, 1688-9; 8. Damans, 9- . 3 

10. Mary;3 11. Joseph,8 born married Sarah 
born July 15, 1705, m Amesbury. John ^^ ^0111, died 
Pasque Jan. 16, 1694-5; children 1. Sarah bom jur - 3 baptized 
Oct. 10, 1701; 2. Margery, baptized Sept. 7, 9 > f Marah,3 baptized 
Aug 27 1699; 4. Rebecca,3 baptized Nov. 30, I/°l» 5- 1 , ’» Kar)tized 
Feb 2S 1704; 6 Sarah,! baptized March 24, 1705-6; 7- P^cho, baptized 

June 27, 1708. 
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John Upton1 (called John Rupton at first) was a native of 
Scotland, and a prisoner taken in battle by Cromwell. He was 

'John Upton1 came from Hammersmith to Salem in 1659; was a 
blacksmith; lived on Wood Hill, in the woods in Peabody, on what is now 
Lowell Street, until he removed to Reading about 1676; married Eleanor 
Stuart in America; she was living in 1697; he died July 11, 1699; children: 
1. John," born about 1655; lived in Reading; married Sarah Thompson of 
Reading Dec. 14, 1680; she died Oct. 12, 1719; he died in the summer 
of 1727; had children; 2. Eleanor," born about 1656; died April 20, 1663; 
3. William,2 born about 1658; died April —, 1663; 4. James,2 born Sept. —, 
1660; lived in North Reading; died, unmarried, about 1702; 5. Mary," born 
about 1661; died April 15, 1663; 6. William,2 born June 10, 1663; 7. Samuel,2 
born Oct. —, 1664; 8. Ann;2 married Samuel Fraile; 9. Isabelle,2 born 
Jan. 3, 1666-7; died, unmarried, Dec. 6, 1689; 10. Ezekiel,2 born Sept. —, 
1668; husbandman; lived in North Reading; married, first, Rebecca Preston 
Dec. 28, 1693; second, Ruth (Marsh), widow of James Hardy Jan. 23, 
1711-2; had children; 11. Joseph,2 born April 9, 1670; lived in North 
Reading; married Abigail Phelps (?) Feb. 12, 1692; was living in 1753; 
had children; 12. Francis,2 born July 1, 1671; died, unmarried, Dec. 9, 
1694; 13. Mary; was unmarried in 1697. 

William Upton;2 yeoman; lived in the Danvers part of Salem; mar¬ 
ried Mary Maber May 27, 1701; died in the winter of 1739-40; children: 
1. William,3 born July 17, 1703; lived in Reading; married, first, Lydia 
Burnap of Reading Jan. 4, 1726-7; second,-Hannah Felton Dec. 9, 1755; 
was living in 1760; 2. Mary,3 born Sept. 28, 1705; married Thomas Rich 
of Wilmington Nov. 24, 1735; 3. James2 born Jan. 5, 1707-8; 4. Paul2 
born Feb. 20, 1709-10; 5. Francis,3 born May 13, 1712; lived in North 
Reading; married, first, Phebe Swallow of Reading May 13, 1735; second, 
Edith Herrick Dec. 2, 1741; died in the winter of 1775-6; had children; 
6. Edward,3 born April 16, 1714; glazier; married Eleanor Osborn Nov. 18, 
1735; 7- Richard,3 born May 20, 1716; lived in Reading; married Rachel 
Rich June 26, 1746; had children; 8. Dorcas3 (twin), born Sept. 4, 1718; 
married Stephen Felton; 9. Timothy3 (twin), born Sept. 4, 1718; 10. Caleb,3 
born Feb. 4, 1722. Samuel Upton;2 married Abigail Frost Jan. 14, 
1702-3; lived in 1743; children: 1. Samuel,3 born June 30, 1704; 2. Abigail,3 
baptized Aug. 3, 1707; married George Small• 3. Nathaniel3 (twin), bap¬ 
tized March 27, 1709; lived in Reading; married Mary Eaton of Reading 
Nov. 19, 1734; died Jan. —, 1788; she died in 1808, aged ninety-five; left no 
children; 4. Jemima3 (twin), baptized March 27, 1709; married Israel 
Eaton; 5. Anna,3 baptized April 6, 1712; living in 1740; 6. Benjamin,3 bap¬ 
tized May 10, 1713; yeoman; lived in Danvers; married Sarah Swinnerton 
Nov. —, 1736; died in the autumn of 1768; she died in 1773; no children; 
7. Eunice,3 baptized April 24, 1715; married-Twist (Taft?) ; 8. Amos,3 
baptized Oct. 20, 1717; deacon; lived in Reading; married Sarah Bickford 
Dec. 5, 1739; died Oct. 6, 1780; she died, his widow. Nov. 17, 1818, aged 
ninety-nine; had children; 9. Lois;3 married John McTntire in 1744; 10 
Noah,3 baptized Sept. 17, 1721. 

James Upton;3 lived in the Peabody part of Salem; cordwainer; mar¬ 
ried Susanna Dagget Nov. 2, 1732; died in Danvers July 22, 1778; she died 
April 20, 1796; children: 1. Tamisin,4 born Sept. 1, 1733; married Zach- 
ariah Felton Feb.^ 1, 1755; 2. Stephen,4 born April 23, 1735; died June 9, 
l756: 3- Hannah,1 born June 26, 1737; married Ebenezer Sprague in 1759; 
4. Mary.4 born March n, 1738; died Aug. 4, 1746; 5. -,4 baptized 
March 11, 1743-4; 6. James,4 born March 29, 1744; died Dec. 6, 1764; 7. 
John,4 born Nov. 19, 1746; cordwainer; lived in Danvers; married Joanna 
Dodge of Beverly Dec. 3, 1767; shes died May 1, 1821; he died April 11, 
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connected with the iron works at Hammersmith (Saugus), Mass., 

1824; had children; 8. Daniel,4 born April 6, 1749; died in Danvers May 30, 
1773. Ens. Paul Upton;3 yeoman; lived in the Danvers part of Salem; 
married, first, Susanna Whipple Oct. —, 1732; second, Phebe Goodell Feb. 24, 
1736-7; died in 1750; she died Feb. 7, 1795; children: 1. Susanna,4 baptized 
April 14, 1733; married Daniel Upton Feb. 18, 1756; 2. Ezra* born Oct. n, 
1738; 3. David,4 baptized April 26, 1741; husbandman; lived in Danvers; 
married Sarah Goodell March 5, 1771; died March 10, 1772; she survived 
him; had one child; 4. Hannah,4 baptized Sept. 25, 1743; married Jacob 
Goodell Dec. 19, 1763; 5. Mehitabel,4 born about 1745; died young; 6. 
Phebe,4 baptized Aug. 16, 1747; died young; 7. George,4 baptized June 3, 
1750; innholder; lived in Danvers; married Eunice Upton of Reading 
May 20, 1773; died in 1804; she married, secondly, - Richardson; had 
children. Timothy Upton;3 cordwainer; lived in the Danvers part of 
Salem; married, first, Hannah Stacy Dec. 25, 1740; second, Ruth -; 
died in 1758; she married, secondly, Isaac Reed July 20, 1761; children: 1. 
Nathan,4 born Nov. 15, 1741; lived in Danvers; married Elizabeth Gold- 
thwaite April 14, 1768; died March 17, 1795; she died Nov. 26, 1820; had 
children; 2. Timothy,4 baptized Aug. 7, 1743; 3. Dorcas,4 born in 175-. 
Caleb Upton;3 tailor; lived in Amherst, N. H.; married-; chil¬ 
dren: 1. Jedutkun,4 born about 1752, in Reading; 2. Oliver,4 born about 
1753; 3- Abiel,4 born Oct. 20, 1755, in Amherst ; 4. Robert,4 born May 12, 
1758; 5. Edmund,4 born about 1760; 6. Paul* born Dec. 25, 1760. Sam¬ 

uel Upton;3 lived in Danvers; married Ruth Whipple Nov. 8, 1726; 
probably removed to New Brunswick; children: 1. Mehitable,4 born 
Dec. 10, 1727; married John Very of Danvers Feb. 10, 1746-7; 2. Anna,4 
born Dec. 30, 1730; married John Russell of Danvers; 3. Asa,4 born 
Oct. 3, 1734; lived in Danvers; soldier in the expedition to Acadia in 
1755; married Elizabeth Webber of Marblehead June 12, 1758; she died 
June 22, 1818; he died Oct. 4, 1824, aged ninety; had children: 4. Ruth,4 
born Oct. 29, 1737; died, unmarried, Dec. 19, 1816; 5. Samuel,4 born April 
22, 1740; married Rebecca Spinney of Marblehead April 1, 1765; removed, 
to Maugerville, N. B., about 1765; 6. Sarah,4 born June 23, 1741; died in 
infancy; 7. Sarah,4 baptized March 6, 1743; married Jacob Barker of 
Boxford. 

Ezra Upton ;4 lived in Danvers; innholder and yeoman; married Me¬ 
hitabel Goodell Sept. 25, 1765; died Feb. 19, 1787; she married, second, 
Daniel Putnam; and, third, Joseph Putnam; she died March 28, 1827; 
children: 1. Jesse5 born Nov. 22, 1765; 2. Ebenezer,6 born Feb. 15, 1768; 
3. Andrew,5 born May 29, 1770; died young; 4. David,5 born Dec. 4, 1772» 
5. Andrew,5 born April 4, 1775; 6. Mehitabel,6 born July 13, 1777; 7- Phebe,5 
born May 31, 1780; 8. Betsey,5 born July 15, 1782; 9. Eben,5 baptized Jan. 29^ 
1785; 10. -5 (posthumous); died in infancy. Capt. Juduthun Upton;4 

baker, merchant and ship master; removed from Salem to Steuben, Me., 
about 1810; married, first, widow Mary (Brown) Austin Dec. 11, 1783; she 
died at Steuben April —, 1815; married, second, Rachel Gage March 17, 
1816; died in Steuben June —, 1823; children: 1. William,B born June 19, 
1784; 2. Jedutkun,5 born Sept. 6, 1785; 3. Sally,5 born Feb. 19, 1787; mar¬ 
ried Samuel Hemenway Nov. 13, 1803; 4. Betsey,5 born July 20, 1788; 
died in Salem, unmarried, Nov. —, 1810; 5. John,5 born May 14, 1790; lived 
in Cherryfield, Me.; died May —, 1832; his widow married, secondly, Rufus 
Hill; had children; 6. Polly,5 born Oct. 11, 1791 • Robert Upton;4 soldier 
in battles of Lexington and Bennington; lived in Reading and Salem from 
1784 to 1792; removed to Cavendish, Vt., and finally to Harrington, now 
Millbridge, Me.; married Anna Wheelock in t784i died in 1824; she died 
in Salem Feb. 10, 1835; children: 1. Samuel,5 born in 1784* in Middleton, 
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in 1658, came to Salem the next year; and removed to Reading 

2. Anna,5 born in 1786; married; 3. Robert,0 born Feb. 16, 1788, in Salem; 
4. Jonathan,3 baptized Feb. 14, 1790, in Salem; lived in Millbridge; mar¬ 
ried Nancy Woodworth; died Feb. 8, 1851; had children; 5. Nancy,5 born 
in 1794, in Cavendish; 6. Mary,5 born in 1797; 7. Sally,5 born in 1798; 8. 
Lucy,5 born in 1800. Capt. Edmund Upton ;4 ship master; married Pris¬ 
cilla Gardner Sept. 11, 1791; freemason; she died Jan. —, 1823; he died 
in 1836; children: 1. Edmund,5 born in 1792; mate of ship Columbus of 
Boston; married Mary Southard April 24, 1822; died at Matanzas July 8, 
1827; 2. William;5 died Feb. —, 1803; 3. -;5 married- Stone. Paul 
Upton; superintendent of Salem almshouse; of great strength; married, 
first, Rebecca Peirce Oct. 5, 1785; she died Nov. 4, 1799; married, second, 
Elizabeth Peirce April 9, 1801; died July 24, 1830; she died Jan. 12, 1857, 
aged ninety-five; children: 1. Benjamin,5 born Jan. 17, 1786; 2. Joseph,6 
born Jan. 27, 1788; 3. John,5 born Dec. 26, 1789; 4. Samuel,5 born Dec. 6, 
1791; 5. Henry,5 born Sept. 6, 1794; 6. Edmund5 born May 9, 1797; 7. 
Rebecca,5 born Oct. 21, 1799; died Dec. 19, 1799. 

Jesse Upton;5 lived in Danvers; yeoman; kept tavern; married, first, 
Polly Upton; married, second, widow Elizabeth (Eliza) (Wyman) Wood 
of Woburn Nov. 22, 1798; died in Troy, Ind., Dec. —, 1824; she died Oct. —, 
1857; children: 1. Ebeneser,6 born Jan. 10, 1794; 2. Ezra,5 born July 12, 
1795; 3- Jesse,0 born Oct. 30, 1796; farmer; died, unmarried, Jan. 8, 
i860; 4. Eliza,6 born in 1798; died young; 5. Polly,6 born Dec. 26, 1800; 
died June 25. 1805; 6. Eliza,6 born Sept. 6, 1802; 7. George,6 born July 5, 
1805; 8. Polly,6 born April 27, 1810; 9. Andrew.6 Capt. William Upton;6 

commander of schooner Hero; married Martha Brooks Feb. 1, 1807; 
died at Laguira Nov. 7, 1809; she died March 27, 1830; children: 1. 
Martha,6 born May 13, 1808; married Joseph Small; 2. Elizabeth B.,e born 
in 180-; married William B. Patterson Feb. 28, 1830. Capt. Jeduthun 

Upton;5 ship master; mate of brig Samuel of Boston; merchant; married 
Sally Smith May 12, 1807; died at Havana Aug. 21, 1815; she died June 10, 
1835; children: 1. -;6 died April —, 1809; 2. Sally,6 born Aug. 16, 1812; 
married Nathan Stevens in 1834; 3- Mary Elizabeth,6 born Sept. 14, 1814; 
died Feb. —, 1815; 4. Mary Elizabeth,6 born April 26, 1816; married George 
B. Ricker Jan. 30, 1837. Samuel Upton;6 merchant; moved to Castine, 
Me., in 1816, and afterwards lived in Bangor, Me., Boston, Mass., and 
Washington, D. C.; married Rebecca Allen Peirce March 20, 1810; died 
March 3, 1842; she died at Cambridge, Mass.; children: 1. Wheelock 
Samuel,6 born Jan. 17, 1811, in Salem; lawyer; lived in New Orleans, 
La.; married Mary Elinor Waters; died at Carrolton, La., Oct. 18, i860; 
had children; 2. Charles Horace,6 born Aug. 23, 1812. in Salem; Bowdoin 
College, 1834; lived in Virginia; United States consul at Geneva, Switzer¬ 
land; married Martha Ellen Page May 18, 1836; had children; 3. Francis 
Henry,6 born May 25, 1814, in Salem; lawyer; lived in New York and 
Washington, D. C.; married Sarah Foster Carr of Bangor Sept. 1, 1836; 
had children; 4. Edward Peirce,6 born July 22, 1816, in Castine; 5. Rebecca 
Peirce,6 born June 3, 1818, in Castine; 6. Rufus Allyn,6 born Jan. 18. 1821, 
in Boston; 7. Helen Augusta,6 born Dec. 5, 1822; unmarried; in Europe in 
1866. Robert Upton;5 merchant; in West India trade; married Lucy Doyle 
of Sedgwick Sept. 17, 1811; she died Feb. 3, 1859; he died Sept. 9, 1863; 
children: 1. James? born March 31, 1813; 2. Luther,6 born March 16, 
i8t5; 3. George?, born Dec. 14, 1817; 4. Franklin6 born Jan. 28, 1819: 
merchant; lived in South Danvers; married Sarah Augusta Felton of 
Danvers Jan. 28, 1840; died in Boston Oct. 21, 1869; had children; 3. Lucy 
Ann,6 born Nov. 12, 1822; married-Poole of Wakefield; 6. Charles? 
born May 28, 1824; 7. Edwin? born Feb. 18, 1826; 8. Harriet,6 born Sept. 9, 
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about 1676. The family has been numerous and widely scat- 

1827; died, unmarried, in Wakefield, May 16, 1874; 9. Stephen,6 born Oct. 
23, 1831. Capt. Benjamin Upton;0 ship master and merchant; married, 
first, Priscilla Ropes Sept. 4, 1808; she died June 8, 1828; married, second, 
Eliza Willis Oct. n, 1831; died Nov. 4, 1853; she died Feb. 23, 1870; 
children: 1. Benjamin,6 born in 1809; lived at Para and Rosario, Brazil, 
and New York; United States consul at Buenos Ayres; married Maria 
Francisca Corea Bulhao of Para; had children; 2. Daniel Ropes,0 born 
in 1811; lost at sea, unmarried, in 1832 or 1833, on his passage from Para 
to Salem; 3. Alice Rebecca;6 married Francis Putnam in 1842; 4. George 
F. ;6 United States consul on Rio Grande, Brazil; resided at Buenos Ayres; 
5. ’Henry Paul? 6. Priscalla Lambert;6 married George Nathan Ropes; 
7. Anna M. ;6 teacher; 8. Edward,6 born April 22, 1837; 9. Daniel,6 bap¬ 
tized May 7, 1839; book keeper; served in the Civil war; lived in Salem 
in 1873; 10. Francis,6 baptized May 7, 1839; music teacher; living m 1870. 
Capt. John Upton;6 ship master; served in the war of 1812; commanded 
privately-armed schooners Cossack and Helen; freemason; married Mercy 
Townsend Dec. 6, 1812; while in command <pf ship Maine he died at 
Batavia Aug. —, 1824; she died May 4, 1855 I children: 1. — , born 1 a> 
—, 1814; died Sept. 25, 1815; 2. John Pierce,6 born Sept. 8 1816; printer 
in San Francisco, Cal.; wife Mary Ann in 1858; 3. Eliza M., born about 
1820; 4. Moses Townsend? born Jan. 7, 1822. Capt. Samuel Upton 
master mariner; married Mary Fabens Jan. 22, 1818; she died June 4, 1 3> 
children: 1. Samuel F.,6 born March 1, 1821; 2. Paul, born Dec. 26, 
1827- 3. William F. ;6 ship master; lived in South Danvers; 4- Charles 
H 6 born in 1833; ship master; married Abby M. Brown June 30, 1804; 
5. ’Horace G? born in 1839; 6. Harriet Maria;6 married William Serls 
Howard of Beverly, Dec. 7. 1865; 7- Rebecca Gray Peirce, born Sept —, 
1844; died May 9. 1846; 8. Mary Rebecca, born m 1846; died Feb. 2, 1849. 
Capt. Henry Upton ;5 master mariner; toll keeper of Beverly bridge 
freemason; married Eliza Peele Needham Aug. 14, 1823; she died ec. 2/y 
1863; he died at Taunton March 22, 1873; children : 1. Mary Bell born 
March—, 1824; died Jan. 15, 1825; 2. Thomas Needham, born about 1835, 
died July 12, 1841. Capt. Edmund Upton;6 master mariner; married Sally 
Stone Larrabee Feb. 20, 1825; died Sept. 21, i860; she died, his widow, 
Jan. 20, 1900, aged ninety-one; children: 1. Joseph, born m 1825 2. 
Edmund Augustus,6 born July 14, 1828; ship master; died June 8, 1881, 

3. George Larrabee,e born Oct. 7, 1832. . . „ , . ,• A 
Ebenezer Upton;6 wood wharfinger; married Sarah San orn, ci ^ y 

17, 1860; she died, his widow, Sept. 1, 1887; children: 1. born 
Feb n 1817; 2. Daniel King.7 born about 1820; married Eliza Jane Keller 
in 1842; died at sea; 3- Maria Louisa,7 born m 1822;. married Jacob 
Barker; 4. Edwin Augustus,7 born in 1824; manner on brigB£?°M 1 
died at sea on his passage from Santiago to Trinidad May 1, 4 , 5- 
lin: born .in 1828; 6. . Sarah Ehzabeth,bom about Dec 7 '828 d ed 

Feb. 
8. 
10. William Mudgett; Dorn m 1030, u. y c^lenTm 
Ezra Upton;6 provision dealer; of Danvers in 1836; victualer m Salem . 

Safah E/R&ardsfdTef M|o^ ^ 
dren; 4. Eliza Ann7 (twin), born Feb. 23, 1841; married Josial . . 
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tered, and engaged in the ordinary business of life, as mechanics, 

Beverly; 5. Caroline Bowditch7 (twin), born Feb. 23, 1841; died March 10, 
1847; 6. Sarah Ellen,7 born March 10, 1843; died April 24, 1847; 7. Charles,7 
born Sept. 23, 1845; died Nov. 4, 1846; 8. Caroline.7 born Oct. 14, 1847; 
married Warren P. Patch of Lynn Jan. 1, 1868. James Upton;6 merchant; 
married, first, Emily Collins Johnson Oct. 27, 1836; she died Nov. 12, 1843; 
married, second, Sarah Sophia Ropes Oct. 9, 1845; she died Feb. 12, 1865; 
he died March 30, 1879; children: 1. Emily Caroline,7 born June 19, 1838; 
lived in Amherst, Mass., unmarried, in 1879; 2. James Henry,7 born Aug. 8, 
1840; died March 15, 1841; 3. Lucy Houghton,7 born Nov. 25, 1846; died 
Jan. 13, 1919; 4. Henry Fitch,7 born April 18, 1848; died May 18, 1848; 
5. Elizabeth Ropes,7 born June 27, 1849; married Robert Mills; 6. James 
Frederic,7 born Aug. 3, 1851; died Nov. 13, 1869; 7. Winslow,7 born Oct. 13, 
1853; lived in Cambridge in 1879, and later in Providence; professor of 
astronomy in Brown University; married Cornelia A. Babcock of Lebanon 
Springs, N. Y., Feb. 8, 1882; died Jan. 8, 1914; 8. Ernest Ropes,7 born Dec. 
13, 1857; died Feb. 16, 1859; 9- Grace,7 born Oct. 20, i860; living in 1879; 10. 
Herbert Wheelock,7 born July 31, 1863; died Aug. 30, 1864: Luther 
Upton ;6 merchant; went to Springfield after 1863, and was living in Lynn in 
1869 and 1874; married Helen Maria Bowditch Sept. 29, 1839; children: 
1. Helen Maria,7 born in 1845 or 1846; married William H. Porter June 19, 
1869; 2. Joseph Bowditch,7 baptized March 31, 1847. Capt. George Upton;6 
ship master; commanded barque Chalcedony; merchant; married, first, 
Harriet Maria Perkins May 28, 1839; she died Jan. 22, 1842; married, 
second, Ellen M. Bowditch April 30, 1850; she died Nov. 6, 1856; married, 
third, Olive A. Goldsmith Feb. 7, 1866; she died Feb. 16, 1885; he died 
April 23, 1894; children: 1. Lucy Ann,7 born April —, 1840; died March 
18, 1842; 2. Ellen F.,7 born in 1841; died Oct. 17, 1842; 3. Robert,7 born 
Jan. 15, 1842; living in 1894; 4. Walter B.,7 born March 26, 1854; lived 
in St. Louis, Mo., in 1885; 5. Ellen Maria,7 born April 22, 1855; married 
Harry L. Kelly of Boston; 6. Ollie G.,7 born July 4, 1871; unmarried in 1894. 
Capt. Charles Upton;6 merchant; ship master; married Isabel Emeline 
Cameron of Beverly Dec. —, 1844; died Feb. 17, 1865; she died in Santa 
Clara, Cal., Jan. 24, 1870; children: 1. Isabel Francisca,7 born March 28, 
1847; died in Philadelphia, Pa., Oct. 21, 1868; 2. Arthur Jackson.7 born 
Jan. 8, 1851; died Jan. 22, 1872; 3. Clarence Webster,7 born March 21, 1856; 
lived at Santa Clara in 1877; 4- Ellen,7 born Dec. 28, 1856; 5. Carl Frank,7 
born June 23, 1858; lived in Santa Clara; died June 17, 1876. Edwin 
Upton;6 merchant; lived in Buenos Ayres; married Ellen Celia Stafford of 
Buenos Ayres Dec. 7, 1867; died Oct. 14, 1871; she died April 24, 1907; 
children: 1. Mary Cecilia,7 born Oct. 31, 1868, in Buenos Ayres; married 
-Sevigne; 2. Alice Dolores,7 born Jan. 25, 1872 (posthumous); unmar¬ 
ried in 1893. Capt. Stephen Upton;6 morroco dresser and master mariner; 
married Olive -; lived in New York City, where he died June 18. 1880; 
child: 1. Arthur,7 born Nov. 12, t868, in Salem. Henry Paul Upton ;b 
merchant; married Harriet Ellen Savory Oct. —, 1840; she died Aug. 29, 
1877; he died June 20, 1887; children: 1. Richard Henry,7 born Jan. -—, 
1843; died Aug. 24, 1844; 2. Ellen Francisca,7 born in 1844; died Oct. 15. 
1845; 3. Elizabeth Lewis,7 born in 1848; music teacher; died, unmar¬ 
ried, Jan. 30. 1916; 4. George N.,7 born Oct. 24, 1857; 5. Georgiana T.,7 
born in 1859; died, unmarried, in Boston, June 27, 1900. Edward Upton:6 
served in the Civil War; tanner and currier; married, first, Emily L. Buf- 
fum Tan. 5, t86o; she died Dec. 25, 1889; married, second, Annie M. Wyman 
March 13, 1893; he died June 3, 1908; children: i. Martha,7 born Nov. 22, 
i860; 2. Sumner IV.,1 born about 1873. Moses Townsend Upton;8 car- 
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tanners, farmers, innholders and druggists, but many of its mem- 

penter; married, first, Sarah A. Jackson in 1845; second, Sarah Ellen 
Jackson; died Sept. 11, 1870; she died April 5, 1914; children: 1. Catherine 
J.,7 born July 22, 1850; 2. Moses T.,7 born Nov. 14, 1852; died Nov. 16, 
1852; 3. Catherine j.,7 born July 22, 1856; married Thomas J. Fenno of 
Boston Nov. 18, 1878; 4. Edmund T.,7 born May 2, 1862; grocer; married 
Mary G. Downes Sept. 18, 1888; died May 7, 1899; she survived him. 
Samuel F. Upton;6 lumber dealer; lived 111 Chelsea; married Mary R. 
Brown March 26, 1845; died July 13, 1869; children: 1. Mary E.;7 died 
Sept. 26, 1846; 2. William H.,7 born Aug. 31, 1850, in Salem; died in 
Chelsea Oct. 29, 1856. Capt. Paul Upton ;6 master mariner; married 
Sarah F. Smith June 16, 1853; died Jan. 18, 1884; she died in Beverly 
July 24, 1890; children: 1. Frederick D.,7 born in 1859; banker in 1882; 
lived in Newmarket, N. H., in 1890; married Lizzie H. Varney Oct. 10, 
1882; she died May 16, 1913; he died April 24, 1914; 2. Colcord ;7 3. Charles 
P.,7 born March 25, 1867; married and divorced; died, suddenly, in the 
public gardens, in Boston, July 14, 1917. Horace G. Upton;6 tanner and 
currier; married Margaret Ellen Moulton March 5, 1863; children: 1. Hor¬ 
ace Frederick,7 born Dec. 16, 1866; 2. Howard Emerson,7 born Aug. 27, 1868. 
Capt. Joseph Upton;6 ship master; lived in Boston; married Sarah B. 
Safford Aug. 17, 1852; she died in Boston Sept. 7, 1865; married, second, 
Mary Jane Sumner; he died Nov. 28, 1884; she married, second, Winfield 
S. Mitchell Jan. 15, 1898; children: 1. Joseph Marshall,7 born Dec. 3, 1868, 
in Beverly; lived in Boston in 1900; 2. Annie L.,7 born March 20, 1870, in 
Salem; married Charles W. Rice June 21, 1894; 3. Henry Roberts,7 born 
May 3, 1875, in Salem; died Aug. 24, 1876. George Larrabee Upton;6 

carpenter; married Hannah J. Walton; died Aug. 10, 1909; children: 
1. Edmund Augustus,7 born April 15, 1863; 2. Alice R.,7 born Oct. 14, 
1865; married Rev. Joseph Wheelwright of Byfield Jan. 22, 1884; 3. Grace,7 
born March 14, 1868; married Arthur M. Root of Byfield Nov. 13, 1889; 
4. George7 born Aug. 10, 1870; 5. Sally Stone,7 born Sept. 5, 1873; un¬ 
married in 1909. 

Eben Upton ;7 musician; married Lucy Maria Carey of Danvers April 
21, 1839; died May 6, 1885; she died Jan. 21, 1896; children: 1. Lucy 
Maria,6 born in 1840; married Charles B. Fowler; 2. Helen A.,8 born 
Sept. —, 1845; married William R. Weeks Sept. 2, 1869; 3. Francis E.,8 
born May 30, 1850; 4. Florence Louisa,8 born Sept. 8, 1851; died Feb. 16, 
1S53; 5. Francis Torrey,8 born Sept. 7, 1855. Franklin Upton;7 married 
Laura Ann Titus Sept. 17, 1851; children: 1. Laura A.,8 born Feb. —, 
1852; died Aug. 24, 1852; 2. Eva F.,8 born Feb._ 12, 1853. Warren 

Augustus Upton;7 served in the Civil War; tin smith; married Caroline 
H. Pratt April 2, 1854; died March 26, 1898: she died Nov. 7, 1917; chil¬ 
dren: 1. Susan A.8 born about 1855; married Charles N. Walton April 29^ 
1875; 2. Alice;8 3. Jesse F.,8 born Jan. 15, 1859, in Danvers; 4- Warren G.f 
5. George F.8 (twin), born March 16, 1867; died July 28, 1867; 6. Jacob 
Barker8 (twin), born March 16, 1867; died July 28, 1867; 7. Ella C.,8 born 
July 25, 1870; died Nov. 21, 1878; 8. Walter; Pratt;5 born June 4, 1872. 
William Mudgett Upton;7 cooper and musician; married, first, Lucretia 
Derby Mansfield May 8, 1855; si16 died Oct- 9> !§73 j married, second, 
Mary E. Kenny March 19, 1876; he died Nov. 29, I90pl she died Aug. 17, 
1922; children: 1. Mary L.,8 born Sept. 19, 1855; died Nov. 7, 1861; 2. 
Susan T.,8 born in 1857 ; died Nov. 2, t86i ; 3. William H.,8 born Nov 3, 
1859; died Nov. 9. 1861: 4. Martha E.s (twin), born Dec. 29, 1861; died 
May 20, 1868; 5. Mary8 (twin), born Dec. 29, 1861; died May 20, 1868; 
6. Mary Stocker,8 born Aug. 8, 1863; opera singer; married George R. 
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bers are best known as musicians. Integrity and firmness are its 
principal characteristics. 

Richard Hide1 worked in Marblehead about 1638, and was 
living in Salem as late as 1698. 

Miner of New York City June 10, 1886; 7. Willie,8 born Nov. 23, 1866; 
8. Laura Titus,8 born July 28. 1868; married Henry Osgood Oct. 8. 1890; 
9. William F;8 10. Herbert A.,& born about 1879. Henry Orlando Upton;1 

mechanic and musician; leader of Upton’s quadrille band; married Elizabeth 
Ann Cate; she died Dec. 1, 1909; he died March 30, 1919; children: 1. 
Ida F.,8 born May 25, i860; married Frank M. Paine Nov. 26, 1895; 2. 
Henrietta F.,8 born Dec. —, 1861; musician; unmarried; 3. Henry,8 born 
Sept. 14. 1862; 4. Eben Albert,8 born Sept. 15, 1863; 5- Sarah M.,8 born about 
1865; married Joseph Henry Arey March 30, 1882; 6. John Henry.8 born 
May 7, 1870; musician; married, first, Anna S. Porter of Marblehead Dec. 9, 
1895; she died July 22, 1904; second, Sadie A.-(Porter)_ Watson May 23, 
1906. William Bowditch Upton;7 served in the Civil War; dealer in 
crockery, china and glass ware; married Ellen A. Rider May 30. 1866; 
lived in Montrose. Cal., in 1883; she died, his widow, in Denver, Col., Dec. 18, 
1925; children: 1. Charles Rider,8 born Dec. 31, 1866; bookkeeper; lived in 
Montrose; died, unmarried, Sept. 6. 1894; 2. Mary Atwood,8 born April 15, 
1868; 3. Walter Conant,8 born April 22, 1871; 4 . Albert Ezra,8 born Dec. 26, 
1872. Sumner W. Upton;7 druggist; married Margaret A. Splaine of 
Danvers Jan. 15. 1890; died Sept. 26, 1916; children: 1. Sumner Mortimer,8 
born June 28, 1890; died Oct. 4, 1896; 2. Emily Augusta,8 born June —, 
i8qt ; died May 30, 1896; 3. Alice Louise,8 born Sept. 27, 1894; 4. Frances 
E.,8 born Feb. 15, 1899; 5. Charles S.,8 born May 28, 1901. Colcord 

Upton;7 steamboat manager; married Lillian S. Towne; child: 1. William 
Mack,8 born Feb. 15, 1889. Edmund Augustus Upton ;7 married Alice F. 
Morse of Beverly Oct. 27, 1887; child: 1. Ednah Marguerite,8 born April 15, 
1892. George Upton;7 salesman; married, first, Edith E. Dorr of Sharon 
June 27, 1893; second, Ethel Dora Getchell April 20, 1904; child: 1. Grace 
L.,8 born Oct. 5, 1904. 

Francis Torrey Upton;8 musician; married Alice M. Phippen July 20, 
1896; child: 1. Wallace Carey,9 born Feb. 26, 1899; died in Chelsea Naval 
Hospital Nov. 26, 1918. Jesse F. Upton;8 druggist; married Lillie E. 
Hatheway Oct. 23, 1883; children: 1. Clarence Hatheway,9 born July 22. 
1885; married Katherine B. Anderson June 19, 1912; 2. George Augustus,9 
born July 7, 1888; superintendent; married Mary Patterson Sept. t8, 1912. 
Warren G. Upton;8 provision dealer; married Etta M. Fowler Nov. 20, 
1883; died Oct. 31, 1892; children: 1. Charles Oliver,9 born June 25, 1884; 
died July 17, 1912; 2. Sarah Ella,9 born May 30, 1886; living in 1898. 
Walter Pratt Upton;8 druggist; married Lillian M. Clark Oct. 5, 1898; 
children: 1. Caroline,9 born Aug. 25, 1901; 2. Warren C.,9 born June 6, 
1905. Herbert A. Upton;8 printer; married, first, Ethel R. Waters Nov. 4, 
1908; second, Mildred A. Thompson of Hamilton Oct. 1, 1921; child: 1. 
Grace W.,9 born Feb. 11, 1910. Eben Albert Upton;8 mason and musician; 
married, first, Ida Dow Aug. 31, 1883; second, Annie Tyler of Danvers 
Dec. 22, 1888; died March 17, 1894; she survived him; children: t. Edna 
Annie,9 born about 1885; married Patrick Henry Tumulty of Peabody 
June 8, 1908; 2. Eben Albert,9 born in Danvers Nov. 26, 1895. 

Eben Albert Upton;9 married Alma Baldwin May 15. 1915; child: 
1. Eben Albert,10 born Dec. 3, 1919. 

Richard Hide,1 born about 1614, was a carpenter; children: 1. Isaac,2 
baptized July 17, 1642; 2. Rebecca,2 baptized March 31, 1644; married 
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Henry Silsbee,1 who is mentioned on page 70, removed to 
Ipswich and subsequently to Lynn. His son Nathaniel remained 

Jonathan Eager; 3. Ephraim," baptized April 12, 1646; 4. Mary,2 baptized 
Jan. 2, 1647-8; 5. Hannah,2 baptized April 7, 1650; married Arthur Gray; 
6. Richard,2 baptized June 6, 1652; 7. Christian,2 baptized July 20, 

i654- 
Isaac Hide;2 mariner; married Susanna Baxter July 12, 1665; died 

in 1680; she married, second, Stephen Daniel Dec. 3, 1680; children: 1. 
Christian,3 born Nov. —, 1668; died Dec. —, 1668; 2. Elizabeth,3 born 
July 27, 1671; died young; 3. Isaac,3 born April 6, 1674; died July —, 
1674; 4. Richard,3 born March 6, 1676-7; married Barbara Weld July 3, 
1702; made his will at Hell brook Sluice, Holland, on board ship Samuel, 
Aaron Beal, master, Jan. 21, 1703-4; administration upon his estate was 
granted to his widow May 24, 1704; she married, second, Edmund 
Batter. 

xHenry Silsbee1 (Silsby) married, first, Dorothy —; she died Sept. 27, 
1676; married, second, Grace, widow of Jonas Eaton of Reading Nov. 18, 
1680; she died before 1699; he died in 1700; children: 1. Mary,2 married 
Zachariah Marsh; 2. Nathaniel,2 born about 1651; 3. /0/m;2.4. Jonathan;2 
lived in Lynn; married Bethiah Marsh Jan. 1, 1673; had children: 5. Sam¬ 
uel;2 lived in Lynn; married Mary Biscoe July 4, 1676; died Oct. 16, 1687; 
had a daughter; 6. Hannah;2 married Thomas Laughton Dec. 2, 1680; 
7. Sarah2 (?) ; probably married Joseph Collins Feb. 25, 1682; 8. Ephraim;2 
lived in Lynn; married Rachel Bassett Jan. 23, 1693; had children. 

Nathaniel Silsbee;2 married, first, Deborah Tompkins Nov. 5, 1671; 
second, Elizabeth Pickering before 1697; died in 1717-8; children: 1. Henry,3 
born April 12, 1674; 2. Nathaniel,3 born April 11, 1676; died April 21, 1676; 
3. Nathaniel,8 born Oct. 23, 1677; 4. Samuel,3 born Jan. 30, 1679; 5. John,8 
born March 20, 1682-3; 6. Margaret,3 born March 20, 1684-5; married 
Ephraim Skerry; 7. Elizabeth,3 born about 1689; married John Cavis of 
Ipswich Feb. 10, 1720-1 ; 8. Mary;3 9. Sarah;3 10. Jonathan;3 married 
Abigail White April 12, 1720; 11. Hannah;3 married Jonathan Felt July 26, 
1721; 12. Jane;3 married John Flint Jan. 2, 1734-5; 13- Ann;3 died Dec. —, 
1723; 14. Abigail;3 15. Benjamin;3 16. William;3 17. Joseph.9 John Sils¬ 

bee;2 married Bethiah Pitman Feb. 15, 1673-4; died in the spring of 1676; 
she married, secondly, Alexander Cole of Marblehead Dec. 15, 1680; child: 
1. John,3 born Feb. 7, 1674-5. 

Nathaniel Silsbee;3 married, first,, Hannah Pickering May 27, 1703; 
second, Martha -; died Jan. 2, 1769, aged ninety-one; children: 1. 
Nathaniel, born Aug. 11, 1705; 2. Hannah;4 married, first, Joseph Prince; 
second, John Mascoll; 3. William,4 baptized Aug. 14, I7I5- Benjamin 

Silsbee;3 married Mary Manning (published Nov. 21, 1730); died before 
1754; children: 1. Mary,4 born Oct. 25, 1733; 2. Benjamin,4 born June 26, 
1738; 3. Sarah,4 born June 8, 1742. Joseph Silsbee;3 married, first Mary 
Pain Dec. 23, 1735; second, Margaret Abbott Jan. 25, 1743; child: 1. 
Elizabeth,4 baptized Nov. 28, 1736. # rum 

Nathaniel Silsbee;4 married Mary Daniels Oct. 24, 173°; fell off a 
staging and died Aug. 4, 1734; children: 1. Samuel6 born Nov. I5H731; 
2. Nathaniel,6 born Dec. 26, 1733; died young. _ William Silsbee; car¬ 
penter; married Joanna Fowles Oct. 17, 1735; died JUL —» T7°3; she died 
April 16, 1793; children: 1. Nathaniel,6 born Nov. 9, 1748;. 2. Martha; 
married, first, William Emerton Oct. 27, 1761; second, Christopher Bab- 
badge; 3. Joanna;6 married Mansfield Burrill Dec. 1, 1764; 4- Hannah,, 
married Elijah Haskell Nov. 27, 1764; 5- William6 (?), born about i749> 

died July —, 1794. 
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here, and had a large family, who have been wealthy, prominent 
and influential. 

Samuel Silsbee;5 carpenter; married Martha Prince Jan. 22, 1756; 
died Dec. 14, 1803; she died Sept. 15, 1817; children: 1. Nathaniel;6 died 
in New York, unmarried; 2. Mary;6 died, unmarried; 3. Hannah,6 born 
about 1761; married John MacGregor Nov. i, 1781; 4. Samuel,6 born about 
1763; 5. Deborah,6 born April 19, 1767; married Daniel Sage; 6. Sarah;6 
died young; 7. Sarah, born about 1774; married, first, David Patten Aug. 14, 
1803; he died Nov. 1, 1805; married, second, Haffield White Read Jan. 28, 
1808. Capt. Nathaniel Silsbee;5 master mariner, commanded the Grand 
Turk; married Sarah Becket Nov. 1, 1770; died at New York June 25, 1791; 
she died April 30, 1832; children: 1. Nathaniel,6 born Jan. 14, 1773; 2. 
Sarah,6 born May 4, 1775; died Aug. 4, 1776; 3- Sarah,6 born Aug. 28, 1777; 
married Timothy Wellman; 4. William6 born March 21, I779i 5- Joanna,6 
born Sept. 21, 1780; died Aug. 16, 1782; 6. Polly,6 born Aug. 28, 1781; died 
Sept. 16, 1782; 7. Zachariah Fowle6 born Aug. 9, 1783; 8. Joanna6 born 
Sept. 22, 1789; died Oct. 5, 1789. 

Samuel Silsbee;6 carpenter and farmer; married Rebecca Read of 

Danvers Oct. 1, 1786; died June 7, 1822; she died July 9, 1857, aged ninety- 
four; children: 1. Martha,7 born March 22, 1787; married, first, David 
Beadle; second, Asa Hood; 2. Mary,1 born May 10, 1789; died June 25, 1794”, 
3. Rebecca,7 born March 13, 1791; married John M. Peck July 14, 1811; 
4. Nathaniel,7 born Dec. 29, 1793; drowned at sea from the brig Mary and 
Eliza Sept. 14, t8i6; 5. Mary,7 born May 22, 1796; died March 4, I797i 
6. Samuel,7 born May 27, 1798; married Mary Sullivan; had a daughter; 
7. John,7 born July 13, 1800; died Sept. 28, 1815; 8. Sarah,1 born Dec. 12, 
1802; married Thomas R. Peck of Boston June 10, 1821. Hon. Nathaniel 

Silsbee;6 merchant; member of congress and United States senator; mar¬ 
ried Mary Crowninshield Dec. 12, 1802; she died Sept. 30, 1835; he died 
July 15, 1850; children: 1. -7 (daughter), born Sept. 13, 1803; died 
Sept. 15, 1803; 2. Nathaniel,'' born Dec. 28. 1804; 3. Mary Crowninshield, 
born April 10, 1809; married Rev. Jared Sparks of Cambridge, president 
of Harvard College, May 21, 1839; 4. Georgiana Crowninshield,1 born 
Jan. 29, 1824; married, first, Francis Henry Appleton of Boston March 30, 
1846; second, Henry Saltonstall Sept. 12, 1855. William Silsbee;6 mer¬ 
chant; married Mary Hodges Nov. 14, 1808; died Jan. 15, 1833; she died 
Aug. 31, 1851; children: 1. Margaret Hodges,7 born July 24, 1810; died 
July 7. 1829; 2. Benjamin Hodges,7 born Oct. 23, 1811; 3. William,1 born 
May 17, 1813; 4. John Henry? born July 17, 1814; 5. Mary,7 born Sept. 8, 
1816; married Manuel Fenollosa; 6. Hannah Hodges,1 born April 20, 1818; 
died Feb. 16, 1895; 7. Harriet Elizabeth,7 born June 29, 1819; married John 
N. Mott of Mobile June 21, 1853. Zachariah Fowle Silsbee;6 merchant; 
president of the Salem Savings Bank; married Sarah Boardman Nov. 27, 
1810; she died April 16, 1852; he died July 3, 1873; children: 1. Francis 
Henry,7 bom Sept. 6, 1811; H. C., 1831; lawyer; cashier of Merchants 
Bank; died, unmarried, Nov. 19, 1848; 2. John Boardman,' born April 10, 
1813: 3. Sarah Ann,7 born June 18, 1814; married Jonathan Willard Peele; 
4. Zachariah,7 born Sept. 4, 1815; died Sept. 27, 1815; 5- Elizabeth,7 born 
Nov. 29, 1816; died Sept. 15, 1817; 6. Elizabeth,7 born Dec. 5, 1817; died 
Jan. _3, 1821; 7. Caroline,7 born Aug. 24, 1819; married William Dudley 
Pickman June 13, 1849; 8. Mary Boardman,7 born Jan. 3, 1821; married 
Rev. Dexter Clapp June 17, 1861; 9. George Zachariah,7 born Jan. 23, 1822; 
10. Edward Augustus,7 born Dec. 18, 1823; died Oct. 31, 1825; 11. Edward 
Augustus,7 born Feb. 19, 1826. 
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Robert Follett1 was in Salem in 1655 ; and was a fisherman, 
shoreman and husbandman. 

Samuel Beadle lived in Charlestown as early as 1656, and, 
in 1661, came to Salem, 
where he lived a little 
more than two years, 
when he died. The 

Hon. Nathaniel Silsbee;7 H. C., 1824; merchant; mayor; treasurer 
of Harvard College; removed to Boston in 1862; married Mary Ann C. 
Devereux Nov. 9, 1829; died in Milton July 9, 1881; children: 1. Nathan¬ 
iel Devereux,8 born Oct. 22, 1830; H. C., 1852; lived in Boston; married 
Mary S. Hodges Oct. 22, 1856; had children; 2. George Devereux,8 born 
Oct. 29, 1832; died Aug. 18, 1843; 3- Eliza Devereux,8 born Oct. 23, 1835; 
died March 20, 1837; 4. Mary Ann Devereux,8 born Sept. 11, 1837; died 
March 10, 1838; 5. Mary Crowninshield,8 born April 7, 1840; married 
Frederick Augustus Whitwell of Boston June 10, 1861; 6.-,8 stillborn 
March 17, 1841; 7. William Edward,8 born Sept. 27, 1843. Benjamin 

Hodges Silsbee;7 H. C., 1831; merchant; president of the East India 
Marine Society, Merchants National Bank, Salem Lead Company, Old 
Ladies Home and Salem Savings Bank; married Elizabeth Jane White of 
Dedham Oct. 22, 1840; died Feb. 22, 1880; she died Aug. 19, 1904; children: 
1. Elizabeth White,8 born Oct. 11, 1841; 2. Margaret,8 born March 2, 1850; 
died, unmarried, Jan. 14, 1901; 3. Francis H.,8 born April 7, 1852; 4. Martha,8 
born Nov. 4, 1858. Rev. William Silsbee;7 H. C., 1832; Congregationalist 
clergyman; married, first Charlotte Lyman March 21, 1838; she died Nov. 29, 
1848; second, Maria Porter Woodward March 30, 1858; he died Jan. 8, 
1890; she died April 2, 1911; children: 1. Annie Jean,8 born Aug. 4, 1839; 
died Dec. 2, 1920; 2. Henry Bellows;8 died in infancy; 3. Joseph Lyman,8 
born Nov. 25, 1848; married Anna B. Sedgwick June 5, 1875. John Henry 

Silsbee;7 H. C, 1832; merchant; married Rebecca Ann Dodge May i5> 
1838; died Sept. 19, 1891; children: 1. William Henry,8 born Jan. 26, 1841; 
died March 18, 1900; 2. Alice Dodge,8 born Oct. 31, 1843; married Dr. Hall 
Curtis of Boston Dec. 1, 1864; 3. Walter J.;8 died July —, 1868. John 

Boardman Silsbee;7 H. C., 1832; merchant; married Martha Mansfield 
Shepard May 10, 1849; Ted April 1, 1867; children: 1. Emily Fairfax.8 
born June 7, 1850; married Amory A. Lawrence June 1, 1871; 2. Arthur 
Boardman,8 born Jan. 19, 1854; 3- Martha,8 born Nov. 4, 1859; 4- Thomas, 
born Oct. 10, 1861. George Zachariah Silsbee;7 merchant; married Eliza¬ 
beth Sanders Saltonstall Dec. 16, 1852; she died Aug. 9, 1887; children : 1. 
George S.,8 born Aug. 21, 18541 2- Catherine E.,8 born Sept. 14, 1856; 3- 
Frank Boardman,8 born May 28, 1867. . 

1Robert Follett1 lived here as late as i7°31 married Persis Black 

Nov. 29, 1655; children: 1. Mary,2 born March 16, 1656; married John 
Herbert; 2/Robert,2 born Sept. 20, 1659; 3. Susanna,2 born June 1, 1662; 
married Joseph Sibley Feb. 4, 1683; 4. Hannah," born Dec. 23, 1664; mar¬ 
ried John Southwick; 5. Ruth,2 born Dec. 17, 1667; died May 1, 1668; 6. 
John,2 born Tuly 10, 1669; 7. Abraham,2 born Dec. 23, 1671; married 
Sarah Callum March 30, 1697; 8. Isaac2 (twin), born July 30, 1074; 9- 
Rebecca2 (twin), born July 30, 16741 I0- Benjamin, baptized Sept. 10, 
1687; husbandman; married Patience Doutee March 13. 1706-7. 

John Follett;2 married Martha-; children: 1. John, born Jul\ 29, 
1695; 2. Ruth.3 born Dec. 9, 1696 ; 3- Joseph,3 baptized May 21, 1699. Isaac 
Follett;2 husbandman; married Hannah Starr April 13, 1099, chi cl . ■ 

Isaac,3 baptized Oct. 17, I7°3- 



386 HISTORY OF SALEM 

Beadle family1 has never been numerous, prominent or wealthy 

'Samuel Beadle1 married Susanna-, who died Feb. 13, 1661-2'; he 
died March 10, 1663-4; children: 1. Samuel? born about 1643; 2. Eliza¬ 
beth; 3. Thomas? 4. Nathaniel? 5. -? drowned in a well Sept. 6, 1661; 
6. Dorothy,2 born March 8, 1659, in Charlestown; married William Lord 
Aug. 10, 1693; 7. Abigail,2 born Sept. 24, 1661; died Oct. 14, 1661. 

Samuel Beadle;2 served in King Philip’s War; turner; being wound¬ 
ed in the war he was licensed to keep an inn; married Hannah Lemon 
June 10, 1668; died in 1706; she died in 1736; children: 1. Nathaniel? 
born March 29, 1669; 2. Samuel,3 born Oct. 11, 1671; 3. Thomas,3 born 
Nov. 28, 1673; died May 10, 1676; 4. Susannah,3 born April 20, 1676; mar¬ 
ried Henry Herrick July 23, 1694; 5. Mary,3 born May 21, 1678; married 
Samuel Phippen; 6. Lemon? born July 30, 1680; 7. Hannah,3 born Dec. 18, 
1682; unmarried in 1729; 8. Robert,3 born Nov. 14, 1684; mariner; lived 
in London, England; died there, unmarried, in 1710; 9. Jonathan,3 born 
July 24, 1687; died May 16, 1688; 10. Caleb,3 born Feb. 24, 1688-9; 11. 
Sarah,3 born Sept. 24, 1690; married Richard Elvins July 14, 1715; 12. 
Ruth,3 born April 17, 1693; died Oct. 5, 1696. Capt. Thomas Beadle;2 

sea-captain, trading with Barbadoes; tavern keeper; married Elizabeth 
Drake Sept. 18, 1679; died at Gloucester May 23, 1700; she married, 
secondly, Capt. Thomas Dean Dec. 9, 1701; children : 1. Elizabeth,3 born 
July 9, 1681; probably died before 1701; 2. Mary,3 born April 5, 1683; 
probably died before 1701; 3. Thomas,3 born March 16, 1685-6; died in 
1686; 4. Benjamin? born Sept. 7, 1687; 5-- Thomas? born Feb. 10, 1689-90; 
6. John,3 born Feb. 14, 1691-2. Nathaniel Beadle;2 cordwinder; married 
Mary Hicks April 20, 1671; died in 1704; children: 1. Thomas,3 born 
Jan. 21, 1671-2; Mary,3 born Nov. 20, 1673; married Benjamin Gray; 3. 
Nathaniel? born Dec. 17, 1675; 4. John3 born April 29, 1678; died young; 
5. Elizabeth,3 born Oct. 25, 1679; married Peter Henderson Nov. 10, 1701; 
6. John,6 born Aug. 12, 1683; 7. Abigail,3 born Oct. 2, 1685; married Ben¬ 
jamin Henderson July 22, 1706; 8. Joseph? born Dec. 14, 1687; 9. Jonathan.3 
born Jan. 2, 1689-90; 10. David? born April 18, 1692. 

Nathaniel Beadle;3 cordwainer; married Elizabeth Sharp; -died 
about 1713; she married, second, Samuel Cooke of Wallingford, Conn., 
Jan. 26, 1715-6; children: 1. Susannah,4 born Nov. 13, 1695; probably died 
young; 2. John? 3. Eunice;4 under age in 1718; 4. Lois;4 under age in 
1718; 5. Nathaniel,4 born Dec. 15, 1703; married Elizabeth Hitchcock 
Nov. 10, 1726; died Feb. 10, 1762; had children; 6. Mary,4 born Sept. 18, 
1708; living in 1718; 7. Josiah,4 born Aug. 3, 1711; living in 1718. Joseph 

Beadle;3 cordwainer; married Elizabeth Evans June 9, 1708; died in 
1715; she was his widow in 1722; children (baptized Oct. 9, 1715) ; 1. Jona¬ 
than;4 master mariner; died Dec. 16, 1750; Sarah, daughter of Jonathan 
Beadle, baptized in St. Peter’s Church Oct. 9, 1757; 2. Joseph? 3. Thomas;4 
cordwainer; lived in Smithfield, R. I., in 1740; 4. Sarah;4 5. David? David 

Beadle;3 cordwainer and mariner; married Rebecca Gillingham Dec. 6, 
1716; died in 1723; she married, secondly, John Stearns Oct. 27, 1726; 
children: i. Rebecca,4 born Sept. 27, 1717; 2.  ? 3.   4 (posthu¬ 
mous). Nathaniel Beadle;3 mariner; married Mary -; died in 1702; 
she survived him; child: 1. Hannah,4 born July 5, 1702; unmarried in 
1729. Lemon Beadle;3 carver; married Rebecca Atwater Jan. 4, 1709-10; 
died Nov. 17, 1717; she married, secondly, Samuel Phippen March 20, 1718; 
children: 1. Samuel,4 born Sept. 18, 1711; cooper; married Katherine 
Blaney Oct. 27, 1733; died in 1739; she married, secondly, Jonathan Tuex- 
burv Dec. 14, T740; 2. Rebecca,4 born Jan. 31, 1713-4; married John Becket. 
Benjamin Beadle;8 cordwainer; married Abigail Hammond April 9, 1713; 
she was living in 1729, and he in 1752; children : t. Benjamin,4 born Nov. tt. 
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locally. They have been connected with commerce as shipbuild¬ 
ers and mariners, a number of them having been master mariners. 

1713; died young; 2. Abigail,4 born Jan. 8, 1714-5; died Feb. 19, 1714-5; 
3. Abigail,4 born Jan. 28, 1715-6; married David Beadle; 4. Elizabeth,4 
born March 12, 1718; married Stephen Daniel March 18, 1739-40; 5. Ruth,4 
born March 4, 1720; living in 1727; 6. Benjamin,4 born Aug. 1, 1722; living 
in 1727. Thomas Beadle;3 mariner; married Margaret Ingersoll June 19, 
1712; died in 1734; children: 1. Margaret,4 born Jan. 22, 1712-3; mar¬ 
ried, first, Benjamin Swinerton; second, William Owen of Marblehead 
Dec. 9, 1755; third, Benjamin Nurse; 2. Thomas,4 baptized March 2, 
1717-8; mariner; died in 1745; 3. Sarah;4 married, first, Stephen Welcome 
Nov. 25, 1739; second, James Coady. 

John Beadle;4 mariner; married Mercy English Oct. 11, 1722; died 
before 1764; she died in 1777; children: 1. Mary;5 married William 
Symonds; 2. Susanna,6 born Aug. 7, 1729; died, unmarried, Jan. 20, 1810, 
suddenly; 3. Sarah; married Richard Masury Nov. 29, 1754; 4. Mercy;5 
married John Dove Dec. 8, 1768 ; 5. Josiah ;5 6. David;5 7. John.5 Joseph 

Beadle;4 mariner; married Lydia Bates Aug. 17, 1738; died before 1750; 
she was his widow in 1760; children: 1. Sarah,5 baptized Oct. 21, 1739; 
married William Carrill June 5, 1761; 2. Joseph,5 baptized June 20, 1742; 
died Oct. 3, 1818. David Beadle;4 mariner; married Abigail Beadle Oct. 22, 
1736; children: 1. Abigail,5 born Dec. 29, 1737; 2. Elizabeth,5 born Jan. 30, 

T739- 
Josiah Beadle;5 mariner; married Susanna Batten Jan. 26, 1762; died 

in 1775; she married, secondly, Henry Seward April 27, 1780; she died 
Jan. 8, 1817; children: 1. Mercy;6 married Thaddeus Gwinn; 2. Susan¬ 
nah;6 married John Elliott Dale Sept. 21, 1787. David Beadle;6 mariner; 
married Lydia Wiley Dec. 17, 1769; died in 1783; she died Oct. 15, i792i 
children: 1. Lydia;6 married Joshua Webb; 2. Joseph,6 born m 1776: 
merchant; master mariner; married Tabitha Hitchings Jan. 19, 1804; she 
died Sept. 5, 1845; he died Oct. 2, 1848; 3. David;6 4• Josiah,6 born May 2, 
1780; shoemaker and mariner; died, unmarried, May 9, 1869; 5. John6 
born Jan. 20, 1782. John Beadle;5 married Mary West Aug. 9, 1745; she 
married, secondly, Thomas Eden July 11, 1751; child: 1. Mary;8 probably 
married Edmund Henfield April 25, 1772. 

David Beadle;6 mariner; married Martha Silsbee Jan. 5, 1806; died 
at West Indies July —, 1811; children: 1. Davidj7 baptized Feb. 1, 1807^ 
mariner, on ship Two Brothers, lost overboard Dec. 27, 1828; 2. Josiah,7 
baptized May 21, 1809; died Feb. 16, 1842.. John Beadle;6 shipwright; 
a builder of privateers; married Lucy Robbins of Ipswich April 30, 1805; 
she died Jan. 15, 1859; he died Oct. 14, 1863; children: 1. Lucy;7 married 
Ephraim Felt; 2. Lydia;7 married Jonathan Osborn of Danvers June 26, 
1832; 3. John? born Oct. 14, 1813; 4- Joseph;7 5- Josiah,7 born in 1819; 
died Nov.—, 1821; 6. Josiah;7 shipwright and caulker; married Mary 
Gregory; lived in Boston; died about 1908. 

John Beadle;7 shipwright; married Mary Masury Brown March 27^ 
1838; lived in South Danvers; died Aug. 31, 1889; children: 1. John 
born Jan. 26, 1839; shipwright; lived in Galena and Chicago, Ill.; married 
Emma Anna Partridge of Galena June 28, 1871; died in Chicago about 
1923; she survived him; had a daughter; 2. Charles,8 born Dec. 31, 1839; 
master mariner; married Mary J. Page; died Jan. 11, 1910; no children;, 
3. William,8 born June 20, 1841; master mariner; married; died in Dux- 
bury Sept. 12, 1912; no children; 4. Francis,8 born Aug. 7, 1846; master 
mariner; lived in Boston, 1873-1924; since then in Salem; married Caroline 
E. Elwell of Boston June 4, 1876; no children. Joseph Beadle; ship¬ 
wright and caulker; married Lucy Ann Ottignon April 2, 1842died abou 
1875; child: 1. Lucy Annah,8 born in 1844; died Feb. 11, 1847. 
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Richard Croade1 of Boston, merchant, purchased a house and 
lot of land in Salem, on the northerly side of Essex Street, mid¬ 
way between Beckford 
and Monroe streets, July 
9, 1664 ;2 and removed to 
Salem. He lived in this 
house until his death, in 
1689. 

The town voted; June 18, 1666, that the work to be done at 
the fort should be carried on by a day’s work of each man in the 
town above sixteen years of age, “and so round the town from 
one day to another until the whole work be done and finished.” 
Captain Corwin gave notice when each man should work, with the 
assistance and advice of the selectmen. 

May 19, 1669, the general court “as there hath been a con¬ 
siderable sum laid out upon fortification at Salem, which may 
prove of good use, yet, for want of some little further work, it is 
rendered for the present unserviceable, this Court doth therefore 
order, that Capt. George Corwin take care that the said fortifica¬ 
tion be forthwith completed, and he is hereby impowered to grant 
warrants to the constables to impress workmen, if need be, for the 
finishing of the said fortification, the charge whereof to be de¬ 
frayed by the selectmen, who are hereby impowered to rate the 
inhabitants for that end and purpose." 

Nicholas Manning,8 a gunsmith and anchor-smith, came from 
England to Salem 
at the age of 
He became a sea-captain U 
and in a vessel, which he 

aRichard Croade, born about 1628, was son of Richard and Anstice 
Croade of Frampton, Dorsetshire, England; married Frances-, who 
survived him; children: 1. Sarah, born Feb. 3, 1665-6; baptized in Fling- 
ham the eighteenth; married Philip Hill Dec. 23, 1689; 2. William, born 
Feb. 9, 1667-8; living in 1686; 3. Hannah, born Nov. 14, 1671; married 
Joseph Crow March 19, 1716-7; 4. John, born Feb. 25,. 1672-3; mariner; 
married Mary -; died in 1719; lived in the Parish of Stepney, Middle- 
sexshire, England, in 1717; in 1722, his widow lived in Bartlett’s buildings, 
in the Parish of St. Andrews, Holborn, in the city of London; two years 
later, she was late of the Parish of Stepney alias Stebenheath, Middlesex- 
shire; and later of Salem; their son, John Croade, born in 1717, lived 
with his mother at St. Andrews in 1722; 5. Richard; living in 1686; 6. 
Elizabeth; married, first, Edmund Bridges; second, Daniel Lambert; third, 
Moses Gilman of Exeter, N. H.; 7. Judith; married Joseph Neale. 

2Essex Registry of Deeds, book 6, leaf 7. 
3Richard Manning1 was baptized in St. Patrick’s (Petrox) Parish, 

Dartmouth, Devonshire, England, in 1622; married Anstice Calley; he 
never came to America; she came to Salem in 1679, with five of their 
children, in the Hannah and Elizabeth, their son Nicholas having lived 
in Salem seventeen years; children: t. Nicholas,2 born June 23. 1644; 2. 
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hired, among other immigrants he brought to Salem his widowed 
mother and his brothers and sisters. 

Richard,2 born June 22, 1646; probably remained in England; 3. Anstice,3 
born Jan. 8, 1650-1; married James Powling; 4. Margaret,2 born Oct. 9, 
1657; married Walter Palfrey; 5. Jacob2 (twin), born Dec. 25, 1660; 6. 
Thomas2 (twin), born Dec. 25, 1660; 7. Sarah,2 born Aug. 28, 1667; mar¬ 
ried John Williamson Dec. 8, 1686. 

Capt. Nicholas Manning;2 gunsmith and anchor-maker; captain, 
1677-1681; served in King Philip’s War; lived in Salem, New York, and 
Sheepscott, Me.; was of Stratton Island, N. Y., gunsmith, in 1709; mar¬ 
ried Elizabeth, widow of Robert Gray June 23, 166-; his wife was Mary 
in 1709; children: 1. Thomas,3 born May 2, 1664; died in six months; 
2. Nicholas,3 born Sept. 15, 1665; died June 16, 1667; 3. Margaret,3 born 
Feb. 25, 1666-7; died in a few days; 4. John,3 born May 28. 1668; gunsmith 
and blacksmith; lived in Boston; married Joanna Lash May 9, 1695, in 
Boston; she died; he died in 1727. Lt. Jacob Manning;2 gunsmith; mar¬ 
ried Sarah Stone May 4, 1683; died May 24, 1756; she died June 24, 1756; 
children: 1. Robert,3 born Feb. 10, 1683-4; died, unmarried, about 1715; 
2. Jacob,3 born Feb. 7, 1685-6; died, unmarried, in 1714; 3- Elizabeth,3 
born Aug. 15, 1689; died, unmarried, about 1720; 4. Sarah,3 born Dec. 15, 
1691; died, unmarried, Jan. 15, 178°; 5- Richard,3 born March 1, 1694; 
mariner; died, unmarried, in 1725; 6. Benjamin,3 born May 12, 1696; 
7. Samuel,3 born June 19, 1698; 8. Katherine,3 born April 22, 1701; mar¬ 
ried John Berry Oct. 26, 1722; 9. Mary,3 born July 6, 1706; married 
Benjamin Silsby. Thomas Manning;2 gunsmith; lived in Ipswich; mar¬ 
ried Marv Giddings June 19, i68t ; died May 14, 1737; she died Feb. 24, 
1738-9; children: t. Anstice,3 born Oct. —, 1695; 2. Thomas; died 
voung; 3. Richard.3 born about 1700; 4. Mary 3 born about 1702; 5. John 
"(twin), born March 16, 1703; 6. Joseph3 (twin), born March 16, 1703; 
H. G.. 1725; physician; lived in Ipswich; Dr. John Manning of Ipswich 

was his son. 
Capt. Benjamin Manning;3 cordwainer, shopkeeper and master-mar¬ 

iner; married Hannah Lambert Dec. 25, 1718 5 died Jan. 8, 1768; she died 
Sept. 27. 1771; children: i. -,4 born June 21, 1720; died in infancy; 
2. Elizabeth,4 born July 18, 1721; died July 20, 1726; 3. Plannah, born 
Sept. 7, 1723; died June 28, 1738; 4- Mary,4 born July 14, 1725; married 
John Hodges; 5. Benjamin,4 born Junei2, 1727; died Jan. 7, J740; 6. Eliza¬ 
beth,4 born July 12, 1729; died, unmarried, Feb. 27, 1801; 7. Richard, born 
Aug 2 1731; master-mariner; member of Provincial Congress; died, un¬ 
married, Jan. 8, 1811; 8. Margaret,4 born July 22, .17331 died Feb 10, 
1734-5; 9. Margaret,4 born Jan. 31, 1734-5; died, unmarried -guK 26, ioi3> 
10 Tacob,4 born Feb. 4, 1736-7; cordwainer; died, unmarried, heb. 28, T815; 
11. Hannah,4 born June 18, 1739; died, unmarried, April 23 1817. 
Manning;3 gunsmith and farmer;. removed to Oxford, Mass., m t74«. 
married Margaret -; she was living in 175°; he c]ied Sept. 19. T774> 
children: 1. Robert;4 2. Jacob.4 John Manning; yeoman; lived m 
Ipswich; married, first, Jane Bradstreet July 2, 1728; he clied Ju y 13, T73-> 
married, second, Elizabeth Wallis Feb. 20, 1733-4; she died Dec. 21 t73l > 
married, third, Ruth Potter June 12, 17391 died in 17751 she died In y T3- 
1791; children: 1. John,4 born June 19, 173^; 2. Elizabeth^ baptized 
Oct. 20, 1734; 3. Mary,4 baptized Oct. T9, 1735; 4- Rebecca, baptiz 
Nov. 20. 1737; 5. Anna,4 baptized Dec. 17, 17384 6. Ruth, baptized Pn 3> 
1740; 7. John,4 baptized June 14, 174*; 8_ Anstice, baptized cc- 9, 
1742; 9. Jane,4 baptized Dec. 15, 1745; TO- Sarah, baptized . an. , /4/ > 
11. Thomas,4 born Jan. 23, 1750; 12. Richard, born May 29, H55- 
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The Salem court, June 26, 1666, licensed Eleazer Hathorne 
to retail strong water for a year. 

The general court appointed November 8th, of this year, as 
a day of "thanksgiving for “God’s continuance of our civil and 
spiritual liberties, in preserving us from invasion of the common 
enemies of our nation, in sparing such a portion of the fruits of 
the earth as may be for necessary sustenance, notwithstanding the 
threats of his displeasure against us the summer past, in the 
drought, blastings, and mildews.” The court also appointed 
November 22d as a fast, on account “of the growth of sin and 
prophaneness, as pride, oppression, sensuality, carnal security, 

Serg. John Manning;4 farmer; lived in Ipswich; married Mary 
Proctor Feb. 16. 1764; died Feb. 5, 1814; she died May 28, 1827; children: 
1. John,5 born Feb. 15, 1765; 2. Joseph,5 baptized May 31, 1767; 3. Mary,5 
baptized Sept. 17, 1769; 4. Thomas,5 baptized May 7, 1775; 5- Richard, 
baptized May 4, 1777; 6. Sarah,6 baptized July 15, 1787; 7. William,8 
baptized May 20, 1793. Richard Manning;4 blacksmith; lived in Salem; 
established the Salem and Boston Stage Company; married Miriam Lord 
in 1776; died April 19, 1813, when on a journey to Maine; she died Oct. —, 
1831; children: 1. Mary,6 born June 1, 1777; died, unmarried, Oct. 25, 
1841; 2. William,5 born Nov. 27, 1778; merchant; died, unmarried, Sept. 5, 
1864; 3. Elizabeth Clarke,6 born Sept. 6, 1780; married Capt. Nathaniel 
Hathorne; 4. Richard,6 born July 31, 1782; lived in Raymond. Me.; mar¬ 
ried Susan Dingley of Raymond in 1816; died in 1830; she married, 
secondly, Francis Radoux; had no issue; 5. Robert,5 born July 18, 1784; 
6. Maria Miriam,6 born June 18, 1786; died, unmarried. May 20. 1814; 7- 
John.6 born Feb. 10, 1788; 8. Priscilla Miriam.5 born Jan. 10, 1790; mar¬ 
ried John Dike Oct. 17, 1817; 9. Samuel,6 born Dec. 17, T79*; died, un¬ 
married, Nov. 17, 1833. 

Richard Manning;5 lived in Ipswich; married, first, Abigail Lane; 
second, Judith Brown Jan. 10, 1821; died May 22, 1821; she died June 22, 
1856; children: 1. Daniel Cogszvell,6 born Dec. 27, 1805; 2. George,6 born 
about 1807; 3. Richard,6 born in 1809; lived in Salem; lost overboard at 
sea in Zanzibar Dec. 30, 1830; unmarried; 4. Francis Brown,6 born about 
1820. Robert Manning;6 broker and pomologist; married Rebecca Dodge 
Burnham Dec. 20. 1824; died Oct. to. 1842; she died Dec. 24, 1869; chil¬ 
dren: 1. Maria,6 born Feb. 7. 1826; died, unmarried. Dec. 24, 1917, aged 
ninety-one; 2. Robert,6 born July 6, 1827; pomologist; secretary of the 
Massachusetts Horticultural Society; died, unmarried, Feb. 17, 1902; 3. 
Richard Clarke,6 born Jan. 8, 1830; 4. Rebecca,6 born Sept. 4, 1834; unmar¬ 
ried at the age of ninety-one. 

Daniel Cogswell Manning;6 lived in Salem; married L.ouisa Massey 
June 12, 1827; died April 30, 1882, at Winchendon; she was living in 1896; 
children: 1. Anna Louisa,7 born June 12, 1828; married James Augustus 
Farless; 2. Mary Elizabeth.7 born July 9, 1836; married Benjamin Webb 
Russell. George Manning;6 lived in Salem, Mass., Washington. D. C., 
and Brooklyn, N. Y.; married Frances Wilkins Ropes Dec. —, 1833; died 
in Brooklyn March 12, 1861; she died June 11, 1866; children, born in 
Salem: 1. George Francis.7 born about 1835; drowned at Salem June 26, 
1841; 2. Marcellina R.,7 born about 1836; died,, unmarried, at Yonkers, 
N. Y„ March 30, 1867; 3. -7 (son); died in infancy. Richard Clarke 

Manning;6 coal dealer; married Sarah Elizabeth (Yeaton), widow of 
Oliver H. Gould Oct. 11, 1865; died May 2, TQ04; she went to San Diego. 
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formality and heresy; . . the small pox, mildews, drought, 
caterpillars, grasshoppers, with the effects thereof, whereby many 
of our outward comforts have been shortened, . . the low 
estate of the true professors of Christian religion in all parts; 
and, in particular, that the Lord . . will please to preserve the 
fleet of ships lately gone from hence, and give them a safe arrival 
at their desired ports.’' 

Henry Colburn1 was a mariner, and lived in Salem from 
1665 until his death in 1676, apparently while on a voyage to Vir¬ 
ginia. Jeremiah Meachum2 
was a husbandman and 
weaver, and lived here as 
early as 1650. William 

Jjperxvfr Tfu^rL, 

Powell, a seaman, was of Salem in 1666. He made his will March 
18, 1666-7, when he was bound for Virginia, and, as he says, the 
“times being troublesome and dangerous. He wras cast away in 
1669. Thomas Searle,1 aged about twenty-eight, fisherman, was 

Cal.; child: 1. Richard Clarke,7 born Aug. 7, 1867; H. C., 1888; professor 
in Hobart College, Geneva, N. Y.; now of Gambler, O. 

"Henry Colburn married Sarah Golt Dec. —, 1665; died in the spring 
of 1676; children: 1. Christian, born Dec. 25, 1666; died Aug. 1, 1607, 
2. Henry, born Jan. 26, 1668; died June I7> 1669; 3. Sara, born April 2, 
1671; 4. Johanah, born Sept. 20, 1673; died Sept. 24, 1673; 5. Mary, born 

Dec. 17, 1674. . .. , , , 
Hfwftvttah Meachum1 married, first, Margaret -; she died before 
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in Salem in 1666. Abraham Toppan,1 born in 1608, tailor, came 
from Newbury, remained here during the year 1666, and returned 
to Newbury. 

Nov. 27, 1666, the Salem court ordered that the goods or 
‘'rack" lately secured by Maj. William Hathorne and left by him 
in the possession of John Devorix should be remanded and made 
use of for the erecting of a cage in Salem, and to be accountable 
for the remainder of it and “what is done herein” to the court. 
This prison was made and set on the westerly side of the meeting 
house in what is now the street. 

A new prison was built on the same site in 1669, at an ex¬ 
pense of thirty-seven pounds. Samuel Archer was the carpenter 
and did the felling, sawing, framing and finishing for sixteen 
pounds. Mr. Batter was paid seven pounds for boards; John 
Devorex, for seventeen trees and drawing them to the water side, 
received four pounds; Bartholmew Gidney was paid a pound for 
the timber by water; William Flint, for carting timber, stones and 
gravel, was paid two pounds; Eleazer Hathorne furnished nails, 
one hundred and fifty feet of boards and iron work and was paid 
three pounds; John Baker was paid seven shillings for ground- 
silling the building, three shillings for a day’s work in leveling the 
floor and five shillings for a lock; and Marshall Skerry furnished 
twelve hundred shingles and laid them, at an expense of one pound 
and five shillings. Major Hathorne superintended the con¬ 
struction of the building, and toward the payment of the bills re¬ 
ceived from John Deverex eighteen pounds, Mr. Parlett five 
pounds, county treasurer ten pounds, and the marshall of the 
county one pound; leaving about two pounds due.2 Benjamin 
Felton, who lived on the southwest corner of Essex and Washing¬ 
ton streets, was the keeper of the prison ; and he permitted prison¬ 
ers to leave the prison to work for him on his own account, and 
some ran away. 

And, although the prison was new and presumably up-to-date 
in its security, June 28, 1670, the Salem court sentenced John 
Baker to be whipped ten stripes for twitching the prison lock of 
Salem at noonday. 

July 31, 1722; 3. Joseph; slaughterer; married Sarah Knights July 15, 1701; 
4. Thomas, born Aug. 5, 1674; married Elizabeth Bush April 14, 1697; 
5. Elizabeth; married William Frost April 5, 1706. 

Abraham Toppan married Susan -; died Nov. 5, 1672; she died 
March 20, 1689; children: 1. Elizabeth; married Samuel Mighill of 
Rowley Nov. 21, 1657; 2. Abraham; living in 1670; 3. Peter, born 
in 1644; 4. Jacob, born in 1645; 5. Isaac; living in 1670; 6. Susanna, 
born June 13, 1649; 7- John, born April 23, 1651; living in 1670. 

'Records and Files of the Quarterlv Courts of Essex County, volume 
IV, page 213. 



THE PRISON 393 

Nov. io, 1674, the selectmen “Agreed that the town house 
shall be set up by the prison,” and the next April voted to remove 
the latter and the settling of it in another place was left to the 
selectmen. June 8, 1676, the selectmen agreed with Benjamin Fel¬ 
ton to set the prison in his garden, which is now included in 
Washington Street, between the Price block and the tunnel, to 
stand there as long as the town should see meet, or as long as the 
prison shall last. For the use of the land the town agreed to pay 
him forty shillings. When it was moved a new floor was laid in 
it; and Jan. 2, 1676-7, the selectmen paid William Dounton one 
pound and seven shillings for plank and work upon the prison. 

An interesting incident occurred in the old prison, just before 
its removal into Felton’s garden. A prisoner was confined in it, 
and in the night of June 18, 1675, he broke prison and escaped. 
John Clifford, constable of Salem, M;r. Hathorne not being at 
home, issued three “hues and cries” and sent them three several 
ways. They were addressed to the constables of Reading, ’Wo¬ 
burn, Billerica, Chelmsford, Concord and so from constable to 
constable to the utmost limits westward of this colony; to the 
constables of Marblehead, Lynn, Malden, Charlestown, Cam¬ 
bridge, Watertown, Sudbury, etc.; and to the constables of Bever¬ 
ly, Wenham, Ipswich, Rowley, Newbury, Salisbury, and so to the 
several constables of the towns east of this colony, for the con¬ 
stables “to make diligent search in your several towns for one 
James Booth or Garritt, who broke prison this last night at Salem 
and made an escape, who was committed for a criminal offence, he 
is of a middle stature, brownish hair and complexion, a blemish— 
one of his eyes, of a drawling speech, a tailor by trade.”1 This 
incident shows the alertness, expediency and sagacity of the official 
in attempting to retake the fugitive. 

Another instance of breaking out of the new prison occurred 
in May, 1679. A negro, who was charged with attempting the 
life of a young woman in the woods, was confined with a great 
chain about one of his legs. He made his escape with the chain 
about his leg. He was of middle stature, called John, and wore a 
light-colored serge coat and sad-colored breeches. A warrant for 
his arrest was issued, and addressed to the constables of Salem, 
Marblehead, Lynn, Malden, Cambridge, Watertown and Dedham. 

In a hearing on the sufficiency of the prison, the next year, 
Josiah Gatchell testified that he knew the prison was insufficient, 
for any man without any instrument, except his own hands, could 
go out as he pleased. John Haskins also escaped from it in No¬ 
vember of that year. 

Records and Files of the Quarterly Courts of Essex County, volume 
VI, page 103. 
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Dec. ii, 1666, the selectmen granted to Capt. Thomas 
Lauthrop the swamp meadow, adjoining to that commonly called 
Cromwell s meadow, running towards Will s Hill, in lieu of the 
eight or ten acres of meadow formerly granted to him. 

Jan. 15, 1666-7, the selectmen granted to Joseph Huchison 
forty acres of land on the north side of Ipswich River, ‘‘near 
Wilkins’ way” over that river. 

Feb. 12, 1666-7, the selectmen agreed with John West “at 
the Creek,” that while he should maintain “the Caseway over the 
marsh at the farm which was Mr. Blakleech’s in Salem bounds a 
sufficient highway to the town of Gloster and the Manchester 
men’s use: he shall enjoy the use and benefit of: all such ground 
as lieth in Common: between the said farm and the farm of Nicho: 
Woodbery with pond and beach: and hath liberty to set up a gate: 
thereon for his use.” This causeway is on West Street, near Hale 
Street, at Beverly Farms. 

Upon his purchase of the Bellingham and Denison grants in 
what is now Middleton, in 1660, Bray Wilkins erected a dwelling 
house and, with John Gingell, who owned the territory with him, 
immediately offered to annex his extensive territory to the town 
of Salem, as it was then without any local jurisdiction. This 
was done in a petition to the General Court, dated May 23, 1661. 
In the petition, they say that their lands lie nigh to the territory 
of Salem and that the petitioners had been of the Salem society for 
many years, that there was a highway thereto, and they have had 
their spirits well satisfied “in the ministry of God" there, etc. The 
request was immediately granted. This was also accepted by the 
town of Salem. Wilkins came to Salem by a path, which was the 
original of King and Maple streets, to the Indian ford over Ips¬ 
wich River near Howes' station. From thence the old path ran 
by the old road, Preston and Nichols streets, to Beaver brook, and 
from thence to Salem. 

There was a way to Andover (North Andover) very early 
from Salem through what is now Danvers Highlands, where 
Center Street now runs, passing over Ipswich River at the old log 
bridge, on River Street to the Andover turnpike whence it con¬ 
tinued in a crooked path past Bray Wilkins’ house in Middleton, 
through Middleton Square, Park Street and at the three roads 
passing to the right toward the present center of North Andover. 
All these roads still exist, and are in excellent condition. The log 
bridge was built originally of logs very early. Some fifteen years 
ago, the old logs with their renewals, were removed, and the 
present steel girders took their places. 

“The inhabitants about Will’s Hill” requested the town of 
Salem to locate a way to town, and, Dec. 25, 1666, the selectmen 
agreed to make provision for such a road that winter. The same 
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“inhabitants” informed the selectmen that the people of Andover 
also desired a way to Salem, and Thomas Putnam and Sergeant 
Fuller were appointed to speak and treat with the selectmen of 
Andover about it. The matter of building a bridge over the river 
soon came into the discussion. 

May 3, 1667, the selectmen appointed Edmond Batter, Wil¬ 
liam Flint and Richard Leech “to meet with Andover men at 
Lieut: Tho: Puttnam: and are Impowered to settle the country 
highway betwixt us and Andover: so as near as they can best ac¬ 
commodate : them and our neighbors both at Will’s Hill and our 
farmers.” June 7, 1667, the selectmen appointed Edmond Batter 
and Nathaniel Putnam to “perfect the agreement with Goodman 
Fuller about the highway betwixt Salem and Andover: as also to 
treat with the Court at Salem about the bridge: and to do all 
things necessary for the completing, furnishing and recording all 
that is required to be done with respect to ye said way.” This is 
the ancient log bridge which was built over Ipswich River. 

March 19, 1667-8, the Salem selectmen appointed Edmond 
Batter to treat with the county at the next Salem court; and,.Nov. 
24, 1668, the local court allowed to Salem six pounds, thirteen 
shillings and four pence, for encouragement in building a bridge 
over Ipswich River, the new way between Salem and Andover, the 
entire highway to be completed before the next Salem court. The 
next February, the town voted that the payment be suspended. 

In September, 1670, the town appointed Captain Corwine, 
Henry Bartholmew, Lt. Thomas Putnam and William Holling- 
wood as a committee to meet with some Andover men to see 
whether a better way could be found ; and view the way already 
laid out. This vote was practically repeated by the town March 
25th following, the committee being the same, except that Holling- 
wood was not put on it, and Major Hathorne appointed in his 
stead. The same committee, the next July, were appointed to 
take care about the Andover highway, and appoint the place where 
a bridge shall be made over the river, and agree with some men to 
do it that it may be done before the next court held at Salem. 
June 27, 1671, the Salem court ordered that a bridge should be 
built over Ipswich River, and a highway to it partly on Topsfield 
land. The selectmen of Salem petitioned the general court, stating 
that they had been prevented the last two summers by miserable 
rains ; that the proposed new way is shorter, cheaper to maintain 
“having as we conceive above a hundred rod of meadow and 
swamp in not much more than two miles and some of it very deep, 
and praying that a committee be appointed to see it done. I ie 
committee so appointed consisted of William Hathorne, George 
Corwin, Thomas Putnam and Henry Bartholmew for Salem; and, 
before December 1st, the bridge and way were fully comp etec . 
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The new way left the Wilkins road at what is now Liberty 
Street, in Middleton, and followed the present street northerly to 
North Andover Center through meadow, wood, swamp and ledgy 
hilly ground, for many miles. Beyond the Andrew Nichols house, 
the road ran through the territory of Topsfield to the river, and 
through Rowley (Boxford) and Andover (North Andover). 
Bridges were erected at Beaver brook and, in Rowley, at Beachy 
(Stony) brook. 

7 V 1 

EXERCISE CONANT HOUSE 

William Oxman, born about 1633, fisherman, lived here from 
1667 to 1669. George Thomas1 lived in Salem from 1667 to 1680. 
He was born about 1640, and had his gunsmith’s shop at 95 Essex 
Street. Elisha Kebee2 came to 
Salem, at the age of nineteen, £ jf** /a 
in 1667. Peter Audley wasti/ 'J' 
here a short time, being gone 
in 1672. 

George Thomas married Mary Graves in Salem Dec. 28, 1667; chil¬ 
dren: 1. Richard, born Dec. 6, 1668; 2. George, born April 14, 1670; 3. 
Mary, born Dec. 3, 1671; 4. Elizabeth, born Jan. 4, 1672-3; married 
Isaac Pease; 5. Hannah, born June 6, 1674; 6. Ruth, born Feb. 8, 1675. 

“Elisha Kebee was born about 1648; joiner; removed to Enfield between 
1681 and 1701 ; married Rachel Cooke Dec. 12, 1667; they were living in 
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Exercise Conant built his house at what is now 634 Cabot 
Street, in Beverly, in 1667, and lived in it until May 25, 1695, 
when he conveyed it to his “cousin” John Conant.1 The purchaser 
lived'here from 1695 to Sept. 6, 1715, when Rev. John Chipman, 
pastor of the then new North Beverly church, bought it for a 
parsonage.2 Mr. Chipman lived here until his decease, March 23, 
1775, a period of sixty years. The title remained in the Chipman 
family until June 24, 1891, when it passed to Frank A. Woodbury, 
who is its present owner. 

The Salem church adopted the Bay Psalm Book in 1667, not 
to take the place of the old singing book which had been in use 
here since Salem was first settled, but as supplementary to Ains¬ 
worth’s. 

In 1672, the weekly lecture of the church was held at eleven 
o’clock throughout the year. 

In September, 1667, the town voted to pay two pounds each 
for killing wolves, and during the next year forty-six pounds was 
paid under that vote. Wolves must have been common and 
troublesome at that period. Feb. 21, 1667-8, the selectmen order¬ 
ed that “John Edwards and Company” be paid for killing three 
wolves. 

The general court appointed Nov. 5, 1667, to be kept as a 
day of thanksgiving, “as it hath pleased the Ford graciously to 
continue our peace and liberties, and kept off the common enemy 
of our nation from infesting our coasts and habitations, and hath 
also blessed the fruits of the earth this last summer in a plentiful 
increase thereof." 

Dec. 4, 1667, was appointed a fast day by the general court, 
“as the churches and people of God, in all parts, at this day aie 
in trouble and perplexity, and in particular our dear native 
country: . . the state and condition of our countrymen in the 
Caribby Islands, and other parts of America, in respect of the 
wars, troubles, and devastations among them, by terrible tempests 
of late; . . and taking away sundry of our vessels abroad by 
the common enemy.” . 

March 19, 1667-8, the town gave liberty to Mordechai Cravat 
to sell beer and victuals; and, on the thirty-first, the Ipswich court 
licensed him to keep an ordinary for the year ensuing. 

Jan. 24, 1667-8, the selectmen ordered that Mr. Thorndike 
should have satisfaction in land on Cape Ann Side for the highway 
laid out through his land to the Creek road. 

Enfield in 1709; children: 1. John, born Feb. 1, 
Feb. 2, 1669-70; 3. Elisha, born March 28, 1673; 
1675. 

1Essex Registry of Deeds, book 22, leaf 192. 
2Essex Registry of Deeds, book 30,, leaf 3. 

1667-8; 2. Edward, born 
4. James, born Dec. 27, 
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March 19, 1667-8, the town prohibited the selectmen from 
giving, selling or exchanging'any land belonging to the town. 

At the town meeting, June 1, 1668. Edmond Batter requested 
a small parcel of land next to Elias Stileman’s warehouse, “and 
the whole cove,” and it was referred to a committee. 

March 10, 1667-8, the freemen of Salem elected Edmond 
Batter one of the deputies to the general court. He was not ac¬ 
ceptable to that body, and they immediately expelled him. He re¬ 
fused to retire, and, May 1st following, petitioned the court “to 
know why he was expelled." Three days later, John Higginson, 
five selectmen and sixteen freemen made a statement that the court 
does not accept Mr. Batter, yet show no legal bar to him, and 
orders the freemen of Salem to choose another in his stead. This 
was signed by Richard Moore, sr., Roger Conant, William Hol- 
lingworth, Hilliard Veren, John Horne, John Gedney, sr., William 
Lord, sr., and others. The freemen of Salem voted not to proceed 
to a new choice for deputy. The reason why he was not desired 
to represent Salem was because he had signed and besought others 
to sign a petition which endangered the government. This petition 
was probably that which was signed by thirty-four Salem men in 
1666, and presented to the court, which occasioned the king’s dis¬ 
pleasure. Mr. Batter was elected to the same position in subse¬ 
quent years, and it is probable that nothing further came of the 
flurry which was caused by the desire of the governing body by 
their official acts to ostensibly show the king that the court did 
not countenance the acts of individuals in their criticism of the 
throne1. 

Jacob Pudeator,2 a blacksmith, came to Salem about 1666. 
He was then twenty-four years old. He lived in a small house 
which stood on the western corner of Winter Street and Wash¬ 
ington Square, and which he bought of Thomas Watson in 1672. 

The dismembered body of Edward Yard was found floating 
in North River, near Bass point, and the constable of Salem sum¬ 
moned a jury, consisting of Richard Hollingwortli, Joseph 
Phippen, Joseph Hutchinson, Edward Hillerd, William Lake, 
Samuel Williams, John Massey, John Robinson, Henry Keny, 
John West, William Cash and John Norman, to hold an inquest 
thereon, May 4, 1668, and they reported that they conceived that 
he “was drowned and so throw his long Continuance in the water 

Alassachusetts Archives, volume 106, leaves 169, 170, 174, 175, 178, 
187-191. 

Tacob Pudeator married Isabel Mosier Oct. 28, 1666; she was a 
brawler, railer and drunkard, pawning nearly everything in the house for 
rum; she died suddenly March 3, 1676-7; married, secondly, Ann, widow 
of Thomas Greenslett, a neighbor; died in 1682; and she was his widow 
in 1685, when she disposed of the homestead. He devised property, in his 
will, to his “cussin” (nephew?) Isaac Pudeator. 
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was dismembered his head being off and his hands and body much 
putrified.” The body was buried by Samuel Harris and John 
Green, by whom apparently it was found. The charge for the 
burial was thirty shillings, one-half of which was paid by the town 
of Salem and the other half by Moses Maverick. 

Joshua (Joseph?) Rogers was drowned while going in a 
birch canoe to a fishing ketch, being somewhat under the influence 
of liquor. When he entered the canoe, in which were Edward 
Calcott and an Indian, he laid down on one side and when he was 
turning over the canoe was upset. His body was washed ashore, 
where it was found. A jury, consisting of Benjamin Felton, 
Thomas Oliver, Joseph Miles, William Dounton, William Lake, 
Thomas Rix, Mathew 
Price, John Baxter, Alis- /j / 
ter' Macmillyon, John 
Wedge, John Horn and*' & 

Edmond Counter, held an inquest on the body, and, June 8, 1668, 
reported that “by the providence of God Joshua Rogers came to 
an untimely end being taken up dead on the shore, . . we do 
find that according to the best of our understanding that the said 
Josuah Rogers came to an untimely end being taken up dead on 
the shore, . . we do find that according to the best of our 
understanding that the said Josuah Rogers was drowned going 
aboard a fishing Cach in a Burching Canoe Edward Callcott’s 
Ingen being in the Canu with him doth inform us that when he en¬ 
tered into the Canu that he laid down on his side and being some 
thing in drink not minding the tickleness of the Canow turn him¬ 
self and over set the Canow.” 

June 10, 1668, the selectmen requested the people to donate 
toward the freight of some masts which were to be sent to the 
king, but, at the time and place, two weeks later, at Mr. Gidney s, 
no one appeared to give anything. 

On the same day, the selectmen ordered that Williarn Flint 
and Serg. Richard Leach lay out a highway, “beginning at Richard 
Huchenson’s field and so to run to the beaver dam near to Serg. 
Porter’s meadow and so to the extent of the bounds.’ This road 
ran from the junction of Maple and Pine streets, in Danvers, up 
Maple, Nichols, Preston and Maple streets towards Howes sta¬ 
tion bevond the Danvers-Middleton line. The return of the com- 

* ‘ ^ 

mittee is as follows :— 

By an order of the selectmen dated the 10 4mo 68 Seigant lech & 
Willum flint were to laye out a hiewaye from Richard hutchsones feelo 
to the extent of the boundes the way is layed out as foleth: from a 
great whit oak stump be twixt the said hutchsons feld where the waye 
turnes to beuer dam we apoynt the waye to Rune where it is to the top 
of the hill neare where free mens hous was & so by the side ot t le ti 
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to two trees at beuer dam: the trees be one on one side the brouk & the 
other on the other sid neare the bound tree betwixt Tho Putnam & Rob¬ 
ert Prince & from there to the uper end of Thomas Putnams feld two 
pole with out the fence to a bound tree that be longes to Tho Putnam 
Robert Princ Jo Putnam & henry keney the stump to be in the midel of 
the hieway & the way to Run straight from thenc betwixt two walenut 
trees marked entring in to a ualea on the East sid of 1 ho Putnams 
bound tree: & from the north end of the ualea to a rock neare mr Rukes 
boundes that is in the way with a litel tre marked on the south East sid 
the waye neare the Rock from thenc Cros mr Ruckes land as the wave 
Runes to a Red oake marked neare to a great whit oake burned at the 
bottom that stands neare about the line be twixt nath Putnam & mr. 
Ruck & this liiway to be tow pole wid from one end to the other witnes 
our handes 22th 8 mo 68 

William flint 

the mark of 
Richard leach 

The Topsfield and Rowley Village (Boxford) people crossed 
Nichols brook, and came down the Ferncroft road to Nichols 
Street, at the Leopold Morse estate, and thence in the new road 
to Maple Street, and on to Salem town. 

The governors of the Massachusetts Bay Colony who lived 
in Salem during the colonial period were John Endecott, who 
served in 1629, 1644, 1649-53, 1655-1664, and Simon Bradstreet, 
who was governor from 1679 to the end of the colonial govern¬ 
ment, except during the regime of Sir Edmund Andros. John 
Endecott was the only deputy-governor, serving from 1641 to 1643 
and in 1650. The service of the Salem assistants was as follows: 
John Endecott, 1629-1634, 1636-1640, 1645-1648, 1654; John 
Humphrey, 1629, 1635-1637, 1639-1641 ; John Winthrop, jr., 1638, 
1639; William Hauthorne, 1662-1679; Simon Bradstreet, 1676- 
1678; William Browne, 1680-1683; Bartholmew Gidney, 1680- 
1683; John Hawthorne, 1684-1686. 

The commissioners to end small causes, belonging to Salem, 
so far as the records have revealed, are as follows: Lt. Thomas 
Lathrop, Captain Hawthorne, William Browne and Edmond 
Batter appointed in 1655 ; William Hawthorne, William Browne 
and Edmond Batter in 1656, 1658-1661 ; William Browne, sr., Ed¬ 
mond Batter and Bartholmew Gedney, 1679. The marshall of the 
Salem court in 1647 was Samuel Archard, and he was succeeded 
by Plenry Skerry June 26, 1666. The annual salary of the marshall 
was four pounds. 

The following is a list of the clerks of the Salem quarterly 
court during the colonial period : Ralph Fogg, 1636-1647 ; Henry 
Bartholmew, 1647-1653; Elias Stileman, 1653-1658; Hillard 
Veren, 1658-1683; Benjamin Gerrish, 1683-1692. 
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The selectmen of the town from 1650 to 1688 inclusive, serv¬ 
ing in the years stated, were as follows: Daniel Andrew, 1685 ; 
Jacob Barney, 1654-1658; Henry Bartholmew, 1650-1652, 1662- 
1664, 1666, 1667, 1671, 1673, 1674; Edmond Batter, 1650, 1654- 
1670, 1672, 1673, 1676, 1677, 1681; Joseph Boyce, 1658; William 
Browne, 1650-1652, 1656-1673, 1676, 1677, 1679-1682; Roger 
Conant, 1650-1655, 1658, 1660, 1661 ; George Corwin, 1650-1656, 
1658-1665, 1669, 1670, 1672, 1674-1676; John Corwin, 1657, 1669, 
1670, 1673-1677, 1679-1683, 1685; Jonathan Corwin, 1680; Philip 
Cromwell, 1675, 1678-1680; Emanuel Downing, 1651, 1652; Ed¬ 
ward Flint, 1675, 1678 ; George Gardner, 1655, 1663, 1669, 1671; 
Joseph Gardner, 1673; Samuel Gardner, 1677, 1678, 1681-1688; 
Thomas Gardner, 1650, 1651, 1657, 1685, 1687; Bartholmew Ged- 
ney, 1669, 1670, 1673, 1677, 1680, 1685, 1686; John Gedney, 1655, 
1666; Joseph Grafton, 1671, 1674, 1678; John Hathorne, 1679- 
1684; William Hathorne, 1650-1654, 1656, 1659, 1661-1667, 1671- 
3:675 > John Higginson, 1678, 1679, 1683, 1684, 1686, 1688; 
William Hirst, 1886-1688; Robert Kitchen, 1688; Thomas La- 
throp, 1650, 1658, 1660, 1664-1667; John Leach, 1678, 1687; 
Timothy Lindall, 1686, 1687; Nicholas Manning, 1675; Jeffrey 
Massey, 1650-1658; John Pickering, 1668-1670, 1673, 1676, 1677, 
1682-1684; Israel Porter, 1680-1684, 1686; John Porter, 1650-. 
1658, 1660-1662, 1668, 1671 ; John Price, 1676, 1677, 1679, 1682- 
1685, 1687, 1688 ; Walter Price, 1651-1654, 1657-1667, 1672, 1674; 
Richard Prince, 1655, 1657, 1658, 1674; John Putnam, 1668, 1670, 
1672, 1673, 1676, 1681; Nathaniel Putnam, 1666-1668; Thomas 
Putnam, 1665 ; John Ruck, 1685-1688 ; William Trask, 1678 ; John 
Turner, 1679; Daniel Weld, 1675; Humphrey Woodbury, 

1668. 
The following is a list of the constables of Salem from 1650 

to 1689; Jonathan Ager, 1682; Daniel Andrew, 1677 .: Samuel 
Archer, 1665; Christopher Babbidge, 1673; Benjamin Balch, 
1661; Thomas Barnes, 1662; Jacob Barney, 1668; John Batch- 
elder, 1680; Nathaniel Beadle, 1677; Samuel Beadle, 1677; Wil¬ 
liam Beckett, 1689 ; Edward Bishop, 1660; William Browne, 1668 ; 
Edward Bush, 1688; John Bottolph, 1667; John Buxton, 1680, 
Peter Cheevers, 1679; John Clifford, 1674? I^75 > Abraham Cole, 
1676; Isaac Cook, 1678, 1684 ; Samuel Corning, 1658; John Cor¬ 
win, 1668; Jonathan Corwin, 1686; Philip Cromwell, 1658; Wil¬ 
liam Curtis, 1665, 1678, 1689 ; Roger Darby, 1689; William Doun- 
ton, 1684; Philip English, 1683; John Felton, 1686; Nathaniel 
Felton, 1657 ; Richard Flinder, 1684; Edward Flint, 1679 ; Thomas 
Flint, 1674, 1680; William Flint, 1660; Samuel Gardner 1671, 
1677; Thomas Gardner, 1680; Eleazer Gedney, 1671; Eliezer 
Giles, 1676; Thomas Gould, 1685; Thomas Gouldthwait, x659> 
Edward Grove, 1670; Joseph Hardy, 1680; Roger Haskell, 1657 > 
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Stephen Haskett, 1670; John Hawthorne, 1677; Thomas Haynes, 
1682 ; Henry Herrick, 1656; William Hirst, 1683; John Hoames, 
1684; John Horne, 1682; Joseph Horne, 1681 ; Nathaniel Howard, 
1683; Edward Humber, 1666; Joseph Huchinson, 1677; Richard 
Huchinson, 1658 : Nathaniel Ingerson, 1671 ; Thomas Ives, 1680; 
William Jeggles, 1655; Elizer Keysor, 1686; George Keisour, 
1669; Henry Keney, 1686 ; Daniel King, 1685; John King, 1688; 
William Lake, 1674; Daniel Lambert, 1687; John Lambert, 1683; 
John Landor, 1684; John Leach, 1682; Richard Leach, 1666; 
Nicholas Manning, 1672; John Marston, 1673 ; Manasseh Mar- 
ston, 1675; John Maskoll, 1687; John Massey, 1663; Thomas 
Maule, 1688; Thomas Mould, 1686; John Norman, 1678; Deliver¬ 
ance Parkman, 1687; John Patch, 1664; John Pease, 1673 ; Chris¬ 
topher Phelps, 1683 ; Samuel Phelps, 1685 ; Dayid Phippeny, 1678 ; 
Joseph Phippeny, 1669; John Pickering, 1663, 1689; Nathaniel 
Pickman, 1664; Thomas Pickton, 1662 ; James Poland, 1679, 1685 1 
Joseph Pope, 1683; John Porter, 1669; Joseph Porter, 1688; 
Nicholas Potter, 1660; Robert Prince, 1670; Richard Prithritch, 
1681 ; John Procter, 1675; Edward Putnam, 1687; John Putnam, 
1667; Nathaniel Putnam, 1656; Thomas Putnam, 1655, 1689; 
Daniel Rea, 1684; Joshua Ray, 1678; John Rayment, 1659; 
Charles Redford, 1687; Henry Rinolls, 1667; Thomas Rix, 1666; 
Thomas Robins, 1661; Jeremiah Rogers, 1682; John Rogers, 
1681; Thomas Roots, 1659; George Ropes, 1664; John Ruck, 
1661 ; Daniel Rumball, 1662; Thomas Searle, 1678; Samuel Shat- 
tock, 1685; Nathaniel Silsbee, 1686; James Simons, 1679; Henry 
Skerry, 1656, 1676; John Southwick, 1672; John Stone, 1655; 
Nathaniel Stone, 1667; Robert Stone, 1688: Job Swinerton, 1679; 
Gilbert Tapley, 1681; John Trask, 1685, 1689; James Under¬ 
wood, 1657; Jonathan Walcott, 1681; Uzall Warded, 1681 ; Ezek¬ 
iel Waters, 1682; John Waters, 1687; John Williams (cooper), 
1672; Nehemiah Willoughby, 1679; Humphrey Woodbury, 1663; 
Nicholas Woodbury, 1666, 1668; Josiah Woolcott, 1688. 

The town clerks were first chosen as follows: Walter Price, 
1666; William Browne, jr., 1671 ; Bartholmew Gedney, 1673 ; John 
Curwin, 1674; John Price, 1676 ; John Higginson, jr., 1678; John 
Hathorne, 1679. 

The clerks of the writs were chosen as follows: Jeffry 
Massey in 1647, and Hilliard Veren in 1658. 

The following list of freemen is a continuation of the first list 
in volume I: 13:3:1640, Edward Norrice, Thomas Ruck, William 
Stevens, John Fairfield, James Standige, John Bachilor, Robert 
Elwell, Thomas Watson, Mark Formais. 2:41110:1641, Daniel 
Weld, William Woodberry, William Geares, Philemon Dickenson, 
Esdras Reade, John Robinson, Thomas Gardner, John Marston, 
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Robert Fuller, Miles Ward, Samuel Corning, Jonathan Porter, 
Richard Pattingell, William Browne, Thomas Davenish, Philip 
Veren, Francis Lawes, John Baker, John Jackson, Austen Kilham, 
Thomas Payne. 18:3:1642, Robert Button, Benjamin Vermaes, 
Thomas Antrum, Michael Shaflin, Thomas Putnam, John Cooke, 
Phineas Fiske, William Fiske, George Byam, Richard Bishop, 
Allen Kenniston, Flias Stileman, John Tomkins, Ananias Conk- 
ling, John Neale, John Bulfinch, Joseph Boyce, George Right, 
Thomas Wheeler, 27:10:1642, Walter Price, Robert Gutch, 
George Gardner, Richard Prence, Robert Leoman, Thomas More, 
Thomas Tresler, William Robinson. 28:12:1642, Thomas Ed¬ 
wards, John Kitchen, Henry Harwood, Richard More, Hugh 
Stacye, Thomas Avery, Edward Beachamp. 10:31110.1643, Wil¬ 
liam Vincen. 29 -.3 :i644, Joseph Phippen, John Black, Allen Con- 
vers. —31110:1645, Thomas Barnes. 26:3:1647, Richard Curtice. 
July 1, 1657, Henry Rennolds. May 27, 1663, John Croade, John 
Stratton. May 3,' 1665, Capt. George Corwin, John Endecott, 
Zerubbabel Endecott, Eliezer Hauthorne, John Corwin, William 
Browne, jr., John Putnam, Joseph Porter, Richard Leach, Samuel 
Eburne, sr., John Rucke, James Browne, Philip Cromwell, Richard 
Hollingsworth, Edward Humber, Joshua Rea, Christopher Bab- 
bidge. April 29, 1668, Thomas West, Henry West, Samuel Arch- 
ard, John Massey, William Dounton, John Ingersoll, John Pease, 
John Dodge, sr. (of Bass River), Nathaniel Stone, Peter Wood¬ 
bury, Ephraim Herrick. May 19, 1669, John Gidney, Bartholmew 
Gidney, John Pickering, Joseph Grafton. May 31, 1671, John 
Corwin, John Marston, Eliazer Gidney, John Maskol, Joseph 
Gardner. May 7, 1673, Charles Nicholate. May 12, 1675, Samuel 
Gardner. May 23, 1677, John Price, John Higginson, jr., John 
Hathorne, Manasses Marston, Henry Keny, jr. May , 1678, 
Timothy Lindall, Isaac Foot, Peter Cloyce. May 19? 1680, John 
Grafton, Resolved White, Robert Fuller, Zacke Marsh, Thomas 
Putnam, jr., William Stacy, Joseph Phippen. May 11, 1681, Ben¬ 
jamin Gerrish, Ezekiel Cheever, John Leech. May 24, 1682, Petei 
Prescott, John Foster, Anthony Buxton. 

June 24, 1668, th’e selectmen admitted Michael Coombses 

an inhabitant of the 
town. He was a mar¬ 
iner, and about thirty- 
six years old. Na- 

1Michael Coombs was in Salem as late as 1671. He marked Joane 
_• children: 1. Michael, born March 22, 1668-9y Pr<£ably married 
Ruth Roads in Marblehead July 12, 1694; and lived in Marblehead; 2. 

Joshua, born Feb. 23, 1670-1. 
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thaniel Hadlock,1 Walter Skinner2 and William Shaw3 were in 

Salem in 1668. William 
Adams, at this time, was 
at Clifford’s, and was left 
to the care of the selectmen. \ * 
Edmond Counter was in Salem from 1668 to 1675. 

Tune 30, 1668, the Salem court granted to John Corwin a 
license to retail strong waters out of doors, and the license was 
renewed from time to time until 1681. 

At a meeting of the selectmen, July 8, 1668, “upon the com¬ 
plaint of several persons about the North neck concerning Indians 
residing thereabouts its ordered that if the inhabitants desire a 
watch there the constable shall set the watch there" by them. 

Sept. 12, 1668, the town granted to Jonathan Walcut a strip 
of about fifteen acres of land running along Cantlebury’s farm, 
bought of Captain Corwine; and to Samuel Cutler thirty acres 
near the farms of John Ingerson and Francis Nurse. 

At a meeting of the selectmen, Oct. 12, 1668, it was ordered 
that a highway be laid out from the country road beyond Frost- 
fish River at the most convenient place for landing at the salt 
water, and Sergeant Feech and William Flint were appointed to 
lay it out. This road was not laid out at that time; and May 27, 
1671, the selectmen “ordered that there shall be a highway laid 

1Nathaniel Hadlock married Remember Jones May 1, 1673; and led 
a vagabond life. Savage says that he moved to Gloucester, where he had 
a son John born Feb. 27, 1682. 

2Walter Skinner lived in Reading in 1661 and in Salem after 1667; 
aged about fifty in 1680; wife Hannah survived him and was his widow 
in 1705; children, all of Salem and living in 1705: 1. Samuel; 2. Hannah; 
married, first, Judah Rogers May 3, 1694; second, Thomas Fortune Aug. 5. 
1702; 3. Elizabeth; married Joseph Whitefoot Oct. 2, 1706. 

3William Shaw1 was a planter in Salem from 1668 to 1726; married. 
first, Elizabeth Fraile of Lynn Nov. 23, 1668; second, Mary - before 
1692; he died in 1726; children: 1. Samuel,2 born Feb. 19, 1669-70; died 
in March, 1670 ; 2. William,2 born Sept. 25, 1672; 3. Margaret ;2 unmarried 
in 1722; 4. Elizabeth,2 born Jan. —, 1679; 5. Israel2 born July —, 1680; 
6. Daniel,2 born Nov. 5, 1692; 7. Ebenezer2 born April —, 1693; 8. Ben¬ 
jamin,2 born March ■—, 1703-4. 

William Shaw;2 * husbandman; married Johanna Pudney in 1683; 
children: 1. Elizabeth,8 born Nov. 1, 1695; 2. William,3 born April 30. 
1696; 3. Johanna,3 born Sept. 9, 1700; 4. George,® born April 23, 1703; 
5. Jonathan,3 baptized Nov. 13, 1709; 6. Mehitabel.8 baptized Noy. 13, 1709. 
Israel Shaw;2 married Elizabeth Booth Dec. 26, 1695; children: 1. 
Israel,3 born Feb. i6. 1698; living in 1722; 2. Susanna,3 born Sept. 2Q. 
1703. Daniel Shaw;2 husbandman; married, first, Hannah Foster April 13. 
1727; second. Elizabeth Cook March 14, 1733-4; child: 1. Daniel,3 bap¬ 
tized Jan. 28, 1727-8. Ebenezer Shaw;2 married Hannah Southwick 
March 17, 1720; child: 1. Hannah,® baptized Dec. 29, 1723; married 
Joseph Pope of Mortlake, Conn., Oct. 26, 1743. Benjamin Shaw;' 
husbandman; married Hannah Goodale (published Nov. 8, T729) ; children: 
1. Margaret,8 baptized July 11, T73T; 2. Hannah,® baptized June 3, 17331 
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out from the country way that cometh down to the head of Frost- 
fish brook into Jacob Barny, sr’s land to go to his bars and so 
down to the river, it being the same way that hath been to cart to 
the river, the which way is to be laid out two rod wide until it 
cometh within four rods of the river and so to be four rod from 
high water mark which is to be so from the water, taking in both 
the points where wood is usually laid and the cove between them." 
Farmer Porter and Richard Leach were appointed to lay out the 
way. This landing place of four rods square can still be seen on the 
easterly side of Frost-fish River about two hundred feet southerly 
of Conant Street, in Danvers. The road to it was laid out in 1671, 
two rods wide, over land of Jacob Barney, from a point on Conant 
Street about a hundred rods easterly of the river, and it ran 
diagonally to the river. The bounds were not established until 

1704, and it was in use as late as I774*1 
Nov. 10, 1668, the town granted liberty to Mathew Wood- 

well to make bricks near Richard Adams’ fence, near where 
Thomas Trusler made bricks formerly, the place to be appointed 
by Maj. William Hauthorne and William Flint. 

Edmund Bridges,2 blacksmith, came from Topsfield in 1668. 
Robert Starr3 was in Salem as early as 1650. He was born 

about 1626, and lived in the ancient house which had occupied 
the site of the Philip English house on the northeastern corner 

of Essex and English streets. 

3. Mary,3 baptized July 25, 1736; 4- -3.(son), baptized July 15, 1739; 
5. Benjamin,3 baptized Nov. 4, 1744; married Priscilla Prichard of Wen- 
ham Dec. 7, 1765; 6. William,3 baptized Nov. 4, 1744- 

1Beverly Town Records, volume V, page 405. 
3Serg. Edmund Bridges, born about 1637, was son of Edmund and 

Mice Bridges; lived in Ipswich, Topsfield and Salem respectively; married 
Sarah Towne of Topsfield Jan. 11, 1659-60; died June 24, 1682; she mar¬ 
ried, secondly, Peter Cloyes; children: 1. Edmund, born Oct. 4, 1 > 
in Topsfield; married Elizabeth Croade; died about 1682; she married 
secondlv, Daniel Lambert; thirdly, Moses Gilman of Exeter N. H., a 
son; 2.' Benjamin, born Jan. 2, 1664-5, m Topsfield; captain; 
Framingham; married Elizabeth -; died Aug. 28, :72S, 3- . & « 
Anril 14 1667 in Topsfield; 4. Hannah, born June 9, 1669, 411 Salem, 
5. Caleb’ born June 3, 1677, in Salem; lived in Framingham; brick mason; 

married Sarah Brewer Nov. 26, i7°°- M . rfien- Hie 
3Robert Starr married, first, Susanna Holhnworth Nov. 24, i°50, s 

died May 17, 1665 ; married, second, Mary, widow of Jeremiah Conch g 
Dec. 3oj 1669; was “slain by the barbarous heathen” in the winter of 
1677-8; she married, third, William Nick of Marblehead Sept 8 1680 
children; 1. Susanna, born March 23 1651-2; diedI young, Rob rt 
born Feb. 29, i653-4; died young; 3. Robert, born April & 1655, hvgg 
in 1681; 4- Richard; cooper in 1683; 5- Susanna, born Dec • 31: I«» - 

living in 1681; 6. Mary, born Oct. 9, 1670-1; m|rr.,.el Sam ftwinl 
Hannah (twin), born June 22, 1673; married Isaac Follett, 8. Sara (tw , 

born June 22, 1673. 



CHAPTER XXL 

BEVERLY. 

NTIL 1650, the people living on Cape Ann Side (now 
Beverly) attended and belonged to the church in the 
town (Salem). The inconvenience of crossing the 
river was the most forceful fact which caused the 
people living on that side of the river, which was also 

called Bass River Side, to think of having religious services among 
themselves. As soon as their number was sufficiently large to 
make the plan feasible, the Salem church was approached in the 
matter, but at first it was not met with favor. Sept. 22, 1650, 
the church was again consulted and, October 2d, it authorized 
the Cape Ann Side residents to procure the service of an able 
and approved minister to serve them, but not to sever their 
connection with the church. Josiah Hobart (Hubbard), son of 
Rev. Peter Hobart of Hingham, was so employed. He preached 
there awhile, and, in 1656, removed to Southold, L. I. His 
brother Jeremiah Hobart succeeded him here the same year. 
The new minister was then twenty-four years old. He lived in 
the house of Lt. Thomas Lothrop for four years, being there in 

1660. 
A meeting house was built on the southerly corner of Cabot 

and Hale streets, opposite the present meeting house of the 
Unitarian Church. The meeting house was used for a school¬ 
room and for the transaction of secular business, wrote Edwin 
M. Stone, in his History of Beverly, in 1842.1 It had a pulpit 
and a gallery, but its size is unknown. A fort was built about it in 
the autumn of 1675, the time of the Indian war. As the popula¬ 
tion increased, the building became too small, and, in 1682, a new 
building, fifty feet long and forty wide was erected where the 
present meeting house now stands, on the other side of Hale 

"Page 205. 
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Street. The old meeting house, with the exception of the pulpit, 
was sold in 1684, and “the stones around it" (the remains of the 
fort, probably) were used in making a wall about the adjoining 

burialplace. 

“The company of Bass River" secured from Thomas Pickton 
of “Bass River in Salem, planter," a conveyance of that part ot 
the lot of land shown on the accompanying plan which lies within 
the dashes, about 1657; and at or about the same time the souti- 
easterly part of the lot was bought of John Gaily and Henry 
Bailev of Bass River, planters, but no deed was given of that 
part of the parsonage lot until John Gaily conveyed it to tie 
Inhabitants of Bass river now Beverly" April 22, 1 374- ia 
part of the lot lying southerly of the highway was conveyed by 
Thomas Pickton to Rev. John Hale Feb. 28, 1667-8, and, on t e 
same day, the little piece of land lying at the northerly coiner o 
the parsonage lot was conveyed by John Gaily and Henry Bailey 
to Mr Hale, for “an outlet into ye highway by Mr. Livermoie s 
corner, a pole wide, and thence running about twenty rods east- 

1Essex Registry of Deeds, book 4 loa.f 38. 
‘Essex Registry of Deeds, book 3, leaf 34- 
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erly from said outlet.”1 The southwesterly portion of the lot was 
conveyed by Mr. Pickton to Mr. Hale April 21, 1674-2 

Upon the Plale Street end of that part of the lot first men¬ 
tioned, a parsonage house was built by John Norman of Man¬ 
chester. Lt. Thomas Lothrop appears to have been the moving 
spirit in the enterprise; and with him and James Patch, John Nor¬ 
man made an agreement to build the house, March 23, 1656-7. 
It was to be thirty-eight feet long, seventeen wide and with eleven 
feet post, with three chimneys, two below and one in the chamber; 
to find boards and clapboards for finishing, with a shingle cover¬ 
ing; a porch eight feet square; “jetted over,” one foot each way; 
to lay the floors, both below and above, and one garret chamber; 
to make doors and windows, four below and four above, and one 
in the study; to make the stairs, draw the clapboards and “short" 
their edges, smooth the boards of one of the chamber floors, and 
to bring up the frame to the bar or the ferry at his own charge; 
for which he was to have forty-five pounds, one-half in corn and 
cattle at or before the house was raised and the remainder at the 
next wheat harvest. A year went, and the house (“appointed 
for Mr. Jeremiah Hubbard to live in”) was not done. Nov. 2, 
1659, -Lieutenant Lothrop brought a suit against Norman for 
breach of his contract; but the house was not completed until 
1660. In answer to the court case, Norman said that he was hin¬ 
dered in regard to “the removal of the house” ; for want of nails ; 
and that the boards and joist were unlawfully taken away.3 

A petition was sent to the general court, praying that Cape 
Ann Side be made a town; and, May 28, 1659, the court refer¬ 
red the petitioners to the town of Salem, providing that, if they 
should agree thereto, the court would be ready to answer their 
just desires, and ordered the town of Salem to give a speedy 
meeting “to effect the same.” Thereupon, August 15th, the town 
chose Maj. William Hauthorne, the selectmen, Mr. Bartholomew 
and Jeffery Mascy “to meet with or Brethern of Cape An Side the 
next second day to Consider & draw up some ppositions to an¬ 
swer the desires of or Bretheren ther & to present it at the next 
towne meeting.” Whether or not the proposed conference was 
held is unknown. 

At a town meeting, Dec. 14, 1659, however, it was agreed 
that “our brethren and neighbors of Cape Anne Side are thus 
bounded in reference to the maintenance of the ministry, viz. 
first, from the east side of the river commonly known by the 
name of Bass River and so to the swamp that runneth out of 

Tssex Registry of Deeds, book 3, leaf 34. 
2Essex Registry of Deeds, book 4, leaf 58. 
3Records and Files of the Quarterly Courts of Essex County, volume 

II, page 186. 
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Lawrence Leech meadow where it will meet with Wenham line 
and so unto Manchester bounds provided they maintain theire 
poor and make and maintain the highways within the said limits: 
and so to be free from all charge about our poor or highways 
and all levies or rates which concern them and all things about 
ordering of fences shall be made by the select men in being and if 
there be no select men or man on their side then they have liberty 
to make choice of two or three of themselves to join with the 
select men in the premisses above said.” 

April 5, 1672, the selectmen ordered that Major Hathorne, 
Henry Bartholmew, Joseph Gardner and Corp. John Putnam 
meet “our neighbors of Beverly/’ and perambulate their line and 
settle the bounds according to the above agreement. 

Mr. Hobart remained with the people on Cape Ann Side 
until 1664. He then went to Amesbury, and subsequently to 

\ Topsfield, where he was ordained 
X' Oct. 2, 1672. There, he had a 
^« rough time in many ways, be¬ 

ing accused of immorality. He 
had difficulty in collecting his salary at both Cape Ann Side and 
Topsfield. He brought two suits against the selectmen of Beverly 
for his pay Nov. 19, 1670; and the court appointed Maj. William 
Hathorne to settle the matter. Mr. Hobart also brought a peti¬ 
tion in the court for the same purpose June 26, 1672. No satis¬ 
faction appears in any of the proceedings. He remained in iops- 
field until Sept. 21, 1680, when he resigned, and was thereupon 
dismissed. Beginning in 1683, for several years, he served the 
church at Hempstead, L. I. He then went to Haddam, Conn., in 
1691. He was born April 6, 1631, in England, probably at Hav¬ 
erhill, Sufifolkshire. He received the sacrament in his. church 
on Lord’s Day, Nov. 6, 1715, and expired immediately, sitting in 
his chair, at the age of eighty-four. He had four children born 
in Topsfield.1 He was grandfather of Rev. David Brainard, the 

celebrated missionary. 
After the removal of Mr. Hobart, the people of Cape Ann 

Side unanimously invited Rev. John Hale to become their pastor. 
He was son of Dea. Robert and Rebecca Hale, and was born in 
Charlestown June 3, 1636. He graduated at Harvard College in 
16^7. Upon entering on his duties of the position at Cape Ann 
Side, he married Rebecca, daughter of Henry Byles of Sarum, 
England, but at the time of the marriage she was of Salisbuiy, 

Mass. 

xThe children of Mr. Hobart, born in Topsfield, were as follows: 
Jeremiah, born Dec. 16, 1672; Elizabeth, born Feb. 8, 1674-5; Margaret, 

born Jan. 16, 1677-8; and Dorothy, born Aug. 21, 1679. 
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Mr. Hale was offered seventy pounds per annum salary and 
his firewood. The parsonage was not wholly completed at that 

time, and the people there had to 
finish it. They also gave the use of 
some land for his planting, and later 
more land was procured by and for 

him. They agreed that if lie remained in that place and in their 
service, the parsonage should be absolutely his. Later, they also 
built for his cattle, a house eighteen feet long, ten feet wide and 
seven or eight feet stud. William Dodge, sr., and John Patch 
were appointed to look after the supply of Mr. Hale s wood. 
In 1667, the parish was. divided into four parts, namely, from 
the house of Goodman West to Cedar Stand, from the house of 
Humphrey Woodbury to the ferry and so to the meeting house, 
from the house of Ensign Corning to Mr. Conant’s bridge, and 
the rest of the place to be looked after by Mr. Conant. These 
four named in their respective sections had the supply of the 

wood to attend to. 
Mr. Hale accepted the conditions of the offer, and entered 

upon his labors at once. The leading men there before the people 
were instituted a town were Capt. Thomas Lothrop, John Thorn¬ 
dike, Roger Conant, Samuel Corning, Joseph Rootes, Lieutenant 
Dixey, Humphrey Woodbury, Farmer William Dodge, Henry 
Bailey, John Patch, Robert Morgan, Richard Brackenbury, Wil¬ 
liam Rayment, John Dodge, John West and John Rayment. 

At a meeting of the people, Nov. 9, 1667, it was voted that 
the highways to the meeting house and mill be laid out where 
it was most convenient. This was a year before Cape Ann Side 

became a town. 
They now had a parish and a pastor, but a church organiza¬ 

tion was wanting to formally establish the pastoral religion. Near¬ 
ly three years had elapsed since Mr. Hale began his service among 
the people there, when the question of their becoming a church 
was presented anew, and the following petition was present¬ 
ed to the church in Salem June 23, 1667: “Wee whose names are 
vnder written the brethren & sisters belonging to Basse Ritter 
doe present our desires to the rest of the Church of Salem that 
with their consent wee and our children may be a church of our 
selues. Wc" wee also present vnto nT Hale desiring to joine with 
vs and to be our Pastor with the approbation of the rest of the 
Church: Rodger Connant, Thomas Lathrop, William Dixsy,1 
Richard Dodg, Samuell Corning,-Henry Herrick, William Wood- 
berry, Senr, William Dodg, Senr, Humphrey Woodberry, Senr, 

1The children of William Dixie were baptized in Salem as follows: 
1. Abigail, Dec. 25, 1636; 2. Anna, June 17, 1638; 3. John, Dec. 19, 1639; 
4. Elizabeth; Oct. 17, 1641; 5. Sarah, July 2, 1643. 
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Robert Morgan, Peter Woolfe, Richard Brakenbury, Hugh 
Woodbury, John Black Senr, Josias Rootes, Sen1, John Stone Senr, 
Nicholas Patch, Lott Conant, Exercize Conant, John Dodg, 
Senr, John Hill, Ralph Ellingwood, Edward Bishopp, Sarah 
Conant, Bethiah Lathropp, Anna Dixsy, Mary Dodge Senr, Eliza¬ 
beth Dodge, Elizabeth Corning, Anna Woodberry Senr, Anna 
Woodberry Junr, Mary Louitt, Elizabeth Woodberry, Elizabeth 
Woodberry, Ede Herricke, Elizabeth Haskell, Ellen Brakenbury, 
Martha Woolfe, Mary Dodge Junr, Mary Woodberry, Hannah 
Woodberry, Hannah Baker, Abigaile Hill, Sarah Leach, Elizabeth 
Patch, Mary Herrick, Lidea Herrick, Freegrace Black, Hannah 
Sallowes, Bridgett Louffe. Such as are members but not in full 
Communion desire to be dismissed with their parents, Peter 
Woodberry, John Dodge Junr, John Black, Samuel Corning Jr, 
Nathaniell Haward, Thomas Woodberry, John Woodberry 
Isaack Woodberry, Humphrey Woodberry Jur, William Dodg, Jur, 
Ephraim Herrick, Henry Herrick Jur, John Herrick, Edward 
Bishopp Jur, Josiah Rootes Jur, Joseph Lovet, Remember Stone, 
Elizabeth- Haward, Bethiah Lovett, Abigaile Stone, Hannah Rai¬ 
ment, Sarah Conant, Susanna Woodberry, Elizabeth Herrick.” 
Julv 21st following, the church answered that “ther was a vnani- 
mous consent of the brethren present vnto their desire, only it was 
left to the Sacrament day after when in the fullest assembly 
the consent of the whole church was signified by their votes & 
so they have their liberty to be a church of themselves, only they 
continue members hear vntill then, being a Church the Lord 
graunt his gratious presence with them.” 

After this gracious consent to the wishes of the people of 
Cape Ann Side, the people had a meeting, August 28th, and re¬ 
newed their call to Mr. Hale that he would be pleased to accept 
of the office of pastor. He accepted in the following answer 

When I looke att the weight of the worke you call mee vnto of 

well. Paul cried out (who is sufficient for theise things) I then look¬ 
ing vppon my owne manifold Infirmities & indisposition of spirritt 

therunto I see many discouragements: butt when I duly considder the 

Lords soueraignty ouer mee & all sufficiency for my succor cesne 
wheare I see his worke and call to say with Esaiah heare I am send 
mee; and in perticular when I obserue the remarkable piouidences o 

God in bringing me hither and pauing out our way hitherto and tne 

roome the Lord hath made for mee in their hearts (w I acknow edg 
with thankfullnesse to God & yor selues: I doe look att the Gall ot 

God in the present call to mee beeing the more confirmee leann . 

the concurrence of our apprehensions, which hath appeal ee m 10 
things wee have hadd occasion to conferr about consermng 0111 e - 
tringe into & proceeding ou1 Church affaiies, which lope ie 

will enable mee to practice accordingly. 
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Wherefore while you walke according to Gods order of the gospell, 
& in the stedfastnesse of the faith in Christ, and I see that with a good 
Conscience and freedome of spirritt I can carry on my worke and 
dischardge my duty to God and man & those that are vnder my care 
according to the respectiue relations I may beare vnto them : soe long 
as the Lord is calling mee to labour in this part of his Vineyard; I 
desire to giue vpp my selfe to the Lord & his seruice in the worke of 
the Ministry in this place; Requesting you to striue together with me 
in vor praiers to God for mee that it may redound to his glory, yo 
Edifiinge & of Euery soule that shall dwell amoungst vs for our Joy full 

accoumpt in the day of Christs appearance. 
By mee: John Hale. 

September 20th following, the above named members of the 
church in Salem united together in a distinct society; and Mr. 
Hale was dismissed from the church in Charlestown, and recom¬ 
mended to the work in the new parish. The people then made 
confession of their faith in a solemn manner, and renewed their 
covenant, which was publicly and unanimously owned by them. 
The following was the confession of faith:— 

Wee beleiue in one God the Eternal! Jehouah Infinite in wisdome, 
power, holinesse, justice, goodnesse, and truth, the maker, pieseruer, 
& gouernour of all things, distinguished into the Father beggetting the 
Sonne & the Sonne begotten of the Father, & the holy ghoast pro¬ 
ceeding from the Father, and the sonne, three persons yett one god: 
And that the Lord made man att the first in his owne Image, in holi- 
nesse, knowledge, & righteousnesse, wherby hee hadd ability perfectly to 
obey God for life according to the tennour of the Couenant of workes 
wch hee lost by transgressing gods Command bringing himselfe & all 
his posterity into a state of sinne and misery, whereby wee are bv 
nature Children of wrath as well as others, liable to all miseries in 

life & death & to Eternall Destruction: 
That God out of his meere mercy sent his only begotten Sonne 

lesus Christ for mans redeemer—who is truly God & truly man in one 
person—who as man was conceived by the holy Ghoast, borne of the 
Virgin Mary, made like vs in all things (yett without Sinn) hee suffred 
death to ransome the elect, Rose againe from the dead & assended into 
heauen with his body wherwith hee now sitts att the right hand of God 
to make intercession for the faith full; And shall thence returne to 
fudge the whole world together att the Last Day. 

That the Lord hath giuen vs the Scriptures of the old and new 
testament for the only perfect and perpetuall Rule of our Faith and 

Life. . 
That all that truly beleiue in Jesus Christ & repent of all their 

sinnes haue by faith a right to all the benefitts of Christs purchase as 
the only Righteousnesse of Christ imputed to them for their Justifi¬ 
cation the priuiledges of addoption, & sanctification by the spirritt, 
man being vtterlv vnable by any worke or righteousnesse of his owne 
or light from within himselfe to please God. 
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Also that those who in this life walke before the Lord in the 
faith of the gospell & sincere obedience to the Law (the rule of holi- 
nesse) wherin euery true beleeuer ought & certainly shall perseuere * 
vnto death, when their soules being then & not before made perfect in 
holinesse, shalbe receiued into glory, till the resurrection when their 
bodies being vnited to their soules & raised vp againe immediatly be¬ 
fore the gennerall Judgment they shall there be openly acquitted & so 
be eternally glorified in heauen. 

That then allso all that beleeued not in Christ shall be publiquely 
Condemned & cast into hell for euer. 

Allso wee beleiue that all true beleiuers make vpp that one body 
the Church of wch. Christ is the head who for the gathering in and 
perfecting of his saints hath appointed his Word, prayers, singing of 
pslames, Sacraments of baptisme & the Lords Supper: Church officers 
& discipline in particular churches, and that it is the Duty of euery 
Christian orderly to attend thereunto. 

The covenant was as follows:— 

Wee doe in the presens of the Eternall God & for our owne com¬ 
fort renew our couenant with God, Joyning ou1' selues to the Lord in 
a perpetual couenant that shall not be forgotten wherin wee doe hartily 
accept & Auouch the Lord this day to be ou1 God, & to walke in his 
waies, desiring to turne to him by vnfeignd repentance for all our 
sinns, & by faith receiuinge Jesus Christ for ou1 only Lord and Sauiour, 
and his spirritt for our comfort, doe take him for ou1 portion accord¬ 
ing to the tennour of the couenant of grace wherein hee hath promised 
to be a god to the faithfull & their seed after them in their generations, 
promising through the grace of God a constant & sincere endeauor of 
obedience to all Gods commands deliuered vs in his written Word, and 
to resist the temptations of Sathan, the world, and ou1 owne deceitfull 

harts: and this vnto the death: 
Wee doe allso in the feare of the Lord and presens of his people, 

ingage to giue vpp ou1 selues, & our seed to the Lord, and to one an¬ 
other by the Will of God in our Fellowship together as a particular 
church of Christ: or congregation of the faithfullpromising each of 
vs to continue faithfull & stedfast in our communion togethei in the 
publique worship of God, & to submitt to the order, disipline & gouerne- 
ment of Christ in this his church, and to the ministeriall, Teaching, 
guidance & our sight of the Elder, or Elders therof , and to the brothei- 
ly watch of fellow members: promising to walke towards them in 
loue & faithfullnesse, and in all offences to follow the rule of Christ, 
to beare and forbeare, giue and forgiue as hee hath taught vs, so long 
as by the rules of Gods Word wee shall continue in this ou relation 
together, desiring allso to walke with all regular & due communion 
with other churches of Christ, for the Glory of God, our furtherancs 
& growth in Christ: and mutuall Edification: p _ 1 

" And all this not by any Strength of ou1' owne but by o^ Lord 
Christ assisting vs, whose blood wee desire may sprinkle this ou coue¬ 

nant made in his name. Amen. 
In Testimony of ou1' Consent to this Confession of faith and Loue- 

nant wee subscribe our names, 
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John Hale 

Richard Dodge Senior 
William Woodberry Senior 
Richard Brackenbury 

John Stone Senior 
John Dodge Senior 
Rodger Connant 

Elizabeth Dodge 

Mary Lovett 

Elizabeth Haskell 

Mary Woodbury 

Sarah Leach 

Freegrace Black 

Elizabeth Corning 

Elizabeth Woodberry 

Ellen Brackenbury 

Hannah Woodberry 

Elizabeth Patch 

Hannah Sallows 

Thomas Lathropp 

Samuell Corning 

Robert Morgan 

John Blacke Senio1' 
Lott Connant 

Ralph Ellenwood 

William Dixsy 

William Dodge Senior 
Humphry Woodberry Senior 
Hugh Woodberry 

Nicholas Patch 

John Hill 

Rebeckah Hale1 

Sarah Connant deceased 
Henry Herricke Senior 
Peeter Woolfe 

Josias Rootes Senio1 
Exercize Connant 

Edward Bishopp 

Berthia Lathropp 

Anna Dixsy 

Anna Woodberry Senio1' 
Elizabeth Woodberry 

Martha Woolfe 

Hannah Baker 

Mary Herricke 

Bridgett Luff 

Mary Dodge Senior 
Anna Woodberry Junio1' 
Edee Herricke 

Mary Dodge Junior 
Abigaile Hill 

Lidia Herricke 

x\fter this confession of faith and covenant was signed, the 
assembly proceeded immediately to the ordination of Mr. Hale 
as pastor of the church. This was performed by the laying on 
of hands of Rev. John Higginson, pastor of the Salem church, 
Rev. Thomas Cobbett, pastor of the Ipswich church and Rev. 
Antipas Newman, pastor of the Wenham church. This people 
was then “owned” to be a distinct orderly Congregational church 
by the elders and messengers of the neighboring churches who 
gave their approval and right hand of fellowship. 

Within two years, about thirty more of the people had united 
with the new church. Feb. 24, 1667-8. Humphrey Woodbury, sr., 
was chosen deacon. 

Cancelled. 
2Rev. John Hale remained in this pastorate as long as he lived. His 

wife Rebecca died April 30, 1683, at the age of forty-five. He married, 
second, Sarah Clark of Newbury March 31, 1684; and she died May 20, 1697, 
at the age of forty-three. He married, third, Elizabeth Clark of Newbury 
Aug. 8, 1698. He died in Beverly May 15, 1700, at the age of sixty-three. 
His children were born in Beverly as follows: Rebecca, born about 1666; 
died May 7. 1681, aged fifteen; Robert, born Nov. 3, 1668; physician; 
died Jan. 12, 1718-9; James, born Oct. 14, 1685; Samuel, born Aug. 13, 
1687; Joanna, born June 15, 1689; and John, born Dec. 24, 1692. 
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May 27, 1668, the people of the new parish of Cape Ann 
Side again petitioned the general court that they might be in¬ 
corporated as a town. As early as 1661, the town of Salem had 
recognized the separation of the people of Bass River Side, as 
is shown by a vote of the town, November 18th, of that year: 
“Granted to Will Mappor so much land as the inhabitants on Cape 
Ann Side shall be willing to give out of the common on the east 
side of Bass River” ; and this position of Salem is again recog¬ 
nized by the vote, at the previous annual meeting, in March, 
upon the motion of the petitioners, “that we think it the best 
expedient for them to be a township of themselves; if they desire 
it, and there-to do consent if content with ye present bounds al¬ 
ready set them.” On said May 27th, the general court, “In ansr to 
the petition of the inhabitants of y1 part of Salem comonly called 
Basse Riuer, humbly craving the favour of this Court to invest 
them wth power to choose yearely wthin themselues a fit number of 
persons who may haue power, as selectmen haue in other places, to 
rajse those charges that are to be defraied by & wthin themselues, 
& for the admission of those poore or others y* desire to inhabit! 
wth them, (they being to mainteyne them if they fall into want, 
& fifor what other Smale causes and buisnesses, arising properly 
wthin themselues, fall vnder the cognizance of selectmen; also, 
that they may choose their constable & surveyors for the highway, 
& what other officers or persons the afaires abouesayd may neces¬ 
sitate & occasion them to imploy; yet they would be vnderstood 
that their desire is still to continue with y4 part of the towne of 
Salem, viz4, in bearing wth them, & they wth us, comon toune & 
country charges in comon interests & concemements, as chojce 
of deputjes for the Generali Court, & such like, as hitherto they 
have proceeded together. The Court, on pervsall of their peti¬ 
tion, & hauing heard wfc Salem deputjes sajd, judge meet to grant 
their request, prouided the towne of Salem doe fully concut r 
therewth & agree thereto, wch if they shall not, the Court judg- 
eth it meet that they manifest the same at the next session of this 
Court.” The town of Salem did not see cause to vary their former 
vote, stating “that wee doe not see cause to consent ffurther. Wee 
say, that if our brethren & neighbrs of Basse Riuer . desire to be 
a touneship by themselues, & are content w the lands ahead} 
set out to them, wee consent to that.” Nov. J, 1688, The Court, 
on perusall of this returne, judge it meete to grant that Basse 
Riuer be henceforth a touneship of themselues,. referring it to 
Salem to accomodate them wlh lands & bounds suitably for them, 

& that it be called Beverly.”’ 
Who suggested the name of Beverly is unknown, but it 

was not by the people who were most interested. Just three 
years later, Roger Conant presented to the general court a peti- 
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tion requesting that the name of Beverly be changed to that of 
Budleigh. in the parish of that name he having been born, this 
petition wrought no change in the name of this new town, and 
Beverly it is called to-day. The following is a copy of the peti¬ 

tion :— 

To the honorabel generall Court, consisting of magistrates & deputies. 

The humble peticion of Roger Conant of Bafriuer, alias Beuerly, 
who haue bin a planter in new England, fortie eight yeers and vp- 
ward, being one of the fir ft if not the very firft that refolued and 
made good my settelment vnder god, in matter ot plantation w m\ 
family in this "colony of the maffachufet bay, and haue bin inftrumenta. , 
both for the founding and carrying on of the tame, and when in the 
infancy thereof, it was in great haffard of being deferted, I was a 
means, through grace affifting me, to ftop the flight of thofe tew that 
then were heere wth me, and that by my vtter demall, to goe away w 
them, who would haue gon either for England or moitly tor Vir¬ 
ginia, but thereupon ftayed to the haffard of our hues Now my 
vmble fute and request is vnto this honorable Court, onlie that tie 
name of our towne or plantation may be altred and changed from 
Beuerly, and be called Budleigh. I haue two reafons that haue moued 
me vnto this requeft the firft is the great diflike and difcontent o 
many of our people for this name of Beuerly, becaufe (wee being but a 
finale place) it hath caufed on vs, a conftant nickname of beggarly 
being in the mouths of many; and no order was giuen or content by 
the people heere to their agent for any name vntill they were fhure 

of being a town granted in the firft place. . 
Secondly, I being the firft that had houfe m Salem, (and neuer 

had any hand in naming either that or any other towne,) and myselfe 
wth thofe that were there wth me, being all from the weftern part o 
England, defire this weftern name of Budleigh, a market town m 
Deuonfheer, and neere vnto the fea as we ar heer in this place, and 
where myself was borne, now in regard of our firftneffe and antiquity 
in this foe famous a colony, we fhould requeft this httell priuehdg 
wth your fauors and content, to giue this name abouefaid vnto our 
town. I neuer vet made fute or requeft unto the Jenerall Couit. tor t le 
leaft matter, tho I thinke I might as well haue done, as many, others 
haue, who haue obtained much without haffard of life, 01 p ferring tie 
publick good before theire own intereft, wch I praife god, I haue done. 
Ife this my fute may find acceptation wth your worfhips, I jhall rett 
vmbly thankfull, and my prairs fhal not ceafe, vnto the throne of 
grace for gods guidance and his bleffing to be on all your waightie 
pceedings, and that iuftice and righteoufnes may be euerie where 
adminiftered, and found doctrine truth and holiness euery \\ 
taught and practifed throughout this wildernes to all pofteritv, w 

god grant. Amen. 
vour worfhips vmble peticioner and feruant 

Rogf.r Conant 

The 28 of the third moneth 1671 
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It is likewife the vmble clefire and requeft of vs whofe names ar 
heervnder written, that the name of our town may be changed as 
abouefaid. 

william Dodge fen 

William Dodg iun 

Peter Woodbery 

John Dodg 

Ephraim Herrick 

Edward BiIThop 

Lot Conant 

Thomas Bayly 

John Ramont 

John Louet 

william Dodg 

Beniamin Balch 

Curnelies Baker 

ExercHe Conant 

Edmond Grouer 

John Hill 

John grouer 

John Cheeuer (?) 

Robert Morgan 

OfMOND TRAfKE 
John SAMpfoN 

William Raymont 

Robert hibbard 

Henry Herrick 

John Black 

Hack Hull 

Richard Hayns 

John Leech iunr 

John Gally 

Tho: Woodbery 

Zackarie Herrick 

John Bennet 

John Conant 

John louet iunr 

Ist June 1671. 
The magists hauing Pervfed & Confidered this Request see no 

caufe to alter the name of the place as defired their brethren the 
deputjes Confenting Edw : Rawson Secrcy 

Confented to by the deputves William Torrey Cleric1 

The lots on the map of Beverly which are marked by num¬ 
bers were each owned by the persons given in the following list, 
those having houses upon them at the date of the incorporation 
of Beverly being so marked. This list is probably not entirely 
accurate as the records in several cases do not furnish sufficient 
information to identify every owner or lot at that early date. 
1. William Dixsy; 2. Nicholas Patch (house) ; 3. Richard Dodge; 
4. Roger Conant; 5. Isaac Hull; 6. Henry Herrick; 7. John 
Rayment (house) ; 8. Benjamin Balch; 9- Exercise Conant 
(house); 10. Henry Herrick; 11. Roger Conant (house); 12. 
One thousand acres (and some other lots) ; 13. Benjamin Balch 
(house) ; 14. William Dodge; 15* David Thomas, 16. David 
Thomas; 17. Robert Hibberd; 18. Nathaniel Wallis; 19* Wil¬ 
liam Dodge; 20. Richard Haynes; 21. Henry Herrick; 22. John 
Dodge; 23. Mark Haskell; 24. Edmund Grover; 25. Andrew 
Elliot; 26. Robert Hibbert; 27. John Lambert; 28. William 
Hoare 29. Richard Haynes; 30. Richard Stackhouse (house); 
31. Ralph Ellenwood (house); 32- William Dixie; 33. Josiah 
Roots; 34. Hugh Woodbury (house); 35. Thomas Tuck; 36. 
John Porter; 37. William Woodbury (house) ; 38. Christopher 
Croe: 39. Thomas Roots; 40. Josiah Roots; 41. John Lambert 
(house); 42. William Hoare (house); 43- Unknown owner; 
44. Thomas Pickton ; 45. Parsonage of Rev. John Hale (house) , 

s 1Massachusetts State Archives, volume 112, leaf 217. 
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46. Thomas Savage; 47. Henry Bayley (house); 48. Jeremiah 
Butman (house) ; 49. John Solas (house) ; 50. John Sollas; 51. 
Samuel Beadle; 52. Z. and J. Hill (house); 53. John Black 
(house) ; 54. Thomas Lathrop (house) ; 55. Z. and J. Hill; 56. 
Peter Wolfe; 57. Humphrey Woodbury; 58. Paul Woodbury 
(house); 59. John Thorndike; 60. Nicholas Patch (house); 
61. Jeffry Thissell; 62. William Woodbury (house) ; 63. William 
Dixie: 64. Nicholas Woodbury; 65. Jeffry Thissell (house); 
66. Mary Lemon; 67. Nicholas Woodbury (house); 68. John 
West: 69. William Pitt and Moses Maverick; 70. John West 
(house). 
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CHAPTER XXII. 

NEW MEETING HOUSE. 

ANUARY 4, 1668-9, the selectmen allowed Joseph 
Houghton seven acres of land next his own, in con¬ 
sideration of a highway laid out through his planting 
ground. 

Jan. 28, 1668-9, the Salem court licensed John 
Horne, sr., to sell strong water at retail for the ensuing year; 
and the same court renewed his license the following November. 

The incorporation of Wenham, Manchester, Marblehead and 
Beverly reduced the population as well as the area of Salem 
greatly; and now, immediately after the loss of a large part of 
the town by the establishment of Beverly, the attention of the 
people of Salem was turned to the institution of burial places in 
what is now Danvers and in what is now Peabody. March 9, 
1668-9, the town considered the “Conveniency for a burying 
place about the glass house and what charge is needful to be 
allowed the town to pay for it, and also for the farmers about 
Ipswich River.” The first burial place intended, near the glass 
house, is the old Trask burial ground on Boston Street, in Salem, 
though the cemetery is in Peabody, the bounds of the two cities 
running along the inner side of the sidewall the whole length of 
the burial place. This was then common land. The other ceme¬ 
tery, for a burial place for the Farmers, is the old Wadsworth 
burying ground, on Summer Street, in Danvers. The northerly 
portion of the latter was practically the old Salem Village parish 
burial place ; and at the time of this town meeting the land be¬ 
longed to Serg. John Porter, with whom there was at least a tacit 
agreement with the neighbors for its use as a cemetery. . It may 
be that it was first used by the Porters as a private burial place 
before that time. The title to the cemetery remained m the 
Porter family and their successors until it was purchased with the 
adjoining land on its south and west sides by Rev. Benjamin 
Wadsworth April 8, 182-5, and the same day he conveyed the 

419 
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present sres. which contains in the whole one 3.cie sncl nine scjusie 
rods, to the inhabitants of the North Parish of Danvers. In his 
deed he provided that it should be called “the Wadsworth burying 

ground.”"1 
The Trask burial ground was so called because it was next 

the Trask homestead, and Capt. William Trask was prob¬ 
ably buried in it. Reverends Nathan Holt, Samuel W alker 
and Jones Very are also buried there. This cemetery is most 
famous for its being the resting place of Elizabeth Whitman, 
who, under the name of Eliza Wharton, came to the old Bell 
Tavern, on Main Street, now in Peabody, a stranger, and kept 
her identity a secret, finally fading 'away in 1788, at the age of 
thirty-six. Friends erected a gravestone at the head of the mound 
under which her remains were placed, but little is left of the 
stone, as visitors have broken off pieces of it as souvenirs, and a 
worn path to her grave indicates how many feet must have trod 
it in the old days. Her story is told in the famous novel of the 
olden time, entitled, “Eliza Wharton, or the Coquette, of which 
she is the heroine. The mystery of her life, which was then 
wholly unknown, but which has since been partially revealed, 
wrought a veil of romance about her history. 

In the old burial place on Summer Street, lie the remains 
of Reverends Joseph Green, Peter Clark and Benjamin Wads¬ 
worth. The oldest stones, whose inscriptions are intelligible, are 
those of Mrs. Elizabeth Putnam, who died in childbirth, Aug. 24, 
1682, at the age of twenty-two, and her son Samuel who survived 
her, and died in the latter part of November following, aged 

fifteen weeks. 
James Brown,2 a glazier, born about 1604, came from New¬ 

bury to Salem about 1668, having 
bought a house and lot of Christopher 
Waller, at 28 St. Peter Street, in 
1664, and lived there until his death 
in 1676. 

T.ssex Registry of Deeds, book 238, leaf 27. 
2James Brown1 married Sarah Cutting of Newbury; died Nov. 3, 1670 

she married, secondly, William Healy of Cambridge; children: 1. James]T 
2. Abraham;2 living in 1682; 3. Anna;2 under eighteen in 1674; 4- Sarah;' 
married - Beazely; 5. John;2 died Dec. 8, 1690; 6. Samuel;' died at 
sea Nov. 15, 1690; 7. Mary,2 born May 25, 1663^ living in 1674; 8. Abigail.' 
born Oct. 24, 1665; living in 1674; 9. Martha,' born Dec. 22, 1667; mar¬ 
ried John Tappan Sept. 3, 1688, in Andover. # 

James Brown;2 glazier; lived in Charlestown in 1672 and 1673, in Salem 
1677-1679, in Newbury 1680-1707; married Hannah -; died in Newbury 
Feb. 26, 1707; she died there Nov. 18, 1713; children: t. James;3 glazier: 
lived in Newbury; married, first, Mary Edwards April 28, 1695; she died in 
Newbury May 5, 1700; married, secondly. Rebecca Kelly Jan. t, 1701-2; he 
died in Newbury May 17, T745; 2. Sarah,3 born Aug. to, 1678. in Salem; 
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March 19, 1668-9, 6ie selectmen granted to John Burton a 
small plot of land near Colonel Read’s meadow, to improve in his 
trade of tanning, as long as the town should please. 

On the same day, the selectmen granted to Jonathan Pick¬ 
ering liberty to build shipping next beyond the causeway at the 
end of the town, provided that he does not hinder the highway 
nor cattle from coming to the salt water. This land was a piece 
of marsh, lying on the easterly side of Grove Street, between the 
railroad crossing and Boston Street. 

July 21, 1669, the selectmen appointed John Pickering, Josiah 
Southwick and William Traske to repair the bridge at Strong- 
water brook, to make a foot bridge at the brook near Thomas 
Gouldthwait’s and about Mr. Gardner’s. The latter is the brook 
which runs around the South Church meeting house. Strong- 
water brook bridge was repaired by John Smith, the tailor, in 1673. 

Aug. 27, 1669, at the town meeting, “The Town house and 
ground next to Edward Wharton's is left to the select men to 
dispose of to Capt. Corwine or else to buy Capt. Corwine's”; and, 
October 7th, the selectmen sold it to Mr. Wharton. 

Aaron Reade was accidentally shot by Joseph Small, two 
young men of the Farms (Danvers Highlands), while they were 
gunning, each being about twenty years of age. While fitting 
his gun to shoot at fowl, Small’s gun went off suddenly before he 
was aware of it, and shot Reade in the back. This was the verdict 
of the jury of inquest, before whom several witnesses appeared. 
Just before he died, Reade was questioned by Samuel Eborn as 
to whether they went forth as two brothers, and he replied, Yea, 
yea” ; and also” whether there was at any time any private grudge 
between Small and himself, and whether or not Small did not 
shoot him wilfully, and Reade answered with a voice indicating 
great affection, “Oh, no, no, no!” These were some of the last 
words he spoke. The verdict was returned Oct. 5> 1669. The 
jury consisted of Edmond Batter, John Browne, Joseph Grafton, 
William Flint, Richard Prince, Samuel Gardner, Eleazer Ha- 
thorne, Joseph Hardy, Hilliard Yeren, sr., Edward Mowle, Sam¬ 

uel Pickman and John Pickering.1 
Oct. 7, 1669, the selectmen appointed John Corwine, Bar- 

tholmew Gidney, Serg. John Pickering and Edmond Batter to 
settle and bound out the highway at the head of the River anc 
what ground either of upland or salt marsh that h eth at the Cow 

house River of the town Comons.’ 

married Richard Lowle April 8, 1695; 3; Benjamin,3 born March 21 
1680-1, in Newbury; 4. Abraham, born March 17, 1682-3, c J • > 
1683-4; 5. Joseph,3 born May r9, 1685; 6. Hannah, born °v- ’ ~ G 

"See Records and Files of the Quarterly Courts of Essex Cou ., 
volume IV, page 2rr; and Essex Registry of Deeds, book 3, leat 99- 
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Salem was summoned into court Nov. 2, 1669, for not having 

a convenient watchhouse. 
Nov 17, 1669, was appointed by the general court as a 

thanksgiving day, “The Lord having been very gracious unto us, 
hearing our prayers when we cried unto him this last summer, 
for his sparing and pardoning mercy and compassions to be to¬ 
wards us in stopping the bottles of heaven, that by excessive rams 
that seemed to threaten a grievious famine among us, and o- 

ether therewith hath mercifully lengthened out the harvest p* 
& 

Nov. 19, 1669, the town appointed Lieutenant Gardner and 
John Corwine to lay out “the small spot of land that doth belong 
to the widow Reade lying without the North Neck fence near to 

Samuel Ebourne sen house. 
The Salem court granted, Nov. 30, 1669, licenses to W imam 

Hollingworth and Samuel Gardner to retail strong waters out 
of doors to their customers for the year ensuing; and John Gidney, 
sr. had his license for retailing strong waters renewed. 

Dec. 20, 1669, the town granted to Eleazer Hauthorne. two 
acres of swamp land, lying near John Keyney’s, in consideration 
“of the land which now maketh the highway from the said Hau- 
thorne’s house to the burying place’ (now Liberty Stieet) , and 
also to Samuel Ebourne, jr., about ten rods of ground lying near 

his house. . 
Jan. 7, 1669-70, the selectmen allowed John Best to be in 

the town to make use of his trade of burring so long as he lives 

busily. 
The general court appointed June 16, 1670, as a last on ac¬ 

count of “a selfish spirit, minding more our own things than 
the things of Christ, and of private before public gpod; too much 
slighting and negligence in prizing and improving the govern¬ 
ment and order, both civil and sacred, in church and common 
wealth; a great and general neglect of instructing and governing 
the rising generation, both in families and churches; a cooling 
of former life and heat in spiritual comunion ; too gieat neglect 
in some places, of a comfortable upholding and providing foi 
the outward subsistance of sundry faithful ministers; too much 
decay of love to God and one to another, and harboring giound- 

less jealousies 
At the Salem court, June 28, 1670, Theodore Price was 

licensed to still and retail strong waters out of doors; Thomas 
Gardner, sr., had his license for retailing strong waters out of 
doors renewed; John Gedney, sr., John Ruck, Eleazer Hathorne, 

Note. On page 109, a line was inadvertantly omitted between lines 
twelve and thirteen from the bottom of the Putnam footnote, namely. 
“March 26, 1657; 4. Joseph,8 born Oct. 29, 1659; 5. Elizabeth, born 
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William Browne, jr., John Corwin and Stephen Haskett had their 
licenses renewed for the year ensuing; and Henry Skerry was 
licensed to draw wine and liquors and retail it out of doors 
for the ensuing year. 

John Keyney died in the autumn 
of 1670, leaving a wife Sarah. Peter 
Harvey1 came to Salem in 1670. 

GEORGE GARDNER HOUSE 

The ancient Gardner house on Bow Street, in West Peabody, 
was probably built by George Gardner about 1670. Oiiginally, 
the house was a plain two-story building, and the leanto was 
probably added about seventy-five years later. Mr. Gardnei died 
Aug. 20, 1679, having devised the estate to his son Samuel. The 
farm was leased to Thomas Gould by George Gardner, and Mr. 
Gould continued to occupy it until after 1685. 1 lie house ie- 
mained in the possession of the Gardner family until Oct. 18, 
1871, when Mary A. Gardner, widow of Asa Gardner conveyed 

"Peter Harvey was a shipbuilder, according to Savage; married Hannah, 
daughter of Humphrey Gilbert Jan. —, 1670; children: 1 Peter born 
Feb. 10, 1670; 2. David, born Sept. 20, 1672; 3. Hannah, born July 1, 
1674; 4. John, born April 14, 1676; 5. Mary, born Match 25,1 
6. Sarah, born April 15, 1680; married John Burton of Topsfield Feb. 7, 

1704-5- 
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MANSFIELD HOUSE 

it to Bowman Viles, in whose family the title and possession 
4 

remain. 
The old Narbonne house, as it is popu¬ 

larly called, at 71 Essex Street, was probably 
fC built by Paul 

y/2 ^ AMansfield who 
rvJS conveyed the house 

and lot to Thomas 
Ives about 1670. He died in 1695, and the 
administratrix of his estate conveyed it to 
Capt. Simon Willard March 27, 1699. Captain 
Willard conveyed it to his son Josiah Willard 
of Salem, innholder, Tan. 6, 1728-9. Soon 
afterward the house became divided, and its POST 

title was united in Capt. Joseph Hodges in 1757- ^-e conveyed 
it to Jonathan Andrew March 6, 1780. Mr. Andrew died April 18, 
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1844, having, in his will, devised the house and land to his niece 
Mrs. Sarah Narbonne, in whose family the title has since re¬ 
mained. Mr. Ives1 lived here until his decease. The picture of 

Thomas Ives1 first appeared in Salem in 1668; slaughterer; married, 
first, Martha Withe April 1, 1672; second, Elizabeth Metcalf of Ipswich 
about 1679; died in 1695; she married, secondly, John White Jan. 16, 
1695-6; children: 1. Elizabeth,2 born Feb. 12, 1672-3; died July 21, 1673; 
2. Thomas,2 born March 31, 1674; settled in Marblehead; had children; 
3. Deborah,2 born Dec. 8, 1675; living in 1683; 4. Joseph,2 baptized March —, 
16837.5. John,2 baptized March —, 1683; 6. Elizabeth,2 baptized Dec. 4,- 
1687; married John Philpot Dec. n, 1718; 7. Benjamin,2 born about 1692. 

Capt. Benjamin Ives;2 tanner and master mariner; married Anne 
Derby Jan. 2, 1717-8; died in 1752; children: 1. Anne,3 born March 20, 
1719; living in 1752; 2. Benjamin,3 born Nov. 2, 1720; 3- Samuel,3 born 
Dec. 22, 1722; 4. Elizabeth,3 born July 5, 172-; married, first, Richard 
Lee May 31, 1761; second, Josiah Gilman of Exeter, N. H.; 5-. Mary,3 
born about 1728; married John Crowninshield; 6. Abigail;3 living in 1752; 
7. John,3 born about 1732; 8. Martha;3 married Daniel Cheever Nov. 23, 
1760; 9. Margaret;3 married Peter Cheever. 

Capt. Benjamin Ives;3 master mariner; lived in Beverly and Salem; 
married Elizabeth Hale of Beverly Oct. 12, 1743; died Dec. 26, 1757; chil¬ 
dren: 1. Robert Hale,4 born in Beverly July 18, 1744; master manner; 
lived in Beverly; married Sarah Bray March 20, 1766; died at sea on a 
passage from the West Indies Oct. 19, J773I she died in Beverly Sept. 27, 
1782; had children; 2. Rebecca,4 born in Beverly Tune 23,. 1745 < married 
Toseph Gilman of Exeter, N. H., Sept. 22, 1763; 3. Benjamin, born m 
Salem in 1749; died Feb. 27, 1762. Samuel Ives;3 shoreman and mariner; 
married Mary Berry July 4, 1745; died Oct. 15, D50; she survived him; 
children: 1. Benjamin;4 2. Anna;4 living in 1752. John Ives; married 
Sarah Ward March 13, 1755; both died Oct. 18, 1801; children: 1. Wil¬ 
liam ,* born Nov. 25, 1755; 2. Sarah,4 baptized Oct. 2, 1757; married William 
Brewer Sept. 30, 1777; 3- John,4 baptized July 22, 1759; married Elizabeth 
Newhall May 19, 1781; she married, secondly, Jeremiah Emmerton Aug. 11, 

1^85 
X "Capt. Benjamin Ives;4 master mariner; married Elizabeth Giles 

March 17, 1768; died in 1801; she moved to Beverly; children: 1. Hannah,, 
baptized April 2,9 1770 ; married Thomas Woodbury Ober Jan. 20 1793; 
2. Elizabeth,5 baptized Nov. 15, 1772; married Hezekiah Lovett (published 
Dec 9, 1792) ; 3. Mary;5 married John Adams of Beverly beb. n, 179°, 
4. Charlotte,5 born Feb. 17, 1784; married Benjamin Larcom of Beverly 
Jan 10 1804; 5. Samuel,5 born Aug. —. 1786; shipmaster, lived m Pep 
perell, Mass., and Mobile, Ala; married Mary Dyson of Beverly April 20, 
1817; 6. Sarah;5 died, unmarried, in Peppered April — 1852, 7- ben 
jamin;5 died young; 8. Benjamin;5 died young; 9. Benjamin; died young. 
Capt. William Ives;4 sea captain; married Mary Bradshaw Sept. 12, 

1790; died at Savannah, Ga., April —, 1814; she died Dec. 3. 1 20'. on 
dren: 1. William,5 born Feb. 15, H94; 2. John Mansfield, born July 8, 
1799; 3- Stephen Bradshaw,5 born April 12, 1801; 4. Mary, born y 4, 
1803; died Jan. 31, 1887; 5- Benjamin Hale, born Nov-7’l8°6; ~ , 

William Ives ;5 with his brother Stephen he established the Salem 
Observer in 1823; married Lucy Gardner May 12, 1824; died Dec. -, 74* 
she died at Riverside, Ill., Oct. 19, 1882; children: 1. Mary 
born Feb. 4, 1825; married Jesse Mayne Richards Dec. » A o \ 
Gardner,6 born Oct. 15, 1826; married Wdliam Porter March 7 1849, 
3. William Hale,6 born Jan. 17, 1829; married Mary Walker of Chicag , 
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the house presented herewith was photographed in 1925. The in- 

111., Jan. 17, 1854; lived in Taylorville, Ill.; had children; 4. Susan Shilla- 
ber u born Feb. 3, 1831; married Emmons Raymond Spear March 17, 1854; 
c Franklin Gardner,6 born Jan. 26, 1834; died at the age of nine months; 
6. Anne Warren Brazer,6 born April 27, 1836; married, first, Thomas 
Palfray Cole; second, Samuel Pierpont Richardson of Assumption, Can.; 
7. Benjamin Franklin,6 born Dec. 3,9837; married, first, Sarah L. Boer- 
stler • second, Emma J. Boerstler; lived in Riverside, Ill., in 1880, had 
children; 8. Helen May,6 born July 26, 1843; married Edward Augustus 
Saunders June 2, 1866. John Mansfield Ives;6 horticulturist; married 
Lois Alley Southwick Sept. 23, 1827; she died March 24, 1873; he died 
Aug. 29, 1883; children: 1. Rebecca Southwick,6 born Oct. 14, 1828; mar¬ 
ried Gilbert Lewis Streeter; 2. Mary Louisa,6 born May 7, 1830; died 
June 20, 1830; 3. Mary. Ellen,6 born Jan. 23, 1832; married George Lathrop 
Hawkes of Wakefield Jan. 19, 1858; 4- John Southwick, born Dec. 25, 
1833; 5- Flarriet Vaughn,6 born Oct. 17, 1835; died Nov. 14, 1839; o. 
Louisa Mansfield,6 born Feb. 26, 1838; married Lewis Pierce Sept. 19 1872; 
7. Charles Frederic,6 born Sept. 4, 1848. Stephen Bradshaw Ives; 
printer and bookseller; with his brother William he established “The Old 
Corner Bookstore;” married, first, Mary Perkins May 16, 1826; she died 
Tulv 4 1873; married, second, Harriet Perkins March 31, 1876; he died 
Julv 31, 1883; she died in Philadelphia, Pa, Dec. 23, 1886; children: 1. 
Stephen Bradshazv6 born March 9, 1827; 2. David Perkms, born July 13, 
1828; married Sarah Shreve Calef Dec. 21, 18541 living in 1887; no issue, 
3. Henry Perkins,6 born April 15, 1830; 4. Edward Perkins,5 born Oct. 13, 
1832; died Sept. 8, 1834; 5- Mary Elizabeth,6 born April 7, 1835; unmar- 
ried in 1887; 6. Margaret Perkins,6 born Aug. 26, 1836; married Charles 
Sewall; 7. George Augustus,6 born Sept. 13, 1839; lived m Boston m 1886; 
married Clara Thorndike Rand Oct. 10, 1866; had children; 8. Cornelia 
Allen 6 born July 27, 1844; married Frederick Manton Osborne; 9. Caroline 
Louisa,6 born Oct. 27, 1847; married Frank Augustus Langmaid; 10. Ed¬ 
ward Lang,6 born April 19, 1849. Benjamin Hale Ives; bookseller and 
stationer; married Lydia Ann Harraden Oct. 29, 1833; died Oct. 27, 1837, 
she died Feb. 23, 1881; children: 1. Sarah Ellen,6 born Nov. 17, 1834; mar¬ 
ried William Cleveland Henderson; 2. Benjamin Hale? born Sept. 18, 1837. 

John Southwtck Ives;6 married Mary Buttrick Jan. 24, 1855; died June 

—f 1915; children: 1. Charles Edwin,' born Oct. 6, 18551 2. Alfred South- 
ivick,7 born Nov. 7, 1857; 3. John Southwick,' born June 22, i860; 4. Sam- 
uel Buttrick,7 born May 25, 1862; 5. Henry Merritt,' born March 29,_ 1865*, 
6. Mary Ellen,7 born April 16, 1867; living in 1888; 2. William Lincoln, 
born Jan. 29, 1871; 3. Emily Ashby,7 born Jan. 1, 1873; living in 1895- 
Charles Frederick Ives;6 lived in Malden in 1887; married Ida Marion 
Washburn Aug. 24, 1876; children: 1. Frederick Washburn,7 born July 26,. 
1877; 2. Lois Southwick,7 born Aug. 1, 1880. Stephen Bradshaw Ives, 
Esq.;6 H. C, 1848; lawyer; married, first, Mary Elizabeth Burnham Jan. —, 
1848; she died Jan. 4, 1870; married, second. Mrs. Constance (Telford)^ 
Farmdale, in England; he died Feb. 8, 1884; children: 1. Edward Lang/ 
born April 19, 1849; lived in Calcutta, India, in 1886; married Sophie De 
Terreno Feb. —, 1879; had a child; 2. Mary Perkins,' born Oct. 17, 1850^ 
married Charles Patterson Abbot April 12, 1874; 3- Arthur Burnham, 
born in 1854; died in 1855; 4. George Burnham,' born Oct. 18, 1856; 5. 
David Otis,7 born Nov. 28, 1858; unmarried in 1886; 6. Alice Peirce, born 
Dec. —, 1862; died July —, 1863. Henry Perkins Ives;6 bookseller; 
married Ada Simes Jones Oct. 2, 1856; living in 1887; children: 1. Etta 
Molineux,7 born Dec. 24, 1857; married Charles Francis Quincy Oct. 20, 
1878; 2. Augustine Perkins,7 born April 17, 1859; died Sept. 12, 1859; 3. 
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JOSEPH HOULTON HOUSE 

set cut shows the ornamentation of the shoulder of the posts 

which support the summer beams. 
The house built by Joseph Houlton upon land of his wife, on 

Center Street, in Danvers, nearly opposite Walnut Street, about 

Augustine Perkins,7 born May 31, 1861; married Katherine Cowan Browne 
Jan 27, 1886; 4. Nathan Frye,7 born Aug. 5. 1863; 5. Richard, born 
Sept 30 1867; 6. Lucv Perkins,7 born Dec. 7, 1872. Benjamin Hale Ives;t 

married’Sarah Elizabeth Safford Kimball June 6, 1865; children: 1. — 
(son), stillborn June 6, 1867; 2. Francis Safford, born Dec. 12, 1869, 

died Sept. 18, 1870; 3. Benjamin Hale,1 born June 20, 1874; died April 13, 

1877; 4. Mabel,7 born May 17, 1878. . 
Charies Edwin Ives;7 moved to Malden m 1887; married Catherine 

Augusta Allen May 13, 1880; children: 1. Charles Allen (twin) born 
April 17. 1882; 2. Mary Ashby8 (twin), born April 17, T882; 3. George 
Wilkins,8 born Tuly 26, 1883; 4- Edith Lynwood, born July 13, ^.Alfred 
Southwick Ives;7 married Anna Maria Connacher Nov. 25, 1880; died 
May 6, 1916; she died May 11. 1921; child: 1. Samuel Southwick, born 
Aug. 17, 1884; married Martha D. -; living m 1911. John Southwick 

Ives-7 married Anna Gardner Symonds Dec. 16, 1884, child, t. Ches t 
Svmonds,8 born April 4. 1887. Samuel Buttrtck IvesG <cabinet maker, 
married Lillian Morse Feb. uf 1885 , moved to Lynn in 1888, and to Revere 
in 1908- child: 1. Lillian Gower, born Nov. 13. 1885. Henr\ Merrit 
Ives;7 married Florence Alice Rogers Oct. 13, 1884; child: 1. Jessie St 
Clair.8 born Dec. 20, 1884. William Lincoln Ives; married Laura Brown; 
died May 20, 1922; children: 1. Leonard B. born Sept. 26, 1 9 > S u 
living in 1922; 2. Esther M..8 born June 9. T902, unmarried 1 

1922; 3. Richard M. ;8 4- Emily Bertha 8 born Marc 1 , WW 10*1870 • 
Burnham Ivf.s;7 lawyer; married Mary Manley Cr^mer,. ?•7 n 
children: 1. Frederick Manley.8 born Jan to 1880; lawyer, 
Winchester: 2. Oscar Jackson,8 born May 28, t88t. 
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1671, remained in the possession of the family until April 4> 
when Joseph Houlton conveyed the estate to Bartholomew Rea. 
It was in the possession of the Rea family until 1805, when Daniel 
Rea sold it Since then it has been owned and occupied by Sam¬ 
uel Small 1805 to 1826, and Moses Gould, 1826-1828. It was 
bought by Isaac Dempsey in 1832, and remained in the family 
until 1911. Edwin Dutcher now owns and occupies the house. 

JOHN DAY HOUSE 

John Day1 built the ancient house, which was lately the 
grocery store of Francis T. Berry, 43 Essex Street, about 1671 , 
and conveyed it to Joseph Grafton before April 2, 1679, when 
the latter sold it to Pasco Foot. On the next day, Mr. hoot con¬ 
veyed it to Zachariah White, who lived here a while, and the house 
was occupied by Capt. Zachariah Fowles and his family. He prob¬ 
ably conducted an inn in the house. He conveyed the title to the es¬ 
tate to Josiah Willard March 3, 1710-1, but continued the inn in 
the house until his death. July 10, 1718. Captain Willard then con- 

Bohn Day, son of Thomas Day, married Ann Colman July 16, 1668; 
died in the spring of 1680; children: 1. Ann, born Oct. 18, 1669; 2. John, 
born Jan. 24, 1670-1; 3. Stephen, born Oct. 16, 1672. 
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tinued the business, the house being called “The Crown Tavern.” 
He died in 1731, when the upper rooms of the house were called 
the best chamber, east chamber, west chamber and south old cham¬ 
ber. His widow removed to Boston, and sold the estate to Rich¬ 
ard Bethel of Salem in 1735. Mr. Bethel conveyed the house to 
Osman Trask of Beverly in 1747. The next owner was Sarah, 
wife of Edmund Whittemore. She died before July 2, 1788, when 
her heirs began to dispose of the estate; and the title had become 
fully possessed by George E. Berry in 1853. It has been in the 
Berry family ever since. Doctor Bentley, in his Journal, July 9, 
1790, called it “The Old Tavern, alias College, alias Becket’s 
House.” The house is now greatly changed, the great chimney 
and partitions of the body of the first story of the house having 
been removed. 

THE SAWMILL AT BEAVER DAM, IN DANVERS. 

This mill was on Beaver brook on the easterly side of Nichols 
Street, on land of John Porter, who agreed with John Hutchinson 
and Joseph Hutchinson that they might construct a sawmill 
there, provided that the meadow should not be injured by flowing 
and the dam should not be allowed to flow back the watei ex¬ 
cept from the first of November to the tenth of April; and the 
mill men agreed that as long as they continued a mill there, they 
would maintain and preserve the dam and sluice at their own 
charge, etc. This agreement was dated Dec. 1, 1670. 

The mill was built immediately, and the water was raised so 
much by the dam that the highway became submerged and unsafe 
and impassable for travelers. The gravel on the causeway on 
either side of the bridge was so washed away that Lieutenant 
Putnam’s horse fell in with his hind legs, and he could not pass 
over it with a cart as a part of the bridge had been carried out of 
place. There was no foot path over it, except by wading, as the 
water was nearly a foot above the timber of the bi idge. Those 
persons living above the mill had to go to Salem to have their 
grists ground past John Putnam’s (through Putnamville) as 
there was no other way to go. Complaint was made at the Ip¬ 
swich quarterly court, and, after a hearing, March 20, 1672, t ie 
court ordered that the dam be pulled down, so as to make the 
wav passable, or else sufficiently repair it.1 The mill was probably 
removed down stream about thirty rods at this time or soon alter. 

March 27, 1674, the selectmen engaged Henry Kenny to 
make a sufficient cartway over the bridge at Beaver dam, and to 
make the way sufficient at both ends of the bridge. 

"Records and Files of the Quarterly Courts of Essex County, volume 

V, pages 25-29. 
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NEW MEETING HOUSE 

After the addition was made to the first meeting house, in 
1638, it had received numerous repairs, the largest sum expended 
at one time being in 1657, when, under the dirction of the town, 
William Browne spent fifty pounds for that purpose. A new bell 
was also added that year, at an expense of eighteen pounds, and 
for the raising of it five pounds. March 2, 1666-7, the selectmen 
voted that Edmond Batter “order who shall sit in the seats at 
the south end: both above and below the gallery, where the chim¬ 
ney was formerly.” So, the chimney had been removed. 

In the call of the annual meeting held March 7, 1669-70, the 
selectmen inserted a clause to consider the building of a new 
meeting house; and at that meeting the town voted that it is 
left to the selectmen to “consider and prepare their thoughts in 
order to the building of a new meeting house or to fit up the ojd,” 
and to at once make necessary repairs upon the present building. 
At an adjourned meeting of the town, April fifth, it was ordered 
“that there shall be a new meeting house built for the worship 
and holy service of God in public, and that it be about sixty feet 
long, fifty feet wide and about twenty feet high in the stud and 
to be set up at the west end of the old meeting house towards 
the prison”; and William Browne, sr., Capt. George Corwine, 
Edmond Batter and Mr. Bartholmew were impowered to agree 
with carpenters and other workmen to build the house aild finish 
it, but not to exceed in expense one thousand pounds. Two 
week , later, the town voted that the cost of the meeting house 
should be raised by taxation. John Fiske of Wenham, a car¬ 
penter, contracted to build the meeting house. Nothing was 
done the next year toward taking the old house down or building 
a new one; and, Nov. 20, 1671, the town ordered the selectmen 

to repair the old building. 
The call of a special meeting of the town, held Aug. 17, 1672, 

gave notice that the meeting was called to consider whether 
the old meeting house should be taken down or sold as it stood; 
and at the meeting the town voted that it should be taken down, 
and the lumber saved for the town’s use, to build a schoolhouse 
and watchhouse; and that every family in town, and which be¬ 
long to the town, should send one man of each family to help 
take it down, and to carry the materials into some convenient 
place. When to begin to do it and the number of men to work 
each day was left to the selectmen to appoint. The old pulpit 
and the deacons’ seat were given to the Farmers,1 and the stones 
of the underpinning and the clay of the old building were given 
to John Fiske, the contractor. 

'Residents of Salem Village. 
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On the same day, the selectmen ordered that the work of 
demolition of the old meeting house should commence two days 
later (nineteenth) ; and they ordered the constables to warn 
thirty men a day, to appear to help take it down, beginning to 
warn them at Strongwater brook, and so downward to the lower 
end of the town. The liquor bill was quite large in the case of 
this razing of the meeting house as well as in the raising of the 
new one. John Gedney, who kept the tavern a little way down 
Essex Street, was paid five pounds and three shillings for “ex¬ 
penses” in taking down the old meeting house, and in this was 
included the selectmen’s “expenses”; and his bill for “provisions” 
in raising the new meeting house was seventeen pounds. 

The rate for the payment of the new meeting house amount¬ 
ed to four hundred and sixty-nine pounds and twelve shillings. 

The new meeting* house stood north and south, the eastern 
side being on the old site and the western side extended into 
Washington Street. It faced on Essex Street.1 The bell was 
put into the new meeting house.2 The contractor also agreed to 
make a flight of stairs up to the scuttle in the roof of the meeting 
house, finish the plastering and point the underpinning with white 
lime. This matter of finish was agreed to be done, in a subse¬ 
quent agreement dated Jan. 22, 1673-4. 

Now came the matter of pews and sittings in the new edifice. 
It was agreed by the selectmen and Rev. Mr. Higginson, the 
pastor, Jan. 13, 1672-3, that William Browne, sr., Capt. George 
Corwin, William Browne, jr., and Dr. Daniel Weld should, each 
of them, have liberty to build a pew for each of their families be¬ 
tween the east door and the south corner of the meeting house; 
that Major Hathorne, Edmond Batter, Capt. Walter Price and 
John Corwine might build, each of them, a pew for their fam¬ 
ilies on the south side of the west door; that Mr. Vearen, sr., 

"March 28, 1676, the town voted “that there is as much land granted 
upon ye common or pen at ye upper end of W. Bartholmew’s or Thomas 
Root’s land for to build a new meeting house for ye worship of God—And 
it is left to ye selectmen to lay out ye said land.” 

March 7, 1674-5, the selectmen “Laid out in ye pen or common at. ye 
upper end of Thomas Roots his fence for ye setting of a new meeting 
house about one hundred feet each way leauing a way of one pole wid be¬ 
tween ye meeting house and Thomas Roots his ditch. This lot was m the 
common, opposite nearly midway between Briggs and Boardman stieets. 
At the time these votes were passed the new meeting house was already 
erected. Why it was thus voted is unknown. . 

2The contractor, John Fiske, engaged James Brown, the glazier, to fur¬ 
nish and set the glass in the new edifice, at eleven and one-half pence pci 
square foot, it measuring in all four hundred and twenty-fom square ee , 
and amounted to twenty pounds, six shillings and four pence. Nov. 18, 
1672 Mr. Browne sued Mr. Fiske for the unpaid balance of eight pounds, 
and recovered judgment. His son Samuel Browne, aged seventeen, cu 

the glazing. 
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a pew for his wife to sit in at the southwest corner of the meet¬ 
ing- house, and Mrs. Emery and Mrs. Norrice to sit in the said 
pew if they were willing. Two weeks later, they agreed that Mr. 
Endecott should have liberty to build a pew in the first place on 
the north side of the east door for himself and his family, James 
Browne a pew for himself and his family next to Mr. Endecott s 
on the north side; John Turner a pew for himself and family next 
to James Browne s on the north side of the east window, the 
widow of Joseph Grafton, John Grafton’s wife and the widow of 
Nathaniel Grafton a pew from the northeast corner to the middle 
of the next window on the north side of the meeting house, Sam¬ 
uel Gardner a pew from the middle of the north window to the 
stairs on the east side of the north door; Mr. Higginson a pew 
for his family and relations the first place on the west side of the 
north door next to the stairs; Farmer Porter a pew the first place 
on the north side of the west door 5 John Ruck a pew to the 
north side of Farmer Porter’s; Mr. Gedney, sr., a pew for 
himself and wife and John Gedney’s wife and his son Barthol- 
mew Gedney and wife next to Mr. Ruck s pew. April 15th, it was 
agreed by the selectmen that Joseph Gardner hath allowed him 
room for a pew next to Mr. John Higginson. Capt. George 
Corwin was given liberty to take in the pew in the corner next to 
him, and Eleazer Hawthorne and his wife were given liberty 
to sit there and Doctor Weld was given liberty to build a pew 
between that and the pulpit stairs. April 21st, the town voted that 
the selectmen and the undertakers for the meeting house, with 
Mr. Higginson, be empowered to seat the people in the meeting 
house. June 3d, the selectmen gave permission to Benjamin 
Garish and company to build a seat over the stairs in the meet¬ 
ing house. Sept. 8, 1673, as Air. Gedney, sr., and his wife were 
placed otherwise, the seat is granted to Mr. Bartholmew Gedney 
for his family and his sister Susanna. Eleazer Gedney’s wife was 
given liberty to sit in one of the pews in the west gallery. Serg 
John Pickering’s wife and Richard Hollingworth’s wife were al¬ 
lowed to sit in one of the pews in the west gallery. September 
24th, the selectmen ordered William Dounton to build up the 
west end of the two foremost women’s seats, as he had begun 
the east end of those seats. May 18, 1674, Edmund Feberary’s 
wife, John Sanders’ wife, John Norman’s wife, Robert Hodges’ 
wife and John Sibley's wife were given liberty to build a small 
pew in one half of the hindermost seats of the women’s seats be¬ 
low, provided the pew should be set at one end of that seat and 
for the breadth not to exceed the former seat; and Captain Cur- 
win was ordered to widen the first of the men’s seats below about 
one foot and finish it up well. Feb. 14, 1675-6, Mary English 
was given liberty by the selectmen to sit in the seat in the gallery 
where Tos Ward’s wife then sat. April 28, 1676, the selectmen 
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ordered that Mrs. Bridge should sit in the next seat behind the 
women’s pews, and the wife of Henry Scerry, jr., to sit with 
Goodwife Roots. Dec. 25, 1676, the selectmen gave liberty to 
Mr. Lindall to sit in the fore gallery, where he now usually sits, 
and his wife in the fore pew where her mother was formerly 
placed. The selectmen agreed to pay William Dounton nine 
pounds for building the women’s two fore pews. March 25, 
1676-7, the selectmen appointed John Proctor to sit in the fourth 
seat below in the meeting house, and his wife with the wife of 
Francis Nurse in the women’s seats. March 9, 1676-7, the select¬ 
men ordered Goodwife Dounton to sit in the seat with Goodwife 
Gaskin. Sept. 8, 1677, the selectmen ordered that Samuel Phip- 
peny’s wife should sit in the southermost of the women’s pews in 
the west gallery; and, November 5th, that Daniel Eppes’ wife 
should sit in the westermost fore pew. Jan. 7, 1677-8, the select¬ 
men ordered that Richard Rowland’s wife should sit in the second 
seat behind the women’s great seat. Oct. 17, 1678, the selectmen 
gave liberty to Capt. George Corwin to build a pew between the 
pulpit and Capt. John Corwin’s pew he making a door out into 
the street (the pew to range with Capt. John Corwin’s), pro¬ 
vided that Jonathan Corwine may have the pew which is now 
Capt. George Corwin’s. November 6th, the selectmen gave lib¬ 
erty to Mr. Daniel Eps to build a seat for his wife between Capt. 
Tohn Corwin’s pew door and the next short seat, provided there 
was convenient room. May 13, 1679* the selectmen consented 
that Edmond Bridges should sit in that seat in the gallery where 
Sergeant Lake, lately deceased, used to sit; and, August 4th, 
Goodman Beachum was desired to sit behind the pulpit, and 
Thomas Flint, son of William Flint, deceased, in the seat where 

Goodman Beachum sat. 
April 20, 1676, the selectmen ordered that all the boys of the 

town should sit upon the three pairs of stairs in the meeting house 
• on the Lord’s day; and appointed William Lord to look after the 

boys who sit upon the pulpit stairs; and for the other stairs 
Reuben Guppy “is to look to and order so many of the boys as may 
be convenient, and if any are unruly to. present their names. 

A visitor might have taken a look in, as one of the earliest 
services in the new meeting house was in progress. . As the north 
door was entered, on the left were the gallery stairs, and next, 
between them and the north window, was the ancient square pew 
of Samuel Gardner. Between Gardner’s pew and the northeast 
corner of the meeting house was the pew of the Grafton women, 
two widows and John’s wife. On the eastern side between the 
Grafton pew and the east window, was the pew of John turner. 
On the other side of the window was the pew o James 
and between Browne’s pew and the east door was that ot Zeru > 
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babel Endecott. Still on the east side, between the east door 

and the southeast corner of the meeting house were the four 

square pews of William Browne, sr., Capt. George orwm, 1 
liam Browne, jr., and Dr. Daniel Weld. At the middle of the 

rear end was the elevated pulpit, which was reached by stairs on 

its eastern side. Near the western side, on the other side of the 

pulpit, was a pew occupied by Mrs. Verrm, Mrs. Emery and 
Mrs. Norris. On the western side, between the southwestern 

corner of the meeting house and the west door were four pews, 

belonging to Maj. William Hathorne, Edmond Batter, Capt. 

Walter Price and John Corwin. Between the west door and the 

northwestern corner of the meeting house was, first, next the 

door, the pew of Farmer Porter, next, that of John Ruck, and next 

that of John Gedney and his sons John and Bartholmew. Glanc¬ 

ing up at the west gallery, the visitor could see Eleazer Gedney s 

wife, Serg. John Pickering’s wife and Richard Holhngworth s 

wife sitting in a women’s pew. Thus far only, the records per¬ 

mit the view. . . 
In 1677, stone steps were provided for the meeting house at 

an expense of one pound. These were furnished by Eleazer 

Giles. In 1679, “a wicket door” was made in each of the west and 

east doors. The floor was lowered, and there was an extra 

charge for work done at the pillars. 
William Seagraves was the sexton in 1671 and 1672, being 

paid five pounds yearly for ringing the bell; and . Thomas 

Maule in 1673. March 29, 1673, the town chose Benjamin Felton 

to ring the bell and take care of the meeting house, for seven 

pounds yearly, but the owners of the pews were to look after 

them. April 26, 1673, the selectmen '‘Agreed with wiliam lord to 

Ring the bell boath on Saboath dayes and all other publicke oca- 

tions on Coart daies and alsoe to Ring the nine a clocke bell and 

to Sweep all the Seats and pewes both aboue and. below in y0 

metinghouse And likewise to Call m Higinson At his house both 

morning and afternoone Evry Saboath day and also to dig the 

graves for all Such as he is desired and to be paid by those that 

Imploy him In It.” He was hired for one year, with a salary of 

seven pounds, and served also the next year. Manasseh Marston 

was paid three pounds for ringing the bell for the year 1675. Mr. 

Lord was the bellringer and janitor of the meeting house for 1676 

and 1677. He rang the bell at five and nine o’clock daily. 
April 20, 1676, the three constables were ordered to attend 

at the three great doors of the meeting house every Lord’s day, 
at the end of the sermon, both forenoon and afternoon, and to 

keep the doors fast and suffer none to go out before the whole 

exercise was ended, unless there was necessary occasion. Reuben 

Guppy was engaged to keep the dogs out of the meeting house. 
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CHAPTER XXIII. 

SALEMi VILLAGE PARISH 

S the first settlers of Danvers were all yeomen, that part 
of Salem was early called the “Farms,” and the people 
the “Farmers.” Later, when a little hamlet was 
gathered at what is now the Center, or the Highlands, 
it became known as Salem Village, in distinction 

from the town of Salem, which was generally applied to the neck 
of land lying easterly of the bridge on Boston Street, being 
the thickly settled part of Salem, and whose citizens were mer¬ 
chants and mechanics. 

Most of the residents of the Farms lived some, five miles 
from the meetings of the church at Salem, and the distance and 
poor roads made it in the winter an impossibility and always a 
task to meet the requirements of church attendance. The estab¬ 
lishment of religious services at Beverly probably caused them to 
consider their isolated position, but the discussion of building a 
new meeting house in Salem town brought the matter directly 
and forcibly to them and called them to action. They did not 
wish to help pay for two meeting houses. 

There were other cogent reasons, and as early as 1667 the 
people living westerly and northerly of what are now Peabody 
and Danvers squares became cognizant of the danger they were 
in from their frontier and scattered situation. The town of 
Salem was protected by a watch each night, and this watch was 
drawn from every section of Salem. Each of the families 
of the Farms was isolated, rarely more than one cabin 01 small 
house and barn being found in a clearing in the woods. When 
the men were at home, the protection was meager, but when 
they were away 3.11 night, the women and children were in¬ 
deed stouthearted and courageous. Stories of incursions of the 
Indians not far away must have been told to them, and the ted 
men were often in the neighborhood. Some of them, who were 
punished by whippings, were not adverse to wreaking their 
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vengeance upon the unprotected planter or his family. _ Strong 
water had immediate and radical effect upon the brain of an 
Indian and led him into stupidity or assault and murder. 

Realizing the necessity of the planters of the woods staying 
with their families nights for company as well as protection, the 
men of that section objected to serving on a watch m a thickly 
settled community so far away, especially when the town was 
so much protected by water, they applied to the Salem court m 
June, 1667, praying that their liability to serve on military 
watches in Salem town, under the circumstances, might be deter¬ 
mined. The court did not decide the matter, but advised that 
it was a case for the general court. The following petition was 
thereupon prepared, signed and presented to the general court 

Oct. 10, 1667:— 

To the honord Gen11 Court at Boston 
The humble petition of ye Inhabitants ot the iaims belonging 

to Salem most humbly, sheweth 
Whareas yor petitioners, have been required, by or Commanders, to 
attend ye Millitary watch, at Salem Towne, which confidering, how 
remote our Dwellings are from ye Towne, we did, & doe still, conceiue 
Law doth not, require it of vs, But becaufe we are men, Subject to 
be partiall in or owne cafe, and might not be acquainted, with all y 
Lawes we did Prfent or request, to ye Countie Court at Salem, last 
Tune to giue vs their Judgment therin, Namely whither it weare, or 
duty by Law, to attend the fd watch, or not, And ye judgment or ye Id 
Court, as far as we pceiued was, yl wee weare, neither bound by Law, 
nor reafon, to attend ye fd watch Except) in cafe of an Exegence, 
which we do fully, confent too: if our dwellings wear many miles, 
further from ye Towne, then they are, in cafe they wanted helpe, 
and or Selues in fafty, yet notwithstanding the Judgment of the Court, 
they did againe require vs, bv exprefs warrant in his Majesties name, 
& p order of ye Malitia, to attend ye watch, and most of vs did obey, 
rather to auovde, any occafion, of trouble, becaufe the spirits of men, 
Seemed to be'very high, then y4 we thought it, or duty by Law, Since 
wee prfented or Cafe, to Major Denifon, whoe being ye Major ot 
this Regament, wee thought was ye next Pfon, to feeke to for helpe, 
whoe did write in or behalfe, to difwade them, from an\ further 
troubling of vs, But all tooke no effect, but still they warned vs, to 
watch bv ye Authority, aforesd, vntell ye watch was ended, yor petition¬ 
ers did allfo, requeft ye last County Court, at Ipfwich, to relieve vs, but 
ve Court was pleafed, not to determine, ye matter, but willing vs, 
rather to Pfent it to this honr Court, which we doe, as briefly as wee 
can humbly refeeching this Honr Court to confider of 01 rea ons 
which are as foloweth ... , 

Tmpr The remotnefs of or habitations from yp Towne Some ot 
vs liue 10 miles Some 8 or 9 ye neerist are at lea ft fiue miles from 
Salem Meeting Houfe vpon y* Rhode and then tis neer a mile farther 
to ve Centrv place and both Horfe & foote required to goe with Armes 
& Amunition euery way fixt according to Law so that fome of vs 
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mu ft trauell Armed ii miles to watch which is more then a Soldiers 
march that is vnder pay and yet not excuffed from paying or pt to 
all charges both Ecclefiasticall & Ciuill befides ye maintenance of or 
familyes thefe hard times when the hand of God is heavy vpon ye 
Hufbandman 

2ly The diftance of or Houfes, one from another, Some a mile, 
fome further that it is difficult, fending one neighboure, to another, 
in dark nights, in a wilderneffe, y1 is fo little cleared, & wayes fo 
vnpafsable 

3ly The weaknefs, or many of or famylies, when one man is 
taken away, the rest are fome young, fome fickly, & weake, not able, 
to help them felues much lets to make refistance, if violence, be of¬ 
fered, that ye newes that wee are to watch, Strikes like darts, to ye 
Hearts of Some, of or Wiues that are weake, that one man was 
forced to goe 4, or 5 miles to get a man, to ftay wth his famylie, 
whilft him felfe, went to Salem Towne to watch. 

4ly The opertunity, & aduantage that Indeans and other, ill affect- 
id Pfons haue by knowlidg before, that such and such families, are 
Such nights left destitute of helpe, for two, or three miles about, for 
warning of ye watch, & watching is no priuet thing, ffor Example, 
there was 29 warned for one night, as will plainly appeare, by warrants, 
vnder the Capts owne hands, & by testimony, had they all gone, it would 
haue cleared ye strength of 2 or 3 miles, about. If it be pleaded the 
number is altered, & but 4 warned for a night, for Anfwer as fome 
times it falls, 4 will cleare two miles about. It may allfo bee Ques¬ 
tioned, whether it bee not, a profaination of ye Lords day, for Pfons 
to trauill fo far Armed, as is before exprelled, on ye Sabboth, to watch 
a populous Towne, in times of peace, concifting of neer 300, able pfons 
wthin ye limmits of the Watch, and or felues left out. 

wheareas ye Cap1 pleaded an exegence, at Salem Court, becaufe, 
a Jarfie or Gernfy Ship, came in as they fd, in y« night vndifcoured. 
To which we anfwer there weare feuerall of vs, in company with or 
Capt, at ye ffort, & wee Saw the fhip, fome howers before night, 
& was discouered before night, in ye Towne, to be a stranger, for how 
can it bee thought, pofsible, y1 a fhip could come in, in a cleare day, & 
non fee her, confidering how many boats are dayly out, a fifhing, and 
Cape pan, & Marblehead, lye before ye harbor and many men, at worke 
at ye ffort y1 day, befides a populous Towne, they further pleaded, 
thefe weare dangerous times,, & they weare not able, to keep a watch 
without vs. For anfwer if wee fhould grant, that thefe times, are 
more dangerous then former yet not foe much to Salem Towne, as 
to or felues, & other places in this Collony, for wee know no obliga¬ 
tion, vpon ye Enemy, firft to Affault Salem Towne, when they may 
come a fhore at divers places & come vpon vs, & other places all o bv 
Land, and meet neither with fforte, nor 400 men vnder ye warning 
of an Alarm to opofe them. Tis probible if the French, or Dutch 
fhould come, they will haue a convoy of Indeans, from Eaft or wes , 
& come first vpon remote dwellers. The confideration whereof, is ab e 
to strike terror, in to ye Hearts of women, & weake ones, e pecia v 
confidering what dreadfull examples, former times hath afforcec, m 
that refpect, in this Country from Indeans, and from others a o, 
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in the night feafon, when their husbands have been abient It what 
hath been Id may be granted, as it may in euery pt be proued Then 
whether Salem Towne, hath not more caufe to fend vs help, to watch 
amongst or felues, then wee haue to go to them, we concifting of Not 
co pfons able to watch, they a compact Towne, wee fo fcattred Six or 
8 watches will not fecure vs, or Dwellings are fo, Scattred & remote 
one from another, & fo far from ye Towne, That Cambridge village o 
Milton, may as eafy go to Boston, to watch as wee may to Salem 
Towne and leaue their familyes, in a great deale more fatty, becau e 

they haue Townes near to helpe them. . . 

' Yor petitioners humble request to this Hon Court is that you 
would be pleafed to releeue & eafe vs from this burden ot watching 
which is too heauy for vs, or or Children to beare, \ or petitioners 

fhall all wayes pray for you 

Job Swinerton Seny1' 
Robert Goodell 
philip Knight 
Jonathan Knight 
Isaach Goodell 
Zachary Goodell 
Robert Prince 
JofEPH Houlton 
Jonathan Walcutt 
Nathaniel iNGERfoN 
Robert Moulton 
John Smith 
Nath1 Carrill 
Job Swinerton juner 
Thomas Flint 
Giles Gory 
Thomas Small 
Benjamin Woodroe 

John Leach 
Jo f il ua Rea 
James Hadlock1 

(OHN PORTHER 
Richard Hutchison 
Iacob Barnet Sen. 

Richard Leach ; 

Nathaniel Putnam. 
Iacob Barnet Jun. 
Joseph HutchinIon 
Henrie Keine 

JoIeph Porter 

Iohn Putnam 

Upon receipt of this petition, on the fifteenth, a hearing was 
ordered for "the next 6th day at g o’clock” ; and the court ordered 
that "henceforth all farmers dwelling above four miles from the 
meeting house shall be exempt from constables watches, any law 
or custom notwithstanding. 

A movement for religious services among the Farmers was 
precipitated by the action of the town at a town meeting, March 7, 
1669-70, when the selectmen were requested to consider the 
matter of building a new meeting house in the town. Immedi¬ 
ately, the Farmers signed the following statement. 

"Massachusetts Archives, volume 112, leaf 175. 
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We whose names are here subscribed taking into consideration the 
motion that is now on foote concerning the building of a new meet¬ 
ing house now at Salem haue with one consent agreed not to con¬ 
tribute to the same at all (not knowing how long it may bee benefi- 
ciall to us) unles you likewise of the towne will beare share with us 
when wee shall build one for our selues.1 

This statement was signed by John Porter, sr., Thomas 
Putnam, Richard Leach, Nathanill Putnam, Thomas Fuller, John 
Putnam, Joshua Rea, Robert Prince, Joseph Hutchinson, Joseph 
Holton, Nathaniel Ingersoll, James Hadlock, John Wilkins, Zerob- 
abel Endecott, Henry Kenney, John Leach, Thomas Small, Bray 
Wilkins, John Gingell, Thomas Wilkins, Philip Knight, Richard 
Hutchenson, John Buxton, Jonathan Walcot, Jobe Swinerton, jr., 
Edward Bishop, Joseph Herick, Jeremiah Watts.1 

The Farmers first applied to the general court for the liberty 
of having religious services among themselves, as follows:— 

To the honord Gener1 Court Afsembled at Boston 
The humble Petition of the Inhabitants of the ffarmes belonging to 

Salem whole names are hereunto Subscribed most humbly Sheweth. 
That whereas or habitations are fo remote from or publicke Meet¬ 

ing houfe at Salem Towne, or four miles the neereft, and the furthreft 
eight or nine miles vpon the road, that befides many other inconven¬ 
iences &s detracting in leauing or ffamilyes, we judge it too far 
if it may be lawfully remeded, to trauell on the Lords day. This or 
Condition many of us, have seuerall times prfented to Salem Towne 
by way of petition fome years ago, in which we did requeft the Towne, 
that we might haue a Minister amongst orselues (either) to maintaine 
in Common with them, or that we might have such a number of 
ffamilyes allotted to us, as dwell at such a distance from Salem as is 
before exprefed (that is to say) from Beuerly to Lynn bounds that 
fo we may maintaine A Minifter o1 felues to which petition the 
Towne haue giuen us no anfwer although we haue ufed all the meanes 
we could. This our condition, we humbly prfent to the wife & Chrift- 
ian confideration of this hon1 Court hoping if or bodies were in an 
afflicted ftate, you would according to equity relieue us how much 
more the condition of Souls humbly entreating you to lelieue us, 
here in, as being or laft means under God, from whom we hope to 
haue reliefe Your petitioners fhall all wayes pray for you 

Dated October 6th (70). 

Oct. 26, 1670, the deputies consented to it, but the magis< 
trates would not, and the matter was referred to the town for 
its determination. The next year, application was made to tie 
town for this purpose. At a town meeting held Match 22 
1671-2, after several postponements, it was voted That all 
Farmers (that now are, or hereafter shall be willing to join to- 

‘Records and Files of the Quarterly Courts,of Essex County, volume 
V, page 273. 
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eether for providing a minester among themselves, whose habita¬ 
tions are aboue Ipswich highway from the horse bridge to the 
wooden bridge at the hither end of Mr. Endecott s plain, and from 
thence upon a west line) shall have liberty to have a minister by 
themselves, and when they shall have procured one and pay 
him maintenance, that then they shall be discharged from their 
part of Salem’s minister’s maintenance and this to continue so 
lono- as the minister abides with them, and is maintained by 
them; provided always that they shall bear all other charges 
whatsoever, amongst themselves, both with respect to their meet- 
in"- house and minister’s house or otherwise whatsoever, in carry¬ 
ing on this work, and also bear their proportion of all other 

public charges in the town. 
Richard Hutchinson, Thomas Fuller and others next pro¬ 

ceeded to petition the general court to establish the Farmers into 
a legal religious parish. The selectmen of the town authorize 
Capt Walter Price to appear at the session of the court and 
answer the petition. Oct. 16, 1672, the court adjudged “it meet 
that all persons living within the tract of land mentioned in the 
town’s grant of land to the petitioners together with all lands 
and estates lying within the said bounds shall contribute to all 
charges referring to the maintainance of a minister and erecting 
a meeting house there and that they shall have liberty to nominate 
and appoint persons among themselves or town of Salem not 
exceeding the number of five who are impowered from time to 
time for the making and gathering of all rates and levies for 
the ends above expressed — and that in case of refusal or non¬ 
payment of the same by any person or persons amongst them 
that then the constables of Salem shall and hereby are impowered 
to make distress upon the goods of any that shall so neglect or 
refuse to afford their help in that use. And the same to deliver 
to the persons aforesaid to be improved accordingly and that 
when a minister shall be settled amongst them they shall be freed 
from contributing to the ministers of Salem." 

May 7, 1673, the general court explained this grant by de¬ 
claring “that neither the common or other unimproved lands 
belonging to any inhabitant living without the precincts, of the 
village within the town of Salem shall henceforth be liable to 
assessments as to the village of Salem. Two suits were brought to 
collect the assessments made,—one for the cost of the new meet¬ 
ing house in the town of Salem, and, second, for cost of the 
meeting house at the Village. The first suit was against Nathan¬ 
iel Putnam who lived within the territory of the Village, March 

1See petition of Capt. Thomas Lawthrop, to the general court, dated 
May 12, 1675, requesting further explanations as to the meaning ot the 

grant. 
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II, 1673-4, which was decided in favor of the town;1 and the 
other, June 11, 1675, was against John Upton2 who lived on the 
line of the parish, in West Peabody. 

The accompanying plan shows the territory which consti¬ 
tuted the parish limits. This included the Bellingham and Denison 
grants, which are now wholly within the town of Middleton. 
Besides the families named on the map, Thomas Small and Ben¬ 
jamin Woodrow lived just easterly of Log bridge. There were 
two or three families living in Rowley Village (Boxford), and at¬ 
tended religious meetings here. Philip Knight and one or two 
other families lived over the line in Topsfield, and attended church 
here. 

A church was not intended to be organized in the Village at 
this time, as the Salem church was reluctant to part with any 
more of her members. 

The first meeting of the Farmers after obtaining the act of 
the general court was held Nov. 11, 1672, when Lt. Thomas Put¬ 
nam, Thomas Fuller, sr., Joseph Porter, Thomas Flint and Joshua 
Rea were chosen to conduct their affairs and to levy necessary 
taxes. It was also voted to raise by taxation the salary of their 
minister, namely forty pounds and wood, or seven pounds more 
without the wood. 

The preacher was Rev. James Bayley,3 son of John and 
Eleanor (Emery) Bayley of Newbury, where he was born 
Sept. 12, 1650. James Bayley gradu- ^ ^ - 
ated from Harvard College in 1669; JJ&rttCS ' 
and came to Salem Village to preach Z' I' 
when only twenty-two. The parish r * 
voted to build a house for him to live in, but they did not do so, 
and in 1673 he erected a house for himself upon land of Richard 
Hutchinson. This house stood on the northerly side of Hobart 

"Records and Files of the Quarterly Courts of Essex County, volume 
y DciP’cs 271 

"Records and Files of the Quarterly Courts of Essex County, volume 
VI, pages 45 and 46. . , . , 

3Rev James Bayley removed to Killingly, Conn., m 1682 and, in 109-, 
to Roxbury, Mass., where he became a physician; married first Mary 
Carr of Salisbury Sept. 17, 1672; she died in Killmgly 0ct ,28’, l6f^ ,m£V 
ried, second, Mary-; he died at Roxbury June 18, 1707; she died Oct. 23, 
1717; children: Mary, born July 6, 1673, m Newbury; died Aug.10, 
1673; James, born April 12, 1675, in Salem; saddler; lived in ox y, 
John, born Sept. 29, 1676, in Salem; died Dec. 29,1677; John, born ' y > 
1678, in Salem; physician; lived in Killmgly and Roxbury; Samuel bor 
March 2, 1679-80, in Salem; Isaac, born Oct. 2, 1681 in Newbury H O, 
1701; lived in Stonington and Lebanon, Conn.; Sarah born Sep . 3, . > 
died in 1683; Joshua, born in 1685; physician m Newbury and Haverhill. 

See The Essex Antiquarian, volume V, page 123. 
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Street, some distance from the road, and easterly of the burial 

place.1 
At a public meeting, June 23, 1673, it was voted that Mr. 

Bayley should continue in the work of the ministry in the Village; 
while some objected that he was never called, and that his stand¬ 
ing with them was upon sufferance. 

Feb. 16, 1678, sixteen of the Farmers agreed to support a 
minister among them, and a year later the same sixteen agreed to 
ask the Salem church for their help and advice. At the meeting 
of the inhabitants, on that day, Mr. Bayley sent a letter to them, 
stating that he had been informed that Nathaniel Putnam and 
Bray Wilkins had publicly charged that he was not qualified for 
the work of the ministry, adding that “The great thing that I de¬ 
sire and pray for is that we may know and do the will of God.” 
The Salem church advised that Mr. Bayley should stay at the 
Farms, and the minority should “fall in” with the majority and 
support him. 

July 31, 1679, Mr. Bayley wrote to the people that he was 
“seriously thinking” of removing from the parish; and in Septem¬ 
ber following his salary was incleased to fifty-five pounds. 

A number of the inhabitants of Salem Village petitioned 
the general court, Oct. 15, 1679, relative to the continuance and 
maintenance of the minister, representing that he had been there 
in service six years and the Salem church had certified that he 
was orthodox and competent, of a blameless and selfdenying con¬ 
versation, and that the majority (some thirty house-holders) 
were desirous of his continuance among them as their minister, 
and praying that comfortable maintenance be allowed him for the 
support of himself and his wife and children. The inhabitants 
were authorized to call a minister to preach the Word of God to 
them. The court also ordered that he be continued, and settled as 
the minister of that place, at the annual salary of sixty pounds, 
one-third in money and two-thirds in provisions and fuel for him¬ 
self and family, which should be paid by the inhabitants, who were 
to choose two or three men to make assessment therefore. This 
settlement was to continuance for one year, or until further order 
of the court, or there should be a church of Christ orderly gather¬ 
ed and approved in the place. 

Mr. Bayley discontinued his service there in the spring of 
1680; and in 1682 removed to Killington, Conn., where he re¬ 
mained for ten years. He removed to Roxbury, Mass., in 1692, 
and became a physician. He died at Roxbury June 18, 1707, at 
the age of fifty-six. During his service in Salem Village, a great 

*See Historical Collections of the Essex Institute, volume 54, pages 
225 and 233. 
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lack of unity constantly caused trouble, yet he remained for seven 
years and performed faithful service. The uncertainty of his 
position there was undoubtedly the occasion of many of the dis¬ 
agreements. There were about fifty householders and only about 
eleven or twelve members of the Salem church. Criticism of his 
ability on the part of some and lack of support by others were 
common. 

Dec. 26, 1672, the Farmers voted to build a meeting house 
thirty-four feet long, twenty-eight feet wide and sixteen feet 
between joints. The building committee consisted of the above 
committee and Nathaniel Putnam, Henry Kenny, Joseph Hutch¬ 
inson and Joseph Putnam. The money to pay for it was to be 
raised by taxation. 

Nathaniel Ingersoll conducted a tavern on the northeasterly 
side of what is now Center Street, about midway between 
Hobart and Ingersoll streets; and he was authorized by the 
selectmen of the town to sell beer and cider by the quart while the 
Farmers were building their meeting house and on Lord’s days 
afterwards. This he continued to do until 1681. 

In 1684, the meeting house was incomplete, as it was then 
voted that it “shall be filled and daubed where it wants below 
the beams and plates and that six casements shall be hung in the 
meeting house and that there be a canopy set over the pulpit." 
Galleries were added a little later. The meeting house was built 
on the northerly side of Hobart Street about one hundred and 
fifty feet easterly of Forest Street, on land of Joseph Hutchinson 
who conveyed an acre of it to the “inhabitants of the Farms, 
“for the meeting house and ministry amongst them. 

After Mr. Bayley had ceased to be the pastor, the parish 
voted, Feb. —, 1680-1, to build a parsonage house forty-two feet 
long, twenty feet wide and thirteen feet stud, with foui chimneys 
and no gable ends, and that a rate of two hundred and twenty-one 
pounds, nine shillings and six pence should be made to meet the 
expense. It was completed within about a yeai. 

The Salem court ordered, June 26, 1677, that the town of 
Salem should choose a committee to order highways for the 

convenience of the Farmers or Villagers. 
The general court had directed that although there was no 

church, two men should be chosen each year to act as deacons 
especially to collect money and settle with the mimstei. T 
first deacons, Lt. John Putnam and Nathaniel Ingersoll, we 
chosen in December. 1679. The next year, they were Lt Thomas 
Putnam and Serg. Jonathan Walcott. In 1683,.NatterelI Inger¬ 
soll was elected in place of Walcott, and, in 1686, Walcott was 

elected in place of Thomas Putnam. 
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Mr. Bayley’s successor was Rev. George Burroughs, who 
came to the Village to preach in November, 1680. It was voted 
to give him a salary of sixty pounds a year. He graduated from 
Harvard College in 1679; and after preaching in Casco (now 
Portland), Maine, awhile he came to Salem Village. His wife 
died in 1681, but he had received but little, if any, of his salary, 
and had no money to pay her funeral expenses. The next year, 
he gave up the pastorate, as the disputes and contentions were 
too dispiriting to him in his loneliness. He returned to Maine 
early in 1683. He was there in 1690, when the Indian raid oc¬ 
curred, and went to Wells, where he preached a year. He was 
a small, black-haired man, with a dark complexion and possessed 
of quick passions and great strength. 

Daniel Epps, the Salem schoolmaster, preached there be¬ 
tween Burroughs and Lawson, the next minister, for many 
weeks. 

Rev. Deodat Lawson of Boston succeeded Mr. Burroughs in 
the Village in the winter of 1683-4. He had been thoughtful 
of going there since the preceding May. His salary was sixty 
pounds. Pie left in 1688. The old factions continued with in¬ 
creasing bitterness among young and old. 

Then came Rev. Samuel Parris, who was ordained Nov. 19, 
1689, the day of the organization of the church and of his in¬ 
duction as its pastor. He was born in London, and was then 
thirty-five. Pie had attended Harvard College, but did not gradu¬ 
ate. He was then a merchant in the West Indies and in Boston. 
He was a year in coming,—a year in bargaining. 

The following is a copy of the covenant of the church, which 
was adopted at its establishment:— 

We whose names (tho unworthy of a name in this church) 
are hereunto subscribed, Lamenting our own great unfitness for such 
an Awful and solemn approach unto the Holy God and deploring all 
the miscarriages committed by us, either in the Days of our unregen- 
eracy or since we have been brought into acquaintance with God, in the 
communion of his churches which we have heretofore been related 
unto: And yet apprehending ourselves called by the Most High to 
Embody ourselves into a different society, with a sacred covenant to 
serve the Lord Jesus Christ and Edifie one another according to the 
Rules of his holy word, Being persuaded in matters of Faith accord¬ 
ing to the Confession of Faith owned and consented unto by the Elders 
and Messingers of the churches assembled at Boston in New-England. 
May—12—1680 which for the substance of it, we now own and profess 

We, do, in some measure of sinceritie, this day give up our selves 
unto God in Christ, to be for him and for another, at the same time 
renouncing all the vanities and Idols of this present evil world. 

We give up ourselves, and offspring, unto the Lord Jehovah, the 
one true and living God, in three Persons, Father, Son, and Holy 
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Ghost. To God the Father of our Lord Christ, as to our Reconciled 
God and Father in Christ Jesus; and unto Christ Jesus as our King, 
Priest and Prophet, and only Mediator: And unto the Holy Ghost as 
our only Sanctifyer and Comforter: As to our Best good and Last End: 
promising, (with divine help) to live unto, and upon, this one God in 
three Persons: hoping at length to live forever with him. 

We do likewise give up ourselves one unto another in the Lord, 
engaging, (with divine aid) as a church of God to Submit to the 
order, Discipline and Government of Christ in this his church, and 
to the Ministerial teaching, guidance, and oversight of the Elder (or 
Elders) thereof, as to such as watch for our Souls; And also to a 
mutuall brotherly watchfulness according to Gosple Rules, so long as 
by such Rules we shall continue in this Relation to each other : And 
promise also to walk with all regular and due communion with other 
churches of our Lord Jesus, and in all cheerful endeavor to support 
and observe the pure Gospel institutions of our Lord Redeemer so 
far as He shall graciously reveal unto us his will concerning them. 

In order hereunto: 
We resolve uprightly to study what is our duty, & to make it 

our greif, & reckon it our shame, whereinfoever we find our selves 
to come short in the difcharge of it, & for pardon thereof humbly 
to betake our selves to the Blood of the Everlasting Covenant. 

And that we keep this Covenant, & all the branches of it inviol¬ 
able for ever, being sensible that we can do nothing of our selves, 

We humbly implore the help & grace of our Mediator may be 
sufficient for us: Beseeching that whilft we are working out our own 
Salvation, with fear & trembling, He would gratiously work in us 
both to will, & to do. And that he being the Great Shepherd of our 
Souls would lead us into the paths of Righteoufnefs, for his own 
Names sake. And at length receive us all into the Inheritance of the 
vSaints in Light. 

1. Samuel Parris, Paftor. The- women which embodyed 
2. nathanell Putnam 
3. John putnam 
4. Bray Wilkins. 79. 
5. Joshua Rea: 
6. Nathaneil Ingerfoll 
7. peter Cloyes 
8. Thomas putnam 
9. John Putnam Junr 

10. Edward Putnam 
11. Jonathan putnam 
12. Beniamin putnam 
13. Ezekiel Cheever 
14. Henry Wilkins 
15. Benja Wilkins 
16. william way 
17. Peter Prescott 

Illi quoru nominibus hoc Signutn prsefigitur 
4- e vivis ceflerunt. 

with us by their severall 
Names' as followeth Viz. 

1. Eliz: (wife to Sam:) Parris 
2. Rebek: (wife to John) Putnam. 
3. Anna (wife to Bray) Wilkins. 
4. Sarah (wife to Jofhuah) Rea. 
5. Hannah (wife to Jn° (junr) Putnam. 
6. Sarah (wife to Benja) Putnam. 
7. Sarah Putnam. 
8. Deliverance Walcott 
9. Persis (wife to William) Way. 

10. marv (wife to Sam:) Abbie. 
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ABBE (Abbey, Abby,, Abys), 
John, 60, 65, 135, 151, 155. 

Mary, 445. 
Mercy, 277. 
Samuel, 445. 

Abbott (Abbot), Abigail Rich¬ 
ardson, 106. 

Charles Patterson, 426. 
James, 225. 
Margaret, 383. 
Mary Perkins, 426. 
Sarah, 332. 

Abigail (ship), 139, 359. 
Aborn (Aborne, Eaborne), Han¬ 

nah, 299. 
Joseph, 143. 
Lydia, 143. 
Mary, 55. 
Samuel, 6, 8, 10, 61, 131, 158- 

160, 177, 215, 403, 42i, 422. 
Thomas, 71. 

Abree, Thomas, 166. 
Acadia, 170, 349, 377. 

Expedition to, 349, 377. 
Adams, Abraham, 47. 

Charles, 102. 
Eleanor, 47. 
Elizabeth, 47. 
Hannah, 47. 
Isaac, 47. 
Jacob, 47. 
Joanna, 47. 
John, 47, 160, 282, 317, 425- 
Martha, 102, 324. 
Mary, 47, 425. 
Richard, 4, 13, *58, 159, 168, 228, 

303, 324, 405- 
Robert, 47, 5L 77, 107, 157, 252, 

253. 
Sarah, 47. 
William, 404. 

Aden, 225. 
Address to Charles II, 283. 
Admirality, 347. 
Adventure (ketch), 52, 359. 
Africa, 25. 
Agawam, 14. 

Agawam, continued, 
Sagamore of, 241, 

Ager (Eager), Ann, 327. 
Anne, 143. 
Benjamin, 143, 327. 
Jonathan, 7, 383, 401. 
Rebecca, 382. 

Alden, Helen M., 118. 
Alderman, John, 8, 10, 212. 
Aldrich, Daniel, 56. 

Tamson, 56. 
Alewife brook, 42. 
Alexander, Lydia, 280. 

Samuel, 280, 
Alexandria, 123. 
Alford, Mr., 145, 206, 215. 
Allen (Allin, Allyn), Benjamin, 

356. 
Caroline, 225. 
Catherine Augusta, 427. 
Ebenezer, 56. 
Elizabeth, 36. 
Ellen Sophia, 104. 
Hannah Wier, 115. 
John, 303, 372. 
Mary, 76. 
Otis, 225. 
Rebecca, 328. 
Robert, 13, 61, 151, 173, 328. 
Sarah. 23, 303. 
Timothy, 197. 201. 
William, 8, 12, 151, 158, 172-174, 

180. 
William Henry, 104. 

Allerton, Isaac, 65, 166, 170, 197, 
200. 

Alley, Anna, 76. 
John, 41. 
Mercy, 41. 
Rebecca, 57. 

Alligator (ketch), 359- 
Allsaebrook, Elizabeth, 57. 
Almshouse, 220. 
Alsbee, Sarah, 134. 
Amagansette,_L. I., 53- 
Ambrose (ship), 359- 
Ames, Elizabeth, 148, IS0- 
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Ames, continued, 
' Joanna, 148-150. 

John, 148. 
Ruth, 148. 
Susanna, 148. 
William, 148, 150. 

Amesbury, Mass., 226, 375, 409* 
Amherst, Mass., 380. 
Amherst, N. H., 55, 113, 225, 377. 
Anabaptists, 142. 
Anderson. Cornelius, 347- 

David, 368. 
Katherine B., 382. 

Andover, Mass., 21, 39, 4L II2> 
113, 120, 134, 187, 209, 277, 
298, 300, 306, 332, 394, 396, 
420. 

Andrews (Andrew), -—, 348, 364. 
Anna, 116. 
Daniel, 8, 10, 93, 161, 307, 401. 
Elizabeth, 162. 
Eunice, 340. 
Hephzibah, 162. 
John, 162. 
Jonathan, 286, 424. 
Joseph, 162. 
Rebecca K., 225. 
Richard, 166, 167. 
Sarah, 161. 

Andros, Edmund, 10, 352, 361, 363, 
364, 370, 400. 

Angier, Edmund, 148. 
Ruth, 148. 
Samuel, 148. 

Animals, Domestic, 14, 51, 65, 98- 
100, 132, 157, 167, 212, 221. 

Wild, 25. 
Anniball, Martha, 43. 
Anquilla, 369. 
Antelby, William, 368. 
Antigua, 361, 372. 
Antrum, Hannah, 234. 

Obediah, 347. 
Thomas, 10, 165, 192, 194, 213, 

229, 403. 
Apothecary, First, 306. 
Apparel, 72, 215, 290. 
Appleton, Elizabeth. T03, 118. 

Francis Henry, 384. 
Georgiana Crowninshield, 384. 
John, 97. 
Mary, 137. 
May, 138. 
Nathaniel. T03. 
Rebecca. 97. 

Arbella (ship), 29, 360. _ 
Archer (Archard), Bethiah, 65, 103. 

Charlotte Lane, 331. 

Archer, continued, 
Elizabeth, 82. 
Elizabeth C., 140. 
Hannah, 43, 213. 
John, 65, 82, 369. 
Mary, 280. 
Mary Pickman, 137. 
Nathaniel, 43. 
Samuel, 8, 48, 61, 158-160, 172- 

174, 180, 182, 226, 247, 280, 308, 
314, 392, 400, 401, 403- 

Sarah, 252, 332. 
Susanna, 314. 
William, 137. 
William H., 331. 

Arden, Thomas, 205. 
Arey, Joseph Henry, 382. 

Sarah M., 382. 
Argonaut (ship), 315. 
Arms, King’s, 326. 
Arondas, Peter, 365. 
Asbury, N. J., 39. 
Ashby, Abigail, 318-320. 

Anthony, 6, 8, 10. 189, 318, 327. 
Benjamin, 280, 318-320. 
Benjamin Fitch, 320. 
Charlotte, 320. 
David, 319, 320. 
Elizabeth, 305, 318-320. 
Esther, 320. 
Fanny, 320. 
George, 319, 320. 
Gershom, 318. 
Hannah, 319, 320. 
Hester, 320. 
Hetty, 320. 
Jemima, 319. 
John, 319, 320. 
Jonathan, 305, 319. 320. 
Lucyp 320. 
Lydia, 320. 
Margaret, 320. 
Martha, 320. 
Mary, 319, 320. 
Nancy, 320. 
Patience, 319. 
Rebecca, 280, 320. 
Sally, 320. 
Samuel. 320. 
Sarah, 320. 
Sarah Fitch, 320. 
Thomas, 320. 
Thomas White, 320. 
William, 320. 

Ashton. Rebecca. 144. 
Asiatic Bank, 124. 
AsRbee, Sarah, 134. 
Assistants, 400. 
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Assumption, Can., 426. 
Aston Abbotts, England, 109. 
Athens, Ga., 104, 106. 
Athol, Mass., 331. 
Attleborough, Mass., 324. 
Atwater, Rebecca, 386. 
Atwill, Betsey F., 105. 
Audley, Peter, 396. 
Auger, Goodman, 71. 

William, 182. 
D’Aulnay, Monsieur, 170, 171, 350. 
Aunt Betty’s Cove, 227. 
Austin, Mary, 377. 
Averill, Amme, 328. 

Israel, 188. 
John, 328. 
Mary, 188, 328. 

Avery, Thomas, 176, 403. 
Ayers, Deborah, 306. 

BABBIDGE (Babbage, Bavage), 
Abba Elizabeth, 315. 

Abigail, 313. 
Agnes, 313. 
Amelia P., 315. 
Ann Maria, 315. 
Annie, 313. 
Anstiss, 314. 
Augustine L., 315. 
Benjamin, 280, 313-315- 
Carrie J., 315. 
Charles, 315. 
Christopher, 7, 10, 78, 160, 309, 

310, 312-315, 327, 359, 40i, 403- 
Eliza A., 315. 
Elizabeth, 102, 280, 313-315- 
Elizabeth P., 315. 
Emma C., 315. 
Eunice, 315. 
Frances A., 315. 
Francis, 315. 
Hannah, 313. 
Hester, 178, 313. 
James, 313. 
John, 224, 313-315. 
John Laurens, 315. 
John Phi^nen, 315. 
Lydia, 78, 313, 315- 
Lydia B., 315. 
Margaret, 315. 
Margaret E., 315. 
Margaret Lockhart, 315. 
Maria Ruth, 315. 
Martha, 105, 314. 
Martha Silsbee, 315* 
Mary, 313-315- 
Mary Adelaide, 315- 
Mary Ann, 315. 

Babbidge, continued, 
Mehitable, 313. 
Nancy, 315. 
Nancy Ann, 315. 
Nehemiah, 313. 
Richard, 313. 
Roger, 313. 
Ruth, 313, 315. 
Sarah, 224, 315. 
Susan, 314. 
Susan Beckett, 315. 
Susanna, 224, 313, 314. 
Susanna Archer, 315. 
William, 314, 315- 

Babcock, Cornelia A., 380. 
Bacon, Mr., 194, 203. 

Benjamin, 123. 
Elizabeth, 113. 
Eunice, 123. 
Isaac, 98. 
Margaret, 268. 
Mehitable, 318. 
Mial, 268. 
Rebecca, 98, 291. 
Samuel, 317, 318. 
William, 98. 

Bailey (Balie, Bayley, Baylie, Bayl- 
lis), David, no. 

Eleanor, 441. 
Elizabeth, 109, 161. 
Experience, no. 
Grace, 210. 
Guido, 161, 194, 217. 
Henry, 47, 61, 407, 410, 418. 
Isaac, 441. 
James, 441-443- 
John, 50, 181, 441- 
Joseph, 109, 161. 
Joshua, 109, 441. 
Mary, 161, 162, 295, 296, 441. 
Priscilla, 109. 
Ruth, 161. 
Samuel, 441. 
Thomas, 417. 
William, 210, 212, 231. 

Bakeman’s Precinct, N. Y., 76. 
Baker, Abigail, 133. 

Anna, 277. 
Anne, 133. 
Cornelius, 283, 417* 
Hannah, 411, 4*4- 
John, 15, 277, 392, 403- 
Priscilla, 113, 322. 
Robert, 65. 
Tabitha, 15- 

Baker’s Island, 103, 113, 240, 241, 
348. 

Balcam, Hannah, 23. 
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Balcam, continued, 
John, 23. 

Balch, Benjamin, 6, 99, 158, 282, 
330, 401, 417. 

John, 5, 8, 10, 48, 77, i°o, 152, 
182, 308. 

Joseph, 133. 
Lois, 330. 
Sarah, 133. 

Bald Hill, 70, 205, 234, 312, 322. 
Baldwin, Alma, 383. 
Balhach, John, 359. 

Nicholas, 359. 
Ballard, Elizabeth C., 140. 

James Crawford, 140. 
Baltimore, Md., 83. 
Bancroft, Sarah, 137. 
Bangor, Me., 378. 
Banks, Lydia, 189. 
Banter, Ruth, 375. 
Barbadoes, W. I., 3, 257, 267, 271, 

347, 348, 359, 360, 362, 364, 
365, 369, 370, 373, 386. 

Barber (Barbar), John, 61, 165, 213. 
William, 77, 176, 177, 179, 197, 

202. 
Barker, Elizabeth, 198. 

Jacob, 377,.379- 
Maria Louisa, 379. 
Sarah, 377. 

Barkville Parish, England, 271. 
Barlow, Emeline C., 225. 

John, 225.. 
Barnard, Elizabeth, 45. 

Leonard, 45. 
Martha, 45. 
Rachel, 299. 
Samuel, 45, 299. 
Thomas, 299. 

Barnard Castle, 31. 
Barnes, Eunice, 315. 

Michael, 315. 
Thomas, 158, 216, 228, 301, 401, 

403. 

Barnet, Jacob, 438. 
Barney, Hannah. 142. 

Jacob, 4, 6, 8, 10, 25, 97, 155, 
165, 185, 205-207, 213, 215. 221, 
223. 227, 231, 233, 401, 405. 

Barnstable, Mass., 78. 
Barr, Mary Eliza, 41. 

Priscilla, 38. 
Bartholomew, Abraham, 3. 

Elizabeth, 127. 
Henry, 3, 4, 6-8, 10, 62, 66, 67. 

75, 127, 156, 159, 161, 169, 186, 
19T, 194, 203, 207, 208, 212, 2T3, 
232. 239, 302, 308, 315, 323, 337, 

Bartholomew, continued, 
343, 344, 351-353, 356, 395, 400, 
401, 408, 409, 430* 

Richard, 3. 
Sara, 3. 
Thomas, 3. 
William, 3, 43I- 

Bartlett, Chloe, 56. 
Elizabeth, 82. 
John, 166. 
Joseph, 121. 
Meribah, 227. 
Nicholas, 311, 325* 
Sarah, 121. 
Walter Price, 82. 

Bartoll, Hannah, 299. 
Joan, 107. 
John, 107, 124, 176, 179, 196, 197, 

299. 
Mary, 107. 
Parnell, 107. 
Robert, 223. 
Sarah, 141, 223. 
William, 107. 

Barton, Margaret, 331. 
Marmaduke, 30. 
Mary, 136. 
Patience, 178. 
Samuel, 136. 
Thomas, 340. 

Bartram, John, 374. 
Bass, Abigail, 102. 

Tohn, 102. 
Bass River, 6, 15, 61, 140, I45> I5L 

156, 158, 159, 161, 180, 187, 
189, 191, 227, 261, 283, 301, 
403, 407, 408, 415. 

Bassett, Elizabeth, 22. 
Rachel, 40, 383. 

Batavia, Java, 314, 379. 
Batchelder (Batcheler, Batcheller), 

Abigail, 162. 
Bethiah, 162. 
Elizabeth, 178. 
John, 4, 8, 65, 75, 167, 178, 206, 

211, 218, 227, 234, 303, 401, 
402. 

Joseph, 8, 77, 153. 
Lydia, 163. 
Mary, 162, 163. 

Bateman, Mary, 315. 
Bates, Lydia, 387. 
Bath, William, 321. 
Batten, Christopher, 332. 

Mary, 332. 
Susanna, 387. 

Batter, Barbara, 383. 
Edmond, 4, 5, 8, 10, 77, 94, 107, 
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Batter, continued, 
126, 142, 158, 159, 165, 180, 181, 
207, 212, 221, 226, 227, 229, 237- 
239, 245, 247, 248, 257, 263, 264, 
279, 307, 3i9, 324, 344 351-353, 
357, 358, 365, 370, 372, 383, 392, 
395, 398, 400, 401, 421, 430, 431, 
434- 

Martha, 102. 
Mary, 365, 372. 

Baxter, Abigail, 323. 
Daniel, 31, 61, 177. 
Elizabeth, 61, 235, 323, 324. 
John, 236, 323, 399. 
Margaret, 324. 
Mary, 323. 
Priscilla, 61, 295. 
Rebecca, 61. 
Samuel, 323. 
Sarah, 323. 
Susanna, 61, 383. 
William, 323. 

Bay Psalm Book, 397. 
Beachy brook, 396. 
Beadle (Bedell), Abigail, 386, 387. 

Benjamin, 386, 387. 
Caleb, 386. 
Caroline, E., 387. 
David, 384, 386, 387. 
Dorothy, 386. 
Elizabeth, 386, 387. 
Emma Anna, 387. 
Eunice, 386. 
Francis, 387. 
George, 98. 
Hannah, 386. 
John, 386, 387. 
Jonathan, 386. 
Joseph, 386, 387. 
Josiah, 386, 387. 
Katherine, 386. 
Lemon, 386. 
Lois, 386. 
Lucy, 387- 
Lucy Ann, 387. 
Lucy Annah, 387. 
Lydia, 387. 
Margaret, 387.. 
Martha, 384, 387. 
Mary, 328, 386, 387. 
Mary J„ 386, 387. 
Mary Masury, 386. 
Mercy, 387. 
Nathaniel, 8, 386, 401. 
Rebecca, 224, 328, 386. 
Robert, 386. 
Ruth, 386, 387. 

Beadle, continued, 
Samuel, 8, 189, 301, 385, 386, 401, 

418. 
Sarah, 386, 387. 
Susanna, 386, 387. 
Tabitha, ,387. 
Thomas, 321, 370, 386, 387. 
William, 387. 

Beal, Aaron, 383. 
William, 199. 

Bean, Martha, 4. 
Rachel, 40. 
Sarah, 39. 
William, 4, 39, 40. 

Beare, Philip, 3, 13, 48. , 
Beauchamp, Edward, 64, 140, 403, 

433- 
Bearemont (Beaumont), John, 99, 

203. 
Beaver brook, 71, 396, 429. 
Beaver dam, 399, 400, 499. 
Beaver Pond, 140, 205, 222. 
Beazely, Sarah, 420. 
Becket, Abigail, 224. 

Alfred H., 225. 
Benjamin, 223, 224. 
Caroline, 225. 
Charles Henry, 225. 
Daniel C., 225. 
David, 224, 225. 
David Augustus, 225. 
David Beadle, 224. 
Deborah, 224. 
Edward C., 225. 
Elizabeth, 223-225. 
Ellen Augusta, 225. 
Fllen M., 225. 
Emeline C., 225. 
Eunice, 224. 
Fannie E., 225. 
Hannah, 223, 224, 226, 329. 
Imogene, 225. 
James, 224, 225. 
Jane Hyland, 225. 
John, 223-225, 228, 240, 304, 333, 

362, 386. 
John Ingersoll, 225. 
John W., 225. 
Jonathan, 224, 225. 
Joseph L., 225. 
Lucia C., 225. 
Lydia, 224. 
Margaret, 223, 224. 
Martha, 224. 

.Mary, 178, 223-225. 
Mary Elizabeth, 225. 
Mary Jane, 225. 
Priscilla I., 225. 
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Becket, continued, 
Rebecca, 224, 386. 
Rebecca C., 225. 
Rebecca K., 225. 
Retire, 223-225. 
Sarah, 223-225, 315, 384- 
Sarah A., 225. 
Susanna, 224, 313. 
Tamson S., 225. 
William, 178, 223-226, 356, 401. 
William M. J., 225. 

Beckford (Bickford), Benjamin, 82. 
Bethiah, 98. 
Elizabeth, 45, 305. 
Eunice, 44. 
George, 44. 
Hannah, 123. 
John, 98. 
Joshua, 45. 
Lydia, 82. 
Mary, 305. 
Priscilla, 329. 
Rebecca, 98. 
Sarah, 376. 

Becks, William, 369. 
Bedde, James, 283. 

Sarah, 283. 
Bedford, Mass., in, 162. 
Bedfordshire, England, 228. 
Beecher, Thomas, 371. 
Beginning (ketch), 360. 
Begoe, Lydia, 82, 123. 
Belcher, John, 373. 
Bell, Elizabeth, 325. 

Katherine, 133. 
Mary, 211. 
Rebecca, 295. 
Samuel, 325. 

Bell Tavern, 36. 
Bell, Ringing the, 64. 
Bellingham, Richard, 119, 266, 294, 

296, 441. 
Bellingham, Mass., 56. 
Bellona Arsenal, Va., 38. 
Belpre^ O., 112. 
Bennett, John, 2, 13, 48, 197, 417- 

Margaret, 2. 
Mary, 2. 
Samuel, 336. 
William, 15, 61, 173. 

Bennington, Battle of, 377. 
Benson, Miriam, 55. 
Berry, Christopher, 107. 

Francis T., 428. 
George E., 429. 
John, 389. 
Katherine, 389. 
Mary, 425. 

Berry, continued, 
Sarah, 332. 

Berwick, Me., 40. 
Best, John, 62, 422. 

Mary, 143. 
Bethel, Hannah, 223. 

Richard, 223, 429. 
Bethune, Abigail, 42. 

Robert, 42. 
Betty (ketch), 360. 
Betty (lighter), 360. 
Beverly, Mass., 11, 15, 22, 42, 43, 

69-71, 104, in, 113, 114, 116, 
117, 124, 125, 133-136, 138-140, 
161-163, 179, 180, 183, 187, 188, 
191-193, 203, 211, 217, 224, 237, 
261, 268, 275, 282, 306, 317, 319, 

329, 330, 352, 362, 376, 379-382, 
394, 397, 406-418, 425, 429- 

Name of, 415-417. 
Beverly Academy, 306. 
Beverly bridge, 379. 
Beverly church, 406, 410. 
Beverly meeting house, 406. 
Beverly parsonage, 407, 408. 
Beverly rock, 205. 
Bilboa, Barbadoes, 360, 366. 
Bilboes, 13. 
Billerica, Mass., 32, no, in, 115, 

277, 285. 
Billings, Hannah, in. 
Birdsall (Birdsale), Henry, 8, 64. 

Judith, 43. 
Biron, Cecilia, 39. 
Biscoe, Mary, 383. 
Bishop, Anne, 187. 

Bridget, 181. 
Edward, 6, 109, 180, 181, 184, 401, 

411, 414, 417, 439- 
Elizabeth, 181. 
George, 248. 
Hannah, 141, 180, 181. 
Humphrey, 19. 
John, 187. 
Joseph, 141, 
Mary, 30, 120, 181. 
Nabby, 117. 
Richard, 8, 10, 30, 61, 62, 75, 120, 

158, 205, 217, 234, 403- 
Sarah, 181. 
Susanna, 109. 
Townsend, 4, 8, 75, 127, 150, 165, 

168. 
Bixby (Bigsbe), Daniel, 32. 

George, 162. 
Mary, 162. 
Ruth, 32. 

Black, Freeborn, 193. 
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Black, continued, 
Freegrace, 411, 414. 
John, 159, 172-174, 193, 323, 403, 

411, 414, 417, 4i8. 
Persis, 385. 

Black Point, Casco Bay, 266. 
Black rock, 104. 
Blackleach, John, 5, 8, 10, 60, 61, 

140, 204, 212, 213, 225, 303, 350, 
360, 394- 

Blackmer, Jemima, 187. 
John, 187. 

Blackstone, Mass., 55. 
Blake, Mary, 146. 
Blanchard, Jesse, 340, 341. 
Blancher, Widow, 47. 
Blaney (Blana), Mr., 67. 

Katherine, 386. 
Sarah, 40, 79. 

Blashfield, Abigail, 15. 
Thomas, 15. 

Blessing (ship), 60, 360. 
Blessing (ketch), 360. 
Blevin, John, 4, 7, 160. 

Mary, 4. 
Blossom (ketch), 360. 
Blubber hollow, 130. 
Blue Anchor Tavern, 355. 
Bly (Blyth), Benjamin, 45, 280. 

Edmond, 280. 
Hannah, 280. 
John, 30, 280. 
Mary, 280. 
Mehitable, 45. 
Rebecca, 30, 280. 
William, 280. 

Boardman (Borman), Alice 
Louise, 118. 

Elizabeth, 138. 
Hannah, 111. 
Martha, 92. 
Mary, 135. 
Sarah, 384. 
Thomas, 230. 
William Dorr, 118. 

Bodly, Thomas, 368. 
“Body of Liberties”, 5. 
Boerstler, Emma J., 426. 

Sarah L., 426. 
Boiles, Elizabeth, 71. 

Jonathan, 71. 
Bolton, Mass., 112, 143. 
Bond, John, 187. 

Mary, 15. 
Bonetta (ketch), 360. 
Books, 126, 150, 243, 244, 290. 
Booth, Elizabeth, 404. 

James, 393- 

Bootman. See Butman. 
Borne (Boorne, Boren), John, 61, 

62, 151, 158, 160, 178. 
Boston, Sarah, 143. 
Boston, Mass., 8, 11, 14, 15, 17, 19, 

20, 27-29, 32, 33, 38, 4L 42, 45, 
46, 48-52, 62, 78, 79, 81-84, 92, 
93, 97, 98, 101, 103, 105, 112, 
114, 118, 119, 122, 123, 125, 135, 
136, 138-140, 143, 144, 155, 157, 
161, 162, 166, 170, 171, 174, 198, 
201, 214, 222, 224, 225, 230, 236, 
243-251, 255-257, 259-263, 265- 
269, 271, 279, 280, 283, 286-288, 
294, 299, 300, 303, 304, 308, 313, 
316, 317, 321, 324, 325, 327-329, 
33L 340, 346, 347, 349, 356, 358, 
359, 362, 365, 367, 369, 370, 372, 
373, 378, 380, 381, 384, 385, 387- 
389. 426, 429, 444. 

Boston Packet (ship), 137. 
Bott, Ruth, 103. 
Bound, William, 142, 213. 
Bounds, Town, 152, 154, 185, 207- 

209. 
Boune, Andrew, 368. 
Bow, N. H., 32. 
Bowd, Joseph, 202. 
Bowden, Alice Davenport, 332. 

Michael, 143. 
Sarah, 143. 

Bowditch, Andrew, 137. 
Ann, 137. 
Ann Hendfield, 137. 
Anna, 137. 
Annie E., 138. 
Anstiss, 138. 
Benjamin, 137. 
Bertha M„ 138. 
Betsey Mansfield, 137. 
Caroline M., 138. 
Charles Ingersoll, 138. 
Clara H., 138. 
Daniel, 136, 137. 
Daniel C., 138. 
Deborah, 137. 
Deborah M., 138. 
Deborah Marsh, 138. 
Eben Stodder, 138. 
Ebenezer, 136, 137- 
Eliza, 138. 
Eliza A., 138. 
Elizabeth, 136-138. 
Elizabeth B., 138. 
Elizabeth Boardman, 138. 
Elizabeth Gilman, 138. 
Elizabeth Mylord, 138. 
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Bowditch, continued, 
Ellen M., 380. 
Eugene, 138. 
Eunice, 136, 137. 
Francis Morse, 137. 
George, 137, 138. 
George F., 138. 
George Henry, 138. 
George Stodder, 138. 
Gertrude, 138. 
Gertrude A., 138. 
Habakkuk, 136, 137. 

_ Hannah, 137. 
Harriet, 138. 
Helen Maria, 137, 380. 
Henry Ingersoll, 138. 
Jane, 137. 
John, 136, 137. 
Jonathan Ingersoll, 138. 
Joseph, 136, 137. 
Joseph Henry, 137. 
Lois, 137, 138. 
Lucinda M., 137. 
Lucy, 137 • 
Margaret S., 138. 
Mary, 136-138. 
Mary Ann, 138, 379. 
Mary Pickman, 137. 
Mary, 138. 
Nancy, 137. 
Nathaniel, 136-138. 
Nathaniel Ingersoll, 138. 
Polly, 137. 
Prudence S., 138. 
Rebecca, 137, 138. 
Rebecca C., 138. 
Richard, 137, 138. 
Richard F., 138. 
Samuel, 137. 
Samuel Ingersoll, 137. 
Sarah, 136-138. 
Sarah B., 138. 
Sarah Bancroft, 138. 
Sarah Morse, 137. 
Thomas, 136-138. 
William, 8, 135-137, 142, 193, 291, 

352, 356, 360, 373. 
William Appleton, 138. 
William B., 138. 
William Ingersoll, 138. 

Bowdoin, Peter, 365. 
Willard L., 96. 

Bowdoin College, 106, 378. 
Bowen, Elizabeth, 185. 

Thomas. 176, 177, 185, 197. 
Bowker,' Charles, 310. 
Bowman, Betsey, 105. 
Boxford, Mass., 110-112, 114, 117, 

Boxford, continued, 
134, 145, 146, 162, 163, 277, 295, 
297, 377, 396, 400, 44i- 

Boyce, Abigail, 76. 
Anna, 76. 
Benjamin, 76. 
Catherine, 76. 
Content, 76. 
David, 76, 123. 
Ebenezer, 76. 
Elizabeth, 76. 
Ellenor, 76. 
Esther, 54, 76. 
Eunice, 76. 
Isaac, 76. 
John, 76. 
Jonathan, 76. 
Joseph, 7, 8, 10, 59, 75, 101, 156, 

158-160, 234, 273, 391, 401, 403. 
Katherine, 123. 
Lydia, 76. 
Mary, 54, 76. 
Mathew, 174. 
Nicholas, 76. 
Patience, 76. 
Rebecca, 76. 
Samuel, 76. 
Sarah, 76, 391. 
Susanna, 76. 
William, 76. 

Boyd, Elizabeth, 140. 
Brackenbury, Elizabeth, 71. 

Ellen, 411, 414. 
John, 215. 
Richard, 5, 7, 8, 10, 97, 99, 173, 

175, 217, 410, 41L 414. 
Brackett, Thomas, 252, 253. 
Bradbury, Jane, 165. 
Bradford, Mass., 134, 224. 
Bradford, Mercy, 42. 

William, 1, 42. 
Bradshaw, Mary, 425. 
Bradstreet, Ann, 28. 

Anna, 277. 
Anne, 120. 
Dudley, 120. 
Jane, 389. 
John. 199. 
Priscilla, no. 
Simon, 28, 107, 128, 167, 174, 225, 

248, 249, 255, 277, 359, 400. 
Brainard, David, 4og. 
Braintree, Mass., 93, 162. 
Brampton, England, 71. 
Branding, 30, 227. 
Brateler, Peter, 371. 
Bray, Eunice, 224. 

John, 224. 
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Bray, continued, 
Sarah, 425. 

Breadcake, Thomas, 237, 350. 
Breed, Asa L., 124. 

Eunice, 124. 
Hannah, 41. 

Brend, William, 243, 247-250, 258. 
Brett, Mr., 212. 
Brewer, Sarah, 405, 425. 

Thomas, 340. 
William, 425. 

Brewster, William, 1, 88. 
Briant, Richard, 277. 

Sarah, 277. 
Bricks, 221, 405. 
Bridgeport, Conn., 104. 
Bridges, 6, 130-132, 181-183, 186, 

187, 191, 206, 221, 394, 421, 
429. 

Butts, 182, 183. 
Cabot Street, 181, 183. 
Forest River, 191. 
Horse, 186, 187, 221. 
Log, 394 395- 
Strongwater, 183. 
Town, 6, 7, 130-162. 

Bridges, Alice, 405. 
Benjamin, 405. 
Caleb, 405. 
Edmund, 160, 236, 355, 356, 388, 

405, 433- 
Edward, 8. 
Elizabeth, 236, 388, 405. 
Hannah, 405. 
Mary, 405. 
Robert, 169. 
Sarah, 405. 

Bridgewater, England, 86. 
Bridgewater, Mass., 70, 161. 
Bridgman, John, 166, 187, 193. . 

Mary, 193. 
Briggs, Johnson, 103. 

Priscilla, 103. 
Brimblecom, Sarah, 332. 
Brimfield, Mass., 210. 
Brindley, John, 137. 

S3.r3.l1 x 37* 
Bristol, England, 83, 120, 203, 357, 

366. 
Siege of, 83. 

Bristol, Mass., 298. 
Bristol, R. I., 83. 
Brite, Mary, 193. 
Britton, Edward, 20. 

Elizabeth, 20, 40. 
Rachel, 44. 

Broad field. Governor Endecott s, 
220, 337. 
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Broad Street burial ground, 220, 
337- 

Broock, William, 75. 
Brookfield, Mass., 102, 134. 
Brookhaven, L. I., N. Y., 60. 
Brooklyn, Conn., 112. 
Brooklyn, N. Y., 25, 390 
Brooks, Alfred B., 315. 

Elizabeth, 37. 
Martha, 378. 
Robert, 37. 
Susan Beckett, 315. 

Brooksby, 11, 108, 180, 302. 
Brown (Browne),-, 166, 302, 

374- 
Abby M., 379. 
Abial, 124. 
Ah'"41, 420. 
Abraham, 420. 
Anna, 420. 
Benjamin, 160, 357, 421. 
Caroline Matilda, 118. 
Catherine, 45. 
Dorcas, 55. 
Dorothy, 210. 
Eleazer, no. 
Elizabeth, 228. 
Ellen M., 225. 
Ephraim, 318. 
Frederick, 124. 
Hannah, 37, 109, 113, 115, TI7, 

420, 421. 
Henry, 109. 
Hugh, 119. 
James, 8, 323, 340, 403, 420, 431” 

433. 
John, 8, 97, 217, 228, 302, 346- 

348, 352, 353, 358, 359, 362, 367, 
368, 420, 421. 

Jonathan, 8, 114. 
Joseph, 139, 224, 225, 421. 
Judith, 390. 
Katherine Cowan, 427. 
Laura, 427. 
Lydia, 133- 
Margaret, 236. 
Margaret S., 138. 
Martha, 420. 
Mary, 139, 224, 377, 420. 
Mary Elizabeth, 225. 
Mary Masury, 387. 
Mary R., 381. 
Rebecca, 115, 420. 
Sally, 46. 
Samuel, 420, 431- 
Sarah, n, no, 114. 224, 225, 220. 
William, 4. 6. 8, 10, it, 37- °5, 

133, 149. r58, 206, 210-212, 228, 
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Brown, continued, 
237, 286, 336, 339, 344, 351-353, 
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229, 239, 240, 289, 346, 367, 

397- 
Susanna, 222. 

Cram, Jonathan, 116. 
Rachel, 116. 
Sarah, 113. 

Cranch, Justice, 317. 
Richard, 317. 

Crane River, 6, 205, 206. 
Cranmer, Ruth, 54. 

William, 54. 
Crawley, Mary, 268. 
Creamer, Mary Manley, 427. 
Creasy, Mary, 324. 
Crediford, Mrs., 103. 
Creek Street ship building, 350. 
Cricket (ketch), 361. 
Crimean War, 106. 
Crimes, 8, 13. 
Croade, Anstice, 388. 

Deborah, 325. 
Elizabeth, 97, 120, 235, 236, 388, 

405- 
Frances, 388. 
Hannah, 235, 388. 
John, 97, 120, 235, 301, 312, 338, 

339, 346, 351, 388, 403. 
Jonathan, 235. 
Judith, 123, 388. 
Mary, 235, 388. 
Richard, 8, 160, 388. 
Ruth, 235. 
Sarah, 388. 
Thomas, 235. 
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Croade, continued, 
William, 388. 

Crockett, Fannie E., 225. 
Crombie, Benjamin, 103. 

Sophia, 103. 
Cromwell, Ann, 143, 327. 

Anne, 142. 
Dorothy, 142. 
Hannah, 142. 
Jane, 143- 
John, 7, 142, 143, 160. i89, 220, 

333> 356. 
Margaret, 142, 223. 
Mary, 142. 
Oliver, 86, 87, 228, 376. 
Philip, 6, 8, 67, 142, 143, 158-160, 

189, 195, 223, 261, 263, 303, 
323, 356, 360, 372, 373, 401, 
403- 

Thomas, 7, 143, 302, 308, 333, 

Cromwell’s meadow, 394. 
Cromwell’s neck, 208. 
Crosby, Deliverance, 193. 

Henry, 193. 
Mary, 115- 

Cross, Amee, 144. 
Mary, 24. 
Peter, 24. 

Crow, Christopher, 417. 
Hannah, 388. 
Joseph, 388. 

Crown Tavern, 429.. 
Crowninshield, Anstiss, 314- 

Benjamin, 238. 
John, 425. 
Mary, 238, 310, 384, 425. 

Cruff, Hannah, 20. 
Thomas, 20. 

Cummings (Comins), George, 141. 
Louisa, 125. 
Mehitable, 162. 
Sarah, 141. 
Thomas, 162. 
William, 217. 
William C., 125. 

Curtis (Curtice), Abigail, 146, 375. 
Alice, 156, 375- 
Alice Dodge, 385. 
Anna, 168, 375- 
Caleb, 168. 
Daniel, 375. 
Elizabeth, 146, 375. 
Ephraim, 146. 
Hall, 385. 
Hannah, 168, 295, 375. 
James, 375. 
Joanna, 145- 

Curtis, continued, 
John, 145, 168, 375- 
Jonathan, 375. 
Judith, 375. 
Locker, 375. 
Lydia, 375- 
Mary, 145, 146, 168. 
Rebecca, 375. 
Richard, 168, 197, 403- 
Ruth, 375. 
Samuel, 168. 
Sarah, 146, 168, 375. * 
William, 7, 8, 156, 159, l6o> 240, 

308, 375, 401- 
Zaccheus, 145, 146, 180, 194, 200. 

Curwen. See Corwin. 
Curwithin. See Carwithen. 
Cushing, James, 102. 

Mehitable, 106. 
Sarah, 102. 

Cut, The, 7. 
Cutler, Abigail, 216, 217. 

Amos, 217. 
Cornelius, 216, 217. 
Daniel, 216. 
Ebenezer, 216, 217. 
Elizabeth, 216, 217. 
Eunice, 216. 
Ezekiel, 217. 
Hannah, no, 216. 
Jonathan, 216, 217. 
Katherin, 217. 
Martha, 217. 
Mary, 103, 216, 217. 
Samuel, 216, 279, 404. 
Sarah, 216, 277. / 
Susannah, 216. 
Zachariah, 217. 

Cutting, Sarah, 420. 

DAGGETT, Mary, 143- 
Susanna, 376. 
William, 143. 

Dakin, Mary R., 331. 
Daland (Deland), Abigail, 24. 

Benjamin, 44. 
Catherine, 76. 
Eunice, 224. 
George, 24. 
Hannah, 44. 
Katherine, 123. 
Thorndike, 224. 

Dale, Betty, 113- 
John Elliott, 387. 
Susannah, 387. 

Dallee, Martha, 92. 
Peter, 92. 

Dana, Helen Haven, 39. 
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Dane, Edith Whipple, 331. 
Danforth, Jonathan, 209. 
Daniel and Elizabeth (ship), 361. 
Daniels (Daniel), Elizabeth, 45, 

98. 
Eunice Louise, 331. 
John, 45, 98. 
Mary, 78, 383. 
Stephen, 78, 363, 383, 387. 
Susanna, 383. 

Danvers, Mass., 22-24, 32, 34, 36, 
41-45, 55, 56, 71, 76, 92, 93, 
102, 103, 105, 112-117, 125, 
137-140, 143-145, 151, 162-165, 
187, 205, 210, 217, 230, 278, 
286, 300, 324, 325, 329, 332, 

333, 340, 376-379, 381-384, 387, 
399, 405, 419, 420, 427, 429, 
435- 

Danvers River, 15. 
Darby’s fort, 156. 
Darby’s fort side, 1, 145. 
Darling, John, 43, 44. 

Keziah, 23. 
Margaret, 43. 

Dartmoor prison, 125, 315. 
Dartmouth, England, 86, 325, 364. 
Davenish, Bethiah, 70. 

Mary, 70. 
Thomas, 70, 126, 403. 

Davenport, Addington, 28. 
Elizabeth, 28. 
Richard, 4, 8, 11, 48, 62, 69, 72, 

104, 108, 113, 132, 140, 156, 
294. 

Davis, Caroline Endicott, 38. 
Hannah, 280. 
Isaac, 283. 
Jacob P., 138. 
James Henry, 38. 
Lydia, 187. 
Mary, 277. 
Sarah, 134. 
Sarah Bancroft, 138. 
Thomas, 191. 
William, 62. 

Day, Abigail, 144. 
John, 428. 
Stephen, 428. 
Thomas, 428. 

Deacon, Nicholas, 282, 283. 
Deacons’ marsh, 13. 
Deakins, Francis, 318. 

William, 318. 
Dean (Deane), Bethiah, 56, 70. 

Christina, 105. 
Elizabeth, 20, 386. 
Ezra, 70. 

Dean, continued, 
George, 98, 368. 
Hannah, 43, 98, 179. 
John, 70. 
Jonathan, 56. 
Joseph, 20. 
Mary, 305, 319. 
Sarah, 70, 224, 329. 
Thomas, 329, 386. 

Deare, Philip, 13. 
Dedham, Mass., 149, 150, 245-247, 

257, 385- 
Deeds, Records of, 107. 

Registry of, 107, 220. 
Deerfield, Mass., 299. 
Dempsey, Isaac, 428. 
Denison, Daniel, 213, 248, 249, 255, 

256, 295, 441. 
Dennis, Widow, 313. 
Denver, Col., 383. 
Deppler, Helen Marguerite, 39. 
Deputies, Meetings of, 193. 
Derby, Anne, 425. 

Elizabeth, 305, 321. 
Experience, 20. 
Hannah, 44, 102. 
Lucretia, 40. 
Martha, 321. 
Mary, 310. 
Richard, 310, 321, 355. 
Roger, 321, 356, 401. 
Samuel, 44. 

Desire (ship), 361. 
Devereux, John, 2, 196-198, 392. 

Mary Ann C., 385. 
Robert, 198. 

Devonshire, England, 47, 136. 
Dexter, Mehitable, no. 

Richard, no. 
Diamond, Edward, 43. 

Margaret, 43, 45- 
Dickinson, Elizabeth, 71. 

Mary, 71. 
Peter, 71. 
Philemon, 53, 71, 149, I92, 213, 

402. 
Thomas, 71. 

Dighton, Mass., 54, 55, 76- 
Dike, Andrew, 15. 

John, 390. 
Priscilla Miriam, 390. 
Tabitha, 15. 

Diligence (ketch), 361. 
Dill, George, 70, 78, 79- 
Dingley, Susan, 390. 
Dix, Widow, 69. 

Sarah Addie, 331. . 
Dixie (Dixey), Ensign, 158, 227. 
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Dixie, continued, 
Abigail, 410. 
Anna, 135, 410, 414. 
Elizabeth, 410. 
John, 410. 
Sarah, 410. 
Thomas, 200. 
William, 6, 8, 10, 61, 79, 154, 

159, 161, 169, 172, 173, 175, 
194, 199, 214, 231, 232, 410, 

414, 417, 4i8. 
Doare, Eleanor, no. 
Dodge, Aaron, 191. 

Andrew, 42. 
Deborah, 42. 
Deliverance, 42. 
Ebenezer, 42. 
Edith, 42. 
Edward, 42. 
Elizabeth, 411, 414. 
Hannah, 161. 
Joanna, 376. 
John, 6, 8, 10, 42, I9E 30°, 403,' 

411, 414, 417. 
Joseph, 42. 
Josiah, 42. 
Mary, 42, 162, 411, 414. 
Mary H., 164. 
Michael, 40. 
Rebecca Ann, 385. 
Richard, 6, 39, 42, 47, 48, 60, 

121, 154, 204, 212, 222, 410, 
414, 417. 

Ruth, 42. 
Samuel, 42. 
Sarah, 42. 
William, 6, 8, 10, 39, 48, 60, 97, 

I2T, l62, I78, 182, 189, 205, 
206, 230, 279, 283, 302, 410, 
411, 414, 417. 

Dog Pond, 194, 301. 
Doliber, Joseph, 97, 197, 219. 

Mary, 219. 
Samuel, 196, 197, 202. 

Dolliver, William, 318. 
Dolphin (ship), 362, 
Dolphin (ketch), 362. 
Domesticity, 5, 183, 289. 
Donations, 167. 
Dorchester, Mass., 2, 36, 133, 294, 

324. 

Dorman, Eleanor, 162, 
Elizabeth, 277. 
Jesse, 162. 
Mary, 163. 
Phebe, 162. 
Ruth, 162. 
Thomas, 277. 

Dorr, Edith, E., 382. 
Dorsetshire, England, 161. 
Douglass, Elizabeth, 44. 
Douty, Elizabeth, 55, 143- 

Patience, 385. 
Dove (ketch), 362. 
Dove, Bethiah, 213. 

Daniel, 213. 
Deborah, 213, 216. 
Dorcas, 213. 
Elizabeth, 213. 
Hannah, 213. 
John, 387. 
Mathew, 213, 236. 
Mercy, 387. 
Ruth, 213. 
Sara, 213. 

Dover, N. H., 84, 266. 
Dow, Hannah, 31. 

Henry, 31. 
Ida, 382. 
Josiah, 329. 
Rebecca Maria, 329. 

Dowdridge, William, 187. 
Downes, Mary G., 381. 
Downing, Ann, 28. 

Charles, 25. 
Dorcas, 29. 
Ellen, 135. „ 
Emanuel, 4, 5, 8, 16, 18, 19, 22, 

25-29, 61, 62, 66, 68, 69, 73, 
78, 81, 87, 98, 107, 108, 122, 
131, 140, 156, 162, 165, 194, 
197, 198, 212, 218, 219, 230, 
276, 282, 333, 401. 

Frances, 29. 
George, 25, 29. 
Hannah, 45. 
James, 29. 
John, 29. 
Lucy, 18, 21, 28, 29. 
Mary, 29. 
Nancy B., 306. 
Susan, 29. 
Theophilus, 135, L57- 

Downing College, 29. 
Downing Street. London, England, 

29- ; , 
Downton, England, 146. 
Downton, Elizabeth, 332. 

Joanna, 332. 
John, 332. 
Mary, 276, 332. 
Rebecca, 332. 
William, 10, 332, 333, 393, 399, 

401, 403, 432, 437- 
Dowse, Margery, no. 
Dowst, John, 124. 
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Dowst, .continued, 
Martha, 124. 
Mary, 124. 

Doyle, Lucy, 378. 
Drake, Elizabeth, 386. 
Draper, Nicholas, 132. 
Draper’s point, 189, 190, 323. 
Drayton, England, 242. 
Dresser, Elizabeth, 55. 
Driver, Margaret, 329. 

Martha Silsbee, 315. 
Stephen, 34. 
William, 315. 

Drought, 69, 167. 
Drummers, 169, 170. 
Drunkenness, Degrees of, 8. 
Dryade (vessel), 138. 
Dublin, Ireland, 14, 98, 365, 366. 
Duck factory, 220. 
Dudley, Mass., 54, 55. 
Dudley, Lucy, 28. 

Mercy, 141. 
Paul, 28. 
Thomas, 128. 

Due (Dew), Elizabeth, 216. 
Dummer, Nathaniel, 365, 372. 

Richard, 167. 
Dun, William, 367. 
Dunchell, Silence, 115. 
Dungeons, The, 199, 343. 
Dunnel, Jonathan, 187. 

Mehitable, 187. 
Dunstable, Mass., no. 
Dunster, Mr., 180. 
Dunton, John, 347. 
Durin, Jane, 133. 
Dutch, The, 331, 346, 347, 370. 
Dutch, Esther, 133. 

Samuel, 1. 
Susanna, 1. 
Thomas, 205. 

Dutcher, Edwin, 428. 
Duties, 351. 
Duxbury, Mass., 298, 387. 
Dwoifiell, Lydia, 76. 
Dyer, Mary, 259, 260. 

Rachel, 43. 
Thomas, 352. 

Dynn, Elizabeth, 321. 
William, 321. 

Dyson, Mary, 425. 

EABORNE. See Aborn. 
Eager. See Ager. 
Eagle (ship), 360. 
Earthquake of 1638, 12. 
East Hampton, L. I., 53- 
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East India Marine Society, 124, 
385. 

East Weare, N. H., 42. 
Eastern Railroad, 125, 342. 
Eastman, Mary, 116. 
Easton, Md., 278. 
Easton, Grace, 70. 

John, 31. 
Mehitable, 31. 

Easty, Jeffry, 13, 97, 181, 311. 
Eaton, Diadem, 136. 

Grace, 383. 
Hannah, 32. 
Ira, 103. 
Israel, 136, 376. 
Jemima, 376. 
Jonas, 383. 
Mary, 42, 134, 376. 
Sarah, 42. 
Sarah P., 103. 

Ebsen, Anna Maud, 331. 
Charles E., 331. 

Eddy, Lizzie, 83. 
Eden, Mary, 387. 

Mehitable, 124. 
Thomas, 387. 

Edinburgh, Scotland, 83. 
Edmands, Adelaide Martha, 118. 
Edson, Bethiah, 70. 

Elizabeth, 70. 
Joseph, 70. 
Josiah, 70. 
Mary, 70. 
Samuel, 70, 127, 145. 
Sarah, 70. 
Susanna, 70. 

Edwards, Abraham, 140. 
Anna, 300. 
Elizabeth, 303. 
Elnor, 140. 
John, 140, 303, 397- 
Joseph, 140. 
Joshua, 140. 
Mary, 140, 420. 
Mathew, 77. 
Rice, 140, 227. 
Thomas, 8, 10, 30, 158, 166, 200, 

403. 
Egypt, Beverly, 205. 
Election week, 37. 
Elizabeth and Margaret (ship), 

362. 
Elkins, Abigail, 102, 123. 

Henry, 123. 
John, 117. 
Sarah, 117, 233. 
Thomas, 233.. 

Ellenwood, Patience, 319- 
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Ellen wood, continued, 
Ralph, 411, 414, 417- 

Elliott (Eliot), Andrew, 268, 417- 
Benjamin, 89. 
Isaac B., 244. 
John, 86. 
Lewis W., 244. 
Lucy, 277. 
Mary, 124. 
Mercy, 268. 
Sarah, 283. 
Thomas, 277. 
William, 282. 

Ellis, Abbie M., 331. 
Francis, 184. 

Elliston, John, 38. 
Lucy, 38. 

Elson, Hannah, 123. 
Elvins, Richard, 386. 

Sarah, 386. 
Elwell, Alice, 133- 

Caroline E., 387. 
Christian, 133. 
Esther, 133. 
Isaac, 133- 
Jacob, 133- 
Jane, 133- 
Joan, 133. 
John, 133- 
Joseph, 133. 
Josiah, 133. 
Mary, 133. 
Mehitable, 13 3- 
Penelope, 133. 
Richard, 133. 
Robert, 133, 402. 
Samuel, 133. 
Sarah, 133. 
Susannah, 133. 
Thomas, 133. 

Emerson, Martha, 20. 
Emerton (Emmerton), Elizabeth, 

425- 
James, 306. 
James Henry, 274. 
Jeremiah, 425. 
Martha, 314, 383- 
Martha Moseley, 306. 
Mary, 103. 
William, 314, 383. 

Emery, Mrs., 432- 
Edward, 226. 
Eleanor, 441. 
George, 3, 12, 37, 108, 140, 159, 

^ i6t, T95. 2T4, 217, 342. 
Sarah, 226. 

Emmanuel College, 5- 
Endeavor (bark), 362. 

Endeavor (ketch), 362. 
Endecott (Endicott), Elizabeth, 14, 

17, 216, 228. 
Eunice, 116. 
Hannah, 23, 144, 163. 
John, 4, 7, 25, 30, 36, 47-49, 61, 

62, 64, 66, 68, 69, 77, 84, 103, 
109, 114, 122, 123, 141, 150, 
155, 166, 169, 171, 178, 180, 
189, 191, 204, 215, 220, 222, 
223, 227, 237, 247, 250, 256, 
262, 263, 266-269, 285, 306, 

337, 359, 400, 403, 432- 
Lydia, H5- 
Margaret, 325. 
Martha, 114. 
Mary, 113. 
Rebecca Hovey, 38. 
Samuel, 113, 325. 
Zerubbabel, 8, 14, 17, 292, 323, 

403, 433, 434, 439- 
Endecott’s plain, 7. 
Enfield, Mass., 39C 396, 397. 
England, 1, 20, 27-29, 85, 98, 101, 

107, 121, 148, 167, 170, 181, 
186, 198, 212, 215, 244, 246, 
257, 258, 261-264, 268, 269, 
271, 326. 351, 359, 362, 364, 
426. 

English, Benjamin, 327. 
Clement, 133. 
Elizabeth, 328. 
Margaret, 133. 
Mary, 355, 432. 
Mercy, 387. 
Philip, 8, 355, 359, 368, 401, 405. 
Sarah, 327. 

Enon, Mass., n, 151, 152. 
Epes (Epps), Abigail, 92, 93. 

Benjamin, 93. 
Daniel, 8, 17, 92-95, 433, 444- 
Elizabeth, 24, 92. 
Francis, 92. 
Hannah, 92, 94. 
John, 92. 
Joseph, 92, 93. 
Judith, 93. 
Love Rawlins, 93. 
Margaret, 92. 
Martha, 92. 
Mary, 23, 92, 93. 
Ruth, 92. 
Samuel, 92-94. 
Sarah, 93, 112. 
William, 92, 93. 
William Isham, 93. 

Frith, England, toi. 

Essex County, Mass., 144- 
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Essex Institute, 273, 275, 282, 303. 
Estee. See Easty. 
Eveleth, Edward, 92. 

Elizabeth, 92. 
Evans, Elizabeth, 386. 

William, 208. 
Exeter, England, 321. 
Exeter, N. H., 227, 388, 405, 425. 

FABENS, Margaret, 320. 
Mary, 379. 

Fairfield, Conn., 82, 185. 
Fairfield, Benjamin, 77. 

Elizabeth, 77. 
John, 77, 152, 402. 
Rebecca, 224. 
Sarah, 77. 
Walter, 77. 
William, 224. 

Fairmaids Hill, 42. 
Fairs, 35. 
Falmouth, Me., 327. 
Falmouth, Mass., 56, 162, 358. 
Farless, Adeline, 105. 

Anna Louisa, 390. 
Benjamin, 105. 
James Augustus, 390. 

Farmdale, Constance, 426. 
Farmer, Mary, 102. 
Farrar, Elizabeth, 40. 
Farrington, Daniel, 104, hi. 

Elizabeth, in. 
John, 300. 
Mary, 104, 210. 
Rachel, 104. 
Rebecca, 375. 
Sarah, 300, 332. 
William, 104. 

Fast Days, 52, 66, 69, 80, 121, 
125, 126, 167, 215, 218, 226, 
233, 278, 303, 312, 323, 326, 
349, 390, 397, 422. 

Faulkner, Dorothy, 143. 
Favor, Hannah, 24. 
Faxon, Anna, 162. 
Fayal, 364. 
Fearmayes. See Vermais. 
February, Edmund, 432. 
Federation of the colonies, 127. 
Felmingham, Francis, 3, 101, 147. 
Felt, David, 224. 

Elizabeth Mylord, 138. 
Ephraim, 387. 
Hannah, 383. 
Jemima, 319. 
John, 138. 
Jonathan, 141, 350, 35°* 3«3- 
Lucy, 387. 

Felt, continued, 
Rebecca, 137. 
Sarah, 141. 
Susanna, 224. 

Felton, Mrs., 3, 97, 192, 234. 
Abigail, 44. 
Anne, 32. 
Benjamin, 8, 10, 64, ^14, 247, 

392, 393, 399, 434. 
Daniel, 44. 
David, 300. 
Dorcas, 376. 
Exercise, 233. 
Hannah, 24, 376. 
John, 401. 
Jonathan, 210. 
Lydia, 325. 
Margaret, 141, 192. 
Mary, 55. 
Nathaniel, 6-8, 10, 158, 159, 192, 

234, 302, 322, 401. 
Rebecca, 210, 300. 
Remember, 218. 
Ruth, 300. 
Sarah, 300. 
Sarah Augusta, 378. 
Stephen, 376. 
Tamisin, 376. 
Timothy, 24. 
Zachariah, 376. 

Fences, Surveyors of, 158. 
Fenno, Catherine J., 381. 

Thomas J., 381. 
Fenollosa, Manuel, 384. 

Mary, 384. 
Ferguson, Archibald, 139. 

Mary, 139- 
Ferries, 16, 94, 189-191, 196, 215, 

276. 
Beverly, 16, 94, 189-191, 215, 

276, 323- 
Marblehead, 94, 196. 

Fessenden, Emily C., 306. 
Feveryear, Edward, 8, 15- 

Tabitha, 15. 
Field, Alexander, 127, 132, 229. 

Joanna, 82. 
Mary, 320. 

Finch. Goody, 281. 
Fire department, 157, T58, 3i2- 
Fireback, 281. 
Fires, 19, 42, 157. 164.165, 168, 

171, 182, 187, 221, 229, 294 
Fish brook. 234. 
Fisher, Maria Ruth, 315. 

Thorpe, 315* r 
Fisheries, 14 79, 179, 20I> 240 340- 
Fishermen, 179, 201, 240, 346. 
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Fishkill, N. Y., 112. 
Fisk (Fiske), Bridget, 205. 

Eliza W., 235. 
Elizabeth, 118, 162. 
Emma C., 315. 
John, 4, 11, 65, 74, 77, 82, 91, 

152, 153, 329, 430, 431. 
Lydia, 329. 
Mary, 187. 
Phineas, 121, 151, 153, 403. 
Samuel, 46. 
Sarah, 118. 
Thomas, 154. 
William, 31, 71, 153, 187, 403- 

Fitch, Sarah, 320. 
Fitchburg, Mass., 116. 
Flag, 348. 
Fletcher, Joanna, 148. 
Flinder, Jane, 48. 

Richard, 48, 401. 
Flint, Abiah, 20. 

Abigail, 20, 21, 135, 276-278, 300. 
Alice, 20, 139. . 
Ann, 276, 278. 
Anna, 276-279. 
Anne, 53. 
Benjamin, 20, 277. 
Bridget, 278. 
Christian, 277. 
David, 20. 
Deborah, 20, 277. 
Ebenezer, 276. 
Ede, 278. 
Edward, 6-8, 10, 20, 133, 159, 

160, 238, 277, 401. 
Elisha, 113, 277, 278. 
Elizabeth, 20, 109, 133, 276-278. 
Eunice, 277. 
Experience, 20. 
George, 109, 276. 
Gertrude, 276. 
Hannah, 20, 21, 101, 276-278, 300. 
Huldah, 20, 114, 278. 
Jacob, 277. 
James, 277. 
Jane, 21, 383. 
John, 7, 20, 21, 114, 276, 277, 

383. 

Jonathan, 20, 21, 23, 276-278. 
Joseph, 20, 21, 135, 179, 276-278. 
Joshua, 277. 
Kendall, 277, 278. 
Lucy, 277. 
Lydia, 20, 21, 23, hi, 112, 136, 

276-278. 
Margaret, 20, 21. 
Martha, 20. 

Flint, continued, 
Mary, 20, 21, 79, no, 276-278, 

332. 
Mehitable, 278. 
Mercy, 20, 79, 277. 
Miriam, 113, 278. 
Moses, 277, 278. 
Nathaniel, 216, 277. 
Patience, 179, 277. 
Phebe, 278. 
Priscilla, 21, 162, 277. 
Rachel, 278. 
Rebecca, 20, 278. 
Ruth, 20, in, 112, 117, 277, 278. 
Sally, 21, 278. 
Samuel, in, 276-278. 
Sarah, 20, 97, 216, 276-278. 
Stephen, 277, 278, 300. 
Susannah, 21, 276. 
Thomas, 6-8, 19-21, 25, 66, no, 

in, 160, 162, 232, 240, 276- 
278, 291, 332, 401, 433, 438. 

Timothy, 20. 
William, 6, 7, 10, 19-21, 66, 67, 

132, 136, 158, 159, 231-233, 
276-279, 315, 322, 344, 345, 
392, 395, 399-401, 404, 405, 
421, 433, 441. 

Flower (ketch), 363. 
Fogg, Mary, 31. 

Ralph, 65, 74, 100, 108, 120, 155, 
168, 180, 182, 204, 400. 

Samuel, 31. 
Follett, Abraham, 385. 

Benjamin, 385. 
Hannah, 54, 385, 405. 
Isaac, 385, 405. 
John, 385. 
Joseph, 385. 
Martha, 385. 
Mary, 385. 
Patience, 385. 
Persis, 385. 
Rebecca, 385. 
Robert, 385. 
Ruth, 385. 
Sarah, 385. 
Susanna, 385. 

Fones, Martha, 14. 
Foot (Foote), Isaac, 160, 403. 

Martha, 101. 
Mary, 238. 
Pasco,. 101, 173, 360, 428. 

Forbes, Lord, 85. 
Ford, Peter, 100. 
Forest River, 26, 70, 178. 191, 343, 

344- 
Forest River bridge, 191, 343-345- 
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Forest River Side, 11. 
Fort, Indian, 199. 
Fort Pickering, 36, 350, 388. 
Fort Saybrook, Conn., 287. 
Fortifications, 156, 350, 374. 
Forts, 156, 237, 350. 
Fortune, Hannah, 404. 

Thomas, 404. 
Foster, Abigail, 103, 105, 325. 

Amos, 325. 
Ann, 252. 
Anna, 295, 297, 324, 325. 
Anne, 324. 
Bartholomew, 324. 
Benjamin, 324, 325. 
Christopher, 273. 
David, 324, 325. 
Eben, 324. 
Ebenezer, 295, 297, 324, 325. 
Elizabeth, 324, 325. 
Eunice, 325. 
Hannah, 117, 324, 325, 404- 

James, 324, 325- 
John, 123, 324, 403. 
Jonathan, 23, 324, 325. 
Joseph, 45, 252, 324, 325. 

Joshua, 325. 
Laura Alicia, 104. 
Lydia, 324, 325. 
Margaret, 324, 325. 
Marj ary, 325. 
Martha, 324. 
Mary, 24, 123, 283, 324, 325. 
Mehitabel, 325. 
Mercy, 324- 
Nathan, 324. 
Patience, 324. 
Patty, 325- 
Priscilla, 23, 324. 
Rachel, 325. 
Richard, 324, 325. 
Robert, 24/ 114- 
Ruth, 324. 
Samuel, 324, 325. 
Sarah, 45, H4, 324, 325- 
Skelton, 325. 
Stephen, 325. 
Susanna, 55- 
Timothy, 324, 325. 
William, 325. 
William H.,104. 

Fountain, Mehitable, 178. 
Peter, 178. 
Sarah, 141. , „ ,, , 

“Four Hundred Acres”, Manches 
ter, 172. # 

Four Sisters (ship), 3^3- 
Fowle (Fowles), Ebenezer, 299. 

Fowle, continued, 
Hannah, 163, 299. 
Joanna, 383. 
Joseph, 163, 299. 
Mary, 32. 
Sarah, 299. 
Zachariah, 428. 

Fowler, Charles B., 381. 
Etta M., 382. 
Lucy Maria, 381. 
Sarah, 56. 
Susanna, 224. 

Fox, George, 242. 
Fraile, Ann, 376. 

Elizabeth, 404. 
Eunice, 70. 
Samuel, 376. 

Framingham, Mass., 21, 112, 143, 

284, 405- 
Frampton, England, 388. 
France, 170, 360, 365. 
Francestown, N. H., 93. 
Francis (ship), 57- ... . . 
Frances and Elizabeth (ketch), 

363. 
Frances and Mary (ketch), 363. 
Franeker, University of, Holland, 

148. 
Franklyn, Good, 170- 
Fraternity (ketch), 363. 
Free trade, 171- 
Freemen, 327, 402. 
French, The, 187, 216, 322, 348, 

349, 37 
French and Indian War, 112, 325- 
French frigates, 171, 349> 361, 362, 

366, 367. 
French protestants, 14, 34°- 
French War, 117. 
Frettee, Mary, 178- 
Friend, Anna, 168. 

John, 8, 30, 61, 98, 155, 173, 189, 
190, 198, 217. 

Richard, 168. 
Samuel, 191, 200. 

Friends. See Quakers. 
Friendship (ship), 213, 363- 
Friendship (ketch), 363* 304- 
Frohock, Helen Mary, 39- 
Frost, Abigail, 92, 376. 

Elizabeth, 392. 
Hannah, 75. 
Lydia, 45- 
Mary, 92, 93. 
William, 392. 

Frost-fish brook, 11, 4°5- 
Frost-fish River, 6, 47> 279* 4°4» 

405- 
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Fryar, Thomas, 61. 
Frye, Anna, 41. 

Miartha Ann, 331. 
Tamson, 56. 
William, 41, 56, 340, 341. 
William A., 331. 

Fulgin, Niklis, 369. 
Fuller, Sergeant, 7, 395. 

Abigail, no, 300. 
Anna, no. 
Benjamin, 75. 
Elizabeth, no. 
Eunice, 188. 
Jacob, 300. 
John, 8, 109. 
Jonathan, 75. 
Joseph, no, 188. 
Joseph M., 41. 
Margaret, 75, 192. 
Mary Chase, 41. 
Phebe, 32. 
Rachel, 117. 
Rebecca, 109. 
Robert, 10, 74, 75, 156, 160, 174, 

192, 219, 403. 
Ruth, in. 
Sarah, 75. 
Susanna, no. 
Thomas, 10, 439-441. 

Fullington, Abiafy 124. 
John, 124. 

Funerals, 292. 
Furbush, John, 177. 
Furgeson, Abigail, 141. 
Furneux, Abigail, 328. 

William, 328. 
Furnishings, 183, 289. 
Furs, 170, 186. 

GAFFORD, Mr., 13. 
Gage, Addison, 151. 

John, 152. 
Rachel, 377. 

Gahtman, Francis, 30. 
Gain ford, England, 174. 
Gale, Abigail, 23. 

Ambrose, 201. 
Bartholomew, 240. 
Mary, 305. 

Galena, Ill., 387. 
Gallison, John, 201. 

Joseph, 201. 
Gallows Hill, 273. 
Gaily,_ John, 173, 407, 417. 
Gambier, O., 391. 
Game preserve, 25-27. 
Gamlangay, England, 29. 
Ganson, -, 113. 

GansOn, continued, 
Abigail, 277. 
Benjamin, 360. 
John, 277. 

Gardner, Abel, 162, 339. 
Abigail, 93. 
Abigail Phippen, 306. 
Ann, 28. 
Anna, 112. 
Asa, 423. 
Daniel, 112, 339. 
Deborah, 112. 
Elizabeth, 104, 339. 
George, 8, 10, 192, 217, 234, 252, 

253, 309, 312, 323, 333, 338, 
401, 403, 423. 

Hannah, 300, 303. 
John, 9, 66, 112, 139, 231, 302, 

305, 337-341. 
Jonathan, 112, 339-341. 
Joseph, 9, 28, 124, 192, 207, 208, 

302, 353, 40i, 403, 409, 432. 
Lucy, 425. 
Mary, 53, 136, 161. 
Mary A., 423. 
Miriam, 203. 
Priscilla, 378. 
Richard, 104, 139, 156, 174, 264, 

268, 306, 374- 
Ruth, 117- 
Samuel, 4, 7, 9, 66-68, 157, 159, 

160, 192, 233, 239, 333, 337- 
339, 353, 370, 401, 403, 421- 
423, 432, 433- 

Sarah, 112, 124, 136, 162, 305. 
Susannah, 276. 
Sylvester, 93. 
Thomas, 5, 9, 10, 63, 67, 68, 141, 

142, 155, 158, 160, 161, 166, 
192-194, 217, 223, 264, 268, 
283, 313, 316, 322, 356, 366, 
370, 401, 402, 422: 

William F., 341. 
Gardner’s brook, 7. 
Gar ford, Jarvis, 3, 5, 9, 10, 98, 

126, 131, 189, 208, 217. 
Garritt, James, 393. 
Garvin, Elizabeth, 233. 

John, 233. 
Gaskill (Gaskin), Edward, 145. 

Mary, 76. 
Nathan, 76. 
Patience, 76. 
Preserved, 236. 
Provided, 53, 433. 
Samuel, 6, 7, 53, 159, 160, 249, 

250, 264, 273. 
Gass, Abigail, 139. 
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Gass, continued,, 
Thomas, 139. 

Gatchell (Getchell), Bethiah, 2. 
Dorcas. 2. 
Ethel Dora, 382. 
John, 2, 47, 177, 197, 199, 202. 
Joseph, 2. 
Josiah, 393. 
Priscilla, 2. 
Samuel, 2, 47, 122. 
Susanna, 2. 

Gauden, Henry, 359. 
Gault (Goult), Benjamin, 139. 

Betsey, 139. 
Deborah, 30. 
Mary, 30. 
Mehitable, 30. 
Rebecca, 30. 
Sarah, 30. 
William, 9, 30, 134. 

Gauss, Stephen, 225. 
Gavett, Elizabeth, 330. 

Joseph, 314. 
Geare, Deborah, 75. 

Ephraim, 75. 
John, 75. 
Mary, 75. 
Samuel, 75. 
Sarah, 77. 
Tryphena, 75. 
William, 75, 77, 402. 

Gedney, Bartholomew, 5> 8, to, 67 
68, 157, 189, 337, 338, 350, 
361, 366, 368, 392, 400-403, 
421, 434- 

Eleazer, 9, 10, 160, 189, 358, 363, 
367, 401, 403, 432, 434- 

John, 3, 9, 10, 14. 3B 100, 142, 
158, 183, 184, 193, 195, 211, 
221, 231, 248, 270, 301, 302, 
322, 323, 352, 353, 365, 366, 
374, 398, 399, 401, 403, 422, 
43B .432. 

Katherine, 183, 184. 
Lydia, 38. 
Martha, 98. 
Mary, 298, 328. 
Nathaniel, 298, 328. 
Susanna, 38, 183, 432. 

Gell, Richard, 101. 
Gen. Brooks (brig-), 379. 
General Court, 161. 

Expelled Edmond Batter, 398. 
Geneva, N. Y., 391. 
Geneva, Switzerland, 378. 
Gennings, Lydia, 277. 
George (Indian), 122, 241. 
George Bonaventure (ship), 364. 

Georgetown, Md., 318. 
Georgia University, 106. 
Georgianna, Me., 266. 
Gerrish, Abigail, 20. 

Benjamin, 9, 20, 82, 97, 160, 352, 
400, 403, 432. 

Elizabeth, 299, 339, 340. 
Hannah, 97. 
Joseph, 349. 
Sarah, 105. 
William, 120. 

Gibbon, Edward, 128. 
Gibbs, Elizabeth, 38. 

Gregory, 221. 
Henry, 79. 
John, 366. 
Mehitable, 79. 
Robert, 38. 

Giddings, Mary, 389. 
Gifford, Harriet Ellen, 331. 

Martha Slade, 41. 
Thomas J., 41. 

Gift (ketch), 364. 
Giggles. See Jeggles. 
Gilbert, Hannah, 423. 

Humphrey, 423. 
Giles (Gyles), Daniel, 367. 

Edmond, 72, 194. 
Edward, 61, 142. 
Eleazer, 6, 7, 9, 16, 160, 161, 401, 

434- 
Elizabeth, 425. 
Hannah, 162. 

Gill, Hannah, 391. 
John, 329. 
Priscilla, 329. 
William, 391. 

Gillett, Mathew, 119, 197. 
Gillingham, Benjamin, 277. 

Elizabeth, 277, 280. 
Hannah, 235. 
James, 280, 357. 
Rebecca, 280, 386. 

Gilloway, John, 280. 
Sarah, 280. 

Gillum, Zachariah, 372. 
Gilman, Elizabeth, 137, 388, 405, 

425- 
Jpseph, 425. 
Josiah, 425. 
Moses, 388, 405. 
Rebecca, 425. 
Sarah, 227. 
Somerby, 227. 

Gilson, Mary, 236. 
Gingell, John, 294, 394, 439- 
Girdler, Hannah, 55. 
Glanfield, Lydia, 101. 
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Glanfield, continued, 
Rebecca, 32. 
Robert, 32, 101. 

Glass works, 53-59> 158-161, 4X9- 
Glastonbury, Conn., 65. 
Globe Tavern, 28. 
Gloucester, Mass., 20, 23, 61, 75, 

77, 92, 102, 104, 133, 138, I45> 
146, 151, 185, 187, 197, 315, 
323, 35i, 352, 358, 360, 386, 
394, 404. 

Gloucestershire, England, 82. 
Glover, Charles, 75- 

Elizabeth, 75, 82. 
Esther, 75. 
John, 118, 319- 
Jonathan, 280. 
Joseph, 43, 82. 
Malvina Tabitha, 104. 
Mary, 43, 75, 118. 
Priscilla, 280. 
Rebecca, 201. 
Richard, 201. 
Sarah,- 47, 75. 

Goit. See Coit. 
Goldsmith, Goodman, 30. 

John H., 96. 
Maria, 71. 
Olive A., 380. 
Richard, 154. 
Thomas, 155, 158, 208. 

Goldthwaite, Abigail, 23. 
Amelia P., 315* 
Elizabeth, 377. 
Esther, 76. 
Eunice, 216, 277. 
Ezekiel, 76, 216. 
Mary, 23. 
Samuel, 23, 99. 

T T2 
Thomas, 6,’ 10, 158, 189, 221, 277, 

304, 322, 401, 421. 
Golt, Rebecca, 280. 

Sarah, 391. 
Goodale (Goodell), Abigail, 296. 

Abraham, 300. 
Barbara, 139. 
David, 112. 
Emme, 32. 
Eunice, 76. 
Experience, 103. 
Hannah, 377, 404* 
Isaac, 318, 319, 438. 
Jacob, 377. 
James, 139- 
Lydia, 112. 
Mary, 107, 297. 
Mehitable, 377. 

Goodale, continued, 
Phebe, 377. 
Rachel, 113. 
Robert, 160, 193, 212, 213, 312, 

438. 
Ruth, 300. 
Sarah, 377. 
Zachariah, 7, 438. 

Goodhue, Augusta, 118. 
Benjamin, 117. 
Charles B., 118. 
Eliza, 118. 
Hannah, 24, 106. 
James B., 118. 
Ruth, H7- 

Goodrich, Abigail, 116. 
Goodridge, Hannah, 226. 

Lydia, 163. 
Goodspeed, Margaret, 109. 
Goodwin (Gooden), Margaret, 20. 

Seaborne, 327. 
William, 189. 

Goog, Mr., 178. 
Goose, Mr., 16, 213. 

John, 3. 
Mary, 3, 321, 324. 
William, 321. 

Gorey. See Corey. 
Goss, Elizabeth, 225. 

Francis, 225. 
Gott, Charles, 5, 13, 60, 61, 87, 

140, 154, 178, 218. 
Lydia, 300. 
Martha, 24, 164. 
Mary, 116. 

Gould, Abigail, 210. 
Daniel, 259-261. 
John, 23, 60. 
Mary, 120. 
Moses, 428. 
Oliver H., 390. 
Priscilla, 109. 
Rachel, 210. 
Ruth, 56. 
Sarah, 23, 60, 117. 
Sarah Elizabeth, 390. 
Thomas, 401, 423. 
Zacheus, 198. 

Goult. See Gault. 
Governor’s farm, 6, 12. 
Governors, 4°°- 

Deputy, 400. 
Govis, Obadiah, 165, 166. 
Gowan, Hannah, 46. 
Grafton, Elizabeth, 135. 

John, 7, 9, 347, 368, 403, 432. 
Joseph, 7, 9, 13, t6, 135, 200, 

213, 228, 347, 350, 358, 362, 
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Grafton, continued, 
401, 403, 421, 428, 432. 

Joshua, 192. 
Nathaniel, 358, 362, 432. 
Sarah, 20. 
William, 20. 

Graham, John, 349. 
Grand Turk (ship), 384. 
Granger, Launcelot, 47. 

Joanna, 47. 
Grant, Mehitable, 45.' 
Grave digger, 64. 
Graves, Abigail, 15. 

Hannah, 224. 
Mary, 396. 
Richard, 49, 60, 155, 194,206, 219. 

Gravesend, England, 363, 366, 368, 

371. 
Gray, Arthur, 383. 

Benjamin, 386. 
Edward, 299. 
Elizabeth, 117, 299, 389. 
Hannah, 383. 
Joseph, 321. 
Lydia, 105. 
Margaret, 44. 
Mary, 236, 386. 
Robert, 302, 389. 
Thomas, 2, 197. 
William, 44. 
Winthrop, 117. 

Great Ashing swamp, 207. 
Great Cove, 30, 61, 145, 206. 
Great Neck, 47. 
Great Pond, 151, 154, 188, 212. 
Green (Greene), -, 120. 

Widow, 3. 
Ann, 28. 
Anstiss, 138. 
Anthony, 123. 
B., 89. 
Eliza, 138. 
John, 28, 301, 367, 399. 
Joseph, 420. 
Mary, 123. 
Rebecca, 120. 

Greeneway, Richard, 2. 
Greenman, Imogene, 225. 
Greenleet (Greenslett), Ann. 398- 

Thomas, 398. 
Gregory, Mary, 387. 
Griffin, Abigail, 102. 

Richard, 367. 
Samuel, 102. 

Grig, Thankful, 54. 
Grindstone Hill, 205. 
Groce, Simon, 212. 
Gross, Rebecca, 22. 

Groton, 19. 
Groton, Conn., in. 
Groton, England, 14, 18. 
Grove, Edward, 7, 9, 10, 229, 401. 

Joseph, 362. 
Grover, Edmund, 140, 141, 173, 189, 

203, 208, 231, 283, 323, 417. 
John, 159, 283, 417. 

Guilford, Conn., 65, 287, 288. 
Guinea, 347, 
Guinn, Lucy, 38, 

Thomas, 38. 
Gunpowder, 68, 126. 
Gunpowder plot, 327. 
Guppy, Abigail, 119, 135. 

Bethiah, 119. 
Eleanor, 118. 
Elizabeth, 119, 295. 
John, 118, 119, 135. 
Mary, 118. 
Rachel, 118, 119, 328. 
Reuben, 118, 433, 434- 

• Susanna, 119. 
Gutch, Deborah, 77. 

Elizabeth, 77. 
John, 77. 
Lydia, 77. 
Magdalen, 77. 
Patience, 77. 
Robert, 50, 76, 178, 184, 215, 283, 

403- 
Sara, 77. 

Gutterson, Susanna, 21. 
Gwinn, Mercy, 387. 

Thaddeus, 387. 

HACKER, Anna, 56. 
Bethiah, 391. 
George, 391. 
Jeremiah, 56. 

Haddam, Conn., 409. 
Hadley, Mass., 143- 
Hadlock^ Abigail, 375- 

Damaris, 375- 
Hannah, 375. 
James, 375. 438, 439- 
John, 375, 404- 
Joseph, 375- 
Marah, 375. 
Margery, 375. 
Mary, 375- 
Nathaniel, 404. 
Pascho, 375. 
Rebecca, 375. 
Remember, 404. 
Ruth, 375- 
Samuel, 375- 
Sarah, 375- 
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Haggett, Ann, 151. 
Deliverance, 151. 
Hannah, 151. 
Henry, 151. 
Mary, 151. 
Moses, 151. 

Haines (Haynes), Mary, 282. 
Richard, 192, 282, 417. 
Sarah, 282, 299. 
Thomas, 402. 
William, 165, 192, 282, 299. 

Hale, Apphia, 230. 
Elizabeth, 414, 425- 
Francis H., 315. 
James, 414. 
Joanna, 414. 
John, 230, 349, 407-412, 414, 417- 
Lydia, 230. 
Margaret E., 315. 
Mary, 43, no, 230. 
Rebecca, 230, 409, 414. 
Robert, 409, 414. 
Samuel, 230, 414. 
Sarah, 230, 414. 
Thomas, 6, 9, 158, 189, 228, 

230, 301. 
Thomasine, 230. 

Hall, Edward, 8. 
Sally, 330. 
William, 330. 

Hamilton, Mass., 83, 306 331, 382. 
Hamilton, Duke of, 86. 
Hammersmith (Saugus), 376, 377 
Hammond, Abigail, 386. 

Benjamin, 109, 191. 
Hamor, Mary, 256. 
Hampstead, N. H., 46, 116. 
Hampton, N. H., 2, 7, 31, 54, 218, 

255- 
Handy, Patience, 54- 
Hannah (ketch), 364. 
Hannah and Elizabeth (ship), 364, 

388. 
Hanson, Elizabeth, 76. 

Mary, 4. 
Thomas, 4. 

Harding, John, 226. 
Joseph, 276. 
Lydia, 103. 

Hardy, Elizabeth, 364, 369. 
James, 376. 
John, 9, 10, 60, 109, 145, 180. 

191, 213, 226, 344, 348, 359, 

363, 364, 369- „ „ 
Joseph, 9, 10, 145, 160, 276, 363, 

364, 369, 37B 401, 421. 
Mary, 136. 
Ruth, 376. 

Hardy, continued, 
Seeth, 329. 

Hardy’s Cove, 337- 
Harmon, Roger, 363. 
Harmony Grove Cemetery, 39. 
Harnet, Edward, 61, 232, 246, 247. 

Eunice, 61. 
Jonathan, 61. 
Priscilla, 61. 

Harod. See Harwood. 
Harper, Robert, 263. 
Harraden, Abigail, 21. 

Lydia Ann, 426. 
Timothy, 21. 

Harriette (brig), 137. 
Harriman, Mehitable, 113. 

Reuben, 113. 
Susanna, 116. 

Harrington, Me., 377. 
Harrington, Mehitable, 113. 

Reuben, 113. 
Harris, Elizabeth, 161. 

George, 3, 155- 
Hannah, 48, 213. 
James, 161. 
Joseph, 155, 158, i59> 283. 
Mary, 115. 
Richard, 213. 
Samuel, 399. 
Sophie C., 306. 

Hart (Heart), Abigail, 133. 
Anne, 133. 
Deborah, 133. 
Elizabeth, 20, 133. 
Florence, 133. 
John, 2, 13, 133, 179, 197. 
Jonathan, 122, 133. 
Lydia, 122, 133. * 
Margaret, 133. 
Mary, 133, 276. 
Peleth, 133. 
Rebecca, 133. 
Sarah, 122, 133. 

Hartford, Conn., 129, 287. 
Hartshorn, Elizabeth, 328. 

Susanna, 329. 
Hartwell, Nancy, 320. 
Harvard College, 27, 29, 38, 93, 

102, hi, 114, H5» TI7* IJ8, 
124, 125, 135, 148, 163, 229, 
299, 384, 385, 389, 39L 409, 
426, 44L 444- 

Harvey, Abigail, 279. 
Anna, 279. 
David, 423. 
Elizabeth. 279. 
George, 42. 
Hannah, 423. 
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Harvey, continued, 
Jehoidan, 279. 
John, 279, 423. 
Laura Peirce, 42. 
Mary, 423. 
Peter, 423. 
Richard, 232, 279, 301, 324, 333. 
Sarah, 279, 423. 

Harwich, 191. 
Harwood (Harod, Harrod, Hay¬ 

ward, Haywood, Herod, Her- 
rod, Howard), Abigail, 135, 
278. 

Anna, 135. 
Archelaus, 136. 
Bethiah, 135. 
Daniel, 136. 
Diadem, 136. 
Dudley, 136. 
Elizabeth, 48, 73, 135, 136, 411. 
Em——, 48. 
Frances, 29. 
Hannah, 135, 136. 
Harriet Maria, 379. 
Henry, 48, 73, 156, 166, 199, 290, 

403. 
Hephzibah, 136. 
Israel, 136. 
Israel Porter, 136. 
James, 125. 
Jemima, 136, 319. 
John, 49, 136, 319, 322, 324. 
Jonathan. 49, 135, 136, 276. 
Lydia, 21, 136. 
Mary, 76, 135, 136, 276, 324. 
Mehitable, 136. 
Nathaniel, 135, 402, 411. 
Nehemiah, 135. 
Nicholas, 135, 136, 180, 211, 227. 

Paul, 136. 
Robert, 136. 
Ruth, hi. 

Samuel, 135, 136, 272. 
Sarah, 135, 136. 
Stephen, 135. 
William Serls, 379- 

Hashamomack, 57. 

Haskell, Anna, 139* 
Elenor, 114. 

Elijah, 383. 
Elizabeth, 411, 414- 
Hannah, 383. 
Hubbard, 139. 
Mark, 363, 417. 
Mary, 42. 
Miriam, 204. 
Roger, 6, 9, 145, 158, i59, 206, 

231, 301, 302, 401. 

Haskell, continued, 
William, 204, 302. 

Haskett, Elias, 321. 
Elizabeth, 321. 
Hannah, 321. 
Martha, 321. 
Mary, 321. 
Sarah, 321. 
Stephen, 159, 189, 222, 321, 402, 

423- 
Haskins, John, 393. 

Roger, 48. 
Ruth, 48, 190. 

Hatch, Jonathan, 103. 
Hathaway (Hatheway), John, 13. 

Lillie E., 382. 
Hathorne, Abigail, 37, 102. 

Anna, 334. 
Anne, 162. 
Benjamin, 102. 
Eleazer, 6, 9, 37, 228, 368, 371, 

372, 390, 392, 403, 421, 422, 
432. 

Elizabeth, 25, 162. 
Elizabeth Clarke, 390. 
Hannah, 102, 224. 
John, 5, 8, 9, 68, 140, 165, 185, 

189, 219, 239, 370, 400-403. 
Joseph,. 136, 224. 
Nathaniel, 390. 
Ruth, 114. 
Sarah, 136. 
Sarah E., 330. 
William, 3, 5, 8, 11, 20, 25, 30, 

50, 62, 64, 66, 68-70, 102, 107, 

108, 122, 125, 128, 131, 156, 
161, 167, 169, 174, 180, 194, 
204, 207, 209, 211-213, 217, 
218, 228, 229, 232, 234, 239, 
247-249, 254, 257, 266, 270, 
288, 292, 294, 298, 315, 319, 
322, 325, 334, 335, 343, 344, 
352, 353, 360, 392, 393, 395, 
400, 401, 405, 4o8, 409, 43L 

434- ( , 
Hauker, Elizabeth, 305. 
Havana, Cuba, 24, 124, 378. 
Haverhill, England, 409. 
Haverhill, Mass., 15, 20, 104, 123, 

224. 226, 280, 299, 441- 
Haverhill, N. H., 113, 300. 
Hawkes, Abigail, 224. 

Benjamin, 224. 
Elizabeth, 375- 
George Lathrop, 426. 

John, iot, 375- 
Lydia, toi. 
Mary Ellen, 426. 
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Hawkins, Gamaliel, 361. 
Martha, 4. 
Thomas, 367. 

Hayward. See Harwood. 
Haywood. See Harwood. 
Hazelton, Marston, 320. 

Sarah Fitch, 320. 
Healy, Sarah, 420. - 

William, 420. 
Heath, Mass., 116. 
Helen (schooner), 379. 
Hemenway, Sally, 377. 

Samuel, 377- 
Hempfield, Elizabeth, 312. 
Hempstead, L. I., 409. 
Henchman, Mary, 299. 
Henderson, Abigail, 44, 386. 

Benjamin, 386. 
Elizabeth, 43, 79, 332, 386. 
Joseph, 43. 
Peter, 386. 
Sarah Ellen, 426. 
William Cleveland, 426. 

Hendley, Elias, 201. 
Henfield, Anne, 102. 

Benjamin, 332. 
Edmund, 339, 340. 348, 364, 387. 
Elizabeth, 21. 
Joseph, 102, 339. 
Martha, 124. 
Mary, 78, 332, 387- 
Sarah, 103. 
William, 21. 

Henstredge, England, 321 
Henstredge, Ireland, 321. 
Henville, Amanda Malvina, 104. 
Herbert (Harbutt), Elizabeth, 37, 

236, 325- 
John, 31, 37, 101, 193, 309, 3«5- 
Mary, 82, 385. 

Hercules (ship), 62, 306. 
Heresy, 49- 
Herd, John, 146. 

Mary, 146. 
Hero (schooner), 378. 
Herod. See Harwood. 
Herrick, Edith, 162, 376, 411, 414. 

Elizabeth, 163, 411. 
Ephraim, 403, 411, 417. 
Henry, 6, 9, 10, 188, 208, 213, 

216, 231, 282, 386, 402, 410, 
411, 414, 417. 

John, 411. 
Joseph, 439. 
Lydia, 411, 414. 
Mary, 42, 116, 411, 414. 
Susanna, 114, 386. 
Zachariah, 42, 158, 283, 417. 

Herron, Love, 45. 
Susan, 46. 

Hersome, Christopher, 152. 
Mary, 152. 

Hewes. See Hughes. 
Hewson (Hughson), John, 235. 
Hibbard, Abigail, 15. 

Elizabeth, 15, 134. 
Hannah, 15. 
Joan, 15. 
Joanna, 15. 
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Lebanon Springs, N. Y., 380. 
Lechford, Thomas, 81, 85. 
Ledra, William, 247-250, 262, 265, 

266. 
Lee, Deborah, 20. 

Elizabeth, 425. 
Richard, 425. 
Sarah, 82. 
Thomas, 20. 

Lefavor, Hannah, 55- 
Lydia, 210. 

“Legacy” of Hugh Peter, 88, 89. 
Legg, Elizabeth, 200. 

John, 78, 179, 197, 199, 200. 
Legg’s hill, 26, 343. 
Lemon, Hannah, 386. 

Mary, 142, 418. 
Robert, 9, 142, 232, 310, 403* 

Leonard, Isaac, 161. 
Mary, 161. 

Lester, Sarah, 40. 
Letters, 16, 18, 46, 80, 81, 87, 150, 

262, 268, 287. 
Le Vallois, Frances, 106. 
Leveret, John, 222, 238, 239, 351- 
Lewis, Abraham, 369. 

Alonzo, 124. 
Esther Ann, 124. 
Ethel Appleton, 118. 
Isaac, 93- 
John Hart, 118. 

Lewis, continued, 
Mary, 93, 295. 
Priscilla, 187. 

Lexington, Mass., 163, 377. 
Lexington, Battle of, 32, 44, 5^, 

114, 377-. 
Lightfoot, William, 107. 
Lighthouse, 103. 
Lincoln, Mass., H4- 
Lindall, Abigail, 286, 298, 299. 

Bethiah, 135, 299. 
Caleb, 298. 
Elizabeth, 38, 299. 
Hannah, 299. 
James, 38, 286, 298, 299, 433. 
Mary, 286, 298, 299, 328. 
Nathaniel, 298. 
Rachel, 299. 
Sarah, 286, 298, 299. 
Timothy, 7, 9, 135, 298, 299, 

356, 370, 401, 403. 
Veren, 299. 

Lindsey (Lindsay, Linsey), Con¬ 
tent, 76. 

Mary, 300. 
Naomi, 271. 
Sarah, 76. ' 

Linen manufacture, 100. 
Lion (ship), 75, 366. 
Lion (Lyon), John, 2, 47, 179, 197- 
Lion’s Whelp (ship), 366. 
Liquor, 5, 25, 34, 69, 73, 100, 184, 

189, 212. 
Liston, Nicholas, 3, 47- 
Littlefield, Edmund, 2. 

Elizabeth, 2. 
Keziah, 23. 
Rebecca, 2. 

Livermore, Mr., 407. 
Locker, Elizabeth, 223. 

George, 39, 160, 161, 204. 
Lydia, 39, 204. 

Lodi, Cal., 125. 
Log bridge, 394- 
London, England, 3, 14, 18, 22, 25, 

29, 3i, 52, 60, 88, 135, HO, 
163, 166, 167, 186, 193, 198, 
201, 321, 332, 351, 359, 360, 
363, 366, 368, 386, 388, 444- 

Long, Eleanor, 178. 
Ellen, 178. 

Long Hill, 206, 312. 
Long Island, N. Y., 60. 
Longbottom, Thomas, 313. 
Longham, 154, 226. 
Look (Looke). Elizabeth, 187. 

Jonathan, 146. 
Mary, 145, 146. 
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Loomis, John, 10, 160, 282. 
Mary, 282. 

Looney, John, 168. 
William, 168, 169. 

Lord, Dorothy, 122, 386. 
Emeline, 330. 
Martha Clark, 331. 
Miriam, 390. 
Richard, 360 
Robert, 230. 
Samuel, 331. 
Susan Harris, 330. 
William, 3, 9, 10, 31, 68, 91, 107, 

137, 155, 180, 226, 282, 301, 
386, 398, 433, 434. 

Lords of Trade, 351. 
Lord’s Increase (ship), 367. 
Lost goods, 74. 
Lothrop. . See Lathrop. 
Louisburg, C. B., 22. 

Expedition against, 22. 
Louisville, Ky., 306. 
Love (Luff), Bridget, 15, 411, 412. 

John, 15,. 231, 322 
Lovell, Alexander, 178. 

Elizabeth, 178. 
Thomas, 98, 99. 

Lovett, Abigail, 70. 
Agnes, 70. 
Benjamin, 70. 
Bethiah, 70, 411. 
Elizabeth, 70, 425. 
Hezekiah, 423. 
John, 6, 70, 98, 99, 120, 159. *70, 

203, 417. 
Joseph, 70. 
Josiah, 70. 
Mary, 70, 71, 411, 414 
Samuel, 70. 
Simon, 70. 
Susanna, 70. 
Thomas, 70. 

Lowell, John, 359. 
Rebecca, 230. 

Lowell, Mass., 237. 
Lowell Island, 237. 
Lowestoft, England, 42. 
Lowther, Elizabeth, 375. 

John, 375- _ 
Luckin. William, 122, 200. 
Lucv (ketch), 367. 
Luff. See Love. 
Lufkin, Mary, 103. 

Sarah. 330. 
Lumm.vs, Edward, 244. 
Lunenburg, Mass., no, 115, 134, 

IM, 323. 
Luscomb, Elizabeth, 45, 79. 

Luscomb, continued, 
Hannah, 319. 
Lydia, 123. 
Samuel, 123, 319. 
Susannah, 45. 
William, 45. 

Luther, Martin, 24. 
Nathan, 24. 
Polly, 24. 

Lutwyche, Lawrence, 299. 
Sarah, 286, 299. 

Luxor, George, 213. 
Hannah, 213. 

Lyde, Edward, 38. 
Susanna, 38, 357. 

Lyman, Charlotte, 385. 
Lyme, Conn., 123. 
Lyme, England, 86. 
Lynde, Benjamin, 339, 340. 

Hannah, 340. 
Mary, 339, 340. 
William, 339, 340. 

Lyndeborough, N. H., 93, 113, 116, 

139- 
Lyndhurst, Lord, 317. 
Lyndon, Augustine, 369. 
Lynn, Mass., 4, 22-24, 30, 40-42, 

50, 54, 55, 57, 62, 66-70, 76, 
103, 105, 109, no, 124, 132, 
134, 137, 140, 143-145, 169, 
187, 193, 194, 197, 201, 228, 
231-233, 271, 273, 280, 288, 
294, 299-301, 308, 311, 330, 
332, 336, 375, 380, 383, 404, 
427- 

Bounds of, 66. 
Lynnfield, Mass., 66, 112, 144, 210. 
Lyon. See Lion. 

MABBETT, Mary, 56. 
Maber, Mary, 376. 
Macall, Duncan, 213. 
Macarter, John, 391. 

Rebecca, 391. 
MacGregor, Hannah, 384. 

John, 384. 
Machias, Me., 170. 
Mackcarwithe, Abigail. 146. 

James, 146. 
Mackerel Cove, 3, 70, 71, 99, 120, 

127, 140, 158, 173, 175, t8o, 
184, 203, _20J, 206. 

Mackey, Daniel, 340. 
Esther, 339. 
Margaret, 92. 
William, 92. 

Mackintire. Joseph, 317. 
Philip, 295. 
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Mackintire, continued, 
"Rpfoproa S'? ?qc 

Mackmillion ’(Mackmallin, Mack- 
mallon, Mackmillian), Abigail, 

236. 
Alexander, 236. 
Allister, 235, 323, 399- 
•Elizabeth, 235, 236, 323. 
Eunice, 236. 
Hannah, 236. 
James, 82. 
John, 139, 236. 
Jonathan, 23, 236. 
Joseph, 236. 
Kezia, 236. 
Mary, 82, 236. 
Preserved, 139. 
Rachel, 23, 236. 
Rebecca, 236. 
Sarah, 236. * 
Timothy, 236. 

Madeira, Island of, 360, 362. 
Madockawando, 349- 
Magee, Susan, 103. 
Maine, 106. 
Maine (ship), 379. 
Malcolm, Ann Sophia, 115. 
Malden, Mass., 46, 134, 426, 427. 
Malloon, Daniel, 340. 
Manhattas, 362. 
Manchester, Mass., 13, 79, 103, 123, 

133, I5E 172-175, I9E 197, 
206, 214, 394, 408. 

Incorporation of, 174. 
Manning, Abigail, 390. 

Anna, 389. 
Anna Louisa, 390. 
Anstice, 388, 389. 
Benjamin, 236, 389. 
Daniel C., 96. 
Daniel Cogswell, 390. 
Elizabeth, 389. 
Elizabeth Clarke, 390. 
Frances Wilkins, 390. 
Francis Brown, 390. 
George, 390. 
George Francis, 390. 
Hannah, 223, 236, 389. 
Jacob, 389. 
Jane, 389. 
Joanna, 389. 
John, 389, 390. 
Joseph, 223, 389, 390. 
Judith,, 390. 
Katherine, 389. 
Louisa, 390. 
Marcellina R., 390. 
Margaret, 389. 

Manning, continued, 
Maria, 390. 
Maria Miriam, 390. 
Miriam, 390. 
Mary, 383, 389, 390. 
Mary Elizabeth, 390. 
Miriam, 390. 
Nicholas, 9, i59, 32i, 35°, 37°, 

388, 389, 401, 402. 
Priscilla Miriam, 390. 
Rebecca, 389, 39°- 
Rebecca Dodge, 390 
Richard, 388-390. 
Richard Clarke, 390, 391. 
Robert, 389, 390. 
Ruth, 389. 
Samuel, 389, 390. 
Sarah, 389, 390. 
Sarah Elizabeth, 390. 
Susan, 390. 
Thomas, 389, 390. 
William, 390. 

Man-of-War (ketch), 367, 370. 
Mansfield, Conn., 23. 
Mansfield, Andrew, 122. 

Anne, 102. 
Hannah, 24. 
Isaac, 45- 
Jonathan, 102. 
Lucretia Derby, 381. 
Lucy, 137. 
Margaret, 45. 
Mary, 122. 
Matthew, 24. 
Paul, 240, 424. 
Sarah, 44. 

Manufacture, 220. 
Mappor, William, 301, 415. 
Maranham, 106. 
Marble, Daniel, 23, 111. 

Emma, 297. 
Esther, hi. 
Hannah, no. 
John, 24. 
Kezia, 113. 
Mary, 23. 
Ruth, 24. 

Marblehead, Mass., 2, 3, 13, 20, 22, 
23, 27, 28, 34, 40, 45, 47, 48, 65, 
66, 75, 77-79, 97, 98, 100-102, 
107, 119-122, 124, 125, 133, 
139, 141, 149, 156, 157, 161, 
166, 176-179, 181, 185, 187, 
196-202, 216, 219, 223, 232, 
237, 241, 279, 300, 312, 320, 
323, 328-332, 340, 342-346, 
349, 35L 352, 361, 377, 382, 
383, 387, 403, 405, 425. 
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Marblehead, continued, 
Marblehead gate, 26. 
Records, 196. 
Church, 200, 202. 

Margaret (ketch), 367. 
Markets, 35, 189. 
Marckham, Daniel, 391. 

Deborah, 391. 
Marks, George, 313. 

John, 123. 
Sarah, 123. 

Marriage, 72. 
Marsh,-, 70. 

Bethiah, 383. 
Elizabeth, 277. 
Emma Frances, 83. 
John, 205, 228. 
Katherin, 217. 
Mfiry, 216, 383. 
Ruth, 376. 
Samuel, 277. 
Susannah, 205. 
Zachariah, 383, 403. 

Marshall, Edmond, 3, 62, 213. 
Marshalls, 182, 400. 
Marshfield, Mass., 79. 
Marsters (Masters), Benjamin, 216. 

Deborah, 213, 216. 
Edward, 216. 
Elizabeth, 216. 
Francis, 216. 
Hannah, 216. 
John, 213, 216. 
Jonathan, 216. 
Moses, 216. 
Nathaniel, 216. 
Samuel, 216. 

Marston, Abigail, 78. 
Alice, 78. 
Benjamin, 7, 9, 78, 79, 358. 
Bethiah, 79, 119. 
Damaris, 44. 
Deliverance, 218. 
Elizabeth, 78, 79, 218. 
Ephraim, 78. 
Hannah, 78, 218. 
James, 78 . 
Jeffs, 79. 
Jephah, 79. 
John. 7, 9, 20, 78, 79, 159, l6o> 

178, 193, 240, 369, 402, 4°3- 
Joseph, 78, 79. 
Lucy, 79. 
Lydia, 78, 313. 
Manasseh, 7, 9, 10, 78, 160, 240, 

321, 350, 358, 402, 403, 434- 
Margaret, 79. 
Mary, 78, 79, 123, 218. 

Marston, continued, 
Mehitable, 78, 79. 
Mercy, 20, 78, 79. 
Miriam, 79. 
Patience, 78, 79. 
Penelope, 79. 
Ruth, 78, 79, 328. 
Samuel, 78. 
Sarah, 78, 79, 218. 
Susanna, 78, 79. 
Thomas, 78, 79. 
William, 218, 255. 
Winslow, 79. 
Zachariah, 79. 

Martha and Mary (ketch), 367. 
Martha’s Vineyard, 137, 240. 
Martin, Abigail, 374. 

David, 137. 
Elizabeth, 21. 
Jacob, 45- 
Lucy, 45- 
Mary, 137. 

Martin’s Vineyard Sound, 367. 
Mary (ketch), 367. 
Mary (sloop), 367. 
Mary and Eliza (brig), 384. 
Mary and Jane (ship), 29. 
Mary and John (vessel), 149, 252. 
Mary Ann (ship), 30, 71, 315, 368. 
Maryland, 278, 360, 372. 
Mascoll, Anna, 179. 

Benjamin, 178. 
Bethiah, 178. 
Christopher, 178. 
David, 178. 
Eleanor, 178. 
Elizabeth, 178. 
Ellen, 178. 
Hannah, 178, 179, 383- 
Hester, 178. 
James, 178, 179- 
John, 75, i/8, 3io, 322, 383, 402, 

403- 
Jonathan, 178. 
Joseph, 178, 179. 
Mary, 178, 179, 224, 333- 
Mehitabel, 178. 
Mercy, 179- 
Nicholas, 178. 
Patience, 178, 277. 
Preserved, 178. 
Ruth, 178, 179- 
Sarah, 75, 178, 179- 
Stephen, 178, 179. 
Thomas, 178, 179, 303- 

Mason, Abigail, 375. 
Amos, 4°- 
Elias, 9, 194, 215, 227, 234, 290. 
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Mason, continued, 
Elizabeth, 194. 
Hannah, 194, 234. 
Jane, 40, 194. 
John, 234, 235. 
Jonathan, 313. 
Martha, 194. 
Mary, 194. 
Preserved, 236. 
Sarah, 4, 194. 
Susannah, 224, 313. 
Thomas, 236, 375. 

Massachusetts Horticultural Soci¬ 
ety, 390. 

-Massey, Jeffrey, 5, 7-io, 02, 66, 
97, 99, 100, 119, 122, 141, 151, 
152, 158, 189, 200, 212, 219, 
227, 231, 237, 302, 308, 401, 
402, 408. 

John, 6, 99, 159, 160, 240, 267, 
398, 402, 403. 

Louisa, 390. 
Mary, 305. 
Nathaniel, 23. 
Rachel, 23. 
Rebecca, 133. 
Sarah, 101. 

Masts for the King, 399. 
Masury, Elizabeth, 24. 

Elizabeth P., 315. 
Margaret, 332. 
Martin, 360. 
Mary, 104. 
Richard, 387. 
Sarah, 45, 387. 
Susanna, 102. 
William, 102. 

Matanzas, Cuba, 105, 378. 
Mather, Cotton, 285. 
Mathews, John, 236. 

Sarah, 236. 
Mathewson, Catheran, 174. 
Matlock, England, 19. 
Maugerville, N. B., 377. 
Maule, Deliverance, 271. 

Elizabeth, 271. 
John, 27.1. 
Joseph, 271. 
Margaret, 271. 
Naomi, 271. 
Peleth, 133, 271. 
Sarah, 133'. 271. 
Susanna, 271. 
Thomas, 7, 64, 160, 271-275, 402, 

43^- 

Maury. See Morey. 
Maverick, Mary, 139. 

Moses, 2, 10, 13, 27, 34, 47, 176, 

Maverick, continued, 
179, 181, 196-200, 346, 399, 
418. 

Sarah, 112. 
Maybury, Hannah, 139. 
Mayfield, Sarah, 233. 
Mayflower (ship), 1, 2, 368. 
Mayhew, Thomas, 240. 
Mayo, Eliza Ann., 138, 379. 

Josiah, 138, 379. 
McDonald, Gertrude A., 138. 
Mclntire, Esther, 320. 

John, 376. 
Lois, 376. 

Meachum, Goodman, 160. 
Alice, 391. 
Bethia, 391. 
Deborah, 391. 
Ebenezer, 391. 
Hannah, 391. 
Ichabod, 391. 
Isaac, 391. 
Israel, 391. 
Jeremiah, 10, 160, 252, 391. 
John, 391. 
Jonathan, 391. 
Joseph, 391. 
Lydia, 391. 
Margaret, 391. 
Mary, 252, 391. 
Priscilla, 391. 
Rebecca, 391. 
Rhoda, 391. 
Sarah, 76, 391. 

Mears, Abigail, 313. 
Medford, Mass., 105, 116, 117, 141. 
Medical practice, 292, 323. 
Meekins, Thomas, 263, 264. 
Meeting house, 93, 228, 419, 43°" 

434- 
Care of, 64, 434. 
Enlargement of, 62-64. 
hatch, 157. 
Heating of, 430. 
Seating of, 228, 430-434. 
Quaker, 273. 

Melcomb Regis, Dorchestershire, 
England, 327. 

Melzard, Ann B., 331. 
Mendon, Mass., 43. 55. 76, 324, 

339-. 
Mercantile Bank, 57. 
Merchants National Bank, 385. 
Merriam, Elizabeth, 304. 
Merrill, Abbie C., 39. 
Merritt, Mary, 100. 

Nicholas, 2, 100, 196, 197. 
Sarah, 24. 
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Merriweather, Edward, 368. 
Metcalf, Elizabeth, 425. 

Ruth, 20. 
Thomas, 20. 

Methuen, Mass., 134. 
Micklefield, William, 340, 341. 
Middleton, Mass., 32, 27, no, 115, 

125, 188, 206, 277, 294-298, 
300, 377, 394, 396, 441. 

Middleton, Richard, 233. 
Mighill, Elizabeth, 392. 

Samuel, 392. 
Milborne, Peter, 360. 
Miles, Abigail, 233. 

Elizabeth, 233. 
Exercise, 233. 
Joseph, 233, 281, 399. 
Mary, 233. 
Sarah, no, 233. 
Susanna, 233. 

Military, 68, 156, 161, 169, 180, 
206, 290, 322, 349. 

Milk, Elizabeth, 312. 
John, 312, 313. 
Mary, 312. 
Sarah, 312. 

Mill lane, 190. 
Millbridge, Me., 377, 378 
Miller, John, 229. 
Millett, Elizabeth, 141. 

Rebecca Chapman, 125. 
Mills, 11, 68, 99, 108, 132, 141, 

155, 158, 166, 171, 185, 189, 
190, 199, 231, 336, 429- 

Grist, 99, 185, 189, 190, 199, 330- 
Saw, 68, 429. 

Mills, Elizabeth Ropes, 380. 
Robert, 380. 

Millord, John, 9. 
Milod, Frances K., 41. 
Milton, Mass., 385. 
Miner, George R., 381, 382. 

Mary Stocker, 381. 
Mlingo beach, 316. 
Ministry, 76, 289. 
Minot, N. D., 118. 
Mint, 214. 
Misery Islands, 240, 241. 
“Missive”. “The King’s”, 268. 
Mitchell, Elizabeth, 143. 

Lydia, 278. 
Mary Jane, 381. 
Winfield S., 381. 

Mobile, Ala., 384, 425. 
Money, 214, 290, 327. 
Monk, General, 14- 
Montrose, Cal., 138, 382. 
Moody, Deborah. 142. 

Moody, continued, 
Henry, 142. 

Moore (Moor, More, Moores), 
Widow, 75, 166. 

Caleb, 1, 2, 193. 
Christian, 1, 2. 
Ellen, 1. 
Jane, 1, 
Jasper, 1. 
John, 156, 172. 
Joshua, 1. 
Mary, 187. 
Richard, 1, 2, 9, 10, 75, 287, 348, 

356, 37L 373, 398, 403- 
Samuel, 1, 2. 
Sarah, 2. 
Susanna, 1. 
Thomas, 1, 2, 145, 172, 403. 

Moors, The, 350, 
Moreshed, Benjamin, 298. 

Sarah, 298. 
Morey (Maury), Roger, 9, 13, 19, 

116, 304. > 
Morgan, David, 364. 

Deborah, 133. 
Joseph, 133. 
Moses, 319. 
Robert, 3, 8, 203, 215, 221, 410, 

411, 4i4, 417. 
Moriarty, Deborah, 137. 

Thomas, 137. 
Morong, Jemima, 319. 

John, 45- 
Martha, 45. 
Thomas, 319. 

Morrill, Esther, 98. 
Green, 98. 

Morris, Ill., 104. 
Morris, W., 269. 
Morse, Alice F., 382. 

Elizabeth, 139. 
Leopold, 400. 
Lillian, 427. 
Thomas, 139- 

Mortlake, Conn., 404. 
Moseley, Elizabeth, 306. 
Moses, Eleazer, 101. 

Hannah, 101. 
Joseph, 310. 

Mosier, Isabel, 398. 
Mott, Cassandra, 54- 

Harriet Elizabeth, 384. 

Jacob, 54- 
John N., 384. 

Mould. Mary. 280. 
Thomas, 280, 4°2. 

Moulton, Batt. 226. 
Elizabeth, 82, 193, 210. 
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Moulton, continued, 
Hannah, 226, 276. 
James, 9, 75. 
John, 193. 
Josiah, 124. 
Margaret, 31. 
Margaret Ellen, 381. 
Mary, 43, 124. 
Robert, 3, 4, 9, H, 43, 130, 165, 

193, 204, 217, 438. 
Samuel, 82. 
William, 31. 

Moulton's brook, 192. 
Moulton’s Misery Island, 240. 
Mountegue, Robert, 192. 
Mowle, Edward, 421. 
Mowser (Mousar), John, 73, 76. 
Mudgett, Thomas, 361. 
Mulford, Hannah, 53. 
Mnnnion, Edward, 23. 

Sarah, 23. 
Munroe, Hannah, 163. 
Murphy, Annie E., 138. 
Murray, Mary, 105, 224. 

Sarah, 224. 
Thomas, 224. 

Muscat, 225. 
Musgrave, Lydia, 230. 
Muskeet, Bridget, 205. 
Mussey, Judith, 56. 

Ruth, 55. 
Mylord, Harriet, 138. 

NAHANT, Mass., 318. 
Nancy (brig), 315. 
Nantucket, Mass., 3, 223, 264. 
Narbonne, Sarah, 425. 
Narragansett War, 299. 
Nashua, N. H., 138. 
Nathaniel (ship), 313, 325. 
Naumkeag Trust Company, 306. 
Navy, 103, 125. 
Neal (Neale), Abial, 124. 

Abigail, 123. 
Alice H., 125. 
Anne, 123. 
Annis, 123. 
Anstiss, 123. 
Benjamin, 123, 124. 
Benjamin Baldwin, 124, 125. 
Betsey, 123. 
Caroline A., 125. 
Caroline Frothingham, 215. 
Catherine, 76. 
Charles H., 125. 
David, 123, 124. 
David Augustus, 124, 125. 
Deborah, 123. 

Neal, continued, 
Dorothy, 122. 
Elizabeth, 82, 123-125. 
Elizabeth Boardman, 125. 
Elizabeth Matingini Whittridge, 

125. 

Esther Ann, 124. 
Eunice, 123, 124. 
George Harding, 125. 
George L., 125. 
Hannah, 103, 123-125. 
Hannah C., 125. 
Harriet Charlotte, 125. 
Henry, 125. 
James Monroe, 125. 
Jane, 124. 
Jeremiah, 9, 10, 39, 122, 123, 133, 

159, 160. 
Jeremy, 159. 
John, 6, 9, 10, 122, 123, 132, 

158. 167, 232, 366, 403. 
Jonathan, 103, 122-124, 272. 
Joseph, 122-125, 160, 388. 
Joseph W., 125. 
Judith, 123, 388. 
Katherine, 123. 
Louisa, 125 . 
Lydia, 122-124, 133. 
Margaret J., 124. 
Margaret Maria, 125. 
Martha, 123-125. 
Mary, 39, 122-124-, 339- 
Mary Ellen, 125. 
Mehitable, 124. 
Mlercy, 123. 
Nathan Ward, 124. 
Rebecca, 123. 
Rebecca Chapman, 125. 
Robert, 76, 123. 
Robert Buffum, 124. 
Rufus B., 125. 
Sarah, 122-124, 133. 
Sarah Ann, 124. 
Sarah H., 125. 
Theodore Augustus, 125. 
Theodore Frederick, 124, 125. 
Thomas, 123. 
William, 124. 
William Francis, 125. 
William Henry, 124. 
William Silver, 125. 

Neck, The, 6, 289, 318, 332. 
Necke, John, 373. 
Needham, Abigail, 210, 211. 

Ann, 210, 252, 254. 
Anna, 210, 254. 
Anthony, 210, 240, 247, 252, 253. 
Benjamin, 210. 
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Needham, continued, 
Daniel, 40, 210. 
Dorothy, 210. 
Eliza Peele, 211, 379. 
Elizabeth, 210. 
George, 210. 
Hannah, 210. 
Humphrey, 210. 
Isaac, 210. 
Jasper, 43, 210. 
John, 210, 211. 
Judith, 375. 
Lydia, 210. 
Martha, 210. 
Mary, 43, 210, 211. 
Molly, 211. 
Nathaniel, 210, 211. 
Provided, 210. 
Rachel, 210. 
Rebecca, 210. 
Robert, 210. 
Ruth, 210. 
Sally, 211. 
Sarah, 40, 210, 211, 299. 
Seeth, 210, 329. 
Stephen, 210. 
Thomas, 210, 211, 329. 
William, 210. 

Negroes, 37. 
Nelson, Elizabeth, in. 
Netherlands, 346. 
Neves, Goodie, 231. 
Nevis, 29, 347. 
New Boston, N. H., 330. 
New Brighton, N. Y., 106. 
New Brunswick, 377. 
“New England’s Persecutors”, etc., 

268. 
New Hampshire, 211. 
New Haven, Conn., 108, 128, 306, 

347, 361. 
New London, Conn., 2, 14, 17. 
New Orleans, La., 104, 211, 378. 
New Salem, Mass., 54, 113, 114, 

300, 325, 391. ■ 
New York, N. Y., 21, 53, 71, 82, 

83, 104, 106, 116, 144, I9L 
225, 347, 370, 378-381, 384, 
389- 

Newbury, Mass., 45, 47, 62, 109- 
in, 114, 120, 149, 151, 166, 
187, 218, 226, 227, 230, 253, 
352, 392, 420, 441. 

Newbury, Sarah, 3. 
Newburyport, Mass., 115, I39- 
Newcastle, Pa., 123. 
Newfoundland, 85, 348, 3^4- 
Newgate, England, 90. 

Newgate, continued, 
prison, 258. 

Newhall, Amos, 55. 
Elizabeth, 24, 425. 
Gilbert, 95. 
Margaret, 55. 

Newman, Antipas, 14, 17, 414. 
Elizabeth, 14, 17. 
Robert, 211, 212. 
Ruth, 278. 

Newmarket, England, 86. 
Newmarket, N. H., 21, 224, 381. 
Newport, R. I., 24, 39, 40, 60, 136, 

172, 236. 
Newton, Mass., 83. 
Nicholate, Charles, 403. 
Nichols, Abigail, 277. 

Andrew, 103, 396. 
Ann, 276. 
Anne, 123. 
Cassandra, 56. 
David, 24. 
Ebenezer, 22, 276. 
Elizabeth, 22, 32, 276. 
George, 34. 
Hannah, 47, 295. 
Isaac, 295. 
John, 22, 47, 295. 
Lydia, 47, 295, 297. 
Margaret, 297. 
Martha Ann, 24. 
Mary, 40,. 47, 252. 
Mary Holyoke, 105. 
Priscilla, 268. 
Sarah, 295. 
Stephen, 56. 
Thomas, 40, 276. 
William, 42, 47, 219, 252. 

Nichols brook, 206, 400. 
Nicholson, Christopher, 166. 

Edmund, 197. 
Edward, 166. 
Elizabeth, 166. 
Jane, 262. 
John, 166. 
Joseph, 166, 262-264, 266. 
Samuel, 166. 
Thomas, 166. 

Nick, Mary, 405. 
William, 405. 

Ning-po, China. 106. 
Nixon (Nicks), Elizabeth, 48, 73. 

Mathew, 48, 73, 74, 212. 
Nathan, 373. 

Noman’s, meadow, 185. 
Noonan, Mary, 105. 
Norfolk County, 145- 
Norman, Elizabeth, 139. 
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Norman, continued, 
John, 9, 173, 197, 200, 240, 347, 

398, 408, 432. 
Richard, 3, 109, 130, 139, 155* 

197- 
Norris, Abiel, 82. 

Ada L., 83. 
Ann, 82. 
Caroline Agnes, 83. 
Caroline M., 83. 
Charles, 83. 
Charles Henry, 83. 
Charles S., 83. 
Clara C., 83. 
Dolly, 83. 
Dorothy, 82, 432. 
Edward, 82, 83, 9I-93> I25, x58, 

166, 177, 185, 192, 216, 228, 
229, 248, 285, 293, 346, 402. 

Eliza H., 83. 
Elizabeth, 82, 83. 
Elizabeth Holman, 83. 
Emma Frances, 83. 
Esther, 82. 
George, 82, 83. 
George Henry, 83. 
Hannah M., 83. 
Helen M., 83. 
Henry, 82. 
Henry L., 83. 
Henry Lee, 82, 83. 
James, 82. 
Jeremiah, 82, 83. 
Joanna, 82. 
John, 82, 83, 402. 
Judith, 82. 
Lizzie, 83. 
Lydia, 82. 
Mary, 82. 
Rebecca, 82. 
Remember, 82. 
Sarah, 82. 
Sarah Ann, 83. 
Sarah K., 83. 
Thomas, 82. 
Vivian May, 83. 
William M., 83. 
William S., 83. 

Norris brook, 234. 
North Andover, Mass,. 396. 
North Beverly meeting house, 397. 
North Carolina, 306. 
North Collins, N. Y., 56. 
North field, 12, 42, 133, I4L 157- 

161, 215, 218, 227, 404, 422. 
North Reading, Mass., 376. 
North River, 308. 
North Yarmouth, 55. 

Northampton, Mass., 106. 
Northampton, N. J., 54. 
Northey, John, 197. 
Northport, Me., 139* 
Norton, Mass., 162. 
Norton, George, 8-10, 21, 173, 174- 

John, 159, 256, 259, 260, 288. 
Joseph, 2. 
Susanna, 2. 

Norwalk, Conn., 65. 
Norwich, England, 49- 
Nottinghamshire, England, 57. 
Nourse (Nurse), Aaron, 144, 145* 

Abigail, 143, 144- 
Allen, 144. 
Amee, 144. 
Amos, 144. 
Anna, 144. 
Benjamin, 143, 144, 387. 
Caleb, 144. 
Catherine Elizabeth Ellison, 145. 
Cynthia B., 145. 
Daniel, 143. 
Debby, 144. 
Deborah, 143, 144- 
Dorcas C., 145- 
Dorothy, 143. 
Dorothy K., 145. 
Ebenezer, 143, 144. 
Ede, 144. 
Edith H., 145- 
Edward, 144- 
Eli, 144. 
Elijah, 144. 
Elizabeth, 113, 115, I43> 144- 
Elizabeth F. P., 145. 
Elizabeth Matingini Whittridge, 

I2> 
Elizabeth Prince, 145. 
Eunice. 113, 143, T44 163- 
Francis, 9, 10, 100, 113, 143, 

144, 149, 158, 322, 404- 
Frederick Rand, 125. 
George, 143, 144- 
Hannah, 143, 144. 
Harrie K., 145. 
Harriet Matilda, 145. 
Harriet S., 145- 
Henry Prince, 145. 
Howes, 144. 
Jacob, 144. 
James, 143- 
Jane, 144. 
John, 143, 144- 
Jonathan, 143. 
Joseph, 143, 144. 
Lucy H., 145. 
Lydia, 143- 
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Nourse, continued, 
Margaret, 143, 144, 387. 
Martha, 143, 144. 
Mary, 143, 144. 
Mary G., 145. 
Michel, 144. 
Nathaniel, 143. 
Peter, 144. 
Pheb'e, 143, 144. 
Philip, 144. 
Rea, 144. 
Rebecca, 21, 143, 144, 188, 433- 
Roger, 144. 
Rufus, 144. 
Sally, 144. 
Samuel, 143, 144. 
Sarah, 115, 14 3, 144- 
Tomasin, 143. 
Vesta S., 145. 
William, 144, 145. 

Nova Scotia, 113. 
Noyes, Nicholas, 46. 

Thomas, 209. 

OAKES, Caleb, 165. 
Elizabeth, 204. 

Oakham, Mass., 325. 
Oatly, Adam, 198. 
Ober, Abigail, 133. 

Andrew, 124. 
Anne, 133. 
Hannah, 425. 
Mary, 116. 
Sarah Ann, 124. 
Thomas Woodbury, 425. 

Odell, Benjamin, 134. 
Sarah, 134. 

Odlin, Elisha, 28. 
Off at, Nathan, 44. 

Rachel, 44. 
Offfey, Thomas, 352. 
Old Corner Bookstore, 426. 
Old Ladies’ Home, 385. 
Oleron, Laws of, 365. 
Oliver, Captain, 269. 

Benjamin Lynde, 340, 341. 
Bridget, 181. 
James, 259. 
Mary, 49, 51, 156, 216, 340. 
Peter, 340, 341. 
Ruth, 41, 305. 
Sarah, 340. 
Thomas, 9, 49, 5L 61, 107, 181, 

- 199, 208, 399. 
Orange, Hannah, 20. 

Robert, 20. 
Orchard, Endecott’s, 189. 
Ordinaries, 22, 24, 67, 74, 100, 189. 

Ordinaries, continued, 
Downing’s, 22. 
Hewes, 67. 
Preston’s 22. 
Procter’s, 24. 
Sandin’s, 100. 

Ormes (Orms), Elizabeth, 216. 
John, 228, 240. 

Ormsby, England, 31, 78. 
Orne, Elizabeth, 112. 

John, 9, 320. 
Jonathan, 112, 136. 
Margaret, 236. 
Mary, 136. 
Samuel, 95. 
Sarah, 320. 
Timothy, 94, 95, 307. 

Orr, Susanna, 55. 
Osborne (Osborn), Abigail, 163. 

Alexander, 31, 33. 
Amos, 55. 
Ann Hendfield, 137. 
Cornelia Allen, 426. 
Eleanor, 54, 376. 
Elizabeth, 76, 97. 
Eunice, 163. 
Frederick Manton, 426. 
Hannah, 40, 56. 
Isaac, 124. 
John, 40, 54, 97- 
Jonathan, 387. 
Joseph, 3'25. 
Lydia, 55, 124, 387. 
Margaret, 40. 
Mercy, 54. 
Nancy, 41. 
Patience, 76. 
Rachel. 325. 
Samuel, 54, 76. 
Sarah, 31, 33. 
Thomas, 340. 
William, 7, 9, 137, 160. 

Osgood, Charles, 105. 
Hannah, 303, 313. 
Henry, 382. 
Joseph, 102. 
Laura Titus, 382. 
Lucretia, 102. 
Mary Shepard, 38. 
Nathaniel, 303, 313. 
Peter, 356. 
Susanna, 105. 

Oswego, N. Y., 112. 
Ottignon, Lucy Ann, 387. 
Owen, Margaret, 387. 

William, 387- 
Oxford, Mass., 389. 
Oxman, William, 396. 
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Oyster Bay, L. I., 83. 
Oyster River, N. H., 266, 391. 

PACY, Katherine, 42. 
Nicholas, 42, 60, 149. 

Paddock, Deborah, 2. 
Zechariah, 2. 

Page, Francis, 31. 
Hannah, 31. 
Hazleton, 46. 
Isaac, 253, 254. 
John, 164. 
Lucy, 31. 
Lydia, 113, 114. 
Margaret, 31, 155* 
Martha Ellen, 378. 
Mary, 31, 116. 
Mary Ann, 46. 
Mary J., 387. 
Rebecca, 31. 
Robert, 31. 
Sarah, 114, 164. 
Susanna, 31. 
Thomas, 31. 
Timothy, 113, 114- 

Paine (Payne), Mr., 206. 
Dorothy, 149. 
Elizabeth, 148, 149- 
Frank M., 382. 
Ida F., 382. 
John, 149. 
Mary, 71, 149, 383* 
Sarah, 149. 
Thomas, 62, 148, 149, 368, 403. 
William, 167, 199, 359- 

Palfrey (Palfray), Elizabeth, 77. 
Hannah, 319. 
Margaret, 328, 389. 
Peter, 8-10, 77, 107, 156, 194, 

301. 
Sarah, 117* 
Thomas, H7- 
Walter, 389. 

Palmer, Edward, 14. 
Lucy, 14. 
Mary, 141. 
Richard, 141. 

Para, Brazil, 379. 
Parker, Abraham, 224. 

Hannah, 224. 
Lawrence, 83. 
Vivian May, 83. 

Parkman, Deliverance, 7, 0, T83, 

184, -357, 363, 402. 
Mehitable, 38. 
Susanna, 183. 

Parlet, Mr., 390. 
Parlin, Hannah, 325. 

Parmiter, Benjamin, 30, 173- 
Parris, Elizabeth, 445. 

Samuel, 444, 445- 
Parrott, Abigail, 278. 

Abner, 278, 
Parsonage, Beverly, 407, 408. 

Salem, 276, 286, 
Parsons, Josiah, 21. 

Susannah, 21. 
Partridge, Emma Ann, 387. 
Pascataway, 16, 
Pasque, Sarah, 375. 
Patch, Abraham, 70. 

Benjamin, 71. 
Caroline, 380. 
Caroline M., 138. 
Edmond, 70. 
Elizabeth, 71, 203, 411, 414* 
Ethel Arnold, 331. 
Eunice, 70, 
Hannah, 203. 
James, 6, 71, 203, 231, 232, 408. 
John, 6, 10, 71, 154, 159, I79> 

203, 299, 402, 410. 
Maria, 71. 
Mary, 71, 203. 
Nicholas, 70, 71, 184, 194, 206, 

411, 414, 417, 418- 
Richard, 71. 
Sarah, 71. 
Stephen, 71. 
Thomas, 71. 
Warner P., 138. 
Warren P., 380. 
William, 71. 

Patient Betty (ketch), 368. 
Patten, David, 384. 

Sarah, 384. 
Patterson, Elizabeth B., 378. 

Mary, 382. 
Sarah, 106. 
William, 286. 
William B., 378. 

Pattin, Thomas, 140. 
Patty, Nathaniel, 283. 
Pauley, Benjamin, 185. 
Pawtucket, R. I., 34- 
Peabody, Mass., 3, 19, 23, 36, 44, 

47, 53, 56, 66, 76, 98, 99, 157. 
183, 193, 210, 221, 229, 234, 
244, 246, 248, 252, 257, 259, 
273, 30i, 318, 325, 332, 376, 
382, 419, 420, 423,■ 435- 

Peabody, Deborah, 224. 
Francis, 230. 
Hannah, hi. 
Mary, 134. 
Nathan, in. 
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Peabody, continued, 
Ruth, 134. 
Thomas, 134. 

Peach, John, 2, 47, 48, 179, 196- 
198, 200. 

Pearce (Pearse, Peirce, Pierce), 
Mr., 107. 

Abigail, 211. 
Abraham, 23. 
Calvin, 244. 
Elizabeth, 34, 378. 
Eunice, 236. 
George, 34. 
John, 236. 
Lewis, 426. 
Louisa Mansfield, 426. 
Marmaduke, 73. 
Mary, 23. 
Mercy, 78. 
Nathan, 34. 
Prudence S., 138. 
Rebecca, 378. 
Rebecca Allen, 378. 
Sally, 211. 
William, 361, 366, 368. 

Pease, Elizabeth, 319, 396. 
Gertrude, 197. 
Henry, 177, 197, 202. 
Isaac, 396. 
John, 11, 158-160, 402, 403. 
Nathaniel, 319. 
Robert, 99, 213, 322. 
Samuel, 367. 

Peaslee, Lydia, 20. 
Peck, John M., 384. 

Rebecca, 384. 
Sarah, 384. 
Thomas, 384. 

Peel (Peale, Peele), Elizabeth, 
224, 226. 

Eunice, 315. 
George, 261. 
Jonathan Willard, 384. 
Lydia, 45. 
Margaret, 141. 
Sarah Ann, 384. 
William, 224. 

Pelican (ship), 348. 
Pelican (sloop), 368. 
Pemaquid, 349. 
Pembroke, 187. 
Pembroke, England, 86. 
Penacook, N. H., 311. 
Penelope (ketch), 368. 
Penn, Robert, 43. 
Pennsylvania, 78, 122, 365, 368. 
Penny. Robert, 46. 
Penobscot River, 170. 

Pepin, James, 351. 
Pepperell, Mass., 315, 425. 
Pequot War, 374. 
Perambulation of town lines, 66, 

185. 
Perkins, Ada L., 39. 

Deborah, 391. 
Elizabeth, in. 
Harriet, 426. 
Harriet Maria, 380. 
Isaac, 329. 
John, 391. 
Joseph, 163. 
Mary, 163, 426. 
Olive, 329. 
William, in. 

Perley, Anna, 163. 
Aphia, 163. 
Asa, 163. 
Eliphalet, 163. 
Elizabeth, no. 
Eunice, no. 
Francis, no, 117. 
Huldah, no. 
Maria Adelia, 42. 
Rebecca, 112. 
Ruth, 117. 
Sarah, 117. 
Thomas, no. 

Perry, Abbie B., 331. 
Francis, 165, 180, 188, 194, 217. 

Perry’s wigwam, 207. 
Pester, William, 5, 30, 31, 99. 
Peter (Peters), Benjamin, 305. 

Deliverance, 80, 84, 86. 
Elizabeth, 80, 84. 
Gilbert, 361, 367. 
Hugh, 5, 14, 27, 47, 48, 52, 60, 

69, 72, 79-90, 91, 148, 150, 151, 
198, 304, 359- 

Sarah, 305. 
Peter’s pulpit, 151. 
Petford, Peter, 201. 
Pettingall, Joanna, 151. 

Mary, 47. 
Nathaniel, 151. 
Richard, 151, 165, 402. 

Petty, Peter, 349. 
Pew, George W., 315. 

Mary Ann, 315. 
Phelps, Abigail, 376. 

Christopher, 402. 
Elizabeth, 80, 84. 
Francis, 248. 
Hannah, 252, 260, 261. 
Henry, 119, 209, 248, 257, 304, 

313. 
John, 68, no. 
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Phelps, continued, 
Nicholas, 6, 234, 248, 251-257, 

260, 268. 
Rachel, 119. 
Samuel, 402. 

Philadelphia, Pa., 118, 271, 380, 
426. 

Phillips, Elizabeth, 70, 237. 
Hannah, 116. 
Henry, 237. 
Jacob, 32. 
John, 147, 149, 150. 
Lydia, 277. 
Richard, 70. 
Samuel, 233. 
Sarah, 32, 233. 
Stephen, 34. 

Philpot, Elizabeth, 425. 
John, 425. 

Phippen (Phippeny), Abbie B., 

331. 
Abbie L., 331. 
Abbie M., 331. 
Abiel, 328. 
Abigail, 102, 305, 328, 329. 
Alice M., 382. 
Amme, 328. 
Ann, 327, 328, 330. 
Ann B., 331. 
Ann Maria, 330. 
Anna, 330. 
Anna Kennedy, 330. 
Anna Maud, 331. 
Anne, 143, 327, 330. 
Anstiss, 328-330. 
Arthur, 331, 332. 
Arthur Henry, 331. 
Atwater, 328. 
Barbara Emily, 331. 
Becca, 330. 
Benjamin, 78, 224, 304, 327, 330. 
Benjamin Cook, 330, 331. 
Benjamin Franklin, 330. 
Benjamin Howard, 331. 
Betsey Bass, 331. 
Caroline Barton, 331. 
Carrie Lillian, 331. 
Charles, 330. 
Charles Endecott, 331. 
Charlotte, 330. 
Charlotte Lane, 330. 
Cromwell, 328. 
Damaris, 327, 391. 
Daniel, 327. 
David, 3. 9, 143, 189, 327-33L 

363, 402. 
Dorcas, 327. 
Ebenezer, 238-330. 

Phippen, continued, 
Edith Whipple, 331. 
Edward A., 331. 
Eleanor Gifford, 331. 
Eliza, 330. 
Elizabeth, 44, 327-330. 
Elizabeth Chamberlain, 331. 
Elizabeth M., 331. 
Elizabeth Russell, 331. 
Emeline, 330. 
Esther Adams, 330. 
Ethel Arnold, 331. 
Eunice, 329, 330. 
Eunice Louise, 331. 
Gamaliel, 327. 
George, 327, 330. 
George Barton, 331. 
George Dean, 330, 331. 
George Stodder, 331. 
Geraldine, 332. 
Hannah, 224, 328, 329. 
Hardy, 329, 330. 
Harriet Ellen, 331. 
Henry, 329. 
Henry Osgood, 331. 
Israel, 327, 328, 330. 
James, 328-330. 
Jane, 328. 
Jane West, 332. 
Joan Almira, 332. 
John, 327-329. 
John Prince, 331-. 
Jonathan, 328. 
Joseph, 6, 7, 9, 10, 327-329, 39B 

398, 402, 403. 
Joseph E., 331. 
Joseph H., 330. 
Joseph Hardy, 330. 
Joshua, 329-331. 
Joshua B., 331. 
Lois, 330. 
Lucy, 330. 
Lydia, 328-330. 
Margaret, 328, 329, 331. 
Margaret Barton, 331. 
Margaret Chamberlain, 331. 
Maria, 329. > 
Martha, 328. 
Martha Ann, 331. 
Martha C., 331. 
Martha Clark, 331. 
Mary, 298, 315, 328, 386. 
Mary A., 330, 331. 
Mary Dustin, 331. 
Mary Eliza, 331.' 
Mary Elizabeth, 331, 332. 
Mary Massey, 330. 
Mary R., 331. 
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Phippen, continued, 
Mehitable, 328. 
Moses Hitchings, 330. 
Nancy, 329, 330. 
Nathan, 328, 329. 
Nathaniel, 328-331. 
Olive, 328, 329. 
Peggy, 330. 
Polly, 330. 
Priscilla, 329. 
Rachel, 44, 118, 328. 
Rebecca, 3, 327-330, 386. 
Rebecca Maria, 329. 
Richard Dane, 332. 
Robert, 327. 
Robert Jordains, 331. 
Rufus, 329. 
Ruth, 78, 304, 328. 
Sally, 330. 
Samuel, 9, 118, 189, 327-330, 

386, 433- 
Samuel Webb, 331. 
Sarah, 327.-330. 
Sarah Addie, 331. 
Sarah E., 330, 331. 
Seaborne, 327. 
Seeth, 210, 329. 
Stephen Sims, 330. 
Steven, 328. 
Susan Harris, 330. 
Susan Kennedy, 330. 
Susanna, 304, 327-329. 
Thomas, 298, 328-330. 
Ursula, 329. 
Ursula K., 330. 
Ursula Symonds, 330. 
Walter Gray, 331. 
William, 329, 330. 
William Trumbull, 331. 

Pickering, Alice, 20, 139. 
Benjamin, 168. 
Elizabeth, 383. 
Eunice, 123. 
Hannah, 383. 
Jane, 143. 
John, 6, 7, 9, 10, 20, 60, 63, 64, 

66-68, 130, 132, 158-160, 168, 
194, 221, 232, 238, 281, 282, 
322, 337, 338, 345, 401-403, 
421, 432. 

Jonathan, 143, 337, 421. 
Joseph, 23. 
Mary. 23, 141. 
Timothy, 282. 
William, 123, 168. 

Pickering house, 281. 
Pickett, Anna, 330. 

Daniel, 188. 

Pickett, continued, 
Jacob, 188. 
James, 188. 
John, 188, 218. 
Rebecca, 188. 
Sarah, 188, 225. 
Thomas,, 188. 

Pickman. See Pitman. 
Abigail, 15, 93, 298. 
Benjamin, 9, 15, 46, 279, 298. 
Bethiah, 15. 
Anna, 377. 
Elizabeth, 15, 279. 
Hannah, 15, 65. 
Isannah, 15. 
John, 65, 101. 
Joseph, 15. 
Margaret, 101. 
Mary, 15. 
Nathaniel, 9, 10, 15, 158, 198, 

226, 238, 354, 402. 
Parina, 15. 
Rachel, 102. 
Samuel, 9, 233, 238, 421. 
Sarah, 38. 
Tabitha, 15. 
William Dudley, 384. 

Pickton (Picden, Pigden), Ann, 69. 
Thomas, 69, 158, 159, 194, 214, 

218, 234, 312, 402, 407, 408, 

417. 
Pickworth, John, 75, 173, 333. 

Samuel, 78, 333. 
Sarah, 78. 

Pike, Abigail, 328. 
Ebenezer, 44. 
Hannah, 44. 
Israel, 165. 
John, 165. 
,Nathaniel, 328. 

Pilgrim, Thomas, 362. 
Pilgrims, 148, 357- 
Pillory, 134. 
Pine meadow, 114. 
Pink (pink), 368. 
Pine Tree shilling, 214. 
Pingree, David, 244. 
Pinkham Memorial, 1. 
Pinson, Rebecca, 120. 

William, 120, 160, 355. 
Pirates, 237, 347 - 35°, 3^7, 

370. 
Piscataqua River, 259, 261, 266. 
Pitford, Peter, 177, 197- 
Pitman, See Pickman. 

Atwood, 233. 
Bethiah, 383. 
Elizabeth, 233. 
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Pitman, continued, 
Joshua, 233. 
Lydia, 233. 
Mary, 137. 
Michael, 137. 
Nathaniel, 10, 69, 352, 353. 
Peter, 233. 
Samuel, 233. 
Sarah, 233. 
Thomas, 197, 199, 201. 

Pitt, William, 201, 418. 
Plain farm, 198, 344. 
Plaice, William, 145. 
Plaisted, Mary, 324. 
Planters marsh, Old, 234. 
Plantin, John, 103. 

Sarah, 103. 
Platts, Sarah, 55. 
Pleasantville, N. Y., 306. 
Plummer, Beatrice, 62. 

Francis, 62. 
Plymouth, England, 359, 372- 
Plymouth, Mass., 2, 42, 79, 128, 

. 166, 174, 245, 247. 
Point of Rocks, 7* 
Poland, 148. 
Poland (Powllen), Betsey, 139. 

James, 7, 160, 402. 
Pollard, George, 197. 
Poller, Hannah, 55. 
Pomeroy, John, 279, 324. 

Mary, 324. 
Pomfret, Conn., 32, 33, 112, no. 
Pond farm, 198. 
Pool (Poole), Daniel, 191. 

Elizabeth, 102. 
Lucy Ann, 378. 
William, 37, 102. 

Poor, Elizabeth Russell, 331. 
Judith, 304. 
Mary, 304. 
Tamson S., 225. 
Walter Everett, 331. 

Pope, Benjamin, 268. 
Bethiah, 56. 
Damaris, 39, 268. 
Ebenezer, 40. 
Eleazer, 40. 
Elizabeth, 40, 210. 
Enos, 40. 
Eunice, 44, 116. 
Gertrude, 276. 
Hannah, 40, 112, 404. 
Joseph, 3, 7, 9, 66, hi, 192, 232, 

248, 252, 253, 257, 302, 402, 404. 
Joshua, 56. 
Lydia, jo. 
Martha, 4. 

Pope, continued, 
Mary, 40. 
Mehitable, in. 
Nathaniel, 391. 
Priscilla, 391. 
Samuel, 4. 
Stephen, 40. 

Port Royal, 170, 171, 349- 
Porter, Abigail, 162, 163. 

Allen, 164. 
Amos, 163. 
Ann, 161. 
Anna, 162, 163. 
Anna S., 382. 
Anne, 161. 
Apphia, in, 163. 
Asa, 163. 
Asahel, 163. 
Bartholomew, 163. 
Benjamin, 161-163, 165. 
Bethiah, 162. 
David, 163. 
Ebenezer, 163. 
Edith, 162. 
Eleanor, 162. 
Eleazer, 162, 163, 277. 
Eliezer, 162. 
Elizabeth, no, hi, 162, 163. 
Eunice, 61, 163. 
Ezra, 163. 
Francis, 163. 
George, 163. 
Ginger, 162, 163. 
Hannah, 161-163. 
Helen Maria, 380. 
Hephzibah, 162. 
Huldah, 163, 164. 
Israel, 7, 9, in, 161-165, 401. 
James, 163. 
John, 5, 6, 9, 10, in, 158, 161- 

165, 180, 183, 184, 188, 192, 
205, 207, 209, 215, 223, 226- 
229, 279, 291, 301, 333, 334, 
352, 353, 399, 401, 402, 405, 
417, 419, 429, 432, 434, 430, 
439. 

Jonathan, 61, 161-163, 189, 219, 

224, 403. * 
Joseph, 161-163, 277, 309, 334, 

335, 402, 403, 438, 441. 
Josiah, 162. 
Love, 162. 
Lucy Gardner, 425. 
Lydia, 112, 162, 163, 277. 
Martha, 164. 
Mary, 32, 115, 161-163, 277. 
Mehitable, 24, 162, 163. 
Nathan, 162, 163. 
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Porter, continued, 
Nathaniel, 9, 64, 162. 
Peter, 164. 
Phebe, 162, 164. 
Priscilla, 162, 277. 
Ruth, 162. 
Sadie A., 382. 
Samuel, 161-163, 228. 
Sarah, 111, 161-164. 
Susanna, 224. 
William, 162, 163, 425. 
William H., 380. 

Portland, Me., 56, 444. 
Portrait painter, 317. 
Portsmouth, N. H., 20, 102, 106, 

330. 
Portsmouth, R. I., 54. 
Potomac River, 372. 
Potter, Ann, 210. 

Anne, 98. 
Judith, 98. 
Lydia, ill. 
Nicholas, 301, 302, 402. 
Rebecca, 76, 98. 
Ruth, 389. 
Samuel, 76. 
Thomas, 98. 

Pound, 65, 157, 189, 233. 
Pound, Thomas, 367. 
Powder, 227. 
Powell, William, 323, 391. 
Powling, Anstice, 389. 

James, 216, 389. 
Mary, 216. 

Prance, Philip, 365. 
Praser, Thomas, 323. 
Pratt, Caroline H., 381. 

Margaret, 184, 325. 
Prescott, Edward, 360. 

Hannah, 92. 
Peter, 403, 445. 

Preston, Conn., in, 205, 358. 
Preston, Aaron, 22. 

Andrew, 237. 
Anna, 22. 
Betsey, 118. 
Daniel, 22. 
David, 21, 22. 
Elizabeth, 21, 22, 32. 
Hannah, 22, 113, 124, 332. 
Jacob, 21. 
John, 21, 22, 113, 124. 
Jonathan, 21. 
Joseph, 22. 
Joshua, 22. 
Levi, 22. 
Martha, 21. 
Mary, 21, 22, 237. 
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Preston, continued, 
Moses, 22. 
Philip, 22, 112. 
Rebecca, 21, 22, 143, 376. 
Roger, 21, 22. 
Ruth, 112. 
Samuel, 21. 
Susanna, 21. 
Thomas, 21, 22, 143. 

Price, Anne, 120. 
Elizabeth, 97, 120, 121, 235, 303, 

338, 363. 
Freestone, 121. 
Hannah, 120, 121. 
Harriet Charlotte, 125. 
John, s, 9, 67, 68, 120, 121, 192, 

239, 363, 366, 370, 373, 401- 
403. 

Joseph, 303. 
Mary Elizabeth, 331. 
Mathew, 303, 304, 374, 399- 
Nathaniel, 240. 
Richard, 331. 
Samuel, 120. 
Sarah, 121, 303. 
Theodore, 46, 96, 120, 228, 422. 
Walter, 5, 7, 9, 10, 46, 120, 121, 

134, 158, 212, 228, 237, 292, 
302, 311, 323, 336-338, 344 

346, 351, 353, 357, 358, 360, 
361, 363, 365, 366, 368, 373, 
374, 401-403, 434, 440. 

William, 120, 121, 363. 
Pride, John, 346. , 

Mary, 70. 
William, 360. 

Pride’s mountain, 205. 
Priest, Elizabeth, 319. 

Hannah, 391. 
James, 333- 
John, 391. 

Prime, Thomas H., 341, 342. 
Prince, Abel, 32, 33. 

Abigail, 32. 
Amos, 32. 
Anna, 32. 
Anne, 32. 
Asa, 32. 
Bethiah, 31. 
Betty, 33. 
Charity, 32. 
Daniel, 32. 
David, 32-34. 
Ebenezer, 32. 
Elizabeth, 4, 32, 75. 
Emme, 32, 112. 
Ezi*ci, 32, \\2. 
Hannah,’32, 33, 74, 75, 178, 383. 
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Prince, continued, 
Huldah, 32, 33. 
James, 32~34, JI1- 
John, 32, 33, 34, 74, 75- 
Jonathan, 32, 74, 162, 300. 
Joseph, 4, 32, 33, 74, 75. W 

383. 

Lydia, 31, 32, 300. 
Martha, 32, 384. 
Mary, 32, 33, 74, 75. Ir3, l62, 

304- 
Nathan, 32. 
Phebe, 32, 33. 
Rebecca, 31, 109. 
Richard, 9, 10, 74, 75, 77, HP 

158, 159, 205, 302, 304, 308, 
321, 358, 401, 421. 

Robert, 6, 7, 31-33, 74, 187, 195, 
211, 228, 400, 402, 403, 438, 

439- 
Ruth, 32. 
Samuel, 32, 33, 74- 
Sarah, 31-33, 74, 75, 178, 205. 
Solomon, 32. 
Stephen, 32. 
Susanna, 32, 74. 
Timothy, 32, 33, 113. 
William, 32. 

Princeton, N. J., 83. 
Prior, Mathew, 60. 

Sarah, 60. 
Prison, Boston-, 245, 249-251. 

Salem, 318, 392, 393. 
Pritharch, Richard, 9, 402. 
Proctor (Procter), Abigail, 22-24. 

Augusta Pierce, 25. 
Benjamin, 22-25. 
Caroline Elizabeth, 25. 
Charles Edward, 25. 
Charles Frederick, 25. 
Daniel, 23, 24. 
Deborah, 24. 
Desire, 24. 
Eben, 24. 
Ebenezer, 23, 24, 300. 
Elisha, 23. 
Elizabeth, 22-25, 92. 
Elizabeth Hathorne, 25. 
Elizabeth M., 25. 
Francis, 23. 
Francis Pierce. 25. 
George Frederick, 25. 
Hannah, 22-24. 
Horace Masury, 25. 
Jacob, 23, 24. 
John, 6, 9, 22. 23, 25, 92, 402, 433. 
Jonathan, 23, 24. 
Joseph, 22-24, 92- 

Proctor, continued, 
Joseph Holman, 25. 
Keziah, 23: 
Lydia, 23, 24, 325- 
Martha, 22-24, 105. 
Martha Ann, 24. 
Mary, 22-25, 92, 93, 300, 390. 
Mary Elizabeth, 25. 
Mehitable, 24. 
Nathan, 23, 24. 
Polly, 24. 
Priscilla, 23, 324. 
Prudence, 24. 
Rachel, 23, 236. 
Robert, 23, 24. 
Ruth, 24. 
Samuel, 23. 
Sarah, 22-24, 55. 
Sarah Ellen, 25. 
Sarah G., 25. 
Sarah Holman, 25. 
Stephen, 24. 
Sylvester, 23. 
Thorndike, 23-25, 325. 
William, 23-25. 
William Henry, 25. 

Proctor’s Crossing, 19. 
Prospect Hill, 205. 
Prosperous (ketch), 368. 
Providence (ship), 368. 
Providence (ketch), 368. 
Providence, R. I., 65, 187, 380. 
Providence, W. I., 321, 361. 
Provincial Congress, 389. 
Pudeator, Ann, 398. 

Isaac, 398. 
Isabel, 398. 
Jacob, 398. 

Pudney, Johanna, 404* 
John, 43, 284. 
Judith, 43- 
Mary, 284. 

Puerto Cabello, 21. 
Pulsifer, Sarah, 315. 
Punchard, John, 104. 

Sarah, 104. 
Punishments, '30. 
Purchase, Abraham, 356. 

Hannah, 43. 
Ruth, 179, 356. 
Thomas, 43, 348. 

Purington, Abijah, 56. 
Anne, 41. 
Daniel, 56. 
Hannah, 56. 

“Puritanimus Anglianus”, 148. 
Putnam, Aaron, 113, H4j ji7- 

Abide, 114. 
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Putnam, continued, 

Abigail, no, 113, 115, 116, 297. 
Abraham, 117. 
Ada, 118. 
Adaline, 118. 
Adelaide Martha, 118. 
Alice Edmands, 118. 
Alice Louise, 118. 
Alice Rebecca, 379. 
Allen, 112. 
Amos, 111-113, 116, 117. 
Andrew, 116. 
Ann, 109. 
Ann Sophia, 115. 
Anna, 109, no, 112, 114-117, 300. 
Anne, 114. 
Apphia, in, 163. 
Archelaus, in, 113-117. 
Asa, 112, 115. 
Asahel, 116. 
Augusta, 118. 
Bartholomew, no, hi, 114, 117, 

118. 
Benjamin, 109, in, 113, 117, 300, 

445. 
Bethiah, 113, 115, 117. 
Betsy, 118. 
Betty, 113, 115. 
Billings, 115. 
Caleb, in, 113, 115, 116. 
Caroline Matilda, 118. 
Charles Appleton, 118. 
Charles Fiske, 118. 
Charles Gideon, 117. 
Clarissa, 115. 
Cornelius, in. 
Cynthia, 118. 
Daniel, 111-114, 116, 117, 377- 
David, no-112, 114, 117, 300. 
Deborah, 112. 
Deliverance, 109, no. 
Eben, 118. 
Ebenezer, no, in, 114, 117, n8. 
Ede, 113. 
Edmund, 112, 116. 
Edward, 7, 109, no, 118, 402, 

445- 
Elbridge Gerry, 118. 
Eleanor, no, 114. 
Eleazer, 109, in, 114, XI5- 
Elijah, 115, 117. 
Elisha, no, 112, 114. 
Eliza, 118. 
Elizabeth, 109-118, 162, 276, 300, 

420, 422. 
Elizabeth Cabot, 117. 
Elizabeth W. A., 118. 
Ellen Maria, 118. 

Putnam, continued, 
Emma, 112. 
Emme, 112. 
Enoch, 114. 
Enos, 112. 
Ephraim, 113, 116. 
Esther, in. 
Esther Orne, 118. 
Ethel Appleton, 118. 
Eunice, no, 112-114, 116, 117, 

144. 
Experience, no. 
Ezra, no, 112. 
Florence, 118. 
Frances Tuttle, 118. 
Francis, 116, 118, 379. 
Francis Goodhue, 118. 
Frederick Ward, 118. 
George, 118. 
George Granville, 118. 
Gideon, 113, 117. 
Granville A., 118. 
Hannah, 22, 32, 109-117, 216, 445. 
Hannah Phillips, 117. 
Hannah Wier, 115. 
Harriet, 118. 
Hattie W.„ 118. 
Helen M., 118. 
Henry, hi, 116, 117. 
Holyoke, no. 
Houlton, 114. 
Huldah, no, 114, 116, 278. 
Isaac, no. 
Israel, no-113, 115, 116. 
Jacob, 113, 116. 
James, 109, in, 114, n6, 117. 
James Phillips, 116. 
Jeptha, hi. 
Jeremiah, 117. 
Jerusha ,111. 
Jesse, 112. 
Jethro, no, in, 114. 
John, 5, 9, 3L 66, 109-112, 

ns, 117, 162, 165, 166, 207, 
214, 216, 217, 219, 228, 230, 
232, 233, 298, 3I2> 400-403, 
409, 438, 439, 443, 445- 

John Fisk, 118. 
John Pickering, 117. 
John Preston, 118. 
Jonathan, 7, 9, 109-m, 114, 117, 

300, 445- , 
Joseph, 109, no, 112, 114-no, 

162, 277, 377, 422, 443- 
Joshua, in, 113- 
Josiah, no-112, nS- 
Kezia, 113. 
Levi, 117. 
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Putnam, continued, 
Loisa, 117. 
Lucy, 112, 115. 
Lydia, 111-115, H7> 162, 277. 
Margaret, 109, no, 117, 118. 
Margery, no. 
Martha, 114. 
Mary, 33, 109-117, 162, 163, 277. 
Mary Ann, 117, 118. 
Mary E., 118. 
Mhry Eliza, 118. 
Matthew, in. 
Mehitable, no-113, 115, ir6, 377. 
Mliriam, in, 113, 116, 278. 
Mitchell, 115. 
Moses, in, 114, n5. 
,N,abby, 117. 
Nanny, 114. 
Nathan, in, 112, 114-117. 
Nathaniel, 6, 7, 9, 10, 66, 109, 

in, 113, 116, 159, 189, 194, 
205, 207, 208, 214, 230, 232, 
234, 239, 279, 301, 312, 395, 
400-402, 438-440, 442, 443- 

Nehemiah, no. 
Nicholas, 109. 
Olive, 116. 
Oliver, 112, 115. 
Patience, 116. 
Perley,, 117, 118. 
Perley Zebulon Montgomery 

Pike, 118. 
Peter, 112, 114-116. 
Peter Schuyler, 112. 
Phebe, 109, 112, 116, 332. 
Philip, 116. 
Phineas, in, 113. 
Porter, 115. 
Priscilla, 109-111, 113, 118. 
Prudence, 109, no. 
Rachel, no, 112, 113, 116, 117. 
Rebecca, 31, 109-112, 114, 115, 

445- 
Rebecca Augusta, 118. 
Rebecca Cleves, 118. 
Roger, 115. 
Rufus, no, 113, 114. 
Ruth, 104, 109-112, 114-118, 277, 

286. 
Samuel, 109-115, 117, 420. 
Sarah, 109-118, 162, 163, 278, 

300, 445- 
Sarah Gooll, 117. 
Seth, no. 
Silence, 115. 
Solomon, 113, 114, 116. 
Stephen, in, 113, 114, 116. 

Putnam, continued, 
Susannah, 109-m, 114, n6, 117, 

300. 
Tarrant, in, 113, 114, 163. 
Thomas, 6, 7, 9, 10, 66, 109-112, 

115, 189, 207-209, 223, 227, 
229, 232, 233, 311, 395, 400- 
403, 429, 439, 44L 443. 445- 

Timothy, no, 113, 115. 
Uzziel, 113. 
William, 110-112, 114, 115, 117, 

118. 
William Henry Appleton, 118. 

QUAKER Persecution, 242-275. 

Quakers, 39, 53, 55, 76, 196, 242- 
275, 289, 318, 327. 

Quebec, Can.,. 280. 
Quincy, Charles Francis, 426. 

Etta Molineux, 426. 
Quinipiack (New Haven, Conn.), 

16. 

RADOUX, Francis, 390. 
Susan, 390. 

Ramsford, Priscilla, 2. 
Solomon, 2. 

Rand, Clara Thorndike, 426. 
Randall, Mary, 161. 

Ruth, 315. 
Randolph, Edward, 351. 
Rantoul, Harriet Charlotte, 125. 

Robert Samuel, 125. 
Rattlesnake Hill, 205. 
Rawson, Ann, 300. 

Edward, 371, 417. 
Ray (Rea), Bartholomew, 428. 

Daniel, 7, 9, 10, 98, hi, 133, 
165, 166, 188, 219, 227, 230, / 
402, 428. 

Ebenezer, 117. 
Elizabeth, 32. 
Hannah, 144. 
Jemima, 136. 
John, 299. 
Joshua, 6, 7, 9, 10, 402, 403, 

43.8. 439, 44 B 445- 
Keziah, 300. 
Lydia, 117, 324. 
Mary, 22, in, 299. 
Sarah, 32, 445. 

Raymond, Me., 390. 
Raymond (Rayment, Remont), Al¬ 

fred A., 41. 
Bathsheba, 233. 
Emily F. M., 41. 
Hannah, 181, 411. 
Jennie Abbott, 107. 
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Raymond, continued, 

John, 9, 10, 154, 158, 159, 215, 
279, 402, 410, 417. 

John Marshall, 107. 
Richard, 9, 147, 299, 365. 

Samuel, 41. 
Sarah Slade, 41. 
William, 6, 9, 181, 417. 

Razilly, -170. 
Read (Reade, Reed), Colonel, 421. 

Ensign, 62, 108. 
Aaron, 421. 
Abigail, 40. 
Alice, 62. 
Bethiah, 62. 
Christian, 277. 
Daniel, 44, 56. 
Desire, 44. 
Edward, 14. 
Eleanor, 56. 
Elizabeth, 14. 
Esdras, 9, 10, 97, 135, 145, 154, 

402. 
Haffield White, 384. 

" Isaac, 377. 
James, 360. 
John, 44. 
Lydia, 44. 
Martha, 92. 
Mary, 24,, ill. 
Mathew, 60. 
Obediah, 62. 
Rebecca, 384. 
Ruth, 377. 
Sarah, 384. 
Thomas, 13, 60, 125, 155, 166, 

177, 180, 192, 217, 422. 
Reading, Mass., 21-23, 45, 54, 55, 

no, hi, 113, 119, 136, 143- 
145, 209, 230, 234, 276, 277, 
288, 295, 301, 329, 376-378, 
383, 404. 

Records, 72, 194, 219. 
Recovery (ship), 369. 
Red rocks, 205. 
Reddin, Sarah, 32. 

Thomas, 32. 
Reddington, Abraham, 208. 

John, 208. 
Redford, Charles, 9, 10, 366, 402. 
Redman, Mr., 169. 
Reeves, Abigail, 141. 

Benjamin, 141- 
Cockerel, 141. 
Elizabeth. 140, 141. 
Freeborn, 141. 
Hannah, 141. 
Jacoby 140, 141. 

Reeves, continued, 
Jane, 140. 
John, 140, 141, 159, 192. 
Judith, 141. 
Margaret, 141. 
Mary, 141. 
Mercy, 141. 
Nathaniel, 141. 
Samuel, 141. 
Sarah, 141. 
Susanna, 141. 
William, 141. 

Rehoboth, Mass., 75, 82, 181. 
Reith, Richard, 200. 
Return (ship), 369. 
Return (ketch), 369. 
Revere, Mass., 39, 427. 
Revolution, no, 112, 117, 124, 163, 

278, 305, 325, 332, 377- 
Reynolds (Renolds, Renalds), 

Henry, 58, 125, 151, 234, 402, 

403. 

Sarah, 125. 
Rhoads, Eliza, 330. 
Rhode Island, 31, 40, 59> 172, 196, 

210, 243, 245-247, 250, 259, 
260, 263, 267. 

Rial Side, 14, 158, 178, 206, 218, 
301, 302. 

Rice, Annie L., 381. 
Charles W., 381. 
Hannah, 238. 
Matthias, 238. 

Rich, Mary, 376. 
Rachel, 376. 
Thomas, 376. 

Richard (bark), 106. 
Richards, Abigail, 76. 

Anne, 14. 
Daniel, 22. 
Elizabeth, 22, 141. 
Jesse Mayne, 425. 
John, 14, 76. 
Mary, 188. 
Mary Bradshaw, 425- 
Richard, 141. 
Sarah E., 379. 

Richardson, Ann, 137. 
Anne Warren Brazer, 426. 
Eunice, 112, 377. 
Hannah, 124. 
Lydia, 188. 
Nancy, 137- 
Nathaniel, 112. 
Robert, 225. 
Samuel Pierpont, 426. 
Sarah, 225. 
Stephen, 124. 
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Richardson, continued, 
William, 137. 

Ricker, George B., 378. 
James, 124. 
Mary, 124. 
Mary Elizabeth, 378. 

Rider, Ellen A., 382. 
Riland, Joanna, 283. 
Ring, Anna, 330. 
Rio Grande, Brazil, 379. 
Rising, Elizabeth, 230. 

James, 230, 301. 
Ritter, James, 124. 

Mary, 124. 
Riverside, Ill., 425, 426. 
Rix, Bridget, 205. 

Elizabeth, 205. 
Hannah, 205. 
Hester, 205. 
James, 205, 358. 
Lydia, 205. 
Margaret, 101, 205. 
Mary, 205. 
Remember, 205. 
Sarah, 205. 
Susanna, 205. 
Theophilus, 205. 
Thomas, 10, 101, 159, 205, 218, 

333, 399, 402. 
Roads, 5, 130, 342-344 
Roanoke, 372. 
Robbins, Elizabeth, 112. 

Isabel, 120. 
Lucy, 387. 
Mary, 120. 
Thomas, 6, 9, 120, 158-160, 206, 

227, 228, 234, 308, 402. 
Roberts, Abiah, 20. 

Hannah, 113, 328. 
John, 360. 
Joseph, 328. 
Richard, 311. 

Robinson, Abel, 4. 
Anna, 3. 
Annie, 4. 
Elias, 4. 
Elizabeth, 4, 32, 141. 
Gordon, 315. 
Hannah, 123. 
Hester, 3. 
Isabelle, 3. 
Jane, 4. 
Job, 4- „ 
John, 3, 4, 9, 50, 51, 60* I4», 

160, 169, 178, 193, 194, 279, 
309, 324, 398, 402. 

Joseph, 3, 4. 
Lydia, 104. 

Robinson, continued, 
Margaret, 279. 
Martha, 3, 4. 
Mary, 3, 4, 133, 135- 
Nathaniel, 4. 
Samuel, 3, 4, 123, 271. 
Sarah, 3, 4, 194- 
Susanna, 4. 
Susanna Archer, 315. 
Thomas, 4. 
Timothy, 3, 4, 135- 
Whittemore, 4- 
William, 3, 4, 166, 203, 258-261, 

271, 276, 304, 403- 
Rochdale, Mass., 138. 
Rochelle, France, 14, 170, 351. 
Rochester, rN,. Y., 125. 
Roff, Daniel, 295. 

Elizabeth, 295. 
Marj ary, 296. 

Rogers, Abigail, 32. 
Elizabeth, 61. 
Florence Alice, 427. 
Hannah, 404. 
Jeremiah, 189, 402- 
John, 7, 61, 160, 189, 402. 
Joseph, 399. 
Joshua, 399. 
Judah, 404. 

Roles, Peter, 365. 
Rolfe, Apphia, 230. 

Benjamin, 230. 
Elizabeth, in. 
Hannah, 296. 

'Root (Roots), Arthur M., 381. 
Bethiah, 70. 
Grace, 381. 
Joseph, 158, 159, 169, 4io, 4i 1. 
Joshua, 222. 
Josiah, 10, 170, 203, 214, 227, 

411, 414, 417. 
Richard, 3. 
Thomas, 9, 10, 36, 158, 159, 192, 

215, 247, 254, 263, 264, 402, 

417, 43L 433- 
Ropes, Ann, 28, 328. 

Benjamin, 28, 29, 328. 
Daniel, 237. 
Ebenezer, 315. 
Elizabeth, 315. 
Frances Wilkins, 390. 
George, 9, 28, 51, 402. 
George Nathan, 379. 
Hannah, 29. 
Jane, 104. 
John, 318. 
Lydia, 123, 236. 
Nathaniel, 117. 



INDEX 507 

Ropes, continued, 
Priscilla, 237, 379. 
Priscilla Lambert, 379. 
Samuel, 123. 
Sarah, 101, 117, 124. 
Sarah Sophia, 380. 
Thomas, 28. 

Rosario, Brazil, 379. 
Rose, Edward, 328. 

Mary, 328. 
Ross, Mary, 54. 
Rotterdam, Holland, 148, 150. 
Routh, Abigail, 93. 

Richard, 93. 
Rowden, John, 191. 

Mary, 191. 
Rowell, Hannah, 224. 

Joseph, 105. 
Priscilla L., 105. 
Thomas, 224. 

Rowland, Richard, 27, 177, 197-199, 
202, 343, 344, 433. 

Rowley, Mass., 55, 107, no, 145, 
146, 199, 313, 325, 352, 396. 

Rowley Village (Boxford), 146, 
400, 441. 

Roxbury, Mass., 72, 84, 118, 141, 
224, 225, 375, 441, 442. 

Royal Act of Trade, 351. 
Royal Neck, 127, 227. 
Royal Society, England, 17. 
Ruck, Mr., 75, 166. 

Abigail, 97, 98. 
Bethiah, 97, 98. 
Damaris, 39, 97, 98. 
Elizabeth, 97, 98, 120, 338. 
Esther, 98. 
Hannah, 97, 98. 
James, 97, 98, 316. 
John, 5, 9, 10, 39, 97, 98, 120, 

159, 160, 189, 198, 214, 219, 
239, 288, 315, 316, 336, 337, 
339, 358, 362, 366, 369, 370, 
400-403, 422, 432, 434. 

Martha, 98. 
Mary, 97, 98. 
Rebecca, 97, 98. 
Ruth, 97, 98. 
Samuel, 97, 98, 316, 317. 
Sarah, 97, 98. 
Stephen, 97. 
Thomas, 97, 98, 218, 316, 350, 

358, 402. 
William, 98. 

Ruck’s tree, 343. 
Ruck’s Village, 350. 
Rue, Sara, 224. 

Susanna, 224. 

Rue, continued-,, 
Thomas, 224. 

Rum bridge, 6. 
Rumball, Alice, 156, 375. 

Daniel, 11, 156, 158, 159, 240, 
270, 286, 302, 320, 333, 420. 

Sarah, n, 156. 
Rumford, Me., 116. 
Rupton, John, 376. 
Russell, Abigail, 37, 38, 236, 277. 

Anna, 377 
Benjamin Webb, 390. 
Eliza H., 83. 
Elizabeth, 143. 
Henry, 315, 363. 
James, 37. 
John, 3, 377. 
Maria Ruth, 315. 
Mary Elizabeth, 390. 
Richard, 199, 369. 
Robert, 277. 
Ruth, 112. 
William, 143. 

Russia, 148. 
Rust, Elizabeth M., 25. 

John, 306. 
Susan, 306. 

Rutland, Mass., 325. 
Ruyter, Admiral de, 347. 

SABBATH, 49, So, 185, 187. 
Sables, Isle of, 362. 
Saco (ship), 315. 
Saco, Me., 266. 
Safford, Dolly, 83. 

Sarah B., 381. 
Sage, Daniel, 384. 

Deborah, 384. 
Margaret, 118. 

Salem, Mass., 1-445- 
Salem and Boston Stage Com¬ 

pany, 390. 
Salem Hospital, 1, 306, 350. 
Salem Lead Company, 385. 
Salem Observer, 425. 
Salem Savings Bank, 384, 385. 
Salem Village, 275-277, 419, 421, 

430, 435-445- 
meeting house, 443- 
parsonage, 443- 

Salisbury, Mass., 2, 109, 165, 352, 

361, 409, 441- 

'Salisbury, Jane, 21. 
Sallows, Freeborn, 193- 

Hannah, 411, 4l4- 
Michael, I5L T55> T85- 
Robert, 193- 
Thomas, 228, 240, 291. 



INDEX 5°8 

Salmon (Salmonds, Samon), Clem¬ 
ent, 283. 

Elizabeth, 219, 283. 
George, 218, 219. 
Joanna, 283. 
John, 219, 283. 
Mary, 219, 283. 
Remember, 218. 
Samuel, 264, 283. 
Sarah, 57. 
Susanna, 219. 
William, 57. 

Salt, 14. 
Salt house, 14, 16, 17. 
Salt house point, 16, 17. 
Salt making, 14. 
Saltatudas, 364. 
Saltmarsh, Deborah, 95. 
Saltonstall, Elizabeth Sanders, 385. 

Georgiana Crowninshield, 384. 
Henry, 384. 
Richard, 126, 167, 217, 218. 

Saltpeter, 69, 126. 
Sampson, Cyrian, 282. 

John, 282, 417. 
Mary, 282. 
Sarah, 282. 

Sams (Sam), Thomas, 47, 78, 179. 
Samuel (ship), 383. 
Samuel (brig), 378. 
San Diego, Cal., 390. 
San Francisco, Cal., 379. 
Sanborn, Elizabeth, 105. 

Elizabeth M., 331. 
Ira, 105. 
Sarah, 379. 

Sanbornton, N. H., 102. 
Sander, Abigail, 98. 

Philemon, 89. 
Sanders (Saunders), Edward Au¬ 

gustus, 426. 
Elizabeth, 135. 
Esther, 75. 
Hannah, 15. 
Helen May, 426. 
John, 9, 15, 108, 126, 135, 213, 

268, 356, 432. 
Return, 268. 

Sandin (Sanden, Sands, Sandy), 
Arthur, 100, 179, 197, 198, 201. 

Margaret, 100. 
Mary, 100. 

Sandwich, England, 62. 
Santa Clara, Cal., 380. 
Santiago, Cuba, 379. 
Sargent (Sergeant), Lydia, 56. 

William, 231. 
Satie, Sarah, 216. 

Saugus, Mass., 282, 376, 377. 
Savage, Thomas, 221, 346, 418. 
Savannah, Ga., 1x5, 425- 
Savory, Harriet Ellen, 380. 
Sawing lumber, 131. 
Sawyer, John, 226. 

Sarah, 226. 
William, 151. 

Saybrook, Conn., 65. 
Scadlock, Elizabeth, 375. 
Scales, James, 146. 

Sarah, 146. 
Scarcemaid’s Hill, 42. 
Scaremaid’s Hill, 42. 
Scarlet, Widow, 97. 

Benjamin, 6, 7. 
Elizabeth, 375. 

Schoolhouses, 91-93- 
Schools, 91-96. 
Scituate, Mass., 123. 
Scollay, Margaret, 117. 
Scot, 213, 281. 
Scotchman, 94. 
Scotland, 14, 235, 348, 376. 
Scott, Edith H., 145. 

John, 187. 
Robert, 78. 

Scottow, Joshua,. 351. 
Scripture, Abigail, 116. 
Scruggs, Thomas, 5, 9, 10, 108, 

193- 
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Henry, 127. 
John, 127, 178. 
Mary, 127. 
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Thomas, 127, 134, 188, 192. 
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Seagel, Lydia Henfield, 104. 
William, 104. 
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Seal, 364. 
Seale, Edward, 13. 
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John, 391. 
Joseph, 224, 392. 
Margaret, 224. 
Mary, 227, 391. 
Sarah, 392. 
Stephen, 227. 
Thomas, 327, 39L 392, 402. 
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Sedgwick, 378. 
Sedgwick, Major, 187. 
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Anna B., 385. 
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Mary, 227. 
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Samuel, 369. 
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Seward, Henry, 387. 
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Samuel, 47, 70, 162, 167, 216, 
231, 301, 364. 
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Grace, 268. 
Hannah, 268. 
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271, 402. 
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Mary, 404, 405. 
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Samuel, 404. 
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Sheffield, Deliverance, 80, 81. 
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Lydia, 24, 325. 
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Silsby, continued, 
Thomas, 385. 
Walter J„ 385. 
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Simons. See Symonds. 
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Skelling, Deborah, 151. 
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Skerry, Content, 104. 
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Margaret, 383. 
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Samuel, 404. 
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Slaves, 290, 350. 
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George, 376. 
John, 151, 206, 246, 247, 253, 
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Anna, 297. 
Anstiss, 329. 
Benjamin, 11, 149. 
Caleb, 305. 
Catheran, 174. 
Elizabeth, 143, 210. 
Elliott, 341. 
Elliott F., 106. 
George, 45, 316. 
Hannah, 124, 141. 
Huldah, 163. 
James, 61, 118, 177, 197, 202. 
John, 31, 39, 253, 260, 262, 263, 

266, 268, 329, 421, 438. 
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Joseph, 124, 421. 
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Margaret, 39, 253, 260-264, 316. 
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3 9i. 
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Moses, 104. 
Nathaniel, 11, 332. 
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Ralph, 174. 
Rebecca, 31. 
Sally, 45, 328. 
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Sarah, 11, 76, 156, 329. 
Sarah F., 381. 
Thomas, 11, 38, 68, 102, 193. 
Tomasin, 143. 
William, 97, 316, 391- 

Smith’s hill, 208. 
Smithfield, R. I., 40, 55, 56, 76, 

386. 
Snake Hill, 205. 
Snow, Phebe, 116. 
Soames, Hannah, 268. 
Society (ketch), 370. 
Solart, Elizabeth, jo. 

John, 317. 
Mary, 140. 
Sarah, 317. 

Sollas, John, 418. 
Somerby, Sarah, 230. 
Somerville Mass., 306. 
Somerville, Thomas, 94, 95- 
Souhegan West, 297. 
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South Danvers, Mass., 225, 277, 
278, 378, 379, 387. 

South field, 155, 158-161, 178, 342, 
344- . 

South mills, 336-342. 
South River, 11, 13, 76, 336, 337, 

342, 353- 
South Williamstown, Mass., 55. 
Southampton, England, 93, 146, 359, 

360, 365, 371. 
Southampton, L. I., 155. 
Southard, Mary, 378. 
Southold, L. I., 53, 57, 58, 71, 127, 

406. 
Southtop, England, 365, 372. 
Southwick, Abigail, 54. 

Abraham, 54, 55. 
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Anna, 54, 56. 
Anne, 53. 
Benjamin, 54, 55. 
Bethiah, 56. 
Betty, 295. 
Caleb, 54, 56. 
Cassandra, 53, 54, 56, 244, 247, 

249, 251, 256. 
Chloe, 56. 
Copia, 55. 
Daniel, 7, 40, 53-56, 76, 159, 160, 

244. 252, 253, 257, 264, 273. 
David, 54. 
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Deliverance, 54. 
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Ebenezer, 23, 54, 55. 
Edward, 55, 56, 244. 
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Esther, 54-56, 76. 
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Ichabod, 55. 
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Jacob, 56. 
James, 54. 
James Alley, 57. 
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John’ 6, 40, 53-57, 159, 221, 247, 

252, 253, 262, 301, 322, 385, 
402. 

John Alley, 57- 
Jonathan, 54-56. 
Joseph, 54-56, 244. 
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Josiah, 6, 53, 54, 56, 58, 76, I59> 

160, 221, 246, 247, 249, 251, 

255-257, 273, 42i. 
Josiah Erastus, 57- 
Judith, 56. ^ 
Lawrence, 40, 53-58, 65, 98, 117, 

187, 192, 206, 221, 244, 246- 
249, 251-253, 255-258. 

Lemuel, 55. 
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Lois Alley, 57, 426. 
Lydia, 55, 56. 
Margaret, 55. 
Martha, 125. 
Mary, 53-56, 76, 124, 252. 
Mary Ann, 57. 
Mehitable, 56. 
Mercy, 40, 54-56. 
Miriam, 55. 
Nathaniel, 55. 
Patience, 54. 
Phebe, 56. 
Philip R., 244. 
Provided, 53, 54, 252, 253, 257, 

258, 260-263. 
Prudence, 56. 
Rebecca, 55, 57- 
Rebecca H'., 57* 
Ruth, 54-56. 
Samuel, 54, 55- 
Sarah, 23, 53-56. 
Solomon, 54, 59. 
Susan, 56. 
Susanna, 55. 
Tamisin, 40, 54, 56. 
Theophilus, 56. 
William, 55. 
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Sparhawk, Edward Perkins, 112. 

John, 94. 
Mehitable, 112. 

Sparks, Jared, 384.. 
Mary Crowninshield, 384. 

Spear, Emmons Raymond, 426. 
Speedwell (ketch), 370. 
Speedwell (pink), 370. 
Spence, Abby R., 106. 

Andrew, 106. 
George G., 106. 

Spencer, -, 87. 
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Spinney, Rebecca, 377. 
Splaine, Margaret A., 382. 
Spooner, Hannah, 97. 

Thomas, 9, 11, 167, 189, 208, 281. 
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Hannah, 376. 
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Springfield, Mass., 380. 
Springfield, Vt., 104. 
Squire, Mary, 236. 
St. Andrews Parish, England, 388. 
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317- 

St. John, N. B., 114, 187. 
St. John, Newfoundland, 41. 
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St. John River, 170. 
St. John, Elizabeth, 228. 

Oliver, 228. 
St. Lawrence Parish, England, 139. 
St. Louis, Mo., 380. 
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St. Mary’s Church, Holland, 148. 
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St. Peter’s Church, 318. 
St. Sebastian, Spain, 314. 
St. Thomas, 315. 
Stacey (Stacy), Agnes, 149- 
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Hannah, 377. 
Henry, 197. 
Hugh, 149, I5L 403- 
John, 149, 197- 
Joseph, 55. 
Mary, 300. 
Priscilla, 280. 
Sarah, 55. 
Thomasine, 279. 
William, 300, 305, 319, 339, 403- 

Stackhouse, Abigail, 48. 
Hannah, 48. 
Jonathan, 48. 
Mary, 48. 
Richard, 48, 190, 276, 362, 417. 
Ruth, 48, 190. 
Samuel, 48. 
Sarah, 48. 
Susanna, 48. 

Stackpole, Charles R., 318. 
Stafford, Ellen Cecilia, 380. 
Staffordshire, England, 271. 
Stage point, 101. 
Stages, 180. 
Standish, James, 3, 9, 75, T73, 194, 

2T3, 402. 

Standley, Annie, 4. 
Standley’s grove, 205. 
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Stanwood, Carrie J., 315. 
Stark, William, 125. 
Starkey, Susanna, 119. 
Starling (Sterling), Anne, 123. 

William, 123. 
Starr, Hannah, 385, 405. 

Mary, 53, 82, 299, 405. 
Richard, 405. 
Robert, 53, 193, 405. 
Sara, 405. 
Susanna, 405. 

Stearns, Anna, 144. 
Hannah, 223. 
Isaac, 223, 234. 

Stegge, Thomas, 362. 
Stephens (Stevens), -, 266. 

John, 210. 
Mary, 2. 
Mercy, 179. 
.Nathan, 378. 
Rachel, 210. 
Sally, 378. 
Thomas, 179. 
William, 2, 77, 358, 402. 

Stephenson, Marmaduke, 258-261, 
271. 

Stepney, Parish of, England, 368, 
388- 

Sterling, Mass., 112. 
Steuben, Me., 377. 
Stevens. See Stephens. 
Stewart (Steward, Stuard), Eu¬ 

nice, 237. 
Mary, 324. 
Mehitabel, 325. 
Sarah, 324. 
William, 237. 

Stileman, Elias, 4, 9, 11, 108, no, 
165, 189, 194, 219, 229, 266, 
398, 400, 403. 

Elizabeth, 139. 
Richard, 193, 205. 

Stiles, Abigail, 146. 
Stillman, Lydia, 375. 
Stillwater, N. Y., 278. 
Stocks, 8, 49, 125, 226. 
Stockwell, Eunice, 325. 
Stoddard, Anthony, 29. 

Elizabeth, 321. 
Mary, 29. 
Simeon, 321. 
Solomon, 27, 198. 

Stodder, Mary Eliza, 331. 
Sarah, 138. 

Stone, -, 378. 
Abigail, 411. 
Alfred, 118. 
Anstiss, 314. 

Stone, continued, 
Ellen Maria, 118. 
Hannah, 21. 
John, 13, 206, 402, 411, 414. 
Lydia, 133. 
Nathaniel, 402, 403. 
Nehemiah, 133. 
Remember, 411. 
Robert, 314, 347, 370, 402. 
Sarah, 273, 389. 

Stonington, Conn., 132, 441. 
Stony beach, 343. 
Stony brook, 209, 396. 
Stony Butts brook, 206. 
Stony Cove, 227. 
Stowe, Abigail, 279. 

Anne, 41. 
Stratford, Conn., 188. 
Stratton, Ami, 303. 

Elizabeth, 114. 
John, 11, 76, 143, 226, 283, 403. 
William, 199. 

Stratton Island, N. Y., 389. 
Streeter, Gilbert Lewis, 426. 

Rebecca Southwick, 426. 
Strongwater brook bridge, 6, 13, 

68, 99, 159, 233, 263, 421. 
Stuart, Eleanor, 376. 
Sturbridge, Mass., 140. 
Styles, Susanna, 116. 
Success (ship), 370. 
Sudbury, Mass., 112, 141. 
Suffield, Conn., 47. 
Sullivan, Mary, 384. 
Sumatra, 315. 
Sumner, Mary Jane, 381. 
Supply (ketch), 367, 370. 
Susan (ketch), 371. 
Susan and Ellen (ship), 22. 
Susannah (ketch), 371. 
Sutton, Mass., 32, no, in, 113, 

187, 217, 295, 300. 
Swain, Mary, 329. 
Swallow (ketch), 371. 
Swallow, Phebe, 376. 
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Swan, Henry, 61, 97. 

Swansey, Mass., 4, 40, 4i- 
Swasey, Hannah, 299. 
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Katherine, 212. 
Mary, 178. 
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Sweatland (Swetland), Agnes, 70. 
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Sweet, John, 316, 350. 
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Hannah, 278, 339- 
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Job, 11, 205, 206, 215, 312, 402, 

438, 439- 
John, 9, H3- 
Margaret, 387. 
Mary, 210. 
Ruth, 115. 
Sarah, 376. 

Swinnock, John, 223. 
Margaret, 223. 
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Zachariah, 259. 
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William, 375, 387- 
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Taft, Eunice, 376. 
Talbot, Mr., 278. 
Talbot (ship), 14, 371. 
Talby (Talbey), Anne, 52. 
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Dorothy, 51. 
John, 51, 52, 221. 
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Tanning, 71, 304, 421- 
Tapley, Aaron, 333. 
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Asa, 333, 
Daniel, 333. 
Elijah, 333. 
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Hannah, 22, 332. 
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Tapley, continued, 
Lydia, 332. 
Margaret, 332. 
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Phebe, 113, 332, 333- 
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Thomasine, 332. 
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Tappan, John, 420. 
Martha, 420. 
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Jacob, 225. 
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Tawley, Elizabeth, 98. 
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Taxes,' 2, 34, 126, 221. 
Taylor, Captain, 329. 
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Elizabeth, 236. 
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Thomas W., 105. 

Taylorville, Ill., 426. 
Taynour, Thomas, 202. 
Telford, Constance, 426. 
Temple, N. H., 116, 166. 
Temple, Abraham, 60. 

Richard, 16, 199. 
Templeman, John, 318. 
Tenne, Mary, 3<>4- 
Terreno, Sophie De, 420. 
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John B., 330. 
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226, 279, 300, 312, 328, 390, 
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Thatcher (Thacher), Anthony, 2, 
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Hannah, 38. 
Peter, 38. 
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Phebe, 116. 

Theresa (brig), 21. 
Thissell, Jeffrey, 418. 
Thomas (ship), 348. 
Thomas, David, 197, 322, 417. 
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Thomas, continued, 
Elizabeth, 396. 
George, 396. 
Hannah, 396. 
James, 166, 193, 348. 
Mary, 396. 
Richard, 396. 
Ruth, 396. 

Thomas and Mary (ketch), 371. 
Thompson (Tomson), Archibald, 

2, 121. 
Edmond, 46, 97. 
Mildred A., 382. 
Sarah, 376. 

Thorndike, Anna, 179. 
Elizabeth, 22. 
John, ii, 48, 140, 155, 194, 212, 

219, 222, 397, 410, 418. 
Thorne, Eliza Coffin, 106. 

John, 106. 
Three Bibles, 88. 
Thresher, Deborah, 54. 
Throckmorton (Throgmorton), 

John, 65. 
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Thurston, John, 149. 

Margaret, 149. 
Richard, 3. 
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Tibbetts, Barbara, 139. 
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Tidd, Samuel, 53. 
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Jacob, 392. 
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Peter, 340. 
Susan, 392. 
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Totness, England, 313. 
Tour, Charles de la, 170, 171, 350. 
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Sarah E., 306. 
Thomas, 43. 

Whitwell, Frederick Augustus, 385 
Mary Crowninshield, 385. 

Whitworth, Elizabeth, 104. 
Wickes. See Weeks. 
Wickford, England, 14. 
Wiggins, Thomas, 266. 
Wight, Isle of, 364- 
Wild, John, 208. 

Sarah, 181. 
Wiley, Lydia, 387. 
Wilkes, Robert, 357* 
Wilkins, Abigail, 116, 295-297. 

Abner, 297. 
Amos, 297. 
Anna, 294, 295, 297, 325, 445. 
Aquila, 295. 
Archelaus, 297. 
Asa, 296. 
Benjamin, 61, 295, 296, 445- 
Betty, 295. 
Bray, 294-296, 298, 394, 439, 442,, 

445- 
Daniel, 295-297. 
David, 295. 
Ebenezer, 295. 
Edward, 297. 
Edward Nichols, 297. 
Elisha, 297. 
Elizabeth, 54, 119, 295, 296. 
Emma, 297. 
Esther, 297. 
Hannah, 47, 295-297. 
Henry, 295, 445. 
Ichabod, 297. 
Isaac, 295, 297, 325. 
Israel, 297. 
Ithamar, 297. 
John, 54, 295-297, 439- 

- Jonathan, 295, 296. 
Joseph, 295, 297. 
Joshua, 297. 
Josiah, 297. 
Lois, 296, 297. 
Lydia, 295, 297. 
Margaret, 295, 297. 
Marjery, 296. 
Mary, 295-297. 
Mehitable, 297. 
Mercy, 295, 296. 

Wilkins, continued, 
Naomi, 296. 
Nehemiah, 119, 295, 297. 
Othniel, 296. 
Patience, 295. 
Penelope, 297. 
Phineas, 297. 
Priscilla, 61, 188, 295, 296. 
Rachel, 296, 297. 
Rebecca, 295, 297. 
Ruth, 295. 
Samuel, 295-297. 
Sarah, 123, 295, 296. 
Solomon, 295. 
Stephen, 295. 
Susannah, 295, 297. 
Thomas, 47, 295, 439- 
Timothy, 297. 

“Wilkins’ Way”, 394- 
Will’s hill, 294, 296, 394, 395- 
Willard, Jacob, 20. 

Josiah, 424, 428. 
Priscilla, 303. 
Sarah, 20. 
Simon, 10, 189, 303, 424. 

William (ketch), 373. . 
William and John (ship), 373. 
William and John (ketch), 373- 
William and Mary (ketch), 373- 
William and Sarah (ketch), 373- 
Williams, Abraham, 199. 

Alice, 20. 
Elizabeth, 82, 314. 
George, 10, 119, 158, 172, I94> 

197, 218. 
Hannah, ill. 
Isaac, 10, 11, 178, 228, 301, 308. 
John, 10, 158-160, 286, 311, 333, 

35E 373, 402. 
Jonathan, 82. 
Mary, 237. 
Mascoll, 328. 
Patty, 325. „ 
Roger, 246, 366. 
Ruth, 328. 
Samuel, 10, 159, 163, 352, 353, 

398. 
Sarah, 163, 178, 328. 
Thomas, 314. 
Zerubbabel, 328. 

Williamson, John, 389. 
Sarah, 389. 

Williamstown, Mass., 54- 
Willing Mind (ketch), 373- 
Willington, Sally, 144. 

Thaddeus, 144- 
Willis, Eliza, 379- 
Willoughby, Abigail, 339, 340- 
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Willoughby, continued, 
Francis, 340. 
Nehemiah, 7, 10, 156, 363, 402. 

Wilmington, Mass., 376. 
Wilmington, N. C., 103. 
Wilson (Willson), Abigail, 24. 

Ann, 252. 
Anna, 324. 
Annie D., 306. 
Deborah, 39, 253. 
Edward, 185. 
Elizabeth, 43, 55, 56. 
John, 52. 
Mary, 23, 56. 
Robert, 23, 39, 55, 252, 253, 270, 

324. 

Robert W., 306. 
Wilton, N. H., 114, 116. 
Wincanton, England, 76, 216, 226, 

283. 
Winchendon, Mass., 390. 
Winchester, Mass., 331, 427. 
Winchester Castle, 86. 
Windett, John, 186. 
Windham, Conn., 21, 277. 
Windmill, 132, 336. 
Windsor, Conn., 230. 
Windsor, Me., 138. 
Wing, Fanny, 105. 
Wingrave, England, 109. 
Winslow, Edward, 1, 37. 

Elizabeth, 37, 79. 
Winter, Deborah, 30. 

Edward, 30. 
Winter Harbor, 4. 

Island, 6, 36, 48, 237, 350, 363- 
Winthrop, Adam, 18, 28. 

Anna, 18. 
Anne, 14, 28. 
Elizabeth, 14- 
John, 4, 8, 14, 17, 18, 38, 46, 

48, 49, 52, 65, 68, 69, 81, 83-85, 
87, 88, 101, 107, 128, 161, 166, 
174, 359, 360, 371, 400. 

Lucy, 14, 18, 29. 
Margaret, 14, 38. 
Martha, 14. 
Stephen, 16. 
Waitstill, 14. 

Wiscasset, Me., 163. 
Witches, 177, 193- 
Witch lane, 205. 
Witchcraft, 22, 32, 33, 143- 
Witchcraft Delusion, 22, 25, 33, 38- 
Withe, Martha, 425- 
Woburn, Mass., 44, 77, I09, Iia 

162, 284, 378. 
Wolcott. See Walcott. 

Wolfe, Freeborn, 193. 
Martha, 411, 414. 
Peter, 10, 158, 169, 172, 193, 411, 

414, 4i8. 
Wolliston River, 16. 
Wolves, 397. 
Wood, Widow, 169. 

Anne, 120. 
Eliza, 378. 
Elizabeth, 57, 378. 
Joseph A., 41. 
Matthew, 311. 
Peace, 41. 
William, 13, 19. 

Wood Hill, 376. 
Wood lane, 205. 
Woodbridge, N. J., 230. 
Woodbury (Woodberry), Andrew, 

228, 301. 
Anna, 411, 414. 
Ebenezer, 191. 
Elizabeth, 411, 414. 
Frank A., 397. 
Hannah, 161, 411, 414. 
Hugh, 206, 214, 283, 411, 414, 

417. 
Huldah, 116. 
Humphrey, 3, 10, 11, 127, 154, 

159, 180, 206, 212, 323, 401, 
402, 410, 411, 414, 4i8. 

Isaac, 360, 411. 
Israel, 191. 
John, 4, 5, 8, 10, 11, 15, 25, 48, 

62, 64, 66, 77, 100, 107, 217, 
4n. 

Joseph, 116. 
Mary, 357, 411, 4*4* 
Nicholas, 3, 203, 212, 225, 302, 

394, 402, 418. 
Paul, 418. 
Peter, 403, 411, 417- 
Susanna, 411. 
Thomas, 161, 362, 411, 41?- 
William, 10, 11, 97, 98, 175, 184, 

302, 402, 410, 414, 417, 4i8. 
Woodcock, Hannah, 306. 

Susanna, 306. 
William, 290, 293, 301, 302, 300- 

308. 
Woodis, Elizabeth, 20. 

John, 20. 
Woodman,-47; 
Woodrow, Benjamin, 62, 438, 441- 

Rebecca, 62. 
Woodward, Maria Porter, 385. 

Ruth, 102. 
Wood well (Woodall), Alice, 280. 

Ann, 279. 
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Woodwell, continued, 
Benjamin, 280. 
David, 280. 
Dorcas, 279. 
Elizabeth, 279, 280, 314. 
Gideon, 279. 
John, 279, 280. 
Jonathan, 280. 
Joseph, 279, 280. 
Lydia, 279, 280. 
Margaret, 279. 
Mary, 279, 280. 
Matthew, 279, 337, 338, 342, 405. 
Priscilla, 280. 
Samuel, 279, 280. 
Sarah, 279. 
Stacy, 280. 
Thomasine, 279. 

Woodworth, Nancy, 378. 
Woolcott, Josiah, 402. 
Woolen (Woolland), Edward, 10, 

11, 211, 309, 312. 
Worcester, Mass., 114, 306. 
Worcester, Samuel, 318. ' 
Workington, England, 38. 
Worthen, Charles, 24. 

John, 375. 
Mary, 375. 
Sarah, 24. 

Wren, Christopher, 150. 
Matthew, 150. 

Wrentham, England, 147-150. 
Wrentham, Mass., 324. 
Wright, Copia, 55. 

George, 141, 403. 

Wright, continued, 
Margaret, 216. 

Wyman, Annie M., 380. 
Eliza, 378. 
Elizabeth, 378. 
Eunice, 139. 
Prudence, 109, no. 
William, 109, no. 

YARD, EDWARD, 398. 
Yarmouth, England, 30, 71, 148, 

368. 
Yeaton, Sarah Elizabeth, 390. 
Yell, Rebecca, 295. 
Yeo, Sarah, 327. 

Thomas, 327. 
Yonkers, N. Y., 390. 
York, Me., 174, 266, 315. 
Yorkshire, 39. 
Young (Yonge, Yongs, Younges, 

Youngs), Mr., 101. 
Benjamin, 136. 
Christopher, 151, 154. 
Hannah, 319. 
Jemima, 319. 
John, 149. 
Joseph, 61, 126, 149, 152, 157, 200. 
Mary, 136, 305, 314. 
Samuel, 319. 
William, 319. 

ZANZIBAR, 390. 
Zanzibar trade, 106. 
Zimmerman, Henrietta, 106. 
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